

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Food and Drug Administration

21 CFR Parts 1100, 1140, and 1143

[Docket No. FDA-2014-N-0189]

RIN 0910-AG38

Deeming Tobacco Products To Be Subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as Amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act; Restrictions on the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco Products and Required Warning Statements for Tobacco Products

AGENCY: Food and Drug Administration, HHS.

ACTION: Final rule.

SUMMARY: The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is issuing this final rule to deem products meeting the statutory definition of "tobacco product," except accessories of the newly deemed tobacco products, to be subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the FD&C Act), as amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act (Tobacco Control Act). The Tobacco Control Act provides FDA authority to regulate cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, smokeless tobacco, and any other tobacco products that the Agency by regulation deems to be subject to the law. With this final rule, FDA is extending the Agency's "tobacco product" authorities in ~~chapter IX of~~ the FD&C Act to all other categories of products that meet the statutory definition of "tobacco product" in the FD&C Act, except accessories of such newly deemed tobacco products. This final rule also prohibits the sale of "covered tobacco products" to individuals under the age of 18 and requires the display of health warnings on cigarette tobacco, roll-your own tobacco, and covered tobacco product packages and in

advertisements. FDA is taking this action to reduce the death and disease from tobacco products. In accordance with ~~section 5 of~~ the Tobacco Control Act, we consider and intend the extension of our authorities over tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable.

DATES: This rule is effective [INSERT DATE 90 DAYS AFTER DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL REGISTER]. See section IV of this document, [Implementation, for additional information regarding compliance dates for certain provisions](#).

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Gerie Voss or Katherine Collins, Office of Regulations, Center for Tobacco Products, Food and Drug Administration, 10903 New Hampshire Avenue, Silver Spring, MD 20993, 877-287-1373, AskCTP@fda.hhs.gov.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Table of Contents

Executive Summary

I. Background

II. Legal Authority

A. Summary of Legal Authority

B. Responses to Comments Regarding Legal Authority

III. Use of Premarket Pathways for Newly Deemed Products

A. Background: The Three Pathways to Market a New Tobacco Product

B. Interpretation of Substantial Equivalence

C. Comments on the Grandfather Date

D. Impact of Premarket Requirements

E. Clinical Studies and PMTAs

F. Premarket Pathways and Continuum of Risk

G. Other Comments

IV. Implementation

A. Effective Date for Rule

B. Compliance Periods for Certain Provisions

C. Policy for Certain Regulatory Requirements for All Manufacturers of

- Newly Deemed Products

D. Compliance Policy Regarding Certain Provisions and Small-Scale Tobacco Product
Manufacturers

V. Premarket Review Requirements and Compliance Policy

A. Compliance Policy for Premarket Review Requirements

B. ~~Flavored Tobacco Products~~

~~C.~~ Responses to Comments Regarding Compliance Periods for Premarket Review

- Requirements

VI. Components, Parts, and Accessories

A. Definitions

B. Discussion of Requirements Associated With Components and Parts

VII. Regulation of Cigars and Selection of Option 1

A. Health Risks of Premium Cigars

B. Youth and Young Adults Use Premium Cigars

C. Patterns of Use Do Not Preclude Users From Experiencing Negative Health Effects

D. Responses to Other Cigar Comments

VIII. Regulation of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (Including E-Cigarettes)

- and the Continuum of Nicotine-Delivering Products

- A. Terminology
- B. Prevalence
- C. Toxicity and Nicotine in E-Liquid and Aerosol
- D. Quality Control
- E. Misperceptions
- F. Use as a Cessation Product
- G. Modified Risk Claims
- H. Dual and Polytabacco Use
- I. Applicability of Section 901
- J. Definitions
- K. Sottera Decision

IX. ~~Regulation~~Effect of ~~Deeming Rule on Vape Shops~~Shop Manufacturers

- A. Premarket Requirements (Sections 910 and 905)
- B. Ingredient Listing and HPHC ~~Testing and Reporting~~Requirements (Sections 904 and 915)
- C. Registration and Product Listing (Section 905)
- D. Tobacco Health Document Submissions (Section 904)
- E. Office of Small Business Assistance

X. Regulation of Other Categories of Products

- A. Nicotine in Newly Deemed Products
- B. Dissolvables
- C. Gels

- D. Pipe Tobacco
- E. Waterpipe Tobacco
- F. Additional Novel and Future Tobacco Products

XI. Additional Automatic Provisions Applicable to Newly Deemed Products

- A. Sections 902 and 903--Adulteration and Misbranding
- B. Sections 904 and 915--Ingredient Listing and Reporting of HPHCs
- C. Section 905--Registration and Listing
- D. Section 911--Elimination of Low, Light, and Mild, and Other Unauthorized Modified

Risk Claims

~~–Risk Claims~~

- E. Section 919--User Fees
- F. Tobacco Control Act section 102--Prohibition Against Free Samples

XII. Requests for Additional Regulations Applicable to Newly Deemed Products

- A. Ban on Flavored Tobacco Products
- B. Additional Access Restrictions
- C. Nicotine Exposure Warnings

XIII. ~~Overview of the Final Rule~~Severability

XIV. Description of the Final Rule--Part 1100

- A. Section 1100.1--Scope
- B. Section 1100.2--Requirements
- C. Section 1100.3--Definitions

XV. Description of the Final Rule--Part 1140

- A. Section 1140.1--Scope

- B. Section 1140.2--Purpose
- C. Section 1140.3--Definitions
- D. Section 1140.10--General Responsibilities of Manufacturers, Distributors, and

Retailers

~~—Retailers~~

- E. Section 1140.14--Additional Responsibilities of Retailers
- F. Comments and Responses Regarding Minimum Age and Identification Requirements
- G. Comments and Responses Regarding Vending Machines

XVI. Description of the Final Rule--Part 1143

- A. Section 1143.1--Definitions
- B. Section 1143.3--Required Warning Statement Regarding Addictiveness of Nicotine

~~—Nicotine~~

- C. Section 1143.5--Required Warning Statements for Cigars
- D. Section 1143.7--Language Requirements for Required Warning Statements
- E. Section 1143.9--Irremovable or Permanent Required Warning Statements
- F. Section 1143.11--Does Not Apply to Foreign Distribution
- G. Section 1143.13--Effective Date
- H. Comments and Responses Regarding Required Warning Statements

XVII. National Environmental Policy Act

XVIII. Analysis of Impacts

XIX. Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995

- A. Responses to Comments Regarding Proposed Collection of Information~~—Collection~~

B. Existing Burdens Associated ~~w~~With Tobacco Products Currently Subject to the FD&C

- Act (i.e., Cigarettes, Cigarette Tobacco, Roll-Your-Own Tobacco, and Smokeless Tobacco) With Approved OMB Control Numbers

C. Burdens Associated With Tobacco Products Currently Subject to the FD&C Act But

- Not Yet Approved by OMB

D. New Collections of Information That Apply Only to Deemed Products

XX. Executive Order 13132; Federalism

XXI. Executive Order 13175; Tribal Consultation

XXII. References

Executive Summary

Purpose of the Rule

Cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco were immediately covered by FDA's tobacco product authorities in chapter IX of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 387 through 387u) when the Tobacco Control Act went into effect. For other kinds of tobacco products, the statute authorizes FDA to issue regulations "deeming" them to be subject to such authorities. Consistent with the statute, once a tobacco product is deemed, FDA may put in place "restrictions on the sale and distribution of a tobacco product," including age-related access restrictions and advertising and promotion restrictions, if FDA determines the restrictions are appropriate for the protection of the public health. This final rule has two purposes: (1) To deem all products that meet the definition of "tobacco product" under the law, except accessories of a newly deemed tobacco product, and subject them to the tobacco control authorities in chapter IX of the FD&C Act and FDA's implementing regulations; and (2) to establish specific

restrictions that are appropriate for the protection of the public health for the newly deemed tobacco products. In accordance with section 5 of the Tobacco Control Act, we consider and intend the extension of our authorities over tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable.

FDA is taking this action to reduce the death and disease from tobacco products.

~~Deeming all “tobacco products” (except accessories) to be subject to the FD&C Act will result in significant benefits for the public health. Deeming all “tobacco products” (including components and parts but excluding accessories of the newly deemed products) to be subject to the FD&C Act will result in significant benefits for the public health. The final rule defines “component or part” and “accessory” to provide additional clarity as to which products are subject to FDA’s tobacco product authority. With respect to these definitions, FDA notes that “component” and “part” are separate and distinct terms within chapter IX of the FD&C Act. However, for purposes of this final rule, FDA is using the terms “component” and “part” interchangeably and without emphasizing the distinction between the terms. FDA may clarify the distinctions between ‘component’ and ‘part’ in the future. Specifically, “Component or Part” means “any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected: 1) to alter or affect the tobacco product’s performance, composition, constituents or characteristics; or 2) to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. The term excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product.”~~ Components and parts of the newly deemed tobacco products, but not their related accessories, are included in the scope of this final rule. The following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of components and parts used with electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) (including e-cigarettes): e-liquids; atomizers; batteries (with or without variable voltage); cartomizers (atomizer plus replaceable fluid-filled cartridge); digital

display/lights to adjust settings; clearomisers, tank systems, flavors, vials that contain e-liquids, and programmable software. Similarly, the following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of components and parts used with waterpipe tobacco: flavor enhancers and the vials in which they are contained; hose cooling attachments; water filtration base additives (including those which are flavored); flavored waterpipe tobacco charcoals and the wrappers or boxes that contain the charcoals; and bowls, valves, hoses, and heads.

FDA is defining "accessory" to mean "any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following: (1) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product or (2) is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but (i) solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored product or (ii) solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product." Examples of accessories are ashtrays, spittoons, hookah tongs, cigar clips and stands and pipe pouches, because they do not contain tobacco, are not derived from tobacco, and do not affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product. Examples of accessories also include humidors or refrigerators that solely control the moisture and/or temperature of a stored product and conventional matches and lighters that solely provide an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product. An electric heater or charcoal used for prolonged heating of waterpipe tobacco is not an accessory because it is maintaining the combustion of the tobacco. Accessories of newly deemed tobacco products are not included within the scope of this final rule, although accessories of cigarettes, cigarette

tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco remain subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities. FDA is not regulating accessories of newly deemed tobacco products because accessories, unlike components or parts, are expected to have little direct impact on the public health.

This final deeming rule affords FDA additional tools to reduce the number of illnesses and premature deaths associated with tobacco product use. For example, FDA will be able to obtain critical information regarding the health risks of newly deemed tobacco products, including information derived from ingredient listing submissions and reporting of harmful and potentially harmful constituents (HPHCs) required under the FD&C Act. As of the effective date, persons who own or operate a domestic establishment engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of tobacco products (hereinafter, “manufacturing establishments”) will be subject to the registration requirements. FDA will thus receive information on the location and number of manufacturing establishments, which will allow the Agency to establish effective compliance programs. In addition, this rule authorizes FDA to take enforcement action against manufacturers who sell and distribute products with unsubstantiated modified risk tobacco product (MRTP) claims, or false or misleading claims on their labeling or advertising, thus allowing for better-informed consumers and helping to prevent the use of misleading campaigns targeted to youth populations. It will also prevent from entering the market new tobacco products that are not appropriate for the protection of public health, are not substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product, or are not exempt from substantial equivalence- (SE). Finally, the newly deemed tobacco products may be subject to future regulations that FDA determines are appropriate for the protection of public health.

Summary of the Major Provisions of the Regulatory Action

The final rule has two main sections: (1) Deeming provisions and (2) additional provisions to protect public health.

Deeming Provisions—After thorough review of the comments and the scientific evidence, FDA has concluded that Option 1 (including all cigars, rather than a subset) more effectively protects the public health and, therefore, has made that the scope of the final rule. ~~Therefore~~Accordingly, this final rule deems all products meeting the statutory definition of "tobacco product," except accessories of the newly deemed tobacco products, to be subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. Section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 321(rr)), as amended by the Tobacco Control Act, defines the term "tobacco product," to mean "any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product)" and does not mean "an article that is a drug under subsection (g)(1), a device under subsection (b), or a combination product described in section 353(g) of this title."¹ Products that meet the statutory definition of "tobacco products" include currently marketed products such as dissolvables not already regulated by FDA, gels, waterpipe tobacco, ~~electronic nicotine delivery systems~~ENDS (including e-cigarettes, e-hookah, e-cigars, vape pens, advanced refillable personal vaporizers, and electronic pipes), cigars, and pipe tobacco.

In addition, this final rule deems any additional current and future tobacco products that meet the statutory definition of "tobacco product," except accessories of such newly deemed

¹ FDA notes that some products falling within the FD&C Act's definition of "tobacco product" may not be considered tobacco products for Federal excise tax purposes (see 26 U.S.C. 5702(c)). [Taxation of tobacco products, as defined by the Internal Revenue Code, falls under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Department of the Treasury/Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau \(TTB\). Neither FDA's act of "deeming" nor any other FDA regulations directly affect the taxation of any tobacco product.](#)

products, to be subject to FDA's authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. For example, FDA envisions that there could be tobacco products developed in the future that provide nicotine delivery through means (e.g., via dermal absorption or intranasal spray) similar to currently marketed medicinal nicotine products, but which are not drugs or devices. These products would be "tobacco products" and subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities in accordance with this final deeming rule.

~~The final rule also defines “component or part” and “accessory” to provide additional clarity as to which products are subject to FDA’s tobacco product authority. With respect to these definitions, FDA notes that “component” and “part” are separate and distinct terms within chapter IX of the FD&C Act. However, for purposes of this final rule, FDA is using the terms “component” and “part” interchangeably and without emphasizing the distinction between the terms. FDA may clarify the distinctions between ‘component’ and ‘part’ in the future and will provide notice and an opportunity to comment at that time. Specifically, “Component or Part” means “any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected: 1) to alter or affect the tobacco product’s performance, composition, constituents or characteristics; or 2) to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. The term excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product.” Components and parts of the newly deemed tobacco products, but not their related accessories, are included in the scope of this final rule. The following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of components and parts used with electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) (including e-cigarettes): e-liquids; atomizers; batteries (with or without variable voltage); cartomizers (atomizer plus replaceable fluid-filled cartridge); digital display/lights to adjust settings; clearomisers, tank systems, flavors, vials that contain e-liquids, and programmable software. Similarly, the following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of~~

~~components and parts used with waterpipe tobacco: flavor enhancers and the vials or other containers in which they are distributed; hose cooling attachments; water filtration base additives (including those which are flavored); flavored waterpipe tobacco charcoals and the wrappers or boxes that contain the charcoals; and bowls, valves, hoses, and heads.~~

~~FDA is defining “accessory” to mean “any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following: (a) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product or (b) is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but (i) solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored product or (ii) solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product.”~~ ~~Examples of accessories are ashtrays, spittoons, hookah tongs, cigar clips and stands and pipe pouches, because they do not contain tobacco, are not derived from tobacco, and do not affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product. Examples of accessories also include humidors or refrigerators that solely control the moisture and/or temperature of a stored product and conventional matches and lighters that solely provide an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product. An electric heater or charcoal used for prolonged heating of waterpipe tobacco is not an accessory because it is maintaining the combustion of the tobacco. Accessories of newly deemed tobacco products are not included within the scope of this final rule, although accessories of cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll your own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco remain subject to FDA’s tobacco product authorities.~~

Upon the effective date of this final rule (i.e., 90 days from the date of publication), ~~notwithstanding applicable compliance dates~~, the newly deemed products will be subject to the same FD&C Act provisions and relevant regulatory requirements to which cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco are subject, with respect to the following:

- ~~1.(1)~~ Enforcement action against products determined to be adulterated or misbranded; (other than enforcement actions based on lack of a marketing authorization during an applicable compliance period);
- ~~2.(2)~~ required submission of ingredient listing and reporting of HPHCs;
- ~~3.(3)~~ required registration of tobacco product manufacturing establishments and product listing;
- ~~4.(4)~~ prohibition against sale and distribution of products with modified risk descriptors (e.g., "light," "low," and "mild" descriptors) and claims unless FDA issues an order authorizing their marketing;
- ~~5.(5)~~ prohibition on the distribution of free samples (same as cigarettes); and
- ~~6.(6)~~ premarket review requirements; and
- ~~7. minimum of 18 years of age for sales, age and identification requirements, and vending machine sales allowed only in adult only facilities.~~

These actions will improve the public health by affording FDA critical information regarding the health risks of such products; preventing new products from entering the market unless such marketing is appropriate for the protection of public health, the products are found substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product, or the products are found exempt from the substantial equivalence~~SE~~ requirements; and preventing the use of unsubstantiated modified risk claims.

which may mislead consumers and lead them to initiate tobacco product use or to continue using tobacco when they would otherwise quit.

Additional Provisions--In addition to the provisions in the FD&C Act and implementing regulations that apply automatically to the newly deemed products, FDA has the authority to invoke its other authorities under the Tobacco Control Act in regulating these products. At this time, under section 906(d) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 387f(d)), FDA is establishing three restrictions for covered tobacco products: (1) Requirement for a minimum age of purchase; (2) requirement for health warnings for product packages and advertisements (which FDA is also applying to cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco); and (3) prohibition of vending machine sales of such products, unless the vending machine is located in a facility where the retailer ensures that individuals under 18 years of age are prohibited from entering at any time. The term "covered tobacco products" is defined as those products deemed to be subject to the FD&C Act under section 1100.2 of title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), other than a component or part that is not made or derived from tobacco. We have slightly modified the definition of "covered tobacco products" from the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM to clarify that components or parts that are "covered tobacco products" include not only those that contain tobacco or nicotine, but also those that contain any tobacco derivative.—(i.e., we have changed the NPRM definition, which excluded "any component or part of a tobacco product that does not contain nicotine or tobacco," to exclude "any component or part of a tobacco product that is not made or derived from tobacco" as stated in this final rule).

Effective Dates--The deeming provisions (i.e., those provisions that automatically apply to newly deemed products) and minimum age and identification and vending machine restrictions are effective 90 days from the date of publication of the final rule. The health

warning requirements are effective 24 months from the date of publication of the final rule, with an additional 30-day period in which a manufacturer may continue to introduce into interstate commerce existing inventory manufactured before the effective date that does not contain the required warning statements on packaging.

This means that:

- After the effective date, no manufacturer, packager, importer, distributor, or retailer of cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, cigars, or other covered tobacco products may advertise any such product if the advertisement does not comply with this rule;
- After the effective date, no person may manufacture for sale or distribution within the United States any such product the package of which does not comply with this rule;
- Beginning 30 days after the effective date, a manufacturer may not introduce into domestic commerce, any such product, irrespective of the date of manufacture, if its package does not comply with this rule; (i.e., non-compliant products manufactured prior to the effective date may not be distributed for retail sale after 30 days following the effective date);
- After the effective date, a distributor or retailer may not sell, offer to sell, distribute, or import for sale or distribution within the United States any such product the package of which does not comply with this regulation, unless the covered tobacco product was manufactured prior to the effective date; and
- After the effective date, however, a retailer may sell covered tobacco products in packages ~~of which~~that do not have a required warning if the retailer demonstrates it

falls outside the scope of this rule as described in [21 CFR 1143.3\(a\)\(3\)](#) and [1143.5\(a\)\(4\)](#).

~~Compliance Policy for Premarket Review—As stated in the NPRM, Compliance Policy for Premarket Review--Manufacturers of newly deemed products that are "new tobacco products" as defined in section 910(a)(1) of the FD&C Act will be required to obtain premarket authorization of their products through one of three pathways--SE, exemption from SE, or premarket tobacco product applications (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act). As stated in the notice of proposed rulemaking (NPRM), we understand that, for some newly deemed tobacco products, particularly novel products, there may not be appropriate predicate products that were on the market as of on February 15, 2007, to support a ~~substantial equivalence~~SE claim. Accordingly, in the NPRM, FDA ~~proposed~~contemplated a compliance period of 24 months after the effective date of the final rule for the submission of ~~applications for all newly deemed, new tobacco products under all three marketing pathways--premarket tobacco applications (PMTAs), substantial equivalence (SE) reports, and SE exemption requests.~~²~~After carefully considering comments, including those expressing concerns regarding the effect of flavored tobacco products on youth and young adult use, FDA is finalizing this deeming rule along with a revised compliance policy.~~~~

~~Accordingly, for non-flavored and tobacco-flavored newly deemed products that are on the market as of the effective date of this final rule and were not on the market as of FDA carefully considered numerous comments regarding the contemplated compliance period. Many comments expressed concern that newly deemed, new tobacco products would remain available~~

² Although the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM did not explicitly include SE exemption requests as one of the marketing pathways that ~~that~~ applicants ~~can~~could utilize within ~~this~~a compliance period, FDA did intend for ~~this proposed~~its contemplated 24-month compliance period to be available for all marketing pathways.

and could continue to be marketed indefinitely without scientific review. Other comments expressed concern, and some submitted data, regarding the effect that flavors have on youth and young adult use of tobacco products. FDA also received comments and data regarding the potential for some net public health benefits that could accrue if flavored ENDS remain available. After carefully considering all of these comments, FDA here announces a revised compliance policy as well as the final rule. (Agency compliance/enforcement policies are not subject to the requirements that govern notice-and-comment rulemaking. Prof'ls & Patients for Customized Care v. Shalala, 56 F.3d 592 (5th Cir. 1995) (a compliance policy guide is not a substantive rule and not subject to the Administrative Procedure Act's (APA) notice-and-comment rulemaking); Takhar v. Kessler, 76 F.3d 995, 1002 (9th Cir. 1996) (FDA compliance policy guides were not required to go through notice-and-comment procedures). But because the relevant time periods are of obvious interest, FDA laid out its anticipated compliance policy in the NPRM, and for similar reasons, is announcing its revised compliance policy here, rather than in a separate guidance document.) As a result of FDA's compliance policy, we expect that many manufacturers will keep their products on the market beyond the effective date of this final rule. However, if a manufacturer of a product is unable to support an SE claim for its product (e.g., is unable to identify a valid predicate, or does not submit an SE report with a valid predicate within the compliance period, or does not receive authorization within a continued compliance period) and does not obtain authorization under one of the other available marketing pathways before the end of an applicable compliance period, such products remaining on the market will be subject to enforcement (e.g., seizure, injunction) for failure to have a marketing authorization under sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act.

FDA's NPRM included detailed requests for comments on different possible compliance policy approaches. 79 FR at 23175-77. FDA received many comments on these compliance-policy issues. For example, comments jointly submitted by 24 health and medical organizations stated that the contemplated 24-month compliance period and indefinite period of continued marketing during FDA review included in the NPRM would prolong the public's exposure to products that contain nicotine, a highly addictive substance, and that do not meet the statutory standard for the grant of a marketing order (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-79772.). They stated that this approach would allow manufacturers to market the newly deemed products in ways that appeal to youth and to manipulate the content of these products in uncontrolled ways for an indefinite period (id.). Ranking minority members of the Energy and Commerce Committee, Health Subcommittee, and Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee, U.S. House of Representatives also called for a more protective compliance period than the one contemplated in the NPRM, arguing that the proposed compliance period "puts the nation's youth at risk" (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-80119). Further, a network of tobacco control policy and legal specialists expressed concern regarding the effect of continued marketing of tobacco products that have not been reviewed under the applicable public health standards of the Tobacco Control Act (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-81044). FDA also received comments suggesting that the agency should stagger the compliance periods for different product classes based on the continuum of risk, with ENDS having a longer compliance period than other product classes (e.g., Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-81859; Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-10852). FDA also received comments and new data regarding the effect of flavored tobacco products on youth and young adult use.

FDA understands that the appeal of flavors and use of flavored tobacco products have an important role in the initiation and continued use of tobacco products, and in the health risks associated with use of these products. Based on all of these comments, we have determined that exercising enforcement discretion indefinitely could put youth and young adults at risk for tobacco-related death and disease. However, we recognize that the availability of alternatives to traditional tobacco flavors in some products (e.g., ENDS) may potentially help some adult users who are attempting to transition away from combusted products. Furthermore, at least some flavored combusted products are likely to be “grandfathered” and therefore would remain on the market regardless of the compliance period provided in the preamble. Taking into consideration all of the comments on the compliance period and flavors, we are establishing staggered compliance periods. This approach will enable FDA to balance concerns regarding the extended availability of all newly deemed, new tobacco products without scientific review, concerns regarding flavored tobacco products' appeal to youth, and emerging evidence that some adults may potentially use certain flavored tobacco products to transition away from combusted tobacco use. FDA is establishing staggered initial compliance periods based on the expected complexity of the applications to be submitted, followed by continued compliance periods for FDA review such that our exercise of enforcement discretion will end twelve months after each initial compliance period. In other words, manufacturers of all newly deemed, new tobacco products will have a 12-, 18- or 24-month initial compliance period in which to prepare applications for marketing authorization, as well as a 12-month continued compliance period after those dates in which to obtain authorization from FDA (resulting in total compliance periods of 24, 30, or 36 months). After the close of the continued compliance period, products will be subject to enforcement unless they are grandfathered or are the subject of a marketing

authorization order. FDA's revised compliance policy for premarket review—resulting in products remaining on the market while manufacturers seek review but also contemplating an end to the continued compliance policy—will balance the public health concerns raised in the comments, allow the Agency to more efficiently manage the flow of incoming applications, and encourage high-quality premarket submissions from applicants.

According to this revised compliance policy, for newly deemed products that are on the market on the effective date of this final rule and were not on the market on February 15, 2007, FDA is providing a 12-month initial compliance period for manufacturers to submit (and FDA to receive) an SE Exemption request, an 18-month initial compliance period for manufacturers to submit (and FDA to receive) SE applications, and a 24–month initial compliance period for manufacturers to submit (and FDA to receive) a PMTA.

If manufacturers submit (and FDA receives) the applications during their respective compliance periods, FDA, for a certain period of time as discussed in the following paragraph, intends to continue the compliance policy and does not intend to initiate enforcement action for these products remaining on the market without FDA authorization.

For ~~non-flavored and~~ newly deemed tobacco-~~flavored~~ products using the SE Exemption pathway, this continued compliance period (i.e., the time during which FDA does not intend to enforce the premarket review requirements) will close 24 months after the effective date of part 1100 of this final deeming rule (i.e., 12 months after the 12-month initial compliance period closes for submission and receipt of SE exemption requests). The earlier submission period for the SE exemption pathway is intended to allow the manufacturer time to consider other pathways if the exemption request is denied or if FDA refuses to accept the request: if, for example, the application is incomplete. For ~~non-flavored and~~ newly deemed tobacco-~~flavored~~ products using

the SE pathway, this continued compliance period will close 30 months after the effective date of part 1100 of this final deeming rule. ~~For non-flavored and tobacco-flavored (i.e., 12 months after the 18-month initial compliance period closes for submission and receipt of SE Reports).~~ For newly deemed tobacco products using the PMTA pathway, this continued compliance period will close 36 months after the effective date. ~~(i.e., 12 months after the 24-month compliance period closes for submission and receipt of PMTAs).~~ Any such ~~non-flavored or newly deemed tobacco-flavored~~ product for which an application under one of the three marketing pathways has not been filed/submitted within 24 months from the effective date of part 1100 of this final deeming rule will not benefit from this continued compliance policy; and ~~the Agency intends will~~ be subject to begin enforcing the premarket review requirements against such a product on the market/enforcement as of that date. In addition, once the respective continued compliance period ends for products with applications submitted according to this policy, ~~the Agency intends to begin enforcing the premarket requirements against~~ products remaining on the market without premarket authorizations in effect, even if the product has a pending application that was originally submitted by its respective ~~compliance deadline set forth above~~ initial compliance deadline set forth previously in this document, will be subject to enforcement. However, if at the time of the conclusion of the continued compliance period, the applicant has provided the needed information and review of a pending marketing application has made substantial progress toward completion, FDA may consider, on a case-by-case basis, whether to defer enforcement of the premarket authorization requirements for a reasonable time period.

~~In light of comments and emerging data regarding the attractiveness of flavored tobacco products to youth and young adults, FDA has decided not to extend its compliance policy for premarket review to newly deemed flavored new tobacco products (other than tobacco-flavored~~

~~products). However, retailers of such products will have an additional 90 days to continue to sell off products in their inventory as of the effective date of this final rule. In other words, as of 90 days after the effective date (180 days after publication of the rule), such (non-grandfathered) products will be subject to enforcement. For the purposes of this compliance policy, a flavored tobacco product is one that contains a characterizing flavor.~~

Regarding concerns as to the inability to use the SE pathway for certain products, FDA notes that an applicant may use as a predicate any tobacco product commercially marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007, or previously found substantially equivalent. (note that we interpret the phrase "as of" February 15, 2007, as meaning that the tobacco product was commercially marketed (other than exclusively in test markets) in the United States on February 15, 2007. If your tobacco product had been commercially marketed in the United States before February 15, 2007, but was not commercially marketed on that date, it is not a grandfathered product and may not be commercially marketed unless you obtain a marketing authorization under section 910 of the FD&C Act).³ This may possibly include a predicate that is in a different category or subcategory than the new product that is the subject of the SE Rreport. While FDA currently does not have a policy that limits comparisons to the same category, we do see cross-category comparisons as more challenging for an applicant and we may express limitations on such comparisons in the future, if they become warranted as we gain experience regulating newly deemed products. FDA also is continuing to research e-cigarettes, other ENDS, and heated cigarette products that likely were on the market "as of" (i.e., on) February 15, 2007.

³ FDA Guidance states that "[i]f you cannot provide documentation specifically dated on February 15, 2007, FDA suggests you provide documentation of commercial marketing for a reasonable period of time before and after February 15, 2007." Guidance for Industry entitled "Establishing That a Tobacco Product Was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007 (79 FR 58358, Sept. 29, 2014), The guidance also provides examples of sources of evidence, e.g., bills of lading.

Additionally, FDA has determined that some e-cigarettes and other ENDS were manufactured in 2006 and commercially marketed in the United States in early 2007. In particular, we have identified an ENDS product that may have been on the market ~~as of~~ February 15, 2007. This product may possibly be able to serve as a valid predicate for purposes of the SE pathway. The burden of demonstrating that a valid predicate exists rests with the manufacturer submitting a SE report. To facilitate the determination that a product is eligible to serve as a valid predicate, any individual who has evidence that an e-cigarette or other ENDS was commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of~~ February 15, 2007, may submit a stand-alone grandfather submission to FDA (See ~~Final Guidance,~~ final guidance, "Establishing That a Tobacco Product Was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007," (79 FR 58358, September 29, 2014)). (Based on FDA's experiences to date, and since stand-alone grandfather submissions are purely voluntary, FDA does not anticipate that many manufacturers will make such submissions, but this option is available.) Regardless of the predicate selected for comparison, manufacturers are responsible for providing scientific data adequate to demonstrate that, in the case of an SE ~~R~~report, the characteristics of the new product are the same as the predicate or, if the characteristics are different, that these differences do not cause the new product to raise different questions of public health. We encourage interested parties to review the applications FDA posts on www.fda.gov for examples of products that do not raise different questions of public health when compared with the specified predicate product.

Vape Establishments Acting as Manufacturers--Several comments asked FDA to clarify whether e-cigarette retail stores and vape establishments are considered "tobacco product manufacturers" under the FD&C Act. In response, FDA has ~~determined~~explained that establishments that mix or prepare e-liquids or create or modify aerosolizing apparatus for direct

sale to consumers are tobacco product manufacturers under the definition set forth in the FD&C Act and, accordingly, are subject to the same legal requirements that apply to other tobacco product manufacturers.

Revisions to Health Warning Requirements--FDA is finalizing this deeming rule with a few changes to the proposed health warning requirements for newly deemed products. For example, FDA has slightly revised the nicotine warning statement to read: "WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical." The alternative warning statement for products that do not contain nicotine (i.e., no nicotine at detectable levels) is revised to read: "This product is made from tobacco." We have also provided additional language explaining the process for self-certifying that the product does not contain nicotine, which must be submitted to FDA, and the recordkeeping recommendations for this self-certification. E-liquids that do not contain tobacco or nicotine or are not derived from tobacco or nicotine do not meet the definition of "covered tobacco product," as described throughout this final rule, and will not be required to carry an addiction warning or to submit a self-certification.

In addition, we have added language to clarify that the warning statements on packages must be printed in at least 12-point font size to be conspicuous and legible.

Further, we have added a provision to indicate that a product package too small or otherwise unable to accommodate a label with sufficient space to bear such information will be exempt from the requirements to place the warning statement directly on packages (as required in § 1143.3(a)(1)), as long as the warning requirements enumerated in § 1143.3(a)(2) and 1143.3(d) are met. For instance, for small packages, the warning statement must appear on the two principal display panels on the outer carton or other outer container or wrapper or on a tag otherwise permanently affixed to the tobacco product package. This required warning must be

printed using the same specifications in § 1143.3(a)(1) and ~~§ 1143.3(a)(2)~~ (which provide the specifications for the addiction warning). In such cases, the carton, outer container, wrapper, or tag would serve as one of the principal display panels.

Reproductive Health Warning for Cigars--In the proposed deeming rule, FDA proposed to require four of the five warnings already included on most cigar packages and in most cigar advertisements as a result of settlement agreements between the [Federal Trade Commission \(FTC\)](#) and the seven largest U.S. cigar manufacturers ~~-(hereinafter, “FTC consent decrees”)-~~. (See, e.g., [In re Swisher International, Inc., Docket No. C-3964](#).) FDA did not propose to require the fifth warning (SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight), but asked for comments regarding this decision. Upon further consideration, FDA has decided to require a fifth warning regarding reproductive health effects and cigar use specifically, which reads ~~“WARNING: Cigar use while pregnant can harm you and your baby.”~~ This requirement is supported by existing scientific evidence and is appropriate for the protection of the public health. However, because the general statement ~~“Tobacco smoke increases the risk of infertility, stillbirth and low birth weight”~~ is also a true statement, and because scientific evidence demonstrates that cigar smoke is similar in content and effects to cigarette smoke, FDA is allowing the use of the reproductive health warning required by the FTC consent decrees as an optional alternative to the fifth FDA warning. FDA expects that providing the optional alternative will benefit entities bound by the FTC consent decrees.

Nicotine Exposure Warning and Child-Resistant Packaging---After reviewing the comments, FDA recognizes the importance of alerting consumers to, and protecting children from, the hazards from ingestion of, and eye and skin exposure to, e-liquids containing nicotine.

Toward that end, FDA issued an [advance NPRM \(ANPRM\)](#) prior to this deeming rule ([80 Fed. Reg. 51146 \(2015\)](#)), seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA may take with respect to a nicotine exposure warning and child-resistant packaging. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help to support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of public health.

Requests for Additional Regulations Applicable to Newly Deemed Products--In the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#), FDA noted that, once the products were deemed, the Agency could issue additional regulations applicable to newly deemed products, including product standards under section 907 of the FD&C Act. ([21 U.S.C. 387g](#)). FDA received many suggestions for additional regulations that should apply to the newly deemed products. FDA is taking these comments under advisement and considering whether to issue ~~proposed rules for such provisions. If FDA decides to issue a proposed rule to establish additional requirements for the newly deemed products, FDA will follow the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act regarding notice and opportunity for comment.~~ [NPRMs for such provisions.](#)

Compliance Policy Regarding Certain Provisions and Small-Scale Tobacco Product Manufacturers--In the ~~notice of proposed rulemaking~~ [NPRM](#), FDA requested comment on the ability of small manufacturers of newly deemed tobacco products to fully comply with the requirements of the FD&C Act and how FDA might be able to address those concerns.

Considering the comments and FDA's finite enforcement resources, the Agency's ~~current~~

~~thinkingview~~ is that those resources may not be best used in immediately enforcing certain provisions of this rule against certain manufacturers that are small-scale tobacco product manufacturers and that may need additional time to comply with certain requirements of the FD&C Act. Generally, for purposes of this new compliance policy in which FDA is specifying additional periods of time for such manufacturers to comply with certain provisions, ~~FDA~~ considers a “small-scale tobacco product manufacturer” to be a manufacturer of any regulated tobacco product that employs 20 or fewer full-time equivalent employees and has annual total revenues of \$750,000 or less. (i.e., additional time to respond to SE deficiency letters, an additional six-month compliance period for the tobacco health document submission requirements, and additional time to submit ingredient listings, as discussed in Section IV.D of this document). As with manufacturers generally, these small-scale tobacco manufacturers will also benefit from additional assistance with their marketing applications, including: a Regulatory Health Project Manager so that they have a single point of contact in FDA’s Center for Tobacco Products (CTP’s) Office of Science (OS) for questions about their marketing applications; an appeals process for denial of marketing applications (of which one small business has already taken advantage); and staff from CTP’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement (OCE), who assist such businesses in helping them to identify documents that may be used to establish that their predicate products were on the market on February 15, 2007. Further, CTP’s OCE will continue to assist small-scale tobacco product manufacturers in their submission of rotational warning plans for FDA approval and to provide a system to assist such businesses in navigating the regulatory requirements of FDA. FDA considers a "small-scale tobacco product manufacturer" to be a manufacturer of any regulated tobacco product that employs 150 or fewer full-time equivalent employees and has annual total revenues of \$5,000,000 or less. In

formulating our thinking on what a small-scale tobacco product manufacturer is for purposes of this policy, FDA has considered all available data on employment, revenues, production volume and other details of operation for current manufacturers of newly deemed products. FDA considers a manufacturer to include each entity that it controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with. To help make FDA's individual enforcement decisions more efficient, a manufacturer may voluntarily submit information regarding employment and revenues.⁴

Policy for Certain Regulatory Requirements for All Manufacturers of Newly Deemed Products--Although FDA maintains that all of the automatic provisions are important given that all tobacco products have inherent risks, FDA recognizes that compliance with many of the automatic provisions may be challenging at first for entities that are new to Federal public health regulation. In addition, FDA expects that it will obtain necessary information from its regulation of finished tobacco products. As a result, FDA has established a compliance policy for premarket submission and for obtaining authorization with respect to certain components and parts of newly deemed tobacco products. ~~This compliance policy is consistent with similar compliance policies for currently regulated products. We note that FDA is working to determine an appropriate compliance policy to deal with HPHCs for newly deemed products and is intending to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting with enough time for manufacturers to test and report given this compliance period. We note that FDA also intends to issue a guidance regarding HPHC reporting under section 904(a)(3), and later a testing and reporting regulation as~~

⁴ FDA notes that our current thinking regarding "small-scale tobacco product manufacturer" for purposes of this compliance policy differs from definitions of "small manufacturer" or "small tobacco product manufacturer" that pertain in several other contexts, including definitions established by the Small Business Administration or the Tobacco Control Act's definition of a "small tobacco product manufacturer." FDA notes that its current thinking reflects an evaluation of all available data regarding manufacturers of newly deemed tobacco products, as well as careful review of the potentially unique interests of the smallest tobacco product manufacturers as considered in light of the Agency's statutory obligations regarding the protection of public health.

required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to report given the 3-year compliance period for HPHC reporting. Section 904(a)(3) requires the submission of a report listing all constituents, including smoke constituents identified as HPHC by the Secretary. Section 915 requires the testing and reporting of the constituents, ingredients, and additives the Secretary determines should be tested to protect the public health. The section 915 testing and reporting requirements apply only after FDA issues a regulation implementing that section, which it has not yet done. Until these testing and reporting requirements have been established, newly deemed tobacco products (and currently regulated tobacco products) are not subject to the testing and reporting provisions found under section 915. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements under section 904(a)(3) for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the HPHC guidance and the section 915 regulation are issued well in advance of that time.

Severability--In accordance with section 5 of the Tobacco Control Act, FDA considers and intends the extension of its authorities over all tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable. It is FDA's interpretation and position that the invalidity of any provision of this rule shall not affect the validity of any other part of this rule ~~that can be given effect without such invalid provision or provisions.~~ In the event any court or other lawful authority were to temporarily or permanently invalidate, restrain, enjoin, or suspend any provision of this final rule, FDA would conclude that the remaining parts continue in effect to be valid. As stated in section 5 of the Tobacco Control Act, if certain applications of this rule to persons or circumstances (discussed in the preamble or otherwise) are held to be invalid, application of such provisions to any other person or circumstance will not be affected and will continue to be enforced. Each provision of the rule is

independently supported by data and analysis as described or referenced in this preamble and, if promulgated separately, would remain a proper exercise of FDA authority.

Costs and Benefits

This final rule deems all products meeting the statutory definition of “tobacco product,”² except accessories of a newly deemed tobacco product, to be subject to chapter IX of the [Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act \(FD&C Act\)](#).³ This final rule also finalizes additional provisions that would apply to certain newly deemed products as well as to certain other tobacco products. Once deemed, tobacco products become subject to the FD&C Act and its implementing regulations. The FD&C Act requirements that will apply to newly deemed products include establishment registration and product listing, ingredient listing, [HPHC testing and reporting](#), [premarket](#) submissions prior to the introduction of new products, and labeling requirements. Free samples of newly deemed tobacco products will also be prohibited. The additional provisions of this final rule include minimum age and identification requirements, vending machine restrictions, and required warning statements for packages and advertisements.

Table 1—Summary of Quantified Costs Over 20 Years (\$ million)

	Lower Bound (3%)	Primary (3%)	Upper Bound (3%)	Lower Bound (7%)	Primary (7%)	Upper Bound (7%)
Present Value of Private Sector Costs	533.95 17.7	811.97 83.7	1,180.01 09.8	471.64 50.4	710.46 70.9	1,026.09 39.8
Present Value of Government Costs ¹	204.6	204.6	204.6	145.7	145.7	145.7
Present Value of Total Costs	738.57 22.3	1,016.59 88.2	1,384.63 14.4	617.35 96.1	855.78 16.5	1,171.60 85.4
Annualized Value of Private Sector Costs	35.93 4.8	54.65 2.7	79.37 4.6	44 2.5	67.06 3.3	96.88 8.7
Annualized Value of Government Costs ¹	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8
Annualized Value of Total Costs	49.64 8.5	68.36 6.4	93.18 8.3	58 56.3	80.87 7.1	110.61 02.5

¹ FDA costs represent an opportunity cost, but this rule will not result in changes to overall FDA accounting costs, the size of the Federal budget, or the total amount of tobacco industry user fees.

~~† FDA costs represent an opportunity cost, but this rule will not result in changes to overall FDA accounting costs, the size of the federal budget, or the total amount of tobacco industry user fees.~~

The direct benefits of making each of the newly deemed tobacco products subject to the requirements of chapter IX of the FD&C Act are difficult to quantify, and we cannot predict the size of these benefits at this time. Table 1 summarizes the quantified costs of this final rule over 20 years. For the reasons provided in the preamble and analysis of impacts, FDA has concluded that the benefits of the final rule justify the costs. Among other effects, new products will be subject to an evaluation to ensure they meet the appropriate public health standard for the pathway before they can be marketed, labeling cannot contain misleading statements, and FDA will be made aware of the ingredients in newly deemed tobacco products. If, without the final rule, new products would ~~be developed that~~ pose substantially greater health risks than those already on the market, the premarket requirements made effective by this final rule would ~~prevent~~keep such products from appearing on the market and worsening the health effects of tobacco product use. The warning statements required by this final rule will ~~provide information to help~~ consumers better understand and appreciate the risks and characteristics of tobacco products.

I. Background

Cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco were immediately covered by FDA's tobacco product authorities in chapter IX of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 387 through 387u) when the Tobacco Control Act went into effect. For other kinds of tobacco products, the statute authorized FDA to issue regulations "deeming" them to be subject to such authorities. Consistent with the statute, once a tobacco product is deemed, FDA may put

in place "restrictions on the sale and distribution of a tobacco product," if FDA determines the restrictions are appropriate for the protection of the public health (21 U.S.C. 387f(d)(1)).

The Surgeon General has long recognized that the addictive nature of tobacco products is due to the presence of highly addictive nicotine that can be absorbed into the bloodstream (see, e.g., Ref. ~~1671~~ at 6-9, ~~88 SG~~). While the amount of nicotine delivered and the means through which it is delivered can either reduce or enhance ~~the~~ nicotine's potential for abuse and physiological effects (Ref. ~~302~~ at 113, ~~10 SG~~), nicotine is addictive. ~~The~~ In general, the quicker the delivery, rate of absorption, and attainment of highpeak concentrations of nicotine, the greater the potential for addiction (id.).

The Surgeon General reported that "most people begin to smoke in adolescence and develop characteristic patterns of nicotine dependence before adulthood" (Ref. ~~303~~). These youth develop physical dependence and experience withdrawal symptoms when they try to quit smoking (id.). As a result, addiction to nicotine is often lifelong (Ref. 4), and youth and young adults generally "underestimate the tenacity of nicotine addiction and overestimate their ability to stop smoking when they choose" (Ref. 5). For example, in a study of over 1,200 sixth grade students who inhaled tobacco products, 58.5 percent had lost autonomy over their tobacco use (i.e., had difficulty trying to quit) (Ref. 6). One survey also revealed that "nearly 60 percent of adolescents believed that they could smoke for a few years and then quit" (Ref. 7). Research conducted in animal models has indicated that exposure to substances such as nicotine can disrupt prenatal brain development and may have long-term consequences on executive cognitive function and on the risk of developing a substance abuse disorder and various mental health problems as an adult (Ref. 8), and this exposure to nicotine can also have long-term results

on decreasing attention performance and increasing impulsivity which could promote the maintenance of nicotine use behavior (id.).

The Surgeon General also emphasizes that "nicotine addiction develops as a neurobiologic adaptation to chronic nicotine exposure," suggesting that the pattern of tobacco product use (e.g., frequency of using the product) is a factor in the facilitation of nicotine addiction (Ref. 9 at 112). The Surgeon General also noted "all forms of nicotine delivery do not pose an equal risk in establishing and maintaining addiction" and this may be because the pharmacokinetics of various nicotine containing products differ (id.). The FDA-approved nicotine patch is an example of slow absorption and once-a-day dosing which results in minimal potential for addiction (Ref. 2 at 113, 10-SG). At the same time,). In 1988, the Surgeon General recognized that the ultimate levels of nicotine absorbed into the blood from tobacco products currently on the market at that time can be similar in magnitude regardless of the product forms used to deliver nicotine (Ref. 167, 88-SG-1). For example, research has shown that oral use of smokeless tobacco products that do not emit smoke results in "high venous concentrations of nicotine equal to those for use of cigarettes" (Ref. 302 at 113, 10-SG-).

FDA believes that the inhalation of nicotine (i.e., nicotine without the products of combustion) is of less risk to the user than the inhalation of nicotine delivered by smoke from combusted tobacco products. However, limited data suggest that the pharmacokinetic properties of inhaled nicotine can be similar to nicotine delivered by combusted tobacco products. Thus, inhaled nicotine from a non-combustible product may be as addictive as inhaled nicotine delivered by combusted tobacco products. Researchers recognize that the effects from nicotine exposure by inhalation without combustion are likely not responsible for the high prevalence of tobacco-related death and disease in this country (Refs. 10, 11). Although nicotine itself has not

been shown to cause the chronic disease associated with tobacco use, the 2014 Surgeon General's report noted that there are still risks associated with nicotine (Ref. 9 at 111). For example, nicotine at high enough doses has acute toxicity (id.). Research in animal models have demonstrated that nicotine exposure during fetal development may have lasting adverse consequences for brain development (id.). Nicotine also adversely affects maternal and fetal health during pregnancy, contributing to multiple adverse outcomes such as preterm delivery and stillbirth (id.; citing Refs. 12, 13). Further, data from studies of mice also suggest that nicotine exposure during adolescence may have lasting adverse consequences for brain development (id.). Some studies in animal models also have found that nicotine can have detrimental effects on the cardiovascular system and potentially disrupt the central nervous system (Refs. 14, 15).

"Since the 1964 Surgeon General's report, comprehensive tobacco control programs and policies have been proven effective for controlling tobacco use" (Ref. 9 at 36). Accordingly, FDA is issuing this final rule to serve two purposes: (1) To deem products that meet the definition of "tobacco product" under the law, except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products, and subject them to the tobacco control authorities in the FD&C Act; and (2) to establish specific restrictions that are appropriate for the protection of the public health for the newly deemed tobacco products. To satisfy these purposes, FDA proposed two options (Option 1 and Option 2), which provided two alternatives for the scope of the deeming provisions and, consequently, the application of the additional specific provisions. Under Option 1, all products meeting the definition of a "tobacco product," except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products, would be deemed. Option 2 was the same as Option 1, except a subset of cigars known as "premium cigars" would be excluded.

Currently, ~~unregulated~~ tobacco products unregulated by FDA are widely available and come in many forms, including cigars, pipe tobacco, waterpipe tobacco, liquids (e-liquids) for ENDS (the most popular of which are electronic cigarettes, but also include e-hookah, e-cigars, vape pens, personal vaporizers, and electronic pipes), liquid nicotine that is made or derived from tobacco, nicotine gels, and certain dissolvable tobacco products (i.e., dissolvable products that do not currently meet the definition of "smokeless tobacco" in section 900(18) of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 387(18)) because they do not contain cut, ground, powdered, or leaf tobacco and instead contain nicotine extracted from tobacco). Upon implementation of this final rule, currently unregulated tobacco products and future products meeting the definition of "tobacco product" under section 201(rr) (except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products) will be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

FDA issued a proposed deeming rule on April 25, 2014 (79 FR 23142). We received over 135,000 comments on the ~~proposed rule~~.NPRM. Comments were received from tobacco product manufacturers, retailers, academia, medical professionals, local governments, advocacy groups, and consumers. To make it easier to identify comments and our responses, the word "Comment," in parentheses, will appear before each comment, and the word "Response," in parentheses, will appear before each response. We have numbered the comments to make it easier to distinguish between comments; the numbers are for organizational purposes only and do not reflect the order in which we received the comments or any value associated with them. We have combined similar comments under one numbered comment. In addition to the comments specific to this rulemaking that we address in the following paragraphs, we received many general comments expressing support or opposition to the rule and separate provisions within the rule. These comments express broad policy views and do not address specific points

related to this rulemaking. Therefore, these general comments do not require a response. Other comments outside the scope of this rulemaking also have not been addressed here. The remaining comments, as well as FDA's responses, are included ~~below.~~ [in this document.](#)

II. Legal Authority

A. Summary of Legal Authority

As set forth in the preamble to the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) (79 FR 23142 at 23145), the Tobacco Control Act provided FDA with the authority to regulate tobacco products by, among other things, adding chapter IX to the FD&C Act. Section 901 of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 387a) provides that this new chapter (Chapter IX--Tobacco Products) applies to all cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco and to any other tobacco products that the Secretary of Health and Human Services by regulation deems to be subject to this chapter. In accordance with section 901 of the FD&C Act, FDA issued a ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) to extend FDA's "tobacco product" authorities to products that meet the statutory definition of "tobacco product" in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act,⁵ except the accessories of these tobacco products, and provided two separate options as to the scope of cigar products that would be deemed subject to FDA's tobacco authorities. FDA is selecting Option 1 deeming all tobacco products, including premium cigars, except the accessories of the newly deemed products, with this final rule.

In addition, section 906(d)(1) of the FD&C Act authorizes FDA to require restrictions on the sale and distribution of a tobacco product, if the Agency determines that ~~“~~such regulation

⁵ [Section 201\(rr\) of the FD&C Act defines "tobacco product," in relevant part, as any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product \(except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product\). 21 U.S.C. 321\(rr\).](#)

would be appropriate for the protection of the public health.” FDA has determined that the additional restrictions included with this final rule (i.e., minimum age and identification requirements, vending machine restrictions, and health warning statements) are “appropriate for the protection of the public health.”

These authorities are supplemented by section 903 of the FD&C Act, [\(21 U.S.C. 387c\)](#), which provides, among other things, that a tobacco product is misbranded unless the manufacturer, packer, or distributor thereof includes in all advertisements and other descriptive printed matter issued or caused to be issued by the manufacturer, packer, or distributor with respect to that tobacco product a brief statement of the uses of the tobacco product and relevant warnings, precautions, side effects, and contraindications (section 903(a)(8)(B)(i) of the FD&C Act). Section 903(a)(7)(B) of the FD&C Act also provides that a tobacco product is misbranded if it is sold or distributed in violation of a regulation prescribed under section 906(d) of the FD&C Act.

In addition, section 701(a) of the FD&C Act [\(21 U.S.C. 371\(a\)\)](#) provides FDA with authority to promulgate regulations for the efficient enforcement of the FD&C Act.

B. Responses to Comments Regarding Legal Authority

FDA received comments on a wide range of legal issues, including FDA’s authority to deem tobacco products subject to the FD&C Act and constitutional issues that may be implicated by the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#). FDA carefully considered these comments and concludes that the Agency has authority to deem the tobacco products covered under this final rule. FDA is not aware of other legal concerns from comments that prevent the Agency from taking the actions included in this final rule. A summary of comments regarding legal authority, and FDA’s responses, ~~are included below~~ [follows](#).

1. Section 901 Authority

~~_____~~(Comment 1) Generally, the comments did not challenge FDA's authority under section 901 of the FD&C Act, but at least one comment argued that section 901 does not grant FDA the authority to deem, "in a sweeping manner," all products (excluding accessories) that meet the statutory definition of "tobacco product." The comment argued that Congress intended to grant FDA discretion to deem products only on a product-by-product basis, or at best, a category-by-category basis, and that FDA lacks authority to "simply swallow all extant and future tobacco products up in its authority[+]"[.]

~~_____~~(Response) FDA disagrees. Section 901 grants FDA the authority to deem "any ~~and all~~ "tobacco products that the Secretary, by regulation, deems to be subject to [chapter IX of the FD&C Act+]"[.] There is no provision in the statute that restricts FDA's authority to deem all tobacco products that meet the statutory definition or requires FDA to deem products on an individual or product category basis.

The comment did not provide a basis for the claim that Congress intended to restrict FDA's deeming authority to piecemeal deeming of specific categories of products and no such restrictions exist. FDA believes that deeming tobacco products on a product or category basis would create regulatory loopholes, substantial delay (at the risk to public health), and significantly impede FDA's ability to create a comprehensive regulatory scheme.

Even if there ~~were~~was ambiguity in the wording of section 901, which FDA does not believe there is, FDA would be entitled to deference on this interpretation of the statute: (Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-45 (1984), quoting Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199, 231 (1974) ("We have long recognized that considerable weight

should be accorded to an executive department's construction of a statutory scheme it is entrusted to administer, and the principle of deference to administrative interpretations²)).

——(Comment 2) At least one comment questioned whether section 901 of the FD&C Act provides authority to deem future tobacco products under the new rule. Specifically, the comment argued that a product must exist to fit the definition of "tobacco product" must exist at the time the rule takes effect for "it to be subject to "deeming" to occur" under the rule.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. NothingThe term "tobacco product" is defined in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, 21 U.S.C. § 321(rr), to mean "any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product), and excluding drugs, devices, and combination products as defined under the FD&C Act. The definition has no temporal element, and nothing in the statute limits FDA's deeming authority to products or categories of products that are currently marketed, and this. Contrary to Congress's intention in enacting the statute, the proposed interpretation would substantially impede FDA's ability to protect the public health. Indeed, FDA's ability to regulate new products would be further delayed by months or even years after the introduction of each new product, as the Agency would have to initiate a rulemaking to deem each new product before existing regulations would apply. Such an interpretation would frustrate the intent underlying the Tobacco Control Act and endanger the public health.

——Moreover, we note that the Agency is not simply creating a rule to apply to theoretical products with completely unknown risks that will be developed in the future. Instead, FDA is finalizing this rule to include all "tobacco products" within the scope of its regulatory

authority based on the potential harm posed by existing products and the Agency's experience with the regulation of such products (which have all been made or derived from tobacco). This experience has shown us that it would be easier for manufacturers and more protective for public health for a company to know (prior to development and marketing) that its product must be reviewed and authorized by FDA in order to be offered for sale in the United States.

(Comment 3) A number of comments ~~h~~contended that section 901(g) of the FD&C Act requires FDA to consult with other Federal ~~a~~Agencies before promulgating a new rule under chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Response) FDA agrees that section 901(g) requires FDA to “endeavor to consult with other Federal ~~a~~Agencies, as appropriate.” FDA consulted with other Federal ~~a~~Agencies during the ~~federal agency~~Federal Agency review process required by Executive Order 12866, satisfying its requirement under section 901(g).

2. FDA's Exercise of Authority

——(Comment ~~4~~) 4 Some comments, largely from the ENDS industry, argued that FDA is required to establish that deeming will benefit public health, and that insufficient evidence exists to do so. Specifically, they argued that FDA is unable to quantify the health risks of certain products (namely, e-cigarettes)⁶ without multiple long-term studies, and that currently such studies do not exist. A few comments cited the public health standard in section 906(d) of the FD&C Act as authority for these claims.

⁶ FDA notes that most comments referred to “e-cigarettes” when discussing ENDS products. Therefore, FDA refers to “e-cigarette” in the comment summaries. Because FDA's responses generally apply to all ENDS products (the most popular of which are electronic cigarettes, but also includes e-hookah, e-cigars, vape pens, personal vaporizers, and electronic pipes), ~~the~~FDA's responses to the comments generally use the term “ENDS.”

_____(Response) FDA disagrees. These comments attempted to impose a standard for the application of FDA's² deeming authority that is not created by statute or otherwise. Under section 901**(b)**, chapter IX of the FD&C Act shall apply to all cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco and to any other tobacco products that the Secretary by regulation deems to be subject to this chapter (emphasis added). The only limitation in section 901pertinent limitations on the scope of FDA's² deeming authority isare the definition of "tobacco product" set forth in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act and a provision regarding tobacco growers and similar entities and tobacco leaf that is not in the possession of a manufacturer of tobacco products in section 901(c)(2) of the FD&C Act.

FDA disagrees with the comments that argued that the standard set forth in section 906(d) of the FD&C Act applies to the act of deeming tobacco products. Sections 901 and ~~section~~ 906(d)(1) provide FDA with separate authorities. Section 901 gives FDA the authority to deem additional products to be subject to ~~C~~chapter IX. Once products are subject to ~~C~~chapter IX, FDA can use other authorities in ~~C~~chapter IX, such as section 906(d), to take regulatory action with respect to such products. By its own language, section 906(d) applies to regulations FDA issues requiring restrictions on the sale and distribution, including restrictions on the access to, and the advertising and promotion, of, a tobacco product; therefore, the standard in section 906(d)(1) applies only to the additional regulations issued by FDA (i.e., under section 906(d) (such as the minimum age and identification requirements and vending machine restrictions this rule is promulgating in § 1140.14, and the health warning requirements in §§ 1143.3 and 1143.5) and not to deeming itself or the provisions in the statute that apply automatically to newly deemed products.

Although FDA is not required to meet a particular public health standard to deem tobacco products, regulation of the newly deemed products will be beneficial to public health. ~~For example, as FDA discussed in the proposed rule~~The Agency has concluded, based on scientific data, that the newly deemed products should be regulated due to their potential for public harm (e.g., 79 FR at 23154-23158) and regulation is necessary to learn more about that potential. Greater regulatory certainty created by premarket authorizations should help companies to invest in creating novel products, with greater confidence that improved products will enter the market without having to compete against equally novel, but more dangerous products. For example, a company wishing to invest the additional resources needed to ensure that its e-cigarette is designed and manufactured with appropriate methods and controls will be more likely to do so if the product is not competing against products that are more cheaply and crudely made, yet appear to be identical to the consumer. Over time, since the "appropriate for the protection of the public health" standard involves comparison to the general tobacco product market, FDA believes the employment of the premarket authorities could create incentives for producers to develop products that are less dangerous when consumed, less likely to lead to initiation of tobacco use, and/or easier to quit.

Further, FDA's premarket review of the newly deemed products will increase product consistency. For example, FDA's oversight of the constituents of e-cigarettes cartridges will help to ensure quality control relative to the chemicals and their quantities being aerosolized and inhaled. At present, there is significant variability in the concentration of chemicals amongst products--including variability between labeled content and concentration and actual content and concentration (e.g., Refs. 16, 17, 18, 19, 20). Without a regulatory framework, users who expect consistency in these products may instead be subject to significant variability in nicotine content

among products, raising potential public health and safety issues. Implementation of the premarket review requirements also will allow FDA to monitor product development and changes and to prevent more harmful or addictive products from reaching the market.

In addition, as FDA discussed in the NPRM, deeming all tobacco products will provide FDA with critical information regarding the health risks of the products including information derived from ingredient listing submissions and reporting of HPHCs required under the FD&C Act (79 FR 23142 at 23148). Obtaining this information is particularly important given the addictiveness of nicotine and the toxicity associated with tobacco products. Given that "[e]xposure to secondhand tobacco smoke has been causally linked to cancer, respiratory, and cardiovascular diseases, and to adverse effects on the health of infants and children," this information will be helpful in further assessing the toxicity of the newly deemed tobacco products (Ref. 9 at 7).⁷

Many of these comments also argued that FDA's acknowledgment that it does "not currently have sufficient data . . . to determine what effects e-cigarettes have on the public health" is an admission that FDA does not know, and cannot determine, whether regulation of these products will benefit public health. FDA disagrees. That language follows the statement, "some have advanced views that certain new tobacco products that are noncombustible . . . may be less hazardous, at least in certain respects, than combustible products . . ."⁷ and refers only to the lack of evidence supporting such claims-asserted benefits (79 FR 23142 at 23143). It is important to note that even if (23144). Whether ENDS are generally may eventually be shown to have a net benefit on or harm to public health at the population level--and there are no have not

⁷ As stated in the 2014 Surgeon General's Report, "the burden of death and disease from tobacco use in the United States is overwhelmingly caused by cigarettes and other combusted tobacco products" (Ref. 9 at 7).

~~yet been~~ long-term studies ~~conducted~~ to support ~~the~~~~either~~ claim at this time--~~regulation~~ of ENDS ~~would~~~~will~~ still benefit public health. ~~The 2014 Surgeon General's Report also notes that "[f]urther research with attention to their individual and population-level consequences will be helpful to fully address these questions. However, the promotion of noncombustible products is much more likely to provide public health benefits only in an environment where the appeal, accessibility, promotion, and use of cigarettes and other combusted tobacco products are being rapidly reduced" (Ref. 9 at 874).~~

FDA noted in the ~~proposed rule~~~~NPRM~~ that many public health benefits will flow from deeming tobacco products (including e-cigarettes and other ENDS). Even if a category of products, ~~such as ENDS, proves~~ ~~were to prove~~ generally beneficial, individual products within that category may raise concerns. For example, some products may be particularly attractive to youth or deliver unexpected high levels of toxicants. ~~Regulation~~~~In addition, once all tobacco products are deemed, any manufacturer seeking to market its product as a MRTP will be required to provide substantiation and obtain an order from FDA before making such claims, where it is currently not subject to such requirements under the FD&C Act. More generally, regulation~~ and product review allows the ~~a~~Agency to help ensure the public health is protected. FDA's regulatory tools, including the adulteration and misbranding provisions in sections 902 ~~(21 U.S.C. 387b)~~ and 903 of the FD&C Act as applied to newly deemed products, will help to protect consumers by subjecting all tobacco products to certain basic requirements, such as that their labeling and advertising not be false or misleading. FDA will be able to take enforcement action against any tobacco products that do not meet these requirements. Further, implementation of the requirements regarding premarket applications, SE reports, and exemption requests (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act) ~~(21 U.S.C. 387e and 387j, respectively)~~ will

increase product consistency and help protect the public health from adverse impacts. For example, although there is currently variability in the concentrations of chemicals in e-liquids, FDA oversight of the constituents in e-liquids and ENDS will help to ensure quality control over the types and quantities of chemicals being aerosolized and inhaled ~~and will ensure accuracy of information communicated to consumers~~ (79 FR 23142 at 23149). Once deemed, the Tobacco Control Act authorizes FDA to impose certain types of restrictions that it has determined are appropriate to the protection of public health. Under this authority, FDA is imposing certain restrictions for ENDS and other products, such as minimum age requirements.

The need for deeming is further confirmed by the continued dramatic rise in youth and young adult use of tobacco products such as e-cigarettes and waterpipe tobacco, and continued youth and young adult use of cigars (mainly cigarillos). As discussed in the NPRM, e-cigarettes are widely available in retail outlets such as kiosks in shopping malls and on the Internet and their online popularity has surpassed that of snus which has been on the market far longer than e-cigarettes (Ref. 21).

Recent studies show a dramatic rise in the use of ENDS products. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and FDA analyzed data from the 2011–2014 National Youth Tobacco Surveys (NYTS) and found that current (past 30 day) e-cigarette use among high school students increased nearly 800 percent from 1.5 percent in 2011 to 13.4 percent in 2014 (Ref. 22). In 2014, a total of 24.6 percent of high school students reported current use of a tobacco product (id.). Among all high school students, e-cigarettes (13.4 percent) were the most common tobacco products used (id.). This increase was not limited to any one demographic group; e-cigarettes were the most commonly used product among high school non-Hispanic whites, Hispanics, and persons of non-Hispanic other races (id.). E-cigarettes (3.9 percent) were

also the tobacco product used most commonly by middle school students (id.). From 2011 to 2014, statistically significant nonlinear increases were observed among high school students for current e-cigarette use (1.5 percent to 13.4 percent) (id.). Among middle school students, statistically significant increases were observed from 2011 to 2014 (id.). In 2014, an estimated 4.6 million middle and high school students currently used any tobacco product (i.e., cigarettes, cigars, smokeless tobacco, e-cigarettes, hookahs, tobacco pipes, snus, dissolvable tobacco, and bidis), of which an estimated 2.2 million students currently used two or more tobacco products. Overall, in 2014, 2.4 million middle and high school students reported current use of e-cigarettes (id.). The data also demonstrated that when use of all tobacco products was considered in aggregate, there was no change in overall current tobacco use among middle and high school students.

Another recently published study found that ninth grade students who reported having ever used e-cigarettes at the baseline assessment were approximately 2.7 times more likely than non-e-cigarette users to have started smoking combusted tobacco products (cigarettes, cigars, waterpipe tobacco) and 1.7 times more likely to have started smoking conventional cigarettes 6 to 12 months later (Ref. 23). While this study indicates that e-cigarette users are more likely than non-e-cigarette users to also use combusted tobacco products 12 months later, it cannot be determined by the research findings if such users would have used combusted tobacco products regardless of e-cigarette use. Researchers noted that some teens are more likely to use e-cigarettes prior to combustible tobacco products for several reasons including the availability of e-cigarettes in flavors attractive to youth (id.).

In terms of young adult and adult use of e-cigarettes, evidence from the most recent studies on ENDS use among young adults and adults indicates that among adults who had never

smoked cigarettes, prevalence of ever e-cigarette use was highest among young adults aged 18 to 24 and decreased with increasing age (Ref. 24). However, current cigarette smokers and recent former smokers (i.e., those who quit smoking within the past year) were more likely to use e-cigarettes than long-term former smokers (i.e., those who quit smoking more than 1 year ago) and adults who had never smoked. Current cigarette smokers who had tried to quit in the past year were also more likely to use e-cigarettes than those who had not tried to quit (id.). It is noted that it cannot be determined by the research findings: (1) whether former cigarette smokers who now exclusively use e-cigarettes would not have ceased smoking cigarettes regardless of e-cigarette use; and (2) whether the e-cigarette use preceded quitting or the quitting occurred first and then was followed by later e-cigarette use.

The data from the 2011 through 2014 NYTS also show that high school students' use of waterpipe tobacco more than doubled during this time period. In fact, researchers observed substantial increases in waterpipe tobacco use among both middle and high school students from 2011 through 2014 culminating in an estimated 1.6 million waterpipe tobacco youth users in 2014 (Ref. 22). From 2013 to 2014, prevalence almost doubled for high school students from 5.2 percent (770,000) to 9.4 percent (1.3 million) and more than doubled for middle school students from 1.1 percent (120,000) to 2.5 percent (280,000) (id.). These findings are consistent with earlier research on older youths and young adults discussed in the comments stating that waterpipe tobacco use continues to increase in popularity, particularly among college students, with as many as 40 percent reporting ever using waterpipe tobacco and 20 percent reporting current use (i.e., use within the past 30 days) on some college campuses (Refs. 25, 26).

Likewise, youth continue to use cigars. Data from the 2014 NYTS indicate that 8.2 percent (1,200,000) of high school students and 1.9 percent (220,000) of middle school students

had smoked cigars (including cigars, cigarillos, or little cigars) in the past 30 days (Ref. 22). Nineteen percent of students in 8th, 10th, and 12th grades participating in the Monitoring the Future study in 2014 also reported smoking small or little cigars (which represents a decrease from 23.1 percent in 2010, but it is unclear if subjects misidentified cigars as cigarettes during the study) (Ref. 27). In addition, the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) found that more than 2,500 youth under the age of 18 smoke their first cigar each day, nearly as many as those who smoke their first cigarette each day (more than 2,600) (Ref. 28). Nevertheless, data on youth cigar use from the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS) shows that current cigar use among youth (i.e., use of a cigar, cigarillo, or little cigar on at least one day during the last 30 days) has declined between 1997 and 2013 (22 percent to 12.6 percent); however, no statistically significant change was observed between 2011 (13.1 percent) and 2013 (12.6 percent) (Ref. 29).

(Comment 5) At least one comment argued that the rule violates the ~~Administrative Procedure Act~~APA, 5 U.S.C. 706, ~~because saying that~~ it requires FDA to provide “the specific basis for [its] conclusion and the data on which each of [its] critical assumptions is based,” (quoting Ranchers Cattlemen Action Legal Fund United Stockgrowers of America, No. 04-cv-51, 2004 WL 1047837 at *7 (D. Mont. Apr. 26, 2004), and FDA failed to do so.

———(Response) FDA disagrees. The unpublished district court case quoted in the comment was reversed by the Ninth Circuit on exactly this point (415 F.3d 1078 (9th Cir. 2005)). The Ninth Circuit stated the correct standard: “All that is required is that the agency have considered the relevant facts and articulated a rational connection between the facts found and the choices ~~made~~” (~~Id~~made” (id. at 1093). See Citizens to Preserve Overton Park, Inc. v.

Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 416 (1971); Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n of U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 42-43 (1983).

~~The proposed rule~~In any event, the NPRM contains substantial explanation of FDA's reasoning in proposing this rule, including over 190 citations to scientific literature, and the ~~proposed NPRM~~ and the final rule's supplementary information contain many pages explaining the data and comments considered, the conclusions drawn from the literature, and FDA's rationale for the final rule, fully satisfying the ~~Administrative Procedure Act~~APA.

——(Comment 6) A few comments objected that FDA did not discuss the possibility of illicit markets in the proposed deeming rule, stating that FDA is required to consider the consequences of illicit markets under section 907(b)(2) of the FD&C Act.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Section 907(b)(2) does not apply to deeming, but rather applies only to the promulgation of regulations establishing tobacco product standards under section 907 of the FD&C Act. ~~Nevertheless, as discussed in Section IV.B.6, FDA believes that any concerns regarding the development of illicit markets as a result of this deeming rule will be outweighed by the public health benefits that will accrue from regulating the newly deemed products. In any event, the Agency cannot refuse to act in furtherance of the public health because some individuals might violate the law. Nevertheless,~~ FDA authority over the newly deemed tobacco products will give it means to determine which products are legally on the market and which are counterfeit or otherwise illegally marketed. ~~and to take enforcement action against manufacturers who sell and distribute illegal products.~~ The Tobacco Control Act gives the ~~a~~Agency these and other authorities, such as section 920 of the FD&C Act, (21 U.S.C. 387t), to help address illicit tobacco products.

3. Constitutional Issues

The Tobacco Control Act includes provisions restricting tobacco product marketing. As discussed [below in this document](#), some of these provisions apply to all products covered by the statute—including the newly deemed products—and others authorize FDA to impose additional restrictions. We received comments that argue that some of these restrictions [this final rule imposes on newly deemed products](#) violate the First Amendment.

• [a. Free samples of tobacco products.](#)

——(Comment [7](#)) A few comments questioned the constitutionality of the ban on the distribution of free samples of tobacco products. (See § [1140.16\(d\)\(1\)\(i\)](#).) First, the comments argued that distributing free samples is a form of commercial speech that is protected by the First Amendment; and that the ban is unconstitutional as applied to the newly deemed products. Citing [Central Hudson Gas and Electric Corp. v. Public Services Commission](#), 447 U.S. 557, 566 (1980); ~~the~~ the comments argued that, accordingly, FDA must show that the ban is narrowly tailored to directly and materially advance a substantial State interest and that FDA failed to do so. The comments stated that while the court in [Discount Tobacco City & Lottery v. United States](#), 674 F.3d 509 (6th Cir. 2012), cert. denied sub nom. [Am. Snuff Co., LLC v. United States](#), [133 S. Ct. 1996](#) (2013) ("Discount Tobacco"), upheld the Tobacco Control Act's sampling ban on cigarettes, the evidence the court used to uphold that ban does not support the same ban for the newly deemed tobacco products. They argued that FDA has presented no evidence that samples of these products lead to youth initiation and, therefore, the Agency would not be advancing a legitimate government interest with this ban. Additionally, they suggested that even if the ban did advance a legitimate government interest, FDA could achieve the same results through less restrictive means, such as by allowing samples in qualified adult-only facilities, as FDA does with smokeless tobacco.

(Response) FDA disagrees that the ban on free samples is unconstitutional. First, although FDA believes acknowledges that in Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 538-39, the Sixth Circuit treated the distribution of free samples as a form of commercial speech, FDA continues to believe that distribution of free samples is conduct not speech. Provisions that regulate conduct without a significant expressive element do not implicate the First Amendment. See Arcara v. Cloud Books, Inc., 478 U.S. 697, 706-07 (1986). Additionally, a free sample ban is akin to a price restriction (i.e., tobacco products cannot be free)—a “form[] of regulation that would not involve any restriction on speech.” 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 517 U.S. 484, 507 (1996) (opinion of Stevens, J.). Therefore, the free sample provision regulates the distribution of a product, and there is no First Amendment right to distribute free samples of a tobacco product.

Second, even if the distribution of free samples ~~implicates~~ does implicate the First Amendment, as the Sixth Circuit concluded, the court went on to uphold the constitutionality of the restriction on free samples of tobacco products ~~has been found constitutional by the Sixth Circuit in~~ Discount Tobacco City & Lottery, Inc. v. U.S., 674 F.3d 509, at 541 (6th Cir. 2012), ~~cert. denied sub nom. Am. Snuff Co., LLC v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 1996 (2013) (“Discount Tobacco”)~~. In Discount Tobacco, as here, the manufacturers of tobacco products argued that the government failed to show that the ban would directly and materially advance the government interest of decreasing use of tobacco products by youth. The manufacturers further argued that even if the sampling ban were effective, there are less restrictive methods of preventing youth tobacco use (*id.* at 538, 541). The Sixth Circuit rejected both arguments, and held that the government “presented extensive documentation that free samples of tobacco products are [an] ‘easily accessible source of these products to young people,’ ...and freely obtainable, even with

the tobacco industry's 'voluntary codes that supposedly restrict distribution of free samples to underage persons.'" persons" id. at 541 (quoting 61 FR 44396 at 44460, 45244-45 & nn. 1206-08 (August 28, 1996)). The Court further held that free samples "may serve as the best advertisement of all for a product that is physiologically addictive, and socially attractive to youth" (674 F.3d at 541); (id.).

The comments do not attempt to distinguish Discount Tobacco. Here, where there is a substantial government interest in preventing youth access to all tobacco products, and the newly deemed products, like the products considered by the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals, are also "physiologically addictive, and socially attractive to youth," as stated by the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals," Discount Tobacco is directly on point. As we stated in the proposed rule NPRM, the prohibition against free samples will eliminate a pathway for youth to access tobacco products, which can help in reducing youth initiation and therefore short-term and long-term morbidity and mortality resulting from these products.

Youth are uniquely susceptible to biological, social, and environmental influences to use and become addicted to tobacco products. See section X.A of this document. As FDA recognized as early as 1995, "free"[f]ree samples represent give young people a 'risk-free and cost-free² way for young people to obtain and possibly use [satisfy their curiosity] about tobacco products], and that, when free samples are distributed at cultural or social events, peer may increase social pressure may lead someone young people to accept and to use the free samples'" (60 FR 41314 at 41326 (quoting Ref. 30)). For these reasons, we believe it is critical to prohibit the distribution of free samples of newly deemed tobacco products, which are highly addictive and can lead to a lifetime of tobacco use, with attendant adverse health consequences.

~~As was the case with cigarettes,~~ FDA received comments noting extensive sampling of some newly deemed products in venues that may attract youth, including:-

- The major sellers of e-cigarettes distribute free samples in venues likely to attract large audiences.-
- At least eight e-cigarette companies promote their products through sponsored or sampling events, many of which appear to be youth-oriented (Ref. [207A](#), [Durbin31](#)).
- In 2012 and 2013 alone, [six6](#) e-cigarette companies sponsored or provided free samples at 348 events, many of which were music festivals and motorsport events geared toward young people---including Grand Prix auto racing events- ([Id.](#)).
- Field research in Oregon found that e-cigarette retailers include the opportunity to sample the wide variety of flavored nicotine cartridges in their sales pitches with test stations for free sampling (Comments of Oregon Health Authority, FDA-2014-N-0189-~~DRAFT 76722-376358~~).

As described above [and in the NPRM](#), the free sample provision will address distribution of newly deemed tobacco products at venues such as these. Contrary to the assertions in the comments, FDA does not believe that it could achieve the same results by allowing samples of newly deemed products in qualified adult-only facilities, as FDA does with smokeless tobacco. In section 102(a)(2)(G) of the Tobacco Control Act (21 U.S.C. 387a-1), ~~(a)(2)(G)~~, Congress required FDA to reissue the final 1996 rule (published in the Federal Register of August 28, 1996, 61 FR 44396), with several changes, including the addition of a narrow exception to the free sample ban to allow for distribution of smokeless tobacco products in qualified, adult-only facilities (QAOFs). This exception is very prescriptive and operates only in very limited

instances (e.g., where the product is distributed in a specific type of temporary enclosed structure with age verification by a law enforcement officer or a security guard present licensed by a governmental entity, and with the amount of smokeless tobacco meets-per adult consumer subject to specific portion requirements). If FDA were to extend this exception, in whole or in part, -to other tobacco products (contrary to Congressional intent when Congress explicitly extended the free sample ban to cigarettes and all "other tobacco products," which would include all future deemed tobacco products and laid out the qualified adult-only facility exception only for smokeless), FDA would have to justify such an exception in light of the potential adverse public health impact of allowing free samples and determine the particular parameters of the exception as appropriate for newly deemed tobacco products. This would include, at a minimum, parameters relating to type of facility, means of access, type(s) of tobacco products distributed, and portion sizes for each type of tobacco product for which FDA is creating an exception.—Newly deemed products have been largely unregulated and their markets, particularly for novel non-combustible noncombustible products such as ENDS, are dynamic. Accordingly, at this time, FDA does not have sufficient evidence, including information about product composition, nicotine delivery, and use patterns, to enable it to determine the appropriate circumstances, if any, where demonstrating that the distribution of free samples of newly deemed tobacco products would allow the agency to still achieve its be consistent with protecting public health goals. Nor was any such. While there is evidence provided by the comments. For example, because the newly deemed suggesting that distribution of tobacco products are so varied and the evidence regarding particular is harmful (e.g., courts have expressed concern that free samples can provide young people with easy access to tobacco products), FDA has not been available, FDA yet obtained product-specific evidence

~~and, therefore,~~ cannot set limits for the quantities or portion sizes of products taken away from a QAOF that are commensurate with the current exception for smokeless tobacco products.

Therefore, QAOFs could still allow for access to tobacco products in a manner that will have a negative public health impact.

Prohibiting free samples is a minor restriction on distribution, and tobacco product manufacturers, distributors, and retailers remain free to inform consumers about ~~the availability and attributes of~~ their products. The free sample prohibition ~~is~~ does not ~~designed or intended to~~ interfere with the ability of a manufacturer, distributor or retailer to communicate truthful and nonmisleading information to adult consumers. We further address this prohibition and respond to additional comments in section XI.F of this document.

——(Comment 8) Some comments recommended that FDA exempt e-cigarettes from the prohibition on free samples. In the alternative, the comments recommended that FDA restrict the circumstances in which free samples may be given to adult consumers. For example, comments suggested that FDA require age verification for each recipient of a free sample and limit the amount of free products that recipients may take away from an event in which samples are distributed.

——(Response) We disagree: for the reasons discussed in the response to the previous comment. As stated in the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM, prohibiting free samples eliminates a pathway to tobacco products for youth, which can help to reduce initiation and thus decrease morbidity caused by use of tobacco products (79 FR 23142 at 23149). In addition, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit previously recognized that FDA has provided “extensive” evidence that free tobacco samples constitute an “easily accessible source” for youth (Discount Tobacco City & Lottery, Inc. v. United States, 674 F.3d 509, 541 (6th Cir. 2012))

(citing 61 FR 44396 at 44460, August 28, 1996), ~~cert. denied sub nom. Am. denied Snuff Co., LLC v. United States~~, 133 S. Ct. 1966 (2013)). With the growth in the use of ENDS, particularly by youth (see section VIII.B of this document), a free sample prohibition is necessary to reduce youth access to ENDS and possibly a transition to combusted tobacco products. ~~(see Ref. 23).~~

• ~~b. Modified risk tobacco products.~~

Section 911 of the FD&C Act (~~21 U.S.C. 387k~~) prohibits the introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate commerce of any ~~modified risk tobacco product (MRTP)~~ without an FDA order in effect ~~pursuant to~~ under section 911(g). An MRTP is a tobacco product that is sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco products, ~~including; this includes tobacco products, the~~ product label, labeling, or advertising of which represents that it is less harmful or presents a lower risk of disease than other tobacco products.

~~————(Comment 9) A few comments argued that section 911 may violate the First Amendment if it is applied to ban descriptions of e-cigarettes and other noncombustible products as “smokeless” or “smoke free.”~~

~~One comment from one~~ tobacco company ~~further~~ argued that section 911 is unconstitutional on its face. This comment argued, at length, that FDA’s oversight of claims that a particular tobacco product is safer than others violates the First Amendment—even as applied to currently regulated products, such as cigarettes.

~~————(Response) With respect Comments addressed to the facial constitutionality of the statute on its face, FDA disagrees. This question was decided by the Sixth Circuit in Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 531-37. The author are generally outside the scope of an agency’s rulemaking authority. Am. this comment challenges the constitutionality Meat Inst. v. U.S. Dep’t~~

~~of the statute using the same arguments that it made in Discount Tobacco, even though the Sixth Circuit rejected those arguments when it upheld Agric., 760 F.3d 18, 25 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (en banc) ("We do not think the constitutionality of a statute should bobble up and down at an administration's discretion."). That said, FDA disagrees with the challenges against section 911.~~

~~In Discount Tobacco, the plaintiffs argued that section 911 is an unconstitutional prior restraint on "intertwined political and commercial speech, which must be reviewed under strict scrutiny." Id. at 532. The Sixth Circuit rejected that 911's constitutionality. The Sixth Circuit considered and unanimously rejected the same argument, holding instead that section 911 does not restrain non-commercial speech:~~

~~Because the restriction in Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 531-37, and the Supreme Court denied the manufacturers' petition for a writ of certiorari (133 S. Ct. 1966 (2013)). As the Sixth Circuit explained, section 911 requires that a manufacturer establish health claims for particular tobacco products to FDA before marketing, rather than allow only post-market review of such claims (674 F.3d at 537 ("it would be a virtual impossibility to unring the bell of misinformation after it has been rung")). This provision does not "infringe significantly on noncommercial speech" since it leaves "untouched" manufacturers' "ability to make 'direct comments on public issues'" (id. at 533 (citation omitted)). Instead, the court held, what section 911 restricts is commercial speech, since it applies to consumer-directed claims regarding a manufacturer's specific products, ~~there is no reason to believe that it touches upon~~~~

~~Plaintiffs’ non- (id.). That restriction on commercial speech ‘in, the public health debate concerning tobacco harm reduction’ 674 F.3d at 533. The court concluded that section 911 held, is not subject to the strict scrutiny that applies to prior restraints of non-commercial speech, but rather restricts only commercial speech and is thus properly analyzed constitutional under Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp. v. ~~Id.~~~~

~~The Sixth Circuit went on to hold that section 911 survived scrutiny under the four-step Central Hudson framework. First, although acknowledging the government’s argument that plaintiffs’ speech was not entitled to First Amendment protection because it is, and historically has been, misleading, the court found that the provision nevertheless ensnares some speech that might be truthful and non-misleading. Id. at 534. Second, the court found that the government had Public Service Commission, 447 U.S. 557 (1980): It advances a substantial government interest in preventing consumer deception arising from the risk that the inaccurate and harmful health claims about tobacco products of the sort that the industry will make fraudulent claims regarding the relative health benefits of its products. Id. at 534-35. Third, the court found that section 911 directly advanced that governmental interest. The provision’s requirement to demonstrate harm reduction at both the individual has made for many decades, and general level survives step three because a claim is inherently misleading if it claims that a product is less risky by virtue of decreased harm to an individual when the harm is externalized to others. Moreover, the government could not achieve its “compelling interest” in reducing juvenile it is sufficiently tailored because it concerns only consumer-targeted speech about tobacco use if a claim raises the aggregate number of users because it leads them to conclude that an unsafe product is relatively safe, instead of merely affecting the apportionment of current users. Id. at~~

~~536. Finally, contrary to the plaintiffs' contention otherwise, section 911 was products' health effects or contents and is no more extensive than necessary; indeed, all of the alternatives proffered by the plaintiffs had been tried, and found wanting. Id. In short, the Sixth Circuit concluded that section 911 was designed to "distinguish the truthful from the false, the helpful from the misleading, and the harmless from the harmful." Id. at 537 (internal punctuation omitted).~~

~~The author of this comment argued that section 911 is an unconstitutional prior restraint despite warranted. Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 534-37. FDA observes that this comment did not address Discount Tobacco's unambiguous holding and without mention of for the Sixth Circuit's analysis.~~

~~With respect to the constitutionality of (Comment 10) A few comments argued that section 911 as may violate the First Amendment if it is applied to newly deemed products, ban descriptions of e-cigarettes and other noncombustible products as "smokeless" or "smoke-free."~~

~~(Response) FDA has carefully considered the comments that argued that noncombusted products, including ENDS, should be permitted to use the terms "smokeless" and smoke-free" to describe their products. We note that section 911 provides that "No smokeless tobacco product shall be considered to be [an MRTP] solely because its label, labeling, or advertising uses the following phrases to describe such product and its use: -'smokeless tobacco,' 'smokeless tobacco product,' 'not consumed by smoking,' 'smoking,' 'does not produce smoke,' 'smoke,' 'smokefree' [and four more similar terms]."~~ However, this provision only applies to "smokeless tobacco" as, which is explicitly defined in the FD&C Act as "any tobacco product that consists of cut, ground, powdered, or leaf tobacco and that is intended to be placed in the oral or nasal cavity" (Section 900(18)) of the FD&C Act). ENDS do not fall

within that definition. Moreover, ~~unlike within contrast to~~ ENDS, consumption of “smokeless tobacco products,” as defined, does not require the use of heat, inhalation of the product into the lungs, or exhalation of constituents into the close environment. FDA is also aware that some e-cigarettes are heated to a high enough level to cause combustion of the e-liquid. For these reasons, ~~at least and until it gains more experience with~~ FDA obtains product-specific evidence, the ~~products, FDA Agency~~ will evaluate an ENDS manufacturer’s use of “smokeless” or “smoke-free” (as well as any other” (and similar descriptive terms) on a case-by-case basis, and the Agency will continue to apply the MRTP provisions in a manner consistent with the statute and Constitution. This case-by-case approach to “smokeless,” “smoke-free,” and similar terms is appropriate ~~in general and~~ as applied to ENDS, which encompasses a broad, heterogeneous, and evolving category of products.

4. Required Warning Labels

~~a. ● This final rule requires advertising and packaging warnings for newly deemed First Amendment challenges~~

~~———— (Comment) A few comments argued that a requirement that covered tobacco products early and for cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco, as authorized by Section 906(d) of the FD&C Act, 21 U.S.C. 387f (d). Packaging and advertising for all newly deemed products other than cigars must display an addictiveness warning label that states: “WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.” (Subject to certain requirements, the manufacturer of a product that does not contain nicotine may use an alternative warning that covers states: “This product is made from tobacco.”) Packaging and advertising for cigars must display either the addictiveness warning, or one of five others specified in the rule.~~

The final rule requires the warnings to appear on at least 30 percent of the two principal display panels of the package, and at least 20 percent of the area of advertisements. These are the same warning sizes Congress established for smokeless tobacco in the Tobacco Control Act: At least 30 percent of smokeless-tobacco packaging's two principal panels, and at least 20 percent of the area of each advertisement. 15 U.S.C. 4402(a)(2)(A), (b)(2)(B). In the same Act, Congress prescribed an even larger size for cigarette warnings: 50 percent of the front and rear panels of cigarette packaging (and the same 20 percent size for cigarette advertisements) (15 U.S.C. 1333(a)(2), (b)(2)). (The larger warning sizes required for cigarettes have not yet been implemented, because FDA's initial regulations implementing a graphics component for cigarette warnings were vacated by the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals in *R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. FDA*, 696 F.3d 1205 (D.C. Cir. 2012), overruled on other grounds by *Am. Meat Inst.*, 760 F.3d at 22-23.)

A detailed discussion of the warning requirements appears in section XVI.

a. *First Amendment challenges*

~~packaging violates the~~The required warnings are a form of compelled disclosure, and are thus subject to First Amendment scrutiny. *Milavetz, Gallop & Milavetz, P.A. v. United States*, 559 U.S. 229, 249 (2010); *Riley v. Nat'l Fed'n of the Blind of N.C., Inc.*, 487 U.S. 781, 797-98 (1988).

(Comment 11) Although the comments generally did not dispute the need for warning labels, some commenters questioned the accuracy of the addictiveness warning as applied to cigars, contending that cigar users do not always inhale.

(Response) Nicotine is "one of the most addictive substances used by humans" (Ref. 7). "Because the extension of First Amendment protection to commercial speech is justified

principally by the value to consumers of the information such speech provides," the manufacturers' "constitutionally protected interest in not providing any particular factual information in his advertising is minimal." *Am. Meat Inst.*, 760 F.3d at 26 (quoting *Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel*, 471 U.S. 626, 651 (1985)).

Cigar packaging and advertisements are required to display one of six warnings, one of which is the addictiveness warning. Research indicates that most cigar smokers do inhale some amount of smoke, even when they do not intend to inhale, and are not aware of doing so (Refs. 32, 33). Even when cigar smokers do not breathe smoke into their lungs, they are still subject to the addictive effects of nicotine through nicotine absorption (Refs. 32, 34). This is because cigar smoke dissolves in saliva, allowing the smoker to absorb sufficient nicotine to create dependence, even if the smoke is not inhaled (Refs. 34, 35).

(Comment 12) A few comments argued that the First Amendment prohibits a requirement for covered tobacco products to carry warning labels that cover 30 percent of the two principal display panels of the packaging. These comments argued that manufacturers have limited space on packaging to communicate information to consumers, including branding and marketing information, and that requiring manufacturers to dedicate 30 percent of that space for a health warning is unduly burdensome, because it prevents manufacturers from using that space to convey their own messages. ~~Although the comments generally do not dispute the need for a warning label, the~~The comments argued that the warning label presents a simple message that could be relayed in a smaller space. ~~Some comments cited *R.J. Reynolds v. FDA* in support of their argument that the size of the warning labels violates the First Amendment.~~

—(Response) FDA disagrees. ~~These warning labels are consistent with the First Amendment. Under *Zauderer v. In Office of Disciplinary Counsel*, 471 U.S. 626 (1985), the~~

government can require that manufacturers include a warning or disclosure label on product packaging, without violating the First Amendment, as long as there is a “rational connection between the warnings’ purpose and the means used to achieve that purpose.” Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d 509 at 561; see also National Elec. Mfrs. Ass’n the Sixth Circuit considered and rejected the same First Amendment arguments against the size required by the Tobacco Control Act for cigarette and smokeless tobacco warnings. ~~v. Sorrell~~, 272 F.3d 104, 115 (2d Cir. 2001) (“[The First] Amendment is satisfied, . . . by a rational connection between the purpose of a commercial disclosure requirement and the means employed to realize that purpose.”). Therefore, “constitutionality does not hinge upon some quantum of proof that a disclosure will realize the underlying purpose” and “disclosure has to advance the purpose only slightly.” Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 557.

Courts have upheld disclosures under Zauderer that were designed to address a variety of government interests, including to “dissipate the possibility of consumer confusion or deception,” as well as those designed to protect human health by “better inform[ing] consumers about the products they purchase”—the precise government interests here. Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 555–57 (quoting respectively Zauderer, 471 U.S. at 651 and Sorrell, 272 F.3d at 115; see also N.Y. State Restaurant Ass’n 567. The court found ample ~~v. N.Y.C. City Bd. of Health~~, 556 F.3d 114 (2d Cir. 2009) (government interest in preventing obesity justified disclosures intended to inform consumer about calories); Pharm. Care Mgmt. Ass’n ~~v. Rowe~~, 429 F.3d 294, 310 (1st Cir. 2005) (government interest in best and cost-effective health care justified disclosure of financial interests of pharmacy benefit managers). Specifically, the addictiveness of tobacco products has been well-documented, and FDA believes that the failure to disclose the addictive nature of nicotine in tobacco products misleads consumers. The addictiveness warning label thus

~~informs the public of the addictive nature of nicotine as well as prevents consumer confusion and deception.~~

~~The Surgeon General has long recognized the addictive nature of tobacco products due to the presence of nicotine, which is highly addictive and can be absorbed into the bloodstream (Ref. 167, 88 SG). Congress also expressed concern about the addictiveness of these “inherently dangerous products” (section 2(2) of the Tobacco Control Act). Because newly deemed products that contain nicotine are addictive (Ref. 129, Ben 10; Ref. 212, Ben 88; Ref. 213, Stolerman; Ref. 214, Watkins; Ref. 215, Dani), they are subject to the addictiveness warning statement requirements.~~

~~Health warnings on packages and advertisements help consumers to understand and appreciate the health risks of tobacco use and have a number of advantages (Ref. 224, Levin). See In re Lorillard et al., 80 FTC 455 (1972); Federal Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act (FCLAA); Comprehensive Smokeless Tobacco Health Education Act of 1986 (CSTHEA). The frequency of exposure is high. In addition, package warnings are also delivered both at the time of tobacco product use and at the point of purchase; thus, the messages are delivered to tobacco users at the two most important times—when users are considering using or purchasing the tobacco product. Consequently, here, the addictiveness warning will help ensure that individuals—including youth and young adults who are more uniquely susceptible to the addictiveness of nicotine—have a greater awareness of the presence of nicotine and the addictiveness of these products before they might become addicted.~~

~~The warning labels also serve to prevent consumer confusion and deception regarding the addictiveness of the newly deemed products. For example, there is evidence demonstrating that individuals, including youths and young adults, harbor misconceptions about the addictiveness of~~

~~cigars. In a survey of high school students, 46.3 percent of participants believed cigars are less addictive and less harmful than cigarettes (Ref. 231, Smith). Small cigar smokers in this study were split as to whether they believed their product of choice was addictive (Ref. 241 at 1, 40; Createc). Also, in a qualitative study prepared for Health Canada consisting of smokeless tobacco, cigars, and pipe users between the ages of 16 and 60 plus, most large cigar smokers thought that their product of choice was less addictive than cigarettes or not addictive at all because they smoked for pleasure or did not smoke daily (Ref. 241 at 1, 40; Createc). Relatedly, some commenters questioned the addictiveness of cigars given that users do not always inhale. Nevertheless, regardless of whether cigar smokers inhale, they are still subject to the addictive effects through nicotine absorption (Ref. 25, Rodriguez; Ref. 74, Weglicki) because cigar smoke dissolves in saliva, allowing the smoker to absorb sufficient nicotine to satisfy his or her cravings without needing to inhale (Ref. 74, Weglicki).~~

~~Similarly, waterpipe tobacco use carries comparable health risks to smoking cigarettes because of the large amounts of ultrafine particles emitted during a waterpipe smoking session (Ref. 230, Monn). Waterpipe smoke contains many of the same carcinogens and heavy metals as cigarette smoke, and because waterpipe smoking sessions last longer than smoking a cigarette and there is increased smoke volume, a single session of waterpipe smoking (which typically lasts 20 to 80 minutes) could potentially be more dangerous than smoking a cigarette (which typically takes 5 to 7 minutes) (Ref. 231, Smith; Ref. 232, Prignot). Nevertheless, studies have shown a mistaken belief that waterpipe tobacco is less addictive than cigarettes. One study showed that 46 percent of students wrongly believed that waterpipe tobacco is less addictive or less harmful than cigarettes, and one-third of these students wrongly believed that the product had less nicotine, no nicotine, or was generally less addictive than cigarettes (Ref. 231, Smith).~~

~~Moreover, findings also suggest that the mistaken belief that waterpipe tobacco is “safer or less addictiveness than cigarettes” is more prevalent among those who have ever used waterpipe tobacco (78.2 percent) compared to nonusers (31.6 percent) (Ref. 231, Smith).~~

~~Dissolvable tobacco products have a candy-like appearance, are frequently sold next to candy, and are often packaged in a way that makes them more attractive to youths. As a result, consumers can be misled into thinking dissolvable tobacco products are, in fact, candy and, accordingly, do not contain nicotine (Ref. 12, Villanti; Ref. 179, Connolly).~~

~~Finally, some studies on very small numbers of subjects have found that ENDS may be able to achieve nicotine exposures similar to cigarette smokers, particularly for experienced ENDS users (Refs. 138A, Nides; 138B, Polosa; 138C, Cahn; 91, Polosa; 138D, Popova; 150, Vansickel). These studies suggest that certain ENDS may support dependence behaviors in experienced users. There is currently very little information regarding the subjective effects of ENDS, including cravings and withdrawals, but there is consumer confusion and misinformation regarding these products (see e.g., 79 Fed. supporting the size requirements, and held that the manufacturers failed to show "that the remaining portions of their packaging [were] insufficient for them to market their products" (id. at 564-66, 567). The Reg. at 23158 and 23159).~~

~~There is very little argument, if any, that providing users of the covered products with factual and accurate information about the addictive nature of nicotine does not serve the valid purposes described above. In fact, many manufacturers agreed with the addictiveness warning, including statements in their comments that concede that, “there is good reason to notify consumers that deemed tobacco products contain nicotine and that nicotine is addictive.” Therefore, just like the required disclosures in Zauderer, the addictiveness warning labels do not violate the First Amendment because they are rationally related to the government’s purposes.~~

~~Although a few comments argued that the warning size is burdensome or unjustified, the Zauderer test requires that the disclosure requirement be reasonably related to the purpose, and there is no separate analysis as to whether the requirement is burdensome or unjustified. See Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 556-57 & 567; Zauderer, 471 U.S. at 651 & n.14. However, the evidence is clear that the size of the label is, in fact, justified and not unduly burdensome. Seventy percent of the front panels, plus the entirety of the side panels, remain available. Moreover, for the communication on product packages to be effectively understood and appreciated, consumers must notice and pay attention to the warning. Numerous studies show that “the salience of health warnings depends upon the size and position of the warning message.” (Ref. 1 at p. 329, Hammond.) See also Ref. 2, Hammond; Ref 3, Elliott & Shanahan; Ref. 4, Bansal Travers.~~

~~The Institute of Medicine (IOM) (Ref. 5, IOM 07) and Article 11 of the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC), an evidence based treaty that provides a regulatory strategy for addressing the serious negative impacts of tobacco products, recognized the importance of having the warnings requirement that the warning cover at least 30 percent of the area of the two principal display panels, and users are more likely to recall warnings that are in a larger size and that appear on the front/major surfaces of the tobacco product package. Indeed, is unduly burdensome and would prevent manufacturers of newly deemed products from communicating information about their products. As in Discount Tobacco, the comments failed to substantiate that claim with evidence. Nor did the comments provide evidence that the same size requirements for smokeless tobacco packaging, Congress required that the warning labels be located on the two principal display panels and cover at least 30 percent of each panel (15 U.S.C. 4402(a)(2)(A)), which is consistent with the warning labels required for covered tobacco~~

~~products. In addition, we note that these warnings are smaller than the currently required warnings in the European Union (EU). The EU requires that health warnings comprise 30 percent of the area on the front of the package and 40 percent on the back of the package (2001/37/EC).—which have been in force since 2010—have unduly burdened the speech of smokeless tobacco manufacturers.~~

~~———Finally,As the court explained in Discount Tobacco, Congress required larger warnings for smokeless tobacco and cigarettes in the wake of the Surgeon General’s conclusion that the size of existing warnings were “given little attention or consideration by viewers” and IOM’s analysis showing that those warnings “fail[ed] to convey relevant information in an effective way.” Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 562 (quoting Refs. 3, 7).~~

~~The comments contending that the warning label size is neither burdensome or unjustified nor unduly burdensome is reinforced by the Sixth Circuit’s holding in Discount Tobacco. The Sixth Circuit rejectedare misplaced for the plaintiffs’ argument that same reasons identified by the size and placement of the warning requirement for cigarettes, separate fromDiscount Tobacco court. After emphasizing that the relevant First Amendment standard looks only to whether mandatory warnings are reasonably related to the graphic requirement, were unduly burdensome and drowned out their speech. In addition to reemphasizing that government’s interest, Discount Tobacco, 674 F.3d at 567 (citing Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626does not demand a separate analysis as to whether a required warning is unduly burdensome., 651 (1985)), the Sixth Circuit held that the required cigarette warning labels, which were to cover 50 percent of the two primary panels of cigarette packs (far more than the 30 percent required here), did not violate the First Amendment because “[a]mple evidence supports the size requirement for the new warnings . . . and Plaintiffs have not shown that the~~

remaining portions of their packaging are insufficient for them to market their products.”—.”
(674 F.3d at 567; see also id. at 530-31 (Clay, J., concurring in result) (finding that the government demonstrated that the Aet’s Tobacco Control Act’s size and placement requirements satisfied Zauderer scrutiny).—.)

—Article 11 of the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC), evidence of a strong worldwide consensus regarding a regulatory strategy for addressing the serious negative impacts of tobacco products,⁸ recognized the importance of having warnings cover at least 30 percent of the area of the two principal display panels. The European Union (EU) requires that health warnings comprise 30 percent of the area on the front of the package and 40 percent on the back of the package (2001/37/EC). Users are more likely to recall warnings that are in a larger size and that appear on the front/major surfaces of the tobacco product package. (Ref. 7). Before a warning label can help a consumer better understand and appreciate the risks against which it warns, the consumer must notice and pay attention to the warning. The likelihood that a consumer will do so depends upon warning’s size and position. (Refs. 36, 37, 38, 39, 40).

Some comments sought to support their First Amendment arguments against the warning label sizes by citing the D.C. Circuit’s decision in R.J. Reynolds v. FDA, 696 F.3d 1205 (D.C. Cir. 2012), which vacated specific cigarette warnings previously promulgated by FDA. However, the decision in Reynolds was based on the graphics components of the cigarette warnings, not their size. Moreover, the reasoning of the Reynolds panel decision was overtaken

⁸ There are 180 parties to the WHO’s FCTC as of November 2015. At this time, the United States is a signatory but has not ratified this treaty.

by the D.C. Circuit’s more recent en banc decision in American Meat Institute, 760 F.3d at 22-23.

FDA recognizes that the warning size requirement for covered tobacco products may present special difficulties for products in particularly small packages. To address this concern, FDA has added subsection (d) to § 1143.4. Under ~~subsection § 1143.4~~(d), a product that is too small or otherwise unable to accommodate a label with sufficient space to bear the required warning, printed in the required font size, may instead carry the warning on the carton or other outer container or wrapper ~~if the product meets the requirements of this subsection.~~ In cases where there is no carton or other outer container or wrapper that is large enough to carry the warning, the product may carry the warning on a tag firmly and permanently affixed to the package.

FDA agrees that other warnings on tobacco product packages, ~~like such as a warning~~ regarding the risk of nicotine poisoning (as suggested by ~~the one particular~~ comment), may also provide consumers with important health risk information. Therefore, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA’s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings that would help to support a showing that a product is appropriate for the protection of public health. FDA also has issued an ANPRM seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging for certain tobacco products. ~~If~~ FDA determines that it is appropriate for the protection of the public health to require such a warning (in addition to the addiction warning), FDA will consider at that time whether it is necessary to

change the formatting requirements for the addiction warning to ensure that all warnings are clear and conspicuous.

• b. Preemption of State law warning requirements.

——(Comment [13](#)) A number of comments sought an affirmative statement from FDA that the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) preempts State and local warning requirements. A few of the comments directly referenced California's reproductive health warning requirements for products containing nicotine (a notice mandated by Proposition 65). Many cited the explicit preemption provisions that apply to cigarettes and smokeless tobacco (see 15 U.S.C. 1334(b) and 4406(b)). One manufacturer argued that it would be arbitrary and capricious to subject the newly deemed products to a patchwork of Federal, State, and municipal requirements, while cigarettes and smokeless tobacco warning requirements are uniform across States and potentially less stringent. The comment further argued that it would be particularly unreasonable to subject noncombusted products to ~~s~~State and local labeling requirements because (according to the comment) noncombusted products are "safer than cigarettes."

Taking the other side of the issue were comments from public health groups and a joint comment from 29 State Attorneys General who advocated for an explicit statement that the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) does not preempt ~~s~~State and local warning requirements, including California's Proposition 65. At a minimum, they suggested that FDA change the heading of part 1143 from "Required Warning Statement" to "Minimum Required Warning Statement" to indicate that the deeming rule does not preclude other health warnings.

——(Response) Section 916(a)(1) of the FD&C Act ([21 U.S.C. 387p](#)) expressly preserves the authority of State and local governments to, among other things, enact and enforce laws regarding tobacco products that are in addition to, or more

stringent than, requirements established under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. ~~The preservation of State and local governmental authority over tobacco products is limited by section 916(a)(2) of the FD&C Act, which expressly preempts any State or local requirement that is different from, or in addition to, any requirement under chapter IX of the FD&C Act relating to tobacco product standards, premarket review, adulteration, misbranding, labeling, registration, good manufacturing practices, or ~~modified risk tobacco products~~MRTPs.~~⁹ However, section 916(a)(2)(B) of the FD&C Act states that the express preemption provision in section 916(a)(2)(A) does not apply to requirements relating to, among other things, the sale, distribution, possession, information reporting to the State, exposure to, access to, the advertising and promotion of, or use of, tobacco products by individuals of any age. ~~As a general matter, preemption clauses are construed narrowly. See, e.g., Bates v. Dow Agrosciences LLC, 544 U.S. 431, 449 (2005).~~ A State or local statute is facially preempted only if no set of circumstances exists under which the statute would be valid. ~~(See Comm. of Dental Amalgam Mfrs. & Distribs. v. Stratton, 92 F.3d 807, 810 (9th Cir. 1996).)~~ FDA notified State and local jurisdictions about the potential impact this rule could have on their requirements. No State or local laws in effect at the close of the public comment period were identified that FDA determined would be preempted by this final rule.

_____With respect to the argument that it would be arbitrary and capricious to allow States and localities to subject newly deemed products to different warning requirements than cigarettes and smokeless tobacco products, we note that the preemptive effect depends on the relevant statutes. The preemption provisions of [the Federal](#)

⁹ We note that while section 906(e) of the FD&C Act refers to “good manufacturing practices,” FDA refers to any regulations that could be promulgated under section 906(e) as tobacco product manufacturing practices.

[Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act of 1965 \(FCLAA\)](#) (15 U.S.C. 1334) and [the Comprehensive Smokeless Tobacco Health Education Act of 1986 \(CSTHEA\)](#) (15 U.S.C. 4406), which apply to cigarettes and smokeless products, respectively, are significantly different from section 916 of the FD&C Act. For example, the FCLAA and CSTHEA provisions expressly preempt State and local regulation of the content of cigarette and smokeless product advertisements, while section 916(a)(2)(B) of the FD&C Act exempts State and local advertising restrictions from preemption.

————— Separate and apart from the issue of preemption, elsewhere in this issue of the [Federal Register](#), FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings that would help support a showing that a product is appropriate for the protection of public health. Additionally, FDA notes that some ENDS product manufacturers have voluntarily included exposure warnings on their products. Accordingly, FDA has changed the heading of [Part 1143](#) from ["Required Warning Statements"](#) to ["Minimum Required Warning Statements"](#) in order to clarify that [Part 1143](#) is not intended to prevent tobacco product manufacturers from including truthful, non-misleading warnings on their products' packaging or advertisements voluntarily or as a result of FDA guidance.

III. Use of Premarket Pathways for Newly Deemed Products

As stated in the proposed deeming rule, manufacturers of newly deemed products that are ["new tobacco products"](#) as defined in section 910(a)(1) of the FD&C Act will be required to obtain premarket authorization of their products through one of three pathways--[substantial](#)

~~equivalence~~SE, exemption from ~~substantial equivalence~~SE, or ~~premarket tobacco product applications~~PMTAs (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act). The substantive requirements of these provisions are set by statute and, thus, have not changed from the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM. However, FDA has revised the compliance periods for submitting premarket applications, as discussed in section V.A of this document.

As an initial matter, with this final rule, we are also clarifying when FDA will consider a document to have been submitted for purposes of the compliance periods for submission of documents and data required by the automatic provisions of the statute. In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, we noted that the automatic provisions require companies to submit information to FDA, and we proposed various compliance periods to provide industry with time to make such submissions (e.g., ~~"the manufacturer submits a 905(j) report for the product by [effective date of part 1100 plus 24 months]~~"). As previously discussed publically (see ~~<http://www.fda.gov/tobaccoproducts/newsevents/ucm393894.htm>), <http://www.fda.gov/tobaccoproducts/newsevents/ucm393894.htm>), FDA generally relies on the date of receipt of a submission by FDA's Document Control Center (DCC) as the date that the document was submitted (not the date that the submitter sent it). ~~Therefore, regulated entities should ensure that FDA's DCC receives any submission by the due date or end of compliance period. The DCC has been and will continue to be fully equipped to receive tobacco product submissions (including the number of submissions expected at the close of compliance periods). Therefore, regulated entities should ensure that FDA's DCC receives any submission by the due date or end of compliance period.~~ The time it takes to review a premarket application is dependent upon the type of application and the complexity of the product. FDA has taken many steps to reduce the previous backlog and prevent further backlogs of marketing applications pending FDA review. FDA intends to act as~~

expeditiously as possible with respect to all new applications, while ensuring that statutory standards are met. If an applicant wishes to discuss a product application, the applicant may request a meeting as set forth in FDA's final guidance entitled "Meetings with Industry and Investigators on the Research and Development of Tobacco Products" (announced May 25, 2012, 77 FR 31368).

In addition, we are clarifying that FDA distinguishes between a marketing application that ~~"has been "filed" or "~~"one that "has been accepted," and one that has been "submitted" to FDA. A marketing application ~~"has been "submitted"~~ when FDA's DCC has received the a complete application: is delivered and received electronically, through the mail, or through a courier to CTP's Document Control Center (DCC). Once a complete PMTA application is submitted and received by CTP's DCC, FDA will have 180 days to consider the application as described in section 910(c)(A) of the Tobacco Control Act. A marketing application ~~"has been filed"~~"accepted" after the Agency completes a preliminary review and determined that the application on its face contains information required by the statutory and/or regulatory provisions applicable to that type of application. A marketing application has been "filed" after the Agency completes a threshold review and has determined that a complete, substantive review is warranted, ~~as opposed to refusing to accept or.~~ This filing review occurs only for a PMTA or a modified risk application and results in either a filing letter or a refusal to file the application due to omissions or errors in the application letter.

A. Background: The Three Pathways to Market a New Tobacco Product

We received a large number of comments addressing the pathways to market a new tobacco product. Comments from industry argued that the review process for a new tobacco product is simply too difficult--that the standard is too high, and that the burden of submitting an

application is too great. Many manufacturers of the newly deemed products argued that the two alternative pathways--[substantial equivalenceSE](#) and the [substantial equivalenceSE](#) exemption--are not available to them because there is no predicate to which they can claim [substantial equivalenceSE](#). We address these comments in the following sections.

Under section 910 of the FD&C Act, manufacturers must receive FDA's permission to market new, including newly modified, tobacco products in the United States. The provision applies to all tobacco products covered by the FD&C Act, however, those that were commercially marketed in the United States [as of on](#) February 15, 2007 (the grandfather date) do not constitute new tobacco products and therefore do not require such premarket authorization. See section 910(a) of the FD&C Act (defining "["new tobacco product"](#)" as any tobacco product (including those products in test markets) that was not commercially marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007, or has been modified since that date).

Products that were introduced or modified after the grandfather date may seek permission to market under one of three pathways. The manufacturer may submit a [Premarket Tobacco Product Application \(PMTA\)](#), which is an application that requires the manufacturer to provide information about the product, including ingredients, additives, properties, manufacture, processing, labeling, and health risks, among other things (section 910(b) of the FD&C Act). FDA will grant permission to market the new product if the PMTA shows that it would be appropriate for the protection of the public health, among other things (section 910(c)(2) of the FD&C Act; see also section 910(c)(4) (requiring FDA to consider the risks and benefits to both users and nonusers, and explicitly requiring FDA to consider the effect of marketing the product on the likelihood that existing users of tobacco products will stop using them, and the likelihood that nonusers of tobacco products will start)). [Whether the marketing of a product is appropriate](#)

for the protection of the public health will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis (in accordance with Section 910(c)(4) of the FD&C Act) and with consideration of the continuum of risk of nicotine-delivering products. The statute instructs FDA to base its findings regarding whether marketing the tobacco product would be appropriate for the protection of public health on well-controlled investigations, which may include one or more clinical investigations, where appropriate. However, it also allows FDA to authorize that its findings be made on the basis of valid scientific evidence other than controlled studies if FDA finds such other evidence sufficient to evaluate the tobacco product (section 910(c)(5) of the FD&C Act). We received several comments addressing the burden the PMTA application places on manufacturers, including the expense and time that clinical studies require. Elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is announcing the availability of a draft guidance, which when final will provide the Agency's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including specific recommendations concerning how to support a showing that the marketing of a new tobacco product is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

The second pathway to market is the SE pathway, which allows for a manufacturer to apply for permission to market a tobacco product that it demonstrates is “substantially equivalent” to a tobacco product that was marketed ~~as of~~ on the grandfather date or to a product previously found substantially equivalent (the “predicate”) (section 910(a)(2)(A) and section 905(j) of the FD&C Act). To receive marketing authorization under the SE pathway, a manufacturer must submit an application that shows that the product to be marketed has the same characteristics as the predicate tobacco product or has different characteristics and the information submitted contains information, including clinical data if deemed necessary by the

Secretary, that demonstrates that it is not appropriate to regulate the product under section 910 because the product does not raise different questions of public health (section 910(a)(3)(A)) of the FD&C Act). The statute defines “characteristics,” for this purpose, as the materials, ingredients, design, composition, heating source, or other features of a tobacco product (section 910(a)(3)(B)) of the FD&C Act).

~~As February 15, 2007, becomes increasingly distant in time, and as~~As new tobacco products continue to evolve from the cigarettes and smokeless tobacco that were on the market on the grandfather date, the SE pathway may not be available for some new products. The availability of the SE pathway for the newly deemed products was the subject of many comments, with some arguing that a different, later grandfather date should be adopted, and others arguing there should be no change in the grandfather date and that the newly deemed products should proceed through the PMTA pathway if no appropriate predicate is available.

Under the third pathway, a product may be exempted from the SE requirements if the only change to the product is a minor change and that change only involves a change to an additive in a tobacco product that can be sold under the FD&C Act, for which an SE report is not necessary and where the exemption is otherwise appropriate, as discussed in section 905(j)(3) of the FD&C Act.

B. Interpretation of Substantial Equivalence

——(Comment 14) Some comments argued that FDA should interpret “substantial equivalence” broadly so that newly deemed products could avoid what the comments characterize as the more burdensome new tobacco product application (PMTA) pathway with a showing that the product has some similar characteristics to the predicate products.

_____(Response) FDA disagrees. ~~Substantial equivalence~~SE is explicitly defined in section 910(a)(3) of the FD&C Act, which provides, in relevant part, that the term “substantially equivalent” or “substantial equivalence” means that the Secretary by order has found that the tobacco product: (1) Has the same characteristics as the predicate tobacco product or (2) has different characteristics and the information submitted contains information, including clinical data if deemed necessary by the Secretary, that demonstrates that it is not appropriate to require a PMTA because the product does not raise different questions of public health. Section 910(a)(3)(B) provides that the term “characteristics” means the materials, ingredients, design, composition, heating source, or other features of a tobacco product. A product must have the same characteristics--all of the same characteristics--as the predicate product, to be found substantially equivalent under section 910(a)(3)(A)(i) of the FD&C Act or if the new product has different characteristics FDA -must find that the new product does not raise different questions of public health under section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii).

FDA notes that for newly deemed products about which concerns have been raised with respect to the availability of an appropriate predicate--e.g., e-cigarettes--many of these products have entirely different characteristics from traditional tobacco products. As such, a manufacturer would need to satisfy section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii) (i.e., demonstrate that the new product does not raise different questions of public health as compared to the predicate). FDA is continuing to research e-cigarettes, other ENDS, and heated cigarette products that likely were on the market ~~as of~~on February 15, 2007, and is working to determine the availability of such products for comparison. FDA determined that some e-cigarettes were manufactured in 2006 and introduced into the United States in early 2007. In particular, we have identified a non-flavored e-cigarette (also marketed as an “e-cigar”) that may have been on the market ~~as of~~on February 15,

2007.- This product may possibly be able to serve as an appropriate predicate for purposes of the SE pathway.- The burden of demonstrating that a valid predicate exists rests with the manufacturer submitting a SE report.- To facilitate the determination that a product is eligible as a predicate for an SE application, any individual who has evidence that an e-cigarette or other tobacco product was commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of on~~ February 15, 2007, is encouraged to contact the Agency at 1-877-CTP-1373. Regardless of the predicate selected for comparison, manufacturers are responsible for providing scientific data adequate to demonstrate that, in the case of an SE Report, the characteristics are the same or, if the characteristics are different, these differences do not cause the new product to raise different questions of public health. It should also be noted that, where the predicate and new products are in a different category or subcategory, the evidence needed to obtain marketing authorization through the PMTA pathway may be ~~less burdensome to gather and submit than that needed for the SE pathway-similar to gather and submit than that needed for the SE pathway.~~ For example, as stated in the NPRM, it is possible that an applicant may not need to conduct any new nonclinical or clinical studies for PMTA, while in other cases, such as where there is limited understanding of a product's potential impact, nonclinical and clinical studies may be required for market authorization. In cases where no new nonclinical or clinical studies are needed, the effort associated with gathering and submitting a PMTA may not be materially greater than that for an SE Report.

As stated earlier, the FD&C Act does not place limitations on which pathway manufacturers can use to seek market authorization for a new product. Thus, manufacturers may choose to ~~file~~submit applications under any of the three legal pathways. To obtain marketing authorization under the PMTA pathway, manufacturers are required to establish, among other

things, that permitting their products to be marketed would be appropriate for the protection of public health. In establishing this, manufacturers should take into account, and FDA will consider, the ways in which the new product is likely to be used. For example, PMTAs for these products should contain information on whether the product is likely to be used alone or together with other legally marketed tobacco products (such as available delivery systems), as well as the type and range of other products with which it is likely to be used.

For example, where a manufacturer seeks authorization of a new e-liquid to be used with ENDS, the manufacturer may need to provide evidence and analysis of the product's likely impact when used in the range of delivery systems available. Similarly, a manufacturer seeking authorization of a stand-alone apparatus component—such as a heating coil or cartridge—may need to provide evidence and analysis of the product's likely impact when used together with the range of other components and liquids available.

In the case of e-liquids, FDA expects that it may be possible for manufacturers to satisfy the statute by demonstrating that marketing of the liquid is appropriate for the protection of public health as it may be used in any of the legally available delivery systems. While FDA recognizes that there may remain some degree of uncertainty in any such analysis, FDA expects that the range of delivery system specifications authorized by FDA will provide a sufficiently specific spectrum of possibilities, such that a meaningful public health impact analysis can be done.

In the case of ENDS hardware/apparatus components, FDA expects that it may be difficult for manufacturers to make the showing necessary to meet the statutory standard, given the great extent of possible variations in combinations of hardware components, if all [are](#) considered and sold separately. Thus, with respect to apparatus, FDA expects that manufacturers

will be most successful where authorization is sought for entire delivery systems, rather than individual components. In the case of these complete delivery systems—~~systems for which the application covers all potential parts, including customizable options as applicable, and where labeling, instructions for use and/or other measures are used to help ensure use as intended—~~FDA expects that the range of possible outcomes may be narrow enough for the manufacturer to demonstrate, and for FDA to assess, public health impact.

~~——~~(Comment [15](#)) Some comments asserted that ~~pursuant to~~[under](#) section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii) of the FD&C Act, certain categories of products should easily meet the SE standard because the products, overall, are beneficial to public health when compared to traditional, combustible cigarettes.

~~——~~(Response) The issue of whether a product or certain categories of products may be beneficial to an individual is different than whether a category of products, overall, has a net positive benefit on population health. As explained in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), a category of products may benefit [some](#) individual tobacco users but may not have an overall net population health benefit if it leads to increased tobacco product initiation or dual use. In any event, this is a consideration relevant under the PMTA standard, not the SE standard.

Under section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii), a product can be found substantially equivalent to a predicate product even if it does not share all of the same characteristics of the predicate, if the information submitted contains information, including clinical data if deemed necessary by the Secretary, that demonstrates that it is not appropriate to require a new product application because the product does not raise different questions of public health as compared to the predicate.

FDA will authorize the marketing of products through the SE pathway that meet the applicable standards in the FD&C Act. However, the SE pathway is a comparison between a new tobacco product and a predicate identified by the submitter, not an evaluation of whether the product is appropriate for the protection of the public health more generally as would be conducted under an application under section 910(b) (i.e., a PMTA). Therefore, some differences between new and predicate products may not be appropriate for an SE Report, and the product instead is more suited to seeking authorization using a PMTA. Additionally, as the SE pathway is a specific comparison between a predicate and a new tobacco product, it does not necessarily provide a pathway to market for entire categories of products. Rather, under section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii), an application for ~~substantial equivalence~~SE must show that any differences in characteristics between the product and the predicate “do not raise different questions of public health.”²²

(Comment [16](#)) A small number of comments argued that newly deemed products should be permitted to be marketed under the SE pathway even if they do not share the same characteristics as the claimed predicate.

(Response) The statute does allow for applicants to use the SE pathway for new tobacco products that have different characteristics than the predicate product. To receive a marketing authorization under the SE pathway, these applicants must show that the new product has different characteristics and the information submitted contains information, including clinical data if necessary, to show that the product does not raise different questions of public health (Section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii)).

——(Comment [17](#)) A few comments argued that section 910(a)(3)(A)(ii) allows for cross-category comparisons (i.e., applicants may provide a comparison to predicate products from similar (but not identical) tobacco product categories).

——(Response)- It is up to the manufacturer to select an appropriate predicate tobacco product and provide the scientific evidence demonstrating ~~substantial equivalence~~-[SE](#). If the manufacturer provides scientific evidence and a rationale that demonstrates to FDA that the new product does not raise different questions of public health than the predicate (even though there are differences from the predicate product), FDA could issue an SE order. However, manufacturers of cigars or ENDS would have great difficulty showing that a product is substantially equivalent to a combusted cigarette or a smokeless tobacco product. For example, if FDA received an SE Report for a new product that is an ENDS closed aerosol generating apparatus and a predicate product that is a filtered combusted cigarette, then the product characteristics between the new and predicate products would be different. - Because of the differences in characteristics in this example, a significant amount of scientific evidence would be needed to demonstrate that the new product does not raise different questions of public health. - Such evidence ~~would~~, [as discussed in FDA's 2011 Guidance titled "Section 905\(j\) Reports: Demonstrating Substantial Equivalence,"](#) could include but ~~would~~ not be limited to the following: (1) ~~s~~Smoke yield data from HPHCs, (2) actual use data demonstrating how smoke topography compares between the new and predicate products, ~~and~~ (3) actual use data demonstrating how the amount of product use varies between the new and predicate products (e.g., number of puffs per day), and (4) marketing data indicating how consumer perception (product appeal) by youth differs between the new and predicate products. - In these cases, it

would be difficult to show that the differences between the product and the predicate product are such that the product “does not raise a different question of public health.”

In addition, the evidence required to make such a showing may be as substantial or even greater than the evidence required under the PMTA pathway (section 910(b)), and the PMTA pathway allows for different effects on public health--as long as the applicant provides a demonstration that the product is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

Nevertheless, there is nothing in the statute to prohibit the attempted use of cross-category comparisons in an SE submission, but it is the responsibility of the manufacturer to provide appropriate and sufficient evidence to support a finding of substantial equivalenceSE.

——(Comment 18) A few comments from industry argued that FDA should interpret “substantial equivalence” as the term is applied to medical devices under section 510(k) of the Drug and DeviceFD&C Act, (21 U.S.C. 360(k)), which does not require premarket review for what the comments refer to as “even the slightest change to a predicate.”

——(Response) -FDA’s interpretation of substantial equivalenceSE with respect to medical devices is based on a different statutory section than is applicable to tobacco products. FDA has issued guidance interpreting substantial equivalenceSE within the meaning of section 910 of the FD&C Act.

C. Comments on the Grandfather Date

We received numerous comments on the February 15, 2007, grandfather date and the challenges it may present to certain categories of the newly deemed products. We address those comments below as follows.

● Lack of Authority to Change the Grandfather Date to a Later Date

As stated in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA has determined that it lacks authority to change the grandfather date, which is set by statute (79 FR 23142 at 23174). FDA specifically asked for comments on our legal interpretation. We received a large number of comments in response to this statement, but none provided a legal theory that would support changing the date.

~~————(Comment)– 19)~~ A number of comments argued that adoption of a later grandfather date would be an acceptable exercise of FDA's discretion under section 701(a) of the FD&C Act ~~(21 U.S.C. 371(a))~~,² which provides FDA authority to promulgate issue regulations "for the efficient enforcement" of the statute. Others argued that an alternative date would be a permissible Agency interpretation of the statute, subject to deference under the Chevron doctrine. (See *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. NRDC*, 467 U.S. 837 (1984).)

~~————(Response)~~ After careful consideration of these comments, FDA concludes that it lacks authority to change the grandfather date for the newly deemed products. The grandfather date is prescribed in the statute. Section 910(a)(1)(A) of the FD&C Act states, in pertinent part, that the term "new tobacco product" means any tobacco product (including those products in test markets) that was not commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of~~on February 15, 2007. For purposes of the SE pathway, the statute also clearly states that a predicate product must be commercially marketed (other than for test marketing) in the United States ~~as of~~on February 15, 2007, in both section 910(a)(2)(A) and section 910(j)(1).

~~Although section 701(a) of the FD&C Act provides FDA discretionary authority to issue regulations for the efficient enforcement of the statute, that FDA's~~ authority is not so broad as to allow FDA to issue a regulation that contradicts a clear statutory provision. ~~FDA's authority to issue rules is limited to the authority granted by Congress and Congress has made no grant of~~

~~authority allowing FDA to deviate or ignore clear statutory language. See Ass'n of Am. Physicians & Surgeons, Inc. v. U.S. Food & Drug Admin., 226 F. Supp. 2d 204, 210-13 (D.D.C. 2002).~~

~~The comments correctly noted that one of the purposes of the Tobacco Control Act is to provide FDA new and flexible enforcement authority to ensure that there is effective oversight of the tobacco industry's efforts to develop, introduce, and promote less harmful tobacco products, (section 3(4) of the Tobacco Control Act). However, that authority does not allow FDA to change areas where Congress has spoken “specifically to the topic at hand.” 226 F. Supp. 2d at 212, quoting FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120, 133 (2000). Having “directly spoken to the issue” of the grandfather date, Congress “has precluded the FDA’s jurisdiction to promulgate” a regulation changing that date. Id. at 212. See also United States v. Larionoff, 431 U.S. 864, 873 (1977) (to be valid, regulations must be “consistent with the statute under which they are promulgated”); INS v. Chadha, 462 U.S. 919, 953 n. 16 (1983) (Agency action “is always subject to check by the terms of the legislation that authorized it”); Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 213-14 (“rulemaking power granted to an administrative agency charged with the administration of a federal statute is not the power to make law [but rather] the power to adopt regulations to carry into effect the will of Congress as expressed by the statute”) (citations and internal quotations omitted).~~

~~The Chevron doctrine does not provide FDA authority to apply an alternative grandfather date. Under Chevron, an Agency is afforded deference in its interpretation of a statute where “the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue.” Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984). The Tobacco Control Act is not silent or ambiguous with respect to the grandfather date. As the Supreme Court held in Chevron,~~

~~“[f]irst, always, is the question whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue. If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress.” 467 U.S. at 842.~~

Many comments cited examples of FDA’s exercise of discretion to show that FDA can and should exercise discretion to change the grandfather date. For example, comments pointed to FDA’s decision to extend compliance deadlines, as well as FDA’s guidance informing industry that it does not intend to take enforcement action against manufacturers who make tobacco blending changes without a premarket submission for a new tobacco product when such tobacco blending changes are intended to address the natural variation of tobacco (e.g., tobacco blending changes due to variation in growing conditions). However, the exercise of discretion reflected in these examples did not require FDA to contradict the clear language of the Tobacco Control Act, as changing the grandfather date would.

~~———(Comment) 20)~~ A number of comments argued that the February 15, 2007, date in section 910 of the FD&C Act is simply an anachronism, that the date was only intended to apply to the initially regulated products, and the fact that the statutory language does not provide a different date is simply a drafting error.

~~———(Response)~~ FDA disagrees and is aware of no evidence supporting this view. Congress carefully distinguished those provisions of the statute that would apply to all tobacco products from those that would apply only to the initially regulated products or, in some cases, only to traditional cigarettes. (See, e.g., section 102(a)(1) of the Tobacco Control Act (requiring FDA to issue a rule establishing restrictions on the sale and distribution of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco, with certain different provisions for the two categories of products)). If

Congress had intended that there be a later grandfather date for tobacco products deemed subject to the statute after its date of enactment, it would have provided one.

——(Comment [21](#)) Some comments argued that application of the February 15, 2007, date is unfair to the manufacturers of the newly deemed tobacco products (particularly e-cigarettes) because they were not on notice of pending regulation; and they contended that "all newly deemed products will be forced from the market." Thus, they argue, decisions were made to invest in an industry that was presumed to be unregulated, and now the industry must bear unanticipated costs.

——(~~Response) FDA disagrees.~~ (Response) FDA disagrees with comments stating that all newly deemed products will be forced to be removed from the market as some newly deemed products will qualify as "grandfathered" products under the statute and any that are not grandfathered will be able to apply for premarket authorization. The Tobacco Control Act plainly provides for regulation of all tobacco products. FDA also clearly stated its intention to deem these products long before the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) was published (see Unified Agenda, Spring 2011, RIN 0910-AG38). Therefore, manufacturers of the newly deemed products have been on notice for more than ~~four~~[4](#) years that these products could and likely would be regulated.

The ENDS industry has acknowledged that it was aware of both FDA's intention to regulate ENDS and the applicability of the Tobacco Control Act to e-cigarettes and other ENDS, as evidenced by the litigation in Smoking Everywhere, Inc. v. Food & Drug Administration, 680 F. Supp.2d 62 (D.D.C. 2010), affirmed by Sottera, Inc. v. Food & Drug Administration, 627 F.3d 891 (D.C. Cir. 2010), which was pending during the passage of the Tobacco Control Act. When FDA attempted to regulate e-cigarettes as a drug-device combination, plaintiffs Sottera (doing business as NJOY) and Smoking Everywhere argued that Congress intended for tobacco

products, including their own, to be subject to the Tobacco Control Act and not to the drug and device provisions of the FD&C Act. The district court described plaintiffs²¹ position as follows: “In FDA v. Brown and Williamson Tobacco Corp., the Supreme Court held that tobacco products, like traditional cigarettes, are not subject to FDA regulation as a drug or device. [529 U.S. 120 (2000).] Because electronic cigarettes, as marketed by plaintiffs, are the functional equivalent of traditional cigarettes, plaintiffs contend that FDA cannot regulate their products [as combination drug-device products]. They further contend that Congress²²s recent enactment of the [Tobacco Control Act] supports their argument. Under the [Act], FDA may now regulate tobacco products, which the Act defines as “any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption,²³” . . . but it cannot regulate those products as it would a drug or device under the FDCA[.] There being no dispute that the nicotine in plaintiffs²¹ electronic cigarettes is naturally distilled from actual tobacco and is intended for human consumption, . . . plaintiffs assert that their electronic cigarettes qualify as a tobacco product and are therefore exempt from regulation as a drug-device combination.” (Smoking Everywhere v. FDA, 680 F. Supp. 2d 62, 66-67 (D.D.C. 2010).)

The district court found that, “it is apparent from Congress²²s broad definition of ‘~~tobacco product~~’ tobacco product’ that it intended the Tobacco Act²²s regulatory scheme to cover far more than the fixed array of traditional tobacco products[.]” (Id. at 71.) ENDS manufacturers were made especially aware of FDA²²s authority to deem their products and subject them to the tobacco control authorities of the FD&C Act when the court noted that “... now that FDA has regulatory power over electronic cigarettes through the Tobacco Act, any harm to the public interest or to third parties caused by an injunction that merely forbids

FDA from regulating electronic cigarettes as a drug-device combination is greatly diminished.”

.” (Id. at 77-78.)

———(Comment) On appeal, the D.C. Circuit affirmed, commenting that “the Tobacco Act provides the FDA with regulatory authority over tobacco products without requiring therapeutic claims. . . . [T]he act broadly defines tobacco products as extending to ‘any product made or derived from tobacco.’” Sottera, Inc. v. Food & Drug Administration, 627 F.3d 891, 897 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (quoting 21 U.S.C. § 321(rr)(1); emphases added by the court). The D.C. Circuit went on to state that “the [lower] court rightly found that the FDA has authority under the Tobacco Act to regulate electronic cigarettes”—authority that, it added, was “unquestioned.” Id. at 898.

(Comment 22) Some comments argued that FDA previously exercised enforcement discretion to amend the grandfather date of the reissued 1996 rule (published in the Federal Register of August 28, 1996, 61 FR 44396) with respect to use of a trade or brand-name of a nontobacco product for cigarettes or smokeless tobacco products and argued that FDA has the authority to take similar action with respect to the SE grandfather date.

———(Response) FDA disagrees. In section 102 of the Tobacco Control Act (~~21 U.S.C. 387a-1~~), Congress required FDA to reissue the 1996 final 1996 rule regarding cigarettes and smokeless tobacco identical to the original rule (61 FR 44396 at 44615 through 44618), with certain enumerated exceptions. Congress did not list the grandfather date for the use of nontobacco brand-names as one of the exceptions. Nonetheless, the Agency issued a compliance policy stating that it did not intend to enforce the January 1, 1995, grandfather date for the use of a nontobacco brand name while considering what changes to the regulation, if any, would be appropriate. Section 102(a)(4) also gave FDA authority to amend its own rule. On November

17, 2011, FDA issued the proposed brand name rule (76 FR 71281) seeking to ~~change~~[exercise its authority to amend](#) the January 1, 1995, date that was originally included in 21 CFR 897.16(a) to June 22, 2009, in recognition of the fact that 14 years elapsed since the publication of the 1996 final rule. Using the January 1995 date would have significantly changed the provision, from one that was intended to apply prospectively to one that applies retroactively. The statute does not give FDA similar authority to change the provisions in section 910 of the FD&C Act to amend the grandfather date.

D. Impact of Premarket Requirements

~~————(Comment 23)~~ Numerous comments argued that if the SE pathway is not available for some newly deemed products, manufacturers will have to use the PMTA pathway, will not have sufficient resources to complete PMTAs, and will be forced to remove their products from the market. Members of the e-cigarette industry further argued that removal of their products would be detrimental to public health. However, other comments expressed concern regarding any delay in implementing and enforcing the premarket review requirements given the data showing the growing use of the newly deemed products, particularly among youth and young adults.

~~————(Response) FDA disagrees with comments stating that newly deemed products will be forced to be removed from the market.~~[\(Response\) As an initial matter, FDA notes that the primary premarket pathway for new tobacco products is the premarket tobacco product application pathway, and that the SE ~~pathway is an exception to that pathway and SE exemption pathways are exceptions to that pathway, but manufacturers can choose to submit applications under any of the three pathways for which they think they can meet the criteria in the FD&C Act for marketing authorization for a new product.~~ See section 910\(a\)\(2\)\(A\) of the FD&C Act](#)

stating that an order for a new tobacco product is required unless the Secretary has issued an order that the tobacco product is substantially equivalent to tobacco product commercially marketed. The SE pathway is not intended to be available to every product. Rather, by its terms, the SE pathway is limited to products that can be shown to be substantially equivalent to a product that was on the market ~~as of~~ the grandfather date. If that showing cannot be made, the appropriate premarket pathway is the premarket tobacco product application pathway.

~~As stated earlier, FD&C Act does not place limitations on which pathway manufacturers can use to seek market authorization for a new product. Thus, manufacturers may choose to file applications under any of the three legal pathways.~~ To obtain marketing authorization under the PMTA pathway, manufacturers are required to establish, among other things, that permitting their products to be marketed would be appropriate for the protection of public health. In establishing this, manufacturers should take into account, and FDA will consider, the ways in which the new product is likely to be used. ~~For example, PMTAs for these products should contain information on whether the product is likely to be used alone or together with other legally marketed tobacco products (such as available delivery systems), as well as the type and range of other products with which it is likely to be used.~~ We also note that, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. Should firms have specific questions regarding application content and information necessary to satisfy the filing criteria under section 910(b) or ways to reduce burden by reference to another submission, they may contact CTP's OS at 1-877-CTP-1373.

For example, where a manufacturer seeks authorization of a new e-liquid to be used with ENDS, the manufacturer may need to provide evidence and analysis of the product's likely impact when used in the range of delivery systems available. Similarly, a manufacturer seeking authorization of a stand-alone apparatus component—such as a heating coil or cartridge—may need to provide evidence and analysis of the product's likely impact when used together with the range of other components and liquids available.

In the case of e-liquids, FDA expects that it may be possible for manufacturers to satisfy the statute by demonstrating that marketing of the liquid is appropriate for the protection of public health as it may be used in any of the legally available delivery systems. While FDA recognizes that there may remain some degree of uncertainty in any such analysis, FDA expects that the range of delivery system specifications authorized by FDA will provide a sufficiently specific spectrum of possibilities, such that a meaningful public health impact analysis can be done.

In the case of ENDS hardware/apparatus components, FDA expects that it may be difficult for manufacturers to make the showing necessary to meet the statutory standard, given the great extent of possible variations in combinations of hardware components, if all are considered and sold separately. Thus, with respect to apparatus, FDA expects that manufacturers will be most successful where authorization is sought for entire delivery systems, rather than individual components. In the case of these complete delivery systems—systems for which the application covers all potential parts, including customizable options as applicable, and where labeling, instructions for use and/or other measures are used to help ensure use as intended—FDA expects that the range of possible outcomes may be narrow enough for the manufacturer to demonstrate, and for FDA to assess, public health impact.

FDA also notes that many comments from the ENDS industry emphasized the potential public health benefits of these products in their comments on the ~~proposed rule-NPRM~~. For example, numerous industry comments argued that restrictions on access to the newly deemed products would be detrimental to public health, as the products may be less toxic than conventional cigarettes and may be successfully used as a cessation product. FDA's consideration of public health benefits of products will be included in FDA's review of PMTAs based on the evidence.

——(Comment 24) A few comments expressed concern that if manufacturers would be forced to submit PMTAs rather than SE applications, they would need to conduct more animal studies to meet PMTA requirements.

——(Response) FDA shares an interest in reducing the reliance on animal-based studies, and the Agency is committed to the three "Rs" of reduction, refinement, and replacement in animal testing. Although we are hopeful that in vitro assays and computer models can ultimately help to replace much of the need for animal testing, there are still many areas for which ~~nonanimal~~non-animal testing is not yet a scientifically valid and available option. FDA is committed to addressing concerns raised regarding use of animal testing methods, while still ensuring that the Agency satisfies its public health and patient safety responsibilities and acts in accordance with its governing statutes.

——(Comment 25) One comment stated that e-cigarettes have two variables--the ratio of the propylene glycol to vegetable glycerin and the level of nicotine in the product--which would result in many combinations and, therefore, require submission of numerous, very costly PMTAs for products that have very minor variations. In contrast, one comment noted that the

lower number of ingredients in e-cigarettes means that less information will be required in PMTAs for e-cigarettes than for other products.

——(Response) The requirements and costs of a PMTA may vary based on the type and complexity of the product. Variations in the ratio of ingredients, such as propylene glycol and glycerin, would indicate that products have different levels of each of these ingredients. ~~Changes~~As stated in [section 910\(a\)\(1\)\(B\) of the FD&C Act, any change in an ingredient levels](#), as with additions or removal of ingredients, yields a new [tobacco](#) product.

We also note that the statute requires FDA to review PMTAs based on well-controlled investigations, ~~“~~“when appropriate,”~~”~~ or other valid scientific evidence sufficient to evaluate the tobacco product. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the [Federal Register](#), FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA’s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. Should firms have specific questions regarding application content and information necessary to satisfy the filing criteria under section 910(b) or ways to reduce burden by reference to another submission, they may contact [the Center for Tobacco Product’s \(CTP’s\) Office of Science](#)CTP’s OS at 1-877-CTP-1373.

——(Comment [26](#)) Many comments stated that a requirement to prepare PMTAs for all of the many parts and components that go into some of the newly deemed tobacco products would create an effective ban of these products.

——(Response) The definition of a tobacco product includes components and parts, and these products are subject to the automatic provisions of the FD&C Act, including premarket authorization requirements. ~~However, as stated in section VI.B of this document, FDA is establishing a compliance policy regarding the premarket authorization requirements for newly~~

~~deemed tobacco product components and parts that is the same as its policy for currently regulated tobacco product components and parts. Therefore~~However, at this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement of the premarket authorization provisions to finished tobacco products. In this context, a finished tobacco product refers to a tobacco product, including all components and parts, sealed in final packaging intended for consumer use (e.g., filters or filter tubes sold separately to consumers or as part of kits). ~~Thus, FDA does not at this time intend to enforce these requirements for~~For example, an e-liquid sealed in final packaging that is to be sold or distributed to a consumer for use in a finished tobacco product will be subject to enforcement if it is on the market without authorization. In contrast, an e-liquid that is sold or distributed for further manufacturing into a finished ENDS product is not itself a finished tobacco product. At this time, FDA does not intend to enforce the premarket authorization requirements against such ~~e-liquids or other~~ components and parts of newly deemed products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing ~~into finished tobacco products without a marketing order.~~

——(Comment [27](#)) Many expressed concern that requiring cigars to comply with the PMTA requirements would either force cigars off the market or require them to mimic cigarettes in uniformity of size, shape, and taste, which would change the fundamental nature of the cigar industry. At least one comment stated that FDA should eliminate the premarket and SE application requirements for cigars and instead implement a system by which cigar manufacturers could introduce new products to the market after providing 90 days²¹ notice to FDA of their intentions to do so.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act establish specific requirements that apply to new tobacco products before they may be marketed. Some cigars may be grandfathered and other products may have valid predicate products and may be

able to avail themselves of the SE pathway to market. FDA generally expects that cigars with blending changes (other than blending changes to address the natural variation of tobacco, FDA's policy for which is discussed in the response to Comment 28) will be able to successfully use the SE pathway so long as the blending change does not significantly raise levels of HPHCs in the product (i.e., raising different questions of public health). If a product is unable to utilize the SE pathway and is not eligible for an SE exemption, the statute requires the product (including limited or seasonal blends) to obtain a marketing authorization through the PMTA pathway. As explained previously, the requirements of a particular PMTA may also vary based on the type and complexity of the product. If an applicant wishes to discuss a product application, the applicant may request a meeting ~~pursuant to FDA's Final Guidance, as set forth in FDA's final guidance entitled "Meetings with Industry and Investigators on the Research and Development of Tobacco Products—"~~ (announced May 25, 2012, 77 FR 31368).

———(Comment 28) A number of comments discussed the natural variability in the tobacco used for cigars and pipe tobacco, stating that because the characteristics of tobacco used for each of these products can vary from year to year, manufacturers must use different blends to create a consistent product. Some comments expressed concerns that each blending change could result in a new product for which manufacturers and importers would be required to submit a PMTA. They also stated that this would be economically unfeasible for limited editions and special releases for cigars and pipe tobacco. Others expressed concerns that tobacco blending changes and natural variations of the tobacco used in the product, such as the number of ribs or perforations in a cigar wrapper, may produce different results for HPHC testing of the same product. These comments advocated that cigars and pipe tobacco should be either excluded from the ingredient listing, HPHC listing, and premarket review requirements or

manufacturers should be allowed to make tobacco blending changes without being required to submit a marketing application or comply with HPHC testing and reporting requirements.

——(Response) FDA is aware that the tobacco used to produce some of the newly deemed products can naturally vary from year to year. As stated in section IV.C.1 of this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the premarket authorization requirements where manufacturers make tobacco blending changes without premarket authorization for tobacco blending changes to address the natural variation of tobacco (e.g., tobacco blending changes due to variation in growing conditions) in order to maintain a consistent product. However, FDA does intend to enforce the premarket authorization requirement for tobacco blending changes that are intended to alter the chemical or perception properties of the new product (e.g., nicotine level, pH, smoothness, harshness, etc.) compared to the predicate product, and such changes should be reported under 910 or 905(j). In addition, FDA ~~is working to determine an appropriate compliance policy to deal with HPHCs for newly deemed products and is intending to~~ intends to issue a guidance regarding HPHC reporting under section 904(a)(3), and later a testing and reporting regulation as required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to ~~test and report given~~ the 3-year compliance period ~~for HPHC reporting. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements under section 904(a)(3) for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the HPHC guidance is issued well in advance of that time.~~ Additionally, changes made to the number of ribs or perforations in a cigar wrapper as well as any changes to ingredients or additives, would result in a new tobacco product (as stated in section 910(a)(1)(B)) and would require a marketing application and authorization under section 910 or 905(j). FDA intends to enforce other

applicable requirements (e.g., [ingredient listing](#)) against manufacturers making ~~such~~ blending changes (e.g., [ingredient listing](#)). ~~to address the natural variation of tobacco.~~

——(Comment [29](#)) Some comments stated that small companies are at a competitive disadvantage compared to larger companies because they do not have the resources to complete PMTAs. They feared that FDA's premarket requirements would force many companies to remove their products from the market and that, as a result, cigarette use would increase. To address these concerns, comments suggested that FDA stagger requirements based on the size of the business to protect small businesses and spur innovation. They stated that staggered compliance periods could be based on the number of employees in the business, number of products the business has, and/or the product's placement on the continuum of risk. In addition, some comments stated that such staggered dates could be based on FDA's issuance of final PMTA guidance for each product category, which would allow for more meaningful and complete submissions. They also stated that, because such guidance likely would include issues of first impression, the Agency is required to first issue the guidance in draft form before issuing a final guidance. Some comments stated that staggered PMTA compliance periods may not be sufficient to address the competitive disadvantage of small companies because they still would not have the resources to complete a PMTA for each of their new tobacco products.

Other comments believed that premarket requirements should apply equally to all manufacturers, regardless of size, for several reasons. First, they explained that the FD&C Act states that the purpose of a PMTA is to ensure that permitting marketing of a tobacco product would be "appropriate for the protection of the public health" (section 910(c)(2)(A)) and that this public health purpose should outweigh concerns regarding small businesses. The comments noted that the public health purpose of the Tobacco Control Act does not differentiate between

large and small businesses. Second, they stated that the public health concerns presented by products of small manufacturers are no less significant than the public health concerns presented by products of large manufacturers. They also noted that small manufacturers may lack the quality control processes that they believed large manufacturers already have in place. They also noted that many small businesses are e-cigarette retail establishments that mix their own e-liquids, which can be accessible to children and potentially subject to tampering and, therefore, should not receive additional time to comply with critical automatic requirements. Third, they stated that Congress did not intend for small manufacturers to have additional time to comply with all of the automatic provisions under the law once they are deemed. Instead, Congress only intended that small manufacturers receive additional time to comply with good manufacturing practices under section 906(e)(1)(B) of the FD&C Act and testing requirements under section 915(d) ([21 U.S.C. 387o](#)). If Congress had intended for small manufacturers to receive additional time to comply with other provisions, it would have explicitly said so. Fourth, they stated that FDA already provides adequate assistance to small businesses with the small business center (included as part of ~~CTP's Office of Compliance and Enforcement~~[CTP's OCE](#)) and frequent ~~w~~[Webinar](#) programs, but other comments stated that the small business center was not properly organized and staffed.

——(Response) FDA is announcing multiple policies with this final rule including a policy for ~~"small-scale tobacco product manufacturers"~~ discussed in section IV.D of this document. FDA ~~also~~ is announcing ~~a compliance~~[this](#) policy ~~to allow certain relief for submission of SE Reports (as discussed in section IV.C.1 of this document), which will be beneficial for~~, because "small-scale tobacco product manufacturers" do not have the same business capabilities of larger businesses. ~~In addition, as required by section 901(f) of the FD&C~~

Act, one of FDA's initial activities upon passage Moreover, FDA did not receive any comments from large manufacturers suggesting that they are in need of the Tobacco Control Act was relief that is being provided for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers. Congress also acknowledged the potential disparity by requiring FDA to establish the Office of Small Business Assistance (OSBA) within CTP to assist small tobacco product manufacturers and retailers in complying with the law. OSBA is available to assist manufacturers with any questions regarding statutory and regulatory requirements and will continue to provide support with respect to these newly finalized regulations. Small business owners may contact the OSBA by calling 1-877-CTP-1373 or sending a message to SmallBiz.Tobacco@fda.hhs.gov. FDA intends to expand the staffing for the OSBA to provide support for manufacturers who are ~~not currently~~ newly regulated by FDA.

As discussed in the earlier section of this final rule describing the purpose of this rule, FDA will be able to obtain critical information regarding the health risks of newly deemed tobacco products, including information derived from ingredient listing submissions and reporting of HPHCs. Because FDA did not previously have regulatory authority over these products, it does not have access to commercial confidential information on materials, ingredients, design, composition, heating source and other features of these products. As FDA gains experience regulating these newly deemed tobacco products, the Agency expects there will be more information to aid manufacturers seeking premarket determination that a tobacco product is "appropriate for the protection of public health." However, it would negatively impact public health if FDA were to significantly delay implementation of its premarket requirement authorities after issuance of this deeming rule. Such delay could result in more youth becoming addicted to nicotine. FDA recognized that ENDS are different than conventional tobacco

products, and that more specific guidance would be useful to manufacturers in preparing premarket applications. Therefore, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final, will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations that would help to support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of public health. FDA intends to issue additional guidance in the future.

E. Clinical Studies and PMTAs

(Comment 30) Comments expressed concern about the need for costly clinical studies to develop PMTAs that satisfy the requirements under section 910 of the FD&C Act. They indicated that FDA's previous statements, including language from draft guidance that recommends the collection of numerous types of data ranging from chemistry to in vivo toxicology and possible clinical trials, suggest the need for costly studies that are redundant and unnecessary. They also noted the Government Accountability Office's (GAO's) summary of this issue, which stated "CTP's guidance document for the PMTA pathway states that PMTA submissions should include data from well-controlled studies demonstrating that the tobacco product is appropriate for the protection of the public health. [According to CTP,] "[d]ata from such studies must address, for example, the health risks associated with the product in comparison to the health risks of other products on the market and the product's effect on the likelihood that current tobacco users will stop using tobacco products" (Ref. 641 at 18-19; 2013 GAO Report).

———(Response) In the proposed rule NPRM, FDA included discussion intended to supplement and clarify its earlier statements regarding clinical studies needed for PMTAs (79 FR

23142 at 23176 and 23177). As we noted, FDA expects that, in some cases, it may be possible for an applicant to obtain a PMTA marketing authorization order without conducting any new nonclinical or clinical studies where there is an established body of evidence regarding the public health impact of the product. However, in cases where there have been few or no scientific studies of a product's potential impact on the public health, new nonclinical and clinical studies may be required for market authorization. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is announcing the availability of a draft guidance, which, when finalized, will provide the Agency's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including the need for "clinical studies" for the purposes of preparing PMTAs for ENDS.

——(Comment [31](#)) Several comments suggested that section 910(c)(5)(B) provides FDA with authority to develop a flexible framework for PMTAs that would not require well-controlled investigations. They suggested the following alternatives to the requirement of well-controlled investigations:

- Create a user registry for e-cigarette users to input baseline demographic, cessation and initiation, adverse experiences, and ~~follow-up~~followup data for collection of real-world data;
- Identify clinical studies that will constitute "valid scientific data" and identify historical controls and published literature suitable for comparative purposes;
- Adopt a process similar to FDA's process for new medical devices, where the product can undergo de novo review to obtain a lower risk classification and be subject to general controls and specific controls (rather than the premarket requirements under sections 905 and 910(d));

- Use a process similar to the accelerated approval process for new drugs for serious or life-threatening illnesses, which bases approval on the effect of the drug on a surrogate endpoint; and
- Adopt a method similar to the dietary supplement process, based on registration, ingredient disclosures, and good manufacturing practice (GMP) compliance checks.

—(Response) FDA is not implementing these changes. Most of the approaches in the comments are all implemented under different statutory authorities that do not apply to tobacco products. FDA's responses to these individual suggestions are discussed in the following paragraphs.

- Create a user registry for e-cigarette users to input baseline demographic, cessation and initiation, adverse experiences, and follow-up data for collection of real-world data--

The data and information in a PMTA must be sufficient to show that the marketing of the specific new tobacco product is "appropriate for the protection of the public health" (section 910(c)(4) of the FD&C Act).—This information from a user registry would not be sufficient on its own to support a marketing application, but it could provide additional real-time information (e.g., adverse experiences that may otherwise be gathered in more long-term studies). If an applicant wishes to use a registry or other alternatives, we encourage it to request a meeting with FDA to discuss these and other issues before it prepares and submits an application.

- Identify clinical studies that will constitute "valid scientific data" and identify historical controls and published literature deemed suitable for comparative purposes--

FDA does not have enough information at this time to do this in a manner that would be generally applicable. It may be possible for an applicant to submit information (e.g., published literature, marketing information) with appropriate information or data that would be adequate scientific data for parts of the application. This will likely be limited to specific aspects of the PMTA requirements (e.g., nonclinical work, shelf life/stability, health risks based on consumer information). If an applicant wishes to use this or other alternatives, we encourage them to request a meeting with FDA to discuss these and other issues in the context of a particular product before they prepare and submit an application.

- ~~Adopt a process similar to FDA's process for new medical devices, where the product can undergo de novo review to obtain a lower risk classification and be subject to general controls and specific controls (rather than the premarket requirements under sections 905 and 910(d))--~~

- FDA is not authorized to deviate from the premarket requirements of chapter IX of the FD&C Act. The medical device requirements in chapter V of the FD&C Act apply to medical devices only, not tobacco products as defined in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act.

- Use a process similar to the accelerated approval process for new drugs for serious or life-threatening illnesses, which bases approval on the effect of the drug on a surrogate endpoint--

The purpose of the accelerated drug approval process was to establish procedures designed to expedite the development, evaluation, and marketing of new therapies intended to treat persons with life-threatening and severely ~~de~~-debilitating illnesses, especially where no satisfactory alternative therapy exists. ~~This is not the case with a tobacco product.~~ Section 910(b) of the FD&C Act requires that specific contents be contained in a PMTA. In addition, as

stated in section 910(c)(4) of the FD&C Act, the data and information in a PMTA must be sufficient to show that the marketing of a new tobacco product is "appropriate for the protection of the public health." FDA believes that an accelerated premarket review process is neither feasible nor appropriate for these products at this time. However, if an applicant believes it can demonstrate that its new product is "appropriate for the protection of public health" in an accelerated fashion, we encourage it to request a meeting with FDA to discuss these and other issues before they prepare and submit an application.

- Adopt a method similar to the dietary supplement process, based on registration, ingredient disclosures, and GMP compliance checks--

As stated in section 910(c)(4) of the FD&C Act, the data and information in a PMTA must be sufficient to show that the marketing of a new tobacco product is "appropriate for the protection of the public health." The method suggested in this comment would differ from the process and standard outlined in sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act and, therefore, is inapplicable to tobacco products.

The FD&C Act states that determining whether a new product is appropriate for the protection of the public health shall be determined "when appropriate... on the basis of well-controlled investigations" (section 910(c)(5)(A)). However, section 910(c)(5)(B) of the FD&C Act also allows the Agency to consider other "valid scientific evidence" if found sufficient to evaluate the tobacco product. Thus, if an application includes, for example, information (e.g., published literature, marketing information) with appropriate bridging studies, FDA will review that information to determine whether it is valid scientific evidence sufficient to demonstrate that the product is appropriate for the protection of the public health. If an applicant has questions or other alternatives to well-controlled investigations it would like to

utilize, we recommend that it meet with FDA to discuss the approach prior to preparing and submitting an application (see FDA ~~Guidance: guidance entitled "Meetings with Industry and Investigators on the Research and Development of Tobacco Products").~~ We also note that, elsewhere in the Federal Register, FDA is announcing the availability of a draft guidance, which, when finalized, will provide the Agency's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products.

F. ~~Premarket Pathways and Continuum of Risk~~

~~(Comment 32)~~ We received many comments requesting that FDA provide an expedited or abbreviated pathway for those products that are on the less harmful end of the continuum of risk spectrum. Some comments stated that noncombusted and nicotine delivery products derived from, but not containing, tobacco should be treated differently than combusted products for the purposes of premarket review and that less harmful products need an accelerated pathway to ensure continued innovation. They also stated that the different risks and benefits associated with tobacco derived nicotine delivery products make the PMTA process and FDA's draft PMTA guidance inapplicable. Other comments claimed that e-cigarettes and other tobacco derived nicotine delivery products are not tobacco products at all and do not fit into the strict tobacco product regulatory framework. The comments also stated that an abbreviated pathway should be based on public participation to decide what information is sufficient to determine that the product is appropriate for the protection of the public health without impeding innovation.

Some comments also suggested that FDA require a ~~pre-market~~premarket notification or report, similar to EU's Tobacco Products Directive, where the notification certifies that the product has met specific product standards, and the Agency could approve the product based on the certification.

At least one comment disagreed with the idea of providing an expedited or abbreviated pathway for some products, stating that FDA will not know if the products are less harmful until it reviews the applications.

——(Response) An ENDS is a tobacco product as long as it meets the definition of “tobacco product” under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act. Regardless of the type of tobacco product (and its potential risks and benefits), all tobacco products going through the PMTA pathway must meet all the requirements for a premarket authorization in section 910 of the FD&C Act before FDA can issue such an authorization. In addition, we note that, at this time, while there is general evidence of harm for all classes of newly deemed products, FDA has not yet obtained product-specific evidence regarding the potential benefits of various ENDS is largely anecdotal and on the population health effects of market. Since ENDS are currently unknown and, therefore, providing products contain nicotine, it is possible that such products an expedited or abbreviated pathway may result in overall public health harm if individuals who would not benefit have initiated tobacco use in the absence of ENDS ultimately graduate to combusted products (though scientific data regarding this hypothesis is unclear) or use them in conjunction with combusted products or if the users would never have initiated tobacco use absent the availability of ENDS. In addition, nicotine use in any form is of particular concern for youth and pregnant women. On the other hand, if ENDS promote transition from combustible tobacco use among current users, there could be a public health benefit. The 2014 Surgeon General Report notes that “[f]urther research with attention to their individual and population-level consequences will be helpful to fully address these questions. However, the promotion of noncombustible products is much more likely to provide public health benefits only in an environment where the appeal, accessibility, promotion, and use of cigarettes and other

combusted tobacco products are being rapidly reduced" (Ref. 9 at 873). FDA believes that regulation of all tobacco products will help to address these questions and provide public health benefits.

——(Comment 33) Many comments expressed concern regarding the cost of PMTAs for newly deemed products and the effect that this requirement will have on cigarette smokers who are attempting to quit. They also disagreed with FDA's²¹ assertion that premarket review will enhance innovation (79 FR 23142 at 23149), stating that the cost of submitting PMTAs is more of a business concern than competition with lower quality products. They claimed that the PMTA process would have the largest negative impact on open system apparatus, which some comments believed are the most popular with people who have achieved complete substitution from conventional cigarettes to e-cigarettes. The comment suggests that the result would be that newer e-cigarettes would not make it onto the market, driving up prices, and driving adult consumers back to conventional cigarettes.

——(Response) The Tobacco Control Act provides for three specific marketing pathways for new tobacco products--SE, SE exemption, and PMTA; it does not provide alternative pathways. Through the ~~premarket tobacco application~~PMTA pathway, FDA will ensure that only products that are shown to be appropriate for the protection of public health are permitted to be marketed. Use of the PMTA pathway also will allow FDA to monitor product development and changes and to prevent more harmful or addictive products from reaching the market. The PMTA pathway will incentivize development of tobacco products that pose less risk to human health by limiting market access for more-risky competitor products. Furthermore, since the "appropriate for the protection of the public health" standard involves comparison to the general tobacco product market existing at the time of an application, FDA believes that,

over time, the premarket authorities will ~~spur innovation and help to create a market of products that are less harmful, move the market toward~~ less likely to lead to initiation of tobacco use, and/or easier to quit risky tobacco products.

———A recently published paper by Friedman (Ref. 42) looked at youth smoking rates in states that enacted early bans on sales of e-cigarettes to minors. The author concluded, based on state-level combusted cigarette smoking data available through 2013, that the decline in adolescent smoking rates slowed in states that enacted restrictions on access to ENDS by minors before January 2013, relative to states that did not. Some have interpreted the results of the study as providing evidence that any policies that restrict access to e-cigarettes or regulate e-cigarettes could increase consumption of combusted tobacco products. However, the research has several limitations that are acknowledged in the study. First, the survey data used in the study, from the NSDUH, track changes in the prevalence of cigarette smoking but lack information available on e-cigarette use. As such, the study does not establish that youth switched directly from using ENDS to smoking combusted cigarettes after restrictions on sales of e-cigarettes to minors were enacted, only that the decline in prevalence of cigarette smoking slowed in states where such restrictions were enacted relative to states that did not. Second, the fact that the study examines a period very early on in the development of the market for ENDS products may also limit the inferences that can be drawn for substitution and dual usage patterns that will emerge as the market matures. Third, the "increase" in the prevalence of youth smoking is relative to what would have been predicted from ongoing trends; in both states that did and states that did not enact restrictions, the prevalence of youth smoking continued to decline, just at a slower rate in the states that enacted bans. Finally, given these issues, FDA acknowledges this paper as a first attempt to study potential impacts of youth ENDS access restrictions, but more

research will be necessary to explore the potential effects of this rule on product switching or dual usage.

(Comment [34](#)) Some comments suggested that FDA should establish a monograph-like system to allow e-cigarettes seeking to enter the market to be compared to a baseline or “model” e-cigarette. In addition, a few comments suggested that combustible product manufacturers should also be able to compare their products to a reference product to ease SE burdens.

——(Response) FDA disagrees as these suggested alternatives are not consistent with the Tobacco Control Act. Under the SE pathway, FDA must determine if the new tobacco product raises different questions of public health than an identified, and valid, predicate product. To be an eligible predicate product under section 910 of the FD&C Act, the product must have been commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of on~~ February 15, 2007, or been previously found substantially equivalent.

Moreover, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA ~~notes that we expect reliance on~~ has made available a final guidance to provide information for manufacturers on how to establish and reference a Tobacco Product Master FilesFile (TPMF). We expect reliance on TPMFs to increase efficiency and reduce any burdens on manufacturers. As discussed in Section IX of this document, because of the nature of upstream supply of many components for ENDS products, especially e-liquids, FDA anticipates that commercial incentives will be sufficient to drive manufacturer reliance on the system of master files. We note that, at present, FDA understands that, based on the Agency’s review of publically available data, the number of entities producingengaged in upstream production of liquid nicotine and flavors specifically developed for use ~~in ENDSwith e-liquids~~ is very small and the number is larger but still small for

e-. Specifically, based on internet searches and information provided on firm websites, FDA estimates that there are roughly five to ten major pure liquid flavors-nicotine suppliers, most of which claim to have a significant market share.¹⁰ Several of these companies already have master files with FDA for their nicotine products or report that they are ready to file submissions to meet U.S. and EU regulatory requirements. An online search of flavor manufacturers revealed many suppliers of flavorings that can be added to food or other consumer products; any of these products potentially could be used as e-liquid flavoring. However, FDA searches identified only two to three flavor houses that make flavoring specifically for e-liquids.¹¹ Given these realities of the marketplace, FDA expects that the master file system will be widely appealing and widely utilized by the ENDS industry.

——(Comment 35) Comments suggested that the “appropriate for the protection of the public health” standard for PMTAs was meant for those products with well-established risks to consumers and should not apply to e-cigarettes. They suggested that FDA establish a different standard for issuing PMTA orders for e-cigarettes (i.e., that the product is no more hazardous than currently marketed tobacco products).

——(Response) FDA disagrees with comments suggesting the use of a different standard for e-cigarettes and other ENDS. Section 910(c)(4) specifies the standard FDA is to apply in deciding whether to issue a PMTA marketing authorization order. That section states that the product must be “appropriate for the protection of the public health” which “shall be determined with respect to the risks and benefits to the population as a whole, including users

¹⁰ See, e.g., Ref. 43. FDA Internet searches included review of websites identifying product suppliers, such as www.thomasnet.com and www.alibaba.com, as well as manufacturer websites and news reports on the market.

¹¹ FDA Internet searches included review of websites identifying product suppliers, such as www.thomasnet.com and www.alibaba.com, as well as manufacturer websites and news reports on the market.

and nonusers of the tobacco product, and taking into account ~~(A)~~ the increased or decreased likelihood that existing users of tobacco products will stop using such products; and (B) the increased or decreased likelihood that those who do not use tobacco products will start using such products.²² FDA is not authorized to deviate from this statutory standard.

~~(Comment 36)~~ Some comments recommended that FDA deem products currently on the market without subjecting those products to the statute's premarketing requirements. Similarly, some comments argued that the premarket requirements should not apply to specific categories of products (specifically, e-cigarettes and other novel tobacco products), including those that are introduced after the enactment of the rule. They stated that this large burden does not have a clear benefit to public health.

~~(Response)~~ The statute automatically subjects deemed products to the statutory requirements for ~~"tobacco products"~~ in chapter IX of the ~~Tobacco Control~~ FD&C Act. Once deemed, the products are subject to all statutory provisions that apply to all tobacco products covered by the FD&C Act. See section 901(ab) of the ~~Tobacco Control~~ FD&C Act (~~"This subchapter shall apply to all cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco and to any other tobacco products that the Secretary by regulation deems to be subject to this subchapter."~~). Section 910, which establishes the procedures that must be followed before a new tobacco product can be authorized for marketing, is one of the statutory provisions that apply automatically to all tobacco products, including newly deemed products. FDA believes that the premarket review requirements will, in fact, benefit public health, as discussed in the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149).

~~(Comment 37)~~ Some comments stated that FDA must get a better scientific understanding of e-cigarettes before finalizing the compliance period for premarket review of

these products. One comment also proposed a system in which FDA could create product standards under section 907 of the FD&C Act for the entire category of e-cigarettes and then approve or reject PMTAs for individual e-cigarettes based upon whether they meet the standards.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with comments suggesting that the Agency needs additional time before determining an appropriate compliance period for the premarket review requirements for ENDS. [As we have stated throughout the document, FDA has data regarding health harms generally associated with all of the categories of tobacco products regulated under this rule \(including ENDS\). FDA is regulating these products in accordance with this knowledge.](#) FDA also disagrees with comments suggesting that FDA can change the statutory requirements and standards for issuing PMTA orders. FDA's revised compliance policy for submission of PMTAs and other premarket submissions is discussed in section V.A of this document.

——(Comment [38](#)) At least one comment suggested that applicants be able to utilize publications regarding scientific understanding of e-cigarettes as harm reduction products to support their PMTAs.

——(Response) FDA agrees that applicants can include scientific literature as part of their PMTA submission pursuant to section 910(b)(1). In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the [Federal Register](#), FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including the use of scientific literature.

——(Comment [39](#)) Comments recommended that FDA issue PMTA orders based only on HPHC data and appeal to children, as well as a ~~manufacturer's post-~~ [marketingmanufacturer's postmarketing](#) commitments to conduct long-term studies regarding

effects of e-cigarette use (similar to the supplemental application processes for new drug applications (NDA) and device premarket approval supplement regimes codified in 21 CFR §§ 314.70 and 814.39, respectively). Comments also suggested that FDA create a supplemental PMTA for modifications and minor modifications to tobacco products so each product would not require a full PMTA.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. The statutory authorities for FDA's regulation of drugs, devices, and tobacco products are different. Section 506A of the FD&C Act ([21 U.S.C. 356a](#)) authorizes FDA to utilize a supplemental NDA process allowing manufacturers to make manufacturing changes to approved drugs and section 515 ([21 U.S.C. 360e](#)) allows device manufacturers to supplement their premarket approval applications for modifications to products. Although FDA does not have the same ability to allow an applicant to obtain an authorization and later supplement the application (given the different statutory scheme for tobacco products), FDA is actively considering ~~establishing a process for the submission of limited PMTAs. FDA also is actively considering~~ other opportunities for efficiency and streamlining in the PMTA process, consistent with its mission to protect the public health.

——(Comment [40](#)) One comment suggested that FDA publish guidance on how the Agency will determine whether an e-cigarette is substantially equivalent to a predicate product. According to this comment, the SE review should focus on the aerosol delivered to the consumer to determine whether a new e-cigarette raises different questions of public health.

——(Response) FDA may issue guidances for specific product categories at a later date. However, FDA finds that the available guidance for SE reports should be sufficient to assist manufacturers in preparing reports and to advise them of the factors FDA considers when assessing SE reports. ~~As required by section 910(a)(3)(A) of the FD&C Act and as stated in~~

FDA's, as evidenced by the fact that the agency has issued many orders regarding SE to applicants that have utilized the available guidance (for the most recent SE actions, see <http://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/Labeling/MarketingandAdvertising/ucm435693.htm>). Previously issued SE orders were for products whose applications may differ substantially from those for the newly deemed tobacco products. As required by section 910(a)(3)(A) of the FD&C Act and as stated in FDA's guidance documents, the Agency must consider product characteristics when evaluating SE reports. The constituents found in e-cigarette aerosol are just some of the ~~many~~ characteristics that FDA will consider when reviewing SE reports for e-cigarettes. Other characteristics include the materials, other ingredients, design, composition, heating source, and other features of the e-cigarette (see section 910(a)(3)(B)). We also encourage prospective applicants to review the applications FDA posts on www.fda.gov for examples of products that have different characteristics but do not raise different questions of public health when compared with the specified predicate product.

(Comment 41) Some comments provided several suggestions as to how FDA can craft the PMTA process to acknowledge the position of e-cigarettes on the continuum of nicotine-delivering products. For example, they indicated that e-cigarettes should not need to undergo a rigorous, comprehensive ~~pre-market~~premarket review process and, instead, should be given an abbreviated pathway that would allow FDA to achieve the same objectives. For example, some comments suggested that, in order to streamline the process, a PMTA for an e-cigarette should be required to contain only the following: (1) ~~a~~A sample of the product; (2) specimens of proposed labeling; (3) a description of the product's principles of operation; (4) ingredient listing for e-liquids; (5) a description of methods of manufacturing and processing; and (6) a description

of quality control and product testing systems. They suggested that FDA could require e-cigarettes to comply with product standards once they are established.

Other comments urged FDA to impose strict regulations on the sale of e-cigarettes, including extensive premarket review, to ensure that future generations are not burdened by nicotine addiction. While some of these comments ~~recognized the~~noted that there may be potential benefits to some individuals, they believed the Agency cannot lower its scientific standards, weaken its requirements for rigorous science, or change its requirements for evaluating the public health impact of e-cigarettes. To determine eligibility for expedited review or an abbreviated pathway, these comments stated that FDA must recognize that: (1) The use of any tobacco product, including a well-regulated e-cigarette, poses a greater risk than using no tobacco product; and (2) the scientific evidence does not demonstrate substantial reduction in harm to an individual from e-cigarette use if the consumer dual uses with cigarettes, except when dual use is a short-term pathway to quitting smoking cigarettes.

——(Response) Section 910(b) of the FD&C Act lays out the specific elements to be submitted in a PMTA and 910(c)(2)(A) specifies that FDA cannot authorize the marketing of a product where there is a lack of showing that the marketing of a new tobacco product is "appropriate for the protection of the public health." The FD&C Act states that this finding will be determined, when appropriate, on the basis of well-controlled investigations (section 910(c)(5)(A)). However, section 910(c)(5)(B) of the FD&C Act also allows the Agency to consider other "valid scientific evidence" if found sufficient to evaluate the tobacco product. Thus, if an application includes, for example, information (e.g., published literature, marketing information) with appropriate bridging studies, FDA will review that information to determine whether it is valid scientific evidence sufficient to demonstrate that a product is

appropriate for the protection of the public health. If an applicant has questions or other alternatives to well-controlled investigations it would like to utilize, we recommend that the applicant meet with FDA to discuss the approach prior to preparing and submitting an application (see FDA guidance [“Meetings with Industry and Investigators on the Research and Development of Tobacco Products” \(77 FR 31368\)](#)). In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available [ENDS PMTA](#) draft guidance which, when final, will describe FDA’s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products.

——(Comment [42](#)) Given the differences among newly deemed product categories and the potential benefits from these products, some comments said that FDA should develop clear guidance regarding the scientific evidence the Agency will need to review the safety and health impact of these products and to accelerate the review of marketing applications where necessary.

——(Response) To help provide clarity regarding submission requirements for marketing applications, FDA has issued several guidance documents, and is finalizing other guidance documents, regarding the evidence needed for SE reports, including FDA draft guidance [“entitled “Substantial Equivalence Reports: Manufacturer Requests for Extensions or to Change the Predicate Tobacco Product” \(79 FR 41292, July 15, 2014\)](#), and FDA guidance [entitled “Establishing That a Tobacco Product Was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007” \(79 FR 58358, September 29, 2014\)](#), among others. FDA also has issued a draft guidance [entitled “Applications for Premarket Review of New Tobacco Products” \(76 FR 60055\), September 28, 2011](#). In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA’s

current thinking on some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. -If FDA determines that additional guidance is necessary to help manufacturers prepare marketing applications, FDA will issue additional guidance and publish a notice of availability in the Federal Register.

———(Comment [43](#)) One comment stated that, because there is a lack of scientific evidence to show the health impact of vapor products, applying the premarket requirements to this category of products is premature. Therefore, the comment suggested that FDA exercise enforcement discretion to delay implementation of this requirement until more evidence is available.

———(Response) FDA has established a compliance policy regarding the premarket review requirements. This is described in [Section V.A](#) of this document. As discussed elsewhere in this document, we believe the compliance period is appropriate, and it takes into account the time for firms to generate and submit the information for a PMTA. [The requirements and costs of a PMTA may vary based on the type and complexity of the product. For example, where there is limited understanding of a product’s potential impact on public health, nonclinical and clinical studies may be required for market authorization. In such case, the requirements and cost of the PMTA likely would be higher \(and the review time longer\) than for a product in which there is already substantial scientific data on the potential public health impact.](#) This information provided as part of premarket review (design, ingredients, levels of HPHCs) will provide critical information on these products ~~that will enable FDA to better determine the potential health impacts of these products.~~

———(Comment [44](#)) One comment suggested that FDA regulate e-cigarettes as an adult consumer product without providing additional details.

——(Response) It is unclear what this comment envisioned by suggesting that FDA regulate e-cigarettes as an adult consumer product. Nevertheless, FDA must regulate tobacco products in accordance with the Tobacco Control Act, including section 910 of the FD&C Act, which states that in reviewing PMTAs for new tobacco products, FDA must consider whether the marketing of such product is appropriate for the protection of the public health, and that this finding is to be determined with respect to the risks and benefits to the population as a whole, including users and nonusers of the product, taking into account--the increased or decreased likelihood that existing users of tobacco products will stop using such products; and the increased or decreased likelihood that those who do not use tobacco products will start using such products (section 910(c)(4) of the FD&C Act). This public health standard requires the Agency to consider the impact of the products on the “population as a whole,” not simply the adult population that may be using such products.

(Comment [45](#)) Some comments stated that FDA regulations should support manufacturers² efforts to invest in alternative tobacco products with the potential to reduce harm.

——(Response) The Agency continues to support development of alternative tobacco products with the potential to reduce harm, and believes that the PMTA, MRTP, and other regulatory provisions will help foster ~~such innovation.~~ the development of tobacco products that pose less risk to human health. In addition, as a practical effect of the Agency²'s compliance policy for premarket review of newly deemed tobacco products, FDA expects that many manufacturers, including those with alternative tobacco products, will continue to market their products during preparation of submissions and for the continued compliance period afterward

~~and that such innovation will continue.~~ The time it takes to review premarket applications is dependent upon the type of application and the complexity of the product.

G. Other Comments

——(Comment 46) A few comments suggested that FDA review and authorize marketing of products at the ingredient level. For example, if a tobacco product contained only ~~pre-authorized~~preauthorized ingredients, the product could be marketed, possibly through self-certification. If the product used unapproved ingredients, the manufacturer would be required to submit a PMTA containing information on only those ingredients or meet established testing guidelines. The comments suggested that standards that could be used to assess the ingredients may include the U.S. Pharmacopeial Convention (USP), FDA's Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) standards, the New Drug Products Q3B(R2) guidance²²; and the Food Chemicals Codex or FDA Redbook of Foods.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Section 910 of the FD&C Act requires FDA to evaluate the new tobacco product as a whole to determine whether the authorization of marketing of the product is appropriate for the protection of the public health. In addition, we note that GRAS status for a food additive does not mean that the substance is GRAS when inhaled, since GRAS status does not take inhalation toxicity into account and applies only to intended uses that may reasonably be expected to result, directly or indirectly, in its becoming a component or otherwise affecting the characteristics of any food (Section 201(s) of the FD&C Act.).

——(Comment 47) A few comments expressed concern as to the ~~proposed~~contemplated compliance periods for HPHC testing (with a proposed compliance period of ~~three~~3 years following the effective date of the final rule) and the ~~proposed~~contemplated 24-~~month~~ compliance period for marketing applications, because applicants will need to submit

HPHC data with their PMTAs. They requested that FDA delay its enforcement of PMTA and SE application requirements until it has established an HPHC list and validated methodology for individual products.

——(Response) While applicants should submit certain information about HPHCs as part of their applications, the requirement to submit HPHC listings under section 904 [of the FD&C Act \(21 U.S.C. 387d\)](#) is separate and distinct from the premarket review requirements under section 910. HPHC information submitted under section 904 will assist FDA in assessing potential health risks and determining if future regulations to address a product's health risks are warranted. For PMTAs, FDA expects that applicants will report the levels of HPHCs as appropriate for each product, so the reported HPHCs will differ among different product categories. Elsewhere in this issue of the [Federal Register](#), FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including information regarding HPHCs. The Agency recommends that manufacturers consult with ~~CTP's Office of Science~~ [CTP's OS](#) about what is appropriate in the context of a specific application.

FDA recognizes, however, that it could be difficult for certain manufacturers of the newly deemed products (e.g., small businesses) to comply with the section 904 HPHC requirements for all of their currently marketed products. For example, contract laboratories may not be prepared for the large volume of requests for the testing of quantities of the HPHCs for all brands and subbrands of tobacco products marketed prior to the effective date. Thus, we have established a compliance period of 3 years for submission of this data under section 904 for products on the market as of the effective date. [In addition, in the context of all newly deemed](#)

products considered in total, many products may be grandfathered and will thus not be required to obtain premarket authorization through one of three pathways--SE, exemption from SE, or premarket tobacco product applications (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act). Given that the number of newly deemed products in total seeking PMTA orders likely will be much smaller than the total number of such tobacco products on the market as of the effective date (given that many products will be grandfathered), and that some products may exit without submission of an application), FDA expects that the HPHC information submitted as part of these PMTA applications can be obtained within the two-year submission period for newly deemed tobacco products. (FDA notes that the proportion of products that may qualify as grandfathered is likely to vary for different product categories. For example, the ENDS product category, for which the market has changed dramatically since 2007, is likely to have a smaller proportion of grandfathered products than some other product categories.)

Moreover, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available a final guidance to provide information on how to establish and reference a Tobacco Product Master File (TPMF). FDA notes that we expect reliance ~~on Tobacco Product Master Files, to the extent applicable, on TPMFs~~ to increase efficiency and reduce any burdens on manufacturers.- As discussed in section IX of this document, because of the nature of upstream supply of many components for ENDS products, especially e-liquids, FDA anticipates that commercial incentives will be sufficient to drive manufacturer reliance on the system of master files. We note that, at present, FDA understands based on publically available information, that the number of entities ~~produce~~ engaged in upstream production of liquid nicotine and flavors specifically developed for use in ENDS with e-liquids is ~~very small and in~~ the number is larger but still small for e-liquid flavors. range of seven to thirteen entities (see earlier discussion in

[response to comment 34](#)). Given the nature of the marketplace, FDA expects that the master file system will be widely appealing and widely utilized by the ENDS industry.

——(Comment [48](#)) Several comments noted that large numbers of tobacco product manufacturers waited until March 22, 2011 (the date that provisional SE reports were due for the original tobacco products subject to the FD&C Act) to submit their SE reports. They considered this an abuse of the process and expressed concern that manufacturers of newly deemed products would act similarly, particularly with a 24-month compliance period. They suggested that FDA expressly require companies to meet all other requirements, including ingredient reporting and quality controls, to be able to avail themselves of this extended compliance period. Other comments stated that any compliance period should be contingent on FDA issuing orders on all pending SE reports already submitted to the Agency.

(Response) FDA understands concerns about the Agency's timely review of applications given the influx of SE reports that FDA received at the close of the SE provisional period (March 22, 2011). However, FDA has taken several steps to address the resulting backlog and [to](#) provide helpful feedback to industry to encourage more complete, streamlined submissions and reviews, including: (1) Encouraging teleconferences between the assigned regulatory health project manager and the applicant; (2) streamlining the SE report review process by modifying the preliminary review so that it focuses only on administrative issues and allowing submission deficiencies to be communicated to the applicant more quickly; (3) providing information on [FDA's website](#) [FDA's Web site](#) about the three pathways available to market products (including SE) and developing public [w](#)Webinars to explain the Agency's processes; and (4) publishing guidance documents. On March 24, 2014, FDA announced that the Agency no longer has a backlog of regular SE reports awaiting review. The Agency is now reviewing regular SE reports

as they are received. FDA expects that these steps will help reduce the time it will take FDA to review submissions for newly deemed products ~~on the market during the compliance period following this rule's effective date.~~ In addition, FDA has specified ~~an end date(s) dates~~ for the compliance ~~period~~periods for such products, after which ~~it intends to take enforcement action against such~~ products on the market without authorization (even if applications submitted during the relevant compliance periods are still under review.) will be subject to enforcement. We note that these staggered compliance dates will help to manage the flow of applications into FDA. If an applicant wishes to discuss a product application, the applicant may request a meeting as set forth in FDA's final guidance entitled "Meetings with Industry and Investigators on the Research and Development of Tobacco Products" (announced May 25, 2012, 77 FR 31368).

——(Comment 49) At least one comment suggested that FDA should require manufacturers that have not received their marketing authorizations within one year after the effective date of the final deeming to include a statement on their packaging and labeling indicating that the product is pending FDA evaluation under the Tobacco Control Act.

——(Response) FDA declines to promulgate~~issue~~ such a labeling requirement at this time. We do not have evidence that the statement will be appropriate for the protection of the public health, as determined with respect to the risks and benefits to the population as a whole (which is the standard for such a requirement under section 906(d) of the FD&C Act). FDA also is concerned about consumer confusion or misconceptions that could result from such a requirement.

——(Comment 50) At least one comment suggested that application of premarket review requirements to the newly deemed products (namely, e-cigarettes) is unnecessary,

because the benefits that would accrue as a result of deeming are independent of the premarket review provisions.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. The premarket provisions of the statute apply automatically to deemed products. While FDA outlined in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) a number of public health benefits that would accrue as a result of deeming products subject to chapter IX as a whole (79 FR 23142 [at](#) 23148 and 23149), as explained [below in this document](#), FDA believes that the public health benefits that will accrue from the premarket review provisions are substantial. Implementation of these provisions will allow FDA to monitor product development and to prevent [potentially](#) more harmful or addictive products from reaching the market.

Premarket review is especially critical given the changing nature of the ENDS technology and industry and the increasing interest in these products from youth and young adults. FDA's premarket review also will increase product consistency. For example, FDA's oversight of the constituents of e-cigarette and other ENDS cartridges will help to ensure quality control relative to the chemicals and their quantities being aerosolized and inhaled. At present, there is significant variability in the concentration of chemicals among some products--including variability between labeled content and concentration and actual content and concentration (see section VIII.D of this document). Without a regulatory framework, users will be subject to significant variability among products, raising potential public health and safety issues.

IV. Implementation

FDA's proposal stated that part 1100, deeming additional tobacco products to be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act, and the minimum age and identification and vending machine restrictions in part 1140 would be effective ~~thirty~~[30](#) days after publication of the final rule and listed compliance periods for different requirements. FDA received many comments regarding

the proposed effective date, compliance periods, and other enforcement issues. A summary of these comments and FDA's responses are included [below as follows](#).

A. Effective Date for Rule

FDA proposed that part 1100, deeming products to be subject to the chapter IX automatic provisions, and the minimum age and identification and vending machine restrictions in ~~P~~part 1140 be effective 30 days from the publication date of the final rule. Based on our review of comments, FDA is finalizing this rule so that the automatic provisions, minimum age provisions, and vending machine restrictions will be effective 90 days from the date of the final rule's publication, as explained [below in this document](#). The compliance periods for other sections are discussed in [this section](#) ~~IV.A of this document~~.

——(Comment [51](#)) A few comments expressed concern regarding the effective date of the deeming provisions in part 1100, which is also the effective date of the minimum age and identification regulations. They stated that a 30-day effective date for the minimum age and identification regulations provides too small a window of time for retailers to adjust employee training curricula, train and educate employees, raise awareness of the new requirements, and adjust in-store or point-of-sale job aids to ensure compliance. These comments requested a ~~six~~ [6](#)-month compliance period for both the youth access and vending machine provisions.

——(Response) FDA recognizes that certain retailers may need more than 30 days to begin compliance with the youth access and vending machine restrictions included in this rule. For example, ENDS retail establishments or cigar retailers that have not previously been subject to similar restrictions for cigarettes and smokeless tobacco may need additional time to implement these regulations. To address these situations, FDA is establishing a 90-day effective date for this deeming provision and the accompanying automatic provisions in the FD&C Act, as

well as the minimum age and identification requirements and vending machine restrictions.

FDA does not believe that a ~~six-6-~~month compliance period is necessary to educate retailers on these requirements given that many retailers also sell products that are currently subject to

~~f~~Federal and/or ~~s~~State and local regulations regarding minimum age and identification.

——(Comment [52](#)) Some comments suggested that FDA delay the effective dates of all deeming provisions until the Agency can ~~promulgate~~~~issue~~ product standards (under section 907) and good manufacturing practice regulations (under section 906(e)), as these are the most important requirements for the newly deemed products. They stated, however, that all rulemaking on e-cigarettes should be delayed until the science is firmly established to allow for more informed FDA ~~decision-making~~~~decisionmaking~~.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. As we have stated throughout the document, FDA has sufficient knowledge to begin to regulate data regarding health harms generally associated with all of the categories of tobacco products ~~and~~ regulated under this rule (including ENDS). FDA is regulating these products in accordance with this knowledge. We will continue to build upon ~~that~~our product-specific knowledge through the information ~~it receives~~we receive as a result of the application of the FD&C Act's automatic provisions, such as ingredient reporting and the reporting of ~~harmful and potentially harmful constituents~~HPHCs, to newly deemed tobacco products. In addition, as discussed in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA believes that many public health benefits will accrue as a result of deeming these products (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149). It would not protect the public health to forego implementation of these provisions until FDA can ~~promulgate~~~~issue~~ final product standards and tobacco product manufacturing practice regulations. It is also important to note that this final deeming rule is a foundational rule

~~which~~[that](#) enables FDA to issue future regulations if FDA determines that they would be appropriate for the protection of public health.

——(Comment [53](#)) Comments stated the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) is a "major rule" according to the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, 5 U.S.C. 804(2) (1996), and the Congressional Review Act mandates that the rule cannot take effect until ~~sixty~~[60](#) days after the final rule is published in the Federal Register—(~~5 U.S.C. 801(a)(3) (1996)~~~~)).~~ Therefore, they requested that FDA change the effective date for this rule and the compliance periods for parts 1100 and 1140 to at least 60 days following publication of the final rule.

——(Response) FDA is providing a 90-day effective date for parts 1100 and 1140 with this final rule.

B. Compliance Periods for Certain Provisions

To avoid confusion about existing dates in the FD&C Act that are based on the date of enactment of the law and to provide time for firms to comply with provisions that require labeling changes or information submissions to the Agency, FDA proposed compliance timeframes for certain provisions. The final compliance dates are included in ~~T~~[Tables 2 and 3 below of this document](#).

——(Comment [54](#)) Comments requested that FDA impose the same requirements on the newly deemed products that apply to currently regulated products, including the same compliance periods for all provisions and the same marketing and advertising restrictions. In addition, they stated that establishing exemptions would create a significant administrative burden for FDA, and that a single, comprehensive plan would be easier for industry to understand and [for](#) the Agency to implement.

(Response) With this final rule, FDA is deeming additional tobacco products subject to its chapter IX tobacco authorities. This means that newly deemed products will be subject to all provisions in the FD&C Act applicable to “tobacco products” in the same way that currently regulated tobacco products are also subject to those provisions. Under section 901, FDA is authorized to deem products subject to “chapter IX,” not to particular provisions of chapter IX. Thus, there are no exemptions from particular requirements for any product category (although FDA is announcing enforcement policies for certain requirements and for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers as discussed throughout this document). FDA is subjecting covered tobacco products to the additional provisions (i.e., age and identification requirements, vending machine restrictions, and health warning requirements) discussed in this final rule. If FDA later determines that further marketing and advertising restrictions for newly deemed products are appropriate and meet the applicable standard in section 906(d), FDA will follow the requirements of the ~~Administrative Procedure Act regarding notice and opportunity for comment~~ [APA](#) to implement such ~~a proposal~~ [restrictions](#).

With respect to compliance periods, FDA is providing different compliance periods for certain automatic requirements of the FD&C Act that are generally similar to the timeframes provided in the statute for currently regulated products to meet certain requirements after the law’s date of enactment.

1. HPHC Reporting Requirements (Section 904)

As of the effective date of this rule, the ingredient listing and HPHC reporting requirements of section 904 will apply to the newly deemed products. To provide manufacturers sufficient time to comply with these requirements, FDA is providing compliance periods for these requirements as stated in ~~Table B~~ [Table 3](#) of this document.

——(Comment [55](#)) Most comments agreed with the compliance timeframes included in [Table 1B](#) of the [proposed rule NPRM](#), aside from the HPHC requirements under section 904(a)(3) (79 FR 23142 at 23172 through 23174). They argued that the compliance period for testing and listing of HPHCs was not sufficient for several reasons, including: [The costs associated with compliance; the lack of clear product-specific guidance; and the lack of available independent laboratories to complete the testing for the many small businesses that would be affected by the requirements.](#)

——(Response) The compliance period for HPHC reporting [under section 904\(a\)\(3\)](#) is the effective date of this rule plus [three3](#) years. FDA intends to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting, [and later a testing and reporting regulation as required by section 915](#), with enough time for manufacturers to [test and](#) report given this compliance period. [Section 904\(a\)\(3\) requires the submission of a report listing all constituents, including smoke constituents, identified as harmful or potentially harmful \(HPHC\) by the Secretary. Section 915 requires the testing and reporting of the constituents, ingredients, and additives the Secretary determines should be tested to protect the public health. The section 915 testing and reporting requirements apply only after FDA issues a regulation implementing that section, which it has not yet done. Until these testing and reporting requirements have been established, newly deemed tobacco products \(and currently regulated tobacco products\) are not subject to the testing and reporting provisions found under section 915. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements under section 904\(a\)\(3\) for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the HPHC guidance is issued well in advance of that time.](#) In addition, at this time, FDA also does not intend to enforce this requirement in relation to manufacturers of components and parts used for incorporation into finished tobacco

products. In this context, a finished tobacco product refers to a tobacco product, including all components and parts, sealed in final packaging intended for consumer use (e.g., filters or filter tubes sold separately to consumers or as part of kits). FDA considers an e-liquid to be a finished tobacco product if sold separately and not as part of an ENDS.

The Agency is committed to helping industry better understand the tobacco product review process and the requirements of the law, and will continue holding public ~~w~~Webinars and meetings with industry. ~~—~~ FDA has also published guidance on meetings with industry; this has enabled FDA to have many productive meetings to address companies' specific questions on their development of tobacco products. ~~—~~ In addition, FDA intends to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting, and later a testing and reporting regulation as required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to ~~test and~~ report given the ~~three~~ 3-year compliance period for HPHC reporting. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA also assumes that any qualified labs that currently lack capacity does not intend to test enforce the reporting requirements under section 904(a)(3) for newly deemed products will increase capacity to accommodate the expected increase in testing of newly deemed tobacco products and that additional labs will decide to become part of this process before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the HPHC guidance is issued well in advance of that time.

2. Registration and Listing (Section 905)

As of the effective date of this rule, those persons who own or operate domestic manufacturing establishments engaged in manufacturing newly deemed tobacco products (including those that engage in the blending of pipe tobacco and the mixing of e-liquids as discussed in section IX.C of this document) will be required to register with FDA and submit product listings under section 905. ~~Foreign~~ This deeming rule will not require foreign

[manufacturing establishments to register their establishments or to list their tobacco products in order to sell them in the United States. However, foreign](#) manufacturing establishments will be required to comply with [the](#) registration and listing requirements [of section 905 of the FD&C Act](#) after a registration and listing rule is final and effective. Because the compliance period for registration and listing depends on the date of publication of this final rule, FDA intends to revise the current guidance [\(\("Registration and Product Listing for Owners and Operators of Domestic Tobacco Product Establishments"\)\)](#), [which FDA expects to issue within six months following the effective date of the final deeming rule](#), to clarify the compliance periods for manufacturers of newly deemed tobacco products.

———(Comment [56](#)) Most of those comments regarding the registration and listing requirements stated that the ~~proposed~~[contemplated](#) compliance period was sufficient, because these requirements are not costly or time-consuming for manufacturers, provided FDA's²¹ electronic submission system is working effectively. A minority of comments asked for a longer compliance period that would be based on FDA published guidance for individual product categories that includes examples of completed registration and listing forms.

Most of the comments also stated that foreign and domestic companies should be required to comply with registration and listing requirements at the same time to ensure fair and equal treatment amongst each product category. They stated that this was especially important given that many of the novel products are manufactured outside the United States and that comprehensive registration requirements will promote equitable assessment and collection of user fees.

———(Response) FDA agrees with comments stating that the ~~proposed~~[contemplated](#) compliance period for registration and listing is sufficient. To provide additional assistance to

newly deemed product manufacturers, FDA intends to provide examples of completed registration and listing forms for each major category of newly deemed products at least ~~six~~6 months before the end of the compliance period. In addition, in 2013, CTP adopted a new electronic system, FDA Unified Registration and Listing System (FURLS), ~~for~~with capacity to accept registration and listing submissions for all FDA-regulated products, which has and will continue to simplify the process of submitting registration and listing information, making it more efficient for industry and providing faster access to this information by both FDA and industry. Unlike the previous eSubmitter process, FURLS is an online application that allows users to access multiple databases simply by going to the FURLS ~~website~~Web site and viewing and updating their data at any time. Questions regarding registration and listing requirements can be directed to CTP's call center at 1-877-CTP-1373 and to CTP's Office of Small Business Assistance, which is part of ~~the Office of Compliance and Enforcement~~OCE.

Further, section 905 of the FD&C Act requires FDA to issue a rule through the notice and comment rulemaking process in order to apply the registration and product listing requirements to foreign manufacturers--the requirements for domestic manufacturers are immediately ~~implemented~~ing and do not require a regulation. (Section 905(h) of the FD&C Act.) FDA has announced its intent to ~~promulgate~~issue a rule regarding registration and listing, including application of the requirements to foreign manufacturers, in the Unified Agenda (RIN No. 0910-AG89).

3. Modified Risk (Section 911)

As of the effective date of this rule, section 911 will automatically apply to the newly deemed products. Among other requirements, this section prohibits the introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate commerce of ~~modified risk tobacco products~~MRTPs, including

those with certain specified descriptors (~~“(“light,” “low,” “mild,”~~ or similar descriptors) in the label, labeling, and advertising of such products, unless manufacturers submit a ~~modified risk tobacco product~~MRTTP application and receive FDA authorization before marketing. The basic requirement for premarket review of ~~modified risk tobacco products~~MRTPs will apply immediately upon the effective date. To provide manufacturers sufficient time to comply with the prohibition on products with specified descriptors, FDA is providing a compliance period for this requirement, as stated in ~~Table~~Table 3 of this document.

———(Comment 57) The comments generally stated the ~~one-1-~~year compliance period for section 911(b)(2)(A)(ii) was sufficient, but some stated that it was unnecessary for FDA to provide any compliance period and that manufacturers should begin complying with these provisions upon the final rule's effective date.

———(Response) FDA believes that the 12-month period to comply with the restrictions set forth in section 911(b)(2)(A)(ii) (after which ~~prohibits the use of “a manufacturer may not manufacture, without an order in the effect, any tobacco product which contains “light,” “low,” or “mild,”~~ or similar descriptors on label, labeling, or advertising), ~~like~~and the ~~time~~additional 30-day period that Congress where manufacturers may continue to distribute products into domestic commerce, are consistent with the effective dates originally included in the Tobacco Control Act. Under section 911 ~~for products immediately under FDA's authority, will~~(b)(3), the prohibition on the manufacture and distribution of tobacco products containing “light,” “low,” or “mild,” or similar descriptors appearing on labeling, labels, or advertising (unless an order was issued authorizing their marketing) took effect 12 months after the date of enactment of the Tobacco Control Act, and manufacturers also had an additional 30 days after the effective date to continue to introduce these products with these descriptors into domestic

commerce. Additionally, this compliance policy balances the need to help ~~to prevent~~ consumers from being misled with respect to better understand and appreciate the health risks of these ~~modified-risk~~ newly deemed tobacco products ~~and will provide~~ while providing manufacturers with sufficient time to revise the label, labeling, and advertising as appropriate.

This compliance policy does not extend to other ~~modified-risk tobacco products~~ MRTPs as defined in the remaining sections of 911(b) (e.g., tobacco products of which the label, labeling, or advertising ~~of which~~ explicitly or implicitly represents that the product ~~is~~ presents a lower risk, of tobacco-related disease or is less harmful than one or more other commercially marketed tobacco products, the product or its smoke contains a reduced level/presents a reduced exposure to a substance, or the product or its smoke does not contain/is free of a substance; or action taken by a manufacturer directed to consumers through media or otherwise, other than through the product's label, labeling, or advertising that would be reasonably expected to result in consumers believing that the tobacco product or its smoke may present a lower risk, ~~contains~~ of disease or is less harmful than one or more commercially marketed tobacco products, or presents a reduced level/exposure to ~~a substance(s),~~ or does not contain/is free of a substance ~~(s)).~~ Just as these provisions took effect immediately upon the enactment of the Tobacco Control Act for currently-regulated products, newly deemed products will be expected to comply with these provisions on the effective date of part 1100. The agency believes this is necessary in order to ensure that consumers better understand and appreciate the health risks of newly deemed products, particularly where a product's label, labeling, or advertising makes express or implied claims of reduced risk or less harm or that a product has reduced levels of or is free of a substance(s).

4. Required Warnings

——(Comment [58](#)) A few comments suggested that manufacturers should be required to implement the proposed health warnings within ~~six~~6 months following the effective date of this rule. One comment stated that the health warnings should take effect no later than 12 months from publication of the final rule. They stated that the delay in implementing the health warnings has the potential to continue to foster the perception, particularly on the part of youth, that e-cigarettes are safe products and the misunderstanding that they have been found to be safe and effective cessation products. They also stated that the shorter compliance period is necessary to quickly make consumers aware of the possibility of becoming addicted to e-cigarettes.

——(Response) FDA has considered the comments and the time and resources it will take for manufacturers to comply with the health warnings requirements and the need to provide these messages to consumers and has determined that the proposed effective date of 24- months after publication of this rule for the warning requirements in part 1143 is appropriate.

5. Compliance Period Tables

The final compliance period table for various provisions is included ~~below~~[in this document](#). (The compliance policy for submission of premarketing applications is discussed in section V.A of this document.) To clarify, effective dates differ from compliance periods.

While a requirement is effective on a certain date (here, the ~~“effective date”~~), for many provisions, FDA is providing a compliance period with additional time during which FDA does not intend to enforce compliance with the regulation. We note that the compliance periods and provisions for sections 904(a)(3) and 904(a)(4) have been consistent with FDA’s approach for currently marketed tobacco products and FDA’s final guidance ~~“entitled”~~ [“Tobacco Health Document Submission”](#) (75 FR 20606, [April 20, 2010](#)). In addition, FDA has revised the

compliance period for section 903(a)(8) of the FD&C Act from “effective date of part 1100 PLUS 1 year” to “24 months after the publication of this final regulation” so that it is consistent with the effective dates for the health warning requirements in part 1143 of this final rule.

Table A.2.—Compliance With Various Automatic Provisions

FD&C Act Citation	Provision	Compliance upon Effective Date
902(1)-(5), (8)	<p>A tobacco product shall be deemed to be adulterated if--</p> <p>(1) it consists in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid, or decomposed substance, or is otherwise contaminated by any added poisonous or added deleterious substance that may render the product injurious to health;</p> <p>(2) it has been prepared, packed, or held under insanitary conditions whereby it may have been contaminated with filth, or whereby it may have been rendered injurious to health;</p> <p>(3) its package is composed, in whole or in part, of any poisonous or deleterious substance which may render the contents injurious to health;</p> <p>(4) the manufacturer or importer of the tobacco product fails to pay a user fee assessed to such manufacturer or importer pursuant to section 919 by the date specified in section 919 or by the 30th day after final agency action on a resolution of any dispute as to the amount of such fee;</p> <p>(5) it is, or purports to be or is represented as, a tobacco product which is subject to a tobacco product standard established under section 907 unless such tobacco product is in all respects in conformity with such standard;</p> <p>***</p> <p>-----</p> <p>(8) it is in violation of section 911.</p>	Effective date of part 1100
903(a)(1)	<p>(a) In General IN GENERAL--A tobacco product shall be deemed to be misbranded--</p> <p>(1) if its labeling is false or misleading in any particular;</p>	Effective date of part 1100
903(a)(6)-(7)	<p>(6) if it was manufactured, prepared, propagated, compounded, or processed in an establishment not duly registered under section 905(b), 905(c), 905(d), or 905(h), if it was not included in a list required by section 905(i), if a notice or other information respecting it was not provided as required by such section or section 905(j), or if it does not bear such symbols from the uniform system for identification of tobacco products prescribed under section 905(e) as the Secretary by regulation requires;</p> <p>(7) if, in the case of any tobacco product distributed or offered for sale in any State--</p> <p>(A) its advertising is false or misleading in any particular; or</p> <p>(B) it is sold or distributed in violation of regulations prescribed under section 906(d);</p>	Effective date of part 1100
904(c)(2), (3)	<p>(2) DISCLOSURE OF ADDITIVE--If at any time a tobacco product manufacturer adds to its tobacco products a new tobacco additive or increases the quantity of an existing tobacco additive,</p>	Effective date of part 1100

	<p>the manufacturer shall, except as provided in paragraph (3), at least 90 days prior to such action so advise the Secretary in writing.</p> <p>(3) DISCLOSURE OF OTHER ACTIONS- If at any time a tobacco product manufacturer eliminates or decreases an existing additive, or adds or increases an additive that has by regulation been designated by the Secretary as an additive that is not a human or animal carcinogen, or otherwise harmful to health under intended conditions of use, the manufacturer shall within 60 days of such action so advise the Secretary in writing.</p>	
<p>905(i)(3)</p>	<p>(3) BIANNUAL REPORT OF ANY CHANGE IN PRODUCT LIST--Each person who registers with the Secretary under this section shall report to the Secretary once during the month of June of each year and once during the month of December of each year the following:</p> <p>(A) A list of each tobacco product introduced by the registrant for commercial distribution which has not been included in any list previously filed by that person with the Secretary under this subparagraph or paragraph (1). A list under this subparagraph shall list a tobacco product by its established name and shall be accompanied by the other information required by paragraph (1).</p> <p>(B) If since the date the registrant last made a report under this paragraph that person has discontinued the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing for commercial distribution of a tobacco product included in a list filed under subparagraph (A) or paragraph (1), notice of such discontinuance, the date of such discontinuance, and the identity of its established name.</p> <p>(C) If since the date the registrant reported under subparagraph (B) a notice of discontinuance that person has resumed the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing for commercial distribution of the tobacco product with respect to which such notice of discontinuance was reported, notice of such resumption, the date of such resumption, the identity of such tobacco product by established name, and other information required by paragraph (1), unless the registrant has previously reported such resumption to the Secretary under this subparagraph.</p> <p>(D) Any material change in any information previously submitted under this paragraph or paragraph (1).</p>	<p>Effective date of part 1100</p>
<p>911(a), 911(b)</p> <p>[with the exception of products sold or distributed using the descriptors set forth in 911(b)(2)(A)(ii)]</p>	<p>MODIFIED RISK TOBACCO PRODUCTS</p> <p>(a) In General—IN GENERAL--No person may introduce or deliver for introduction into interstate commerce any modified risk tobacco product unless an order issued pursuant to subsection (g) is effective with respect to such product.</p> <p>(b) Definitions—DEFINITIONS--In this section:</p> <p>(1) MODIFIED RISK TOBACCO PRODUCT---The term 'modified risk tobacco product' means any tobacco product that is sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco products.</p> <p>(2) SOLD OR DISTRIBUTED---</p> <p>(A) IN GENERAL---With respect to a tobacco product, the term 'sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco products' means a tobacco product--</p> <p>(i) the label, labeling, or advertising of which represents explicitly</p>	<p>Effective date of part 1100</p>

	<p>or implicitly that--</p> <p>(I) the tobacco product presents a lower risk of tobacco-related disease or is less harmful than one or more other commercially marketed tobacco products;</p> <p>(II) the tobacco product or its smoke contains a reduced level of a substance or presents a reduced exposure to a substance; or</p> <p>(III) the tobacco product or its smoke does not contain or is free of a substance;</p> <p>***</p> <p>-----</p> <p>(iii) the tobacco product manufacturer of which has taken any action directed to consumers through the media or otherwise, other than by means of the tobacco product's label, labeling, or advertising, after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, respecting the product that would be reasonably expected to result in consumers believing that the tobacco product or its smoke may present a lower risk of disease or is less harmful than one or more commercially marketed tobacco products, or presents a reduced exposure to, or does not contain or is free of, a substance or substances.</p>	
<p>919(a)</p>	<p>919(a) Establishment of Quarterly Fee <u>ESTABLISHMENT OF QUARTERLY FEE</u>--Beginning on the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, the Secretary shall in accordance with this section assess user fees on, and collect such fees from, each manufacturer and importer of tobacco products subject to this chapter. The fees shall be assessed and collected with respect to each quarter of each fiscal year, and the total amount assessed and collected for a fiscal year shall be the amount specified in subsection (b)(1) for such year, subject to subsection (c).</p>	<p>See FDA's final rule revising the current user fee regulations published concurrently with this final deeming rule</p>

Table B3.--Compliance Periods for Other Provisions

FD&C Act Citation	Provision	Compliance Period
903(a)(2)	A tobacco product shall be deemed misbranded if in package form unless it bears a label containing-- (A) the name and place of business of the tobacco product manufacturer, packer, or distributor; (B) an accurate statement of the quantity of the contents in terms of weight, measure, or numerical count; (C) an accurate statement of the percentage of the tobacco used in the product that is domestically grown tobacco and the percentage that is foreign grown tobacco; and (D) the statement required under section 920(a), except that under subparagraph (B) reasonable variations shall be permitted, and exemptions as to small packages shall be established, by regulations prescribed by the Secretary.	24 months after the publication of this final regulation * This is designed to match the 24 month effective date of the health warnings
903(a)(3)	A tobacco product is misbranded--if any word, statement, or other information required by or under authority of this chapter to appear on the label or labeling is not prominently placed thereon with such conspicuousness (as compared with other words, statements, or designs in the labeling) and in such terms as to render it likely to be read and understood by the ordinary individual under customary conditions of purchase and use.	Effective date of part 1100 PLUS 1 year * This is designed to match the one 1 year deadline in the FD&C Act for currently regulated products
903(a)(4)	A tobacco product is misbranded--(4) if it has an established name, unless its label bears, to the exclusion of any other nonproprietary name, its established name prominently printed in type as required by the Secretary by regulation.	24 months after the publication of this final regulation * This is designed to match the 24 month effective date of the health warnings
903(a)(8)	A tobacco product is misbranded--(8) unless, in the case of any tobacco product distributed or offered for sale in any State, the manufacturer, packer, or distributor thereof includes in all advertisements and other descriptive printed matter issued or caused to be issued by the manufacturer, packer, or distributor with respect to that tobacco product--(A) a true statement of the tobacco product's established name as described in paragraph (4), printed prominently; and (B) a brief statement of--(i) the uses of the tobacco product and relevant warnings, precautions, side effects, and contraindications; and (ii) in the case of specific tobacco products made subject to a finding by the Secretary after notice and opportunity for comment that such action is appropriate to protect the public health, a full description of the components of such tobacco product or the formula showing quantitatively each ingredient of such tobacco product to the extent required in regulations which shall be issued by the Secretary after an opportunity for a hearing.	24 months after the publication of this final regulation * This is designed to match the 24 month effective date of the health warnings
904(a)(1) and 904(c)(1)	(a)(1) REQUIREMENT.--Each tobacco product manufacturer or importer, or agents thereof, shall submit to the Secretary the following information: (1) Not later than 6 months after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, a listing of all ingredients, including tobacco, substances, compounds, and additives that are, as of such date, added by the manufacturer to the tobacco, paper, filter, or other part of each tobacco product by brand and by	Effective date of part 1100 PLUS 6 months (products on the market as of the effective date) or 90 days before delivery for introduction into

	<p>quantity in each brand and subbrand.</p> <p>-----</p> <p>(c) TIME FOR SUBMISSION.--</p> <p>(1) IN GENERAL.--At least 90 days prior to the delivery for introduction into interstate commerce of a tobacco product not on the market on the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, the manufacturer of such product shall provide the information required under subsection (a).</p>	<p>interstate commerce (products entering the market after the effective date)</p> <p>* This matches the timeframes provided in this section</p>
904(a)(3)	<p>REQUIREMENT.--Each tobacco product manufacturer or importer, or agents thereof, shall submit to the Secretary the following information:</p> <p>(3) Beginning 3 years after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, a listing of all constituents, including smoke constituents as applicable, identified by the Secretary as harmful or potentially harmful to health in each tobacco product, and as applicable in the smoke of each tobacco product, by brand and by quantity in each brand and subbrand.</p> <p>-----</p> <p>(c) TIME FOR SUBMISSION.--</p> <p>(1) IN GENERAL.--At least 90 days prior to the delivery for introduction into interstate commerce of a tobacco product not on the market on the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, the manufacturer of such product shall provide the information required under subsection (a).</p>	<p>Effective date of part 1100 PLUS 3 years or, for products delivered for introduction into interstate commerce later than three 3 years after the effective date, 90 days before delivery for introduction into interstate commerce (products entering the market after the effective date)</p> <p>* This matches the timeframes provided in this section</p>
904(a)(4)	<p>REQUIREMENT.--Each tobacco product manufacturer or importer, or agents thereof, shall submit to the Secretary the following information:</p> <p>(4) Beginning 6 months after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, all documents developed after such date of enactment that relate to health, toxicological, behavioral, or physiologic effects of current or future tobacco products, their constituents (including smoke constituents), ingredients, components, and additives.</p>	<p>Effective date of part 1100 PLUS 6 months</p> <p>* This matches the timeframes provided in this section</p>
905(b), (c), (d), and (h)	<p>905(b)--REGISTRATION BY OWNERS AND OPERATORS.--On or before December 31 of each year, every person who owns or operates any establishment in any State engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product or tobacco products shall register with the Secretary the name, places of business, and all such establishments of that person. If enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act occurs in the second half of the calendar year, the Secretary shall designate a date no later than 6 months into the subsequent calendar year by which registration under this subsection shall occur.</p> <p>905(c)--REGISTRATION BY NEW OWNERS AND OPERATORS.--Every person upon first engaging in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product or tobacco products in any establishment owned or operated in any State by that person shall immediately register with the Secretary that person's name, place of business, and such establishment.</p> <p>905(d)--REGISTRATION OF ADDED ESTABLISHMENTS.--Every person required to register under subsection (b) or (c) shall immediately</p>	<p>If the final rule publishes in the second half of the calendar year, FDA intends to issue a compliance policy with a compliance period for registration that is no later than 6 months into the subsequent calendar year.</p> <p>* This matches the timeframes provided in this section</p>

	<p>register with the Secretary any additional establishment which that person owns or operates in any State and in which that person begins the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product or tobacco products.</p> <p><u>905(h)--REGISTRATION BY FOREIGN ESTABLISHMENTS.--Any establishment within any foreign country engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product or tobacco products, shall register under this section under regulations promulgated by the Secretary. Such regulations shall require such establishment to provide the information required by subsection (i) and shall include provisions for registration of any such establishment upon condition that adequate and effective means are available, by arrangement with the government of such foreign country or otherwise, to enable the Secretary to determine from time to time whether tobacco products manufactured, prepared, compounded, or processed in such establishment, if imported or offered for import into the United States, shall be refused admission on any of the grounds set forth in section 381(a) of this title.</u></p>	
905(i)(1)	<p>PRODUCT LIST.--Every person who registers with the Secretary under subsection (b), (c), (d), or (h) shall, at the time of registration under any such subsection, file with the Secretary a list of all tobacco products which are being manufactured, prepared, compounded, or processed by that person for commercial distribution and which have not been included in any list of tobacco products filed by that person with the Secretary under this paragraph or paragraph (2) before such time of registration. Such list shall be prepared in such form and manner as the Secretary may prescribe and shall be accompanied by--</p> <p>(A) in the case of a tobacco product contained in the applicable list with respect to which a tobacco product standard has been established under section 907 or which is subject to section 910, a reference to the authority for the marketing of such tobacco product and a copy of all labeling for such tobacco product;</p> <p>(B) in the case of any other tobacco product contained in an applicable list, a copy of all consumer information and other labeling for such tobacco product, a representative sampling of advertisements for such tobacco product, and, upon request made by the Secretary for good cause, a copy of all advertisements for a particular tobacco product; and</p> <p>(C) if the registrant filing a list has determined that a tobacco product contained in such list is not subject to a tobacco product standard established under section 907, a brief statement of the basis upon which the registrant made such determination if the Secretary requests such a statement with respect to that particular tobacco product.</p>	Same compliance period as that for initial registration; see date specified for 905(b).
907(a)(1)(B)	<p>(B) ADDITIONAL SPECIAL RULE.--Beginning 2 years after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, a tobacco product manufacturer shall not use tobacco, including foreign grown tobacco, that contains a pesticide chemical residue that is at a level greater than is specified by any tolerance applicable under Federal law to domestically grown tobacco.</p>	<p>Effective date of part 1100 PLUS 2 years</p> <p>* This matches the timeframe provided in this section</p>
911(a), (b)(1), (b)(2)(A)(ii), (b)(3)	<p>911(a)--IN GENERAL.--No person may introduce or deliver for introduction into interstate commerce any modified risk tobacco product unless an order issued under subsection (g) is effective with respect to such product.</p> <p>911(b)(1)--MODIFIED RISK TOBACCO PRODUCT.--The term</p>	<p>Use of "light," "low," and "mild" descriptors: Effective date of part 1100 PLUS 1 year (stop manufacture); Effective date of part</p>

	<p>'modified risk tobacco product' means any tobacco product that is sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco products.</p> <p>(2) SOLD OR DISTRIBUTED.--</p> <p>(A) IN GENERAL.--With respect to a tobacco product, the term 'sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco products' means a tobacco product--</p> <p>***</p> <p>-----</p> <p>(ii) the label, labeling, or advertising of which uses the descriptors light, mild, or low or similar descriptors; or</p> <p>***</p> <p>-----</p> <p>(3) EFFECTIVE DATE.--The provisions of paragraph (2)(A)(ii) shall take effect 12 months after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act for those products whose label, labeling, or advertising contains the terms described in such paragraph on such date of enactment. The effective date shall be with respect to the date of manufacture, provided that, in any case, beginning 30 days after such effective date, a manufacturer shall not introduce into the domestic commerce of the United States any product, irrespective of the date of manufacture, that is not in conformance with paragraph (2)(A)(ii).</p>	<p>1100 PLUS 13 months (stop distribution)</p> <p>* This matches the timeframes provided in this section</p>
<p>920(a)(1)</p>	<p>(1) REQUIREMENT.--Beginning 1 year after the date of enactment of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, the label, packaging, and shipping containers of tobacco products other than cigarettes for introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate commerce in the United States shall bear the statement 'Sale only allowed in the United States.'</p>	<p>24 months after the publication of this final regulation</p> <p>* This is designed to match the 24 month effective date of the health warnings</p>

6. -Other Enforcement Issues

——(Comment 59) A few comments expressed concern that this rule will result in the growth of an illicit market for certain newly deemed tobacco products, particularly e-cigarettes and e-liquids. They suggested that such an illicit market could make products more available and more attractive to youth and young adults. They also feared that this illicit market would worsen if FDA were to ban certain e-liquid flavorings, stating that the deeming rule (and/or a ban on certain flavorings) would result in consumers mixing their own e-liquids, even though [the comments stated that](#) most consumers are not adept at handling or mixing chemicals. These “do-it-yourself manufacturers,” as the comments referred to them, would increase health risks,

because more individuals possessing pure nicotine could lead to more accidental poisonings and the possibility of overdoses. Comments pointed to a survey from an e-cigarette forum which stated that “[a]bout 79 percent of respondents said they would ‘look to the black market’ if products they use ‘were banned tomorrow,’ while 14 percent said they would return to smoking analog cigarettes” (e.g., Ref. [7, Nelson44](#)).

Comments also expressed concern that regulation will increase prices of the newly deemed tobacco products and consumers will turn to an illicit market to obtain products for lower prices. For example, they stated that some markets for cigarettes (e.g., New York) experience smuggling rates of beyond 50 percent, as consumers seek products for lower costs. These comments expected a similar result to occur after the deeming rule becomes effective (see Ref. [8, Henchman45](#)).

Further, they stated that this illicit market would cause additional problems like stifling innovation for regulated companies, because companies operating in the illicit market would not be complying with costly regulations and would be able to take advantage of innovations elsewhere in the world. They theorized that this illicit market would favor very small domestic producers over existing medium-sized domestic manufacturers with better quality control and safety mechanisms.

In addition to concerns about e-cigarettes, comments expressed concerns about the potential for illicit markets for other newly deemed products. For example, they stated that a final deeming regulation (without an exemption for premium cigars) would exacerbate the black market that already exists for premium Cuban cigars. The comments also noted that those involved in the waterpipe tobacco industry already operate more informally (e.g., without local regulation) and, therefore, the deeming regulation would cause more business to be transacted in

illicit markets. They also expressed concern about the development of a flourishing illicit market if flavors were not permitted in the deemed products.

———(Response) FDA understands these concerns, but believes that this rule will not increase current illicit practices or create new illicit markets, because FDA is not banning any tobacco product with this deeming rule. —Even if some illicit trade were to develop in an attempt to evade the requirements of this rule, FDA does not believe it would result in a volume sufficient to outweigh the public health benefits of the rule. FDA authority over the newly deemed tobacco products will give it means to determine which products are legally on the market and which are counterfeit or otherwise illegally marketed. The Tobacco Control Act gives the Agency these and other authorities, such as section 920 of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 387t), to help address illicit tobacco products.

In addition, FDA recently commissioned a report from the National Research Council and Institute of Medicine Panel to help us better understand and consider all aspects of illicit tobacco markets (Ref. 46). This report focused mainly on combustible products, especially cigarettes, as they are the subject of most illicit tobacco trade. The relevance of those findings to an assessment of the potential for illicit trade in tobacco products more generally in the United States, such as ENDS products, is open to question. Overall, illicit trade in cigarettes is under 10 percent. It is not clear if illicit trade in any of the newly deemed products will be greater or less than that observed for cigarettes. Evidence from Canada shows the development of an illicit market in ENDS products in that particular context where the government currently regulates all nicotine-containing electronic smoking products as medical devices under the Food and Drugs

Act, regardless of the products' health claims.¹² Canada does, however, have a legal market for the sale of non-nicotine containing ENDS products. Despite the fact that Health Canada has not approved any nicotine-containing ENDS products for sale or importation in the country a 2015 e-cigarette usage study (Ref. 48) showed usage rates among Canadian populations that were similar to those among U.S. populations.

Despite the potential for some illicit ENDS market activity to occur, FDA emphasizes that the presence of an illicit market does not affect its legal authority to regulate such products and that there is evidence that many ENDS manufacturers will likely submit premarket applications in the United States.

Moreover, as stated previously, FDA expects that the public health benefits that likely will accrue as a result of this final rule ~~are substantially~~will be greater than the negative effects that could result if there were an increase in illicit markets. This final deeming rule will afford FDA additional tools to reduce the number of illnesses and premature deaths associated with tobacco product use. For example, FDA will be able to obtain critical information regarding the health risks of newly deemed tobacco products, including information derived from ingredient listing submissions and reporting of ~~harmful and potentially harmful constituents~~HPHCs required under the FD&C Act. FDA will also receive information on the location and number of manufacturing establishments, which will allow the Agency to establish effective compliance programs. In addition, because of this rule, FDA will be able to take enforcement action against manufacturers of newly deemed products who make unsubstantiated MRTP claims or false or misleading claims about their products, thus allowing for better-informed consumers and helping

¹² ENDS and e-liquids that do not contain nicotine can be legally sold in Canada. Health Canada issued a Notice in 2009 regarding electronic cigarette products that contain nicotine (Ref. 47).

to prevent the use of misleading campaigns targeted to youth populations. It will also prevent from entering the market new products that are not appropriate for the protection of public health, are not substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product, or are not exempt from ~~substantial equivalence~~.SE. Finally, the newly deemed tobacco products may be subject to future regulations that FDA determines are appropriate ~~for the protection of public health~~.

FDA believes that this rule will not stifle innovation but could, instead, encourage it. The greater regulatory certainty created by the premarket review process may encourage companies to invest in creating potentially beneficial novel products, with greater confidence that improved products will not be competing against equally novel, but more dangerous, products. For example, a company may be more willing to invest the additional resources needed to ensure that its product is designed and manufactured with appropriate methods and controls. ~~Over time, FDA expects that its premarket review authorities will spur innovation and help create a market where available products present a lower risk of population harm and are less likely to lead to initiation of tobacco use, and/or are easier to quit.~~The PMTA pathway will incentivize development of tobacco products that pose less risk to human health by limiting market access by riskier competitor products. Furthermore, since the "appropriate for the protection of the public health" standard involves comparison to the general tobacco product market, FDA believes that, over time, the premarket authorities will move the market toward less risky tobacco products.

C. — Policy for Certain Regulatory Requirements for All Manufacturers of Newly Deemed Products

FDA received many comments expressing concern regarding the regulatory and financial burdens associated with certain automatic provisions that will apply to newly deemed products

once this rule becomes effective. In response to comments, FDA has considered instances in which the Agency has implemented compliance policies for currently regulated products.

Accordingly, the Agency is announcing the following compliance policy with respect to newly deemed products. As with any such policy, the Agency will review and revise this policy as appropriate. If FDA were to change this policy, the Agency would provide notice to affected entities.

1. Substantial Equivalence

- As provided in guidance for currently regulated products (~~“~~[“Demonstrating the Substantial Equivalence of a New Tobacco Product: Responses to Frequently Asked Questions” \(Edition 2\)](#)~~”~~ (80 FR ~~12014~~[53810, September 8, 2015](#))), FDA does not intend to enforce against manufacturers who make tobacco blending changes without a marketing authorization if the tobacco blending changes are intended to address the natural variation of tobacco (e.g., due to variation in growing conditions) in order to maintain a consistent product. However, FDA does intend to enforce the premarket authorization requirements for tobacco blending changes that are intended to alter the chemical or perception properties of the new product (e.g., nicotine level, pH, smoothness, harshness, ~~etc.~~~~).~~

- FDA does not intend to take enforcement action for at least 30 calendar days from the date the [not substantially equivalent \(NSE\)](#) order issues for those products that are in a retailer’s current inventory at a specific retail location on the date FDA issues the NSE order.

This policy extends only to tobacco products that are already in a retail store that offers the products for sale directly to adult consumers.

- FDA has provided guidance (~~“~~[“Demonstrating the Substantial Equivalence of a New Tobacco Product: Responses to Frequently Asked Questions” \(80 FR 12014\)](#)~~”~~ ([Edition 2](#)))

on currently regulated tobacco products stating that a change in supplier, where the new supplier is used for the same ingredient, additive, component, part, or material, with identical specifications, would not render a new tobacco product. This guidance also will apply to newly deemed products.

2. Reporting of HPHCs

~~FDA intends to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting with enough time for manufacturers to test and report given the three-year compliance period for HPHC reporting.~~ FDA intends to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting, and later a testing and reporting regulation as required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to report given the 3-year compliance period for HPHC reporting. Section 904 (a)(3) requires the submission of a report listing all constituents, including smoke constituents, identified as harmful or potentially harmful (HPHC) by the Secretary. Section 915 requires the testing and reporting of the constituents, ingredients, and additives the Secretary determines should be tested to protect the public health. The section 915 testing and reporting requirements apply only after FDA issues a regulation implementing that section, which it has not yet done. Until these testing and reporting requirements have been established, newly deemed tobacco products (and currently regulated tobacco products) are not subject to the testing and reporting provisions found under section 915. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements under section 904(a)(3) for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the guidance is issued well in advance of that time. At this time, FDA also does not intend to enforce this requirement in relation to manufacturers of components and parts used for incorporation into finished tobacco products. In the future, we intend to evaluate if there are additional constituents that are present in newly deemed products and should

be included in the HPHC list for reporting. FDA also intends to issue guidance to further refine the list of reportable HPHCs based on product class.

3. Tobacco Health Document Submission

Although section 904(a)(4) sets out an ongoing requirement to submit tobacco health documents developed after June 22, 2009 (the date of enactment of the [TCA Tobacco Control Act](#)), FDA generally does not intend to enforce the requirement with respect to all such documents at this time, so long as a specified set of documents ~~are~~is submitted by ~~the~~the effective date ~~+plus 6 months~~+. FDA ~~will~~intends to publish additional guidance that specifies the scope of such health documents within three to six months of the publication date of this final rule, with sufficient advance time for manufacturers and importers s to prepare their submissions.

FDA does intend to collect other tobacco health documents developed after June 22, 2009, but before doing so the aAgency will publish additional guidance specifying the timing of subsequent submissions. Note that, despite this compliance policy with respect to timeliness of submissions, manufacturers and importers are still to preserve all tobacco health documents developed after June 22, 2009, for future submissions to FDA. Failure to submit tobacco health documents developed after June 22, 2009, because of a failure to preserve them after publication of this rule will constitute a violation of section 904(a)(4).

4. Compliance Policy for Components and Parts

As discussed in section VI.B of this document (~~Components, Parts, and Accessories~~), at this time FDA ~~is treating~~does not intend to enforce certain requirements for components and parts of newly deemed products that are ~~incorporated~~sold or distributed for further manufacturing into a finished ~~newly deemed product as it has treated components and parts of currently regulated~~ tobacco products ~~that are to be incorporated into a finished tobacco product~~.

D.—— Compliance ~~and Other Policies~~ Policy Regarding Certain Provisions and Small-Scale Tobacco Product Manufacturers

In the ~~notice of proposed rulemaking~~ NPRM, FDA requested comment on the ability of smaller manufacturers of newly deemed tobacco products to fully comply with the requirements of the FD&C Act and how FDA might be able to address those concerns. Considering the comments and FDA's finite enforcement resources, the Agency's ~~current thinking~~ view is that those resources may not be best used in immediately enforcing the provisions of this rule against certain manufacturers that are small-scale tobacco product manufacturers and that fail to comply with certain requirements of the FD&C Act. Therefore, FDA generally intends to grant small-scale tobacco manufacturers additional time to respond to SE deficiency letters and to not bring enforcement action against those small-scale tobacco product manufacturers who submit ingredient listings within 12 months of the effective date of this rule, and is granting small-scale tobacco product manufacturers an additional six-month compliance period for the tobacco health document submission requirements. As with any such policy, FDA will review and revise ~~this policy~~ these policies as appropriate. If FDA were to change ~~this policy~~ these policies, FDA would do so consistent with its Good Guidance Practices regulations.

———For purposes of this compliance policy, FDA generally considers a ~~"small-scale tobacco product manufacturer"~~ "small-scale tobacco product manufacturer" to be a manufacturer of any regulated tobacco product that employs ~~20150~~ 20150 or fewer full-time equivalent employees and has annual total revenues of ~~\$7505,000~~ \$7505,000 or less. FDA considers a manufacturer to include each entity that it controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with. To help make FDA's individual enforcement decisions more efficient, a manufacturer may voluntarily submit information regarding all relevant factors, including ~~those discussed above~~ information regarding employment and

revenues. Interested manufacturers may contact CTP's call center at 1-877-CTP-1373 for questions regarding this compliance policy. We note that FDA's thinking regarding "small-scale tobacco product manufacturer" differs from the definition of "small tobacco product manufacturer" in section 900(16) of the FD&C Act.

FDA notes that our thinking regarding what a "small-scale tobacco product manufacturer" is for purposes of this policy is designed to align with the nature of the specific relief provided. That is, the relief provided (as described throughout this document) relates generally to requirements for entities to compile or report information. These activities may require an investment of employee time and/or financial resources that is more challenging for the smallest entities to achieve. For these reasons, the threshold takes note of both employee resources (FTEs) and financial resources (annual revenues), ensuring that those entities with the most limited human and financial resources are uniquely considered in FDA's decisions about enforcement of these provisions, precisely because the provisions may require resources not as readily available to these entities. Further, as stated elsewhere in this document, in formulating its thinking, FDA has considered all available data on employment, revenues, production volume and other details of operation for current manufacturers of newly deemed products. In addition, FDA notes that its current approach reflects a careful review of the potentially unique interests of the smallest tobacco product manufacturers as considered in light of the Agency's statutory obligations regarding the protection of public health.

1. SE Extension Requests (section 905(j))

Although information adequate to make submissions should be available to all firmsmanufacturers, we expect small firmsmanufacturers to have more difficulty in putting this information together in an SE Report. FDA presently intends, for the first 30 months following

the effective date of this rule, to grant extensions to small-scale tobacco product manufacturers for SE reports that need additional time to respond to SE deficiency letters. ~~Extensions are not automatically granted. Requests will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Any extensions granted are likely to be limited in time—for example, where a manufacturer normally might have 90 days to respond to a deficiency letter, FDA ~~could~~will, for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, possibly grant an additional 30 days for such a response. FDA encourages all small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, especially those with limited or no experience with the SE pathway, to submit SE reports as early as possible. FDA is not instituting a similar policy for extension requests related to PMTAs (nor is it providing additional time for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers to prepare PMTAs) given the already-extended compliance period for PMTAs, which provides an additional six6 months to submit a PMTA, discussed in section V.A of this document.~~

2. Tobacco Health Document Submissions (section 904(a)(4))

To address concerns of small-scale tobacco product manufacturers regarding the submission of certain health documents, and in recognition of FDA's current enforcement priorities, FDA, for an additional six6 months following the end of the generally applicable compliance period, intends not to bring enforcement action against those small-scale tobacco product manufacturers who submit the required information.

3. Ingredient Listing Submissions (sections 904(a)(1))

FDA understands concerns that small-scale tobacco product manufacturers may need additional time to comply with section 904(a)(1)'s requirement that manufacturers submit ingredient lists. FDA presently intends not to bring enforcement action against those small-scale

tobacco product manufacturers who submit section 904(a)(1)'s^s required information within ~~twelve~~12 months of the effective date of this final rule.

4. Assistance with Marketing Applications

As with manufacturers in general, these small-scale tobacco manufacturers will also benefit from additional assistance with their marketing applications, including the designation of a Regulatory Health Project Manager so that they have a single point of contact in CTP's OS for questions about their marketing applications. They will also have access to an appeals process in the event that FDA denies their marketing applications (of which one small business has already taken advantage). Staff from CTP's OCE also will assist small-scale tobacco product manufacturers with identifying the types of documents that may be used to establish that their predicate products were on the market on February 15, 2007. This may include several calls or correspondence with the manufacturer as it submits different documents to the Agency.

5. Assistance in Navigating Other Regulatory Requirements

CTP's OCE will continue to assist small-scale tobacco product manufacturers in submitting rotational warning plans for FDA approval. These plans provide the firm's plan for how the required warnings will be displayed on the packaging and advertising for their product, as required by 21 CFR 1143.5. This may include several calls or correspondence with the small business as it seeks approval from the Agency.

CTP also has a system to assist small businesses in navigating the regulatory requirements of FDA. For example, the Center has a Call Center that triages all calls received from regulated industry. The Center's Office of Small Business responds to hundreds of calls, emails and correspondences from small businesses every year to assist them in answering their specific questions on how to comply with the law.

V. Premarket Review Requirements and Compliance Policy

Section 910 of the FD&C Act requires FDA authorization in order to market a new tobacco product. As described elsewhere, the FD&C Act contains three pathways for obtaining premarket authorization: SE exemptions, SE reports, and PMTAs.

Tobacco products that were on the market ~~as of on~~ February 15, 2007, are grandfathered and do not require premarket authorization. However, as described throughout this preamble, these products are subject to the other requirements of the statute.

A.— Compliance Policy for Premarket Review Requirements

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA ~~proposed~~contemplated a compliance period of 24 months following the effective date for submitting a premarket application (SE exemption request, SE report, or PMTA), with a continued compliance period pending review of those applications (79 FR 23142 at 23144). ~~After considering~~In essence, the ~~comments and data~~, FDA has decided to implementproducts would remain on the market during this indefinite compliance policy with period until the following changes agency rendered a decision on an application or the application was withdrawn.

Agency compliance/enforcement policies are not subject to the requirements that govern notice-and-comment rulemaking. Prof'ls & Patients for Customized Care v. Shalala, 56 F.3d 592 (5th Cir. 1995) (a compliance policy guide is not a substantive rule and not subject to APA's notice-and-comment rulemaking); Takhar v. Kessler, 76 F.3d 995, 1002 (9th Cir. 1996) (FDA compliance policy guides were not required to go through notice-and-comment procedures). But because the relevant time periods are of obvious interest, FDA laid out its anticipated compliance policy in the NPRM, and for similar reasons, is announcing its revised compliance policy here in the preamble to the final rule, rather than in a separate guidance document.

FDA has considered the comments and data submitted in response to the compliance policy in the NPRM. Some comments expressed concern about the extended availability of newly deemed, new tobacco products without scientific review. Others provided additional data regarding youth and young adult use of flavored tobacco products. In addition, others comments discussed the potential public health benefits from the availability of certain flavored newly deemed products (as discussed in section VIII.F of this document). Taking the diverse comments on these issues, as well as the uncertainty regarding the positive or negative impact on public health from products like ENDS, into account, FDA has decided to implement the compliance policy with staggered initial compliance periods based on the expected complexity of the applications, followed by continued compliance periods for FDA review, such that our enforcement discretion will end twelve months after each initial compliance period. Under the policy described here for the staggered compliance periods, and while FDA is conducting its review of marketing applications during the continued compliance period, the Agency does not intend to take enforcement action against products remaining on the market for failure to have a premarket authorization order.

The compliance periods are staggered to improve efficiency for both FDA and regulated entities given that the time it takes to prepare premarket applications is dependent upon the type of application and complexity of the product. FDA intends to act as expeditiously as possible with respect to all new applications, while ensuring that statutory standards are met. Further, if at the time of the conclusion of the continued compliance period, the applicant has provided the needed information and review of a pending marketing application has made substantial progress toward completion, FDA may consider, on a case-by-case basis, whether to defer enforcement of the premarket authorization requirements for a reasonable time period.

FDA's revised compliance policy for premarket review aims to balance the public health concerns raised in the comments, allow the Agency to more efficiently manage the flow of incoming applications, and encourage high-quality premarket submissions from applicants.

In accordance with the Tobacco Control Act (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act), a new tobacco product may be legally marketed only if FDA has authorized its marketing under one of the three premarket pathways described throughout this document. ~~As~~ As a result of the compliance policy being announced, we expect that manufacturers of certain newly deemed, new tobacco products will continue to market their products without FDA authorization for certain time periods.

1. FDA's Revised Compliance Policy is Informed by Comments Submitted in Response to the NPRM

FDA received many comments responding to its detailed requests for comment on possible compliance approaches. 79 FR at 23175-77. Some comments expressed concern that the compliance policy for premarket review described in the NPRM would permit the continued marketing of tobacco products that have not been reviewed under the public health standards of the Tobacco Control Act. For example, comments jointly submitted by 24 health and medical organizations stated that the contemplated 24-month compliance period and indefinite period of continued marketing during FDA's review included in the NPRM would prolong the public's exposure to products that contain nicotine, a highly addictive substance, and that do not meet the statutory standard for the grant of a marketing order (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-79772.). They also stated that this approach would allow manufacturers to continue to market the newly deemed products in ways that appeal to youth and to manipulate the content of these products in uncontrolled ways for an indefinite period (id.). They urged FDA to forego its contemplated

compliance policy unless proper precautions are taken to limit the time period these products are allowed to remain on the market pending FDA review and authorization. In addition, they expressed concern that manufacturers, knowing that submission of an application will permit them to market products for years, have incentive to submit numerous applications (regardless of how incomplete or deficient the applications).

A network of tobacco control policy and legal specialists also expressed concern regarding the effect of continued marketing of new tobacco products that have not been reviewed under the applicable public health standards of the Tobacco Control Act (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-81044). This organization noted the thousands of provisional SE reports submitted in the last five days before the statutory deadline, where such applications pending FDA review are "being used as placeholders that will allow the tobacco industry to continue to introduce new products at will, rather than following the proper legal procedures established by the Tobacco Control Act." They proposed a staggered timeline to submit applications under the three marketing pathways and a definite time period in which FDA would no longer exercise enforcement discretion with respect to premarket review of these products, noting that such an approach would incentivize industry to generate high-quality, complete applications within the initial compliance period.

In addition, two large organizations dedicated to the health of youth and young adults urged FDA not to implement a compliance period of any length for products sold in characterizing flavors other than tobacco or any covered tobacco products that use marketing practices known to appeal to children and youth (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-67268; Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-79413.). Ranking minority members of the Energy and Commerce Committee, Health Subcommittee, and Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee, U.S. House

of Representatives also called for a more protective compliance period than the one contemplated in the NPRM, arguing that the proposed compliance period "puts the nation's youth at risk" (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-80119). These comments, among others, all stressed the attractiveness of these newly deemed tobacco products to youth and young adults and the need for a more restrictive compliance policy to ensure that FDA limits the continued marketing of new tobacco products that have not been reviewed under the public health standards of the Tobacco Control Act.

Further, in response to FDA's requests for comments and data in the proposed rule NPRM, numerous comments included data and research, and personal stories regarding the use/impact of candy and fruit flavors in tobacco products, including their appeal to youth and young adults, youth perceptions of flavored tobacco products, and their potential effect on cessation/transition from combusted tobacco product use (particularly, comments noted, in the case of adults using flavored e-liquids/ENDS to attempt to switch completely away from cigarette smoking), and youth perceptions of the safety of flavored tobacco products. Because of). In addition, many comments urged FDA to take immediate action regarding flavored tobacco products as a result of increasing prevalence of flavored product use, and new data show continued growth in youth and young adult usage of flavored tobacco products.

In deciding upon a compliance policy to announce with this final rule, FDA considered all these comments and sought to balance the Agency's concerns regarding the effect of flavored tobacco products on youth and young adult tobacco use, FDA is not extending the compliance policy for premarket review to flavored new (i.e., introduced or modified after the grandfathered date) tobacco products. concern about the continued marketing of new tobacco products that have not been reviewed by FDA, the potential harmful impact of flavored tobacco products on youth,

and the possibility that some of those products are playing a role in helping some tobacco users transition away from what is likely the most harmful form of nicotine delivery for an individual user, combusted tobacco products. FDA considered adopting the compliance policy as described in the preamble to the NPRM or a compliance policy that would provide different compliance periods for flavored and non-flavored tobacco products. FDA also considered providing different compliance periods for different product categories. For example, certain industry comments urged FDA to stagger compliance dates for different product categories, to delay compliance until FDA publishes a final guidance for each product category and to provide ENDS manufacturers a lengthier compliance period based on where they purport to fit within the risk continuum for nicotine-delivering products (e.g., Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-81859; Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-10852).

1. ~~Non-flavored and Tobacco-Flavored Products~~

To accommodate the interestsIn response to these comments, we note that nicotine use in any form is of particular concern for youth and pregnant women. On the other hand, some evidence suggests that ENDS may potentially promote transition away from combusted tobacco use among some current users and it is possible that there could be a public health benefit. See also section III.F of this document for additional discussion of premarket pathways and the continuum of nicotine-delivering products. Based on currently available scientific evidence, this revised compliance policy strikes an appropriate balance among various, often competing, considerations.

2. FDA Is Announcing a Revised Compliance Policy With Staggered Timeframes and Continued Compliance Periods

In the interest of public health and taking into account the fact that there are products already on the market that will now be subject to premarket review, and in light of the considerations discussed in section 1 above, we have established the following compliance policy for ~~non-flavored and tobacco-flavored~~newly deemed tobacco products. For those ~~non-flavored and tobacco-flavored~~newly deemed products that were on the market ~~as of~~on the effective date of this final rule, but that were not on the market ~~as of~~on February 15, 2007, FDA is providing two compliance periods: ~~o~~One for submission and FDA receipt of applications and one for obtaining premarket authorization. Although such products are subject to the premarket review requirements of the FD&C Act, FDA does not intend to initiate enforcement action for failure to have premarket authorization during the respective compliance periods.

The compliance period for submission and FDA receipt of applications for ~~non-flavored and~~newly deemed tobacco-~~flavored~~ products under the three premarket pathways is as follows:

SE Exemption Requests—~~12~~ 12 months from the effective date of this final rule

SE Reports—~~18~~ 18 months from the effective date of this final rule

PMTAs—~~24~~ 24 months from the effective date of this final rule-

FDA is adopting the staggered timelines in this policy to account for the possibility that applicants may need additional time to gather information for certain premarket submissions that may require larger amounts of additional data, ~~and to create a more manageable inflow of the receipt (and subsequent agency review) of premarket applications for newly deemed products.~~

For example, if a manufacturer plans to submit an SE Exemption Request, the firm may only need to identify the product, provide certification statements, and gather scientific information on the additive change itself and any supporting information demonstrating that the ~~additive~~ change to the product is minor and an SE Report is not necessary. This is ~~far~~ less information than that

~~likely~~ required for a PMTA ~~where, among other things, the manufacturer would need full reports. We expect this policy will also create a more manageable flow of information concerning investigations which have been made to show the health risks of the product and whether it presents less risk than other premarket applications for newly deemed products; a full statement of the components, ingredients, additives, and properties of the product and the principle or principles of operation; a full description of the methods used in and the facilities and controls used for the manufacture, processing, packing and installation; and specimens of the labeling proposed to be used. FDA expects that this staggering of deadlines also will benefit regulated industry, since it will allow for the product greater efficiency of FDA review and incentivize higher quality applications, which will reduce review times for all products.~~ New products for which no application has been submitted by 24 months from the effective date of this rule will no longer be subject to this compliance policy; and will be subject to enforcement.

Unless FDA has issued an order denying or refusing to accept the submission, products for which timely premarket submissions have been submitted will be subject to a continued compliance period for 12 months after the initial compliance period described ~~above previously.~~ For such products, FDA does not intend to initiate enforcement for failure to have premarket authorization during this continued compliance period, which is as follows:

SE Exemption Requests ~~---~~ 24 months from the effective date of this final rule (12 months after the compliance period for submission of such requests)

SE Reports ~~---~~ 30 months from the effective date of this final rule (12 months after the compliance period for submission of such reports)

~~PMTAs~~ ~~---~~ 36 months from the effective date of this final rule (12 months after the compliance period for submission of such requests).¹³

Once the continued compliance period ends, new tobacco products on the market without authorization will ~~no longer be subject to this compliance policy, and will~~ be subject to enforcement, ~~even if~~. FDA will act as expeditiously as possible with respect to all new applications, while ensuring that statutory standards are met. FDA expects that this revised compliance policy will encourage the review of the respective submission has not been completed. As with any such policy, FDA will review and revise this policy as appropriate. If FDA were to change this policy, of high quality applications. By providing a date in which the continued compliance period ends, manufacturers will have an incentive to submit a complete application and respond substantively and expeditiously to questions raised during the review process instead of an incomplete or deficient application just to stay on the market indefinitely. This staggered compliance policy also will provide FDA would do so consistent with its Good Guidance Practices regulations a more manageable flow of incoming applications to be reviewed, allowing the agency to more quickly make decisions on applications.

FDA believes the staggered compliance periods will be sufficient for manufacturers to provide high quality applications. To help provide clarity regarding submission requirements for marketing applications, FDA has issued several guidance documents, and is finalizing other guidance documents, regarding the evidence needed for SE reports, including FDA draft guidance entitled "Substantial Equivalence Reports: Manufacturer Requests for Extensions or to Change the Predicate Tobacco Product" (79 FR 41292, July 15, 2014), and FDA guidance

¹³ In addition, we note that any new tobacco product that was not on the market ~~as of on~~ the effective date of the rule (i.e., 90 days after the publication date) is not covered by this compliance policy and will be subject to enforcement ~~if marketed without authorization after the effective date.~~

entitled "Establishing That a Tobacco Product Was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007," among others. FDA also has issued a draft guidance entitled "Applications for Premarket Review of New Tobacco Products" (76 FR 60055, September 28, 2011). In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking on some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. If FDA determines that additional guidance is necessary to help manufacturers prepare marketing applications, FDA will issue additional guidance and publish a notice of availability in the Federal Register.

Further, if at the time of the conclusion of the continued compliance period, the applicant has provided the needed information and review of a pending marketing application has made substantial progress toward completion, FDA may consider, on a case-by-case basis, whether to defer enforcement of the premarket authorization requirements for a reasonable time period.

2. Flavored Tobacco Products

~~In accordance with the Tobacco Control Act (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act), a new tobacco product may be legally marketed only if FDA has authorized its marketing under one of the three premarket pathways described throughout this document. Given the attractiveness of flavors, especially to youth and young adults, and the impact flavored tobacco products may have on youth initiation, the Agency is not extending its compliance policy for premarket review to flavored new tobacco products. Retailers of flavored tobacco products will have an additional 90 days following the effective date of this rule to sell off any existing~~

~~inventory. Consequently, as of 180 days after publication of the rule, any non-grandfathered, newly deemed flavored tobacco products on the market will be subject to enforcement.¹⁴~~

~~Because, as a general matter, it is more likely that a tobacco product with a characterizing flavor would appeal to youth and young adults than a product without a characterizing flavor, FDA will consider, for purposes of deciding whether its premarket review compliance policy applies, a flavored product to be one that contains a characterizing flavor. Regarding what we mean by a “characterizing flavor,” we note that this term is also used in section 907(a)(1)(A) of the FD&C Act, although it is only defined in fairly general terms there. As with section 907(a)(1)(A), we consider menthol and tobacco flavor to be “characterizing flavors.”¹⁵ Some flavors noted by commenters as currently available are discussed in section V.B.4 of this document, and these would likely be characterizing flavors. Among the factors that FDA would consider in determining whether a product has characterizing flavor are: whether the manufacturer or retailer is representing, through product labeling, advertising, or other means that the product has a characterizing flavor; whether the product elicits a characterizing flavor sensory perception; or whether the product contains chemicals or additives that produce a characterizing flavor for the tobacco product. If needed, the agency will offer additional guidance on this compliance policy. If you have questions about an individual product, please contact CTP at 1-877-CTP-1373.~~

~~Newly deemed products with tobacco as a characterizing flavor are subject to FDA’s compliance policy for premarket review requirements but products with menthol as a~~

¹⁴~~However, as described throughout this section, tobacco flavored newly deemed products can utilize the compliance policy for premarket review requirements discussed in section V.A.1.~~

¹⁵~~We note that although section 907(a)(1)(A) includes tobacco and menthol as characterizing flavors, it does not include them in the cigarette flavor ban.~~

~~characterizing flavor are not. Unlike products with other characterizing flavors, tobacco-flavored products do not appear to be particularly attractive to youth and young adults compared to other adults. FDA expects that the tobacco flavor in a tobacco product need not be naturally inherent to the product in order for a manufacturer to fall within the compliance policy described here, but rather may result from the addition of ingredients or other measures by the manufacturer to result in the presence of tobacco as a characterizing flavor. However, menthol-flavored products will be treated the same as products with characterizing flavors other than tobacco for the purpose of this policy, because when it is used as a characterizing flavor, menthol has a similar impact on a product's appeal to youth and young adults as such other characterizing flavors. We note that newly deemed flavored tobacco products that are not grandfathered may still need to address the public health implications of any added flavors, including tobacco flavor, in their pre-market review submissions.~~

~~FDA recognizes that this will result in numerous flavored newly deemed products (that are not grandfathered) coming off the market within 180 days after the publication date of this final rule and that this will significantly impact the availability of flavored tobacco products at least in the short term. This rule and its associated compliance policies are not banning flavored newly deemed products; a manufacturer of a flavored newly deemed product can market the product after receiving marketing authorization or if the product is grandfathered. FDA suggests that such manufacturers review the Agency's final rule regarding exemptions from substantial equivalence requirements (76 FR 38961, codified at 21 CFR Parts 16 and 1107), and final guidance titled "Reports: Demonstrating Substantial Equivalence for Tobacco Products" and "Demonstrating the Substantial Equivalence of a New Tobacco Products: Responses to Frequently Asked Questions." FDA is also issuing a draft guidance (announced elsewhere in this~~

~~issue of the Federal Register) which, when final, will describe FDA’s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. While this last guidance focuses on ENDS products, FDA expects that this guidance, when finalized, will include general principles and perspectives that would apply to other newly deemed products as well.~~

~~B. Flavored Tobacco Products~~

~~—FDA asked many questions in the proposed rule preamble seeking comments and data regarding use of flavored newly deemed tobacco products. Based on the comments and emerging data regarding the impact of flavors on youth and young adult tobacco product initiation and long-term use, as well as concerns regarding the existence of toxic compounds in some tobacco product flavorings, FDA has decided not to include flavored tobacco products within the compliance policy for premarket review requirements.~~

~~1. Flavors Make Tobacco Products Easier To Use and Increase Their Appeal Among New Users~~

~~Flavors are added to tobacco products for numerous reasons, such as to ensure pleasant flavor and taste; to reduce the harshness, bitterness, and astringency of tobacco during inhalation; and to soothe irritation during product use (Ref. 141 at 535; 12 SG). FDA recognizes that natural and artificial flavoring generally composed of essential oils, spices, and herbs, and artificial chemical compounds are used as characterizing flavors in various tobacco products to ameliorate or intensify their sensory characteristics.~~

~~Flavoring also can make these products easier to use and increases their appeal among new users, most notably among young people (Ref. 9, Carpenter; Ref. 10, Cummings; Ref. 11, Manning). The 2012 Surgeon General’s Report indicated that tobacco manufacturers have~~

~~historically added flavoring to low free nicotine content products (i.e., those products that have lower amounts of nicotine easily absorbed by the user) intended for use as “starter products” for new users (Ref. 141, 12 SG). A study of flavored tobacco product sales also concluded: “Ever trying flavored tobacco products were strongly associated with current smoking among teens.” (Ref. 12B, Farley). As noted in comments, internal tobacco company studies confirmed that candy-like sweeter flavors increase appeal to starters by evoking a perception of mildness and masking the strong tobacco taste (Ref. 141A, Kapuler). Researchers also have confirmed that the chemical-specific flavor sensory cues associated with fruit flavors in candy are the same as those found in flavored tobacco products (Ref. 11A, Brown). In fact, researchers reviewed the flavor chemicals and levels in several brands of candy and Kool-Aid drink mix and concluded that the chemicals largely overlapped with similarly labeled “cherry,” “grape,” “apple,” “peach,” and “berry” tobacco products (Ref. 11A, Brown).~~

~~2. —Millions of Youth Use Flavored Tobacco Products~~

~~In 2014, according to the National Youth Tobacco Survey, an estimated 1.58 million middle and high school students reported using a flavored e-cigarette on one or more of the past 30 days, 1.02 million reported using flavored hookah tobacco, 910,000 reported using flavored cigars, and 120,000 users reported using flavored pipe tobacco (Ref. 16F, Corey). Among the PATH youth cohort in 2013-14, 88.7 percent of ever waterpipe tobacco users, 81 percent of ever e-cigarette users, and 65.4 percent of ever cigar smokers reported that their first product was flavored (Ref. 16E, Ambrose). Similarly, 79.8 percent of youth current tobacco users reported using a flavored tobacco product in the past 30 days, including 89 percent of waterpipe users,~~

~~85.3 percent of e-cigarette users, and 71.7 percent of cigar smokers (id.).¹⁶ Additionally, the availability of appealing flavors is a commonly cited reason for use among youth tobacco users. For example, 78.9 percent of current waterpipe tobacco user and 73.8 percent of current cigar smokers reported flavors as a reason for use (id.). Among current e-cigarette users, the availability of appealing flavors was the primary reason cited for use (81.5 percent) (id.).~~

~~3.——Dramatic Rise and Continued Youth and Young Adult Use of Tobacco Products That are Often Flavored~~

~~FDA has noted a dramatic rise in youth and young adult use of typically flavored tobacco products, like e-cigarettes and waterpipe tobacco, and continued youth and young adult use of cigars (mainly cigarillos and little cigars).~~

~~As discussed in the proposed rule, e-cigarettes are widely available in retail outlets such as kiosks in shopping malls and on the Internet and their online popularity has surpassed that of snus which has been on the market far longer than e-cigarettes (Ref. 1A, Gon 13; Ref. 1B, Ayers). Data from the National Youth Tobacco Survey (NYTS) illustrates that the percentage of U.S. middle and high school students who use e-cigarettes more than doubled from 2011 to 2012 (Ref. 76, CDC 6235). Among all students in grades 6 to 12, those that had ever used e-cigarettes increased from 3.3 to 6.8 percent and current e-cigarette use increased from 1.1 to 2.1 percent (id.). In 2012, among current e-cigarette users, 76.3 percent also reported current conventional cigarette smoking, likely illustrating that youth e-cigarette users are not using e-cigarettes as a method to quit smoking (id.). E-cigarette experimentation and recent use resulted in an estimated 1.78 million students having ever used the product as of 2012 (id.).~~

¹⁶ FDA notes that on the PATH youth baseline questionnaire, “current users” are those individuals that reported tobacco product use within the previous 30-day period. “Ever users” are those individuals that reported ever trying the tobacco product, even once or twice.

The information discussed in the proposed rule and in comments are consistent with more recent studies showing a dramatic rise in the use of ENDS products. CDC and FDA analyzed data from the 2011–2014 National Youth Tobacco Surveys (NYTS) (Ref. 1D, Arrazola 15) and found that current e-cigarette use among high school students increased nearly 800 percent between 2011 and 2014 (id.). In 2014, a total of 24.6 percent of high school students reported current use of a tobacco product (id.). Among all high school students, e-cigarettes (13.4 percent) were the most common tobacco products used (id.). This increase is not limited to an isolated demographic group; e-cigarettes were the most commonly used product among high school non-Hispanic whites, Hispanics, and persons of non-Hispanic other races (id.). E-cigarettes (3.9 percent) were also the tobacco product used most commonly by middle school students (id.). From 2011 to 2014, statistically significant nonlinear increases were observed among high school students for current e-cigarette use (1.5 percent to 13.4 percent) (id.). Among middle school students, statistically significant increases were observed from 2011 to 2014 (id.). In 2014, an estimated 4.6 million middle and high school students currently used any tobacco product, of which an estimated 2.2 million students currently used more than two tobacco products. Of current tobacco users, 2.4 million used e-cigarettes (id.). These figures are particularly concerning given the attractiveness of flavored e-cigarettes to youth and young adults and the potential for youth e-cigarette users to move on to the use of combustible tobacco products. As additional confirmation of the basis for this concern, a recently published study found that ninth grade students who reported having ever used e-cigarettes at the baseline assessment were approximately 2.7 times more likely than non e-cigarette users to have started smoking combusted tobacco products (cigarettes, cigars, waterpipe tobacco) and 1.7 times more likely to have started smoking conventional cigarettes 6 to 12 months later (Ref. 1E, Leventhal).

~~Researchers noted that some teens are more likely to use e-cigarettes prior to combustible tobacco products for several reasons including the availability of e-cigarettes in flavors attractive to youth (Ref. 1E, Leventhal).~~

~~The data from the 2011 through 2014 NYTS also show that high school students' use of waterpipe tobacco, another tobacco product that is attractive to youth and young adults due to its wide variety of fruit and candy flavors, more than doubled during this time period. In fact, researchers observed substantial increases in waterpipe tobacco use among both middle and high school students from 2011 through 2014 culminating in an estimated 1.6 million waterpipe tobacco youth users in 2014 (id.). From 2013 to 2014, prevalence almost doubled for high school students from 5.2 percent (770,000) to 9.4 percent (1.3 million) and more than doubled for middle school students from 1.1 percent (120,000) to 2.5 percent (280,000) (id.). This is consistent with data included in the comments stating that waterpipe tobacco use continues to increase in popularity, particularly among college students, with as many as 40 percent reporting ever using waterpipe tobacco and 20 percent reporting current use (i.e., use within the past 30 days) on some college campuses (Ref. 189, Sutfin; 190, Eissenberg).~~

~~Likewise, youth continue to use cigars, particularly flavored cigars. Youth and young adults appear to be particularly interested in cigarillos and little cigars, in part because they are available in flavors (Ref. 54, Corey King; Ref. 240, OIG; Ref. 70, Soldz). Recent research indicates that the proportion of the cigar market that is flavored has continued to rise since 2011 and, in 2014, flavored cigars accounted for more than half of all cigar sales (53.3 percent), with fruit (20.9 percent), sweet or candy (12.8 percent) and wine (9 percent) being the most popular flavor types (Ref. 70B, Viola). Data from the 2014 NYTS indicate that 8.2 percent (1,200,000) of high school students and 1.9 percent (220,000) middle school students had smoked cigars~~

~~(including cigars, cigarillos, or little cigars) in the past 30 days (Ref. 10, Arrazola). In 2014, two-thirds of youth cigar smokers (910,000) reported using a flavored cigar in the past 30 days (Ref. 10A, Neff). This is consistent with results from the 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH), which indicate that youth prefer cigar brands that are more likely to be flavored, compared with adults (Ref. 16, Delnevo). Moreover, researchers assessing studies designed to measure cigar use have shown a significant increase in cigar prevalence when the studies referenced examples of little cigar and cigarillo brands, which are often flavored, supporting the idea that estimates of cigar use in surveys may significantly underestimate actual use. For example, when the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance (YRBS) was initially administered, the local rates of cigar and cigarette use were consistent with national rates (Ref. 67, Terehek). Researchers then readministered the YRBS to six Midwestern high schools and included a popular little cigar brand name to the item measuring cigar use (Ref. 67, Terehek). When the cigar question was modified to include a brand-specific example, the percentage of students reporting cigar use nearly doubled—jumping from 12.9 percent of high school students to 20.7 percent (Ref. 67, Terehek). This data illustrates that the number of youths and young adults who use cigars (including cigars with a “characterizing flavor”) is likely even higher than indicated in previous data. More than one in five students (20.4 percent) participating in the Monitoring the Future study also reported smoking small or little cigars (although that figure is down from 23.1 percent in 2010, which may be due to misidentification of them as cigarettes) (Ref. 70A, 14 MTF).~~

~~Existing data also show that youth and young and adults are using menthol flavored products, along with other flavored products. For example, in one survey of 953 middle school and high school students who had used e-cigarettes during their lifetime, 71 percent reported~~

having tried sweet flavors and 22.1 percent reported having tried menthol flavored e-cigarettes (Ref. 23, Krishnan). Moreover, cigarette data also confirms the appeal of menthol to youth. Younger populations have the highest rate of smoking menthol cigarettes, and studies looking at the differences in prevalence rates, age of first cigarette, and progression to regular smoking show a greater use of menthol in younger smokers and declines in use with age from adolescent to young adults to adults (Ref. 23E, Report citing, e.g., Ref. 23F, Fernander; Ref. 23G, Hersey 2006). In fact, data analyzed from the 2006 National Youth Tobacco Survey revealed that among youth smokers who reported a usual brand, 51.7 percent of middle school smokers and 43.1 percent of high school smokers consistently reported that their usual brand was menthol (Ref. 23E, Report, citing Ref. 23H, Hersey 2010). Menthol in cigarettes also is likely associated with increased dependence, with consistent findings showing that menthol smokers are more likely to smoke their first cigarette within five minutes of waking (a well-established measure of dependence), and are less likely to successfully quit smoking (id.; citing, e.g., Ref. 23I, Nonnemaker 2013).

Focus group data also has suggested that removing flavors from tobacco products may reduce young adults' intentions to try these products and subsequently use them (Ref. 13, Choi). For example, researchers have found that among cigar smokers (in middle and high school), those who use flavored little cigars generally have a lower intent to quit than users of non-flavored tobacco products, which is consistent with evidence showing increased tobacco dependence among menthol smokers (Ref. 19, King). Similarly, a study of youth and young adults found that flavored tobacco use facilitates nicotine dependence among young smokers, despite low smoking frequency (Ref. 15A, Huh).

~~4. Youth and Young Adult Tobacco Users are More Likely to Use Flavored Tobacco Products Than Adult Tobacco Users~~

~~Many comments provided data and information regarding youth and young adult use of flavored tobacco products in recent years, including examples of the different flavors used in many of the newly deemed products including:~~

- ~~• Cigar products: Strawberry, Blueberry, Grape, Peach, Cherry, Cream, Vanilla, Chocolate, Honey, Mango, Piña Colada, Tequila, Rum, Sour Apple, Watermelon~~
- ~~• Waterpipe tobacco products: Chocolate, Cherry, Champagne, Cinnamon, Clove, Grape, Mango, Lemonade, Piña Colada, Pineapple, Watermelon, Raspberry, Cola, Irish Cream, Key Lime Pie, Peach, Root Beer, Hazelnut, Butter Scotch, Chai~~
- ~~• E-cigarette products: Peppermint Party, Piña Colada, Very Vanilla, Cherry Crush, Peach Passion, Bazooka Joe Bubble Gum, Cotton Candy, Mojito, Chocolate, Mango, Strawberry, Gummy Bear, Peanut Butter~~

~~Researchers have concluded that flavored products are likely to influence patterns of tobacco use, particularly among youth and young adults (Ref. 12, Villanti). For example, the American Legacy Foundation’s Young Adult Cohort Study reported that 18.5 percent of young adults (aged 18-25) in a national sample were currently using a flavored tobacco product, and the prevalence of flavored brand tobacco use when examined by product type was most common for waterpipes (59 percent). Waterpipe tobacco smoking is becoming more popular among youth and young adults, and it is believed that the waterpipe smoking experience (i.e., less physically harsh and easier to inhale compared to cigarette smoke) coupled with the appeal of flavored tobacco are some of the reasons for the growing popularity of waterpipe tobacco (Ref. 14, Primaack). After waterpipe tobacco, the prevalence of flavored brand use was followed closely~~

~~pipes (50 percent) and little cigars, cigarillos, and bidis (47 percent) (id.). The prevalence of flavored brand tobacco use was reported as 20 percent for cigars, while 17 percent of young adults reported using flavored e-cigarette brands (id.).~~

~~Researchers also have concluded that youth and young adults are more likely to use little cigars and cigarillos that have flavors (Ref. 12, Villanti) and are more likely to use such products than adults. For example, an analysis of the 2009–2010 National Adult Tobacco Survey found that flavored cigar use decreases with increasing age, with 9.1 percent of respondents aged 18–24 using flavored cigars and cigarillos, and only 1.4 percent of adults aged 45–64 using flavored cigars and cigarillos (Ref. 12A King). The CDC also has found the prevalence of flavored cigar use among cigar smokers decreases with increasing age, with 57.1 percent of 18–24 year old cigar smokers reporting use of flavored cigars in comparison to 43.2 percent of cigar smokers age 25–44, 28.9 percent of cigar smokers age 45–64, and 13.4 percent of cigar smokers over age 65 (Ref. 16A, King).~~

~~Data from the 2010 and 2011 NSDUH also illustrates this flavor preference for youth and young adults. Black & Mild, a brand which includes both flavored and non-flavored cigars and is well known for its flavored little cigars (including cherry and vanilla), was the most popular cigar brand among 12 to 17 year olds participating in these national surveys (Ref. 21, SAMHSA 2010; Ref. 22, SAMHSA 2011). The two other top youth cigar brands, Phillies (available in flavored and nonflavored varieties) and Swisher Sweets, come in flavors such as grape, sweet chocolate and strawberry (Ref. 21, SAMHSA 2010; Ref. 22, SAMHSA 2011). Additionally, reporting usual use of a brand that makes flavored cigars decreased significantly with age in this survey, with 95 percent of 12 to 17 year olds reporting a usual brand that makes flavored cigars compared with 63.2 percent of cigar smokers aged 35 years and older (Ref. 16, Delnevo).~~

~~Results from the 2009–2010 National Adult Tobacco Survey (NATS) also indicated that prevalence of flavored cigar use was highest among 18 to 24 year olds compared to all other adult age groups (Ref. 15, King, 2012). The Surgeon General has noted that, with one exception, the top cigar brands preferred by adolescents and young adults “include various flavorings, such as peach, grape, apple, and chocolate” (Ref. 141 at 164, 12 SG). Given that cigar smoking was the second most common form of tobacco use among youth in 2013, with 11.9 percent of high school students reporting smoking cigars in the past 30 days (Ref. 20, Arrazola), FDA remains concerned about the impact of these flavored products on youth initiation and use.~~

~~Further, e-cigarettes are available in numerous flavors including candy, fruit, peach schnapps, bubblegum, and cola (Ref. 23A, ACS; Ref. 23B, AAP), all of which may be particularly attractive to youth and young adults. Following the release of research from the 2011 and 2012 National Youth Tobacco Survey noting the increased prevalence of e-cigarette use in middle school and high school students, students have been quoted as noting that classmates use e-cigarettes and prefer flavors like gummy bears “because it tastes really good” (79 FR 23142 at 23157; Ref. 23C, Bolario). A focus group study conducted with young adults (18–26 years old) on new tobacco products (e-cigarettes, snus, dissolvable tobacco products) found that participants generally reported positive perceptions of the new products, particularly because they came in flavors (Ref. 13, Choi).~~

~~Recent data, as well as studies included with comments, illustrate that youth are particularly attracted to flavored ENDS products. As a result, one tobacco company's website acknowledges that youth like flavors when it states, “kids may be particularly vulnerable to trying e-cigarettes due to an abundance of fun flavors such as cherry, vanilla, piña colada and berry” (Ref. 16D, Lorillard). According to 2014 NYTS data, 5.9 percent of U.S. middle and high~~

~~school students reported using flavored e-cigarettes in the past 30 days (citation pending). Preliminary data from the national Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health (PATH) Study also demonstrate the popularity of flavored e-cigarettes among youth. Researchers found that 85.3 percent of youth aged 12 to 17 who used e-cigarettes in the past 30 days reported using flavored e-cigarettes (e.g., menthol, mint, clove, spice, candy, fruit, chocolate, wine, cognac, or other flavors) (Ref. 16E, Ambrose). Moreover, of those youth reporting having ever used an e-cigarette, 81 percent reported that their first e-cigarette was flavored (id.). This data also shows that 81.5 percent of current e-cigarette users (defined as those who used an e-cigarette in the past 30 days) stated that they used e-cigarettes because it “comes in flavors I like” (id.).~~

~~Results from small cross-sectional studies also suggest that flavored e-cigarette use is popular among youth. Several comments included a study that was under review for a peer-reviewed publication and has since published. In this survey conducted in four high schools and three middle schools in Connecticut in 2013, 25.2 percent of high school students reported trying e-cigarettes in their lifetime and 12 percent reported using e-cigarettes in the past 30 days, while among middle school students, 3.5 percent reported trying e-cigarettes in their lifetime and 1.5 percent reported using e-cigarettes in the past 30 days (Ref. 23, Krishnan). Among the 953 lifetime e-cigarette users interviewed, 71 percent reported having tried sweet flavors, and 22.1 percent reported having tried menthol flavored e-cigarettes. In terms of preferred flavors, 56.8 percent reported preferring sweet flavors, while 8.7 percent preferred menthol e-cigarettes (Ref. 23, Krishnan).~~

~~5. Some Chemical Flavorings in Newly Deemed Products Contain Toxic Compounds~~

~~Many comments expressed concern about the toxicity of diacetyl and other components used to impart flavorings in e-liquids. These chemicals can be dangerous to those exposed~~

through inhalation and some are, therefore, subject to workplace limits. Several more recent studies examine the potential dangers of these chemical flavorings to consumers when inhaled. For example, researchers in one study tested 159 e-liquids with sweet flavors, such as toffee, chocolate, and caramel, and found that almost three-quarters of the samples (74 percent) contained diacetyl or acetyl propionyl (Ref. 89A, Farsalinos), both of which pose known inhalation risks (Ref. 89D, DOL). ~~Among those that tested positive, nearly half of the e-liquids in the study could expose users to levels that exceed recommended workplace limits for breathing these chemicals (Ref. 89A, Farsalinos).~~ Another study analyzed thirty e-cigarette liquids and found that many flavors, including cotton candy and bubble gum, contained aldehydes, a class of chemicals that can cause respiratory irritation, airway constriction, and other effects (Ref. 89B, Tierney). Specifically, researchers noted that two flavors, a dark chocolate and a wild cherry, would expose e-cigarette users to more than twice the recommended workplace safety limit for the aldehydes vanillin and benzaldehyde (id.) Similarly, researchers found that several cinnamon-flavored e-liquids contained a chemical, cinnamaldehyde, which researchers stated was highly toxic to human cells in laboratory tests (Ref. 89C, Behar). While some studies have found that lower levels of some toxicants are observed in e-cigarette aerosols than in combusted tobacco smoke (Ref. 87, Gon 13), evidence of toxicants in ENDS remains concerning. The potential dangers associated with chemical flavorings in newly deemed tobacco products provides additional supporting evidence not to extend the premarket review compliance policy to such products.

~~6. Comments Relating to Restrictions on Flavored Tobacco Products~~

~~(Comment) Some comments referred to the difficulty in defining “characterizing flavor” in the context of instituting a ban on flavored newly deemed tobacco products.~~

~~(Response) Although FDA is not banning flavored tobacco products with this final deeming rule, FDA has identified factors that, among others, would be considered to determine whether a “characterizing flavor” is present for purposes of this compliance policy. In addition, FDA plans to issue a proposed product standard to prohibit the use of characterizing flavors in cigars pursuant to section 907 of the FD&C Act, which would be done through a separate rulemaking, with notice and opportunity for comment.~~

~~(Comment) Some comments stated that the rule should not include any restrictions on flavored tobacco products. These comments generally relied on a research article which found that most e-cigarette users switched between flavors on a daily basis or within the day, with former smokers switching more frequently, and that respondents indicated that flavor variety was “very important” in reducing or quitting smoking (Ref. 23D, Farsalinos). This survey also noted that almost half of respondents indicated that a reduction in available flavors would “increase craving[s] for tobacco cigarettes and would make reducing or completely substituting smoking less likely” (Id.). Therefore, they believed that FDA should not sacrifice adults’ use of flavored tobacco products in an attempt to prevent children from using flavored tobacco products. These comments also noted that flavors are used in other legally marketed products including NRTs.~~

~~(Response) As discussed in section VIII.F of this document, while we recognize that there is evidence individual smokers might switch to ENDS, the evidence is thus far largely anecdotal. The study referred to in the comments (Ref. 23D, Farsalinos) did not address the question of whether study participants would have increased cigarette use if there were no available flavored ENDS or if the variety of flavored ENDS were limited. In addition, if there were meaningful evidence that flavored ENDS actually make it more likely that smokers switch completely to ENDS, such evidence submitted as part of a PMTA would help support that~~

~~application, as part of the analysis of whether the marketing of the product is appropriate for the protection of public health.~~

~~Furthermore, FDA is not including any specific restrictions in this final deeming rule regarding flavored tobacco products nor is it including a ban on flavored tobacco products. FDA has, however, decided to revise its proposed compliance policy for premarket review requirements so that it does not apply to products with characterizing flavors other than tobacco, as discussed in subsection A. Flavored, newly deemed tobacco products will still be able to be marketed if they are grandfathered or if they receive premarket authorization.~~

~~C. Responses to Comments Regarding Compliance Periods for Premarket Review Requirements~~

~~(Comment [60](#)) FDA received many comments suggesting that we change the [proposed](#) compliance period for submitting marketing applications. Some comments suggested that the compliance period should be 24 months from the date FDA either announces its intent to no longer exercise enforcement discretion regarding premarket requirements or issues product-specific guidance on the preparation of PMTAs and the submission of HPHC testing results. They suggested that the issuance of the guidance documents be based upon the continuum of risk presented by nicotine-delivering products. Other comments suggested that we extend the PMTA compliance period to 5 years following the effective date of the final rule to give manufacturers sufficient time to complete the required testing.~~

~~(Response) FDA has already published for public comment draft guidance for industry regarding the submission of PMTAs, which when final will represent FDA's current thinking on this topic. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some~~

appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. FDA is committed to helping industry better understand the tobacco product premarket review process and will continue to hold public ~~w~~Webinars and meetings with industry.— FDA has also published guidance on meetings with industry, and FDA has had many productive meetings to address companies' specific questions on the development of tobacco products.— As FDA reviews product applications for currently regulated and newly deemed categories of products, we intend to identify topics for which rulemaking or more product specific guidance is appropriate.

— Moreover, along with finalizing this rule, FDA is setting forth ~~a two~~an initial 2- year compliance period for the submission of a PMTA for ~~non-flavored and~~newly deemed, new tobacco ~~flavored~~ products, followed by a continued compliance period of up to 12 months for FDA to review the application. FDA believes that this will give sufficient time for manufacturers of such products to prepare high quality applications ~~addressing the requirements in the statute.~~ FDA's, and for FDA to review new applications as expeditiously as possible, while ensuring that the statutory standards are met. FDA's compliance policy is further described in section V.A of this document.

— (Comment 61) Comments were split as to whether the ~~proposed~~NPRM's contemplated premarket review compliance timeframes (i.e., 24 months for manufacturers to submit and for FDA to receive a marketing application) should apply to manufacturers of newly deemed products. While many industry comments sought additional time to comply with these requirements, many other comments suggested that the reason Congress delayed application of certain requirements to the currently regulated products (e.g., cigarettes and smokeless tobacco) was to account for the creation, staffing, and training for a new FDA center. In addition, they

stated that manufacturers of the newly deemed products cannot argue that they did not have adequate notice that they would need to comply with premarket requirements given that the Unified Agenda entry for the deeming proposal published on July 7, 2011, and was continually updated in subsequent Unified Agenda entries. They argued that establishing similar timeframes for the newly deemed products only benefits industry and is detrimental to the public health.

——(Response) FDA has considered these comments and concludes that the staggered compliance periods included with this final rule are sufficient to allow manufacturers of previously unregulated ~~non-flavored and tobacco-flavored~~ products to submit applications without unduly delaying compliance. ~~With regard to newly deemed flavored tobacco products (except tobacco flavored), FDA is not extending the compliance policy for such products to comply with premarket review requirements given the attractiveness of flavored tobacco products to youth and young adults. See sections V.A and B of As stated elsewhere in this document explaining, FDA has taken several steps to provide helpful feedback to industry to encourage more complete, streamlined submissions and reviews, including: (1) Encouraging teleconferences between the assigned regulatory health project manager and the applicant; (2) streamlining the basis for FDA's compliance policy for SE report review process by modifying the preliminary review so that it focuses only on administrative issues and allowing submission of marketing deficiencies to be communicated to the applicant more quickly; (3) providing information on FDA's Web site about the three pathways available to market products (including SE) and developing public Webinars to explain the Agency's processes; and (4) publishing guidance documents. FDA intends to act as expeditiously as possible with respect to all new applications, ensuring that statutory standards are met.~~

——(Comment [62](#)) One comment suggested FDA allow for submission of a confidential e-cigarette product report in order to satisfy premarket review requirements.

Similarly, another comment encouraged FDA to establish a "Tobacco Product Master File" (TPMF) system similar to the Agency's Drug Master File (DMF) and Food Additive Master File (FAMF) systems to allow for e-cigarette/personal vaporizer and e-liquid suppliers to submit confidential product information (including information on formulations, facilities, processes, and articles used in the manufacturing, processing, packaging, and storing of ingredients used).

——(Response) FDA does allow for the submission and use of information to be incorporated by reference similar to master file programs for other FDA-regulated products. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available a final guidance to provide information on how to establish and reference a TPMF. TPMFs are expected to help applicants of newly deemed products prepare premarket and other regulatory submissions because they can reference information in TPMFs rather than develop the information on their own.

Such a system would be especially helpful in the area of newly deemed tobacco products. Because of the nature of upstream supply of many components for ENDS products, especially e-liquids, FDA anticipates that commercial incentives will be sufficient to drive manufacturer reliance on the system of master files. We note that, at present, FDA understands that, based on publically available information, the number of entities produceingengaged in upstream production of liquid nicotine and flavors specifically developed for use in ENDSwith e-liquids is very small, and the number is larger but still small for e-liquid flavors-range of seven to thirteen entities (see earlier discussion in response to comment 34). Given the nature of the marketplace,

FDA expects that the master file system will be widely appealing and widely utilized by the ENDS industry.

——(Comment [63](#)) At least one comment stated that FDA should prioritize review of applications for products currently on the market over those seeking to enter the market and that FDA should establish clear review deadlines. Another comment suggested that priority should be given to those products whose marketing is unlikely to be seen by youth or is limited to existing adult users of the product.

——(Response) During the initial implementation of the Tobacco Control Act, FDA received a large number of applications for currently marketed tobacco products. For these provisional products being reviewed through the SE pathway, in order to appropriately prioritize review, FDA performed a public health impact evaluation of the product's potential to raise different questions of public health. Currently marketed products with the highest potential to raise different questions of public health were placed in the tier to be reviewed first. If appropriate, FDA may consider using a prioritization method for newly deemed products.

FDA understands the value of establishing timelines for review of applications. For products not on the market ~~as of~~ on the effective date, FDA intends to establish review performance goals in the future as it did with currently regulated products.

——(Comment [64](#)) Some comments suggested that FDA continue to employ measures to ensure that completed SE reports and PMTAs are ~~filed~~ submitted as expeditiously as possible during the compliance period. They noted that FDA currently employs a "refuse-to-accept" policy for SE applications that allows FDA to make a threshold determination as to whether an SE application is sufficiently complete for the Agency to review. They stated that

this policy will help to ensure that manufacturers of the newly deemed products do not try to unduly extend the time that products are marketed without FDA review of their applications.

——(Response) FDA agrees. FDA plans to take all reasonable measures to ensure that applications are reviewed in a timely manner. FDA intends to continue employing its “refuse-to-accept” policy for SE Reports and other marketing applications (including SE Exemption Requests and PMTAs).

——(Comment 65) Many comments suggested that FDA should develop a product category specific framework for submission of PMTAs in light of the large number of products for which PMTAs will be required, the size and cost of PMTAs, and FDA’s available resources. The comments suggested that the compliance period should be based on the date FDA issues a category specific guidance document. The comments stated that, without category specific guidance, the PMTA process will effectively eliminate certain tobacco product categories, including the premium cigar industry. These comments asserted that it was Congress’ intent to treat categories of tobacco products differently, as shown by the provisions banning flavored cigarettes, providing special considerations regarding menthol, establishing MRTP provisions, and creating baseline standards under [sections](#) 910 and 907.

~~(Response) As stated previously, the statute specifies the premarket pathways for tobacco products. ——(Response) As stated previously, the statute specifies the premarket pathways for tobacco products.~~ Congress subjected all new tobacco products to the same premarket review requirements in [sections](#) 905 and 910. [FDA has taken many steps to reduce and prevent backlogs of marketing applications pending FDA review and intends to act as expeditiously as possible with respect to all new applications, while ensuring that statutory standards are met.](#)

Elsewhere in this issue of the [Federal Register](#), FDA has made available draft guidance, which

when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products. FDA may issue additional category specific guidance as appropriate. FDA is committed to helping industry better understand the tobacco product premarket review process and will continue to hold public ~~w~~Webinars and meetings with industry. In the category of cigars, and for premium cigars in particular, we expect that some products will remain on the market due to their status as grandfathered products, and that others will be able to make use of the SE pathway.

——(Comment [66](#)) While many comments stated that they needed additional time to comply with premarketing requirements, many other comments stated that the ~~proposed 2-year compliance period was too long. They contemplated 2-year compliance period was too long. For example, comments jointly submitted by 24 health and medical organizations stating that the contemplated 24-month compliance period included in the NPRM would prolong the public's exposure to products that contain nicotine, a highly addictive substance, and that, in their view, do not meet the statutory standard for the grant of a marketing order (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-79772.).~~ They stated that it would allow manufacturers to continue to market the newly deemed products in ways that appeal to youth and to manipulate the content of these products in uncontrolled ways for an indefinite period (id.). These comments also argued that a 2-year compliance period will result in large numbers of adolescents experimenting with newly deemed products and becoming established e-cigarette ~~u~~smokers or users of other tobacco products. Some suggested that FDA reduce the compliance period to 6 months or 12 months and others suggested different compliance periods for SE reports, SE exemption requests, and PMTAs. One comment stated that FDA's burden estimates show that the PMTA process should take 18 months, so the compliance period should not extend beyond 18 months. Alternatively, other

comments stated that there should not be any compliance period for products because the PMTA process was created to provide a higher scrutiny of review for new products with unknown health risks and a compliance period is contrary to this purpose. They also stated that a compliance period would allow the industry to flood the market place with products and manufacturers would not have an incentive to quickly develop high-quality applications. In addition, some comments suggested that FDA should not provide a compliance period for combusted products, such as pipe tobacco or cigars, because there is no parallel provision in the current statute for such products.

Some comments also suggested that manufacturers that sell flavored tobacco products or that market tobacco products to children should not be afforded any compliance period to satisfy the premarket review requirements of the FD&C Act (79 FR at 23176). For example, two large organizations dedicated to the health of youth and young adults urged FDA not to grant a compliance period of any length for products sold in characterizing flavors other than tobacco or any covered tobacco products that use marketing practices known to appeal to children and youth (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-67268; Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-79413.).

Many comments also stated that manufacturers should not be able to avail themselves of the compliance period unless they agree to restrict their marketing to adults. However, some comments expressed concern as to how such a restriction could be administered in accordance with the First Amendment. In addition, Ranking minority members of the Energy and Commerce Committee, Health Subcommittee, and Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee, U.S. House of Representatives called for a more protective compliance period than the one contemplated in the NPRM, arguing that a 24-month compliance period "puts the nation's youth at risk" (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-80119).

——(Response) Once this rule takes effect, it will be illegal to sell these tobacco products to anyone under the age of 18. -This final deeming rule is foundational, affording FDA with the authority to issue other regulations restricting sales and distribution, including advertising and promotion, under section 906(d).

FDA struck a balance by revising the initial compliance period for SE exemption requests and SE reports to 12 and 18 months, respectively, and is setting forth a ~~two~~2-year compliance period for manufacturers of newly deemed ~~non-flavored and, new~~ tobacco ~~flavored~~ products to submit (and FDA to receive) a PMTA. FDA believes that these time ~~period is~~periods are sufficient for manufacturers to prepare high quality applications addressing the requirements in the statute.

FDA has given extensive consideration to having different compliance periods for flavored and non-flavored products. There is some evidence suggesting that flavored products pose a greater public-health risk than non-flavored products. FDA understands that the appeal of flavors and use of flavored tobacco products have an important role in the initiation and continued use of tobacco products, and in the health risks associated with use of these products. Many comments and studies provided data and information regarding youth and young adult use of flavored tobacco products in recent years. (E.g., Refs. 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56). And flavors appear to encourage greater use. (E.g., Ref. 57; Refs. 58, 59). The availability of appealing flavors is a commonly cited reason for use of non-combusted products among young tobacco users. (E.g., Refs. 60, 61)

However, several considerations weigh against a shorter compliance period for flavored products. There are potential countervailing health concerns. At least some flavored combusted products (which are of particular concern because they are known to present similar risks to

cigarettes and are youth appealing) are likely to be “grandfathered” and, therefore, would remain on the market regardless of the compliance period or enforcement policy for newly deemed, noncombusted flavored products. And, in any event, comments suggested that the availability of flavors in non-combusted tobacco products, such as ENDS, are appealing to current smokers of combusted products and may entice smokers to consider switching to e-cigarettes. (e.g., Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-75088; Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-79096). And FDA is aware of emerging self-reports from current and former cigarette smokers supporting this claim. (See Refs. 62, 63.) Section VIII.F below discusses the preliminary evidence available to date regarding effectiveness of ENDS to help smokers transition from, or reduce their consumption of, combusted tobacco products. But at least some think that flavor variety is very important. (See, e.g., Ref. 63). More research, especially longitudinal research, is needed to understand how flavoring impacts tobacco use over time (Ref. 64).

Finally, as with other tobacco products that will be regulated under this rule, FDA is cognizant of the transition that will be required for regulated entities. Several comments expressed concern that even the proposed 24-month compliance period was not sufficient to submit complete applications for all of their products. For example, one comment noted that most of the e-cigarette market "are small and medium-sized businesses owned and operated by individuals and families [and] most, if not all of these smaller enterprises lack the resources to tackle such a high administrative burden" associated with submitting multiple PMTAs within the time period (Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-80496). Several comments also expressed concern that the 24-month proposed compliance period would benefit larger companies with more resources to complete product applications at the expense of small and mid-size companies

(e.g., Comment No. FDA-2014-N-0189-76162). FDA notes that a shorter period would have an even greater impact on these businesses.

In light of these considerations, FDA believes that a two-year compliance period for flavored products, as with other tobacco products, represents the exercise of its enforcement discretion in a way that strikes an appropriate balance between providing industry time to transition and protecting the public health. Over time, FDA expects to see additional data on the role of certain flavored products in supporting reduction in or abstinence from the use of combusted products, as well as further data on the role of flavored products in youth initiation, use, and dual use. Such data will help inform FDA’s regulation of, and product standards for, these and other tobacco products.

In developing this compliance period, FDA balanced three important public health considerations: concern about the extended availability of newly deemed, new tobacco products without scientific review; concern about flavored products’ youth appeal; and preliminary data that some individuals may potentially use such products to transition away from combusted tobacco use. Taking these factors into account, and based on currently available scientific evidence, FDA determined that the compliance periods described in Section V.A. strikes an appropriate balance to protect public health. FDA is establishing staggered compliance periods based on the expected complexity of the applications and continued compliance periods for FDA review such that our exercise of enforcement discretion will end twelve months after each initial compliance period. In addition, FDA is announcing that it intends in the future to issue a proposed product standard that would, if finalized, eliminate characterizing flavors in all cigars including cigarillos and little cigars.

Elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products.

~~However,~~ FDA recognizes that flavored e-liquids are especially attractive to youth and young adults. Attractiveness to youth and young adults is an important factor in evaluating whether the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

~~Based on~~ Manufacturers should provide information on ~~the comments~~ possible toxicity, addictiveness, and ~~emerging data regarding appeal of~~ flavored tobacco products, ~~FDA has decided not to extend its compliance policy for~~ with their premarket review ~~to such products.~~ applications.

VI. Components, Parts, and Accessories

In the preamble to the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM, we asked for comments, including supporting facts, research, and other evidence, regarding FDA's proposal to include components and parts of the newly deemed products (but not accessories) under the scope of this rule. We also asked for comments as to whether FDA should define components and parts of tobacco products and how those items might be distinguished from accessories (79 FR 23142 at 23152 and 23153). After reviewing the comments, FDA is finalizing this rule to include components and parts of the newly deemed products (but excluding accessories of such products) within the scope of this rule. FDA is also explaining its current compliance policy with respect to components and parts and certain requirements that will become effective with this deeming rule.

A. Definitions

In response to comments, FDA is including definitions of "accessory" and "component or part" in parts 1100, 1140, and 1143. As stated in this final rule, an

“accessory” means any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following:

- (1) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product, or
- (2) Is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but (i) solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored product; or (ii) solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product.

FDA has structured paragraph (2)(ii) to ensure that coils and charcoal are not encompassed by the definition of “accessory.”

“Composition” as used in this definition, means the manner in which the materials, including, for example, ingredients, additives, and biological organisms, are arranged and integrated. Examples of accessories are ashtrays, spittoons, hookah tongs, cigar clips and stands, and pipe pouches, because they do not contain tobacco and are not derived from tobacco and do not affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product. Accessory examples also include humidors that solely control the moisture and/or temperature of a stored product and a burner that solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product. As stated in the [proposed rule NPRM](#), accessories of newly deemed products are not deemed with this final rule.

In addition, FDA is defining “component or part” to mean any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected: (1) ~~to~~ To alter or affect the tobacco product’s performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics; or (2) to be used with or for the

human consumption of a tobacco product. The definition excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product.

We note that the term “material” means an assembly of ingredients, including additives. Materials are assembled to form components and parts. For example, material could be considered the glue or paper pulp for a cigarette where the paper pulp includes multiple ingredients (e.g., multiple types of tobacco, water, and flavors) assembled into the paper (or pulp depending on the water content). A material could be considered the plastic in the mouthpiece of an ENDS containing multiple ingredients and additives assembled together to create a product.

In determining whether software or an assembly of materials might be “intended or reasonably expected” to alter or affect the tobacco product’s performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics or to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product (and, therefore, whether it is a component or part), FDA is not bound by the manufacturer or distributor’s subjective claims of intent. Rather, FDA can consider the totality of the circumstances, including direct and circumstantial objective evidence, which encompasses a variety of factors such as circumstances surrounding the distribution of the product or the context in which it is sold (see, e.g., 21 CFR 201.128 (drugs), 21 CFR 801.4 (devices); see also U.S. v. Travia, 180 F.Supp.2d 115, 119 (D.D.C. 2001)) and sales data.

~~[NOTE: The text in the next five paragraphs is a placeholder. FDA intends to revise this text to better explain and justify this definition, including in light of the separate definition of package in section 900(13) of the FDCA.]~~ Some examples of materials intended or reasonably

expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product are:

- atomizers and cartomizers used with ENDS;

- water filtration base additives (including those which are flavored) used with waterpipe tobacco; and
- pouches or flavorings used with any of the newly deemed products: [\(whether or not the pouch or flavoring contains nicotine or tobacco\)](#).

Some examples of materials intended or reasonably expected to alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics are:

- The cellophane wrapping or plastic tube for a single cigar;
- a plastic bag or tin holding loose pipe tobacco; and
- a glass or plastic vial container of e-liquid.

Although these examples are materials that are generally intended to prevent unintended changes to the characteristics of the tobacco product, they are also intended or reasonably expected to alter or affect the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product. For example, these materials often leach ingredients into the consumed product. As some comments noted, with ENDS, there is the potential for substances to leach from the containing vial into the e-liquid and these leachates may be inhaled when the e-liquids are used as intended, posing additional health risks for consumers. They often can also impact the moisture level or shelf life of a tobacco product (e.g., whether a cigar is in a hard pack or soft pack, and whether pipe tobacco is in a plastic or metal container). The moisture level of a tobacco product, and changes to that moisture level, can, for example, significantly impact consumers' exposure to nicotine and other constituents. In some cases, menthol or other ingredients may have been applied to these materials in order to have them become incorporated into the consumed product.

FDA recognizes that in some circumstances some assemblies of materials can operate as both an aspect of the package and a component or part of the tobacco product. In such situations,

the Agency is only examining a distinct subset of packaging materials that function as a component or part of a tobacco product by having the potential to alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics. Packaging materials that do not alter or affect, and are not reasonably expected to alter or affect, the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics are not components or parts of a tobacco product. For example, a glass vial containing an e-liquid is a component or part of the tobacco product, whereas a hard plastic blister pack in which the glass vial of e-liquid is distributed and sold to consumers is not.

FDA intends to seek additional public comment and issue a rule or guidance to provide further clarification on assemblies of materials that are a "component or part" of a tobacco product because they are intended or reasonably expected to alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics or are intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product.

Many comments specifically asked for clarification and examples of which objects used with waterpipe tobacco would be considered components, parts, and accessories. The following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of components and parts used with waterpipe tobacco: Flavor enhancers; hose cooling attachments; water filtration base additives (including those which are flavored); flavored hookah charcoals; and bowls, valves, hoses, and heads. The following is a nonexhaustive list of objects used with waterpipe tobacco that would likely be considered accessories: Hookah glow balls, foil poker, shisha oyster forks, tongs, and bags.

Many comments also sought clarification and examples as to which objects used with e-cigarettes would be considered components, parts, and accessories. The following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of components and parts of ENDS (including e-cigarettes):

~~atomizers, flavors,~~ [Atomizers, flavors used or intended to be used with ENDS \(with or without nicotine\)](#), e-liquid solvents, tanks and tank systems, batteries (with or without variable voltage), coils, cartomizers, digital display/lights to adjust settings, clearomisers, and programmable software. The following is a nonexhaustive list of examples of objects used with e-cigarettes or other ENDS that would likely be considered accessories: [s](#)Screwdrivers and lanyards.

A summary of comments regarding these issues, and FDA's responses, is included as follows.

——(Comment [67](#)) Many comments urged FDA to define components, parts, and accessories (particularly for e-cigarettes) to standardize enforcement nationally, prevent confusion in the marketplace (including among retailers), close any potential loopholes to circumvent compliance, increase transparency, and ensure inspectors are enforcing regulations, while also taking into account retailers who are making a good faith effort to comply with the law. Many comments provided suggested definitions for [“component or part”](#) and [“accessory.”](#) Other comments stated that FDA should not define these categories of products, because it is too difficult to properly define such large categories of products and any definitions quickly would become outdated.

——(Response) FDA agrees that definitions of component or part and accessory would be appropriate and has included definitions consistent with factors noted in the proposal and consideration of comments. Although we indicated in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) that accessories are not expected to be used with or for consumption of a tobacco product, we also indicated our expectation that accessories will have little impact on the public health. While the definition of accessory is different than the description in the [proposed rule NPRM](#), based on consideration of the comments, it captures our original intent and the [types/classes](#) of products

that the Agency views as accessories. The definitions of component, part, and accessory, which are discussed at the beginning of this section VI.A of the document, are included in §§ 1100.3, 1140.3, and 1143.1.

——(Comment 68) Several comments expressed concern about FDA's statement in the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM that the Agency may consider rule revisions if FDA later decides to extend its regulatory authority to components and parts of newly deemed tobacco products that do not contain tobacco or nicotine. They stated that the Tobacco Control Act does not permit FDA to regulate such objects if they do not employ tobacco as a raw material.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. To clarify, FDA is finalizing its proposal to deem all tobacco products, including all components and parts, but excluding accessories of newly deemed tobacco products, to be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act. However, the additional restrictions (i.e., minimum age and identification, vending, and health warnings provisions) only apply to "covered tobacco products." The health warning provisions apply to "covered tobacco products," cigarette tobacco, and roll-your-own tobacco. The term "covered tobacco products" includes all newly deemed tobacco products except those components and parts that are not made or derived from tobacco.

FDA also disagrees that the FD&C Act does not authorize FDA to regulate products that do not employ tobacco as a raw material. Section 901 of the FD&C Act states that chapter IX of the FD&C Act applies to all cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco and to any other tobacco products that the Secretary of Health and Human Services by regulation deems to be subject to chapter IX. Section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act defines "tobacco product," in relevant part, as any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco

product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product). Therefore, the statute gives FDA authority to deem additional tobacco products, including all components, parts, and accessories, except for raw materials (other than tobacco) that go into manufacturing of components, parts, or accessories of a tobacco product. Examples of such raw materials would be unprocessed acacia gum (taken from a tree and not processed) and minted titanium dioxide (used for whitening cigarette and tipping paper). In this rule, FDA is not deeming accessories to be subject to chapter IX and, although it is deeming all components and parts to be subject to chapter IX, it is not applying the additional restrictions (i.e., minimum age and identification, vending, and health warnings provisions) to components and parts that are not made or derived from tobacco. Nevertheless, if FDA were to consider extending its authority to accessories or to apply additional restrictions to components or parts, FDA would do so through the rulemaking process.

——(Comment [69](#)) A few comments expressed concern that the rule would create incentives for manufacturers to separate nicotine-containing components from nonnicotine-containing components to evade regulatory requirements. They stated that the rule would allow minors to purchase nicotine delivery systems, as long as they do not contain e-liquids, and obtain the e-liquids from other sources (e.g., friends, parents, online).

——(Response) FDA understands these concerns. However, this deeming rule covers tobacco product components and parts intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. In addition, as stated in § 1140.16, retailers of newly deemed tobacco products may not sell covered tobacco products (through any medium, including the Internet²) to individuals under 18 years of age. FDA will continue to actively enforce the minimum age restriction for mail order and Internet sales, which will help to reduce youth access

to the nicotine and tobacco containing components, without which they cannot use the other components of ENDS.

——(Comment [70](#)) Some comments stated that the objects used in or with an e-cigarette (including batteries, wire, screws, silica) should be beyond the scope of FDA's authority, because they do not become part of the tobacco product until they are constructed by the consumer. Others stated that FDA should regulate these objects given reports regarding the malfunctioning of certain e-cigarette components (e.g., dangers of exploding batteries (Ref. [31](#), [Grana WHO65](#))) and the fact that the e-liquid cannot be consumed without each component working in conjunction to deliver nicotine to the consumer. These comments asked FDA to clarify whether the Agency will regulate only the nicotine-containing cartridges in a line of products that includes varying degrees of nicotine including cartridges advertised as nicotine free if they are intended to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product.

——(Response) This final deeming rule deems all tobacco products as they are defined in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, except accessories of newly deemed products, but including components and parts as defined in this rule. The wires, screws, and silica meet the definition of component or part, as they are an assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product and are not accessories of a tobacco product. FDA also remains concerned about reports of exploding batteries. Batteries that are co-packaged with other components or parts of an ENDS (e.g., cartridges and tanks) or otherwise intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the consumption of ENDS are components or parts and subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities.- However, as noted elsewhere in this document, for ENDS hardware or delivery system components or parts, such as batteries, FDA expects that it may be difficult for manufacturers to obtain premarket

authorization for such products, given the great extent of possible variations in combinations of hardware components, if all considered and sold separately. Thus, with respect to such apparatus, FDA expects that manufacturers will be most successful where authorization is sought for entire delivery systems, rather than individual components. Elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA also has made available draft guidance, which when final will represent some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products and will include FDA's current thinking regarding compliance with existing voluntary standards for ENDS batteries.

In addition, nicotine-containing cartridges that include varying degrees of nicotine are components or parts and subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities because they constitute an assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product and do not constitute a tobacco product accessory. Upon the effective date of this final rule, FDA intends to regulate the entire line of cartridges (including cartridges that include varying degrees of nicotine or those that do not contain nicotine, if they meet the definition of component or part).

(Comment [71](#)) Several comments urged FDA to include [all](#) e-liquids in the minimum age and identification requirements and vending machine restrictions in the revised part 1140, ~~regardless of whether the~~[including](#) e-liquids [that do not](#) contain nicotine, because they are easily accessible to minors online and can be mixed with nicotine. In addition, they suggested that FDA require the proposed addiction warning on [all](#) components or parts sold in conjunction with e-liquid.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Under this deeming rule, e-cigarettes that contain nicotine cannot be sold to youth under the age of 18. In addition, an e-liquid with nicotine is a

covered tobacco product and, therefore, will be required to have a health warning under part 1143. As previously discussed, an e-liquid without nicotine is a component (and subject to FDA's tobacco control authorities), if it is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product (e.g., with liquid nicotine) and does not constitute a tobacco product accessory, but an e-liquid that does not contain nicotine or tobacco is not required to carry a warning, nor is it subject to the minimum age and identification requirements and vending machine restrictions under parts 1140 and 1143 because it is not a covered tobacco product as defined by this rule. Because components without nicotine or tobacco are intended to be used with a covered tobacco product, which contains nicotine or tobacco, FDA believes that it is appropriate to require only the covered tobacco product to be subject to the minimum age and vending machine provisions and to carry the warning. Moreover, if a warning is ~~over-~~ used/overused, there is the danger that it will grow stale.

——(Comment [72](#)) One comment disagreed with what it characterized as FDA's assertions that tobacco product accessories do not pose a public health risk or environmental risk and stated that such objects are harmful to humans and the food chain.

——(Response) FDA wishes to clarify language included in the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#) regarding accessories (79 FR 23142 at 23153). FDA did not propose, nor is it stating in this final rule, that tobacco product accessories do not pose any public health risk. Instead, we indicated that tobacco product accessories as defined in the rule likely have less (rather than ~~"no"~~) risk to the overall public health, which we reiterate in this final rule. FDA is regulating components and parts (and not accessories) of the newly deemed products, so the Agency can better focus its resources on those objects with a greater likely impact on public health. Similarly, FDA did not state that this rule would not impact the environment. Rather, the environmental analysis

included in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) stated that the impacts of this rule will not have a significant impact on the human environment according to the standard imposed by the National Environmental Policy Act, as stated in the proposed environmental assessment (EA). The final EA and Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) are included in the docket.

~~_____~~([Comment 73](#)) The comments suggested several different regulatory approaches for components, parts, and accessories. First, several comments stated that FDA should weigh the relative risks of these products and impose the least burdensome requirements necessary to effectively manage or mitigate those risks. They suggested that FDA treat these products the way the Agency does with its review of marketing applications. For example, they noted that FDA's draft and final guidance documents on PMTAs and SE reports explain that FDA does not intend to enforce the requirements of either section 910 or 905(j) of the FD&C Act for components of regulated tobacco products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing into finished tobacco products because the Agency anticipates "receiving relevant information regarding such new tobacco products in the PMTA submission for the finished regulated tobacco products" (citing draft guidance, "Applications for Premarket Review of New Tobacco Products (~~76 FR 60055~~)"). Second, some comments believed that manufacturers of e-cigarette components and parts should be required to submit marketing applications given the aerosols and "vapors" that consumers generate when using certain components or parts. Third, some comments stated that instead of requiring manufacturers of components and parts to comply with the automatic requirements for the newly deemed products, FDA should require them to ensure that all of their components and parts that contain tobacco or tobacco derivatives are shipped and packaged with labeling that indicates that they are intended for further manufacture.

~~——(Response) With respect to components and parts of newly deemed products, FDA is adopting an approach similar to the approach taken by the Agency with respect to original products regulated after enactment of the Tobacco Control Act. Therefore, at~~(Response)
At this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement of the premarket review requirements to finished tobacco products. For purposes of this compliance policy applicable to newly deemed products, a finished tobacco product refers to a tobacco product, including all components and parts, sealed in final packaging intended for consumer use (e.g., filters or filter tubes sold separately to consumers or as part of kits). FDA does not at this time intend to enforce these requirements for components and parts of newly deemed products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing into finished tobacco products. In addition, FDA does not believe that it is warranted at this time to require components and parts that contain tobacco or tobacco derivatives to include labeling that indicates they are intended for further manufacture.

~~——(Comment 74) Some comments stated that FDA should regulate all components, parts, and accessories, as long as they have a foreseeable impact on the public health. They believed that omitting accessories from the scope of the deeming rule ignores the clear statutory language that explicitly defines “tobacco product” to include accessories.~~

~~——(Response) FDA disagrees. Although Congress included “accessories” within the definition of “tobacco product” in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, it did not explicitly require that FDA include all components, parts, and accessories within the scope of its rule to deem additional tobacco products under section 901. Accessories, as defined in this rule, likely have less risk to the overall public health, and the benefits to overall public health for deeming accessories subject to FDA’s tobacco product authorities are also likely less. Therefore, FDA is excluding them from the scope of this deeming rule.~~

——(Comment [75](#)) Some comments stated that items also used for purposes other than for tobacco use (i.e., a lighter or matches that can be used to light candles) should be classified as accessories and, therefore, not subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities. For example, batteries used in advanced personal vaporizers can be found in laptop battery packs or cordless drill packs. These comments also stated that items such as lighters and batteries may (or may not) be used in consumption of a tobacco product or are regulated by the Consumer Product Safety Act (as are child-resistant lighters) and, therefore, should not be subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities.

——(Response) FDA agrees that it is not necessary to regulate batteries that are not intended or reasonably expected to be used with a tobacco product under its tobacco product authorities. However, it is important that batteries that are co-packaged with other parts of an ENDS (e.g., cartridges and tanks) or otherwise intended or reasonably expected to be used with ENDS are components subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities. FDA remains concerned about reports of exploding e-cigarette batteries and finds that regulating them can help address these problems. Toward that end, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including compliance with existing voluntary standards for ENDS batteries.

——(Comment [76](#)) Some comments stated that walk-in humidors for cigars should not be subject to FDA regulation because they are important to retailers and allow consumers to browse a retailer's stock and make a selection.

——(Response) As discussed [above](#), any item that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a newly deemed tobacco

product; does not contain tobacco or a tobacco derivative; and is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the characteristics of the newly deemed tobacco product but solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored newly deemed tobacco product, is an accessory and excluded from this deeming rule. Therefore, unless the humidor is designed to affect the tobacco product in a manner other than controlling moisture or temperature, such walk-in cigar humidors are not subject to this rule.

———(Comment [77](#)) A few comments expressed concern that e-cigarette tanks and cartridges would not be included within the proposed vending machine restrictions because they do not contain nicotine at the time of sale. They said that such objects are not standardized and that their quality, composition, and safety are not regulated and, therefore, they should be subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities.

———(Response) FDA does not believe it is necessary for tanks and cartridges that do not contain nicotine or tobacco to be subject to the vending machine restrictions because they can only be used to consume tobacco or nicotine derived from tobacco with other products that are subject to the additional restrictions. However, FDA is aware of the current lack of regulation or standardization of tanks and cartridges, which are components and parts that FDA is deeming to be subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities with this rule. After the effective date of this final rule, FDA will have authority to issue tobacco product manufacturing practice regulations under section 906(e) of the FD&C Act and product standards under section 907 of the FD&C Act to address the quality, composition, and safety of these components and parts. FDA also notes that these components and parts will usually be subject to premarket review, either by themselves, as components and parts intended for consumer use, or as components and

parts of products that undergo further manufacturing for which the end product will be subject to premarket review.

——(Comment [78](#)) A few comments expressed concern with FDA's characterization of objects used during a waterpipe tobacco session (i.e., the burners, holders, screens, and other objects used with waterpipe tobacco). They stated that all waterpipe burners and holders can affect waterpipe tobacco emissions, and noted that foil is heated to the same extent as charcoal during waterpipe use and, therefore, can present a burning danger (Ref. [32, Shihadeh66](#)). In addition, the heating source, screen (or aluminum foil), and hose can have a significant impact on passive and active exposure and smoking/puffing behaviors and, therefore, should be components or parts subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Response) FDA has included definitions of "component," "part," and "accessory" with this final rule to provide additional clarity regarding the characterization of products used during a waterpipe session. According to these definitions, the screen (or aluminum foil) and hoses that are co-packaged with other parts of a hookah or marketed, advertised, or otherwise intended for use with a hookah are parts or components and subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities. However, for example, an external burner or heating source that is not incorporated into the hookah would be an accessory, provided that it does not contain tobacco or a tobacco derivative and solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product. The holder also is an accessory and not subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [79](#)) A few comments suggested that charcoal or wood cinder used with waterpipe tobacco should be considered a tobacco product and deemed under this regulation.

They explained that combustion of these products produces toxicants and may emit carcinogens, carbon monoxide, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and other cancer causing agents.

——(Response) FDA finds that such products are components or parts; therefore, they are subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities. They are an assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product and are not accessories. As we have noted throughout this document, an accessory does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco, and it meets one of the following: (a1) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product; or (b2) is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but (i) solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored product; or (ii) solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product. Therefore, the charcoal or wood cinder intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of waterpipe tobacco are components or parts. Further, charcoal and wood cinders are not considered accessories given that they: (1) ~~do~~Do not contain tobacco and are not made or derived from tobacco; and (2) are intended or reasonably expected to alter the characteristics of a tobacco product but do not solely control moisture and/or temperature of a stored product and do not solely provide an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion. Instead, both charcoal and wood cinder are used to maintain the combustion of waterpipe tobacco.

——(Comment 80) Many comments asked for clarification as to whether certain items associated with cigar use should be termed "accessories," including cigar tip cutters, permeable humidor buttons, removable tips, mouthpieces, removable filters, holders, lighters, ashtrays, and cases.

——(Response) FDA generally expects cigar tip cutters, permeable humidor buttons, holders, ashtrays, and cases would be accessories that are not subject to FDA regulation. In addition, as stated in [this](#) section ~~VI.A of this document~~ (discussing the definitions of component or part and accessory), for the purposes of this regulation, any item that does not contain tobacco or a tobacco derivative and is not integrated in a tobacco product, but rather solely provides an external heat source, to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product (such as a lighter) is not subject to this deeming rule. However, removable tips, mouthpieces, and filters are all intended to be used by adult consumers in the human consumption of a tobacco and do not meet the definition of accessory, therefore, are included within the scope of this final rule.

——(Comment [81](#)) A few comments expressed concern that vaporizers sold separately without nicotine can be modified or "hacked," which researchers found could increase toxins and other dangerous components, including formaldehyde (Ref. [33, Fik67](#)). They stated that online videos show how to "hack" an e-cigarette, including how to change the apparatus to increase the temperature of the ~~"vapor."~~ Because of these concerns, they argued that such items should be considered components and parts and under FDA's jurisdiction.

——(Response) FDA agrees that vaporizers are components or parts of a tobacco product. These objects are an assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the consumption of a tobacco product and do not constitute tobacco product accessories. Therefore, they are tobacco product components or parts and subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities. FDA considers components or parts sold directly to consumers to be finished tobacco products. A finished tobacco product refers to a tobacco product, including all components and parts, sealed in final packaging intended for consumer use (e.g., filters or filter tubes sold separately to consumers or as part of kits). FDA remains concerned about adverse

events associated with ENDS use and finds that regulating them can help address these problems. Toward that end, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products.-

——(Comment [82](#)) One comment requested that flavored rolling papers be included as a newly deemed tobacco product. Another comment claimed that flavored papers should not be subject to FDA's tobacco control authorities, because they do not pose a danger to public health.

——(Response) Rolling papers intended for use with cigarette tobacco or roll-your-own tobacco are already subject to FDA's tobacco control authorities under section 901 of the FD&C Act because they are components of cigarettes and cigarette tobacco. Upon the effective date of this final rule, rolling papers (including flavored papers) intended for use with newly deemed tobacco products would be tobacco product components or parts and subject to ~~FDA's~~ [Chapter](#)~~Chapter~~[FDA's chapter](#) IX authorities.

B. Discussion of Requirements Associated With Components and Parts

FDA received many inquiries about how the automatic provisions associated with deeming tobacco products would apply to components and parts. Components and parts of newly deemed tobacco products are subject to all of the automatic provisions included in the FD&C Act, as further discussed ~~below.~~ [as follows.](#)

[1.](#) Ingredient Listing (sections 904(a)(1) and 904(c)); Health Document Submission (section 904(a)(4)); and Registration and Product Listing (section 905)——)

- At this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement to finished tobacco products. A finished tobacco product refers to a tobacco product, including all components and parts, sealed in final packaging intended for consumer use (e.g., filters, filter tubes, e-cigarettes, or e-liquids sold separately to consumers or as part of kits). FDA does not at this time intend to enforce these requirements for components and parts of newly deemed products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing into finished tobacco products.

2. SE Reports and PMTAs (section 905(j) and 910~~2-2~~)

- At this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement to finished tobacco products. FDA does not at this time intend to enforce these requirements for components and parts of newly deemed products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing into finished tobacco products.

3. Reporting of HPHCs (section 915~~2-2~~)

- At this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement to finished tobacco products. See section IX of this document for further discussion of ENDS retail establishments and the responsibilities of upstream manufacturers for reporting of HPHCs. The Agency is working to determine an appropriate compliance policy to deal with HPHCs for newly deemed products (including e-liquids) and is intending to issue guidance with enough time for manufacturers to meetreport given the three3-year compliance period ~~to test and report~~.

VII. Regulation of Cigars and Selection of Option 1

As discussed in the preamble to the proposed ruleNPRM (79 FR 23142 at 23150 through 23152), it has been suggested that different kinds of cigars may have the potential for varying effects on public health. Accordingly, FDA proposed two options for the categories of cigars to be subject to this deeming rule. Option 1 proposed to deem all products meeting the statutory

definition of “tobacco product” except accessories of a proposed deemed tobacco product, to be subject to FDA’s tobacco product authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. Option 2 proposed to deem all products meeting the statutory definition of “tobacco product” except accessories of a proposed deemed tobacco product and a subset of cigars referred to as “premium cigars” to be subject to FDA’s tobacco product authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. FDA notes that individual hand rollers of cigars would be considered manufacturers under chapter IX of the FD&C Act, and subject to the same requirements as other tobacco product manufacturers.

(Comment [83](#)) Some comments that supported Option 1 stated that FDA should regulate premium cigars, in part, because they meet the statutory definition of “tobacco product”

(Response) FDA agrees. All cigars, including those referred to as premium cigars, meet the definition of a “tobacco product” under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act.

After thorough review of the comments and the scientific evidence, FDA has concluded that deeming all cigars, rather than a subset, more completely protects the public health and therefore has adopted Option 1 in the final rule. –FDA has concluded that: (1) All cigars pose serious negative health risks, (2) the available evidence does not provide a basis for FDA to conclude that the patterns of premium cigar use sufficiently reduce the health risks to warrant exclusion, and (3) premium cigars are used by youth and young adults. The fact that some premium cigar smokers might smoke such products infrequently or report that they do not inhale does not negate the adverse health effects of tobacco smoke or demonstrate that cigars do not cause secondhand smoke-related disease in others. Therefore, we find there is no appropriate public health justification to exclude premium cigars from the scope of the final deeming rule and that it is appropriate to deem them.

A. Health Risks of Premium Cigars

Researchers estimate that regular cigar smoking was responsible for approximately 9,000 premature deaths or almost 140,000 years of potential life lost among adults 35 years or older in 2010 (Ref. ~~26, Nonnemaker68~~). Cigar smoke contains many of the same harmful constituents as cigarette smoke and may have higher levels of several harmful compounds (Ref. ~~26, Nonnemaker68~~, citing Ref. ~~34, Hoffmann69 at 55-104~~). All cigar smokers have an increased risk of oral, esophageal, laryngeal, and lung cancer (~~Ref. compared to non-tobacco users (Refs. 35, Baker; Ref. 27, Mon. 969)~~). Among those who report inhaling cigar smoke, there are significantly elevated levels of many types of cancer and other adverse health effects, such as increased risk of heart and pulmonary disease (~~Ref. 27, Mon. 9; Ref. 36, Iribarren); Refs. 69, 70~~). Cigar smokers also are at a marked increase in risk for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and experience higher mortality risk from COPD than nonsmokers (~~Ref. 37, 84 SG; Ref. 36, Iribarren); Refs. 70, 71~~). In addition, cigar smokers have a higher risk of fatal and nonfatal stroke than nonsmokers (Ref. ~~39, Katsiki72~~). All cigars produce secondhand smoke, which causes negative health effects such as heart disease and lung cancer in bystanders (Refs. ~~35, Baker;69~~).

Nevertheless, we do note that the 2014 Surgeon General’s Report states that when compared with persons who smoke cigarettes, those who use cigars exclusively have a lower risk for many smoking-related diseases (Ref. 9 at 428 citing Ref. 27, Mon. 9); 69). Although smoke from cigars contains the same toxic substances as cigarette smoke, cigar smokers generally smoke at a lower frequency and tend not to inhale the smoke, thus reducing (but not eliminating) their exposure to its toxic substances (id.). Former cigarette smokers are more likely to inhale cigar smoke than are primary cigar smokers who have never smoked cigarettes (id.).

While most studies cited in this section do not explicitly pertain to premium cigars, the bulk of the established data on the health effects of cigar smoking is based on smokers of traditional, large cigars and, therefore, is applicable to the toxicity of premium cigars given that they share the same characteristics and are generally smoked in similar ways.

While exposure to higher levels of cigar smoke for a longer period of time increases the adverse health risks due to cigar smoking (just as it does for cigarettes), the Surgeon General has stated that no amount of smoking is safe (Ref. ~~30, 10-SG2~~). Further, there are no data indicating that premium cigar users are not susceptible to health risks, as discussed in section VII.C of this document. FDA's responses to comments on the health risks of premium cigars are included in the following paragraphs.

(Comment [84](#)) Proponents of Option 1 stated there is no public health justification for exempting premium cigars and that deeming premium cigars will benefit the public health immediately through the automatic and additional provisions and the imposition of future product standards. They also stated that exempting premium cigars would have a negative impact on the public health.

——(Response) FDA agrees. As stated in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), there will be many public health benefits associated with deeming tobacco products (including products referred to as premium cigars). For example, the adulteration and misbranding provisions in sections 902 and 903 of the FD&C Act, as applied to the newly deemed products, will protect consumers because FDA will be able to take enforcement action against any non-compliant tobacco product, such as a product with false or misleading labeling or advertising. In addition, ingredient listings and reports of HPHCs under sections 904 and 915 of the FD&C Act will assist FDA in better understanding the contents of regulated products. That information would assist

FDA in assessing potential health risks and determining if future regulations to address the health risks posed by particular products are warranted. With application of the section 905 registration and listing requirements, FDA will be able to conduct biennial inspections of tobacco product manufacturers. Further, implementation of the premarket review provisions of sections 905, 910, and 911 of the FD&C Act will allow FDA to monitor product development and changes and to prevent more harmful or addictive products from reaching the market. Moreover, there were no data provided to support the premise that there are different patterns of use of premium cigars and that these patterns result in lower health risks.

(Comment [85](#)) Some comments argued that exempting premium cigars from deeming would set a dangerous precedent that it is appropriate for FDA not to regulate certain tobacco products by virtue of their potential for varying effects on public health. An exemption could mislead consumers to believe that premium cigars are safe, which contradicts the available evidence that all cigars are harmful and potentially addictive. -In addition, the current population of premium cigar users would be left unprotected, potentially decreasing the likelihood that they would quit, and leading more youth and young adults to initiate use of premium cigars or substitute products.

——(Response) FDA agrees with these comments. Accordingly, FDA has selected Option 1 deeming all cigars, rather than a subset, for the scope of this final rule.

(Comment [86](#)) Many comments that supported Option 2 argued that premium cigars do not present a public health threat significant enough to warrant regulation and that no evidence was presented that regulation of premium cigars would substantially improve the public health. These comments stated that premium cigars represent a small portion of the tobacco product and cigar markets (annual premium cigar estimate in the United States of 300 million units compared

to nearly 14 billion total cigar units and nearly 300 billion cigarettes) (Ref. ~~40, ATTF73~~), and there is no evidence that premium cigars have the same health consequences or habitual use patterns as other tobacco products. They generally relied on two studies, Funck-Brentano et al. and Turner et al., to claim that premium cigars deliver little nicotine to users, by inhalation or oral absorption (~~Ref. 41, Funck; Ref. 42, Turner~~).~~Refs. 74, 75~~). They also claimed that cigars do not significantly elevate the risk of addiction or death (~~Ref. 43, Nutt; Ref. 38, Wald~~~~Refs. 76, 77~~) and stated that, in some studies, there were a very small number of cancer cases or deaths among cigar smokers (~~Ref. 44, Boffetta; Ref. 45, Shapiro~~).~~Refs. 78, 79~~). They also noted the nonsignificant odds ratios for those consuming 1- to 2 cigars per day (~~Ref. 45, Shapiro; Ref 27, Mon. 9~~~~Refs. 69, 79~~) and for the risk of lung cancer and “tobacco-related cancers” among exclusive cigar smokers (Ref. ~~46, McCormack~~80).

———(Response) FDA disagrees with these claims and finds that the cited studies or critiques are not persuasive. Regarding the claim that premium cigars deliver little nicotine to users, the Turner study (Ref. ~~42-Turner~~)~~75~~) was a study of only 10 male hospital workers conducted more than 30 years ago. The findings of ~~that~~ the Turner study, based on carboxyhemoglobin and plasma nicotine levels, suggested that former cigarette smokers who occasionally smoked cigars or regularly smoked pipes had greater cigar smoke inhalation and absorption than primary cigar and pipe smokers (i.e., those who never smoked cigarettes). This study also reported that average plasma nicotine concentrations among primary cigar and pipe smokers were somewhat elevated 60 minutes into a cigar smoking session compared with levels measured after smoking abstinence (Ref. ~~42, Turner~~75). Notwithstanding the small sample size, the study results still demonstrate that cigars deliver nicotine to users.

Similarly, the Funck-Brentano [et al.](#) study (Ref. ~~41 (Funck))74~~) assessed biomarkers of tobacco exposure and toxicity in a small sample of cigar (corona-sized or larger cigar) or pipe smokers (n=30), cigarette smokers (n=28), and nontobacco users (n=30), making this small biomarker study less persuasive. In fact, the study authors state: “These results should not be seen as a justification for the smoking of pipes and cigars, which are clearly associated with clinically significant health hazards. We emphasize that we cannot determine whether our results are explained by the type of tobacco smoked or by the different inhalation pattern in pipe/cigar smokers and cigarette smokers.”

A recent analysis of biomarkers of tobacco exposure among cigar smokers used data from the 1999-2012 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, a nationally representative survey (Ref. ~~47, Chen~~81). The sample included more than 220 primary cigar (i.e., current cigar/never cigarette) smokers and more than 180 secondary cigar (i.e., current cigar/former cigarette) smokers (id.). The researchers found that serum cotinine concentrations among primary (and secondary) cigar smokers were substantially higher than in nontobacco users in crude and adjusted analyses (id.). In addition, adjusted analyses showed that concentrations of NNAL (4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol), blood cadmium, and lead were also higher among primary (and secondary) cigar smokers compared with nontobacco users (id.). Therefore, not only were the cited studies unpersuasive, but this robust and recent analysis contradicts those studies.

In addition, FDA did not find persuasive studies cited in comments for the proposition that cigars do not significantly elevate the risk of addiction or death. To support this proposition, comments relied in part on a study (Ref. ~~43 (Nutt))76~~) in which a panel scored the worldwide harmfulness of 12 nicotine products using a [multi-criteria/multicriteria](#) decision analysis (MCDA)

approach. Although cigarettes ranked higher than either ~~small~~little cigars ~~or regular~~and other cigars on an aggregate harm score, the study found cigar smoking does result in morbidity, mortality, and dependence.

The other study used to support the proposition that cigars are not a significant public health threat (Ref. ~~38, Wald~~77) found a significant association between primary cigar or pipe smokers and lung cancer mortality risk, which refutes the claim that cigar use does not significantly elevate the risk of death. In addition, this study found an association between COPD mortality risk and secondary cigar or pipe smoking (but not for primary cigar and pipe smoking). Also, contrary to the assertions of commenters, a recent systematic review of cigar smoking and mortality summarized the results of 22 published studies from 16 different prospective cohorts and found that primary cigar smoking was associated with increased risk of mortality from all causes, several types of cancers, coronary heart disease, and aortic aneurysm (Ref. 82). Mortality risks were greater with increasing number of cigars smoked per day and self-reported level of inhalation, however, primary cigar smokers reporting no inhalation still had highly elevated mortality risks for oral, esophageal, and laryngeal cancers (id.). In addition, a recent study estimated that in 2010 more than 9,000 premature deaths annually were attributable to regular cigar smoking (Ref. 26, Nonnemaker)—i.e., those who reported smoking cigars on at least 15 of the past 30 days (Ref. 68).

Moreover, FDA reviewed a study by Boffetta et al. (Ref. ~~44 (Boffetta);78~~), which commenters relied upon to claim that a very small number of cancer cases existed among cigar smokers and, therefore, premium cigars should not be regulated. The Boffetta et al. study (Ref. ~~44 (Boffetta);id.~~) used a case-control design to assess the association between lung cancer risk and cigar smoking. The authors determined that the overall association between primary cigar or

cigarillo smokers and lung cancer was significant and found significant associations in all but one area (*id.*). For all other estimates, the results were statistically significant. We also note that, despite the relatively small number of cancer cases in this study, it is only one part of a larger body of evidence that demonstrates the increased risk of serious adverse health effects associated with cigar smoking (~~Ref. 45, Shapiro; Ref. 48, Shanks; Ref. 36, Iribarren; Ref. 35, Baker; Ref. 27, Mon. 9; Ref. 37, 84 SG; Ref. 38, Wald; Ref. 39, Katsiki~~). Refs. 35, 69, 70, 71, 72, 77, 79, 83).

——(Comment 87) Some comments stated cigar smokers are not at risk of becoming addicted to tobacco products based on their use of cigars. Other comments stated that certain attributes of premium cigars increase the likelihood for nicotine dependence, including their size, the amount of tobacco (and, therefore, nicotine) in the cigar, and the longer amount of time that it takes to smoke the cigar. Additionally, these comments suggested that because cigar tobacco is more alkaline than cigarette tobacco, nicotine may be absorbed into the blood stream more rapidly, even without inhaling (~~Ref. 49, Le Houzec; Ref. 50, Benowitz~~ Refs. 84, 85).

——(Response) FDA agrees that all cigars are potentially addictive. As discussed in the preamble to the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM, a ~~large~~ cigar can contain as much tobacco as a whole pack of cigarettes, and nicotine yields from smoking a cigar can be up to eight times higher than yields from smoking a cigarette (79 FR 23142 at 23154). Although the amount of nicotine taken in by a cigar user depends on various factors like how long the person smokes the cigar, the number of puffs taken, and the degree of inhalation, a leading review of the science of cigar smoking concluded that “[c]igars are capable of providing high levels of nicotine at a sufficiently rapid rate to produce clear physiological and psychological effects that lead to dependence, even if the smoke is not inhaled” (Ref. 35, ~~Baker~~). In addition, regardless of whether premium cigar smokers inhale, buccal absorption of nicotine does occur, and cigar

smokers may also absorb nicotine through the lips due to the alkalinity of cigar tobacco ([Ref. 51](#), [Henn 96](#); [Ref. 52](#), [Henn. 99](#)); [Refs. 86, 87](#)). This increased nicotine yield and absorption increases the risk of nicotine addiction from cigar smoking. [Researchers analyzing data from the NYTS found that although the percentage of youth reporting various measures of dependence was lower for cigars than for cigarettes or smokeless tobacco, some youth did report some measures of cigar addiction \(Ref. 88\)](#). This study found that 6.7 percent of middle and high school students who only smoked cigars also reported strong cravings for a tobacco product during the past 30 days, and 7.8 percent reported sometimes/often/always feeling irritable or restless when not using tobacco—which are measures of dependence (*id.*) We note that the Surgeon General has found that all forms of nicotine delivery do not pose an equal risk in [establishing or maintaining nicotine addiction \(Ref. 9\)](#).

———(Comment [88](#)) Many comments remarked that premium cigars do not pose the same adverse health effects as cigarettes and other types of cigars because most studies of cigar health effects do not differentiate between types of cigars. They claimed this lack of evidence precludes conclusions about the health effects of premium cigars specifically.

———(Response) The science is clear that cigar use of all types can lead to negative health effects, [as discussed throughout this section of the document](#). Thus, the contention that studies are inconclusive about the health effects of premium cigars because they do not differentiate between types of cigars is not persuasive.

All cigar use is harmful and potentially addictive. Cigar smokers have an increased risk of oral, esophageal, laryngeal, and lung cancer ([Ref. compared to nonsmokers \(Refs. 35, Baker; Ref. 27, Mon. 969\)](#)). Among those who report inhaling cigar smoke, there are significantly elevated levels of many types of cancer and other health effects, such as increased risk of heart

and pulmonary disease (~~Ref. 27, Mon. 9; Ref. 36, Iribarren~~);Refs. 69, 70). Cigar smokers also have a marked increase in risk for COPD and experience higher mortality risk from COPD than nonsmokers (~~Ref. 36, Iribarren; Ref. 37, 84 SG~~);Refs. 70, 71). In addition, cigar smokers have a higher risk of fatal and nonfatal stroke than nonsmokers (Ref. ~~39, Katsiki~~72). All cigars produce secondhand smoke, which causes negative health effects such as heart disease and lung cancer in bystanders (Refs. 35, ~~Baker; Ref. 27, Mon. 9~~69).

———We note that the Surgeon General reported in 2014 that, "[c]ompared with persons who smoke cigarettes, smokers who smoke pipes or cigars exclusively have a lower risk for many smoking-related diseases (internal citation omitted). Smoke from pipes and cigars contains the same toxic substances as cigarette smoke, but those who use a pipe or cigar usually smoke at a lower frequency; observation indicates that they tend not to inhale the smoke, thus reducing their exposure to its toxic substances (internal citations omitted). Evidence indicates that former cigarette smokers are more likely to inhale pipe or cigar smoke than are primary pipe and cigar smokers who have never smoked cigarettes (internal citations omitted)" (Ref. 9 at 428-429). However, research indicates that most cigar smokers do inhale some amount of smoke, even when they do not intend to inhale, and are not aware of doing so (Refs. 32, 33).

Finally, FDA specifically sought comment on how the potential different patterns of use for premium cigars might result in different or decreased health impacts, but no such evidence was submitted (see discussion in section VII.C of document).

———(Comment [89](#)) Some comments indicated that many cigar users, including those who smoke premium cigar brands, are also current or former cigarette users, increasing their exposure to toxic constituents and the health risks of using combusted tobacco products (~~Ref. 53, SAHMSA 12; Ref. 54, Corey~~);Refs. 89, 90). Additionally, they stated that these users are more

likely to inhale when they use cigars and may smoke more cigars per day, significantly increasing their health risks (~~Ref. 55, McDonald; Ref. 56, Gilpin; Ref. 57, Kelly; Ref. 58, Herling; Ref. 59, Castleden~~Refs. 33, 91, 92, 93, 94).

——(Response) FDA agrees. Given the adverse health effects of all cigars, FDA has selected Option 1 deeming all cigars, rather than a subset, for the scope of this final deeming rule.

——(Comment 90) Some comments raised concerns about dual and ~~poly-use~~polyuse of cigars and other tobacco products, which is common among both adults and youth (~~Ref. 54, Corey; Ref. 60, Enofe~~Refs. 90, 95). For example, in one study, 35.1 percent of adult premium cigar users, 58.3 percent of cigarillo and other mass market cigar users, (i.e., those reporting their usual cigar did not have a filter and the usual brand was not premium), and 75.2 percent of little filtered cigar users also smoked cigarettes (Ref. ~~54, Corey~~90). Some comments noted that multiple product use is concerning because polytobacco users are more likely to report symptoms of nicotine dependence (Ref. ~~61, Apfelberg~~88).

——(Response) As FDA stated in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, we are concerned about the use of multiple products, especially combusted tobacco products.

B. Youth and Young Adults Use Premium Cigars

Proponents of Option 2 have stated that an exemption for premium cigars is warranted because youth prefer ~~manufactured~~machine-made cigars (as opposed to hand-rolled) given their low price, flavoring, and easier availability. However, although youth and young adults have a higher use of cigarillos and other mass market cigars, studies indicate that they are also using premium cigars.

——(Comment [91](#)) Many comments cited data showing that among those age 12 and older, past month cigar use decreased slightly from 5.4 percent in 2002 to 5.2 percent in 2012 after peaking at 5.7 percent in 2004 (Ref. [53, SAHMSA-1289](#) at Figure 4.21). Among youth only (ages 12 to 17), cigar smoking prevalence declined between 2004 (4.8 percent) and 2012 (2.6 percent) (Ref. [53, SAHMSA-1289](#) at Figure 4.21). Trend data from the National Youth Risk Behavior Survey also indicate that cigar use among male high school students, female students, and white, black, and Hispanic students either declined or remained stable from 1997-~~to~~ 2011 (Ref. [24, 14 SG9](#)). Additionally, from 1997-~~to~~ 2013, ~~“a significant linear decrease occurred overall in the prevalence of current [youth] cigar use (22.0 percent–12.6 percent)”~~ (Ref. [62, Kann-96](#)), ~~which was observed from data collected by the CDC 1997-2013 YRBS (Ref. 29).~~ Accordingly, they questioned whether FDA should be regulating cigars.

Other comments included data indicating that youth cigar use has not declined when compared to use of other tobacco products. They noted that many youth surveys show youth cigar smoking to be higher than, or about the same as, cigarette smoking. For example, in 2013, ~~the rate of cigar use among U.S. high school males, the prevalence of current (past 30 day) cigar smoking (16.5 percent) was comparable to current (past 30 day) cigarette use nationally smoking (16.4 percent) (Ref. 63,96). Additionally, in 21 U.S. cities that conducted the 2013 YRBS) and this, the prevalence of current cigar smoking (8.6 percent) was also true in 21 states comparable to current cigarette smoking (7.7 percent) among high school students (id.). In 2014, NYTS reported that among high school Non-Hispanic black students, 8.8 percent reported smoking cigars in the past 30 days, whereas 4.5 percent reported smoking cigarettes in the past 30 days (Ref, 62, Kann). Furthermore, measures. 22). In addition, among high school males overall, the prevalence of past 30 day cigar smoking (10.8 percent) was comparable to past 30 day cigarette~~

smoking (10.6 percent) (id.). Measures of youth use of cigars ~~likely may~~ underestimate prevalence due to incorrect self-identification as a non-cigar smoker and confusion between the various cigar products (~~Ref. 64, Schuster; Ref. 65, Nasim; Ref. 66, Leatherdale~~).Refs. 97, 98, 99). Accordingly, the comments supported FDA's regulation of all cigars.

——(Response) FDA remains concerned about the use of all tobacco products, particularly combusted tobacco products like cigars and cigarettes, and remains most concerned about use by youth and young adults given their unique susceptibility to the addictiveness of nicotine. Although supporters of Option 2 relied upon NSDUH data showing a decline in cigar smoking prevalence among individuals aged 12 to 17 from 2004 to 2012, the NSDUH's questions about ever and past 30-day use of cigars did not include examples of specific brands.

We note that the Surgeon General's 2014 report states that "data from the 1997-2011 obtained from the National YRBS indicate that current cigar use among male high school students declined from 1997-2005 and then remained stable from 2005-2011. Among female students, current cigar use declined from 1997-2011." (Ref. 9 at 736, internal references omitted). The 2013 YRBS, a nationally representative survey of 13,000 youths, indicated that cigar use prevalence trends have decreased from 1997-2013 for youth in grades 9 through 12 (22 percent in 1997 to 12.6 percent in 2013) (Ref. 29).

Evidence suggests that some youth may recognize the brand of cigar they smoke, but not that it is a "cigar" in general terms and, therefore, may not report their cigar use (~~Ref. 67, Terehek; Ref. 65, Nasim; Ref. 68, Corey~~Refs. 98, 100). When examples of brand names were added to the 2012 NYTS, there was a pronounced increase from 2011 in reported cigar smoking, particularly among non-Hispanic black females (Ref. ~~68, Corey~~100). Among NYTS high school students overall from 2000 to ~~2012 and among Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) high school~~

students from 2003 to 2011, there was no change in prevalence of cigar smoking (Ref. [20](#), [Arrazola](#); Ref. [69](#), [YRBS Survey 101](#)). This lack of decline in cigar smoking is a concern considering cigarette smoking among high school students did significantly decline over these periods (id.). [-Among NYTS high school students overall from 2011 to 2014, there was a decrease in prevalence of current use of cigars from 11.6 percent to 8.2 percent \(Ref. 22\).](#)

——(Comment [92](#)) The comments were divided as to whether youth use premium cigars. Some comments provided data demonstrating youth use of premium cigars. Others submitted mainly informal industry surveys and anecdotal evidence illustrating that the majority of premium cigar users are older adult males who smoke infrequently and often in a celebratory nature. A few other comments stated that patterns of use studies are inconclusive, because many studies do not differentiate between premium cigars and mass-produced market cigars.

——(Response) Although youth and young adults tend to smoke mass market cigar brands, they are also using premium cigars. In one study, researchers used data from the 2010-2011 NSDUH and Nielsen market scanner data to define a study sample consisting of 6,678 past 30-day cigar smokers who reported smoking a usual brand of cigars (Ref. [16](#), [Delnevo 59](#)). While many youth identified [a mass market cigars as their usual the brand they used most often](#), this analysis revealed [that 3.98 percent of youth aged 12 to 17 and 12.1 percent of young adults aged 18 to 25 also identified certain premium cigars to be their preferred brands the brand they smoked most often](#) (id.). Individuals in both cohorts reported at least eight different premium cigar brands among [their usual the brands they used most often](#), providing evidence that youth and young adults are smoking premium cigars (id.).

One study analyzing data from the 2012-2013 [National Adult Tobacco Survey \(NATS\)](#), with 60,192 participants 18 years and older found that of those smokers whose type of cigar

could be identified based on the attributes of their usual product (e.g., premium cigar smoker, little cigar smoker, cigarillo smoker), 19.9 percent were premium cigar smokers (Ref. [54](#), [Corey90](#)). More specifically, 15.1 percent of cigar smokers aged 18 to 29 years old, [who identified themselves as smoking every day, some days, or rarely](#), indicated ~~their usual~~[the](#) cigar [they usually smoked on those occasions](#) was a premium cigar (id.), which clearly illustrates that young adults are using premium cigars. Although some comments questioned the applicability of the NATS data on premium cigar use by youth and young adults (in part, because the study did not use the proposed definition of [“premium cigar”](#) in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#)), FDA is not persuaded. FDA does not believe it is necessary ~~to use a proposed for the~~ definition of [“premium cigars”](#) ~~to ascertain whether youth and young adults are using cigars that are typically referred to as premium cigars and different from small and traditional large cigars. Even if FDA were to finalize a~~ [in this study to match exactly the](#) definition [in the NPRM in order to draw inferences about the use](#) of [“premium cigars,”](#) ~~it would not necessarily have been the same as the proposed definition~~[different types of cigar products](#). These data, along with the NSDUH and Nielsen market scanner data discussed previously, clearly indicate that youth and young adults are using premium cigars.

Some comments stated the ~~above~~[previously mentioned](#) studies show only minimal premium cigar use by minors. By contrast, they relied on [Soldz et al.](#) (Ref. ~~70~~, [Soldz102](#)), which examined preferred cigar brands based on a survey of Massachusetts middle and high school students. Although the study did not include any particular premium cigars among the brands reported, 16.4 percent of youth cigars users were categorized as preferring a [“non-listed”](#) brand; which the authors suggested [“may largely consist of premium cigars.”](#) [The authors based this determination given the participants’ positive association between the “non-listed”](#)

[brands and parental cigar use and the negative association between the listed cigar brands and parental cigar use](#). Consequently, FDA does not believe this study demonstrates that youth do not use premium cigars. These comments also did not provide persuasive [peer-reviewed](#) evidence indicating that youth and young adults do not use these products. In addition, comments stating that youth and adult cigar use studies are not conclusive with regard to premium cigars because they do not differentiate between cigar types are not persuasive. Such studies show that youth and young adults smoke cigars, and other studies that do differentiate between product types, such as those previously discussed, indicate that youth and young adults do, in fact, use premium cigars.

In light of the ~~significant~~ health risks associated with the use of all types of cigars, FDA has selected Option 1 and is deeming all cigars, including premium cigars, in this rule.

——(Comment [93](#)) A few comments disagreed with FDA's characterization of one study cited in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) (Ref. [71](#), ~~Richter~~[103](#)) for the proposition that young adults often mistakenly view ~~noncigarette~~[non-cigarette](#) tobacco products, such as cigars, as safe alternatives to cigarettes. They noted that most young adult participants in the study rated shisha, herbal cigarettes, and herbal smokeless as "safer than cigarettes," but rated cigars and kreteks as more harmful.

——(Response) Many consumers ~~continue to hold mistaken beliefs~~[believe](#) that noncigarette tobacco products, including cigars, are less harmful than cigarettes. Although the overall study population did rate cigars as more harmful, there were subgroups (such as African Americans and non-Hispanic whites) that rated cigars from "a little safer" to "much safer."

Deeming all tobacco products, including premium cigars, to be subject to chapter IX of the

FD&C Act will help to alleviate mistaken beliefs that certain tobacco products are safe alternatives to cigarettes by virtue of the fact that they are not subject to FDA regulation.

——(Comment [94](#)) A few comments also stated that premium cigar use among young adults is irrelevant because Congress did not task FDA with protecting young adults who are lawfully permitted to purchase tobacco products.

——(Response) FDA is concerned with tobacco use by all age groups, including young adults and adults who may lawfully purchase these products. The Tobacco Control Act charges FDA with protecting the public health generally, not only the health of minors ([section 3 of the Tobacco Control Act](#)~~section 3~~). Nevertheless, FDA is particularly concerned with tobacco use by youth and young adults, as they are uniquely more susceptible to becoming addicted to nicotine than adults or older smokers. As discussed in the [proposed rule NPRM](#), most tobacco users begin using prior to the age of 18 and believing they will be able to quit. However, most youth are unable to stop tobacco use once they become addicted. Accordingly, FDA is taking steps to reduce the potential harm to youth and young adults from tobacco products.

——(Comment [95](#)) Many comments expressed concerns regarding flavored cigars, including flavored premium cigars, and their effect on youth initiation. Some comments concluded there is no evidence that minors consume flavored premium cigars, relying on one study in which the flavored premium cigar brands of youth use accounted for only a fraction (0.1 percent) of the less than 4 percent reported use of premium cigar brands (Ref. [16, Delnevo59](#)).

(Response) ~~The agency will consider these comments~~[FDA is announcing that it intends](#) in the future, ~~and, if FDA determines that it is appropriate for the protection of the public health,~~

~~to issue additional regulations—a proposed product standard that, if finalized, would eliminate characterizing flavors in all cigars including cigarillos and little cigars.~~

(Comment [96](#)) Some comments argued that premium cigars do not pose youth access issues because manufacturers and retailers do not market them to youth (i.e., they are not cheap, candy- and fruit-flavored, or easy to access) and age verification is already required at the point of sale limiting access to adults only. They relied, in part, on FDA's statements in the 1996 tobacco youth access rule in which FDA stated there was insufficient evidence of youth cigar use to warrant cigar regulation (61 FR 44396). The comments stated there is no evidence that the situation has changed since then and that exempting premium cigars from tobacco product regulation is also warranted because youth do not use premium cigars to any significant degree.

(Response) FDA disagrees. The Agency's statement regarding the availability of evidence to support cigar regulation was made 18 years ago and based on the evidence available at that time. In fact, FDA explicitly stated that there was insufficient evidence to regulate cigars ~~“at this time”~~ (i.e., 1996) (61 FR 44396 at 44422). Moreover, the 1996 rule was issued under the authority of the FD&C Act prior to the passage of the Tobacco Control Act. Consequently, one of the reasons FDA did not assert jurisdiction over cigars in the 1996 rule was because it did not have sufficient evidence ~~“that these products satisfy the definitions of drug and device in the act”~~ (61 FR 44396 at 44423). Cigars, including premium cigars, clearly do satisfy the definition of a ~~“tobacco product”~~ and evidence has become available since 1996 indicating that youth and young adults use cigars, including premium cigars (~~Ref. 54, Corey; Ref. 26, Nonnemaker; Ref. 16, Delnevo~~). ~~For example, researchers analyzed data from the 2012-2013 National Adult Tobacco Survey with 60,192 participants 18 years and older, which reported on premium cigar~~

~~use, and found that of those smokers that could be assigned a specific cigar type based on their usage, 19.9 percent were premium cigar smokers (Ref. 54, Corey). Refs. 59, 68, 90).~~

C. Patterns of Use Do Not Preclude Users From Experiencing Negative Health Effects

Proponents of Option 2 claimed that patterns of use preclude premium cigar smokers from experiencing the negative health effects of tobacco smoke because they smoke infrequently and do not inhale. However, despite our explicit requests in the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM, the comments did not include data indicating that premium cigar smokers are not subject to disease risk and addiction. FDA's responses to comments regarding these issues are included below as follows.

———(Comment 97) Many comments stated that a majority of cigar users are occasional smokers (~~2-6~~ two to six cigars per week) and do not inhale (citing Ref. 27, Mon. 9; Ref. 42, Turner). Refs. 69, 75). They also indicated that premium cigar use does not lead to addiction. Finally, some comments noted that occasional cigar users have not been studied in epidemiological research, and data for the lowest level of cigar users (~~1-2~~ one to two cigars per day) do not reveal mortality rates that are significantly different from nonsmokers (Ref. 45, Shapiro; Ref. 27, Mon. 9 Refs. 69, 79). However, other comments included evidence suggesting increased disease risk and nicotine dependence among infrequent cigar users and those reporting they do not inhale.

———(Response) FDA disagrees that patterns of use preclude premium cigar users from experiencing the negative health effects of these products. Even if they are used infrequently, all All cigars produce toxic cigar smoke (Refs. 35, Baker; Ref. 27, Mon. 9). Any 69). In addition, studies have shown that cigar use exposes the mouth and throat to tobacco smoke and smoking can cause several different types of cancer even without inhalation (Ref. 27,

~~Mon. 9; Ref. 72, Wyss~~Refs. 69, 104). For example, one study found an increased risk in head and neck cancers in people who were not cigarette smokers but had previously smoked only cigars (~~Ref. 72, Wyss~~).—104).

While inhaling cigar smoke poses much higher morbidity and mortality rates than not inhaling, significant risk still exists for those who do not inhale. Researchers found that the risk of stomach cancer mortality was significantly higher among cigar users who reported they did not inhale when compared to those who did not use tobacco products (~~Ref. 73, Chao~~105).

Additionally, among primary cigar smokers reporting that they do not inhale, relative mortality risk was still highly elevated for oral, esophageal, and laryngeal cancers (~~Ref. 48, Shanks~~).—83).

A recent systematic review of cigar smoking and mortality summarized the results of 22 published studies from 16 different prospective cohorts and found that primary cigar smoking was associated with increased risk of mortality from all causes, several types of cancers, coronary heart disease, and aortic aneurysm compared to nonsmokers (Ref. 82). Mortality risks were greater with increasing number of cigars smoked per day and self-reported level of inhalation; however, primary cigar smokers reporting no inhalation still had highly elevated mortality risks for oral, esophageal, and laryngeal cancers compared to nonsmokers (id.). In

addition, even if they do not intend to inhale and are not aware that they are doing so, most cigar smokers do inhale some amount of smoke (~~Ref. 25, Rodriguez; Ref. 55, McDonald~~Refs. 32, 34).

Although studies indicate that some ~~premium~~ cigar smokers may absorb less tobacco smoke, they also show that all cigar smoking is harmful. Regardless of whether ~~premium~~-cigar smokers inhale, they are still subject to the addictive and other adverse health effects of the product through absorption of nicotine (~~Ref. 25, Rodriguez; Ref. 74, Weglicki~~and harmful constituents (Refs. 32, 81)).

——(Comment [98](#)) Supporters of Option 2 claimed that premium cigar smokers use cigars less frequently than cigarette and smokeless tobacco users and, therefore, premium cigars should either not be regulated or should be subject to less regulation. They relied upon a study showing that the [adult](#) prevalence of everyday or occasional use of cigarettes was 18 percent and 2.6 percent for smokeless tobacco products, compared to 2 percent for cigars, cigarillos, and little filtered cigars (Ref. ~~75, Agaku~~[106](#)).

——(Response) ~~Although the frequency of use for specific cigar types has generally not been well characterized to date, studies that have included measures of cigar frequency of use or inhalation have found that even low levels of cigar smoke exposure present significant health risks. In addition, as described previously, all cigars present a significant risk of harm, and~~
~~basing~~(Response) Although the prevalence of cigar smoking in the U.S. population is lower than cigarette smoking, use of cigars still presents health risks. Researchers estimate that regular cigar smoking was responsible for approximately 9,000 premature deaths or almost 140,000 years of potential life lost among adults 35 years or older in 2010 (Ref. 68). As stated in the previous response, all cigars produce toxic cigar smoke (Refs. 35, 69). Any cigar use exposes the mouth and throat to tobacco smoke and studies have shown that cigar smoking can cause several different types of cancer even without inhalation (Refs. 69, 104). Health risks still exists for those who do not inhale. For example, researchers found that the risk of stomach cancer mortality was significantly higher among cigar users who reported they did not inhale when compared to those who did not use tobacco products (Ref. 107). Additionally, among primary cigar smokers reporting that they do not inhale, relative mortality risk was still highly elevated for oral, esophageal, and laryngeal cancers (Ref. 83). Therefore, all cigars expose users to toxic and cancer-causing substances and increase the risk of harm. Basing an exemption for premium

cigars on current use patterns would be inappropriate given that patterns may change over time and in response to regulation. Consequently, FDA has concluded that deeming all cigars, including premium cigars, is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

D. Responses to Other Cigar Comments

(Comment [99](#)) Some comments expressed concern that if FDA did not deem all tobacco products subject to regulation, the tobacco industry would adjust its products to fit the exemption for premium cigars in Option 2 and preferential economic treatment of certain manufacturers would result. These comments argued that just as manufacturers of roll-your-own tobacco changed their roll-your-own product to classify it as pipe tobacco to take advantage of positive tax treatment, manufacturers would seek similar ways to circumvent regulations and continue marketing products that are detrimental to public health.

(Response) Because FDA has selected Option 1 deeming all cigars, rather than a subset, for this final rule, these comments are moot.

(Comment [100](#)) Many comments stated that it is important for FDA to regulate all tobacco products, including cigars, pipe tobacco, and e-cigarettes in the same way, and that the Agency should ensure that a consistent set of regulatory criteria is applied to all tobacco products and nicotine delivery systems. According to the comments, failure to regulate all tobacco products would provide incentives for manufacturers to market new tobacco-based or tobacco-derived products that are unregulated and may induce people to switch to the unregulated products.

——(Response) FDA agrees that it is appropriate for the protection of the public health to regulate all tobacco-derived products meeting the definition of “tobacco product.”

There is inherent risk in all tobacco-derived products. Further, the Agency agrees that use patterns may change (and have changed) over time and in response to regulation.

——(Comment [101](#)) At least one comment expressed concern that FDA relied upon an abstract presented at the Conference for the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco (SRNT) as a basis for proposing Option 1. The comment stated that because the abstract was not a full peer-reviewed research article, stakeholders were unable to adequately respond to the claims made.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Additional analysis of the data that was the subject of this SRNT abstract was conducted and a paper was published and submitted to the docket, allowing for stakeholders to comment on it (Ref. [54, Corey90](#)). The abstract presented at SRNT also was not the sole basis for proposing Option 1. FDA appropriately characterized this as preliminary data and included additional data and information to support this proposed option. In addition, FDA has supplemented the information and data supporting Option 1, as discussed in section VII of this document, to provide additional evidence of premium cigar use by youth and young adults and to illustrate that the patterns of use for premium cigars do not preclude users from negative health effects.

(Comment [102](#)) Comments urged FDA to adopt a category-specific approach to regulation of cigars in order to more effectively address the variations in use patterns, manufacturing, and ingredients across the product category. Other comments, however, urged FDA to broadly regulate all cigars in the same way to reduce initiation and current use among youth. More specifically, comments advocated prohibiting flavors, including menthol, in all cigars, prohibiting self-service displays, and establishing minimum pack size requirements for all cigars.

~~————(Response) Because all cigars are inherently dangerous, FDA has concluded~~
(Response) Although the statute does not require FDA to make any public health finding in order to deem tobacco products, the Agency has determined that cigar use presents health risks and that all cigars should be brought under its regulatory authority. However, FDA is providing a compliance policy that will provide additional time for manufacturers of newly deemed products to comply with certain requirements, and which will reduce the burdens on manufacturers as they become regulated by FDA for the first time. As explained elsewhere in this document, FDA ~~will consider these comments~~is announcing that it intends in the future, ~~and if FDA were to ban the use of flavors in cigars, the Agency would propose~~issue a proposed product standard ~~under section 907 of the FD&C Act that would eliminate characterizing flavors in all cigars including cigarillos and little cigars.~~

(Comment 103) Some comments supporting Option 2 argued that FDA is not obligated to deem all tobacco products that meet the statutory definition of "tobacco product." They also stated that the intent of the Tobacco Control Act was to target tobacco products marketed to children and products that cause addiction, which is why "cigarette" and "little cigar" were specifically defined in the Tobacco Control Act and large and premium cigars were not similarly defined. Thus, they claim exempting premium cigars is consistent with Congress²¹ intent that premium cigars not be regulated, which they state is further evidenced by introduction of such legislation in Congress.

~~————(Response) FDA agrees that the Agency is not obligated to deem all tobacco products but disagrees with comments purporting to explain Congress²¹ intent to only regulate products marketed to children. The purpose of the Tobacco Control Act was to provide authority to FDA to regulate tobacco products and protect,~~ not only the health of minors, but also the

health of the public overall (section 3 of the Tobacco Control Act). While use of tobacco products by youth was and continues to be a significant focus of the law, it is clear that Congress did not intend that the Tobacco Control Act reach only products marketed to children, as they included many provisions applicable to tobacco products marketed to adults.

——(Comment [104](#)) Many comments expressed concern that premium cigar regulation would impose considerable costs and place excessive burdens on small businesses without quantifiable benefits. In particular, many comments stated that premarket review would be cost-prohibitive for premium cigar manufacturers, effectively eliminating their ability to release special editions and seasonal blends. They also claimed that HPHC testing and reporting and other regulatory requirements like the prohibition on free samples would be equivalent to a de facto ban on premium cigars. They also expressed concern about the political and economic impact of premium cigar regulation on two foreign nations given the potential impact on production and exports of their premium cigars to the United States.

Some comments also argued that an exemption for premium cigars is appropriate, because premium cigars are unique in the way that they are made, marketed, sold, purchased, and used. They stated that regulation would stifle innovation in the premium cigar market, devastate a long-time social and cultural phenomenon, and limit the freedoms of businesses and consenting adults to sell and purchase a legal product.

——(Response) FDA understands these concerns. ~~However, because FDA~~[The Agency](#) has determined that [cigar use presents health risks and that all cigars, including premium cigars, are inherently dangerous, it has concluded that it is appropriate to include all cigars in this regulation. should be brought under its regulatory authority.](#)

To assist newly regulated firms, FDA is announcing in this final rule a compliance policy to address some of the possible burdens suggested by comments (section IV.D of this document). For example, FDA does not intend to enforce the premarket review requirements against cigar manufacturers that make tobacco blending changes to address the natural variation of tobacco (e.g., tobacco blending changes due to variation in growing conditions) in order to maintain a consistent product. However, FDA intends to enforce the premarket requirements for products that have tobacco blending changes (including those involved in seasonal and boutique blends) that are intended to alter chemical or perception properties of the new tobacco product (e.g., nicotine level, pH, smoothness, harshness, ~~etc.~~). FDA also is working to determine an appropriate compliance policy to deal with HPHCs for newly deemed products and is intending to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting, and later a testing and reporting regulation as required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to ~~test and~~ report given the ~~three~~3-year HPHC reporting compliance period. —As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the guidance is issued well in advance of that time. In addition, as discussed in section IV.D of this document, FDA is announcing a compliance policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers (which likely would include premium cigar manufacturers), which states that FDA generally intends to grant small-scale tobacco manufacturers additional time to respond to SE deficiency letters and to not bring enforcement action against those small-scale tobacco product manufacturers who submit ingredient lists within 12 months of the effective date of the rule, and is granting these manufacturers an additional six-month compliance period for the requirements to submit tobacco health

documents. FDA believes that this compliance policy will help to assist these manufacturers with regulatory compliance.

FDA also understands concerns from cigar retailers about the effect that a ban on free samples could have on their ability to promote new products. FDA wishes to clarify that allowing prospective adult buyers to smell or handle a cigar is not considered the distribution of a “free sample” for the purpose of 21 CFR 1140.16 as long as the product is not actually consumed in the retail facility and the prospective buyer does not leave the facility with a free tobacco product (whole or part). Affording adult consumers the opportunity to handle the product will give them the ability to feel the resistance of the cigar’s structure, and allow them to clearly see the color of the product, which is an indication of the fermentation period for the tobacco. It also will allow users to capture the aroma of the cigar and the box (if the cigar is sold in a package). Therefore, it would not be considered a free sample if a prospective buyer smells the cigar while handling it. We believe that in most circumstances, other retail facilities, including ENDS retail establishments, can similarly allow customers to touch, hold, and smell their products without violating the free sample ban. However, if the prospective buyer lights and draws or puffs on the cigar to keep the cigar lit, or otherwise uses the free cigar or leaves the retail establishment with a free cigar, this would constitute a “free sample” in violation of § 1140.16.

——(Comment 105) Many comments requested that the exemption for premium cigars be extended to hand-operated, vintage machine-made cigars. Comments stated such cigars are indistinguishable from handmade premium cigars, are sold on the same shelves as premium cigars, and do not resemble mass-market cigars. The comments further argued that consumers perceive them to be just like value-priced handmade cigars and treating them differently would

create significant enforcement issues for FDA. They stated that, without an exemption, manufacturers of these products would be forced to close and eliminate jobs, negatively impacting the regional economy where such cigars are produced.

——(Response) As already stated, FDA has selected Option 1 deeming all cigars, rather than a subset, for this final deeming rule. Therefore, all cigars, including hand-operated, vintage machine-made cigars, are deemed and subject to the requirements of chapter IX of the FD&C Act and implementing regulations. Concerns noted by some comments about the burdens of regulation are addressed in sections IV.C and IV.D of this document.

——(Comment [106](#)) At least one comment expressed concern that retailers may not be able to determine whether a cigar meets all of the elements of the final definition of a “covered cigar.” Therefore, the comment stated that retailers should not be liable for a manufacturer’s improperly labeled premium cigars (similar to the retailer “safe harbor” for required warning labels and advertising in the proposed cigarette graphic warning rule (75 FR 69524 at 69535, ~~June 22, 2011~~[November 12, 2010](#))).

——(Response) ~~Because~~ FDA has selected Option 1, which requires all cigars (rather than a subset) to include the textual health warnings, ~~this comment is moot.~~ FDA also notes, however, that § 1143.5(a)(4) does provide a retailer “safe harbor” for required warning labels for packaging that contains a health warning; is supplied to the retailer by a manufacturer, importer, or distributor who has the required state, local, or Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB)-issued license or permit, if applicable; and is not altered by the retailer in a way that is material to the requirements of § 1143.5. Retailers must have the required warnings on advertisements as stated in § 1143.5(b)(1).

——(Comment [107](#)) Some comments stated that FDA has the authority to assert jurisdiction over all cigars and differentially apply regulations to certain cigars if shown to be appropriate based on scientific evidence. Thus, according to the comments, if it were established that premium cigar risk is of a different nature and degree than the risks of other types of cigars based on who uses them and how they are used, the Agency could apply its authority in a way that fits the risks posed by the product. These comments concluded that because of this, it is unnecessary and would be inappropriate to completely exempt premium cigars.

Similarly, some comments applied the notion of a "continuum of risk" to cigars. They stated that premium cigars are at the lower end of the spectrum (Ref. [43, Nutt76](#)) due to the common usage patterns (i.e., described as most frequently used by adults, on special occasions, and users do not inhale). Therefore, they urged that FDA regulate premium cigars in line with the notion of a continuum of risk.

——(Response) FDA agrees that a continuum of nicotine-delivering products does exist as demonstrated by the lower levels of toxicants in ENDS in comparison to cigarettes, and may warrant different requirements for products at different ends of this continuum. However, commenters have not substantiated their claims that the patterns of use for premium cigars preclude users from negative health effects. Instead, as discussed throughout this section, all cigars are dangerous and even infrequent cigar use poses a greater risk than not smoking, and lack of inhalation do not prevent the onset of cigar-related morbidity and mortality. Therefore, FDA has concluded that it is appropriate for all cigars to be brought under its regulatory authority.

——(Comment [108](#)) Several comments stated that it would be inappropriate and inaccurate for FDA to treat "cigars" as a single homogenous category or to simply overlay the existing regulatory framework for cigarettes onto the diverse suite of deemed products. They

further stated that because of the significant differences among cigar products, it is critical that FDA distinguish between the specific cigar subtypes in determining whether any, some, or all cigars should be subject to regulation. If FDA were to do otherwise, they believe the Agency would risk establishing an arbitrary and capricious, overly broad regulatory scheme that fails to meet its burden to protect the public health without imposing undue burden on the industry.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Upon review of comments and scientific evidence, FDA has determined that all cigars present a ~~significant~~ risk to public health and, consequently, should be deemed.

(Comment [109](#)) A few comments discussed different regulatory approaches for make-your-own cigar products (e.g., cigar wrappers and cigar tobacco). At least one comment suggested treating these products as cigars while others urged regulation of them in a manner similar to cigarette papers and roll-your-own tobacco.

(Response) With this final rule, make-your-own cigar products, including cigar wrappers and cigar tobacco, are tobacco products and subject to FDA's tobacco control authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. Cigar wrappers containing tobacco or tobacco-derived nicotine and cigar tobacco packaged and sold individually are also subject to the warning requirement for "~~covered tobacco products~~" found in ~~section §~~ 1143.3.

——(Comment [110](#)) At least one comment stated that FDA should not permit manufacturers to self-classify their products as cigarettes or cigars, and if premium cigars are exempted, should not permit self-classification of cigars as premium or nonpremium.

——(Response) Regardless of how they may be classified by their manufacturers, cigars and cigarettes will be classified based on the definitions included in this final rule.

~~_____~~(Comment [111](#)) A few comments argued that bias existed for any study or analysis cited in the ~~preamble~~[NPRM](#) that was written or contributed to by FDA employees. These comments were concerned that FDA employees generating and analyzing data did so to support the proposed regulation of cigars.

~~_____~~(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA notes that most of the studies cited in the ~~proposed rule and~~[NPRM that were](#) authored by FDA employees ~~were~~[have been](#) published in peer-reviewed journals. Where ~~FDA used a study that was the~~[NPRM discussed research results](#) presented at [a professional conference](#), SRNT ~~(and, but~~ not yet included in a peer-reviewed journal) ~~in the proposed rule~~, FDA clearly stated so and specifically requested comment. ~~(79 FR~~[at 23151\)](#). That research has since been published (Ref. 90).

~~_____~~(Comment [112](#)) Some comments criticized the methodologies used by researchers in studies FDA cited in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) (e.g., Ref. ~~46;59~~). ~~For example, they claimed that the~~ Delnevo, et al. study regarding youth use of flavored cigars (id.) ~~was flawed, because the study cites any use of the brand by youth as use of the flavored variety of that cigar brand (even though the respondent might use an unflavored variety of that cigar). The comments had additional concerns regarding the study, such as missing data on cigar brand from 13 percent of cigar smokers, as well as concerns about whether study participants provided accurate information regarding cigar brand used, and whether the study population was representative of the U.S. population.)~~ Other comments stated that studies in peer-review journals are politically biased and that studies that oppose tobacco product regulation are often prohibited from publication.

~~_____~~(Response) FDA disagrees. ~~FDA cited peer reviewed studies in the proposed rule and relies upon peer reviewed studies to support the decisions included in this final rule.~~

(Response) The Delnevo, et al. publication found that youth and young adults are significantly more likely than older adults to prefer cigar brands that are more likely to be flavored (Ref. 59). Because no national data directly compared youth and adult flavored cigar use within the same study, Delnevo and colleagues conducted an ecological analysis combining data from the 2010-2011 NSDUH on cigar brand smoked most often, with Nielsen data indicating the percent of the cigar brands' market share that are labeled as flavored cigar products. These results, coupled with information on the prevalence of flavored cigar use from studies restricted to youth or to young adults, provide additional indirect evidence of the popularity of flavored cigars among younger cigar smokers as compared to older adult cigar smokers. Especially when coupled with research results on the prevalence of flavored cigar use in studies restricted to youth or young adults, this study provides additional supporting evidence of the widespread appeal of flavored varieties of these products among young Americans. The comments noted that, in the 2010-11 NSDUH, 13 percent of cigar smokers did not report a usual cigar brand and expressed concern about the ability of those who reported their usual cigar brands to do so accurately. Some cigar smokers may in fact not actually have a cigar brand they smoke most often and consequently did not provide a brand response, while other respondents may have chosen not to provide their usual brand information. Among the latter group, missing data is always a concern, although there is no evidence from the study to suggest that those who provided brand information were systematically different than those who did not. Additionally, the comments did not provide evidence to substantiate the concern that respondents were not reporting the brand names they actually used. Lastly, FDA does not agree with concerns about representativeness of the survey. The NSDUH is designed to be representative of the U.S. civilian, non-institutionalized population, ages 12 and older

<http://www.samhsa.gov/data/population-data-nsduh>). FDA does not rely on any single study to support decisions included in this final rule. FDA cited many peer reviewed studies in the NPRM and relies upon many peer-reviewed studies to support the decisions included in this final rule, including the Delnevo publication.

VIII. Regulation of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (Including E-Cigarettes)

and the Continuum of Nicotine-Delivering Products

In the preamble to the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#), FDA ~~recognized the existence of a continuum of~~ noted that there are distinctions in the health risks presented by various nicotine-delivering products ~~that pose differing levels of risk to the individual user and~~. [FDA](#) requested comment as to whether [how](#) e-cigarettes should be regulated ~~differently~~ based on this continuum of risk. We explained that some studies have revealed the existence of toxicants in both the e-cigarette liquid and the exhaled aerosol of some e-cigarettes but that we do not have sufficient data to determine what effects e-cigarettes have on public health at the population level. We also noted that some individuals report using e-cigarettes to successfully quit smoking, but we expressed concerns about dual use of e-cigarettes and combusted tobacco products and the possibility that flavored e-liquids are leading children to initiate tobacco use with e-cigarettes.

In this final rule, FDA clarifies that although there are many types of ~~electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS)~~ [ENDS](#) (including e-cigarettes, e-cigars, e-hookah, vape pens, personal vaporizers, and electronic pipes), all ~~of them~~ are subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities with this final deeming rule. Comments regarding e-cigarettes, including comments on how the products should be regulated in light of this continuum, and FDA's responses are discussed in the following sections.

A. Terminology

(Comment [113](#)) Some comments expressed confusion as to what is encompassed by the term “e-cigarette.” Other comments stated that the “electronic smoking devices” covered under this deeming rule should include e-cigarettes, e-cigars, e-hookah, and vape pens.

(Response) FDA agrees that electronic nicotine delivery systems or ENDS are sold under several different names including e-cigarettes, e-cigars, e-hookah, vape pens, personal vaporizers, and electronic pipes. These products all meet the definition of “tobacco product” and, therefore, under this rule, all are subject to FDA’s tobacco control authorities, regardless of a novel name or heating source. In addition, the definition of tobacco product includes components and parts (the objects intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product that are not accessories) (~~such as e.g.~~ e-liquids, tanks, cartridges, ~~podss, and pods,~~ wicks, atomizers), which, under this rule, have also been deemed to be subject to FDA’s authority under chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

B. Prevalence

In the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#), FDA expressed concern about the increase in prevalence of the newly deemed products, particularly the alarming rise in e-cigarette use by middle school and high school students. The comments included peer-review studies, focus group results, and ~~anecdotal~~ data regarding the prevalence of ENDS use.

(Comment [114](#)) Some comments noted that it was difficult to fully ascertain prevalence of use of these products because they are sold under many different names. However, they generally agreed that the prevalence of e-cigarette use has increased in recent years, citing peer-reviewed studies and data from state or regional surveys (e.g., Ref. ~~76,~~ [Corey Wang108](#)). For example, comments cited the 2013 North Carolina Youth Tobacco Survey (NCYTS) and

expressed concern that, while the current cigarette smoking rates among North Carolina high school students decreased in recent years, the overall current use of tobacco products increased from 22.5 percent in 2011 to 24.5 percent in 2013. In particular, the rate of e-cigarette use increased from 1.7 percent in 2011 to 7.7 percent in 2013, and 2.7 percent of high school students who had never tried a cigarette indicated that they were considering using e-cigarettes in the next year.

However, some of these comments believed that the data showing an increase in e-cigarette use among youth and young adults only reflects their experimentation (and not long-term use) and that there are no data showing that this experimentation leads to long-term use or dual use with combusted tobacco products. Others stated that although e-cigarette use may be increasing among youth and young adults, this increase is due to the fact that young adult smokers are switching to e-cigarettes, as are adult smokers.

——(Response) FDA agrees with comments stating that the prevalence of use of the newly deemed tobacco products has been increasing, which further substantiates the need for this final rule. FDA remains concerned about the rise in use of newly deemed products by youth and young adults, particularly the increase in use of ENDS. As we stated in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) and throughout this document, long-term studies are not yet available to determine whether these youth and young adults are only experimenting with tobacco use, becoming established ENDS users or dual users, or transitioning to combusted products. In addition, there is not sufficient evidence to conclude that youth and young adults are using ENDS as a means to quit smoking.

——(Comment [115](#)) Many comments [believed/contended](#) that the great majority of e-cigarette users consist of former smokers and those trying to quit smoking, rather than those who are initiating tobacco use with e-cigarettes (e.g., Ref. [77, Fars-14109](#)). The comments included

data from regional surveys indicating that even where there has been a significant increase in youth and young adult e-cigarette use, the increase is seen in experimenters and not daily users. For example, a few comments referred to a report commissioned by Public Health England which referred to a study that found that only ~~one~~1 percent of ~~sixteen~~16 to ~~eighteen~~18-year-old never smokers have experimented with e-cigarettes and few, if any, progress to sustained use (Ref. ~~78, Britton~~).110).

~~————(Response) Although research suggests many ENDS users are primarily former smokers or current smokers seeking to quit, there is evidence that some nonsmokers have begun using ENDS (Ref. 76, CDC 6235). To date, it is unclear whether new initiates will continue ENDS use or transition to conventional cigarette use. FDA is investing in long term, population level research, such as the Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health (PATH)(Response) Data reported by the CDC’s National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), which provides the first estimates of e-cigarette use among U.S. adults from a nationally representative household interview study, indicate that current cigarette smokers and recent former smokers (i.e., those individuals who quit smoking within the past year) were more likely to use e-cigarettes than long-term former smokers (i.e., those individuals who quit smoking more than one year ago) and adults who had never smoked (Ref. 24). In addition, the CDC states that current cigarette smokers who had tried to quit smoking in the past year were more likely to use e-cigarettes than those who had not tried to quit (id.). It is noted that it cannot be determined by the research findings: (1) whether former cigarette smokers who now exclusively use e-cigarettes would have ceased smoking cigarettes regardless of e-cigarette use; and (2) whether the e-cigarette use preceded or followed smoking cessation. Similar patterns have been observed in Europe, where researchers found that "e-cigarette use was more likely among smokers who had made a past year quit attempt" when compared to smokers who had not (Ref. 111). As discussed in further detail in response to Comment 144, a meta-analysis of 15 cohort studies, 3~~

cross-sectional studies, and two clinical trials (one RCT, one non-RCT) found that cigarette smokers who also used e-cigarettes had statistically significantly worse quit rates than those cigarette smokers who did not use e-cigarettes (Ref. 112).

However, FDA also remains concerned about the dramatic rise in ENDS use among youth: between 2011 and 2014, past 30 day e-cigarette use among high school students increased nearly 800 percent from 1.5 percent in 2011 to 13.4 percent in 2014 (Ref. 22), and between 2011 and 2013, the number of never-smoking youth who had reported ever using an e-cigarette increased 3-fold, from 79,000 to more than 263,000 youth (Ref. 113). The Surgeon General has stated that adolescents appear to be particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of nicotine on the central nervous system (Ref. 9), and ENDS may deliver as much nicotine as other tobacco products (Ref. 114).

FDA is investing in long-term, population-level research, such as the PATH Study, to help assess the likelihood that previous nonusers of tobacco who experiment with ENDS will initiate regular tobacco use over time. Such longitudinal studies can further assess the factors associated with potential smoking cessation among e-cigarette users.

(Comment 116) The comments generally agreed that youth are increasingly using e-cigarettes, but disagreed as to the product's impact on nicotine addiction. As FDA noted in the proposal and as discussed by many comments, the CDC found that ever-use of e-cigarettes by middle and high school students in the United States increased from 3.3 percent in 2011 to 6.8 percent in 2012 (Ref. 76, Corey Wang108). While the majority of comments recognized an increase in dual use, some suggested that this was not an issue because youth are using e-cigarettes to quit smoking, resulting in some dual use until they can completely abstain from conventional cigarettes (Ref. 79, Camenga115).

_____(Response) FDA remains concerned about the rise in ENDS use among youth and young adults as well as the trends in dual use of ENDS and combusted products in both youth and adults (Ref. ~~80, Dutra~~ 116). In addition, as stated in the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM and throughout this final rule, all tobacco products are potentially addictive and ~~most~~ some ENDS ~~contain~~ may deliver as much nicotine as other tobacco products. (Ref. 20). The Surgeon General has stated that adolescents appear to be particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of nicotine on the central nervous system (Ref. ~~24, 14-SG~~ 9). FDA believes that this final deeming rule, along with the minimum age restrictions and health warning requirements, is ~~the first~~ an important step toward combatting this rise in tobacco product use among youth and young adults.

A recently published paper by Friedman (Ref. 42) looked at youth smoking rates in states that enacted early bans on sales of e-cigarettes to minors and concluded, based on state-level data available through 2013, that the decline in adolescent smoking rates slowed in states that enacted restrictions on access to ENDS by minors before January 2013, relative to states that did not. Given the various issues with this study (see previous discussion regarding this publication in response to comment 33), FDA acknowledges this paper as a first attempt to study potential impacts of youth ENDS access restrictions, but emphasizes that further research will be needed to explore the effects of this rule on product switching and dual usage.

C. Toxicity and Nicotine in E-Liquid and Aerosol

Although FDA noted ~~the potential benefits of~~ in the NPRM that we do not currently have sufficient data about e-cigarettes ~~in the proposed rule but also~~ and similar products to fully determine what effects they have on the public health, we identified ~~potential~~ concerns regarding the toxicants in e-liquid and the exhaled aerosol and the nicotine delivery from e-cigarettes.

Comments were divided on the safety and toxicity of e-liquids, e-cigarettes, and the exhaled aerosol.

——(Comment [117](#)) The comments expressed concerns that e-cigarette users subject themselves to dangerous constituents, including formaldehyde and other toxicants. One comment stated that the release of formaldehyde occurs only when the voltage on e-cigarettes is set to 4.8 volts or higher (Ref. [81, Kosmider67](#)). Some comments also submitted studies showing the existence of other e-liquid constituents, including prescription weight loss and erectile dysfunction drugs (Ref. [82, Palazzolo117](#)).

——(Response) Studies show that e-liquid tobacco products contain nicotine, propylene glycol, glycerin, tobacco specific nitrosamines, tobacco alkaloids, carbonyls, ethylene glycol, diacetyl, and acetyl propionyl (Ref. [84, Etter; Ref. 85, Kim; Ref. 86, Hutzler](#)).[Refs. 19, 118, 119](#)). Chemicals such as nicotine, carbonyls, tobacco specific nitrosamines, heavy metals, and volatile organic compounds have been identified in e-cigarette aerosols (Ref. [84, Etter; 85, Kim; 86, Hutzler; 87, Gon-13; 88, Ohta; 89, Ueh](#)).[Refs. 19, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122](#)).

In addition, several studies substantiated the data included with comments, finding that flavored e-liquids contain chemicals that could be dangerous to consumers when inhaled. For example, researchers in one study tested 159 e-liquids with sweet flavors, such as toffee, chocolate, and caramel, and found that almost three quarters of the samples (74 percent) contained diacetyl or acetyl propionyl (Ref. [89A, Farsalinos123](#)), both of which pose known inhalation risks (e.g, Ref. [124](#)). Among those that tested positive, nearly half of the e-liquids in the study could expose users to levels that exceed recommended workplace limits for breathing these chemicals (Ref. 89D, DOL). ~~Among those that tested positive, nearly half of the e-liquids in the study could expose users to levels that exceed recommended workplace limits for~~

~~breathing these chemicals (Ref. 89A, Farsalinos) 123). An additional recent study analyzed 51 types of flavored e-cigarettes for total mass of diacetyl, 2,3-pentanedione, and acetoin (Ref. 125). Researchers detected diacetyl above the laboratory limit of detection 39 of the 51 flavors tested, ranging from <limit of qualification (LOQ) to 239 µg/e-cigarette. 2,3-pentanedione and acetoin were also detected in 23 and 46 of the 51 flavors tested at concentrations up to 64 and 529 µg/e-cigarette (id.). It is noted that the study involved a convenience sample of 51 types of flavored e-cigarettes and may not be representative of the types of e-liquids currently available to users. Absent a regulatory standard, FDA acknowledges that it may not be possible to account for the wide variability of concentrations of constituents in the flavors of current ENDS products.~~

Another study analyzed ~~thirty~~³⁰ e-cigarette liquids and found that many flavors, including cotton candy and bubble gum, contained aldehydes, a class of chemicals that can cause respiratory irritation, airway constriction, and other effects (Ref. ~~89B, Tierney~~¹²⁶). Specifically, researchers noted that two flavors, a dark chocolate and a wild cherry, would expose e-cigarette users to more than twice the recommended workplace safety limit for the aldehydes vanillin and benzaldehyde (~~id.~~¹²⁷). Similarly, researchers found that several cinnamon-flavored e-liquids contained a chemical, cinnamaldehyde, which researchers stated was highly toxic to human cells in laboratory tests (Ref. ~~89C, Behar~~¹²⁷).

Some studies have found that lower levels of toxicants are observed in e-cigarette aerosols than in combusted tobacco smoke (Ref. ~~87, Gon~~¹³¹~~122~~). FDA recognizes that specific product design parameters, such as voltage, can affect toxicant deliveries (Ref. ~~81, Kosmider~~⁶⁷). ~~However, we also recognize that specific design parameters~~⁶⁷). For example, some ENDS devices and some power levels of operating ENDS devices have been reported to deliver more formaldehyde than other ENDS products and conventional cigarettes (Refs. 67, 128, 129) and

can affect the public health. In addition, a 2010 study conducted by the Virginia Commonwealth University determined that in a controlled evaluation of smokers naïve to the use of e-cigarettes and using a particular model of e-cigarette, acute effects of using the product did not result in measurable levels of nicotine or carbon monoxide, although e-cigarettes did suppress nicotine/tobacco abstinence symptom ratings (Ref. 130). Moreover, a recent evaluation of the relative health risks of ENDS products conducted by Public Health England has drawn attention to scientific reviews concluding that ENDS are "likely to be much less, if at all, harmful to users or bystanders" and a prior paper that reported the findings from an international expert panel of academics. Employing an analysis model that quantifies the relative health harms of 12 tobacco products using a series of 14 harm criteria, the expert panel determined that while cigarettes scored 100 percent in their assessment of maximum relative harm, ENDS products were rated to have only 4 percent maximum relative harm, which contributed to Public Health England's assessment that ENDS are around 95 percent safer than smoking combusted cigarettes (Ref. 131; see Refs. 76, 132).

———The recent evaluation's use of the prior paper has several limitations, and the prior paper itself observed that it was reporting outcomes based on the decision-conferencing process from a group of experts who were selected without any "formal criterion," though "care was taken to have raters from many different disciplines" and primarily based on geographic location "to ensure a diversity of expertise and perspective" (Ref. 76). In addition, the authors acknowledge that there is a "lack of hard evidence for the harms of most products on most of the criteria" (Refs. 76, 133, 134). The authors did not explain what scientific information was available to the experts upon which they should base their ratings. The authors did not explain the derivation of the quantitative assessment of each harm criterion. It is unclear if the authors

carried out or referenced a quantitative risk analysis, a standard practice when assessing relative risk, nor did the authors indicate that they used mean levels of exposure to HPHCs in users or other quantitative evidence as an approximation of risk. In addition, population effects appear to be largely outside the scope of this analysis since the manuscript did not address the likelihood that the characteristics of the products would make them more or less likely to appeal to new users, be used in conjunction with other tobacco products or discourage quitting. They did not describe an assessment of population effects such as a quantitative assessment of youth use prevalence. FDA does not find the beliefs reported in the prior paper (Ref. 76) to be sufficiently conclusive on the relative risks of using different tobacco products.¹⁷ However, previous studies detected the presence of aldehydes, especially formaldehyde, in the vapor from some ENDS to exist at levels much lower than in cigarette smoke (Ref. 132). Moreover, across several Japanese brands evaluated by another researcher in a self-published website, under some use conditions, ENDS released 1/50th of the level of formaldehyde released by cigarettes (Ref. 135). The highest level detected was six times lower than the level in cigarette smoke (id.). A clinical investigation comparing the levels of toxicants and carcinogen metabolites in the urine of e-cigarette users and combusted cigarette users found that e-cigarette users had significantly lower levels of all evaluated toxicants, which included acrolein and crotonaldehyde (Ref. 136). But other research, published as a letter to the editor of the New England Journal of Medicine, reported that ENDS devices operated at 5 volts delivered a mean of 390+/-90 µg per 10 puff sample which is greater than 150 µg, the estimated average delivery of formaldehyde than conventional cigarettes. No formaldehyde-releasing agents were detected when ENDS were operated at 3.3 volts (Ref. 128).

¹⁷ In addition, at least one source has identified other flaws with the expert panel employed in the Nutt et al. report, including potential conflicts of interest and no prespecified expertise on tobacco control among the panel members (Ref. 133).

A subsequent peer-reviewed article on 5 variable-power ENDS devices found large variations in formaldehyde delivery across devices (Ref. 129). The first device yielded more formaldehyde than combustible cigarettes at every power level tested, and the second device delivered more formaldehyde at the highest power level tested; the remaining three devices delivered less formaldehyde than combustible cigarettes at all power levels tested (id.) The same research found that aldehyde delivery varied by 750-fold from one ENDS device to another (id.). The article referenced in one comment (Ref. 67) reported that increasing the voltage from 3.2 to 4.8 volts increased formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, and acetone levels from 4-fold to over 200-fold.

(Comment 118) The comments in support of limited or no regulation for e-cigarettes cited studies showing that e-cigarette use resulted in improvements in many health indicators of former cigarette smokers. Most of these comments relied upon published literature concluding that, despite the lack of long-term health data, e-cigarettes are “likely to be much less, if at all, harmful to users and bystanders” (Ref. 90, Hajek–132). They also noted that clinical studies to date indicate that e-cigarettes generally are well-tolerated and do not produce serious adverse events following use for up to 24 months (Ref. 91, Polosa; Ref. 92, Caponn); Refs. 107, 137). Many relied upon an analysis of the 47 e-cigarette adverse event reports FDA received from 2007 to 2012, which found that only 8 of them were considered serious (e.g., pneumonia, congestive heart failure, disorientation, seizure, hypotension, facial burns, chest pain and rapid heartbeat, infant choking on an e-cigarette cartridge, ~~and~~ loss of vision) (Ref. 93, Chen138).

Some comments also stated that e-cigarettes provide subjective health benefits to current smokers. For example, in one Internet survey of 1,347 current e-cigarette users, among those who were former smokers, 75 percent reported improved breathing, less coughing, and feeling healthier overall after switching to e-cigarettes (Ref. 94, Dawkins139). They also claimed that e-

cigarette use leads to improved sense of smell and taste and general physical status (Ref. [77, Fars 14\),109](#)). In addition, they stated that some of the harms caused by smoking can be reversed by switching to e-cigarettes (Ref. [95, Fars 13140](#)).

——(Response) FDA agrees that the majority of reported adverse events appear to have been not serious. The FDA adverse event reporting system has inherent limitations as a measure of the impact of e-cigarettes since ENDS are a newly deemed product and reporting adverse events associated with tobacco products (including e-cigarettes and other ENDS) is voluntary; therefore, the reports received ~~likely underrepresent~~ may have underrepresented the true number and types of adverse events associated with ENDS. The data cannot be used to calculate incidence (occurrence) rates or to estimate risk. Moreover, FDA has concerns with relying upon the types of short-term studies provided in the comments. Short-term studies fail to analyze the exposure risk of tobacco use and inhalation that damage health over a lifetime of repeated, extended exposure. Given the relatively new entrance of ENDS on the market, consumers have not had the duration of use for researchers to fully assess the morbidity and mortality effects for ENDS on either the individual or the population.

FDA recognizes that completely switching from combusted cigarettes to ENDS may ~~provide health benefits to reduce the risk of tobacco-related disease for~~ individuals currently using combusted tobacco products, given the products' comparative placements on the continuum of nicotine-delivering products. A recent review from Public Health England (discussed in greater detail in response to Comment 117) suggests substantial reductions in the exposure to harmful constituents typically associated with smoking in ENDS products compared to cigarettes, and that most of the chemicals causing smoking-related disease from combusted tobacco use are absent and the chemicals that are present pose limited danger (Ref. 131). A

scientific review of published studies of the toxicity of certain e-liquids found that "[e-cigarette] aerosol can contain some of the toxicants present in tobacco smoke, but at levels which are much lower. Long-term health effects of [e-cigarette] use are unknown but compared with cigarettes, [e-cigarettes] are likely to be much less, if at all, harmful to users or bystanders" (Ref. 132). ENDS products have been found in some studies to release aldehydes at much lower levels than that in cigarette smoke, with one website posting stating that, across several Japanese brands, under some use conditions, that ENDS products release 1/50th the level of formaldehyde released in cigarettes (Ref. 133).

However, study results have been inconsistent about the effects of these products. Some short-term studies have shown suggest that exposure to certain ENDS produces no change in ENDS may not affect heart rate, cardiac function, lung function, or complete blood count indices, lung function, cardiac function, or carbon monoxide levels, and that dry cough, dry mouth, and throat irritation decrease with continued use (Ref. 96, Callahan; Ref. 97, Flouris; Ref. 98, Fars 13 EUR; to the extent of conventional cigarettes (Refs. 130, 141, 142). A literature search, however, concluded that the current scientific evidence on short-term effects are limited and there are no adequate data on long-term health effects (Ref. 99, Vansielke 143). Other studies have demonstrated increase in mean heart rate and inflammatory measures (such as white blood cells) and changes in lung function after use (Ref. 100, Spindle; 97, Flouris 12; 101, Flouris 12; 102, Chorti). Refs. 141, 142, 144, 145). Some research has found that there are some ENDS devices and some power levels of operating ENDS devices that deliver more formaldehyde than other ENDS products and conventional cigarettes (Refs. 67, 128, 129). Further, the review by Hajek et al. (Ref. 90, Hajek 132) referred to in this comment as showing health benefits and finding a lack of negative health effects of e-cigarettes, may have limited

generalizability due to the variability of e-cigarette products. The authors expressly recognized that there are many deficiencies in the available data.

——(Comment [119](#)) Some comments believed that FDA should not be concerned about e-liquids because they are restricted to the same nicotine levels as other products (e.g., cigarettes, hookah, smokeless tobacco, ~~or~~ NRTs).

——(Response) FDA disagrees with comments stating that the Agency should not be concerned with ENDS use. First, a direct comparison of the nicotine level in cigarettes (and other currently regulated tobacco products) with the nicotine level in e-liquids is not a particularly helpful or relevant comparison. More helpful and clinically meaningful is the comparison between the amount of nicotine delivered to the user after using a cigarette (or other conventional tobacco product) versus the amount of nicotine delivered after using an ENDS (Ref. [103](#), ~~Gon Hajek~~[146](#)). Therefore, even if an e-liquid has the same nicotine level, it may deliver a different level of nicotine than the comparator product. It is also possible that comparable nicotine delivery consistently produced by ENDS that meet the requirements of the Tobacco Control Act may increase the facilitation of product switching from cigarettes to ENDS—which could (with appropriate regulatory oversight) potentially reduce the overall health harm caused by combusted tobacco. Further research is necessary to determine the causal factors that influence product switching from cigarettes to ENDS (or vice versa) and the subsequent health impacts.

Second, FDA disagrees with the notion that e-liquids are restricted to the same level of nicotine as other tobacco products. E-liquids are available in a wide range of nicotine concentrations, but delivery to the user is based on multiple factors, including the humectant in the e-liquid, the temperature to which the e-liquid is heated, the user experience, device designs,

and design modifications (Ref. ~~104, Cheng~~147). Data suggest that experienced ENDS users are able to achieve clinically significant nicotine levels and levels similar to those generated by traditional cigarettes (~~Ref. 105, Gon Kuma~~). Refs. 114, 148, 149, 150). Moreover, heating the e-liquids to higher temperatures and using the ENDS in ways other than intended (~~such as e.g.,~~ dripping the e-liquid directly onto the atomizer) may result in nicotine delivery that is actually higher than that of a conventional cigarette (Ref. ~~106, Grana Benowitz~~.16).

Third, FDA disagrees with the premise that the Agency should not be concerned with tobacco products that may have lower nicotine levels than cigarettes or other tobacco products, as may be the case with some ENDS. Even if ~~the~~ ENDS products have lower levels of nicotine, they still have the potential to addict users, particularly youth and young adults, as discussed in section VIII.C of this document. As the Surgeon General has stated, nicotine is the primary addictive substance in tobacco products (Ref. ~~24, 14 SG9~~). Regardless of the nicotine content of the tobacco products, FDA believes that deeming tobacco products will result in significant public health benefits and that the additional restrictions imposed by this rule are appropriate for the protection of the public health.

——(Comment 120) One comment expressed concern about the lack of research regarding the environmental impacts of e-cigarette use and storage.

——(Response) FDA is funding studies regarding environmental impacts due to ENDS manufacturing, use, and disposal following use. In addition, FDA has been conducting a series of public workshops to obtain information on e-cigarettes and their impact on public health. Potential environmental impacts were discussed during the first workshop (79 FR 55815, September 17, 2014).

——(Comment [121](#)) Some comments expressed concern about the health effects of propylene glycol exposure from e-cigarette use. They also stated that the use of glycerol and propylene glycol, both of which are humectants, may cause uninformed users to become inadvertently dehydrated.

——(Response) FDA recognizes that information about the health effects of the constituents in e-liquids and ENDS aerosols in both users and nonusers is limited and that this issue should be explored to better understand the impacts of these products on the population health.

——(Comment [122](#)) As FDA noted in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), one study detected diethylene glycol in one e-cigarette cartridge (79 FR 23142 at 23157). A few comments took issue with FDA's reliance on the study, ~~stating that because~~ the amount of diethylene glycol reported ~~in the cartridge~~ was so low that it was unlikely to cause harm to consumers and had not been replicated in other scientific studies to date ~~(Ref. 107, Burstyn).~~

——(Response) FDA appropriately characterized this study in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), stating that diethylene glycol “~~”~~ was found in only 1 of 18 cartridges studied and it was not found at all in another 16 studies~~”~~ (79 FR 23142 at 23157). FDA agrees that the amount found was low, but reiterates that diethylene glycol is a toxicant and, therefore, is a cause for concern.

——(Comment [123](#)) We received many comments regarding the safety of the aerosol that is emitted from e-cigarettes. These comments expressed concern that individuals incorrectly believe that the aerosol emitted from e-cigarettes is harmless and stated that e-cigarette aerosol is not simply water “~~”~~vapor~~,”~~ as is sometimes advertised (Ref. ~~108, Grana Ling~~[151](#)). They provided studies indicating that the primary or mainstream and exhaled or secondhand e-

cigarette aerosols have been found to contain at least 10 chemicals known to cause cancer, birth defects, or other reproductive harm (Ref. ~~31, Grana WHO65~~). They also noted that potentially harmful constituents have been identified in some e-liquids and their aerosol, including tobacco-specific nitrosamines, heavy metals, and carbonyls, albeit at significantly lower levels than in cigarette smoke (~~Ref. 87, Gon 13; Ref. 109, Schober; Ref. 110, McAuley; Ref. 111, Cheah; Ref. 112, Williams; Ref. 85, Kim; Ref. 113, Schripp~~).Refs. 65, 118, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156). Studies have shown that the primary aerosol contains measurable amounts of nicotine, which can have an impact on both users and nonusers (Ref. ~~101, Flo Chortis~~).—144, 147).

We also received comments stating that the aerosol is completely harmless or significantly less harmful than tobacco smoke from combusted tobacco products; the comments included data from peer-reviewed publications (Refs. 144, 156, 157, 158), a presentation at a professional conference (Ref. ~~114, Pellegrino; Ref. 113, Schripp; Ref. 115, Romagna; Ref. 97, Flouris~~)159), and individual company testing. These comments also submitted studiesresearch that were~~was~~ not peer-reviewed, which stated that there were no key tobacco smoke toxicants in e-cigarettes (Ref. ~~116, Laugesen~~)160).

———(Response) FDA recognizes that the aerosol that is exhaled by users of some e-cigarettes and similar electronic apparatus may not pose as much harm as smoke emitted from combusted tobacco products. However, given that studies do indicate that both nicotine and other toxicants are found in the exhaled aerosol, limiting exposures must be considered. (See section XII of this document regarding the potential for product standards and tobacco product manufacturing practices on manufacturers of newly deemed products.) In the absence of short- and long-term studies on the potential impact of secondary exposure to aerosol, FDA cannot conclude that the aerosol is harmless. Moreover, as stated throughout this document, the

Tobacco Control Act does not require that FDA make a finding that a product is harmful in order to deem it to be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act; FDA is authorized to deem any product that meets the definition of a "tobacco product" pursuant to section 901 of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [124](#)) A few comments stated that the aerosol must be safe because the primary constituents of the liquid that generate the e-cigarette aerosol are propylene glycol and glycerin. They stated that inhalation of such constituents is harmless because they are designated as “generally recognized as safe” (GRAS) by FDA. They cited animal inhalation studies showing limited toxicological effects from either propylene glycol or glycerin (e.g., Ref. [447](#); [Werley161](#)).

——(Response) FDA disagrees with comments claiming that the aerosol is safe due to certain components being recognized as GRAS. It is important to note that the definition of food additive in section 201(s), and its exclusion of GRAS substances, relates to intended uses that may reasonably be expected to result, directly or indirectly, in its becoming a component or otherwise affecting the characteristics of any food ([Section 201\(s\) of the FD&C Act](#)). E-liquid is not food or intended for ingestion; therefore, the fact that propylene glycol and glycerin have been designated GRAS for food does not necessarily mean that these components are safe for inhalation. (See additional responses in this section of the document regarding FDA’s concerns with ENDS aerosol.)

——(Comment [The 125](#)) [Several](#) comments that stated that e-cigarettes are harmless [generally](#) cited one study in which the author concluded that there “is no serious concern about the contaminants such as volatile organic compounds” in the e-cigarette “vapor” and that tobacco-specific nitrosamine (TSNA) levels in the “vapor” are just as hazardous as those

TSNAs in NRT products (Ref. ~~107, Burstyn162~~). Some of these comments specifically asked why FDA did not include this study in the proposed deeming rule.

——(Response) FDA has considered these findings and agrees that the exhaled aerosol from ENDS users is potentially less hazardous than secondhand smoke from combusted cigarettes. However, FDA disagrees with the author²'s conclusion that exposure to aerosol ("~~vapor~~") "~~pose[s] no apparent concern~~" (Ref. ~~107, Burstyn162~~). FDA ~~did not believe~~recognizes that ~~including this study would have added anything further to the discussion~~aerosol that is exhaled by users of some e-cigarettes and similar electronic apparatus may not pose as much harm as smoke emitted from combusted tobacco products. However, given that studies do indicate that both nicotine and other toxicants are found in the proposed deeming rule exhaled aerosol, limiting exposures must be considered. FDA has repeatedly noted the potential benefits and need for additional information regarding ENDS and, therefore, the research included in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM accurately summarized the state of the research on e-cigarettes (and the other newly deemed products) at the time it was drafted.

——(Comment 126) A few comments claimed that there are many e-liquids on the market that do not contain nicotine and, therefore, e-liquids should not be regulated. Other comments provided studies that showed that e-cigarettes deliver nicotine but noted that delivery is dependent on the e-cigarette apparatus and liquid type, the rate at which the nicotine is delivered, and the user²'s experience with e-cigarette use (Ref. ~~99, Vansielke130~~).

——(Response) FDA is aware that, although some ENDS and e-liquids are marketed as nicotine free, as stated in section VIII.D of this document, studies have found that certain types of ENDS do not have consistent quality and the labels may not accurately reflect the amount of nicotine in the e-liquid. The World Health Organization (WHO) also has noted that

the level of nicotine delivered in currently marketed ENDS ~~is unknown, with variability~~varies widely depending on product characteristics, user puffing behavior and ~~inconsistency existing across brands of products~~nicotine solution concentration, leaving smokers unaware of the ~~amount of~~ nicotine levels they are receiving (Ref. ~~118, WHO~~163). In addition, FDA agrees that many factors influence the delivery of nicotine. For example, an experienced ENDS user may be exposed to amounts of nicotine similar to those delivered by cigarette smoking (Ref. ~~119, Fars~~Spryou114). Also, as stated earlier, nicotine-free e-liquid that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of tobacco products in most cases would be a component or part of a tobacco product and, therefore, within the scope of this rule. These products will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

——(Comment 127) Many comments discussed the possibility of nicotine poisoning due to improper access to, or use of, e-liquids. Most of these comments expressed concerns about the growing number of calls to poison control centers due to accidental nicotine poisoning. Others believed this concern was overstated and noted that many drugs can cause poisoning if stored improperly. They stated that the addition of child-resistant containers would alleviate this concern. Some also noted that e-cigarette users self-titrate their nicotine dosage, so concerns about overdosing should be minimal (Ref. ~~120, Houzee~~84).

——(Response) FDA is concerned about the risk of nicotine poisoning in both users and nonusers. ~~The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (The CDC)~~ has reported more than 2,400 calls to U.S. poison control centers for e-liquid exposure between September 2010 and February 2014 (Ref. ~~121, Chattham~~164). In another study of 1,700 e-liquid exposures reported to U.S. poison control centers from June 2010 through September 2013, children 5 years of age or younger represented the largest proportion of e-liquid exposures and the group

with the greatest increase in exposures per month in the first three quarters of 2013 (Ref. [122](#), [Vakk165](#)). Studies show that nicotine in sufficient concentrations, either when ingested or in contact with the skin, can result in serious or fatal poisoning and is concerning (Ref. [123](#), [Smolinske](#); Ref. [124](#), [Ben 87](#)); Refs. [166](#), [167](#)). Symptoms of toxicity include nausea, vomiting, seizures, coma, cardiovascular instability, respiratory arrest, and sometimes death. Although there was disagreement among the comments as to the level of nicotine that causes poisoning, the nicotine content of many refillable vials could be toxic to adults and children regardless of the measurement used. Accordingly, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of the public health. In addition, FDA issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule, seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging.

———(Comment [128](#)) Some comments compared the poison risks of nicotine against other household products, noting that the incidence of nicotine poisoning is significantly lower than for other household products (Ref. [125](#), [Mowry168](#)).

———(Response) Regardless of the incidence of nicotine poisoning in comparison to poisonings attributed to other household products, the dramatic rise in nicotine poisoning from e-liquid exposures is very concerning. FDA is taking under advisement the submitted data regarding nicotine poisoning and suggestions for measures that FDA can take in a separate rulemaking to address the issue, including establishment of tobacco product manufacturing

practice regulations under section 906(e) and tobacco product standards under section 907 of the FD&C Act. In addition, as stated previously, FDA issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging. Moreover, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of public health.

——(Comment [129](#)) Comments were divided as to whether nicotine is dangerous to humans. Some comments stated that liquid nicotine is completely benign (and that FDA should not regulate e-cigarettes given the lack of harms). They claimed that FDA's findings regarding NRTs illustrate that nicotine is not carcinogenic to humans. (See "Modifications To Labeling of Nicotine Replacement Therapy Products for Over-the-Counter Human Use," 78 FR 19718, April 2, 2013.) Other comments stated that although nicotine has some side effects, it is significantly less hazardous than the toxicants ingested with combusted products. Still others claimed that nicotine is very dangerous.

Comments that claimed that nicotine is dangerous cited studies showing that although nicotine may not be a primary carcinogen, it likely promotes cancers established through angiogenic (promoting of blood vessels in tumors) effects (e.g., Ref. [126](#), [Grando169](#)). The comments also noted that the 2014 Surgeon General's Report stated that the health risks of nicotine are more serious than previously thought and that FDA should consider this when

evaluating the impacts of the newly deemed products on vulnerable populations. Others believed that nicotine is so dangerous that individuals should be required to obtain a certification before being permitted to acquire and handle it.

———(Response) In the proposed deeming rule, FDA recognized the impact of nicotine on a youth's brain (see 79 FR 23142 at 23153 and 23154) and also noted poisoning concerns. ~~However, regarding adult use, FDA believes that the~~ The inhalation of ~~pure~~ nicotine (i.e., nicotine without ~~any additives~~ the production of combustion) is of less ~~concern~~ risk to a user than the inhalation of nicotine delivered by smoke from combusted tobacco products. However, limited data suggests that the pharmacokinetic properties of inhaled nicotine can be similar to nicotine delivered by combusted tobacco products. Thus, inhaled nicotine from a non-combustible product may be as addictive as inhaled nicotine delivered by combusted tobacco products. Researchers recognize that the effects from nicotine exposure by inhalation are likely not responsible for the high prevalence of tobacco-related death and disease in this country (Refs. 10, 11). Although nicotine has not been shown to cause the chronic disease associated with tobacco use, the 2014 Surgeon General's Report noted that there are risks associated with nicotine (Ref. 127, Walsum; Ref. 128, Russell). ~~However, some studies~~ 9 at 111). For example, nicotine at high enough doses has acute toxicity (id.). Nicotine exposure during fetal development has lasting adverse consequences for brain development (id.). Nicotine also adversely affects maternal and fetal health during pregnancy, contributing to multiple adverse outcomes such as preterm delivery and stillbirth (id.). Further, data suggest that nicotine exposure during adolescence may have lasting adverse consequences for brain development (id.). Some studies also have found that nicotine can have detrimental effects on the cardiovascular system and potentially disrupt the central nervous system (Ref. 129, Ben 10; Ref. 130, Ben 97).

~~In fact, the 2014 Surgeon General's report noted that although there are risks associated with nicotine (including short-term adverse effects, potential nicotine toxicity associated with high doses of nicotine, and possible risks to fetal health and adolescent brain development) (Ref. 24 at 111, Refs. 14-15), nicotine has not been shown to cause the chronic disease associated with tobacco use, 15). See also section VIII.C of this document discussing the increase in poisoning due to accidental nicotine ingestion.~~

~~Nevertheless,~~ FDA is not stating that nicotine is harmless. Unlike ENDS, which have not ~~been~~ reviewed by FDA, the NRT products mentioned in the comments are regulated and have undergone premarket review by FDA's Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) and been found to be safe and effective before obtaining authorization to enter the market (sections 505 and 506 of the FD&C Act). The Agency does not have sufficient data to be able to conclude that consumers are inhaling only nicotine, and no other chemicals or toxicants, when using ENDS. Although ENDS likely do not deliver the same level of toxicants as cigarettes, studies show that there are dangers associated with ENDS use and that exhaled aerosol is not simply ~~"water vapor,"~~ as some believe. (See section VIII.C of this document for additional discussion about the ~~possible~~ toxicants in ENDS vapor.)

~~————(Comment 130) At least one comment suggested that to help address the dangers of nicotine and its use in future tobacco products, manufacturers registering future products with FDA should provide documents demonstrating the accuracy of stated nicotine levels and that the products are diacetyl and acetyl propionyl free.~~

~~————(Response) FDA agrees with the need to carefully monitor future tobacco products and to ensure that e-liquids do not include dangerous chemicals evaluate the toxicological concern of chemical ingredients, such as diacetyl and acetyl propionyl, in e-liquids~~

and that statements about the nicotine concentration in the e-liquid as well as the amount of nicotine that will be delivered to the user are accurate. FDA's review of SE reports and PMTAs under sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act will often include analysis of the chemicals included in the products. In addition, the requirements to submit ingredient listings under section 904 and HPHC testing data under sections 904 and 915 are expected to alert FDA to the existence of these HPHCs in e-liquids.

(Comment [131](#)) Many comments expressed concerns regarding the high cost associated with testing for HPHCs in each individual e-liquid and e-cigarette product. They suggested that FDA use enforcement discretion, as the Agency has done previously, to reduce the regulatory burden for e-cigarette manufacturers. For example, they noted that FDA has compliance policies for the submission of SE reports for certain product modifications and HPHC reporting. To reduce the regulatory burden, they suggested that FDA not require ingredient disclosure of all unique e-liquid products under section 904(a)(1) of the FD&C Act because such a requirement is unreasonable given the many different e-liquid formulations in these retail establishments. They stated that in lieu of ingredient listings, FDA should accept a table of all ingredients used in e-liquids along with use-level (concentration) ranges (i.e., minimum and maximum percentages) of those ingredients in their products. These comments further suggested that FDA allow companies to simply amend their ingredients lists when altering products rather than requiring them to submit PMTAs.

(Response) Once this rule becomes effective, newly deemed products automatically become subject to [Chapter IX](#) and all of its provisions applicable to tobacco products, without exception. Therefore, all manufacturers and importers of the newly deemed products will be

subject to the requirements under sections 910, 905, and 904 of the FD&C Act upon the effective date of this final rule.

However, FDA has established a compliance policy for certain circumstances. See section IV.D of this document describing the compliance policy regarding certain provisions and small-scale tobacco product manufacturers.

D. Quality Control

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA recognized previous instances of lack of quality control for certain e-cigarette products (79 FR 23142 at 23149). FDA indicated that the premarket review requirements that will automatically apply to the newly deemed products can help to address quality control concerns.

——(Comment 132) Many comments expressed concern regarding the lack of controls in place for the mixing of e-liquids. They stated that these liquids are often mixed by individual consumers or employees of e-cigarette retail establishments who may lack training or knowledge of guidelines for handling such products. Several retailers of e-liquids submitted comments stating that they have controls in place to ensure the safety of their e-liquids.

——(Response) FDA understands the comments²¹ concerns about the safety of e-liquids. As stated previously, FDA issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging. Also, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is announcing the availability of a draft guidance,² which, when finalized, will provide FDA²¹'s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help

support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of public health. FDA also intends to consider these and other issues during its premarket review of these products. Further, after the effective date of this rule, FDA can exercise its authorities under the Tobacco Control Act to take additional steps to address the safety of e-liquids.

——(Comment [133](#)) Some comments included data regarding the variations among the nicotine levels in e-liquids, including data showing that the nicotine levels of the products are not accurately reflected in the nicotine concentration stated on the labels. For example, one study found nicotine content labels to be highly inaccurate and determined that products claiming to be nicotine-free actually contained high levels of nicotine (Ref. [131](#), [Trehya170](#)). Other comments stated that the variations are no longer as significant among the newer e-cigarette products, and that newer studies reported more consistent nicotine levels (Ref. [132](#), [Van13171](#)).

Many comments cited several studies of newer e-cigarettes which continued to find wide variability in e-cigarette engineering, including nicotine concentrations in e-liquid, that were inconsistent with the information contained on the product label (Ref. [106](#), [Grana-Benowitz16](#)). For example, one 2014 study of e-liquid refills found that the actual nicotine level of 65 percent of the e-liquids deviated by more than 10 percent from the nicotine concentrations printed on the labels (Ref. [133](#), [Davis17](#)). Other studies found variability among nicotine concentrations, but the nicotine levels were equivalent to or lower than advertised ([Ref.134, Cameron](#); [Ref.135, Etter-Zather](#))-[Refs. 18, 19](#)). In one study, researchers stated that the total amount of nicotine in the e-liquid studied was potentially lethal if an individual were to drink it or absorb it through the skin (Ref. [134](#), [Cameron18](#)). They based this finding on the lethal level of nicotine being in the

10- to 60 [milligram \(mg\)](#) range; however, other comments claimed the lethal dose of nicotine is actually much greater (Ref. [136, Mayer172](#)).

Some comments expressed concern that this rule does not address the possibility of a dangerous contamination of a batch of e-liquid because it does not include quality control measures or product standards that could prevent such contamination. They believed that FDA's authority to establish tobacco product manufacturing requirements or product standards in the future was insufficient to address this concern.

——(Response) FDA is aware of the variability of nicotine among certain ENDS and that the labeling may not accurately reflect the nicotine levels. After this rule becomes effective, FDA has the authority to issue tobacco product manufacturing practice regulations under section 906(e) of the FD&C Act to address this issue. The PMTA process (particularly, the requirement to submit information on manufacturing methods) also provides a mechanism through which products that are more harmful or addictive [than products on the market at the time of submission](#) would be denied entrance to the market ~~because they are not appropriate for the protection of the public health~~. Moreover, immediately upon the effective date of this rule, if FDA determines that an e-liquid has been contaminated and is therefore adulterated under section 902 or that it is misbranded under section 903 of the FD&C Act because its labeling is false or misleading, it can initiate enforcement action such as a seizure, injunction, or criminal prosecution.

——(Comment [134](#)) A few comments expressed concern that FDA may limit the availability of e-liquids to established manufacturers only and prohibit individuals from mixing their own e-liquids. These comments stated that they need access to products of reasonable potency, high purity, and high quality.

——(Response) This final deeming rule places some restrictions on the sale and distribution of tobacco products, such as minimum age restrictions, but it does not bar sales to individuals generally.

——(Comment [135](#)) At least one comment noted that, although there have been fires due to mishandling of e-cigarette batteries, cases of accidental poisoning, and concerns about functionality, the “de facto regulations” that are in place, “namely brand equity, potential civil liability, and word-of-mouth” have been effective in helping the market evolve and controlling behavior.

——~~(Response) FDA disagrees. As stated throughout this document,~~(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA’s adverse event reporting system has inherent limitations as a measure of the impact of e-cigarettes since ENDS are a newly deemed product and reporting adverse events associated with tobacco products (including e-cigarettes and other ENDS) is voluntary. FDA remains concerned about adverse events associated with ENDS use, including overheating and exploding batteries [as reported in the news](#), and the vast evidence that accidental nicotine poisoning is increasing in the wake of growing e-cigarette use. Toward that end, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which when final will describe FDA’s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including compliance with existing voluntary standards for ENDS batteries. In addition, concerns remain regarding quality control, which could impact the functionality of these products. FDA believes that the automatic statutory provisions that will apply to these products as a result of this deeming rule, in conjunction with additional authorities under the law that FDA can exercise after the effective date, will help address these concerns.

——(Comment [136](#)) At least one comment sought clarification as to why FDA expressed concern about quality control issues for e-cigarette products but not for combusted products that contain thousands of toxic constituents.

——(Response) FDA is concerned about quality control for all tobacco products and will continue to monitor these products to determine if there are quality control issues. FDA's premarket review of the newly deemed products will increase product consistency. For example, FDA's oversight of the constituents of e-cigarette cartridges would help to ensure quality control related to the chemicals and their quantities being aerosolized and inhaled. Quality control issues will also be addressed in a tobacco product manufacturing practices regulation that FDA intends to issue at a later date. Also, FDA may take enforcement action if an ENDS or any other tobacco product is adulterated or misbranded within the meaning of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [137](#)) A few comments expressed concerns regarding the quality of e-cigarettes manufactured overseas. They stressed the importance of issuing regulations to require the registration of foreign establishments so that FDA knows the identity of foreign manufacturers and the products they import into the United States.

——(Response) FDA agrees with comments' concerns regarding quality control and the safety of ENDS ~~both~~ manufactured both domestically and in other countries. One of the immediate benefits of deeming ENDS is that all newly deemed products, including ENDS, that meet the definition of "new tobacco product" will be subject to the premarket authorization requirements in sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act. In addition, FDA has announced its intention in the Unified Agenda to issue a ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM that would apply the registration and listing requirements of section 905 to foreign establishments.

(Comment [138](#)) Some comments suggested that to properly regulate e-cigarettes, given their position on the continuum of nicotine-delivering products, FDA should regulate these products based on the size of the ~~company manufacturing them~~[manufacturer](#)--which is generally smaller than the size of companies that manufacture cigarettes and smokeless tobacco products. They also suggested that FDA stagger the compliance periods for submission of PMTAs so that smaller companies have additional time to prepare their submissions.

——(Response) Section IV.D of this document has additional information about compliance periods for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers. FDA's compliance policy for the submission of SE reports, SE exemption requests, and PMTAs for all manufacturers of deemed products is included in section IV.C of this document.

(Comment [139](#)) One comment recommended that FDA collaborate with other ~~federal agencies~~[Federal Agencies](#), including [the National Institutes of Health \(NIH\)](#), CDC, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), as well as international agencies including the ~~European Union~~[EU](#), to continue research on tobacco products and increase surveillance and other enforcement ~~of~~ quality control and other issues.

(Response) FDA agrees. FDA intends to continue to review available studies and fund studies on tobacco products, including studies on ENDS initiation, use (including transitions to other tobacco products and multiple use), perceptions, dependence, and toxicity (Ref. ~~137,~~ [NIH173](#)). FDA also has been conducting a series of public workshops to obtain additional information on e-cigarettes and their impact on public health (79 FR 55815-~~(2014))~~). These workshops will help to inform FDA's development of future rules and policies that have an impact on ENDS. Additional regulations regarding ENDS will be subject to ~~notice and comment rulemaking procedures~~[the requirements of the APA](#).

(Comment [140](#)) Some comments stated that FDA should regulate materials used in the manufacture of e-cigarette components and packaging that come into direct contact with e-liquids. They noted that improper e-cigarette construction and e-liquid packaging materials could also result in hazardous leachates or degradation of products in the e-liquid that may become aerosolized and inhaled upon use.

(Response) With this final rule, FDA is deeming all products, except for accessories of newly deemed products, that meet the definition of “tobacco products” under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, which includes the components and parts (including packaging of such products). FDA will consider the issues raised by the comments when it develops a ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) on tobacco product manufacturing practices.

E. Misperceptions

In the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), FDA noted its concerns regarding consumer misperceptions of currently unregulated products, particularly e-cigarettes. Many comments provided data to substantiate those concerns and others provided data and ~~largely anecdotal evidence~~[personal stories](#) regarding the potential benefits of e-cigarettes. Other comments indicated that, based on these potential benefits, they believed e-cigarettes to be safe tobacco products.

——(Comment [141](#)) Many comments stated, ~~but did not provide supporting data, that~~ e-cigarettes: (1) Are approximately 99 percent less hazardous than cigarettes; (2) are only consumed by smokers and former smokers who quit by switching to e-cigarettes; and (3) have not been found to create nicotine dependence in any nonsmoker. They also stated that there is no evidence that ingesting e-liquid leads to fatalities.

——(Response) ~~FDA is not aware of data or other information sufficient to support these statements, which are emblematic of the misperceptions that many consumers have~~

~~regarding ENDS. First, as~~As discussed throughout this document, FDA agrees that use of ENDS is likely less hazardous for an individual user than continued smoking of traditional cigarettes. ~~However, there are insufficient data to determine~~One self-selected comparison reported that across several Japanese brands, under some use conditions, ENDS released 1/50th of the level of formaldehyde released by cigarettes (Ref. 135). The highest level detected was six times lower than the long-term effects of ENDS and the impact of these novel products on the population as a whole. The differenceslevel in harms between ENDS and cigarette smoke (id.). But other research, published as a letter to the editor of the New England Journal of Medicine, reported that ENDS operated at 5 volts delivered a mean of 390+/-90 µg per 10 puff sample which is greater than 150 µg, the estimated average delivery of formaldehyde than conventional cigarettes are not currently quantifiable. ~~Second~~(Ref. 128). No formaldehyde-releasing agents were detected when ENDS were operated at 3.3 volts (Ref. 128). A subsequent peer-reviewed article on 5 variable-power ENDS devices found large variations in formaldehyde delivery across devices (Ref. 129). The first device yielded more formaldehyde than combustible cigarettes at every power level tested, and the second device delivered more formaldehyde at the highest power level tested; the remaining three devices delivered less formaldehyde than combustible cigarettes at all power levels tested (id.) The same research found that aldehyde delivery varied by 750-fold from one ENDS device to another (id.). The article referenced in one comment (Ref. 67) reported that increasing the voltage from 3.2 to 4.8 volts increased formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, and acetone levels from 4 to over 200-fold.

Nevertheless, as discussed in section VIII.F of this document, evidence shows that while most ENDS are consumed by smokers and former smokers, (e.g., Refs. 109, 110), some consumers (including youth and young adults) are initiating tobacco use with ENDS. ~~Third~~,

~~some~~Several studies ~~on very small numbers of subjects~~ have found that ENDS ~~may be~~users, particularly experienced ENDS users, are able to achieve nicotine exposures similar to cigarette smokers, ~~particularly for experienced ENDS users, further substantiating the need for additional research into the long-term effects before making such statements (Refs. 138A, Nides; 138B, Polosa; 138C, Cahn; 91, Polosa; 138D, Popova; 150, Vansickel). (Refs. 114, 148, 149, 150).~~ Although no studies have been done to-date assessing the development of dependence among non-smokers, several studies have found that ENDS users, particularly experienced ENDS users, are able to achieve nicotine exposures similar to cigarette smokers and that nicotine is a known addictive substance. Fourth, as discussed in section VIII.D of this document, the incidence of nicotine poisoning has been on the rise and has resulted in severe poisonings and hospitalization (Ref. ~~138, Bassett~~174). In December 2014, after the close of the comment period for the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, media reported the first death of a toddler from accidental poisoning from e-liquid (Ref. ~~139, Mahoney~~175). Regulation of ENDS will help to alleviate consumer misperceptions such as those expressed in the comments.

———(Comment 142) Many comments stated that e-cigarettes should be regulated given their appeal to youth and young adults and the belief that e-cigarettes are less harmful than conventional cigarettes. They agreed with FDA²¹'s concern that a failure to regulate the newly deemed products could reinforce consumers²¹' existing confusion and misinformation about these products. However, other comments stated that FDA²¹'s concerns about youth²¹'s misperception of the safety of e-cigarettes should not be a factor in FDA²¹'s decision to regulate them. They stated that regulation cannot remedy the fact that many youth affirmatively disregard available safety information.

——(Response) As FDA stated in its proposal, many people ~~mistakenly~~may believe that certain tobacco products covered by this rule ~~are safe alternatives to~~present fewer health risks when compared to that of cigarettes (79 FR 23142 at 23158 and 23159)~~—~~, which is supported by some of the emerging scientific literature demonstrating that some ENDS products, operated at some power levels, may have lower delivery of harmful constituents and toxicants than that of combusted cigarettes (see discussion on the health harms of ENDS in response to Comment 117). In fact, a recent telephone survey of 1,014 adults indicates that a majority of American adults surveyed (nearly two-thirds, 65 percent) believe e-cigarettes are harmful to the health of the people who use them and 23 percent believe that they are not harmful (Ref. 176). In addition, 44 percent believe that electronic cigarettes are less harmful than combusted cigarettes while 32 percent thought they were equally harmful (id.). Of particular note, the survey found that "[t]hose who have ever used e-cigarettes are significantly less likely than never-users to believe that e-cigarettes and marijuana are harmful to the health of people who use them, and more likely to believe in the benefits of e-cigarettes when it comes to smoking cessation" (id.).

Although FDA ~~agrees~~expects that ~~youth's misperception~~youth understanding and appreciation of the ~~safety~~health effects and risks of certain newly deemed tobacco products ~~may~~will be ~~alleviated~~improved if they are also FDA-regulated, that is only one of the many public health benefits that will accrue from deeming them subject to the FD&C Act, as discussed in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149).

——(Comment 143) Some comments expressed concern that the increase in e-cigarette use in places where cigarette smoking is not currently allowed creates confusion, particularly among children, who often cannot tell the difference between smoking and e-

cigarette use. They referred to unpublished research and anecdotal evidence indicating that when children see pictures of people using e-cigarettes they report that someone is smoking.

Other comments disagreed, stating that e-cigarette use will more likely lead to normalization of e-cigarettes rather than cigarettes (Ref. ~~78, Britton110~~). They stated that one study found that daily smokers (aged 18 to 35 years) who observed individuals using e-cigarettes only increased the smoker's desire for an e-cigarette, and not for a conventional cigarette (Ref. ~~140, King 14177~~).

——(Response) FDA is concerned that the growth in ENDS use, particularly among youth and young adults, could lead to the re-normalization of cigarette smoking. The Surgeon General recognized that adolescents are particularly vulnerable to visual cues to smoke and to social norms, making this an even greater concern (Ref. ~~141, 12 SG49~~). FDA believes that subjecting ENDS to its tobacco control authorities, and requiring compliance with the various statutory and regulatory requirements (~~such as e.g.~~, ingredient listing and others), will help to address the common misunderstanding that these products are safe to use.

F. Use as a Cessation Product

In the preamble to the ~~proposed rule NPRM~~, FDA recognized that some consumers may use ENDS in tobacco cessation attempts. ~~However, there is no evidence to date~~We note that if an ENDS are safe product seeks to be marketed as a cessation product, the manufacturer must file an application with FDA's Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) and no ENDS have been approved by FDA as effective cessation products~~said~~.

——Recently published population-wide data from the CDC's NCHS, which provides the first estimates of e-cigarette use among U.S. adults from a nationally representative household interview study, indicates that current cigarette smokers and recent former smokers

(i.e., those individuals who quit smoking within the past year) were more likely to use e-cigarettes than long-term former smokers (i.e., those individuals who quit smoking more than one year ago) and adults who had never smoked (Ref. 24). Among current cigarette smokers who had tried to quit smoking in the past year, more than one-half had ever tried an e-cigarette and 20.3 percent were current e-cigarette users (id.).

(Comment [144](#)) Comments were divided regarding the viability of e-cigarettes as a smoking cessation product. Some comments ~~believed~~contended that the actual patterns of e-cigarette use, citing a meta-analysis showing the rapid penetration of the youth market and high levels of dual use among both adults and adolescents, will lead to a lower probability that smokers using e-cigarettes will quit smoking cigarettes (Ref. ~~106, Grana Benowitz~~16). They also cited another study in which, although 85 percent of e-cigarette users reported that they were using e-cigarettes to quit smoking, they were no more likely to have quit smoking than nonusers of e-cigarette (Ref. ~~142, Adkison~~178).

However, consumers and manufacturers of e-cigarettes provided information showing positive impacts of e-cigarettes on cessation, including personal anecdotes from former smokers (Ref. ~~90, Hajek~~132). For example, they cited a 1-year multinational study where researchers found that among smokers who were using e-cigarettes at the baseline, 22 percent had quit smoking after 1 month and 46 percent had quit smoking after 1 year (Ref. ~~143, Etter Bullen~~179). In a survey of adults in the United Kingdom ~~adults~~ who tried to quit smoking at least once in the past year, respondents who used e-cigarettes had a higher quit rate (20 percent) than those who used NRTs like patches or gum (10 percent) or those that did not use a cessation aid (15 percent) (Ref. ~~144, Brown 14~~180). These comments also ~~provided~~asserted evidence that e-cigarette use, at a minimum, leads to decreased cigarette use (e.g., Ref. 91, Polosa; Ref. 146, LechnerRefs.

107, 181). One comment also noted that tribes use e-cigarettes as an alternative to smoking and to promote cessation.

~~————(Response) As we have stated throughout this document, we recognize that there is largely anecdotal evidence that ENDS may potentially provide cessation benefits to individual smokers. However, none have been approved as effective cessation aids.~~(Response) As we have stated throughout this document, we recognize that there is emerging data that some individual smokers may potentially use ENDS to transition away from combustible tobacco products. For instance, prospective studies of varying duration examining the efficacy of e-cigarettes as cessation devices suggest their potential to decrease combustible cigarette use as well as promote abstinence from combustible cigarettes (Refs. 107, 149, 182, 183, 184). Three randomized controlled clinical trials (Ref. 107, 149, 184) report that e-cigarettes may help some smokers to stop smoking. The trial that compared e-cigarettes to nicotine replacement therapy found verified abstinence in all experimental groups, but no significant difference among e-cigarettes, placebo e-cigarettes (i.e., e-cigarettes with no nicotine), and nicotine patches in six-month abstinence rates (Ref. 184). Achievement of abstinence was substantially lower than the optimistic estimates on which the power calculation and study sample size were based, and thus, the researchers could conclude no more than that "among smokers wanting to quit, nicotine e-cigarettes might be as effective as patches for achieving cessation at 6 months" (id.). It is possible that longer term prospective studies may—or may not—demonstrate statistically significant cessation outcomes for e-cigarettes in relation to conventional nicotine replacement therapies (id). It is noteworthy that a third of the participants allocated to the e-cigarettes groups in this study reported continued product use at 6 months, suggesting that they might have become long-term e-cigarette users (id.). However, some systematic reviews of available

evidence indicate that there is currently insufficient data to draw a conclusion about the efficacy of e-cigarettes as a cessation device (Refs. 185, 186). The Cochrane Collaboration's systematic review and meta-analysis assessed approximately 600 scientific records to include two randomized controlled trials and 11 cohort studies on e-cigarettes and smoking cessation in their review (Ref. 186). As the Cochrane review judged RCTs to be at low risk of bias, the investigators combined results from two randomized controlled trials, totaling over 600 people, and conducted a quantitative meta-analysis. Results indicated that using e-cigarettes with nicotine was associated with increased smoking cessation as compared with e-cigarettes without nicotine. Investigators also found evidence that using e-cigarettes with nicotine also helped more smokers reduce the amount they smoked by at least half compared to e-cigarettes without nicotine. However, the authors cautioned that "the small number of trials, low event rates and wide confidence intervals around the estimates mean that our confidence in the result is rated 'low'." (Ref. 186) In addition, the authors observed that "the overall quality of the evidence for our outcomes was rated 'low' or 'very low' because of imprecision due to the small number of trials" (id.). Another meta-analysis of the same two trials of e-cigarettes with and without nicotine found comparable results (Ref. 187). The authors also reported a pooled estimate of cessation among nicotine e-cigarette users, but the lack of non-e-cigarette control groups in the studies prevented them from comparing the efficacy of e-cigarettes against no e-cigarette use and against standard interventions for cessation, such as nicotine patches (id.).

An alternate systematic review and meta-analysis of approximately 600 scientific records to include 15 cohort studies, 3 cross-sectional studies, and two clinical trials (one RCT, one non-RCT) examined the association between e-cigarette use and cessation in observational epidemiological studies and clinical trials; all 20 studies compared smoking cessation rates for e-

cigarette users against control groups of smokers who did not use e-cigarettes (Ref. 112). This meta-analysis found overall that odds of quitting cigarettes were on average 28 percent lower for smokers who used e-cigarettes than those who did not (odds ratio = 0.72, with 95 percent confidence interval 0.57 to 0.91) (Ref. 112). Of note, this meta-analysis included chiefly observational studies whose control groups were not randomized, and included a wide range of designs as well as variable exposures and outcome definitions (id.). While some potential confounders were controlled for in most of the studies, the investigators acknowledged that there may be other unidentified confounders that could be a source of bias. This potential bias as well as other limitations described may impact interpretability of the overall findings (id.).

We also note that ENDS have not been approved as effective cessation aids. FDA remains committed to supporting long-term population-level research that will help fill in current data gaps.

———(Comment [145](#)) At least one comment suggested that FDA provide physicians with guidelines about e-cigarette use, including its health impact and efficacy as a cessation tool.

———(Response) ~~FDA will take that suggestion under advisement as it begins to regulate such products and gains a better understanding of their benefits and risks to the population.~~ ~~The agency will consider these comments in the future, and, if FDA determines that it is appropriate for the protection of the public health, issue additional regulations.~~ To the extent the comment is about ENDS products that are drugs because they are marketed for cessation, an ENDS product marketed for therapeutic purposes is a drug or device subject to FDA's regulations and laws for those products.

———(Comment [146](#)) A few comments expressed concern that FDA ~~had~~ misrepresented certain studies in the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#) and would not consider research

released since the issuance of the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, particularly regarding the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a cessation tool.

———(Response) FDA has considered ~~all available~~the preliminary evidence regarding the effectiveness of ENDS to help smokers quit or to reduce their consumption of combusted tobacco products. ~~Although FDA recognizes that~~There is some ENDS users report indication that such products may have the potential to help some individual users to quit using combusted tobacco products or to reduce their use of such products, as reported by scientific literature describing a small number of randomized controlled trials evaluating the impact of ENDS use on smoking outcomes (Refs. 137, 148, 184) and pilot studies evaluating ENDS use on smoking reduction and cessation (Refs. 182, 183). But other evidence is to the contrary. Beyond the meta-analysis discussed in section V(B)(3) of this document, a year-long study of over 5,000 20-year-old Swiss men found that, even after adjusting for nicotine dependence, individuals who were smokers at the start of the study and who reported e-cigarette use at the end of the study were more likely to still be smoking and more likely to have made one or more unsuccessful quit attempts at the end of the year than individuals who were smokers at the start and who reported no e-cigarette use (Ref. 188). The most important consideration is that ENDS are not an FDA-approved cessation product. If an ENDS manufacturer wishes to make a cessation claim or otherwise market its product for therapeutic purposes, the company must submit an application for their ENDS to be marketed as a medical product.

———(Comment 147) Some comments expressed concern that e-cigarette users are developing an addiction to nicotine while seeking to overcome their smoking addiction and that the lack of regulation makes it difficult for users to know the nicotine level that they need in their e-cigarettes to overcome their addiction. They stated that for cigarette smokers who are trying to

replace their cigarette-derived nicotine with e-cigarettes, ingredient listing and other requirements are vital to ensure that users know how much nicotine they are ingesting.

——(Response) By deeming ENDS, FDA has ensured that these products are now subject to requirements related to ingredient and HPHC reporting, among other requirements. In addition, the registration and listing requirements and premarket applications will provide FDA with vital information as to the extent of ENDS use and how many ENDS products consumers are using on a daily basis.

——(Comment [148](#)) Some comments perceived the newer generation of e-cigarettes to be less addictive than combusted cigarettes and closer in profile (including risk profile) to NRTs (Ref. [43](#), [Nutt76](#)). They noted the limited number of significant adverse events resulting from e-cigarette use and claimed that such adverse events are not distinguishable from NRTs (Ref. [147](#), [Bullen184](#)). Some comments also believed that FDA should consider the advantages that e-cigarettes have (as compared to NRTs) when establishing the regulatory approach for these products, including the fact that they offer appealing visual, tactile, and gestural similarities to cigarettes, and that e-cigarettes provide quicker nicotine delivery than NRTs (Ref. [148](#), [Steinberg189](#)).

——(Response) ~~FDA recognizes~~As we have stated throughout this document, we recognize that ~~some ENDS might have a role in smoking~~individual smokers may report cessation benefits from ENDS and ~~treating tobacco dependence and, in some cases, might lead to an individual's reduction in combusted tobacco use or~~that preliminary research outcomes from randomized controlled trials indicate that ENDS may decrease some individuals' cigarette consumption and promote cessation ~~of use~~. However, the risk profile is likely to be different as compared to NRTs. ~~The single clinical trial cited in the comment does not adequately represent~~

~~the universe of serious adverse events associated with ENDS~~, and the long-term risks associated with chronic use of ENDS are unknown. Finally, contrary to ENDS, the nicotine patch and other NRTs were found to be safe and effective by FDA's CDER after reviewing premarket applications containing data and information establishing safety and effectiveness. No ENDS has yet been approved by CDER.

(Comment 149) Comments in support of limited or no regulation of e-cigarettes stated that these products have a positive impact on the public health at the population level. They cited online surveys and convenience store data showing that most e-cigarette users do not use additional tobacco products (see section VIII.H of this document) and claimed that FDA cherry-picked the evidence regarding dual use in the ~~proposed rule-NPRM~~. They also claimed FDA did not adequately assess the reduction in smoking that would result from increased e-cigarette use and, as a result, the Agency underestimated the potential positive impacts of e-cigarettes on the public health at the population level.

(Response) Many provisions of the FD&C Act call for a population-level public health analysis that takes into account the population as a whole, including users and nonusers of tobacco products (e.g., section 906(d) of the FD&C Act). Even products that are less toxic than combusted tobacco products on an individual user basis may increase public health harms if, for example, they encourage nonusers to start using tobacco products ~~which that~~ can lead to lifelong nicotine addiction ~~or promote dual use~~.

As we have stated throughout the document, ~~additional~~FDA has examined data ~~are needed to fully understand the population regarding~~ health ~~impacts~~harms generally associated with all of the categories of tobacco products regulated under this rule (including ENDS-, which FDA recognizes may potentially provide cessation benefits to some individual smokers). FDA is

regulating these products in accordance with this knowledge and will continue to regulate as we learn more about the potential for product-specific health harms. FDA recognizes that some ENDS users report that the products have the potential to help individual users to quit smoking. However, ~~FDA remains concerned about~~FDA's responsibility is to assess the population health impact of ENDS, including increasing youth use, as well as the frequency of dual use of ENDS and combusted tobacco products. FDA believes that data from long-term population level studies, such as the PATH Study, will help to provide information about the overall population health impacts of ENDS.

——(Comment 150) Many comments provided ~~largely anecdotal evidence~~personal stories and peer-reviewed studies to illustrate the benefits of e-cigarettes as a cessation product and to request that FDA treat this product category differently based on where the product falls within the continuum of nicotine delivering products. For example, they suggested that FDA differentiate between substances that contain tobacco and those that are derived from tobacco and provide a separate regulatory approach for each product category.

Some comments also suggested that FDA tailor its regulatory approach based on the type of electronic apparatus--e.g., advanced refillable personal vaporizers (ARPVs) or open-system vapor products versus "cigalike" products (ready for use products that look like cigarettes and are sold in convenience stores). These comments believed FDA should only deem "cigalike" products that are ready for consumption, because they are easily accessible to youth and have been associated with quality control issues (see section VIII.D of this document). They noted that ARPVs and other open systems are significantly more expensive than "cigalike" products and are only offered in vape or specialty shops. They compared this to Option 1 (to deem all cigars) and Option 2 (to deem all cigars except premium cigars) and suggested that FDA should

have provided similar options for regulating different e-cigarettes. They also expressed the need for a different regulatory approach for ARPVs because they provide users with the best opportunity to cease using combusted tobacco products (Ref. ~~149, Fars Vapers~~190). However, other comments provided focus group research in which smokers rated cigalikes to be significantly more satisfying than ARPVs, and asked for a minimal regulatory approach for cigalikes.

Further, some comments stated that it was not feasible to regulate ARPVs. They stated that the wide varieties of e-liquids available at e-cigarette retail establishments and the ability of users to customize their experience, including by altering the product's voltage/wattage, puff duration, coil resistance, cartridge/battery duration, and design aesthetics, make oversight, application review, and other regulation untenable.

Other comments stated that, instead of establishing a different regulatory approach, FDA should ban ARPVs because there is greater risk associated with their use and children may tamper with them. They suggested that if FDA does not ban these products, FDA should require the disclosure of all ingredients in e-liquids and other vaporized nicotine products in both their pre-use and vapor states.

(Response) To the extent that comments are asserting that FDA should not regulate ENDS or subject them to certain provisions, FDA disagrees with these comments, especially given that ENDS use among youth and young adults is increasing. Although recent data on young adults and adults indicate that ENDS users are more likely to be former cigarette smokers and current cigarette smokers who have tried to quit (e.g., Ref. 24), there is still some use among adult non-tobacco users, particularly among young adults. In addition, the rapid increase in use among adolescents is concerning. FDA also remains concerned that ARPVs present the risk of

accidental nicotine poisoning. In addition, researchers recently reported that the new generation of high voltage ENDS may put users at increased risk of negative health effects (Ref. [81](#), [Kosmider67](#)) and that ARPVs have the potential for increased abuse liability (e.g., [Ref. 77](#), [Fars 14](#); [90](#), [Hajek](#); [150](#), [Van Eiss](#)[Refs. 109, 132, 171](#)). FDA will continue to monitor research regarding the health effects of different types of ENDS and may tailor the regulatory requirements accordingly.

(Comment [151](#)) Some comments requested that FDA either exempt e-cigarette products from the deeming regulation or strike the entire proposal for e-cigarettes and replace it with what they considered a more science-based approach or with rules that address good manufacturing practices and consumer safety, given their potential for use as cessation products.

(Response) FDA disagrees. This final deeming rule is a foundational rule that will provide many public health benefits, as described in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149), and will provide FDA with critical information about the health risks of ENDS and other newly deemed products, including data from ingredient listing submissions and reporting of [harmful and potentially harmful constituents HPHCs](#) required under the FD&C Act. Also, once this rule becomes effective, newly deemed products may be subject to additional regulations. For example, FDA has the authority under section 906(e) of the FD&C Act to issue a rule establishing tobacco product manufacturing practices, and this authority applies to deemed products. FDA also has the authority under section 907 of the FD&C Act to establish product standards for deemed products, including requirements with respect to packaging. The Agency issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule, seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and the use of child-resistant packaging. In addition, elsewhere in this issue

of the Federal Register, FDA has made available a draft guidance for public comment, which when final will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for nicotine exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help to support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

——(Comment 152) Some comments stated that e-cigarettes should be subject to little or no FDA regulation, because e-cigarettes inhibit withdrawal symptoms in users with a history of relapse (Ref. ~~151, Capon 11A~~; Ref. ~~152, Capon 11B~~191) and lead to reduction and cessation in asthmatic smokers (Ref. ~~91, Polosa~~107).

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Although ~~it is possible that~~ ENDS may ~~reduce withdrawal symptoms in certain populations of~~ potentially provide cessation benefits to individual smokers, ~~they~~ no ENDS have ~~not~~ been approved ~~by FDA~~ as effective cessation ~~products~~aids. If an ENDS manufacturer wishes to make a cessation claim, the company must submit an application for their ENDS to be marketed as a medical product.

G. Modified Risk Claims

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA noted that it expects public health benefits through the application of section 911 of the FD&C Act to the newly deemed tobacco products. Historically, certain users have initiated and continued using certain tobacco products based on unauthorized modified risk claims and consumers' ²¹ unsubstantiated beliefs. Application of section 911 will prohibit the introduction into interstate commerce of ~~modified risk tobacco products~~MRTPs unless FDA issues an order permitting their marketing.

——(Comment [153](#)) A few comments expressed concern that imposition of section 911 of the FD&C Act will force e-cigarette manufacturers to implicitly lie by not permitting them to tell consumers that their products are safer alternatives to conventional cigarettes, to advertise that they do not contain tobacco, and to state that they are “smoke free.” They added that the public already overwhelmingly believes that e-cigarettes are reduced risk products and, therefore, the section 911 requirements are irrelevant (~~Ref. 142, Adkison; 153, Etter 11~~).[Refs. 178, 192](#)). However, other comments stated that manufacturers should be prohibited from making cessation claims without providing scientific evidence to support their efficacy as a cessation mechanism.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with concerns that ENDS manufacturers will not be able to make claims that properly represent their products. Section 911 is one of the provisions of the statute that applies automatically to deemed products. It was included in the FD&C Act to protect consumers from manufacturers making invalid or unsubstantiated claims, as many had done with respect to their designation of cigarettes as “light,” “low,” or “mild.” The mistaken belief that “light” and “low-tar” cigarettes were safer than other cigarettes prompted many smokers to switch to such products instead of quitting altogether. Section 911 will prevent consumers from being similarly misled by ensuring a manufacturer may not make unsubstantiated claims. Manufacturers that have data to substantiate modified risk claims for a particular product can submit an MRTP application so that FDA can determine that the product meets the statutory standard and can issue an order authorizing it to be marketed as an MRTP.

——As Congress recognized,

[u]nless tobacco products that purport to reduce the risks to the public of tobacco use actually reduce such risks, those products can cause substantial harm to the public health

to the extent that the individuals, who would otherwise not consume tobacco products or would consume such products less, use tobacco products purporting to reduce risk. Those who use products sold or distributed as modified risk products that do not in fact reduce risk, rather than quitting or reducing their use of tobacco products, have a substantially increased likelihood of suffering disability and premature death. The costs to society of the widespread use of products sold or distributed as modified risk products that do not in fact reduce risk or that increase risk include thousands of unnecessary deaths and injuries and huge costs to our health care system.

(section 2(37) of the Tobacco Control Act.)

——(Comment [154](#)) Some comments believed that e-cigarettes should only be authorized as ~~modified risk tobacco products (MRTPs)~~,² rather than new tobacco products via the PMTA or SE pathways, because that would allow them to meet the predominant expectations of consumers.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. The Tobacco Control Act requires all new tobacco products, including MRTPs, to go through premarket review and obtain a marketing authorization order via the PMTA, SE, or SE exemption pathways. A manufacturer who wants to sell a product for use to reduce harm or risk of tobacco-related disease can also obtain authorization to market an MRTP if the manufacturer submits an application under section 911 of the FD&C Act and FDA issues such an order.

——(Comment [155](#)) A comment suggested that to address unauthorized modified risk claims, we add the following language to the final rule: No vapor product or alternative nicotine product shall be considered to be ^{“”}sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco products^{””} solely

because its label, labeling, or advertising uses the following phrases to describe such product and its use: “not consumed by smoking,” “does not produce smoke,” “smokefree,” “without smoke,” “no smoke,” or “not smoke.”

——(Response) Section 911 of the FD&C Act requires FDA to assess MRTP claims for specific products. Therefore, FDA will evaluate products on a case-by-case basis to determine whether they are “sold or distributed for use to reduce harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease associated with commercially marketed tobacco product” as stated in section 911. However, we note that e-cigarettes and similar ENDS products are not “smokeless” products, as the user is inhaling constituents (which is different from a smokeless tobacco product, as defined in the Tobacco Control Act). In addition, FDA is aware that some ENDS might heat their product to a level high enough to cause combustion.

——(Comment 156) Many comments stated that the proposed rule NPRM may promote conventional tobacco use because e-cigarette manufacturers will be unable to inform smokers that their products are safer alternatives or that they do not contain tobacco. They believed the proposed rule NPRM weakens the impact that the e-cigarette industry might otherwise exert on the tobacco industry.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. First, this final rule does not prohibit ENDS manufacturers from making claims that they are safer than conventional tobacco products if they can provide evidence to satisfy the requirements and obtain marketing authorization from FDA under section 911 of the FD&C Act. Second, FDA believes that ENDS will continue to could serve as alternatives to combusted tobacco products.

H. Dual and Polytobacco Use

In the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), FDA noted its concerns that adult consumers may use one or more of the proposed deemed products in conjunction with cigarettes or other tobacco products. FDA also noted that studies suggest that some noncigarette tobacco users may go on to become addicted cigarette smokers (79 FR 23142 at 23159).

~~————~~[It is also recognized that some dual users of ENDS and cigarettes may be transitioning away from combustible tobacco use and that such transient periods of dual use may not present greater health risks than that observed during sole use of combustible tobacco. In a peer-reviewed study published recently in Cancer Prevention Research, investigators evaluated users of a single brand of "cig-a-like" ENDS and found that both cigarette smokers who switched to using the evaluated ENDS products and those who switched to dual use of the evaluated ENDS and cigarettes all demonstrated significant reductions in exposure to carbon monoxide and the toxicant acrolein \(Ref. 194\).](#)

(Comment [157](#)) Many comments expressed concern that the rate of dual use of e-cigarettes and combusted tobacco products is high, particularly among middle and high school students (Ref. ~~106, Grana Benowitz~~[16](#)). They stated that adolescents do not use e-cigarettes as cessation aids but rather use them in conjunction with conventional cigarettes (Ref. ~~155, Lippert~~[193](#); see Ref. ~~156, Richardson~~[194](#)). They also indicated that this dual use and the fact that youth who experiment with e-cigarettes are 7.7 times more likely to become established smokers than those who do not experiment (Ref. ~~80, Dutra~~[116](#)) suggest that e-cigarette use leads to increased use of combusted tobacco products. However, they noted that we need long-term studies like FDA's PATH Study to confirm that assertion. Some comments also stated that cigarette smokers who use a second tobacco product even occasionally are at higher risk for continued tobacco use (Ref. ~~157, Kram~~[195](#)).

Other comments believed that dual use should not be a concern, generally relying upon an Internet study of more than 19,000 e-cigarette users in which dual users had decreased from 20 to 4 cigarettes per day by the end of the study (Ref. [77, Fars 14109](#)). Some comments also expressed the belief that, because clinical studies show that e-cigarettes deliver only modest concentrations of nicotine to novice e-cigarettes users (Ref. [158, Schroeder196](#)), this would also be the case for nonsmoking youth and young adults and, therefore, would make the possibility of addiction less likely. Others argued that advanced e-cigarette products deliver nicotine more effectively, making adult consumers less likely to dual use or revert back to smoking. In addition, they claimed that if e-cigarettes were acting as a gateway to cigarette use, the current increase in e-cigarette use would lead to a corresponding increase in youth cigarette use (which has not occurred). In fact, they said an overlap of combusted tobacco and e-cigarette use is necessary if a tobacco user begins e-cigarette use to [ease transition away from](#) combusted tobacco consumption.

——(Response) FDA is aware of dual use of ENDS and combusted tobacco products and is concerned about the potential impact of this practice on nicotine addiction and cessation. FDA also is concerned because this dual and polytobacco use pattern appears to be common among adolescents and young adults (Ref. [159, Rath](#)). [In addition,197](#). [However, recent CDC NCHS data on young adult and adult use patterns of e-cigarettes indicate that former smokers and current smokers trying to quit are more likely to use e-cigarettes than former smokers who quit smoking more than 1 year ago and those who had never smoked \(Ref. 24\). These results indicate that dual use of tobacco may also be present during the transitional phase when smokers of combusted tobacco products are attempting to quit, which is also supported by personal stories included in the comments. In addition, the largest study to date in the EU found that e-cigarette](#)

use was more likely among smokers who had made a quit attempt during the past year as compared to those who never smoked (Ref. 109).

Other studies illustrate that current or former smokers have tried e-cigarettes not intending to quit tobacco use, but instead, because they are “Easy to use when I can’t smoke” (Ref. ~~160, Zhu~~198) or can be used in places where conventional tobacco use is not allowed (Ref. ~~161, Vick~~199). FDA remains committed to supporting long-term population-level research, such as the PATH Study, that will help elucidate reasons for and patterns in tobacco initiation, product switching, and dual use across the spectrum of tobacco products on the U.S. market, including ENDS and conventional cigarettes.

————(Comment 158) Many comments noted that almost all e-cigarettes contain nicotine (Ref. ~~153, Etter~~1192). This nicotine delivery varies within and across brands (~~Ref. 162, Williams~~11, Ref. 163, TitchRefs. 200, 201) and by the user’s level of experience with these products (e.g., Ref. ~~164, Eissen~~202). While many comments expressed minimal concerns about abuse liability of e-cigarettes, believing that users will eventually switch entirely to e-cigarettes, others expressed the belief that long-term use of e-cigarettes may lead to addiction in youth and young adults (~~Ref. 80, Dutra~~.

————(Response) FDA shares similar concerns that youth may initiate tobacco use with ENDS, become addicted, and then dual use or move on to traditional tobacco products. FDA discussed available data regarding dual and polytobacco use in the proposed rule NPRM and is unaware of data indicating long-term studies finding that dual or polytobacco users eventually switch to using just one tobacco product (79 FR 23142 at 23159 and 23160).

However, findings from a recent study of 694 participants aged 16 to 26 years old suggest that youth e-cigarette users might transition to smoking traditional cigarettes (Ref. 203). Therefore,

FDA remains concerned that youth may use one of the newly deemed products, whether it be an ENDS or any other tobacco product, and dual use with other tobacco products in the future.

——(Comment [159](#)) Some comments urged FDA to evaluate e-cigarettes based on their scientific merit and contribution to public health. At least one comment felt that certain researchers in the tobacco field were biased based on their connections to public health advocates or what the comment refers to as “big tobacco companies.” Some comments stated that FDA only considered journal articles when it should have considered other available information.

——(Response) FDA uses the best evidence available from peer reviewed journals and other reputable sources to support this rule and fulfill our public health mandate. ~~As stated in the proposed rule~~In the context of rulemaking, FDA follows the requirements of Executive Orders 12866 and 13563 by basing its decisions "on the best reasonably obtainable scientific, technical, economic and other information." As stated in the NPRM, we will continue to fund research to help us determine the public health impacts of ENDS. Long-term studies are not ~~yet~~ available to conclude that ENDS are a proven cessation product or to establish what effect e-cigarettes have ~~in~~on users who might otherwise quit but instead engage in dual use of ENDS and other tobacco products (79 FR [23142](#) at 23152).

I. Applicability of Section 901

In the preamble to the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA stated that the rule applies to all products that meet the definition of “tobacco product” under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act and any future products that meet the definition. FDA stated that e-cigarettes meet the definition of “tobacco product.”

——(Comment [160](#)) Many comments seeking to exclude e-cigarette products from the scope of the deeming rule stated that Congress only meant for FDA to regulate products with the

greatest threat (i.e., cigarettes and smokeless tobacco products). They stated that regulating all tobacco products as strictly as cigarettes are regulated is not warranted and that the rigid application of the Tobacco Control Act is not consistent with public health objectives.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Congress gave FDA immediate authority over certain tobacco products (i.e., cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, cigarette tobacco, and roll-your-own tobacco) and the authority to deem other products (including ENDS and other products that meet the statutory definition of “tobacco product”). ~~Congress only required that FDA issue a notice and comment rulemaking (section 901 of the FD&C Act) to deem those products, clearly showing its intent to give FDA authority to regulate all tobacco products.”~~ All tobacco products, regardless of the category of products, pose a public health risk. Further, at this time, only some of the restrictions in part 1140 (which, prior to the rule, applied only to cigarettes and smokeless tobacco) will apply to the newly deemed products. Specifically, while the minimum age and identification, vending machine, and free sample provisions will apply to the newly deemed products, additional provisions in part 1140 (including minimum pack size and restrictions on self-service displays, sale and distribution of nontobacco items, and sponsorship of events) will not apply to the newly deemed products at this time.

——(Comment [161](#)) Many comments expressed concern that Congress did not wish to effectively ban e-cigarettes (as they claimed would occur as a result of deeming these products), because such a ban violates section 907(d)(3) of the FD&C Act. They stated that if Congress wanted to ban them, they would have done so under their drug authority.

——(Response) FDA is not banning any category of tobacco product by issuing this final deeming rule. ~~—We also note that section 907(d)(3)(A) does not list e-cigarettes or ENDS among the list of tobacco products that FDA is prohibited from banning by regulation.~~

(Comment [162](#)) Many comments claimed that Congress did not intend for FDA to strictly apply the Tobacco Control Act requirements to all newly deemed products, especially those that do not contain tobacco leaf. They believed because e-liquids do not contain tobacco leaf, such products should be regulated differently than cigarettes and traditional smokeless tobacco products.

——(Response) With this rule, FDA is deeming all products that meet the definition of ~~“tobacco product,”~~ including e-liquids, to be subject to the tobacco product authorities in chapter IX of the FD&C Act, to address the public health concerns associated with them.

~~Nevertheless, FDA is~~The FD&C Act does not ~~establishing the same regulatory structure for ENDS (include any requirement that was required a product contain "tobacco leaf" to meet the definition of cigarettes "tobacco product" and cigarette tobacco).~~be deemed under this final rule.

As stated ~~above~~previously, FDA is not requiring that ENDS and the other newly deemed products comply with all of the requirements of part 1140 at this time.

——(Comment [163](#)) Some comments suggested that we need more toxicological, epidemiological, and behavioral studies before deeming e-cigarettes under section 901. Other comments stated that FDA must regulate e-cigarettes despite not having the level of scientific evidence that is available for most conventional tobacco products.

——(Response) ~~FDA agrees that more information is needed to fully understand the impact of ENDS on the public health; however, such information is not necessary for FDA to deem these products. FDA has the authority to deem tobacco products, including ENDS, under section 901 of the FD&C Act, as long as the products meet the definition of “tobacco product” under section 201(rr).~~(Response) FDA continues to research and fund studies regarding ENDS initiation, use (including transitions to other tobacco products and multiple use),

perceptions, dependence, and toxicity (Ref. [137, NIH195](#)). FDA also has been conducting a series of public workshops to obtain additional information on e-cigarettes and their impact on public health (79 FR 55815 ~~(2014)~~). These workshops are not necessary to inform this deeming rule; however, they may inform FDA's development of future rules impacting ENDS. Any additional regulations regarding ENDS will be subject to ~~notice and comment rulemaking procedures~~ [the requirements of the APA](#).

——(Comment [164](#)) Some comments sought clarification as to FDA's authority over e-liquids that do not contain nicotine or other chemicals derived from tobacco plants and those e-liquids that contain nicotine derived from a nontobacco source (e.g., eggplants or tomatoes). Others claimed that FDA does not have regulatory authority over e-cigarettes that are refillable and do not contain nicotine, but does have authority over e-liquids if the liquid contains nicotine. Yet, some said that e-liquids used in e-cigarettes should have an entirely new classification, because use of the words [“tobacco product”](#) in marketing materials would cause undue confusion for consumers.

——(Response) As stated in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, the definition of [“tobacco product”](#) includes any product made or derived from tobacco, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product. An e-liquid made or derived from tobacco meets this definition and, therefore, is subject to FDA's chapter IX authorities. E-liquids that do not contain nicotine or other substances derived from tobacco may still be components or parts and, therefore, subject to FDA's tobacco control authorities, if they are an assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product and do not meet the definition of accessory.

——(Comment [165](#)) Some comments tried to compare pipes and rolling papers (which are required to smoke tobacco) with e-cigarettes (which are required to “vape” e-liquids), stating that e-cigarettes should not be regulated. They indicated that, unlike rolling paper which is “intended for human consumption” and therefore a tobacco product component, a pipe is “non-consumable” and should not be considered a tobacco product component. They said that, like pipes, e-cigarettes are “non-consumable products” and, therefore, are not components or parts of tobacco products and not subject to regulation. They also stated that only the e-liquid is the consumable product and should be the only part of the e-cigarette subject to regulation.

——(Response) The definition of “tobacco product” as set forth in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act includes all components, parts, and accessories of tobacco products (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product). ~~The statute does not require that components and parts themselves must be consumable in order to meet the definition of tobacco product. Similarly, section 901(b) of the FD&C Act provides that chapter IX shall apply to all tobacco products that FDA deems subject to the chapter, and does not require that tobacco products themselves must be consumable in order to be so deemed.~~ FDA interprets components and parts of a tobacco product to include any ~~ENDS hardware and software, which have the ability to impact the assembly of materials~~ intended or reasonably expected: 1) to alter or affect the tobacco product’s performance, composition, constituents and performance of ENDS or characteristics; or 2) to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. Both e-cigarettes and pipes meet this definition. Thus, such products are subject to FDA’s chapter IX authorities as a result of this rule.

——(Comment [166](#)) Many comments stated that FDA lacks any type of meaningful justification for deeming e-cigarettes because e-cigarettes do not represent the same level of public health threat as cigarettes. They claimed that FDA has the burden of showing a rational basis for regulation and that the lack of data showing that these products do not cause harm cannot serve as a basis for regulating them. In addition, some comments stated that FDA has no justification for regulating products simply because they may deliver nicotine. They likened such authority to imposing onerous regulations on caffeine, another plant-derived chemical.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA is deeming these products to address public health concerns (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149). ~~Although it is possible that the public health harms of ENDS may not be as great as those of conventional cigarettes, ENDS~~ ENDS are ~~nonetheless~~ tobacco products. As stated throughout this document, FDA has determined that deeming all products meeting the statutory definition of “‘tobacco product’” will significantly benefit public health. We also note that by merely deeming ENDS to be tobacco products, FDA is not imposing the same level of regulation as is currently imposed on cigarettes. For example, restrictions on self-service displays, sale and distribution of nontobacco items, and sponsorship of events will not apply to ENDS at this time. FDA will consider the health effects of all products before determining whether to issue additional regulations.

——(Comment [167](#)) Many comments stated that the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#) would ban virtually all of the e-liquid products and premium vaporizers (including mods, tanks, and open systems) and other components or parts because manufacturers of such products would not have adequate resources to comply with the requirements of the law.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA is not banning any tobacco product under this final rule. Rather, FDA is extending its authority to regulate such products ~~pursuant to~~ under

section 901 of the FD&C Act. Manufacturers of ENDS products were on notice that they ~~w~~could be considered FDA-regulated tobacco products since the [enactment of the Tobacco Control Act and the issuance of the Sottera decision](#) ~~was issued~~[shortly thereafter](#). See section VIII.K of this document for additional discussion regarding the Sottera case. Therefore, FDA disagrees with any comments referring to this rule as banning any categories of tobacco products.

——(Comment [168](#)) Some comments stated that FDA does not have the authority to regulate the ingredients that can be used in e-liquids.

——(Response) FDA clarifies that, although it will not be directly regulating the individual ingredients in e-liquids at this time, sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act give FDA authority to review and consider ingredients in making determinations on SE reports and PMTAs (i.e., the Agency will look at ingredients within a specific e-liquid and determine whether the overall tobacco product meets the statutory standard for marketing authorization). In addition, section 904 requires manufacturers to submit a listing of all ingredients added by the manufacturer to the tobacco, paper, filter, or other part of each tobacco product by brand and by quantity in each brand and subbrand, and section 915 of the FD&C Act authorizes FDA to issue a regulation to require that ~~“~~“tobacco product manufacturers, packagers, or importers make disclosures relating to the results of the testing of tar and nicotine through labels or advertising or other appropriate means, and make disclosures regarding the results of the testing of other constituents, including smoke constituents, ingredients, or additives, that the Secretary determines should be disclosed to the public to protect the public health and will not mislead consumers about the risk of tobacco-related disease~~”~~” (emphasis added).—

——(Comment [169](#)) A few comments noted the differences among products in the ENDS category in contrast to the relatively uniform category of combusted tobacco products. Given these differences and the rapid cycle of innovation and product development for ENDS products, they stated that FDA cannot use the Tobacco Control Act framework to regulate them.

——(Response) FDA agrees that there are many differences among the products in the ENDS category. However, there are many differences among combusted tobacco products as well. For example, [many](#) cigars are wrapped in whole tobacco leaf, whereas cigarettes are not. Waterpipe tobacco is consumed in manner a very different from the consumption of cigarettes and cigars. The differences among these products do not affect the Agency's ability to regulate them in accordance with the requirements of the Tobacco Control Act.

J. Definitions

Several comments suggested that we add definitions specific to e-cigarettes and their components and parts. Comments stressed the importance of defining terms broadly enough to ensure all manufacturers of the finished products or components and parts of the finished products are covered by the definitions.

——(Comment [170](#)) Some comments suggested that FDA clearly identify nomenclature and constituents of ENDS products because ENDS is a much broader category than e-cigarettes. Similarly, some comments stated that not defining these products would fail to address the exploding market of e-cigarettes and their e-cigarette components and parts. They also stated that an ENDS definition is necessary so State and local governments can use consistent definitions.

——(Response) FDA agrees that there is an expanding market of tobacco products that meet the FD&C Act definition of "“tobacco products.”" However, FDA does not believe it

is necessary to define individual categories of tobacco products for purposes of this rule. In fact, by deeming “tobacco products” generally, it will ~~be difficult for~~ help ensure that novel and future tobacco products ~~to escape regulation~~ are introduced into the market in an appropriate and efficient manner. FDA may issue specific definitions at a later time if it determines that doing so is appropriate.

——(Comment [171](#)) At least one comment recommended that we establish a definition of “vapor product” and define it as “any ~~non-combustible~~ noncombustible tobacco-derived product containing nicotine that employs a heating element, power source, electronic circuit, or other electronic, chemical or mechanical means, regardless of shape or size, including any component thereof, that can be used to produce vapor from nicotine in a solution or other form.” The comment stated that several [s](#)States have adopted variations of this definition and that it would provide necessary clarity.

——Likewise, at least one comment suggested that we establish a definition of “alternative nicotine product,” which would be defined as “any ~~non-combustible~~ noncombustible tobacco-derived product containing nicotine that is intended for human consumption, whether chewed, absorbed, dissolved or ingested by any other means.” The comment stated that several [s](#)States have adopted variations of this definition and that it would provide necessary clarity.

——(Response) For the reasons explained [above](#) previously, FDA finds that it is not necessary to add these definitions to the codified for this final rule.

——(Comment [172](#)) A few comments suggested that FDA clarify the differences between “liquid nicotine” and “e-cigarette liquid (or e-liquid).” They noted that, throughout the [proposed rule](#) NPRM, FDA referred to the liquid component of e-cigarettes as

“e-cigarette liquid,” which contains nicotine, flavorings, and other ingredients. However, in a few instances, FDA referred to “nicotine solutions” or “nicotine liquids.” They asked that we clarify the difference to avoid confusion and unintended coverage under chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Response) FDA agrees that clarification is necessary. Liquid nicotine does not have flavorings or other ingredients added to it. E-cigarette liquid (or “e-liquid”) is a liquid containing nicotine, flavorings, and/or other ingredients. This final rule regulates e-liquid and liquid nicotine that is made or derived from tobacco.

——(Comment [173](#)) Some comments requested that FDA refer to ENDS products as vapor products and use definitions that differentiate between the products that use combustion and those that use vaporization. They stated that this distinction is necessary because the potential harms posed by these products are different and consumers may believe that vapor products are as dangerous as combusted smoking products. One comment provided an example as to how to ~~re-categorize~~[re-categorize](#) tobacco products based on their delivery method and combustion. Another comment requested that FDA add “combustion” to the current definition of cigarette to differentiate between combusted and vaporized products.

——(Response) For purposes of this deeming regulation, FDA does not believe it is necessary to distinguish between vapor products and combusted products. The statutory definition of “cigarette” was established by Congress and describes conventional cigarettes (section 900(3) of the FD&C Act). If FDA finds reason to differentiate between the combusted and vaporized products for the purpose of future regulations, FDA will issue a new ~~notice of proposed rulemaking~~[NPRM](#) to propose such definitions. In addition, FDA is aware that some e-cigarettes are heated to a high enough level to cause combustion of the e-liquid.

——(Comment [174](#)) At least one comment suggested that FDA alleviate any potential confusion between conventional cigarettes and e-cigarettes by adding a third subsection to the proposed definition of "cigarette" to read as follows: "Cigarette" (1) Means a product that: (i) Is a tobacco product and (ii) Mmeets the definition of the term "cigarette" in section 3(1) of the Federal Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act; (2) Includes tobacco, in any form, that is functional in the product, which, because of its appearance, the type of tobacco used in the filler, or its packaging and labeling, is likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as a cigarette or as roll-your-own tobacco; and (3) Does not include a product such as nicotine [or products containing nicotine] that is derived from tobacco but does not contain tobacco."

——(Response) FDA finds that this addition to the cigarette definition is unnecessary to prevent confusion between the two product categories. The definition of "cigarette" in § 1140.3 of this final rule conforms to the definition in section 900(3) of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [175](#)) One comment requested that FDA establish one common name for all vapor products, so the manufacturers, distributors, importers, and retailers of these products can comply with section 903(a)(4) of the FD&C Act, which requires that the manufacturer include an established name on the product labeling.

——(Response) At this time, FDA has not established a common nomenclature for this group of products. FDA will consider ~~your~~these comments in determining whether future regulatory action is appropriate.—

K. Sottera Decision

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA explained that, as set forth in the Sottera decision, e-cigarettes that are "customarily marketed" are tobacco products over which the Agency cannot

exercise its tobacco product authority until it finalizes a regulation that deems them to be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [176](#)) Some comments provided analysis of the D.C. Circuit's decision in Sottera, Inc. v. Food and Drug Administration, 627 F.3d 891 (D.C. Cir. 2010), which formed part of the basis for FDA's decision to deem "'tobacco products'" subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities. They took issue with FDA's description of the key points of the case, stating that FDA is misreading the holding of Sottera to conclude that the court there held that FDA has jurisdiction over e-cigarettes as tobacco products because that question was not presented in the case.

——(Response) FDA's analysis of the Sottera decision in the proposed deeming rule (79 FR 23142 at 23149 and 23150) was correct. On December 7, 2010, the D.C. Circuit held that FDA has the authority to regulate customarily marketed tobacco products under the Tobacco Control Act and products made or derived from tobacco that are marketed for a therapeutic purpose under the medical product provisions of the FD&C Act. (See Sottera, Inc. v. Food & Drug Administration, 627 F.3d 891 (D.C. Cir. 2010).) On January 24, 2011, the D.C. Circuit denied the government's petitions for rehearing and rehearing en banc (by the full court). (See Sottera, Inc. v. FDA, No. 10-5032 (D.C. Cir. Jan. 24, 2011) (per curiam).) On April 25, 2011, FDA issued a letter to stakeholders indicating its intent to deem additional tobacco products, including e-cigarettes, to be subject to FDA's authorities in chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [177](#)) A few comments claimed that FDA had attempted to ban e-cigarettes, the Sottera decision established the legality of e-cigarettes, and FDA's purported ban was unlawful.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Prior to the Sottera case, FDA did not seek to ban e-cigarettes. Instead, FDA had detained several shipments of e-cigarettes and their accessories offered for import by Smoking Everywhere and Sottera, Inc. (doing business as NJOY) and eventually refused admission into the United States to two of Smoking Everywhere's shipments on the ground that the products appeared to be unapproved drug/device combination products. FDA did not attempt to categorically ban e-cigarettes for sale in the United States but, instead, sought to regulate them under its drug/device authorities.

——(Comment [178](#)) A few comments stated that manufacturers are marketing e-cigarettes as cessation products and, therefore, they should be regulated as cessation products.

——(Response) As stated in the D.C. Circuit's decision in Sottera, e-cigarettes that are customarily marketed tobacco products are subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities. If an e-cigarette manufacturer wishes to market its product for a therapeutic purpose, the company would be subject to FDA's drug/device authorities and must submit an application to be marketed as a medical product.

IX. ~~Regulation~~Effect of Deeming Rule on Vape ShopsShop Manufacturers

-Some comments requested clarification regarding the regulatory status of an ENDS retail establishment that sells e-liquids (sometimes known as a vape shop). ~~The establishment typically sells~~Such establishments sell a variety of products including ENDS, replacement pieces, hardware, custom mixed e-liquids, and other related accessories.

If ~~the~~an establishment mixes or prepares e-liquids or creates or modifies aerosolizing apparatus for direct sale to consumers for use in ENDS, the establishment fits within the definition of "tobacco product manufacturer" in section 900(20) of the FD&C Act (~~21 USC 387(20)~~) and the combinations it mixes and/or prepares are new tobacco products within the

meaning of section 910(a)(1). For requirements not covered by the ~~following~~ compliance policy ~~set forth in this section~~, ENDS retail establishments that meet the definition of a manufacturer should refer to the compliance periods in ~~Table A and Table B of this document~~. ~~tables 2 and 3 of this document~~. ~~As discussed in the Analysis of Impacts (Ref. 204), FDA expects that most vape shops will stop mixing e-liquids (and preparing other new tobacco products) to avoid being "manufacturers" under the Tobacco Control Act.~~

The definition of ~~"tobacco product manufacturer"~~ in section 900(20) includes ~~"any person, including any repacker or relabeler, who manufactures, fabricates, assembles, processes, or labels a tobacco product" (21 U.S.C. 387(20)).~~ Additionally, for purposes of section 905, the ~~FD&C Act~~ defines ~~"manufacturing, preparation, compounding, or processing"~~ to include ~~"repackaging, or otherwise changing the container, wrapper or labeling of any tobacco product package from the original place of manufacture to the person who makes the final delivery or sale to the ultimate consumer or user" (21 U.S.C. 387e).~~ Section 910(a)(1) defines a ~~"new tobacco product"~~ as ~~"any tobacco products (including those products in test markets) that was not commercially marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007;"~~ or ~~"any modification (including a change in design, any component, any part, or any constituent, including a smoke constituent, or in the content, delivery, or form of nicotine, or any other additive or ingredient) of a tobacco product -where the modified product was commercially marketed in the United States after February 15, 2007."~~ Therefore, establishments engaged in mixing or preparing e-liquids or creating or modifying aerosolizing apparatus for direct sale to consumers for use in ENDS are tobacco product manufacturers and, consequently, are subject to all of the statutory and regulatory requirements applicable to manufacturers.

The statute authorizes FDA to regulate the manufacture of all new products, including those manufactured at the retail level. This is important to FDA's ability to protect the public health since products manufactured at the retail level pose many of the same public health risks as those manufactured upstream and possibly additional risks related to the lack of standard manufacturing practices and controls. The introduction of ~~regulatory~~statutory controls and oversight into a historically unregulated market inevitably will lead to some market change and consolidation. FDA recognizes that, with the implementation of this final rule, ~~it is possible~~vape shops that ~~many meet the definition of the products that are currently being manufactured in retail establishments and are sold or promoted for sale will leave the market, which is sometimes referred to as "tobacco product exit."~~manufacturer may cease engaging in manufacturing activities rather than comply with requirements for manufacturers under this final rule.

However, FDA ~~expects that there will be significant product entry in later years.~~notes that such entities will have the option to continue operating solely as retailers, as some vape shops currently do. In addition, as noted earlier, FDA believes that this ~~rule~~policy (and the deeming rule as a whole) will not stifle innovation but could, instead, encourage it. Over time, FDA expects that its premarket review authorities will spur creative evolution and help to create a market where available products present a lower risk of user and population harm, provide a more consistent delivery under varying conditions of use, are less likely to lead to initiation of tobacco use, and/or are easier to quit. In recent years, ENDS products have proliferated in the absence of regulation, in some cases resulting in a lack of quality control and consistency, consumer confusion and even availability of acutely toxic products. In this context, we expect that changes in the market in response to regulation will have significant benefits for public health and will be a net benefit overall.

As the ENDS market continues to evolve, it is important that FDA exercise its authority to oversee all establishments engaged in manufacturing activities and their products, in order to protect consumers and to carry out the public health objectives of the Tobacco Control Act.

A. Premarket Requirements (Sections 905 and 910)

As stated throughout the document, manufacturers of newly deemed products that are not grandfathered will be required to obtain premarket authorization of their products through one of three pathways—~~PM~~ PMTA, SE or SE exemption (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act).

Therefore, ENDS retailers engaged in mixing or preparing e-liquids or creating or modifying aerosolizing apparatus will be required to obtain premarket authorization for each non-

grandfathered product that they prepare for sale or distribution to consumers. However, under the compliance policy laid out in section V.A of this document, FDA does not intend to enforce,

during specified compliance periods, the premarket review requirements including for ENDS

retailers that mix or prepare ~~non-flavored or tobacco-flavored~~ the same e-liquids (they have been preparing and offering for sale as discussed in section V.A of the effective date of this

~~document)~~ rule, or that create or modify aerosolizing apparatus: resulting in the same products

they have been creating as of the effective date. An initial compliance period ~~for non-flavored or~~

~~tobacco-flavored e-liquids~~, the length of which is dependent on the type of application to be

submitted, is intended to provide additional time to prepare and submit premarket applications.

In addition, for the 12 months following this initial compliance period, FDA intends to continue

the compliance policy and does not intend to enforce the premarket review requirements if the

firm has a pending submission. This means that, during this 12-month continued compliance

period of FDA review, FDA expects that ENDS retailers of any kind will sell only those

products that are (1) grandfathered; (2) authorized by FDA; or (3) ~~non-flavored or tobacco-~~

~~flavored~~ products for which the ENDS retailer or another (upstream) manufacturer has submitted a marketing application/submission to FDA during the initial compliance period. (For PMTAs, the initial compliance period to submit is 24 months after the final rule effective date.) ~~As stated in section V.A of this document, FDA has decided not to extend its compliance policy for premarket review requirements to flavored tobacco products. FDA's decision is based on comments and emerging data raising concerns that flavored tobacco products are attractive to youth and young adults, who are particularly susceptible to the addictiveness of nicotine. See section V.B for additional discussion regarding flavored tobacco products. However, given that many ENDS retail establishments mix flavored tobacco products, the compliance policy will be of limited or no benefit to that component of their business.~~

FDA expects that this 12-month continued compliance period of FDA review ~~for non-flavored or tobacco flavored e-liquids~~ will benefit manufacturers and retailers of newly deemed products, including ENDS retailers, since upstream manufacturers that submit applications will have a significant incentive to make retailers aware of their pending applications/submissions. Specifically, we expect that upstream manufacturer suppliers will inform ENDS retailers selling their products whether the upstream manufacturer has submitted a premarket application for such e-liquids and other ENDS products within the initial compliance period such that the retailers can benefit from the continued compliance period while FDA reviews such applications. ~~In addition, after the effective date of the final rule, FDA does not intend to enforce the premarket requirements for 90 days for retailers who are selling off any existing stock of e-liquid or other ENDS products.~~ FDA expects that manufacturers will have an incentive to make retailers aware of which products are the subject of applications, which will enable retailers to know whether a ~~compliance policy applies to a particular product and when the sell-off period applies to a~~

particular product (after the continued compliance period expires or the marketing application is denied by has been submitted and whether FDA once the initial compliance period closes). has acted on an application. In addition, retailers may contact suppliers for relevant product information. Therefore, ~~180 days after publication of this final rule, ENDS retailers will only sell nonflavored and tobacco flavored e liquids. After 39~~ after 36 months from the effective date (i.e., at the end of the initial compliance period plus 12-month continued compliance period ~~+ 90 days~~), FDA expects that all ENDS retailers will sell only those products that are either grandfathered or for which they have, or an upstream supplier has, received premarket authorization.

Table 4.--Compliance Policy for Premarket Requirements--ENDS Retail Establishments

0-24 months after the rule goes into effect	24-36 months after the rule goes into effect	Beyond 36 months after the rule goes into effect +90 days for sell-off of existing inventory
FDA does not intend to enforce premarket authorization requirements for non-flavored or tobacco-flavored e-liquid products that retailers mix and sell without marketing authorization. <u>, provided that final mixture is the same as a product the retailer was selling or offered for sale as of the effective date.</u>	FDA does not intend to initiate enforcement action for non-flavored or tobacco flavored e-liquid products that retailers mix and sell where a marketing application has been filed <u>submitted and is still pending</u> for the final mixture (and has not been denied).	The compliance period no longer applies, even if the final mixture has a pending marketing submission/application. -All <u>products for which a marketing submission/application is pending are subject to enforcement action.</u>

As stated ~~above~~ previously, because products manufactured at the retail level pose many of the same public health risks as those manufactured upstream, and possibly additional risks, ~~FDA has determined that~~ it is important to enforce the statutory requirements for all new products, even those currently manufactured by ENDS retailers.

In general, the FD&C Act provides three pathways that manufacturers may use to seek market authorization for a new product: ~~¶~~The premarket tobacco product application pathway, the ~~substantial equivalence~~SE pathway, and the exemption from ~~substantial equivalence~~SE pathway. FDA anticipates that most manufacturers of e-liquids and apparatus components/complete delivery systems will seek authorization through the PMTA pathway. To obtain marketing authorization under the PMTA pathway, manufacturers are required to establish, among other things, that permitting their product to be marketed would be appropriate for the protection of the public health. In establishing this, manufacturers should take into account, and FDA will consider, the ways in which the new product is likely to be used. For example, PMTAs for these products should contain information on whether the product is likely to be used alone or together with other legally marketed tobacco products (such as available delivery systems), as well as the type and range of the other products with which it is likely to be used.

While the statutory standard will apply to all products for which a PMTA is filed, FDA expects that different ~~types~~classes of products may have differing likelihoods of success in meeting the standard, by virtue of their expected use. As stated ~~above~~previously, to meet the statutory standard, PMTAs should contain information on whether a product is likely to be used alone or together with other legally marketed products and the public health implications of those likely uses. FDA has issued a draft guidance on PMTAs for ENDS, published concurrently with this final rule, which, when finalized, will explain FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed e-liquids and hardware/apparatus components. FDA intends to act as expeditiously as possible with respect to all new applications, while ensuring that statutory standards are met.

To reduce research burdens and increase efficiency for ENDS retail establishments that file applications, FDA suggests that ENDS retail establishments use master files whenever possible. By obtaining permission from a master file holder, manufacturers could reference extensive ingredients lists and constituent testing that they otherwise would be required to perform themselves for marketing authorization. To facilitate this process, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is announcing the availability of a final guidance to provide information on how to establish and reference a TPMF. This information will help applicants of newly deemed products prepare premarket and other regulatory submissions because they can reference information in TPMFs rather than develop the information on their own.

Given the anticipated availability and use of master files (as discussed in a separate, [final guidance published concurrent with Deeming](#)), which allows manufacturers to rely on the data and analysis submitted to FDA by separate entities, FDA anticipates that manufacturers will, over time, benefit from significantly increased efficiencies and reduced costs for complying with the statute. Such a system prevents and reduces duplication and allows for manufacturer reliance on confidential or sensitive non-public information while maintaining its confidentiality, thus saving time and reducing burdens for multiple manufacturers. Because of the nature of upstream supply of many components for ENDS products, especially e-liquids, FDA anticipates that commercial incentives will be sufficient to drive manufacturer reliance on the system of master files. We also note that at present, FDA understands that, [based on the Agency's review of publically available information as discussed in section III.C of the Analysis of Impacts \(Ref. 204\)](#), the number of entities [producing engaged in upstream production of liquid nicotine and flavors specifically developed](#) for use [in ENDS with e-liquids](#) is ~~very small and is larger but still very small for liquid flavors.~~, [in the range of seven to thirteen entities \(see earlier discussion in](#)

[response to comment 34](#)). Given the current marketplace, the master file system is likely to prove widely appealing and widely utilized by the ENDS industry, reducing burden significantly.

In addition, FDA intends to open public dockets for uniquely identified compounds likely to be used in an e-liquid product, such as propylene glycol, glycerin, nicotine, colorants, and flavoring agents. FDA intends to invite stakeholders to submit to the docket information regarding specific compounds, including data, studies, or other files, such as data on individual health effects of inhalation exposure, animal study data examining exposure to varying levels of compounds within e-liquids, or testing the impact of temperature on changes to the aerosol constituents. This information could then be used to help support applications for premarket review, for example, generating information on HPHCs in ENDS products that is then submitted as part of a PMTA.

B. Ingredient Listing and HPHC Requirements (section 904 and 915)

As of the effective date of this rule, the ingredient listing requirements of section 904 of the FD&C Act will apply to manufacturers of the newly deemed products, including ENDS retail establishments that mix or prepare e-liquids or create or modify aerosolizing apparatus for sale or distribution. At this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement to finished tobacco products. FDA does not at this time intend to enforce these requirements for manufacturers of components and parts of newly deemed products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing into finished tobacco products. This means that FDA generally intends to enforce these requirements with respect to ENDS retail establishments that mix or prepare e-liquids or create or modify aerosolizing apparatus for sale or distribution directly to consumers but not to distributors who sell components for further manufacturing. However, if the upstream distributor submits an ingredient list for a particular product, FDA does not intend to enforce the ingredient listing

requirement against an ENDS retailer with respect to that particular product. ~~We note that FDA also intends to issue guidance regarding HPHC reporting with enough time for manufacturers to test and report given the 3 year compliance period for HPHC reporting.~~ We note that FDA also intends to issue a guidance regarding HPHC reporting under section 904(a)(3), and later a testing regulation as required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to report given the 3-year compliance period for HPHC reporting. Section 904 (a)(3) requires the submission of a report listing all constituents, including smoke constituents, identified as harmful or potentially harmful (HPHC) by the Secretary. Section 915 requires the testing and reporting of the constituents, ingredients, and additives the Secretary determines should be tested to protect the public health. The section 915 testing and reporting requirements apply only after FDA issues a regulation implementing that section, which it has not yet done. Until these testing and reporting requirements have been established, newly deemed tobacco products (and currently regulated tobacco products) are not subject to the testing and reporting provisions found under section 915. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements under section 904(a)(3) for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the HPHC guidance and the section 915 regulation are issued well in advance of that time.

C. Registration and Product Listing (Section 905)

Section 905 of the FD&C Act requires every person who owns or operates an establishment engaged in the “”manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product²²” to register its establishment with FDA and submit a listing of its tobacco products to the Agency. If an ENDS retail establishment engages in these activities, ~~it will be required~~ section 905 requires the establishment to register and list its products with FDA in

accordance with this section. These requirements apply under the statute for all distinct products manufactured, and they enable FDA to assess the landscape of products manufactured by these entities. If ENDS retail establishments are mixing or preparing e-liquids or creating or modifying aerosolizing apparatus for direct sale to consumers, then they will have to list each e-liquid combination that they sell. It will be the responsibility of the ENDS retail establishment, as a manufacturer, to determine how many and which products they plan to manufacture. For shops that prepare an expansive array of custom mixes, with many gradations of flavor, nicotine strength or other characteristic, this would mean identifying, listing, and reporting ingredients for a large number of distinct products. In reality, however, we expect that such entities will elect to narrow the list of combinations they sell (with more limited distinctions in strength and flavor, etc.), since such a narrowing will allow them to continue providing custom products and a variety of options while simplifying their reporting. However, since the time and cost of listing each additional mixture is expected to be very low, the reduction will not necessarily be significant. In addition, any narrowing may reflect a reduction in products that are listed but are not actually sold.

D. Tobacco Health Document Submissions (Section 904)

Section 904(a)(4) of the FD&C Act requires each tobacco product manufacturer or importer, or agent thereof, to submit all documents that relate to health, toxicological, behavioral, or physiologic effects of current or future products, their constituents (including smoke constituents), ingredients, components, and additives. As discussed in section IV.D of this document (discussing the compliance policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers), FDA, for an additional ~~six~~6 months following the end of the generally applicable compliance

period, does not intend to enforce against those small-scale tobacco product manufacturers (including ENDS retail establishments) who submit the required information.

E. Office of Small Business Assistance (OSBA)

Under section 901(f) of the FD&C Act, one of FDA's initial activities upon passage of the Tobacco Control Act was to establish the OSBA within CTP to assist small tobacco product manufacturers and retailers in complying with the law. FDA recognizes that the issuance of this final deeming rule, including the clarifying information noting that ENDS retail establishments are manufacturers subject to this rule, may result in many additional small tobacco product entities contacting OSBA for assistance. Accordingly, FDA intends to hire additional OSBA staff to provide assistance to small tobacco product entities wherever possible.

X. Regulation of Other Categories of Products

FDA is finalizing this rule to deem all products that meet the definition of tobacco product in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act (except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products) to be subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities. In addition, as stated in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), any future tobacco product that meets the definition in section 201(rr) (except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products) will also be subject to FDA's authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. Regulation of the newly deemed tobacco products is intended to address the public health concerns related to these products. A summary of the comments regarding dissolvables, gels, pipe tobacco, waterpipe tobacco, other alternative products, and future tobacco products is discussed ~~below~~. ~~FDA's~~ [follows](#). ~~FDA's~~ responses to the comments are also included.

A. Nicotine in Newly Deemed Products

Comments were split as to the health risks of nicotine and its impact on adult tobacco product users.

——(Comment [179](#)) Many comments stated that nicotine is addictive, and all products containing nicotine pose a health threat to youth. Some also stated that nicotine can have detrimental effects on the cardiovascular system and promotes lung carcinomas (~~Ref. 130, Ben 97; Ref. 165, Wade~~); [Refs. 15, 205](#)). Other comments noted that it is generally accepted that nicotine is not directly responsible for tobacco-related death and disease (~~Ref. 166, Hukk~~[206](#)) and that the Surgeon General has stated that it is the toxic substances in tobacco products (not the nicotine) that cause almost all tobacco-related death and disease (~~Ref. 24, 14-SG~~[9](#)).

——(Response) FDA agrees that nicotine is the primary addictive substance in tobacco products, as stated in the proposed deeming rule (79 FR 23142 at 23180). The Surgeon General has long recognized that nicotine is the primary pharmacologic agent of tobacco that can be absorbed into the bloodstream and cause addiction (~~Ref. 1671 at 6-9, 88-SG~~). In addition, the Surgeon General has stated that addiction to nicotine is the “fundamental reason that individuals persist in using tobacco products, and this persistent use contributes to many diseases” (~~Ref. 1682 at 105; 10-SG~~). While nicotine does not directly cause most smoking-related diseases, addiction to the nicotine in tobacco products sustains tobacco use, leading to the ingestion of the toxic substances in combusted tobacco products and tobacco smoke (~~Ref. 129, Ben 1014~~). However, nicotine, in low doses, is given in different routes of administration as nicotine replacement therapies to help consumers to stop smoking, when approved for such purposes.

——While the inhalation of nicotine (i.e., nicotine without the products of combustion) is of less risk to overall public health than the inhalation of nicotine delivered by smoke from combusted tobacco products, limited data suggests that the pharmacokinetic

properties of inhaled nicotine can be similar to nicotine delivered by combusted tobacco products. Thus, inhaled nicotine from a non-combustible product may be as addictive as inhaled nicotine delivered by combusted tobacco products. Researchers recognize that the effects from nicotine exposure by inhalation are likely not responsible for the high prevalence of tobacco-related death and disease in this country (Refs. 10, 11). Although nicotine has not been shown to cause the chronic disease associated with tobacco use, the 2014 Surgeon General’s report noted that there are risks associated with nicotine (Ref. 9 at 111). For example, nicotine at high enough doses has acute toxicity (id.). Nicotine exposure during fetal development has lasting adverse consequences for brain development (id.). Nicotine also adversely affects maternal and fetal health during pregnancy, contributing to multiple adverse outcomes such as preterm delivery and stillbirth (id.). Further, data in animal models suggest that nicotine exposure during adolescence may have lasting adverse consequences for brain development (id.). Some studies also have found that nicotine can have detrimental effects on the cardiovascular system and potentially disrupt the central nervous system (Refs. 14, 15). (See also section VIII.C of this document discussing the increase in poisoning due to accidental nicotine ingestion.)

(Comment 180) FDA received a large number of comments discussing the addictive nature of nicotine and the impact of nicotine on adolescents. Several comments stated that research suggests/indicates that the adolescent brain is more vulnerable to nicotine addiction than the adult brain. The comments noted that researchers have ~~focused on the effects of nicotine exposure on the adolescent brain in particular because,~~ “found that,” most likely owing to its ongoing development, the adolescent brain is more vulnerable to the effects of nicotine than the adult brain” (Ref. 169, Gorio; see Ref. 170, Spear). ~~One comment noted that.~~ Adolescents progress faster to nicotine dependence than adults, find nicotine more rewarding, underestimate

the risks of smoking, and are more influenced by smoking behavior in their social milieu." (Refs. 207, 208). One comment noted that animal research showing the adolescent brain is particularly vulnerable to nicotine addiction, and that adolescents are also less susceptible to withdrawal symptoms, creating an all-reward, no-regret system for psychostimulant use (~~Ref. 171, Sturman; Ref. 172, Adriana; Ref. 173, O'Dell~~).Refs. 209, 210, 211). Another comment noted that the U.S. Surgeon General has found that key symptoms of nicotine dependence--such as withdrawal and tolerance--develop in adolescents following even minimal exposure to nicotine. Additionally, the comment stated that the Surgeon General's 2012 report cites one study following occasional adolescent smokers that found that a large proportion experienced at least one symptom of nicotine dependence upon quitting, even in the first 4 weeks after initiating monthly smoking (at least two cigarettes within a 2-month period) (Ref. 14149 at 24, ~~12 SG~~citing Ref. 212).

————(Response) FDA agrees that given their developmental stage, and the fact that brain maturation continues into the mid-twenties, adolescents and young adults are more uniquely susceptible to biological, social, and environmental influences to use and become addicted to tobacco products. If individuals do not start using cigarettes by age 26, they are unlikely ever to smoke (Ref. 174, 94 SG3). Research shows that 87 percent of established adult smokers began smoking before the age of 18 (Ref. 24, 14 SG9). An analysis by the WHO of studies performed among final-year high school students in the United States suggests that fewer than two out of five smokers who believe that they will quit within 5 years actually do quit. In high-income countries, about 7 out of 10 adult smokers say they regret initiating smoking and would like to stop (Ref. 175, Prabhat213).

In addition, FDA agrees that there are data suggesting that the adolescent brain is more vulnerable to developing nicotine dependence than the adult brain and that there is evidence to

suggest that these brain changes are permanent (~~Ref. 141, 12 SG; Ref. 176, Poorthuis~~).Refs. 49, 214). The Surgeon General reported that "most people begin to smoke in adolescence and develop characteristic patterns of nicotine dependence before adulthood"2" (Ref. ~~174, 94 SG~~3). These youth develop physical dependence and experience withdrawal symptoms when they try to quit smoking (~~Ref. 174, 94 SG~~).id.). As a result, addiction to nicotine is often lifelong (Ref. ~~177, Levin~~4). Additionally, youth and young adults generally "underestimate the tenacity of nicotine addiction and overestimate their ability to stop smoking when they choose"2" (Ref. ~~178, Pres~~5). For example, one survey revealed that "nearly 60 percent of adolescents believed that they could smoke for a few years and then quit"2" (Ref. ~~5, IOM~~). ~~Exposure to 7~~. Research conducted in animal models have indicated that exposure to substances such as nicotine can disrupt adolescent brain development and may have long-term consequences on executive cognitive function and on the risk of developing a substance abuse disorder and various mental health problems as an adult (Ref. ~~178A, Counotte, and this~~8). This exposure to nicotine can also have long-term results on decreasing attention performance and increasing impulsivity which could in turn promote the maintenance of nicotine use behavior (id.).

B Dissolvables

FDA noted in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM that it was proposing to deem certain dissolvable products (i.e., those dissolvable products that do not currently meet the definition of "smokeless tobacco" in section 900(18) of the FD&C Act because they do not contain cut, ground, powdered, or leaf tobacco and instead contain nicotine extracted from tobacco). We explained that little evidence is available to ascertain the pharmacological properties and harmful effects of dissolvable tobacco products or compare them with FDA-approved nicotine replacement products or other tobacco products. We also noted that certain dissolvable smokeless tobacco

products, given their candy-like appearance, have the potential for unintended poisonings ~~given the candy like appearance of certain dissolvable tobacco products~~. FDA deems these dissolvable products with this final rule.

——(Comment [181](#)) Comments stated that FDA should not rely on a study investigating flavored tobacco products in young adults as evidence that dissolvables are more attractive to children. They indicated that this study is inapplicable because it only looked at behaviors of people 18 years or older.

——(Response) The cited study (Ref. [12, Villanti54](#)) assessed the prevalence of flavored tobacco products (including dissolvables) in individuals 18 and older, which encompasses both young adults and adults. The study stated that the products' packaging looks like candy packaging and the products often are sold next to candy. FDA believes that these factors cause confusion regarding the safety of these novel tobacco products for adult consumers as well as children (Ref. [179, Connolly215](#)). In addition, this study cited an additional study that concluded that sugar preference is greater in youth and young adults (Ref. [180, De Graaf53](#)). Accordingly, FDA believes it was appropriate to cite to this study as evidence supporting FDA's concerns with certain dissolvable products.

——(Comment [182](#)) Some comments expressed concerns regarding possible confusion between dissolvable tobacco products and candy and the possibility of inadvertent poisonings.

——(Response) FDA agrees that the candy-like appearance of some dissolvable products may result in accidental poisonings. As FDA discussed in the proposed rule NPRM, data from 2010 indicates that 13,705 tobacco product ingestion cases were reported and more than 70 percent of those cases involved infants under a year old (Ref. [179, Connolly215](#)). Although it is

unclear exactly how many of these cases involved dissolvables, smokeless tobacco products (in all forms, including dissolvables) were the second most common tobacco product ingested by children, after cigarettes (id.).

——(Comment [183](#)) Some comments mentioned that dissolvable tobacco products may be easily confused with NRTs and, therefore, should be regulated.

——(Response) The Agency finds that FDA regulation of all dissolvable products under chapter IX of the FD&C Act will help to alleviate potential confusion about the safety and use of these products. Products that contain nicotine derived from tobacco, are intended for human consumption, and are not marketed for therapeutic purposes, are subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act.

——(Comment [184](#)) Comments provided unpublished data (Ref. [181](#), [Brinkman216](#)) indicating that dissolvable tobacco products deliver nicotine levels sufficient to promote and sustain addiction. They also indicated that dissolvable tobacco products have a higher average pH than other tobacco products, increasing the amount of absorbable nicotine.

——(Response) FDA acknowledges that information about harmful or potentially harmful constituents in such products is sparse, but studies indicate that the level of nicotine in dissolvable products may differ from cigarettes and may lead to nicotine addiction (Ref. [182](#), [Mishina217](#)). These studies support the public health need to regulate all dissolvable tobacco products.

——(Comment [185](#)) Comments stated that dissolvable tobacco products are safer than other tobacco products and have lower levels of nitrosamines than snus or snuff and just slightly higher levels than some NRTs (Ref. [183](#), [Step218](#)). They also provided information that

evaluated plasma nicotine levels, heart rates, and reduction in cigarette cravings, and found that the levels in certain dissolvables were similar to the levels in NRTs (Ref. ~~184, Cobb~~219).

——(Response) While a continuum of nicotine-delivering products exists, deeming all tobacco products will enable the Agency to collect information about the ingredients and the health and behavioral effects of these products. These products are “tobacco products” with the potential to addict users and harm children, particularly given their candy-like appearance, and are subject to FDA’s tobacco control authorities upon the effective date of this final rule. FDA also notes that NRTs are regulated products and subject to premarket review by FDA.

C. Gels

As proposed, FDA is deeming nicotine gels with this final rule.

——(Comment 186) Some comments agreed that nicotine gels should be subject to FDA’s chapter IX authorities under the FD&C Act. In support of their argument, they provided studies showing that children and young adults are more susceptible than adults to nicotine poisoning through the skin (Ref. ~~185, McBride~~220).

——(Response) With this final rule, FDA is finalizing its proposal to deem all “tobacco products” including nicotine gels, which are absorbed through the skin. In addition to meeting the definition of “tobacco product,” nicotine gels can be addictive and lead to use of other tobacco products that have well-documented risks of tobacco-related death and disease. Regulating these products also will help, among other things, to address ~~consumers’~~ mistaken consumers’ unsubstantiated beliefs that ~~noncigarette~~non-cigarette tobacco products are safe alternatives to cigarettes.

D. Pipe Tobacco

FDA proposed to cover pipe tobacco with this deeming rule. FDA indicated that pipe tobacco smokers have a risk of tobacco-related disease similar to the risk of those who inhale cigar smoke or smoke cigarettes (Ref. ~~28, Henley-221~~). The Surgeon General also found that pipe and cigar smokers experience oral and laryngeal cancer risks similar to that of cigarette smokers (Ref. ~~186, 89-SG222~~). FDA is deeming pipe tobacco with this final rule.

——(Comment ~~187~~) A few comments provided suggestions as to how FDA should define pipe tobacco in this final rule to differentiate it from roll-your-own tobacco. For example, comments suggested FDA define pipe tobacco to include the moisture measured at the time of packing, the amount of reducing sugars, and the fact that it does not use reconstituted sheet tobacco or expanded leaf tobacco as part of the blend. Others suggested FDA define the term based on the "consumer's reasonable perception of the product" or include language stating that it is "suitable for use and likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as tobacco to be smoked in a pipe." Comments also requested that FDA enforce against the misuse of pipe tobacco as roll-your-own tobacco, regardless of whether it defines pipe tobacco, because mislabeled pipe tobacco already meets the definition of cigarette tobacco or roll-your-own tobacco.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. The Agency finds that it is not necessary to define pipe tobacco in this rule. FDA also notes that it has issued Warning Letters for products bearing the package description of "pipe tobacco," but that are sold or distributed for use as cigarettes for the purposes of ~~C~~chapter IX of the FD&C Act due to the fact that, because of its appearance, the type of tobacco used in the filler, or its packaging and labeling, it is suitable for use and likely to be offered to consumers as cigarettes, and/or likely to be purchased by consumers ~~as~~for

[making cigarettes or intended for use in](#) cigarettes. FDA will continue to do so as circumstances warrant.

——(Comment [188](#)) Comments stated that when consumers use pipe tobacco for its intended use, it does not have the same public health concerns as other tobacco products. They also stated that pipe tobacco users are only a small percentage of adults and that only 0.2 percent of minors indicate that they are dual users of pipe tobacco and cigarettes (Ref. [24, 14 SG9](#)). They stated that based on these differences, some of the automatic deeming provisions should not apply to pipe tobacco. For example, they claimed premarket review requirements should not apply to pipe tobacco, because manufacturers make changes to maintain consistent taste for older populations and not to create “new” products.

——Other comments disagreed, citing evidence of the dangers of pipe tobacco, as discussed in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) (79 FR 23142 at 23156, [and](#) 23168). They also expressed concerns that extended use of pipe tobacco releases significant amounts of secondhand smoke into the environment.

——(Response) FDA disagrees that pipe smoking is not a public health issue. As we stated in the [proposed rule NPRM](#), studies of pipe tobacco smokers have found that their risk of tobacco-related disease is similar to the risk in those who inhale cigar smoke or smoke cigarettes (Ref. [28, Henley221](#)). The Surgeon General also previously found that pipe and cigar smokers experience oral and laryngeal cancer risks similar to that of a cigarette smoker (Ref. [186, 89 SG222](#)). While the Surgeon General's report does indicate that pipe tobacco smokers may have a lower risk of developing cardiovascular disease than cigarette smokers, pipe tobacco users still are at risk for these diseases, and those who use both cigarettes and pipe tobacco may have even higher levels of risk due to their usage patterns (Ref. [249](#) at 428, [14 SG](#)). Moreover, researchers

have found that when compared with individuals who have never used tobacco, pipe smokers have an increased risk of death from cancers of the lung, oropharynx, esophagus, colorectum, pancreas, and larynx, and from coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, and COPD ([Ref. 38, Henley; Ref. 25, Rodriguez](#)[Refs. 32, 221](#)).

———(Comment [189](#)) A few comments expressed concern that retailers who blend pipe tobacco would be subject to all FD&C Act requirements for manufacturers, preparers, compounders, or processors of tobacco products, such as premarket review, and registration and listing. These comments requested that retailers blending up to either 3,000 pounds or 5,000 pounds of pipe tobacco per year be exempt from the requirements of the law that apply to manufacturers.

———
(Response) All entities that meet the definition of ““tobacco product manufacturer”” in section 900(20) of the FD&C Act, including retail establishments that blend pipe tobacco, are subject to and must comply with all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements for tobacco product manufacturers.

E. Waterpipe Tobacco

The ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) included waterpipe tobacco as an example of a tobacco product that would be covered under this deeming rule. We noted concerns regarding the safety of waterpipe tobacco given the nicotine and carcinogens in waterpipe tobacco smoke, and the availability of waterpipe tobacco in a variety of flavors that could be appealing to youth and young adults. FDA’s final rule includes waterpipe tobacco in the scope of products subject to FDA’s tobacco control authorities.

——(Comment [190](#)) One comment requested that FDA clarify whether the term “hookah” refers to the waterpipe or the tobacco used in the waterpipe.

——(Response) In the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#), FDA generally used the term “hookah” to mean waterpipe smoking and “hookah tobacco” as the tobacco used in the waterpipe.

Waterpipe smoking may also be referred to by other names such as shisha or narghile. To alleviate any confusion in this final rule, FDA has referred to “waterpipe smoking” and “waterpipe tobacco” to cover all types of tobacco smoking using a waterpipe.

——(Comment [191](#)) At least one comment expressed concern about the public health risk of herbal waterpipe tobacco, which they assert has the same levels of toxicant exposure but without nicotine.

——(Response) FDA’s tobacco product authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act do not extend to substances that are not made or derived from tobacco (like ~~this~~ herbal waterpipe tobacco), because they do not meet the definition of “tobacco product” under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act.

1. Dual and Polytobacco Use

——(Comment [192](#)) Many comments expressed concern about the growth in dual and polytobacco use among youth and young adults. For example, the North Carolina Public Health Association submitted a preliminary analysis of the 2013 NCYTS, which indicated that 19.1 percent of high school students reported using two or more tobacco products and that 88.4 percent of high school students who currently are using waterpipe tobacco reported using at least one other tobacco product. Some comments noted that dual use of waterpipe tobacco and cigarettes is more prevalent than exclusive waterpipe tobacco use and that waterpipe tobacco users typically smoke cigarettes with greater intensity than nonwaterpipe tobacco users (Ref.

~~187, Cobb Khader222~~). In fact, dual use of waterpipe tobacco and cigarette use is one of the most common tobacco use profiles found in young adults age 18 to 24 years (e.g., Ref. ~~188, Jarrett223~~).

——(Response) FDA remains concerned about the potential for dual and polytobacco use, particularly among youth and young adults. As the North Carolina research shows, a noncigarette tobacco product (like waterpipe tobacco) can be the first product used by new tobacco users and there is concern such users could continue using the initial product or transition to cigarettes or other tobacco products. There is also the concern that existing users could become dual users. Accordingly, it is critical to deem these noncigarette tobacco products and place restrictions upon them that are appropriate for the protection of the public health, including age and identification restrictions to help prevent youth use of these products.

2. Popularity

——(Comment [193](#)) Many comments expressed concern about the growing use of waterpipe tobacco, particularly among young adults. For example, they noted that the percentage of young adults aged 18 to 24 who use waterpipe tobacco (7.8 percent) is significantly higher than adult use (1.5 percent) (Ref. ~~15, King224~~). A few comments suggested that FDA overestimated this trend.

——(Response) FDA agrees with the many comments that supported regulation of waterpipe tobacco and noted the increase in use among young adults. Waterpipe tobacco use continues to increase in popularity, particularly among college students, with as many as 40 percent reporting ever using waterpipe tobacco and 20 percent reporting use (i.e., use within the past 30 days) on some college campuses (~~Ref. 189, Sutfin; 190, Eissenberg~~). ~~Refs. 25, 26~~).

3. Harms

——(Comment [194](#)) Many comments supplemented the data in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) regarding the dangers of smoking waterpipe tobacco. For example, they referred to several studies showing significant nicotine, carbon monoxide, and other carcinogen intake during waterpipe use (e.g., [Ref. 191, Schubert 2012](#); [Ref. 192, Schubert 2011](#); [Ref. 193, Martinasek](#); [Ref. 194, Shihadeh 2005](#)). [Refs. 225, 226, 227, 228](#)). Further, in studies involving the use of waterpipes in a hospital research ward, researchers found greater carbon monoxide exposure and a different pattern of carcinogen exposure for waterpipe tobacco smokers (when compared to cigarette smokers), and concluded that exposure to tobacco smoke toxicants during waterpipe use is similar qualitatively (though not quantitatively) to cigarette smoke ([Ref. 195, Jacob 2011](#); [Ref. 196, Jacob 2013](#)). [Refs. 229, 230](#)). Comments concluded that waterpipe users have a significant risk of smoking-related diseases, but the magnitude of the risk depends upon the extent of the use.

——(Response) FDA agrees with this assessment and that it supports finalizing its proposal to include waterpipe tobacco in the scope of this rule.

——(Comment [195](#)) Many comments included data regarding the increased cancer risks associated with waterpipe smoking. For example, researchers identified significant associations between waterpipe tobacco use and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and a ~~six~~6-fold increase in risk of lung cancer from waterpipe tobacco use ([Ref. 197, Dar](#); [Ref. 198, Kouf](#)). [Refs. 231, 232](#)). In addition, the existence of tobacco-related toxicants in waterpipe tobacco smoke may place users at risk for many of the same diseases as cigarette smokers, including a risk of lung cancer and respiratory illness (e.g., [Ref. 199, Akl](#); [Ref. 200, Khabour](#); [Ref. 201, Rammah, 2012](#); [Ref. 202, Rammah 2013](#)). [Refs. 233, 234, 235, 236](#)). While some comments maintained that many of these users will use waterpipe tobacco only once in their lifetime, these

products are growing in popularity with youth and young adults and cause tobacco-related death and disease.

Other comments opposed FDA's proposal to regulate waterpipe tobacco, claiming that the dangers of waterpipe tobacco use are unsupported, that FDA has not adequately reviewed scientific studies, and that FDA ignored evidence. They also believed that use of disposable mouth piece tips would alleviate the risks of spreading communicable diseases through waterpipe use. In addition, they indicated that FDA's comparison of a waterpipe smoking session to smoking a single cigarette is inherently flawed due to the different patterns of use of these tobacco products.

——(Response) Although it is possible that use of disposable mouth piece tips could help alleviate the risks of spreading communicable diseases through waterpipe use, the products nevertheless present a significant risk of smoking-related diseases. Accordingly, FDA is finalizing its proposal to include waterpipe tobacco in the scope of this rule. Further, although the products have different use topographies, FDA continues to believe that a comparison between the toxicants emitted during a waterpipe session and cigarette smoking is valid and indicative of the dangers associated with waterpipe use. In fact, the WHO study group on tobacco regulation [has](#) found that a waterpipe session can be the equivalent of smoking more than 100 cigarettes (Ref. [203, WHO237](#)). Moreover, regardless of the number of waterpipe tobacco users who use waterpipe tobacco for more than ~~one~~ day, the product presents significant health risks and is appropriately included in the scope of this rule.

4. Addiction

——(Comment [196](#)) Some comments claimed that waterpipe tobacco smokers do not get addicted and, therefore, there is no need for FDA to regulate waterpipe tobacco. Others

disagreed and claimed that waterpipe tobacco is addictive. These comments provided extensive data about the significant health effects (including nicotine and toxicant exposure) and the highly addictive nature of waterpipe use (e.g., dual use) (e.g., Ref. [199, Ak1233](#)).

——(Response) Waterpipe tobacco contains nicotine, which is the primary addictive chemical in tobacco products. Researchers have observed nicotine dependence characteristics in some users, including suppressed cravings to smoke and anxiousness ([Ref. 204, Cobb 11; 205, Blank; 206, Rastam](#)[Refs. 238, 239, 240](#)), with one study showing that waterpipe tobacco use suppressed withdrawal symptoms just as cigarette smoking suppresses withdrawal symptoms ([Ref. 206, Rastam](#)[240](#)).

5. Misunderstanding

——(Comment [197](#)) Consumers stated that waterpipe tobacco should be regulated given its appeal to youth and adolescents²¹; belief that it is not as harmful as traditional cigarettes. They agreed that a failure to regulate the proposed deemed products could reinforce consumers²¹ existing confusion and misinformation about these products. However, other comments stated that FDA²¹s concerns over youth²¹s misperception of the safety of certain tobacco products should not be a factor that FDA should consider in deciding whether to regulate them. They stated that regulation cannot remedy the fact that certain youth affirmatively disregard available safety information. Comments noted that waterpipe tobacco users perceive this product to be much less harmful than cigarette smoking ([Ref. 207, Aljarrah](#)[241](#)), because they mistakenly think that the water filters out toxicants from the smoke and the fact that waterpipe tobacco use is frequently exempted from clean indoor air laws.

——(Response) While we continue to believe that alleviating misperceptions is important, we note that the potential to alleviate youth²¹s misperception regarding the toxicity of

unregulated tobacco products was only one of many public health benefits associated with deeming tobacco products, as discussed in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149). Waterpipe smoking carries ~~similar~~ health risks assimilar to smoking cigarettes, and waterpipe smoke contains many of the same carcinogens and heavy metals as cigarette smoke (79 FR 23142 at 23156 and 23157). In addition, given that waterpipe tobacco smoking sessions last significantly longer than smoking a cigarette, smoking waterpipe tobacco could potentially be even more dangerous than smoking a cigarette (79 FR 23142 at 23156). Consequently, based on the various impacts on public health, FDA believes regulation of waterpipe tobacco is important.

F. Additional Novel and Future Tobacco Products

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA proposed to deem additional novel and future tobacco products if the products ~~that~~ meet the definition of “tobacco product” in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act. FDA is finalizing this proposal here.

(Comment 198) Several comments supported deeming all future tobacco products. One comment requested that the future regulated products should include products that extend beyond buccal or dermal absorption.

(Response) Future products that meet the definition of “tobacco product” under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, including the requirement that they be “intended for human consumption,” are deemed subject to FDA’s chapter IX authorities as a result of this rule. A product may be intended for human consumption in a variety of ways, such as through the lungs or by buccal or dermal absorption. However, future accessories of newly deemed products are not deemed subject to chapter IX as a result of this rule.

——(Comment [199](#)) At least one comment cautioned FDA that regulations for future products should be based on the continuum of risk to ensure that there is continued innovation to reduce harm.

——(Response) FDA recognizes the existence of a continuum of nicotine-delivering products and will continue to consider this continuum in regulating future tobacco products.

——(Comment [202](#)) A few comments stated that FDA should not regulate products with de minimis amounts of nicotine derived from tobacco that may be used in cosmetics, food, animal feed, or other products, and for purposes not related to traditional tobacco use (such as protein). Additionally, they stated that these types of products should not have to bear the warning, [“This product is derived from tobacco.”](#)

——(Response) With this final rule, FDA deems all products meeting the definition of tobacco product, except for accessories of newly deemed products, to be subject to FDA’s authorities under chapter IX of the FD&C Act. Determinations about whether particular products meet this definition would be made on a case-by-case basis. However, animal feed is a veterinary product and not for human consumption and, therefore, would not be a tobacco product. Products that contain nicotine derived from tobacco meet the definition of a tobacco product under the FD&C Act and are required to bear a health warning on packages and in advertisements stating: [“WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.”](#) For products that are made or derived from tobacco (but do not contain nicotine), manufacturers may submit a certification to FDA and, instead, bear the statement [“This product is made from tobacco.”](#) See section XVI.H of this document for additional information regarding this certification.

——(Comment [203](#)) One comment stated that alternative nicotine products, such as nicotine toothpicks, have a net positive impact on the public health because they pose fewer health and safety risks than conventional cigarettes and could help addicted smokers transition to less toxic tobacco products. The comment argued that the regulatory burden for such products should be proportionately reduced.

——(Response) While FDA recognizes the existence of a continuum of nicotine-delivering products, all tobacco products are addictive and potentially dangerous and, therefore, should be subject to FDA regulation. Therefore, FDA is deeming all tobacco products (except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products) subject to the requirements of chapter IX of the FD&C Act and requiring certain additional provisions (i.e., minimum age and identification, vending machine, and health warnings) for covered tobacco products. FDA will continue to take this continuum of nicotine-delivering products into consideration as it contemplates future regulations of the newly deemed products.

XI. Additional Automatic Provisions Applicable to Newly Deemed Products

In addition to the requirement that ~~nongrandfathered~~[non-grandfathered](#) tobacco products obtain authorization through one of the three marketing pathways, several provisions in the Tobacco Control Act and its implementing regulations will automatically apply to the newly deemed products as of the effective date of this final rule (79 FR 23142 at 23148 and 23149).

These provisions include:

[\(1\)](#) ~~1-~~Adulteration and misbranding provisions (sections [902](#) and [903](#) of the FD&C Act);

[\(2\)](#) ~~2-~~Ingredient listing and HPHC reporting requirements (sections [904](#) and [915](#) of the FD&C Act);

~~(3) 3-~~Registration and product listing requirements (section 905 of the FD&C Act);

~~(4) 4-~~Prohibition against the use of "light," "low," and "mild" descriptors and products with other unauthorized modified risk claims (section 911 of the FD&C Act); and

~~(5) 5-~~Prohibition of free samples of the proposed deemed products (21 CFR 1140.16(d)).

Comments regarding these provisions, and FDA's responses to comments, are ~~discussed below~~ as follows.

———(Comment) ~~204~~ In the proposed deeming rule, FDA noted that it was taking this action to address the public health concerns associated with the use of tobacco products. Some comments stated that health policies based on tobacco use prevention and cessation are not sufficient to protect the public health.

———(Response) FDA is deeming products that meet the definition of "~~the~~" tobacco product,"²² except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products, to address the public health concerns with these products. In the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM, FDA included discussion of public health benefits to better inform the public about the likely results of deeming these tobacco products. ~~FDA's final rule deeming tobacco products is a foundational rule that~~ FDA intends to supplement this final rule with regulations ~~that will further~~ as appropriate to protect the public health.

A. Sections 902 and 903--Adulteration and Misbranding

In the proposed deeming rule, we explained that the adulteration and misbranding provisions of sections 902 and 903 of the FD&C Act would subject all tobacco products to certain basic requirements. For example, their labeling and advertising cannot be false or

misleading, which will help reduce consumer confusion and misperception. The Agency can take enforcement action against any tobacco product that did not meet these basic requirements.

——(Comment [205](#)) A large number of comments discussed the applicability of sections 902 and 903 of the FD&C Act to the newly deemed tobacco products. Most comments expressed general support for applying adulteration and misbranding provisions to the newly deemed tobacco products. Others supported the application of the provisions based on concerns that some e-cigarette manufacturers may not be producing their products in sterile conditions. Several comments cautioned that the differences between the newly deemed tobacco products might result in unwarranted restrictions if the provisions are applied mechanically across all product categories. At least one comment stated that the adulteration and misbranding provisions should not apply to e-cigarettes because there is no evidence that adulteration and misbranding currently occurs with those products or causes any harm.

——(Response) The adulteration and misbranding provisions of sections 902 and 903 of the FD&C Act will automatically subject all tobacco products to certain basic requirements. For example, their labeling and advertising cannot be false or misleading, which will help reduce consumer confusion and misperception. FDA will be able to take enforcement action against any tobacco product that does not meet these basic requirements. For example, if a product is produced in insanitary conditions or is contaminated, or if its labeling contains a misleading claim, it will be subject to enforcement action, including seizure and injunction.—

B. Sections 904 and 915--Ingredient Listing and Reporting of HPHCs

As stated in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), the newly deemed products will be required to comply with the ingredient listing and HPHC reporting requirements of sections 904 and 915 of the FD&C Act. FDA intends to issue [a guidance regarding HPHC reporting, and later a testing](#)

and reporting regulation as required by section 915, with enough time for manufacturers to ~~test and~~ report given the ~~three~~ 3-year compliance period for HPHC reporting, ~~as described~~. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the guidance is issued well in advance of that time.

——(Comment 206) A couple of comments urged FDA not to require newly deemed products to comply with the ingredient and HPHC listing requirements. One comment argued that such reports are useless for educating consumers, who will invariably use them in an attempt to determine the relative risk of each product. Another comment claimed that the HPHC and ingredient listing requirements should be abandoned because they are not helpful and the cost of producing these reports would destroy industry.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with these comments. Ingredient and HPHC reporting assist FDA in better understanding the contents of regulated products. This information will assist FDA in assessing potential health risks and determining if future regulations to address these health risks would be appropriate. The FD&C Act directs FDA to make certain HPHC information publicly available, but it must do so in a way that is understandable and not misleading to lay persons.

——(Comment 207) Several comments discussed ingredient and HPHC listing requirements in the context of small businesses and particular products. A few comments urged FDA to exempt small businesses that manufacture e-cigarettes from the HPHC reporting requirement because the testing would impose a large financial burden on them and would likely drive them out of business. One comment countered these arguments, urging FDA to require manufacturers of all products to comply with the ingredient and HPHC listing requirements and

not provide an exemption for small businesses. The comment argued that the size of a business does not change a product's potential health impact and that the health benefits of regulation far exceed the costs.

Other comments focused on ingredient and HPHC listing requirements for specific product categories. At least one comment expressed concern that HPHC testing would disproportionately affect the premium cigar industry, which has a high number of low-volume products, and requested that the requirements not apply to small batch or special release products. One comment claimed that many of the new tobacco products on the market, such as e-cigarettes, are virtually identical with the exception of flavoring and nicotine levels and recommended that FDA allow for these products to be grouped together for the purposes of HPHC testing.

——(Response) With respect to HPHC testing of similar products, FDA recognizes that some manufacturers of newly deemed products sell products in various flavors, or with varying levels of nicotine. Manufacturers of these products will be required to test each variation for HPHCs, even where the products are otherwise the same. At this time, there is little known about the constituents of some newly deemed products. HPHC testing will allow FDA to track the level of HPHCs across different categories of flavors, and by nicotine level. FDA's compliance policies for the HPHC requirements are described elsewhere in this document.

——(Comment [208](#)) Several comments stated that FDA should establish HPHC lists and testing methodology before requiring HPHC testing. One comment requested that FDA establish an HPHC list and testing methodology for e-cigarettes in the same manner that it did for currently regulated tobacco products, including holding public workshops, requesting and considering [TPSAC Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Committee](#) recommendations,

publishing draft and final lists in the Federal Register for public comment, and providing a reasonable compliance period for e-cigarette manufacturers. A few comments expressed the opinion that FDA should establish separate lists of HPHCs for each category of newly deemed tobacco products and not require HPHC reporting until the lists and corresponding testing methodologies are created and validated. Other comments stated that because not all deemed products are likely to have the same HPHCs as currently regulated products, testing for all of the constituents would be wasteful.

———(Response) As discussed elsewhere in this document, the compliance period for HPHC reporting and testing is the effective date of this rule plus ~~three~~3 years. FDA intends to issue a guidance regarding HPHC reporting, and later a testing and reporting regulation as required by section 915 of the FD&C Act, with enough time for manufacturers to ~~test and~~ report given this compliance period. As noted elsewhere in this document, FDA does not intend to enforce the reporting requirements for newly deemed products before the close of the 3-year compliance period, even if the guidance is issued well in advance of that time.

———(Comment 209) Several comments suggested that manufacturers should be required under section 904 of the FD&C Act to include a statement of the ingredients and/or nicotine concentration on their product labeling as a condition of sale. These comments indicated that consumers could use this information to select e-cigarette liquids with decreasing nicotine content levels as part of a nicotine replacement therapy to quit smoking.

———(Response) Sections 915(b) of the FD&C Act and 206 of the Tobacco Control Act give FDA authority to require the disclosure of nicotine and certain other information on labeling and by other means. FDA has not issued regulations for the currently regulated tobacco products and did not propose this in the proposed deeming rule. FDA will consider whether it should do

so in the future. To the extent the comment is about ENDS marketed for smoking cessation, such a product would be subject to FDA's drug/device authorities and not subject to FDA's tobacco product authorities.

——(Comment [210](#)) Some comments suggested that any HPHC requirement for cigars should require analysis of HPHCs in the tobacco (rather than the smoke) in a manner similar to that for hand-rolling tobacco. They stated that HPHC smoke analysis is neither available nor readily producible for most cigars. They also stated that smoking regimens recommended for collecting HPHC data for tobacco smoke were developed for cigarettes and suggested that cigars are inherently more variable than cigarettes. Finally, they stated that the cigar smoke test method recommended by the Centre de Coopération pour les Recherches Scientifiques Relatives au Tabac in 2005 has produced more variable data than that obtained using the comparable test method for cigarettes, making it difficult to compare consistent test results for cigars.

(Response) -FDA disagrees with the comments.- In order to determine the HPHC deliveries that each cigar provides, it is important that manufacturers submit HPHC data on smoke yields for cigars.- HPHC quantities in cigar tobacco only would not provide a complete understanding of the toxicity of each cigar.- As stated by the comments, Centre de Coopération pour les Recherches Scientifiques Relatives au Tabac (CORESTA) published method 64 in 2005 that describes a smoking regimen for cigars.- It is not clear that the variability in cigar HPHC yields will be greater than that for cigarette yields.- Variability in HPHC smoke yields is dependent on the smoking regimen, analytical method, and batch-to-batch consistency in product composition.- Therefore, it is expected that the variability in HPHC smoke yields from some cigarettes will exceed that for cigars.- In any case, as with cigarettes, it is important to understand the HPHC deliveries in cigar smoke.—

C. Section 905--Registration and Listing

As stated in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), manufacturers of the newly deemed products will be required to comply with section 905(b) of the FD&C Act, which requires the registration of any establishment engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product. In addition, they must comply with section 905(i) of the FD&C Act, which requires registrants to submit a list of all tobacco products that are being manufactured, prepared, compounded, or processed for commercial distribution. FDA must issue a regulation before foreign establishments are required [to](#) comply with these requirements.

——(Comment [211](#)) Several comments stated that FDA should apply the same requirements to both foreign and domestic manufacturers of tobacco products, including manufacturers of the newly deemed products. They expressed concern that FDA has not yet issued a proposed registration and listing rule and has not provided a timeframe for a final rule that would apply these requirements to foreign establishments. They also stated that the absence of registration and listing requirements for foreign establishments creates incentives for manufacturers of the newly deemed products to move their facilities overseas.

——(Response) As indicated in the Unified Agenda of Spring 2015 (Ref. [208](#), [UA242](#)), FDA plans to issue a proposed registration and listing rule that would extend these requirements to foreign tobacco product establishments. In addition, upon the effective date of this final deeming rule, both foreign and domestic manufacturers will be subject to, among other things, adulteration and misbranding restrictions (sections 902 and 903 of the FD&C Act); requirements for ingredient listing and reporting of HPHCs for all tobacco products (section 904 of the FD&C Act); and premarket authorization requirements (sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act).

D. Section 911--Elimination of Low, Light, and Mild, and Other Unauthorized Modified Risk

Claims

Section 911 of the FD&C Act is one of the automatic statutory provisions that will apply to the newly deemed products on the effective date of this regulation. The purpose of this section is to prohibit the introduction into interstate commerce of ~~modified risk tobacco products~~ MRTPs, including products the label, labeling, or advertising of which uses “low,” “light,” or “mild,” or other modified risk claims unless FDA issues an order authorizing their marketing. This requirement will help ~~to reduce consumer confusion~~ consumers better understand and ~~misconceptions about~~ appreciate the health risks of the newly deemed products. In addition to any applicable premarket review under section 910 of the FD&C Act, if a manufacturer wishes to sell a ~~modified risk tobacco product~~ MRTP, the company must submit an MRTP application under section 911 and receive an FDA order to legally market an MRTP.

——(Comment 212) A number of comments discussed the application of the MRTP restrictions to the newly deemed products. Several comments argued, as a general matter, that subjecting the newly deemed products to section 911 would be an unconstitutional restriction of free speech because FDA either has no substantial interest that would be advanced by such restrictions or has not demonstrated that restricting modified risk claims for these products would advance its substantial interest in protecting the public health. A couple of comments argued that the brand names of newly deemed products that contain the descriptor “low,” “light,” or “mild” should be prohibited only where the descriptors specifically convey a modified risk claim. These comments stated that where “low,” “light,” or “mild” is used and understood by consumers to describe something other than a modified risk (such as the product’s taste), restricting the use of a brand name containing one of these terms would be

unconstitutional ~~and~~, arbitrary, and capricious because the government does not advance any substantial interest by doing so. Other comments supported the application of section 911 to all newly deemed tobacco products, with some comments maintaining that certain e-cigarette companies are currently marketing their products using unauthorized modified risk claims.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with the suggestion that subjecting the newly deemed products to section 911 would be an unconstitutional restriction of free speech. The Sixth Circuit upheld the modified risk provisions against a First Amendment challenge to the facial validity of the statute in Discount Tobacco v. FDA, 674 F.3d 509, 531-37 (6th Cir. 2012). We discuss this issue in depth in Section II.B.3.b. of this document. FDA has and will continue to apply section 911 of the FD&C Act consistent with the First Amendment and will take all relevant facts into account on a case-by-case basis.

——FDA agrees with comments that supported the application of section 911 to all newly deemed products. Historically, certain users have initiated and continued using certain tobacco products based on unauthorized modified risk claims and consumers' unsubstantiated beliefs about the relative safety of these products. Section 911 will prevent the use of unsubstantiated modified risk claims, which may mislead consumers and lead them to initiate tobacco product use or to continue using tobacco when they would otherwise quit. This will allow for better-informed consumers and help to prevent the use of misleading marketing targeted to youth populations.

(Comment 213) Many comments stated that e-cigarette companies make direct and indirect health claims in the marketing and promotion of their products (e.g., by posting customer comments and testimonials on their Web sites) and that some e-cigarette advertising implies FDA approval or endorsement (e.g., use of the FDA logo on labels or statements such as

“made in an FDA-approved facility”) (Ref. ~~108, Grana Ling 151~~). As a result, the comments suggested a number of different actions to curb these unsubstantiated or misleading claims, including: (1) Prohibiting direct and implied therapeutic claims that e-cigarettes are effective cessation products unless there is evidence; (2) using existing enforcement authority to prohibit therapeutic, health, and cessation claims unless there is evidence of safety and efficacy; (3) working with the FTC to prohibit such claims as false advertising until such time as there is evidence of safety and efficacy; (4) working with the FTC to introduce or strengthen disclosure rules on the Internet (e.g., product reviews) to promote transparency; and (5) prohibiting explicit or implicit statements that e-cigarettes are approved or endorsed by FDA.

(Response) Under section 911 of the FD&C Act, no person may introduce or deliver for introduction into interstate commerce any ~~modified risk tobacco product~~ MRTP without an order in effect under section 911(g). Also, a tobacco product is misbranded if its label, labeling, or advertising is false or misleading in any particular. Therefore, by deeming ENDS and other tobacco products, FDA is now authorized to take enforcement action against manufacturers who sell and distribute products with unsubstantiated ~~modified risk tobacco product~~ MRTP claims, or false or misleading claims on their label, labeling, or advertising. Additionally, under section 301(tt) of the FD&C Act, anyone making explicit or implicit statements that a product is, among other things, “approved” or “endorsed by FDA” is committing a prohibited act. An ENDS product claiming to be an NRT or otherwise marketed for therapeutic purposes is a drug or device subject to FDA’s regulations and laws for those products. Additionally, the ~~a~~Agency will consider these comments in the future, and, if FDA determines that it is appropriate, will issue additional regulations.

E. Section 919--User Fees

In 2014, FDA issued a final rule regarding user fees for cigarettes, snuff, chewing tobacco, and roll-your-own tobacco, including the submission of information needed to calculate and assess those user fees (79 FR 39302, July 10, 2014). In that final rule, FDA stated that if it deems cigars or pipe tobacco, FDA would respond to the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) comments regarding user fee provisions for cigars and pipes, and revise the user fee regulations (79 FR 39302 at 39305). Accordingly, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is issuing a final rule revising the current user fee regulations.

——(Comment [214](#)) Some comments supported applying the user fee provisions of the Tobacco Control Act to all tobacco products, explaining that application of user fee provisions to all products is essential to ensure uniformity and fairness across the regulated entities. They also noted that section 919(b)(3) of the FD&C Act states that no manufacturer or importer of tobacco products shall be required to pay a user fee in excess of the percentage share of such manufacturer or importer. Accordingly, they argued that FDA cannot assess user fees based on the continuum of nicotine-delivering products.

——(Response) Elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is issuing a final rule regarding user fees for cigars and pipe tobacco, including the submission of information needed to calculate their user fee assessments. These comments are addressed in that rule.

F. Tobacco Control Act, Section 102--Prohibition Against Free Samples

In this final rule, FDA is not modifying the existing restriction on distributing free samples of tobacco products (21 CFR 1140.16(d)). As a result, this restriction will prohibit the distribution of free samples of newly deemed tobacco products, as required by section 102 of the Tobacco Control Act. See section II.B.3.a of this document for discussion regarding the constitutionality of this free sample prohibition.

FDA understands concerns from some retailers about the effect that a ban on free samples would have on their ability to promote new products. FDA wishes to clarify that allowing prospective adult buyers to smell or handle one of the newly deemed products is not considered distribution of a “free sample” as long as the free product is not actually consumed, in whole or in part, in the retail facility and the prospective buyer does not leave the facility with a free tobacco product. For example, affording adult consumers the opportunity to handle a cigar will give them the ability to feel the resistance of the cigar’s structure and allow them to clearly see the color of the product, which is an indication of the fermentation period for the tobacco. Handling the product also will allow users to capture the aroma of a cigar and the box (if the cigar is sold in a package). However, if the prospective buyer lights and draws or puffs on the cigar to keep it lit, or otherwise uses the free cigar or leaves the retail establishment with a free cigar (partially used or intact whole), this would constitute a “free sample” in violation of the restriction on free samples mandated by section 102 of the Tobacco Control Act. We believe that, in most circumstances, other retail facilities, including ENDS retail establishments, can similarly allow customers to touch, hold, and smell their products without violating the free sample ban. We note that nothing in this policy should be construed to alter or amend the regulation implementing the free sample ban at § 1140.16.

——(Comment 215) A large number of comments discussed whether FDA should allow ~~for~~ the continued distribution of free samples of the newly deemed tobacco products. Most comments expressed general support for the ban on free samples, citing concerns that such samples serve as a gateway for youth tobacco initiation. Several comments argued that there is no reason to believe that free samples of pipe tobacco and premium cigars encourage youth initiation because the samples are distributed almost exclusively in adult-only retail operations.

One comment claimed that because epidemiological data suggest that the majority of premium cigar smokers fall into a category where there is no significant difference in the incidence of disease compared to never-smokers, banning free samples of premium cigars would have no corresponding benefit even if it did reduce youth initiation. This comment also claimed that it would similarly not help prevent youth access because they assert that, as indicated in a recent SAMHSA survey, there is no evidence that youth obtain premium cigars at all, let alone as free samples from retailers.

Several comments, referring specifically to pipe tobacco, premium cigars, and e-cigarettes, stated that, in light of the lack of evidence that youth obtain free samples of their products, banning these samples, which are a vital part of their industries, would only hurt sales and small businesses without a corresponding public health benefit. Comments referring to premium cigars and pipe tobacco stated that free samples of these products are necessary to entice adult consumers to purchase what are frequently unique and sometimes expensive products. Comments on e-cigarettes argued that, because their products are new, free samples are necessary to convince cigarette users to switch to them.

One comment argued that FDA's proposed ban on free samples impermissibly restricts commercial speech that is protected by the First Amendment. The comment stated that while the court in Discount Tobacco City & Lottery v. United States upheld the Tobacco Control Act's sampling ban on cigarettes, the evidence the court used to uphold that ban does not support the same ban for the newly deemed tobacco products. The comment argued that FDA has presented no evidence that samples of these products lead to youth initiation and, therefore, the Agency would not be advancing a legitimate government interest with this ban. Additionally, the comment suggested that even if the ban did advance a legitimate government interest, FDA

could achieve the same results through less restrictive means, such as by allowing samples in qualified adult-only facilities, as FDA does with smokeless tobacco.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with the assertions that the proposed ban on free samples would hurt businesses without corresponding public health benefits or that this prohibition impermissibly restricts commercial speech. This prohibition will eliminate a pathway for youth to access tobacco products, which can help reduce youth initiation and therefore short-term and long-term morbidity and mortality resulting from these products. The IOM has stated that free samples of cigarettes “encourage experimentation by minors with a risk free and cost-free way to satisfy their curiosity” (Ref. ~~209, IOM30~~). While the IOM was speaking in the context of cigarettes, FDA believes that the same rationale applies to the newly deemed products. In addition, the ~~United States~~U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit held that the free sample ban as applied to cigarettes does not violate the First Amendment. The court recognized that FDA has provided “extensive” evidence that free tobacco samples constitute an “easily accessible source” for youth (Discount Tobacco City & Lottery, Inc. v. United States, 674 F.3d 509, 541 (6th Cir. 2012) (citing 61 FR 44396 at 44460, August 28, 1996), cert. denied~~denied sub nom. Am. Snuff Co., LLC v. United States~~, 133 S. Ct. 1966 (2013)). Moreover, the panel unanimously found that the ban “embodie[d] a narrow fit between the harm articulated and the restrictions employed.” ~~Id.~~ (id.). See section II.B.3.a of this document ~~regarding~~for more detailed discussion of the constitutionality of the free sample prohibition.

FDA understands concerns from cigar retailers about the effect that a ban on free samples would have on their ability to promote new products. FDA wishes to clarify that allowing prospective adult buyers to smell or handle a cigar is not considered the distribution of a “free sample” as long as the product is not actually consumed, in whole or in part, in the retail facility

and the prospective buyer does not leave the facility with a free tobacco product. Affording adult consumers the opportunity to handle the product will give them the ability to feel the resistance of the cigar's structure, and allow them to clearly see the color of the product, which is an indication of the fermentation period for the tobacco. It also will allow users to capture the aroma of the cigar and the box (if the cigar is sold in a package). However, if the prospective buyer lights and draws or puffs on the free cigar or otherwise uses the free cigar or leaves the retail establishment with a free cigar (partially used or intact whole), this would constitute a "free sample" in violation of the ban on free samples mandated by section 102 of the Tobacco Control Act. We believe that, in most circumstances, other retail facilities, including ENDS retail establishments, can similarly allow customers to touch, hold, and smell their products without violating the free sample ban.

XII. Requests for Additional Regulations Applicable to Newly Deemed Products

In the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), FDA noted that certain provisions would automatically apply to the newly deemed products and that the Agency was proposing additional restrictions that also would apply to covered tobacco products. FDA also noted that after the final rule becomes effective, the Agency would have the authority to issue additional regulations applicable to the newly deemed products, including product standards under section 907 of the FD&C Act. Many stakeholders submitted comments and data regarding the need for additional requirements and restrictions for the newly deemed products. Some of these requests would require a separate ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), and they will help inform FDA as it considers additional regulations for newly deemed products.

~~A.~~ [A. Ban on Flavored Tobacco Products](#)

FDA received numerous comments regarding flavored tobacco products, including comments expressing concerns regarding the impact of flavors on youth and young adults and preliminary data regarding some individuals' use of flavored ENDS products to transition away from combusted tobacco use. FDA's summary of comments and data regarding flavored tobacco products is included in section V.B of this document. FDA's responses to comments regarding a possible ban on flavored tobacco products are included below.

(Comment 216) Many comments suggested that FDA include a ban on flavored tobacco products with this final rule. Other comments suggested that FDA continue to allow the sale of fruit or candy-flavored e-cigarettes, because they aid cigarette smokers in decreasing cigarette use and in smoking cessation. These comments generally relied on a research article that found that most e-cigarette users switched between flavors on a daily basis or within the day, with former smokers switching more frequently than current smokers, and that respondents indicated that flavor variety was "very important" in reducing or quitting smoking (Ref. 62). This survey also noted that almost half of respondents indicated that a reduction in available flavors would "increase craving[s] for tobacco cigarettes and would make reducing or completely substituting smoking less likely" (id.). Therefore, they believed that FDA should not sacrifice adults' use of flavored tobacco products in an attempt to prevent children from using flavored tobacco products. These comments also noted that flavors are used in other legally marketed products including nicotine replacement therapies (NRTs), which are FDA-approved products.

(Response) ~~If FDA were to ban the use of flavors in~~ is not banning flavored tobacco products, the Agency would ~~with this final deeming rule. To address concerns with the growing flavored cigar market and its impact on youth and young adult initiation with tobacco products,~~

~~FDA is announcing here that it intends to issue in the future a proposed product standard under that would prohibit characterizing flavors in all cigars, including cigarillos and little cigars.~~

~~As discussed in section 907VIII.F of this document, we recognize that there is evidence that some individual former smokers may now report using ENDS (Ref. 24). However, the study referred to in the comments (Ref. 62) examined self-selected research subjects who were recruited through an e-cigarette website. All respondents were either former smokers (91.2 percent) or current smokers (8.8 percent); both groups had smoked on average 22 years before beginning to use ENDS. The article did not consider whether either the self-selection or the demographic profile of the FD&C Act—respondents might affect the applicability of its results to any larger population. Moreover, the study did not address the question of whether study participants would have increased cigarette use if there were no available flavored ENDS or if the variety of flavored ENDS were limited. If additional evidence emerges that flavored ENDS make it more likely that smokers switch completely to ENDS, such evidence submitted as part of a PMTA would help support that application, as part of the analysis of whether the marketing of the product is appropriate for the protection of public health.~~

~~The proposal would explain why FDA determined that the product standard is appropriate for the protection for public health, taking into account the risks and benefits to the population as a whole, including users and nonusers of tobacco products; the increased or decreased likelihood that existing users will stop using such products; and the increased or decreased likelihood that those who do not use tobacco products will start using them (section 907(a)(3)(B) of the FD&C Act).~~

~~—Further, new data shows continued growth in youth and young adult usage of flavored tobacco products. FDA has balanced those concerns with preliminary data showing that~~

[some adults may potentially use flavored ENDS to transition from combusted tobacco use when developing the compliance policy for premarket review.](#)

(Comment [217](#)) Many comments responded to FDA's request for data, research, and information regarding the characteristics or factors it should consider in determining whether a particular tobacco product is a "[cigarette](#)" as defined in section 900(3) of the FD&C Act and, consequently, subject to the prohibition against characterizing flavors, despite being labeled as a little cigar or other noncigarette tobacco product. Several comments stated that little cigars are being marketed and used as cigarettes and, therefore, FDA should communicate that such products are subject to the cigarette flavor ban. Other comments provided information regarding the differences between cigarettes and little cigars or other noncigarette tobacco products and indicated that such products should not be subject to the cigarette flavor ban.

(Response) FDA understands and appreciates comments regarding the role that flavored little cigars, or similar products, might play on initiation of tobacco product use and dual use. FDA will continue to determine whether a product is a "[cigarette](#)" under the FD&C Act and subject to the [statutory](#) flavor ban on a case-by-case basis.

(Comment [218](#)) One comment stated that section 907(d)(3) of the FD&C Act, which prohibits FDA from banning certain enumerated tobacco products, demonstrates that Congress did not intend to grant FDA the power to ban any tobacco product by any means, including by enacting a product standard that would be a tantamount ban of newly deemed products, especially when some of these products present lower risks of death and disease than the specifically enumerated ones. [Some comments also referred to the difficulty in defining "characterizing flavor" in the context of instituting a ban on flavored newly deemed tobacco products.](#)

——(Response) If FDA decides to issue a product standard, it will do so in accordance with section 907 of the FD&C Act. Because FDA is not banning flavored tobacco products with this final deeming rule, it is not necessary to consider whether and how to define "characterizing flavor."

~~B.~~ B. Additional Access Restrictions

——(Comment 219) Some comments suggested that FDA require face-to-face sales for all covered tobacco products, as it does for sales of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco, as provided in § 1140.14(a)(3). For example, they suggested that FDA ban self-service displays for newly deemed tobacco products. They expressed concern that treating cigarettes and smokeless tobacco differently from other tobacco products would lead to confusion for retailers and complicate retailer training programs.

——(Response) FDA will continue to monitor this issue and, if it determines that it is appropriate for the protection of public health to extend the self-service display prohibition to newly deemed tobacco products, the Agency will issue a new ~~proposed rule~~NPRM in accordance with ~~notice and opportunity to comment~~the APA.

——(Comment 220) Some comments suggested that we simultaneously issue this final rule with an ANPRM seeking additional information to draft a proposal that would apply the additional restrictions in part 1140 (e.g., ban on self-service displays, the sale and distribution of nontobacco items, and the sponsorship of events) to newly deemed products.

——(Response) FDA is taking this comment under advisement. If FDA decides to issue such a proposal, the ~~public~~Agency will ~~have notice and opportunity for comment~~comply with the requirements of the APA.

(Comment [221](#)) A few comments requested that FDA regulate all dissolvables and other newly deemed products in the same manner it regulates other tobacco products, including application of all of the marketing and advertising restrictions in part 1140.

——(Response) At this time, FDA is subjecting newly deemed products to the automatic requirements and covered tobacco products to the additional provisions (i.e., age and identification requirements, vending machine restrictions, and health warning requirements) discussed in this final rule. However, if FDA later determines that extending such marketing and advertising restrictions to the newly deemed products is appropriate and meets the applicable standard in section 906(d), FDA will ~~use notice and comment rulemaking procedures to implement such a proposal~~ comply with the requirements of the APA when implementing such restrictions.

Ⓒ. C. Nicotine Exposure Warnings

——(Comment [222](#)) Many comments expressed concern about the increase in nicotine poisonings due to accidental ingestion of e-liquids and offered suggestions to address this issue: (1) Set a maximum nicotine content level for e-liquids; (2) require the use of child-resistant containers; (3) require a poison warning on the packaging and point of sale for liquid-based products; and (4) set a limit on the allowable speed of flow of the product from its container (e.g., by requiring a flow-restricting apparatus on the opening of the container or requiring a rigid container to prevent quick dispensing of product by squeezing the container).

——(Response) FDA expressed similar concerns about the increase in nicotine poisonings in the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM and section VIII.D of this document. Once this final rule becomes effective, FDA has authority to issue additional regulations to address these concerns. In addition, FDA has issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule, seeking comments, data,

research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and the use of child-resistant packaging. Moreover, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance,² which when final will describe FDA²'s current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for nicotine exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help to support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of the public health.——

XIII. ~~Overview of the Final Rule~~Severability

This rule is being finalized with several changes from the ~~proposed rule-NPRM~~. Specific comments regarding proposed codified language, and FDA²'s responses to those comments, are included in section VII of this document.

In accordance with ~~S~~section 5 of the Tobacco Control Act, FDA considers and intends the extension of its authorities over all tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable. It is FDA²'s interpretation and position that the invalidity of any provision of this rule shall not affect the validity of any other part of this rule ~~that can be given effect without such invalid provision or provisions.~~ In the event any court or other lawful authority were to temporarily or permanently invalidate, restrain, enjoin, or suspend any provision of this final rule, FDA would conclude that the remaining parts continue ~~in effect~~to be valid. As stated in section 5 of the Tobacco Control Act, if certain applications of this rule to persons or circumstances (discussed in the preamble or otherwise) are held to be invalid, application of such provisions to any other person or circumstance will not be affected and will continue to be enforced to the fullest extent possible. Each provision of the rule is

independently supported by data and analysis as described or referenced in this preamble and, if promulgated separately, would remain a proper exercise of FDA authority.

XIV. Description of the Final Rule--Part 1100

In the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), FDA explained that new part 1100 would describe the scope of FDA's authority over tobacco products, the requirements that would apply to tobacco products, applicable definitions, and the effective date of the rule. We consider and intend the extension of our authorities over tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable.

A. Section 1100.1--Scope

FDA selects Option 1 with this final rule, deeming all cigars (rather than a subset), which has been applied throughout the codified text for parts 1100, 1140, and 1143. Therefore, this section now states that in addition to FDA's authority over cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco, FDA deems all other products meeting the definition of "tobacco product" under section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, except accessories of such other tobacco products, to be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act. The definition of "accessory" is now included in § 1100.3 (as discussed in section VI.A of this document).

B. Section 1100.2--Requirements

Because FDA selected Option 1 for the scope of the deeming rule, § 1100.2 states that cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, smokeless tobacco are subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act and its implementing regulations. In addition, this section states that FDA has deemed all other tobacco products, ~~except~~ accessories of such other tobacco products, subject to chapter IX of the ~~Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic~~[FD&C](#) Act and its implementing regulations.

C Section 1100.3--Definitions

FDA requested comment on definitions for cigar, covered cigar, and tobacco product. Because we are selecting Option 1 deeming all cigars (rather than a subset) with this final rule, comments regarding the definition of covered cigar are no longer relevant to this rulemaking. In addition, FDA received many comments regarding components, parts, and accessories, including how they should be defined and the application of requirements to these objects. We have added definitions of “component or part” and “accessory” to this section. The discussion of this language is included in section VI.A of this document.

XV. Description of the Final Rule--Part 1140

Currently, part 1140 generally applies to cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco. FDA proposed additional provisions to apply to “covered tobacco products” (namely, the requirement to prohibit the sale and distribution of products to individuals under 18 [years of age](#) and the prohibition on vending machine sales except in adult-only facilities). As stated elsewhere in this document, “covered tobacco product” means any tobacco product deemed to be subject to the FD&C Act pursuant to § 1100.2, but excludes any component or part that ~~does~~ [not contain](#) ~~made or derived from~~ tobacco ~~or nicotine~~. FDA is finalizing these requirements without substantive change. FDA intends to update the current guidance documents for civil money penalties and frequently asked questions to reflect that violations of health warning requirements may lead to the issuance of civil money penalties. We consider and intend the extension of our authorities over tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable.

A. Section 1140.1--Scope

The ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#) offered several amendments to part 1140 in order to apply select existing sale and distribution restrictions, including age, identification, and vending

machine provisions, to address youth access to the deemed tobacco products. As currently written, part 1140 generally applies to cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco products. Accordingly, FDA is finalizing this rule to add the phrase “and covered tobacco products” to § 1140.1(a) and (b) to ensure the products are subject to select existing restrictions and access provisions. [We also have added language to § 1140.1\(a\) to clarify the scope of § 1140.16\(d\).](#)

B. Section 1140.2--Purpose

This final rule adds "and covered tobacco products" to indicate that the purpose of this part is to establish restrictions on the sale, distribution, and access to covered tobacco products in addition to those restrictions in place for cigarettes and smokeless tobacco. Therefore, the final rule states that retailers of the newly deemed covered tobacco products may not sell them to individuals under 18 years of age and requires retailers of covered tobacco products to verify the purchaser's birth date by reviewing the individual's photographic identification. However, as noted in § 1140.14(b)(2)(ii), a retailer is not required to verify the age of any person who is more than 26 years of age. In addition, § 1140.14(b)(3) prohibits the sale of covered tobacco products using an electronic or mechanical device such as a vending machine, unless it is located in a facility where the retailer ensures that no person younger than 18 years of age is present, or permitted to enter, at any time. FDA does not intend for section 1140.14(b)(3) to prohibit the sale of tobacco products via the Internet, but the sale of covered tobacco products via any medium, including the Internet, must only be to persons 18 years of age or older. [Therefore, any sale of covered tobacco products over the Internet must comply with the minimum age and identification requirements in this rule.](#)

C. Section 1140.3--Definitions

~~In the proposed rule NPRM,~~ we sought comments on definitions of the following terms: Cigar, cigarette, cigarette tobacco, covered tobacco product, distributor, importer, nicotine, package, point of sale, retailer, smokeless tobacco, and tobacco product. FDA received many comments regarding whether e-liquids and components, parts, and accessories are tobacco products. FDA also received many comments regarding the need to define components, parts, and accessories, which resulted in the addition of definitions of "component or part" and "accessory" in § 1140.3. The discussion of this language is included in section VI.A of this ~~draft document~~. Further, we revised the definition of "package" to refer to "package or packaging." We also added a definition of "roll-your-own" to provide further clarity to the definition of "cigarette."

D. Section 1140.10--General Responsibilities of Manufacturers, Distributors, and Retailers

With the selection of Option 1, § 1140.10 now provides that manufacturers, distributors, importers, and retailers are responsible for ensuring that the covered tobacco products (in addition to cigarettes and smokeless tobacco) they manufacture, label, advertise, package, distribute, import, sell, or otherwise hold for sale comply with all applicable requirements in part 1140. The revisions to §§ 1140.10 and 1140.14 clarify that the minimum age and identification requirements and vending machine restrictions apply to the newly deemed covered tobacco products.

Previously, § 1140.10 stated that each manufacturer, distributor, importer, and retailer is responsible for ensuring that its products comply with all applicable requirements under part 1140. FDA proposed to add "and covered tobacco products" to the existing language of this section to clarify that the provision also applies to "covered tobacco products" as defined in § 1140.3. In addition, FDA proposed that § 1140.10 ~~this section~~ cover importers, because the

Tobacco Control Act defines "tobacco product manufacturer" to include importers (section 900(20) of the FD&C Act), signaling Congress' intent for tobacco product importers to be subject to requirements like those in § 1140.10. FDA is finalizing this section as drafted in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#).

E. Section 1140.14--Additional Responsibilities of Retailers

FDA proposed to divide this section into responsibilities for retailers of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco products and responsibilities for retailers of covered tobacco products. FDA is finalizing this section as drafted in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#). Therefore, upon the effective date of this final rule, § 1140.14(a)(1) through (a)(5) will provide the retailer's responsibilities for the sale of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco. Section 1140.14(b)(1) through (b)(3) will provide the retailer's responsibilities for the sale of newly deemed products.

F. Comments and Responses Regarding Minimum Age and Identification Requirements

In the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), FDA sought comment regarding whether to prohibit the sale of newly deemed products to individuals under 18 years of age and to require photographic identification for individuals aged 26 and under (which are the same requirements that currently apply to cigarettes and smokeless tobacco). FDA discussed the benefits of a uniform minimum age and identification requirement, including: (1) Decreasing youth access to tobacco products in another jurisdiction with less stringent requirements; (2) addressing youth misperceptions that tobacco products without minimum age or identification requirements are safer; and (3) increasing the ease with which retailers can comply with minimum age and identification requirements for covered tobacco products (79 FR 23142 at 23160 23162). In addition, we expressed our intention to use an aggressive nationwide enforcement program to increase compliance and deter youth consumption of tobacco products (79 FR 23142 at 23160).

Nearly all comments supported a minimum age and identification requirement for the newly deemed tobacco products. FDA is finalizing these requirements without change. FDA also intends to update the current guidance documents for civil money penalties and frequently asked questions to reflect that violation of these provisions may lead to the imposition of civil money penalties. A summary of comments regarding these provisions, and FDA's responses, is included in the following paragraphs.

——(Comment [223](#)) Many comments supported FDA's proposal due to the fact that many of the newly deemed products are easily available. For example, they noted that tobacco industry documents refer to the increased frequency with which self-service tobacco products are stolen, and some of the proposed deemed products (e.g., cigars) are frequently sold in self-service displays (Ref. [240](#), ~~Kline~~[243](#)). They expressed concern that self-service displays increase the likelihood that minors will have access to tobacco products.

——(Response) FDA agrees that the newly deemed tobacco products are readily available to consumers. FDA finds that the age and identification restrictions that are included in this final rule (§ [1140.14](#)) will help to limit youth access to the newly deemed tobacco products. In the event that FDA determines that extending the prohibition on self-service displays (§ [1140.16\(c\)](#)) to the newly deemed products is appropriate and meets the applicable standard in section 906(d), FDA will issue a new ~~notice of proposed rulemaking~~[NPRM](#) and seek comment.

——(Comment [224](#)) Many comments supported the minimum age and identification requirements for covered tobacco products based on increased youth use of newly deemed products and the impact of nicotine on youth. They noted that, according to the CDC, e-cigarette use among youth doubled from 2011 to 2012, with 1.78 million high school and middle school students having ever used e-cigarettes (Ref. [76](#), ~~Corey~~[108](#)). Others noted that the 2012 Surgeon

General's report stated that youth are more sensitive to developing nicotine dependence than adults (Ref. [441, 42 SG49](#)). In addition, other comments stated that because minimum age and identification requirements for covered tobacco products vary among the states, a uniform age requirement would help prevent youth from accessing tobacco products in a neighboring state with less stringent requirements.

——(Response) FDA agrees with comments supporting the implementation of minimum age and identification requirements for covered tobacco products. As we noted in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), the goal of the minimum age restriction is to limit youth access to the newly deemed tobacco products. FDA concludes that the restrictions included with this final deeming rule are appropriate for the protection of the public health because they will reduce youth access to and, therefore, likely limit use of tobacco products.

——(Comment [225](#)) Several comments recommended that FDA raise the minimum age to purchase tobacco products to 21 years old. They claimed that a higher minimum age would restrict youth access to social sources of tobacco products because minors tend to have less contact in their social network with 21-year-olds than with 18-year-olds (Ref. [211, Ahmad244](#)). They also suggested that the minimum age and identification requirement should mirror the minimum age requirement for alcohol and marijuana purchases in some States.

——(Response) FDA has determined that minimum age and identification restrictions, which will apply to all covered tobacco products, are appropriate for the protection of public health. FDA also will continue to provide prevention and tobacco product risk awareness campaigns targeted to youth and young adults. Although section 906(d)(3)(ii) precludes FDA from raising the minimum age of sale of tobacco products, section 104 of the Tobacco Control Act required FDA to conduct a study on the public health implications of

raising the minimum age of sale of tobacco products. This study's report was published ([Ref. 245](#)) and can be found at: <http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2015/TobaccoMinimumAgeReport.aspx>.

———(Comment [226](#)) Several comments discussed Internet sales of tobacco products. Some comments favored a ban on Internet sales for all tobacco products, some supported a ban on only certain tobacco products, and others opposed a ban on Internet sales of any tobacco products.

———(Response) As explained elsewhere, under this rule, retailers may not sell covered tobacco products (through any medium, including the Internet) to individuals under 18 years of age. FDA will continue to actively enforce the minimum age restriction for Internet sales. FDA will consider these comments in the future and continue to assess whether additional access restrictions would be appropriate.

———(Comment [227](#)) Several comments recommended that FDA impose stiff penalties for noncompliance with minimum age and identification requirements and institute youth tobacco prevention campaigns and other actions to effectively reduce youth access to tobacco products.

———(Response) As noted in the [proposed rule NPRM](#), FDA believes that combining the minimum age and identification restriction with comprehensive and consistent enforcement, both at the Federal level and in partnership with States, will decrease the likelihood of youth smoking initiation (79 FR 23142 at 23161). In addition, FDA will continue to invest in a number of public education campaigns to help educate the public--especially youth--about the dangers of tobacco products.

——(Comment [228](#)) Several comments recommended that FDA prohibit the sale of tobacco product components, parts, and accessories (not just covered tobacco products), including ENDS, to minors under 18 years of age to provide consistency across the country.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA concludes that the application of minimum age requirements and vending machine requirements to covered tobacco products, together with its regulation of components and parts of newly deemed products, will protect the public from the dangers of tobacco use, discourage initiation, and encourage cessation of use of such products.

——(Comment [229](#)) A few comments suggested that FDA prohibit cigar sales to individuals under 18 years of age, except for minors serving in the U.S. military. They argued that there are greater health hazards for military personnel than using tobacco products.

——(Response) We disagree with the suggestion that we provide an exception for minors in the military. Military personnel face the same risk of tobacco-related death and disease as civilians. As FDA stated in the preamble, cigars can contain greater levels of nicotine than cigarettes; cigar smoking is strongly related to certain cancers; and in certain circumstances, cigars may be as harmful to a person's health as cigarettes (79 FR 23142 at 23151, 23156).

——(Comment [230](#)) Some comments suggested that retailers record and retain copies of each purchaser's unexpired driver's license (if the document includes a photo), an armed forces identification card, or a valid passport as an acceptable identification to verify a purchaser's minimum age. Other comments recommended that FDA implement a registration requirement for mail order sale of tobacco products and require carriers to verify that the seller sending out packages is registered before accepting the packages for delivery.

——(Response) The requirements for photo identification are included in § 1140.14(b)(2). Retailers may choose any method of identification verification that complies

with this provision. FDA finds that these requirements are appropriate for the protection of the public health and declines to adopt the recommendations for additional requirements at this time. However, we will continue to assess whether additional requirements regarding identification are appropriate.

G. Comments and Responses Regarding Vending Machines

Consistent with the minimum age and identification provisions, FDA proposed to ban the sale of covered tobacco products in vending machines (i.e., requiring face-to-face transactions in retail facilities) unless the vending machine is located in a facility where the retailer ensures that individuals under 18 years of age are prohibited from entering at any time. FDA is finalizing this requirement without change in § 1140.14. Therefore, upon the effective date of this final rule, covered tobacco products, including ENDS and cigars, may not be sold in electronic or mechanical devices such as vending machines unless the device is in an adult-only facility. This restriction is appropriate for the protection of the public health because it will eliminate one more method of youth access to tobacco products.

A summary of the comments regarding these provisions, and FDA's responses to them, is included in the following paragraphs.

——(Comment [231](#)) Multiple comments supported restricting vending machines sales to adult-only facilities. They asserted that FDA's discussion of this issue demonstrates that the vending machine restriction serves the stated public health purpose of the regulation. Other comments stated that FDA's rationale for this restriction for cigarettes and smokeless tobacco also applies to the newly deemed tobacco products.

——(Response) —FDA agrees that there is a public health benefit to limiting vending machines to adult-only facilities. As we stated in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), studies show that

youth are able to access tobacco products in vending machines (79 FR 23142 at 23162).

Therefore, the vending machine restrictions are important in preventing youth from gaining access to these products.

——(Comment [232](#)) Several comments suggested that FDA prohibit all vending machine sales of all tobacco products.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with prohibiting all vending machine sales of all tobacco products. Sections 1140.14(a)(3) and 1140.14(b)(3) permit the sale of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco products and covered tobacco products, respectively, in a non-face-to-face exchange with the assistance of a mechanical device as long as the retailer ensures that no person younger than 18 years of age is present, or permitted to enter, at any time. FDA is permitting adult-only facilities to sell tobacco products in a vending machine because these locations employ safeguards to prohibit entry to individuals less than 18 years of age. FDA is not seeking to [preventban](#) adult access to legally marketed tobacco products.

——(Comment [233](#)) Several comments recommended that FDA subject tobacco product components, parts, and accessories (particularly e-cigarettes) to the proposed vending machine restrictions. These comments expressed concern regarding exploding tanks and nicotine poisoning due to accidental e-liquid exposure.

——(Response) FDA agrees that these tobacco product components and parts can pose public health concerns. At this time, FDA has determined that it is appropriate for the protection of the public health to restrict impersonal modes of sale of nicotine-containing components and parts in vending machines. However, FDA has concluded that it is not warranted at this time to impose the vending machine restrictions on components or parts that are not made or derived from tobacco as they will only be able to deliver nicotine to users by

combining them with covered tobacco products that are subject to the vending machine restriction (and, therefore, youth cannot access). Accordingly, FDA believes that the public health will be protected by applying the vending machine restrictions to components and parts that contain nicotine or tobacco in order to prevent youth access to these products.-

——(Comment [234](#)) Some comments suggested that the deeming rule include a ban on Internet sales. These comments asserted that manufacturers and retailers are not enforcing age verification effectively and that youth are able to purchase tobacco products when they are not in the physical presence of the seller. Several comments also recommended that FDA require retailers to verify the age of purchasers of newly deemed tobacco products using methods similar to those found in the Prevent All Cigarette Trafficking (PACT) Act of 2009 (which ensures the collection of Federal, State, and local tobacco taxes on cigarettes and smokeless tobacco sold via the Internet or mail-order sales). Other comments opined that neither the PACT Act nor State laws have been effective in preventing youth access to tobacco products.

——(Response) Under this rule, retailers may not sell covered tobacco products (through any medium) to individuals under 18 years of age. FDA will continue to actively enforce the minimum age restriction for mail order sales and Internet sales. FDA will continue to assess whether additional access restrictions would be appropriate.

——(Comment [235](#)) A few comments stated that because newly deemed tobacco products are generally not sold in vending machines, there will be little impact from the proposed vending machine restrictions.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. As discussed in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) (79 FR 23142 at 23162), FDA expects that the vending machine restrictions will have a positive impact

by preventing some youth from accessing tobacco products. Therefore, FDA concludes that this restriction is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

——(Comment [236](#)) A few comments stated that FDA should permit tobacco product sales through vending machines in all locations. They noted that technological advancements now allow for accurate non-face-to-face age verification, including electronic age and identity verification (EAIIV) technology and that the PACT Act already requires retailers to verify a tobacco product purchaser's name, birth date, and address through an EAIIV database prior to accepting a delivery order.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. We explained in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) that other types of vending machine restrictions, such as electronic locking devices on vending machines, have not sufficiently limited youth access to tobacco products (79 FR 23142 at 23162). In addition, vending machines may be located in facilities that are not as sophisticated as the common carriers or Internet sellers that are subject to the PACT Act, or these retailers may not have the financial resources to update their vending machines to incorporate EAIIV technology. Therefore, FDA concludes that the vending machine restriction is appropriate for the protection of public health.

XVI. Description of the Final Rule--Part 1143

In the proposed deeming rule, FDA proposed to add part 1143, which would mandate the use of "required warning statements" for covered tobacco products, as well as for roll-your-own and cigarette tobacco, for which health warnings are not already required by Federal statutes or regulations. As stated throughout this document, FDA has selected Option 1 with this final rule. Therefore, these requirements apply to all newly deemed covered tobacco products, including premium and other types of cigars. We consider and intend the extension of our authorities over

tobacco products and the various requirements and prohibitions established by this rule to be severable.

A. Section 1143.1--Definitions

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA sought comment on definitions for the following terms: eCigar, covered cigar, covered tobacco product, package, required warning statement, and roll-your-own tobacco. As stated throughout this document, FDA has selected Option 1 as the scope of this rule. Therefore, the definition of covered cigar is unnecessary and has been removed from this section. We also added definitions of point-of-sale, retailer, and tobacco product. These terms are used in part 1143 and were already included in parts 1100 and 1140.

FDA received many comments regarding the need to define components, parts, and accessories, which resulted in the addition of definitions of "_component or part" and "_accessory" in §_1140.3. The discussion of this language is included in section VI.A. In addition, we included a definition of "_cigarette tobacco" given that the health warning requirements apply to covered tobacco products, roll-your-own tobacco, and cigarette tobacco. We also have added a definition of "_principal display panels" to address comments suggesting that a definition was necessary to comply with this part. The term "_principal display panels" is defined as the panels of a package that are most likely to be displayed, presented, shown, or examined by the consumer.

B. Section 1143.3--Required Warning Statement Regarding Addictiveness of Nicotine

Proposed §_1143.3 included a requirement that any person who manufactures, sells, offers to sell, distributes, or imports for sale or distribution within the United States, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco and covered tobacco products other than cigars must include the following warning statement on each product package and in each advertisement:

“~~”~~WARNING: This product contains nicotine derived from tobacco. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.~~”~~” The ~~proposed rule~~NPRM provided that a manufacturer could submit a certification that its tobacco product does not contain nicotine and notify FDA that it intends to use the alternative warning statement: “~~”~~This product is derived from tobacco.~~”~~” FDA also proposed size and placement requirements for the use of this warning statement on packages and in advertisements.

Upon review of the comments, FDA is revising the language of this warning to read:

“~~”~~WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.~~”~~” The alternative warning statement is also revised to read: “~~”~~This product is made from tobacco.~~”~~” This warning will be required to appear on at least 30 percent of the two principal display panels of the package and at least 20 percent of the area of the advertisement. We also added language to §1143.3(a) to clarify that the warning statement must be printed in at least 12-point font size in order to be clear and legible.

Further, we added language to §1143.3(a)(3)(ii) to clarify when a retailer of any tobacco product covered by paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section will not be in violation of this section for packaging that does not comply with these requirements. This final rule provides that a retailer will not be in violation if the package: (1) Contains a health warning; (2) is supplied to the retailer by a tobacco product manufacturer, importer, or distributor, who has the required state, local, or ~~Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB)~~ -issued license or permit, if applicable (consistent with the language in §1143.5(a)(4)(ii)); and (3) is not altered by the retailer in a way that is material to the requirements of this section.

In addition, in response to comments regarding minimum font size for advertisements, we have revised §1143.3(b)(2)(ii) to include a 12-point minimum font size for the warnings on

advertisements. We note that the warning also needs to occupy “the greatest possible portion of the warning area set aside for the required text.” Therefore, a print advertisement would require a much larger font size in order to comply with this requirement.

Given that comments expressed uncertainty as to how the self-certification process in § 1143.3(c) would work, we also included language in this section to further clarify this process. This section now provides that the certification statement can be submitted by the tobacco product manufacturer to FDA. FDA recommends that all data used to support the self-certification, or copies of the data, be maintained at the manufacturing facility or another location that is reasonably accessible to the manufacturer and to any officers or employees duly designated by the Secretary, which includes FDA employees. These data, including data not stored at the inspected facility, should be made readily available for copying or inspection by an officer or employee duly designated by the Secretary. Manufacturers interested in submitting a certification statement may contact CTP at 1-877-CTP-1373 for more information regarding this submission.

Further, in response to comments, we added § 1143.3(d), which states that, if a product package is too small or otherwise unable to accommodate a label with sufficient space to bear such information, it will be exempt from the requirement to place the warning statement directly on the product package if the warning appears on the outer carton or other outer container or wrapper or on a tag otherwise permanently affixed to the tobacco product package. Under this provision, the warning statement must be printed using the specifications required in § 1143.3(a)(1) and ~~§ 1143.3(a)(2)~~. In these cases, the outer carton, outer container, wrapper, or tag would serve as the location for the principal display panels. If a tag is used for the principal

display panels, both sides of the tag must be visible to the consumer. The warning statements must be printed on both sides of the tag to comply with §_1143.3(a)(2).

We also note that this requirement in §_1143.3 applies to cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products other than cigars. Both cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco are defined in §_1143.1. This warning requirement does not apply to smokeless tobacco products. Smokeless tobacco products must meet the warnings requirements in CSTHEA (15 U.S.C. 4401 et seq.),

C. Section 1143.5--Required Warning Statements for Cigars

In §_1143.5, FDA proposed warnings for the cigars that would be covered under this final rule. In addition to the addictiveness warning, FDA proposed that all cigars (except those sold individually and not in product packages) would be required to include the following warnings on packages and in advertisements:

- WARNING: Cigar smoking can cause cancers of the mouth and throat, even if you do not inhale.
- WARNING: Cigar smoking can cause lung cancer and heart disease.
- WARNING: Cigars are not a safe alternative to cigarettes.
- WARNING: Tobacco smoke increases the risk of lung cancer and heart disease, even in nonsmokers.

FDA also proposed size and placement requirements for the warning statements on packages and in advertisements. FDA is finalizing these warning requirements in accordance with Option_1 deeming all cigars (rather than a subset). Further, FDA is adding an additional warning statement (WARNING: Cigar use while pregnant can harm you and your baby.) with an optional

alternative statement (SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight) as discussed in section XVI.H(16) of this document.

Therefore, the full list of required warnings for use on cigar packages and in cigar advertisements is as follows:

- WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.
- WARNING: Cigar smoking can cause cancers of the mouth and throat, even if you do not inhale.
- WARNING: Cigar smoking can cause lung cancer and heart disease.
- WARNING: Cigars are not a safe alternative to cigarettes.
- WARNING: Tobacco smoke increases the risk of lung cancer and heart disease, even in nonsmokers.
- WARNING: -Cigar use while pregnant can harm you and your baby. (Or, as an optional alternative statement: SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight.)

The health warnings are required to appear on at least 30 percent of each of the two principal display panels of the package and on at least 20 percent of the area of the print advertisements and other advertisements with a visual component. As we did for § 1143.3(a)(2)(ii) and (b)(2)(ii), we added language to § 1143.5(a)(2)(ii) and (b)(2)(ii) to clarify that the font used for warnings on packaging and advertisements must be at least 12-point font size in order to be clear and legible. We note that the warning also must occupy “the greatest possible portion of the warning area set aside for the required text.” Therefore, a print advertisement would require a much larger font size in order to comply with this requirement.

For packages, the six warnings for cigars (five specifically for cigars and the one addictiveness warning) will be required to be randomly displayed in each 12-month period, in as equal a number of times as is possible on each brand of cigar sold in product packaging and randomly distributed in all areas of the United States. This random display and distribution must be done in accordance with a warning plan submitted to, and approved by, FDA. For advertisements, the warnings must be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar in accordance with a warning plan submitted to, and approved by, FDA. Warning plans must be submitted for FDA review and approval by responsible manufacturers, distributors, importers, and retailers by ~~one~~1 year after the date of publication of the final rule (however, all other ~~Part~~part 1143 requirements shall take effect ~~two~~2 years after the publication date of this final rule).

In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, FDA did not have a separate section (with its own effective date) explicitly requiring the submission of warning plans with its own effective date. Rather, the sections of ~~Part~~part 1143 requiring random display and distribution of warning statements for packaging and quarterly rotation of warning statements for advertisements (for which FDA proposed a ~~two~~2-year effective date) stated that such random display and distribution and quarterly rotation be done in accordance with a warning plan submitted to, and approved by FDA. Thus, those provisions implicitly required that submission of the warning plan and approval by FDA be done prior to the ~~two~~2-year effective date by which manufacturers must comply with the plan. FDA has added ~~section~~§ 1143.5(c)(3) to specifically include the requirement to submit a proposed warning plan. (See section XVI.H.17 [of this document](#) for additional information regarding the warning plan requirement and timeframe for submission.)

The same ~~advertising~~[warning statement](#) requirements will apply to cigars sold individually and not in product packages.¹⁸ However, instead of being required to place warnings directly on these product packages, retailers will be required to post signage at the point of sale listing the six warnings (five specifically for cigars and one addictiveness warning) on a minimum of 8.5 x 11 inch sign. The rule requires that the sign be placed on or within 3 inches of each cash register where payment is made and the sign is unobstructed in its entirety and can be easily read by each consumer making a purchase.

D. Section 1143.7--Language Requirements for Required Warning Statements

Consistent with section 3(b) of ~~the Comprehensive Smokeless Tobacco Health Education Act of 1986 (CSTHEA)~~[CSTHEA](#) (15 U.S.C. 4402(b)), FDA proposed in § 1143.7 that the warning statement appear in the English language, with two exceptions. First, under § 1143.7(a), if an advertisement appears in a non-English language publication, the required warning statement would be required to appear in the predominant language (i.e., the primary language used in the nonsponsored content) of the publication. Second, under § 1143.7(b), if an advertisement is in an English language publication but the advertisement is presented in a language other than English, the required warning statement would be required to appear in the same foreign language as that principally used in the advertisement. ~~Given~~[FDA is finalizing this section as proposed in the NPRM with one change; given](#) that FDA has noted throughout this document that the health warning requirements apply to advertisements in any medium, we have changed the references from ~~"publication"~~ to ~~"medium"~~ in this section.

¹⁸ [In general, pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code at 26 U.S.C. 5751, a tobacco product cannot be sold at retail unless it is in the package in which the product is removed, upon payment of Federal excise tax, from the factory or from customs custody. Section 5751\(a\)\(3\) and TTB regulations at 27 CFR 46.166\(a\) state that tobacco products may be sold, or offered for sale, at retail from such packages, provided the products remain in the packages until removed by the customer or in the presence of the customer.](#)

E. Section 1143.9--Irremovable or Permanent Required Warning Statements

FDA proposed that the warning statements for covered tobacco products be indelibly printed on or permanently affixed to packages and advertisements. FDA is finalizing this requirement without change.

F. Section 1143.11--Does Not Apply to Foreign Distribution

FDA proposed to limit the applicability of the health warning requirements by clarifying that they would not apply to manufacturers or distributors of tobacco products that do not manufacture, package, or import the products for sale or distribution within the United States. FDA is finalizing this requirement.

G. Section 1143.13--Effective Date

In the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), FDA sought comment regarding the effective date of the health warning requirements. FDA proposed that these requirements would take effect 24 months after the date that the final rule publishes in the Federal Register and all products manufactured on or after the effective date must include the required warning statements on their labels.

This means that:

- After the effective date, no manufacturer, packager, importer, distributor, or retailer of cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, cigars, or other covered tobacco products may advertise any such product if the advertisement does not comply with this rule;
- After the effective date, no person may manufacture for sale or distribution within the United States any such product the package of which does not comply with this rule;

- Beginning 30 days after the effective date, a manufacturer may not introduce into domestic commerce, any such product, irrespective of the date of manufacture, if its package does not comply with this rule;
- After the effective date, a distributor or retailer may not sell, offer to sell, distribute, or import for sale or distribution within the United States any such product the package of which does not comply with this regulation, unless the covered tobacco product was manufactured prior to the effective date; and
- After the effective date, however, a retailer may sell covered tobacco products in packages of which do not have a required warning if the retailer demonstrates it falls outside the scope of this rule as described in §§ 1143.3(a)(3) and 1143.5(a)(4).

In addition to proposed § 1143.13, we added paragraph (b) indicating that the requirement to submit a warning plan pursuant to § 1143.5(c)(3), describing the random display and distribution of warning statements on cigar packages and the quarterly rotation of warning statements in cigar advertisements, will take effect 12 months after the date of publication of this final rule. FDA is establishing this effective date at 12 months before the effective date of the required warnings for cigars described under part 1143 (24 months after the publication of the final rule) because the Agency anticipates that there will be a need for communication with submitters during its review of the warning plan submissions. This submission deadline also helps FDA to ensure that its surveillance program for compliance with the warning label requirements under section 1143 is implemented as of the effective date of 24 months after the publication of the final rule. FDA intends to work with manufacturers, importers, distributors, ~~or~~ and retailers to get an approved warning plan in place. Cigar entities may wish to contact FDA to discuss the submission of their warning plans in order to make the subsequent approval

process more orderly and efficient. See section XVI.H.17 for additional information regarding the warning plan requirement.

H. Comments and Responses Regarding Required Warning Statements

1. General

——(Comment [237](#)) Several comments urged FDA to clearly define “advertisement” in the final rule as it is unclear what constitutes an advertisement that must contain the required warning statements. At least one comment suggested that the final rule contain language explaining that any statement regarding the availability of tobacco products in a store does not by itself constitute an advertisement.

——(Response) FDA does not believe it is necessary to include a definition of “advertisement” in this final rule, but notes that for purposes of this rule, the term “advertisement” should be interpreted broadly and should be interpreted to include statements regarding the availability of tobacco products.

In addition, advertisements subject to this final rule may appear in or on, for example, promotional materials (point-of-sale or non-point-of-sale), billboards, posters, placards, published journals, newspapers, magazines, other periodicals, catalogues, leaflets, brochures, direct mail, shelf-talkers, display racks, Internet Web pages, television, electronic mail correspondence, and also include those communicated via mobile telephone, smartphone, microblog, social media Web site, or other communication tool; Web sites, applications, or other programs that allow for the sharing of audio, video, or photography files; video and audio promotions; and items not subject to the sale or distribution ban in § 1140.34. FDA intends to provide guidance on how to comply with the health warning requirements on unique types of media.

——(Comment [238](#)) Several comments noted that the proposed cigar warnings are appropriate for the protection of public health. The comments noted that the rule would enhance public health by extending the labeling requirements beyond the seven manufacturers currently required to use them under the FTC consent decrees, by providing for random display on cigar packages and rotation in advertisements, and by requiring point-of-sale warnings for cigars sold individually that are not packaged. The comment also noted that the substance of each warning is strongly supported by the available scientific evidence. However, several comments took issue with the proposed warnings for premium cigars, claiming that they lack a sound scientific basis.

——(Response) FDA finds there is a strong scientific basis to require health warnings on cigar packages and in cigar advertisements (as well as on signs for unpackaged cigars), which was extensively discussed in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) (79 FR 23142 at 23167 through 23170).

——(Comment [239](#)) Several comments stated that the [proposed rule NPRM](#) is unclear regarding the requirement to develop and submit rotation plans for warnings signs required where cigars are sold individually and not in a product package. [TheOne](#) comment stated that the final rule should make clear that this obligation falls on cigar manufacturers and not on retailers that sell cigars. Another comment stated that retailers should be responsible for creating and posting the point of sale signs.

——(Response) To clarify, retailers of cigars sold individually and not in product packaging are not required to submit a warning plan for warnings on packages, because the warning signs posted at a retailer's point-of-sale would include all six warnings applicable to cigars, as we have noted [in § above in our discussion of § 1143.5\(c\)\(1\)](#). [Cigar retailers would be responsible for creating and posting these signs in accordance with § 1143.5\(a\)\(3\)\(i\)-\(iv\)](#).

Therefore, there is no need to rotate these health warnings, nor is it necessary to submit a

rotational warning plan for them. However, manufacturers must submit a warning plan for advertisements, as the rule requires manufacturers of all cigars to include warnings in advertisements that must be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar. [Similarly, retailers who are responsible for or direct their own cigar advertising must submit a warning plan for those advertisements.](#)

——(Comment [240](#)) One comment suggested that FDA adopt labeling rules, similar to those proposed for premium cigars, for e-cigarette products that are sold without packaging (i.e., require signage at the point of sale for stores selling e-cigarettes rather than require labels on their packages).

——(Response) Unlike cigars sold individually and not in product packages, ENDS and any e-liquids containing nicotine that are sold separately are sold in some sort of packaging on which the addictiveness warning can be provided. Therefore, it is not necessary at this time to instead require warnings at the point-of-sale. The warning requirements in this final rule are appropriate for the protection of the public health because they provide information to the consumers each time they use the product ~~and, where packages are not used, consumers can view the warnings at the point of sale.~~

2. Continuum of Risk

——(Comment [241](#)) Several comments asserted that different product categories should carry different health warnings relative to the health risk the products present to adult consumers. They also thought that, in view of the continuum of risk, the size of the proposed addictiveness warning on e-cigarettes and other noncombusted products is too large and the location too prominent. For example, one comment suggested that FDA require that this warning be smaller for these products than for smokeless tobacco products (i.e., 20 percent of the

principal display panel) and it should appear only on one of the principal display panels of the package. Another comment noted that, because of its relative size and placement, the proposed e-cigarette warning could deter combusted cigarette smokers from switching to a noncombusted product based on a misunderstanding of the relative risks of smoking versus electronic and noncombusted products. This comment suggested that the warning on e-cigarettes should be no larger or more prominently located than the currently required cigarette warnings.

~~————(Response) FDA disagrees. As discussed in [Section VIII](#) of this document, though FDA recognizes the existence of a continuum of nicotine-delivering products, all tobacco products are addictive and potentially dangerous. There is a public health benefit to warning consumers regarding the addictiveness of nicotine, regardless of how it is delivered. Numerous studies show that “the [salience of healthlikelihood that](#) warnings [are seen and noticed](#) depends upon their [size and position of the warning message.](#)” (Ref. 1 at p. 329, Hammond.) See also [Ref. 2, Hammond; Ref 3, Elliott & Shanahan; Ref. . \(Refs. 36, 37, 38, 39; see section II.B.4, Bansal-Travers. of this document\)](#). In addition, as mentioned in section VIII.C [of this document](#), study results have been inconclusive about the effects of ENDS products on the population. FDA does not believe, at this time, [that](#) it has sufficient evidence about the risks of ENDS products to justify the use of different warnings sizes and to determine the appropriate size for each product category. FDA will continue to monitor research regarding the health effects of different types of ENDS.~~

~~The Tobacco Control Act requires FDA to include new warning labels on cigarette packages and in cigarette advertisements. On June 22, 2011, FDA published a final rule requiring color graphics depicting the negative health consequences of smoking to accompany the nine new textual warning statements provided by law. As required by section 201 of the~~

~~Tobacco Control Act, the new warnings would appear prominently on packages, occupying at least 50 percent of the area of the front and rear panels of cigarette packages. However, As to the comment that e-cigarette warnings should be no larger or more prominently located than currently required for cigarettes, the final rule requires the warnings to appear on at least 30 percent of the two principal display panels of the package, and at least 20 percent of the area of advertisements. These are the same warning sizes that Congress established for smokeless tobacco in the Tobacco Control Act. 15 U.S.C. § 4402(a)(2)(A), (b)(2)(A). In the same Act, Congress prescribed an even larger size for cigarette warnings: 50 percent on the front and rear panels of cigarette packaging (and the same 20 percent size for cigarette advertisements) (id. § 1333(a)(2), (b)(2)). However, the larger warning sizes required for cigarettes have not yet been implemented because the final rule was challenged in court, and on August 24, 2012, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit vacated the rule and remanded the matter to the Agency. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., et al., v. Food & Drug Administration, et al., 696 F.3d 1205 (D.C. Cir. 2012), overruled on other grounds by Am. Meat Inst. v. U.S. Dep't of Agric., 760 F.3d 18, 25 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (en banc). On December 5, 2012, the Court denied the government's petition for panel rehearing and rehearing en banc, and FDA decided not to seek further review of the Court's ruling. FDA is ~~undertaking~~ conducting research that aims to support a new rulemaking consistent with the Tobacco Control Act, (see Generic Clearance for the Collection of Qualitative Data on Tobacco Products and ~~when that rulemaking is complete,~~ health warnings on cigarette packages will be significantly larger Communications (OMB Control Number 0910-0796) and ~~more prominent than the current warnings.~~ Pretesting of Tobacco Communications (OMB Control Number 0910-0674)). For smokeless tobacco packaging, the warning labels must be located on the two principal display panels and cover at~~

least 30 percent of each panel (15 U.S.C. 4402(a)(2)(A)), which is consistent with the warning labels required for newly deemed tobacco products.

~~————(Comment 242) Several comments stated that informing consumers that tobacco products are addictive by requiring an addictiveness warning does not fulfill any useful public health goal. These comments believed that it is misleading to describe all nicotine-containing products as addictive without describing the relative risk of the products.~~

~~————(Response) FDA disagrees. The addictive nature of tobacco products has been well documented, and FDA believes that failure to disclose the addictive nature of nicotine in tobacco products misleads consumers. The Surgeon General has long recognized the addictive nature of tobacco products due to the presence of nicotine, which is highly addictive and can be absorbed into the bloodstream (Ref. 167, 88-SG1). Congress also expressed concern about the addictiveness of these "inherently dangerous products" (section 2(2) of the Tobacco Control Act). Because the covered tobacco products are made or derived from tobacco and most (if not all) contain nicotine, they are likely addictive (Ref. 129, Ben 10; Ref. 212, Ben 88; Ref. 213, Stolerman; Ref. 214, Watkins; Ref. 215, Dani). Thus, Refs. 14, 246, 247, 248, 249). For products that do not contain nicotine (i.e., no nicotine at detectable levels), the addictiveness rule provides for an alternative warning will help ensure that youth and young adults, who are more uniquely susceptible to the addictiveness of nicotine, have a greater awareness of the presence of nicotine and the addictiveness of these products before they might become addicted. statement, "This product is made from tobacco."~~

~~Consumers, especially youth and young adults, wrongly believe that many tobacco products covered by this rule are less addictive than cigarettes; systematically underestimate their vulnerability to becoming addicted to nicotine and the use of tobacco products; and overestimate~~

their ability to stop using tobacco products when they choose (79 FR at 23158-59, 23166). The addictiveness warning will help consumers understand and appreciate the consequences of using tobacco products. The addictiveness warning will help ensure that youth and young adults, who may be more susceptible to the addictiveness of nicotine, have a greater awareness of the presence of nicotine and the addictiveness of these products before they might become addicted.

Additionally, any manufacturer that ~~wants to claim~~ wishes can submit an MRTP application to FDA to show that its product is less hazardous than another tobacco product ~~can submit an MRTP application to FDA~~. When the Tobacco Control Act was passed, Congress found that unless tobacco products that purport to reduce the risks to the public of tobacco use actually reduce such risks, those products can cause substantial harm to the public health (section 2(37) of the Tobacco Control Act). Furthermore, Congress noted that the dangers of products sold or distributed as ~~modified risk tobacco products~~ MRTPs that do not in fact reduce risk are so high that FDA must ensure that statements about ~~modified risk tobacco products~~ MRTPs are complete, accurate, and relate to the overall disease risk of the product (section 2(40) of the Tobacco Control Act). Accordingly, Congress determined that manufacturers must demonstrate that such products meet a series of rigorous criteria, and will benefit the health of the population as a whole before they may be marketed to reduce the harm or the risk of tobacco-related disease or to reduce exposures to harmful substances associated with tobacco products (section ~~2(36)~~ 911 of the ~~Tobacco Control~~ FD&C Act). ~~As (21 U.S.C. 387k)~~. If new research on the relative risks presented by the use of smokeless tobacco products and ENDS products emerges, FDA may consider proposing changes to the warning label requirements. If it does, the Agency will ~~provide notice and opportunity to comment in~~ initiate a new rulemaking ~~proceeding in~~ accordance with the APA.

3. Warning Requirements for Other Media

——(Comment [243](#)) Several comments stated that FDA should clarify the application of the proposed warnings to television and radio advertisements, as well as in catalogs, on Internet sites, and on social media. One comment recommended that advertisers be required to include a voiceover stating the warning out loud, in a clear, conspicuous, and neutral manner. Another comment suggested that FDA clarify in the final regulation that § [1143.3\(b\)](#) applies only to print advertising and not to radio and broadcast advertising.

——(Response) FDA clarifies that § [1143.3\(b\)\(1\)](#) applies to cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products except for cigars as they have their own warning requirements as enumerated in § [1143.5\(b\)\(1\)](#). ~~Additionally, FDA clarifies that the warning requirements for advertisements in § [1143.3\(b\)\(1\)](#) and § [1143.5\(b\)\(1\)](#) apply to advertisements in any medium. [1143.5\(b\)\(1\)](#).~~ The FCLAA (15 U.S.C. 1331 et seq.), as modified by the Little Cigar Act of 1973 (Pub. L. No. 93-109), makes it unlawful to advertise “[cigarettes](#)” and “[little cigars](#)” on any medium of electronic communication subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Communications Commission (15 U.S.C. 1333). In 1986, Congress enacted ~~the~~ CSTHEA (15 U.S.C. 4401 et seq.), extending the broadcast ban to include advertisements for smokeless tobacco products.

FDA further clarifies that the requirements to include a warning in § [1143.3\(b\)\(1\)](#) and § [1143.5\(b\)\(1\)](#) apply to all forms of advertising, regardless of the medium in which it appears, for cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, [and](#) covered tobacco products ~~other than, including~~ cigars, ~~and cigars.~~ ~~Advertisements subject to this.~~ [This](#) final rule ~~may appear~~ [applies to advertisements appearing](#) in or on, for example, promotional materials (point-of-sale and non-point-of-sale), billboards, posters, placards, published journals, newspapers, magazines, other

periodicals, catalogues, leaflets, brochures, direct mail, shelf-talkers, display racks, Internet Web pages, television, electronic mail correspondence, or be communicated via mobile telephone, smartphone, microblog, social media Web site, or other communication tool; Web sites, applications, or other programs that allow for the sharing of audio, video, or photography files; video and audio promotions; and items not subject to the sale or distribution restriction in §_1140.34. Accordingly, the language of §§_1143.3(b)(2) and 1143.5(b)(2) have been changed to clarify that the formatting requirements only apply to print advertisements and other advertisements with a visual component. FDA intends to provide guidance on how to comply with the health warning requirements on unique types of media.

4. Appropriateness of Required Warnings to Protect Public Health

——(Comment [244](#)) In response to FDA's request in the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#), comments included data and research regarding the effectiveness of health warnings. They submitted research indicating a need for accurate health warnings that are large enough to be readable ([Ref. 216, Hastings](#); [Ref. 174, 94 SG](#); [Ref. 217, Centre](#)[Refs. 3, 40](#)) and grab the consumer's attention ([Ref. 122, Centre](#)[40](#)). Comments also submitted research indicating that warning labels influence and increase awareness of the health risks associated with tobacco ([Ref. 218, Romer](#); [Ref. 219, Nourjah](#); [Ref. 1, Hamm](#) [11](#); [Ref. 220, Hamm](#) [06](#); [Ref. 2, Hamm](#) [07](#)[36, 37, 250](#)) and discourage initiation in nonsmoking youth ([Ref. 221, Moodie](#)). ~~Other~~[251](#)). [One comment cited other research which](#) found that novel information presented to smokers was associated with greater relevance of the message and motivation to quit ([Ref. 222, Kollath](#)[252](#)).

——(Response) FDA agrees that health warnings are an effective means to ~~communicate information to help~~ consumers [understand](#) and, ~~therefore, is including them in this rule~~ [appreciate the risks of using tobacco products](#).

——(Comment [245](#)) Many comments supported the requirement for all tobacco products to contain health warnings. For example, one comment cited WHO's 2011 report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, which states that effective warning labels increase smokers' awareness of health risks and increase the likelihood they will think about reducing tobacco consumption and quitting (Ref. [223, WHO 2011+253](#)). The comment also cited a cohort study of textual warnings in the United Kingdom, before and after they were enhanced in 2003 to meet the minimum FCTC standard (Ref. [2, Hammond37](#)). This study found that, after the enhanced warnings were implemented, UK smokers were more likely to think about quitting, to think about the health risks of smoking, and to be deterred from having a cigarette compared to smokers in Australia and the United States where smaller warnings did not conform to FCTC standards. -Another comment stated that required warning statements on packages and advertisements should provide needed information to consumers in a conspicuous and clear manner.

——(Response) FDA agrees. Health warnings on packages and advertisements help consumers to understand and appreciate the health risks of tobacco use and have a number of advantages. The frequency of exposure is high. In addition, package warnings are delivered both at the time of tobacco product use and at the point of purchase. Thus, the messages are delivered to tobacco users at the two most important times--when users are considering using or purchasing the tobacco product. The messages on packages also help the public at large, including potential tobacco users, better understand and appreciate the health and addictiveness risks of using the products ~~(Ref. [224, Levin](#)).~~ (See In re Lorillard et al., 80 FTC 455 (1972); FCLAA; CSTHEA.)

5. Staleness of Warnings

——(Comment [246](#)) Several comments noted that requiring only a single health warning for some newly deemed tobacco products does not allow for rotation and the warning will likely grow stale, resulting in little to no effect on consumers. They argued that FDA should require multiple warnings for the newly deemed products to allow for rotation and to maintain their effectiveness. Additionally, comments urged FDA to revise this warning and the other required health warnings as new evidence emerges on the health risks associated with tobacco products.

——(Response) FDA acknowledges that the use of a single health warning for some newly deemed tobacco products could allow the warning to grow stale over time. While FDA declines to add additional warnings at this time, FDA issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule, seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings. FDA also intends to conduct research and keep abreast of scientific developments regarding the efficacy of the final health warnings and the ways in which their efficacy could be improved. FDA will use the results of this monitoring and research to help determine whether any of the warning statements should be revised, or if any additional warning statements should be added, in a future rulemaking.

-6. Other Format Issues

——(Comment [247](#)) There were several comments on the general format of the health warnings. One comment stated that the warning provisions should require black text on a bright yellow background. According to the comment, researchers have found that yellow seizes attention, is the most noticeable, is the color the eye perceives fastest, and universally signals warning or danger ([Ref. 225, Wagner](#); [Ref. 226, Boekeg](#)); [Refs. 254, 255](#)). Another comment suggested that the front of the package should include a short and explicit warning statement that

is large enough to be readily visible and readable, and the back of the package should contain a warning large enough to more fully develop the basis for the front warning statement. The comment noted that the combination of short and salient health claims on the front of the package with more fully developed health information on the back would produce better consumer awareness and understanding, and greater believability of the health claim in the mind of the consumer. Finally, several comments stated that newly deemed products should be required to display large graphic warnings.

——(Response) FDA declines to make these suggested changes at this time. The format requirements included with this final rule are similar to those included in a 2001 ~~European Union~~EU directive, which have been shown to increase the effectiveness of health warnings. ~~European Union (EU)~~ Directive 2001/37/EC requires that tobacco warnings in all member countries meet certain minimum standards that are similar to those that FDA is finalizing here (i.e., the EU required health warnings comprise 30 percent of the area on the front of package and 40 percent on the back of the package; are in black Helvetica bold type on a white background; occupy the greatest possible proportion of the warning area set aside for the text required; and messages are centered in the warning area and surrounded by a black border of 3 to 4 millimeters (mm) in width). Before the 2001 Directive, warnings in most EU countries were very small and general. In one study conducted for the European Commission, a majority of respondents stated that the Directive's new warning format was more effective and more credible than the previous format (Ref. [227, EHRP256](#)). A study of Spanish university students also concluded that text warnings based on the Directive significantly increased perceptions of the risk of tobacco products (Ref. [228, Portillo257](#)). Additionally, studies showed that the requirement that the warnings appear in black text on a white background or white text on a

black background improved the legibility and noticeability of the warnings (~~Ref. 5, IOM; Ref. 3, E&S~~Refs. 7, 38).

FDA believes that the prescribed format of the health warnings will be effective in ~~improving consumer understanding of~~helping consumers better understand and appreciate the risks of these products. However, FDA intends to conduct research and keep abreast of scientific developments regarding the efficacy of the final health warnings and the ways in which their efficacy could be improved. If FDA determines that modification of the format requirements is appropriate, we will consider changing these requirements in a future rulemaking.

~~————~~(Comment 248) FDA received a large number of comments regarding the size of the required health warnings. Several comments agreed with the format requirements proposed in the rule. One comment cited a study concluding that youth and adults are more likely to recall larger warnings, rate larger warnings as having greater impact, and often equate the size of the warning with the magnitude of the risk (Ref. 1, Hammond36). The comment also stated that requiring health warnings that cover at least 30 percent of the front and back of cigarette packages is consistent with the FCTC.

Several comments argued that the required health warnings are too large. One comment stated that if the warnings are too large, they could have the unintended effect of making consumers numb to the warning message or otherwise lead to consumers ignoring the warning.

Another comment stated that the size of FDA's proposed addictiveness warning should be evaluated in the context of the other information that already appears on the packaging of noncombusted tobacco products. This comment asserted that packaging for certain newly deemed products includes detailed warnings and other information important to reduce risks

from inappropriate use or handling of the product and that such information may not fit on the package if the proposed health warning occupies 30 percent of the principal display.

Several comments stated that the proposed warning statement should not be required on cigars sold individually and not in product packages. One cigar retailer stated that requiring warnings on 30 percent of the principal display panels would be excessive. The comment believed that a health warning covering 30 percent of each cigar box would be excessive when there are multiple boxes, particularly when combined with the requirement for a warning sign at the point of sale. Another comment asserted that the size of the proposed health warnings would be inconsistent with the First Amendment.

Other comments argued that FDA should require larger health warnings. One comment stated that numerous studies show that youth and adults are more likely to recall larger warning messages and rate larger messages as having a greater impact (Ref. [2, Hammond 07](#)). ~~Another noted that research has shown that larger warning labels result in increased awareness and understanding of the health effects and disease risk among users and nonusers, encourage users' motivation and attempts to quit using tobacco (Ref. 218, Romer; Ref. 219, Nourjah), and discourage uptake of tobacco (Ref. 218, Romer; Ref. 1, Hammond; Ref. 220, Hammond 06; Ref. 2, Hammond 07):37).~~ Another comment stated that the FCTC suggests that warnings should cover 50 percent or more of a pack's principal surface, a standard adopted by a number of countries.

———(Response) FDA finds that the required size of the health warnings is appropriate for the protection of public health. The IOM, Congress, and Article 11 of the FCTC recognize the importance of having the warnings cover at least 30 percent of the area of the principal display panels, and users are more likely to recall warnings that are a larger size and that appear

on the front/major surfaces of the tobacco package (Ref. [5, IOM7](#)). The 30-percent [sizewarning label area](#) requirement for product packages is also consistent with the size requirements for similar text-only warnings for smokeless tobacco mandated by Congress in CSTHEA (15 U.S.C. 4402(a)(2)(A)). FDA does not believe that the 30-percent [sizewarning label area](#) requirement will make consumers numb to the warning message. Rather, FDA believes that the size of the warnings will be effective in helping consumers better understand and appreciate the critical information presented by the health warning.

FDA also believes that the 30-percent [warning label area](#) requirement is consistent with the First Amendment (as discussed in section II.B of this document). Although the warning will occupy at least 30 percent of the packaging, there will remain sufficient space for additional warnings, manufacturer instructions, and branding. However, FDA intends to conduct research and keep abreast of scientific developments regarding the efficacy of the health warnings in the final rule and the ways in which their efficacy could be improved. If FDA determines that larger warnings would be more effective for these newly deemed products, the Agency will issue a new [notice of proposed rulemaking and provide opportunity for comment](#) NPRM in accordance with [the APA](#).

———(Comment [249](#)) Comments stated that FDA should not require manufacturers to use a font size that occupies the greatest possible proportion of the warning area because that would leave limited, if any, white space and may prove to be illegible. These comments suggested that FDA reduce the font size requirement to be consistent with smokeless tobacco warnings, which are required to take up 60 to 70 percent of the warning area.

———(Response) FDA disagrees. Newly deemed tobacco products are sold in a variety of packaging sizes. By requiring the font size to be at least 12-point font, FDA is ensuring that

the required warning statement will be noticed by consumers regardless of the package size. Further, FDA believes that this requirement will leave adequate background space so that the warning is legible. The format requirements are similar to those included in a 2001 EU directive (requiring warnings to occupy the greatest possible portion of the warning area set aside for the required text), which have been shown to increase the effectiveness of health warnings, as further discussed in this section of the document. FDA is not aware of any legibility issues with the EU health warnings and does not expect any legibility issues with the health warnings included in this final rule.

The size of the warning clearly matters, as recall increases significantly with font size (~~(Ref. 152A, Truitt, 258)~~). In a study on recall of health warnings in smokeless tobacco ads, conducted with 895 young males, 63 percent of participants recalled a high contrast warning in 10-point font; doubling the font size for the warning to a 20-point font increased recall from 63 percent to 76 percent representing a 20 percent improvement in recall (id.). Research on cigarette package warnings confirms that larger warnings are better noticed and more likely to be recalled (Ref. ~~141, 12-SG; Ref. 57~~ at App. C-3, ~~IOM; Ref. 3, E&S; Refs. 38, 49~~). These studies support FDA's conclusion that requiring the proposed warnings to appear in at least 12-point font size will improve their noticeability.

——(Comment [250](#)) At least one comment believed that requiring warnings to occupy at least 20 percent of the area of an advertisement would result in warning statements that, while visible, are more likely to be ignored. This comment suggested that appropriate warning statements be presented in a minimum font size (e.g., no smaller than 11-point type).

——(Response) FDA is unaware of any evidence stating that a health warning occupying at least 20 percent of the area of an advertisement is likely to be ignored.

Nevertheless, to ensure that the statements are visible and effectively conveying information, FDA is finalizing §§ 1143.3(b)(2)(ii) and 1143.5(b)(2)(ii) to require a minimum 12-point font size for the health warnings on advertisements. Moreover, the requirement that the warning statement occupy at least 20 percent of the area of the advertisement is the same as the statutory requirement for press and poster advertisements for smokeless tobacco products (section 3(b)(2)(B) of CSTHEA (15 U.S.C. 4402(b)(2)(B))).

——(Comment [251](#)) At least one comment expressed concern with the font requirements of the labeling provisions because they require businesses to purchase a software package that provides either or both of the prescribed fonts (Helvetica and Arial) ~~fonts,~~ and these are proprietary fonts.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. Both Helvetica and Arial fonts are included in common printing software. Thus, the requirement that manufacturers use Helvetica or Arial font should not cause them to incur any additional costs. However, we also have included language throughout part 1143, which allows manufacturers to use other similar sans serif fonts in order to provide additional flexibility while still ensuring that the warnings are conspicuous and legible to consumers.

——(Comment [252](#)) Many comments argued for different formatting requirements for the health warnings. Some suggested that they should be consistent with the current FTC Consent Decree, which requires that health warnings be clear and conspicuous in relation to the other communications on the packaging and be presented in a black box format to attract consumer attention. One comment stated that FDA should accept alternative warning sizes, placements, and font sizes for different packaging sizes and configurations, as long as the warning is clear and conspicuous. This comment urged FDA to be flexible about the size and

placement of the warnings on deemed products, some of which are offered in packaging sizes and configurations very different from cigarette and smokeless tobacco packaging. This comment also noted that it can be difficult to identify the two principal display panels.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA has concluded that the formatting requirements for the health warnings, which are similar to the requirements for smokeless products and similar to those suggested by FCTC, are appropriate for the protection of the public health. In addition, we have added language to this final rule which recognizes that if a product package is too small to bear the required warning statement, the manufacturer of the product can include the warning statement on the outer carton or on a hang tag attached to the product package.

——To clarify how to determine the principal display panels, FDA is defining “principal display panels” of a product package as the panels of a package that are most likely to be displayed, presented, shown or examined by the consumer. In addition, the principal display panels should be large enough to accommodate all mandatory label information in a clear and conspicuous manner. The principal display panels may be on an outer carton for small vials holding e-liquids.

7. Waterpipe Tobacco

——(Comment [253](#)) One comment argued that the required warning should not be applied to hookah (or waterpipe tobacco) because there is a lack of substantial scientific evidence of the addictiveness of this product. The comment expressed the belief that the majority of waterpipe tobacco smokers in the United States use the product once a week or less. Another comment asserted that studies of noncigarette products, including waterpipe tobacco, show that these products are perceived to present less risk of harm and addictiveness, thereby encouraging use among young adults. The comment added that strong warnings regarding the addictiveness

of all tobacco products may reduce trial and use in vulnerable populations (Ref. [229](#), [Latimer259](#)).

~~(Response) FDA disagrees that the addictiveness warning should not be applied to waterpipe tobacco. —(Response) FDA disagrees that the addictiveness warning should not be applied to waterpipe tobacco.~~ Waterpipe tobacco contains nicotine, which is the primary addictive chemical in tobacco products. Researchers have observed nicotine dependence characteristics in some users ([Ref. 204, Cobb 11; 205, Blank; 206, Rastam](#)[Refs. 238, 239, 240](#)), with one study showing that waterpipe tobacco use suppressed withdrawal symptoms just as cigarette smoking suppresses withdrawal symptoms (Ref. [206, Rastam240](#)). Because waterpipe smoking sessions last longer than smoking a cigarette and there is increased smoke volume, a single session of waterpipe smoking (which typically lasts 20 to 80 minutes) likely exposes users to more nicotine than smoking a cigarette (which typically takes 5 to 7 minutes). Indeed, a meta-analysis of studies regarding waterpipe use showed that a single episode of waterpipe use is associated with exposure to 1.7 times the nicotine in a single cigarette.

FDA agrees that there is consumer confusion about the addictiveness of waterpipe tobacco. Whereas studies have shown that cigarette and waterpipe tobacco smoking deliver similar nicotine levels, one study showed that 46.3 percent of [high school](#) students wrongly believed that waterpipe tobacco is less addictive or less harmful than cigarettes, and one-third of these students wrongly believed that the product had less nicotine, no nicotine, or was generally less addictive than cigarettes (Ref. [231, Smith](#)). ~~Findings also suggest that mistaken~~[260](#). [Mistaken](#) beliefs that waterpipe tobacco smoking is "safer or less addictive than cigarettes" [awere](#) more prevalent among those who [haved](#) ever used waterpipe tobacco (78.2 percent) compared to nonusers (31.6 percent) (Ref. [231, Smith](#))-[260](#)). [A study of nearly 2,000 university students](#)

found that waterpipe tobacco was considered by those students to be less addictive than e-cigarettes, marijuana, cigar products, smokeless tobacco, and cigarettes (Ref. 261). Research found that college students who had used waterpipes within the past 30 days considered them less addictive and less harmful than never-users did (Ref. 26). Similarly, another study found that "[freshmen college] students who used waterpipes and cigars perceived them as less harmful than regular cigarettes" (Ref. 233, ~~Smith 07262~~). Moreover, research has shown that such false beliefs about product risks can be a significant predictor of subsequent use behavior (Ref. 234, ~~Krosnick; Ref. 235, Song~~). Refs. 263, 264). For instance, adolescents with the lowest perceptions of short-term risks related to smoking were 2.68 times more likely to initiate smoking (Ref. 235, ~~Song~~). 264). We note that the Surgeon General's 2014 Report provides an objective discussion of nicotine and addiction, where "nicotine addiction develops as a neurobiologic adaptation to chronic nicotine exposure. However, all forms of nicotine delivery do not pose an equal risk in establishing or maintaining nicotine addiction" (Ref. 9 at 112). Thus, pattern of use is a factor in the facilitation of addiction.

———(Comment 254) One comment stated that FDA should require the addictiveness warning on all components of waterpipe tobacco use, including those products without nicotine or tobacco.

———(Response) FDA disagrees. FDA finds that requiring health warnings on covered tobacco products only (and not on the components and parts that are not made or derived from tobacco) is appropriate to protect the public health, because youth and young adults will not be able to use such components and parts, and potentially suffer the consequences of tobacco use, without also using the covered tobacco product. In the event that FDA later determines it is appropriate for the protection of the public health to extend the warning requirements to

components and parts that are not made or derived from tobacco, the Agency will ~~issue~~initiate a new rulemaking ~~and provide notice and opportunity to comment on such proceeding in accordance with APA requirements.~~

8. Dissolvable Products

——(Comment 255) One comment suggested that FDA recognize all dissolvable tobacco products as smokeless tobacco products for the purpose of warning label regulation and, as a result, subject all dissolvables to the smokeless warning requirements in section 204 of the Tobacco Control Act.

——(Response) ~~“Smokeless tobacco product”~~ is defined in section 900(18) of the FD&C Act and for purposes of the warning requirements in CSTHEA (as amended by the Tobacco Control Act) as ~~“any tobacco product that consists of cut, ground, powdered, or leaf tobacco and that is intended to be placed in the oral or nasal cavity.”~~ Some dissolvable tobacco products do not meet the definition of ~~“smokeless tobacco product”~~ because they do not contain cut, ground, powdered, or leaf tobacco; instead, these products contain nicotine extracted from tobacco. These products are the dissolvable products covered by this final rule. Because they do not meet the statutory definition of a smokeless tobacco product, FDA cannot recognize them as such, as suggested by the comments. If FDA determines that the warning statements for any type of dissolvable product should be revised, or if any additional warning statements should be added to them, the Agency will ~~provide notice and opportunity to comment in~~initiate a new rulemaking ~~proceeding in accordance with APA requirements.~~

——(Comment 256) One comment stated that the use of an addictiveness warning would serve to protect the public health by more clearly identifying dissolvable products as addictive tobacco products and differentiating them from candy.

——(Response) FDA agrees. Certain tobacco products have a candy-like appearance, frequently are sold next to candy, and are packaged in a way that makes them more attractive to children, which can mislead consumers to think that they are, in fact, candy ([Ref. 12, Villanti; Ref. 179, Connolly](#)); [Refs. 54, 215](#)). The addictiveness warning will clearly identify these products as tobacco products and help differentiate them from candy.

9. Premium Cigars and Unpackaged Cigars

——(Comment [257](#)) Several comments stated that not requiring warnings on premium cigars and those sold individually and without product packages would greatly diminish the effectiveness of the cigar warnings. One comment stated there are many instances where cigars are purchased as gifts and, in those instances, the recipients would not see these warnings. One comment also stated that if a purchaser receives with the premium cigar any wrapper, container, pack or bag, then FDA should require that it include a health warning. This would ensure that if the premium cigar is given for a celebratory occasion, or if a minor obtained a premium cigar from an adult and did not see the point-of-sale warning, the user would be warned of the health risks. Another comment stated that the warning labels should be permanently affixed to or inside the cellophane wrappers in which the cigars are sold and in a way that is clearly visible to potential purchasers.

——(Response) FDA understands these concerns. However, for those cigars sold individually and not in a product package, the placement of warnings at the point of sale will be adequate to disseminate the required health information and is appropriate for the protection of the public health. For cigars that are sold in cellophane wrappers, these wrappers are considered packaging and, under this final rule, must include the required cigar warnings. In addition, FDA

notes that youth attempting to purchase these cigars would be prohibited from doing so under the minimum age requirements included in this final rule.

——(Comment [258](#)) One comment expressed concern that the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) did not provide for warnings where premium cigars and cigars sold individually and without product packaging are sold online. The comment suggested that these cigars should either not be allowed to be sold individually or that individual cigars should be required to be packaged and include a warning label.

——(Response) ~~FDA does not believe~~[Under the Internal Revenue Code and TTB regulations, cigars that it would be](#) ~~taxpaid upon removal from the factory or release from customs custody must be possible~~[in the packages in which they will be delivered to sell and ship a product without packaging. The box or the ultimate consumer \(bearing any marks or notices required by the Internal Revenue Code and TTB regulations\) at the time of removal, and must remain in those consumer packages until taken from the package by the consumer or in the presence of the consumer. Removing taxpaid cigars from the package, other shipping container used to send the product constitutes packaging. Therefore, the exception for cigars than in the presence of the waiting consumer, is a violation of the Internal Revenue Code. Cigars may nonetheless be sold individually\[and without, provided that the individual product packaging would not apply\]\(#\)~~meets the requirements of the IRC and TTB regulations.~~ An online retailer sending such individual cigars purchased online can comply with FDA's requirements by placing the warning statement on the box or container that is used to ship the product. In addition, FDA clarifies that the warning requirements apply to all forms of advertising, regardless of the medium in which they appear. As stated previously, advertisements subject to this final rule may appear in or on, for example, promotional materials \(point-of-sale and non-](#)

point-of-sale), billboards, posters, placards, published journals, newspapers, magazines, other periodicals, catalogues, leaflets, brochures, direct mail, shelf-talkers, display racks, Internet Web pages, television, electronic mail correspondence, or be communicated -via mobile telephone, smartphone, microblog, social media Web site, or other communication tool; Web sites, applications, or other programs that allow for the sharing of audio, video, or photography files; video and audio promotions; and items subject to the sale or distribution restriction in §_1140.34. As stated in §_1143.5(b)(2), the formatting requirements only apply to advertisements with a visual component. FDA intends to provide guidance on how to comply with the health warning requirements on unique types of media.

———(Comment [259](#)) One comment stated that premium cigars sold individually should include a health warning on the cigar tube, if applicable, or FDA should require retailers to provide a paper warning to the purchaser or put cigars in bags that are pre-printed with the warning labels.

———(Response) It is unclear exactly how this comment intends to affix the warning to the [premium](#) cigar. If this comment is referring to affixing a warning to the cigar tube, this may damage the cigar and, therefore, is impractical. If this comment is seeking to add the warning to the tube that packages some individual cigars, FDA does not believe this is appropriate.

[The Cigars sold individually in product packages, including cigars sold in tubes, must comply with the warning statement requirements for packaging. For cigars sold individually and not in product packages, the required warning statements must instead be posted at the retailer's point of sale. FDA believes that the](#) point of sale signage requirement will ensure that premium cigar purchasers, as well as purchasers of other individual cigars, receive the required health warnings while allowing persons selling or distributing the cigars to maintain existing business practices.

——(Comment [260](#)) One comment expressed concern about retailers having to forfeit counter space for the placement of health warnings for cigars sold individually and not in product packages. The comment stated that this space is reserved for some of the most profitable items for sale in convenience stores. The comment also stated that the U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia struck down a similar, judicially imposed warning requirement that required retailers to set aside valuable retail space to display a point-of-sale sign. ~~U.S. (United States v. Phillip Morris; USA Inc., 566 F.3d 1095 (D.C. Cir. 2009)-.)~~

——(Response) FDA believes that the point-of-sale warnings are necessary and appropriate for the protection of public health. FDA notes that the requirement only applies where cigars are sold individually and unpackaged, and will ensure that consumers of these products are exposed to the same health warnings as consumers of other cigar products. FDA also believes the point-of-sale warnings are necessary to ~~avoid an unintended loophole that would allow~~ [prevent](#) manufacturers and retailers of cigars ~~to circumvent~~ [circumventing](#) the warning requirement by selling their products without packaging.

——Moreover, the [United States v. Phillip Morris](#) ~~case~~ [holding](#) cited in the ~~comment~~ [comment was not on the merits and in any event](#) is not applicable here. That case involved corrective statements mandated in a ~~large-civil~~ [Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act \(RICO\)](#) case brought against the ~~tobacco~~ [United States' major cigarette](#) companies. After finding the defendants ~~civily~~ [liable](#) for [racketeering and](#) fraud, the lower court issued an injunction that required the defendants to ~~issuedisseminate public~~ [statements](#) ~~correcting the false statements at issue~~ [in order to prevent and restrain future fraud](#). The statements were required to appear in various types of media--including large-point-of-sale signs present at the checkout counter of ~~every retailer that sold defendants' cigarettes.~~ [Notingretailers that](#)

participated in defendants' "participating retailer" programs. On appeal, noting that the retailers were not involved in the RICO litigation but were negatively affected by the injunctive remedy, and had not had the opportunity to present arguments against the point-of-sale location before the lower court ruled, the appellate court vacated the point-of-sale requirement on due process grounds, and remanded for further consideration by the lower court. Philip Morris USA Inc., 566 F.3d at 1141-42. The appellate court did not ~~strike the provision because it required a point-of-sale warning rule~~ on whether mandatory point-of-sale corrective statements in valuable retail space are permissible under the RICO statute, but ~~rather because it did so without affording due process to the retailers (which is not the case for the point-of-sale warnings), simply ruled that~~ before the district court could impose such a requirement, the RICO statute required "considering the rights of third parties and existing contracts" (id. at 1145). By contrast, these warning requirements are being promulgated under the Tobacco Control Act, not the RICO statute; and are the product of notice-and-comment rulemaking.

10. Cigarettes and Roll-Your-Own

———(Comment [261](#)) Some comments stated that FDA should conform the proposed health warnings for cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco to the federally mandated health warnings for cigarettes required by section 4(s) of FCLAA and to health warnings that FDA mandates for cigarettes in the future.

———(Response) FDA disagrees. Cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco do not meet the definition of the term "cigarette" in section 3(1) of ~~the~~ FCLAA. Because cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco are not cigarettes as defined by FCLAA, they do not need to comply with section 4 of FCLAA requiring cigarette warnings and, therefore, do not contain any warning to alert consumers of the health effects of these products. Instead, the Tobacco Control

Act defines cigarette tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco in sections 900(4) and 900(15) of the FD&C Act, respectively. The lack of a warning on these tobacco products may lead consumers to believe that they are safe products. Therefore, with this final rule, FDA is requiring that manufacturers of such products comply with the addiction warning in § 1143.3 and any other future health warnings that FDA mandates for these products, where appropriate.

——(Comment [262](#)) Some comments expressed concern about the following warning as applied to pipe tobacco products: “WARNING: This product contains nicotine derived from tobacco. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.” They stated that this warning is not appropriate for these products because the first sentence of the warning suggests that it is targeted at e-cigarettes whose nicotine is derived from tobacco, not tobacco itself. Other comments expressed concern that the word “derived” would not be well understood by the majority of consumers and introduced unnecessary complexity. They also noted that the statement that the nicotine is derived from tobacco does not provide information that is relevant to the user’s health. One comment suggested a number of changes to the proposed addiction warning, including a simpler alternative: “WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.”

——(Response) FDA agrees with concerns using the word “derived.” FDA has concluded that the suggested warning statement “WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical” is a more appropriate warning label because it provides an accurate warning for both products that contain leaf tobacco and products that contain nicotine derived from tobacco. It is also clearer and does not introduce unnecessarily complex terms that may ~~confuse~~ [make it more difficult for consumers to understand and appreciate the risks of addiction](#). Similarly, FDA is revising the alternative statement to read “This product is made from tobacco.” to remove use of the word “derived” which may not be easily understood.

However, FDA disagrees with comments stating that this warning should not be required on pipe tobacco packages because pipe tobacco contains nicotine, which is the primary addictive constituent in tobacco products.

Thus, FDA has changed § 1143.3(a)(1) to require that for cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products other than cigars, it is unlawful for any person to manufacture, package, sell, offer to sell, distribute, or import for sale or distribution within the United States such product unless the tobacco product bears the following required warning statement on each product package label: “WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.”

11. Addictiveness Warning

(Comment [263](#)) One comment stated that the need to inform consumers about the addictiveness of nicotine has been implicitly recognized by a number of manufacturers of e-cigarette products. The comment stated that a recent investigation by the staff of 11 U.S. Senators and Representatives of the practices of [nine](#) of the largest e-cigarette manufacturers revealed that, although their product warning labels “lack uniformity and may confuse consumers,” [6](#) of the 9 companies included some form of nicotine warning as part of their packaging or instructions for use, in addition to the nicotine warning these companies included to satisfy California’s Proposition 65 ([see](#) Ref. [236](#), [Durbin](#)[31](#)). Although the warnings are not as comprehensive as FDA’s required health warnings in terms of size and prominence, they reflect the companies’ own recognition that their products are addictive and that consumers should be informed of their addictive properties.

_____(Response) Requiring health warnings on all newly deemed tobacco products will help ~~eliminate consumer confusion about~~ consumers better understand and appreciate the addictive properties of these products.

(Comment 264) Some comments questioned whether large cigars, particularly premium cigars, should be required to carry an addiction warning because users do not inhale the cigar smoke.

(Response) Regardless of whether cigar smokers inhale, they are still subject to the addictive effects through nicotine absorption (~~Ref. 25, Rodriguez; Ref. 74, Weglicki~~). Refs. 32, 34. Cigar smoke dissolves in saliva, allowing the smoker to absorb sufficient nicotine to satisfy his or her cravings without needing to inhale (~~Ref. 74, Weglicki~~). create dependence, even if the smoke is not inhaled (Refs. 34, 35). Therefore, youth consumers using premium or other cigars could be subject can become addicted to cigars given the addictiveness absorption of nicotine, which can lead to increased cigar smoking and dual use even if they do not inhale. Accordingly, FDA finds that it is appropriate for the protection of the public health to require this warning on all cigars.

12. Alternative Statement/Certification for Products Without Nicotine: "This product is derived from tobacco."

_____(Comment 265) Several comments expressed concern about requiring a tobacco product that does not contain nicotine to have an alternate health warning stating that, "this product is derived from tobacco." These comments stated that future products that are not derived from tobacco would fall outside of FDA's jurisdiction and, therefore, would not be required to include this statement on product packages.

_____(Response) FDA agrees. If a product is not made or derived from tobacco, it would not be ~~a tobacco product under~~required to bear the ~~FD&C Act and, consequently, would not need to include the alternate~~alternative statement. However, if a product is made or derived from tobacco but does not contain nicotine, the product is required to bear the alternative statement. As discussed in section XVI.B of this document, FDA is revising this alternative statement to read "This product is made from tobacco."

_____(Comment [266](#)) Several comments stated that FDA should not permit use of the alternate statement "This product is derived from tobacco" because there are studies showing instances of e-cigarette products being labeled as zero nicotine and actually containing nicotine (~~Ref. 105, Gon 13; Ref. 131, Trehy~~Refs. [20](#), [170](#)).

_____(Response) FDA disagrees. If a tobacco product manufacturer has mislabeled its product to indicate that it does not contain nicotine when in fact it actually does, the manufacturer will be subject to enforcement action for misbranding and the product will be required to bear the addictiveness warning (instead of the alternative statement).

_____(Comment [267](#)) A few comments suggested that the alternative warning statement will cause consumer confusion because most people believe nicotine causes cancer and the alternative statement suggests there is a difference in the health risks based on solely the presence of nicotine. Other comments stated that the alternative statement should not use the term "tobacco product" because e-cigarettes do not contain tobacco leaf. These comments also stated that the words "tobacco product" could also potentially cause confusion because consumers do not consider e-cigarettes to be tobacco products.

_____(Response) FDA disagrees that the language in the alternative statement will cause confusion. The alternative statement does not use the term "tobacco product" and does

not state that any ENDS product contains tobacco. Instead, the alternative statement included with this final rule states: ~~“This product is made from tobacco.”~~

FDA is not aware of any currently marketed tobacco product that does not contain nicotine. If such a product is introduced in the future, FDA believes it is important that both consumers and retailers be alerted that, although it may not contain nicotine, it is nevertheless a tobacco product. From a public health perspective, FDA believes that it is important to convey this factual information to consumers because tobacco products (i.e., products made or derived from tobacco) could contain other addictive chemicals (like anabasine or nornicotine) and/or dangerous toxicants and can be psychologically addictive as well. For example, users of de-nicotinized cigarettes consistently report a significant degree of subjective satisfaction (~~Ref. 131A, Brauer; Ref. 131B, Butschky, Ref. 131C Pickworth~~).~~Refs. 265, 266, 267~~). The alternative warning statement is especially important in light of the recent proliferation of novel tobacco products (e.g., dissolvables that may appear like candy) that do not resemble traditional tobacco products, and therefore, which consumers may not know are made from tobacco. As the comments noted, some consumers are not even aware that e-cigarettes are tobacco products.

FDA believes that the fact that a product without nicotine is made from tobacco is important factual information that should be conveyed to both consumers and retailers. In addition to providing consumers with significant information that could affect their health, the statement will help ensure that retailers are aware that the product is and must be treated as a tobacco product. This will result in increased retailer compliance with the minimum age and photo identification requirements, as well as other applicable requirements. FDA believes that this factual alternative statement is the simplest, least burdensome, and yet effective way to inform both consumers and retailers that, despite the absence of nicotine, the product is still a

tobacco product that, like other tobacco products, may not be purchased by or sold to persons under the age of [eighteen](#)¹⁸ and requires the presentation and examination of a photo identification card.

13. Warning: Cigars are Not a Safe Alternative to Cigarettes

——(Comment [268](#)) A few comments noted that evidence indicates there is a widespread perception, particularly among young people, that cigars are less hazardous than cigarettes and this perception may be contributing to the increased incidence of cigar smoking. According to the comments, one study found that adult cigar smokers in general are three times more likely to believe cigars are a safe alternative to cigarettes compared to those who do not smoke cigars (Ref. [237](#), [Nyman268](#)). They also cited an online survey of college students at six colleges in the southeastern United States, which found that smokers of little cigars and cigarillos “[”were more likely to report perceiving the harm of little cigars, cigarillos, and cigars to be less than that of cigarettes”](#) when compared to nonusers (Ref. [238](#), [Sterling269](#)). In addition, a study of middle school and high school students in Massachusetts found that 34.9 percent of current youth cigar users agreed that “[”cigars are not as bad for you as cigarettes,”](#) while only 12.2 percent of the total study population of students agreed with the statement (Ref. [239](#), [Soldz270](#)). The comments also cited a similar study that included a focus group study of 230 middle school, high school, and college students, which found that 30 percent of teen cigar users made the statement that, compared to cigarettes, cigars are less risky, and only 10 percent of teens with no cigar experience made that statement (Ref. [240](#), [OIG271](#)).

——(Response) FDA agrees that there is [an unsubstantiated](#) perception, especially among young people, that cigars are less hazardous than cigarettes. ~~For example, in a survey of high school students, 46.3 percent of participants believed cigars are less addictive and less harmful than cigarettes (Ref.~~

~~231, Smith). Also, in a qualitative study prepared for Health Canada consisting of smokeless tobacco, cigars, and pipe users between the ages of 16 and 60 plus, most large cigar smokers thought that their product was less addictive than cigarettes or not addictive (see 79 FR at all because they smoked for pleasure or did not smoke daily (Ref. 241 at 1, 40; Createc). Small cigar smokers in this study were split as to whether they believed their product of choice was addictive (Ref. 241 at 1, 40; Createc).23158). This warning requirement will help to correct consumers understand and appreciate the consumer misperception that risks of cigars are safe alternatives to cigarettes.~~

14. Warning: Tobacco Smoke Increases the Risk of Lung Cancer and Heart Disease, Even in Nonsmokers

~~_____~~(Comment [269](#)) The comments differed as to whether the warning ~~“Tobacco Smoke Increases the Risk of Lung Cancer and Heart Disease, Even in Nonsmokers”~~ was appropriate. Some comments thought that the health warning was appropriate. At least one noted that a causal relationship exists between secondhand smoke exposure and lung cancer among lifetime nonsmokers, and individuals living with smokers had a 20 to 30 percent increase in the risk of developing lung cancer from secondhand exposure (Ref. [2472](#) at 445, ~~06 SG~~). They stated that, since all cigars produce higher levels of toxicants than cigarette smoke, the science clearly supports the proposed warning.

However, several other comments stated that the scientific evidence does not support the claim that "secondhand smoke causes premature death and disease in youth and in adults who do not smoke." One of these comments stated that the epidemiological links between "being married to a smoker" and increased disease are tenuous at best. While these comments agreed that on a per-stick basis, cigars can produce larger amounts of environmental tobacco smoke than do cigarettes, they stated that it is not accurate to conclude that this exposes household members to a considerable involuntary health risk.

_____(Response) FDA agrees with the comments stating that this warning is appropriate for the protection of the public health. It is well established that secondhand smoke causes premature death and disease in youth and in adults who do not smoke (Ref. [2472](#) at 445, [532,06-SG](#)). Adult exposure to secondhand smoke has immediate adverse effects on the cardiovascular system and causes lung cancer and coronary heart disease (id.). Tobacco smoke contains over 7,000 compounds, and there are more than 70 carcinogens in sidestream and mainstream smoke generated from cigars (~~Ref. 29, 06-SG; Ref. 27, Mon. 9; Ref. 24, 14 SG~~;[Refs. 9, 70, 273](#)). Mainstream cigar smoke is the smoke that one draws into his or her mouth from the butt end or mouthpiece of a cigar; whereas sidestream cigar smoke is the smoke emitted from the burning cone of a cigar during the interval between puffs (Ref. [2769](#) at 65,~~Mon. 9~~). Cigar smoke "tar" appears to be at least as carcinogenic as cigarette smoke "tar" (Ref. [29,06 SG272](#)). The Surgeon General recently reiterated that cigar smoke contains the same toxic substances as cigarette smoke, with varying concentrations of these constituents found in different types and sizes of cigars (Ref. [2769](#) at 17-18,~~Mon. 9~~; Ref. [29272](#) at 362,~~06-SG~~).

There is a causal relationship between lung cancer and secondhand smoke. Exposure of nonsmokers to secondhand smoke also has been shown to cause a significant increase in urinary levels of metabolites of tobacco-specific nitrosamines, a carcinogen that specifically links exposure to secondhand smoke with an increased risk for lung cancer (~~id.~~[Ref. 69](#) at 65). All cigars produce higher levels of carcinogenic tobacco-specific nitrosamines per gram in mainstream cigar smoke than cigarettes produce in mainstream cigarette smoke (id. at 75-76). Cigar smoke also produces measurable amounts of lead and cadmium (id. at 75-76). Little cigars with filter tips and regular cigars contain higher levels of certain nitrosamines in sidestream smoke than do filtered tip cigarettes (Ref. [2769](#) at 81,~~Mon. 9~~).

The Surgeon General has reiterated that there is considerable evidence that certain nitrosamines are major factors in the development of lung cancer (Ref. [29272](#) at 30, ~~06-SG~~). According to the Surgeon General, the evidence is sufficient to infer a causal relationship between secondhand smoke exposure and lung cancer among lifetime nonsmokers (Ref. [29272](#) at 434, ~~06-SG~~). Individuals living with smokers have a 20 to 30 percent increase in risk of developing lung cancer from secondhand exposure (id. at 445). Although data particular to cigars are not available, FDA believes it is reasonable to expect that cigar smoke would produce similar effects as cigarette smoke, given that data from the ~~NCI~~[National Cancer Institute \(NCI\)](#) cigar monograph shows that some carcinogens determined to cause lung cancer are present at higher levels in cigar smoke than in cigarette smoke and are present at levels comparable to other carcinogens linked to lung cancer (Ref. [2769](#) at 76-93, ~~Mon-9~~).

There is also a causal relationship between secondhand smoke and heart disease. The health warning statement indicating that tobacco smoke can cause heart disease is thoroughly supported by the evidence reiterated in reports from the Surgeon General. FDA believes it is reasonable to conclude that this finding would produce similar effects with respect to secondhand cigar smoke exposure based on the similar smoke profiles for cigars and cigarettes, the risk of coronary heart disease associated with active cigar smoking, and the low levels of toxicant exposure that can cause coronary heart disease (Ref. [29, 06-SG272](#)).

In a 2006 Surgeon General's report regarding the health effects of exposure to secondhand smoke, the evidence demonstrated that exposure of adults to secondhand smoke had immediate adverse effects on the cardiovascular system and caused coronary heart disease (id. at 11). Secondhand smoke increased the risk of coronary heart disease nearly as much as active heavy smoking. In fact, the estimated increase in risk of coronary heart disease from exposure to

secondhand smoke was 25 to 30 percent above that of unexposed persons (id. at 519; Ref. ~~242273~~ at 532, ~~Johnston~~). Based on these data, the Surgeon General concluded that "the evidence is sufficient to infer a causal relationship between exposure to secondhand smoke and increased risks of coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality among both men and women" (Ref. ~~29272~~ at 15, ~~06-SG~~). The IOM agreed, concluding that there is a causal relationship between secondhand smoke exposure and cardiovascular disease, as well as a causal relationship between secondhand smoke exposure and acute myocardial infarction (Ref. ~~243275~~ at 219, ~~IOM 10~~).

Even a relatively brief exposure to secondhand tobacco smoke can lead to heart disease, as some studies have demonstrated. The IOM found there is compelling circumstantial evidence that a relatively brief exposure to secondhand smoke can bring about an acute coronary event (~~Ref. 243id.~~ at 220, ~~IOM 10~~).

Given that the effects of secondhand smoke on coronary heart disease are linked to the combustion of tobacco itself, FDA concludes that exposure to secondhand cigar smoke can cause the same or similarly dangerous effects as exposure to secondhand cigarette smoke. Thus, FDA believes the warning statement that ~~"Tobacco smoke increases the risk of lung cancer and heart disease, even in nonsmokers"~~ is appropriate for the protection of the public health.

15. Warning: Cigar Smoking Can Cause Cancers of the Mouth and Throat, Even if You Do Not Inhale

~~————~~(Comment ~~270~~) Several comments disagreed with FDA~~2~~'s rationale for the warning ~~"Cigar smoking can cause cancers of the mouth and throat, even if you do not inhale."~~ These comments noted that the rationale depends almost exclusively on Monograph 9 from the National Cancer Institute, which did not distinguish among cigar types and, therefore, should not

be required for premium cigars. They also stated that cigars are safe products if users do not inhale the smoke, as illustrated by experimental data showing minimal toxicity because cigar smokers do not inhale (~~Ref. 25, Rodriguez; Ref. 41, Funck~~Refs. 32, 74).

——(Response) FDA disagrees. The fact that Monograph ~~No.~~ 9 did not distinguish among types of cigars does not mean that it only applies to certain cigar types. In fact, the statement in the Monograph applied to all types of cigars. Any cigar use exposes the mouth and throat to tobacco smoke and can cause several different types of cancer even without inhalation (~~Ref. 27, Mon. 9; Ref. 72, Wyss~~Refs. 69, 104). For example, one study found an increased risk of head and neck cancers for those who do not smoke cigarettes but had previously smoked cigars (~~Ref. 72, Wyss~~104).

While inhaling cigar smoke poses higher risk rates than not inhaling, significant risk still exists for those who do not inhale. In addition, most cigar smokers do inhale some amount of smoke and are not aware that they are doing it, including those who do not intend to inhale (~~Ref. 55, McDonald~~33).

16. Reproductive Health Warning for Cigars

In the proposed deeming rule, FDA proposed to require four of the five warnings already included on most cigar packages and in most cigar advertisements as a result of settlement agreements between the FTC and the seven largest U.S. cigar manufacturers. (See, e.g., In re Swisher International, Inc., Docket No. C-3964.) FDA proposed not to require the fifth warning (SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight) because although cigarette smoke causes these health effects (and cigar smoke is similar to cigarette smoke), the Agency stated it was not aware of studies specifically

linking cigars to all three reproductive effects. FDA requested comment on its proposal to require the use of only four of the five current FTC warnings for cigars.

During the comment period, FDA received several comments encouraging FDA to reconsider its proposal and finalize the rule to include all five warnings. In response to these comments, FDA reconsidered whether to require use of the FTC reproductive health warning.

While FDA agrees that FTC's general warning statement "Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight" is a factually correct statement and recognizes that cigar smoke is similar to cigarette smoke in both chemical content and effects, on balance, FDA prefers a warning that is specific to cigars. Therefore, FDA has reconsidered the issue and is including a fifth warning statement to read "WARNING: Cigar Use While Pregnant Can Harm You and Your Baby." which is well supported by direct evidence and is appropriate for the protection of the public health. However, FDA is also allowing manufacturers to use the FTC warning, which is appropriate for the protection of the public health, as an optional alternative to the new reproductive health warning.

The FTC warning is about tobacco smoke generally, and the statement itself is well supported by scientific evidence. Researchers have confirmed that smoking causes negative effects on fertility, pregnancies, and infants and children born to women who smoke. For example, cigarette smoking increases rates of preterm delivery, shortened gestation, and orofacial clefts, and studies have indicated that women who smoke are twice as likely to have low birth weight infants as women who do not smoke (Ref. 4J9 at p. 499; Ref. 275 at pp. 569, 576, 04 SG; Ref. 28 at p. 499, 14 SG). In addition, scientific evidence supports that women who smoke have an increased risk of infertility and stillbirth (Ref. 72A, 01 SG276). It also causes an increased risk of sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) for infants whose mothers smoke during

and after pregnancy (Ref. ~~4J275~~ at pp. 587 and 601, ~~04 SG~~). In addition, scientific evidence supports the conclusion that cigar smoke has similarly toxic effects. NCI's Monograph ~~No. 9~~ states:

there is no reason to expect that cigar smoke would be any less toxic for the mother or fetus. Regular cigar smoking, particularly with inhalation, should be presumed to have risks similar to that of cigarette smoking for the pregnant smoker.

(Ref. ~~3I69~~ at 10, ~~Mon. 9~~). On balance, FDA prefers a warning that is specific to cigars, so FDA is finalizing this rule with different warning language specifically relating to cigars that the Agency concludes is appropriate for the protection of the public health. However, given the accuracy of the original FTC warning on its face, given that cigar smoke contains and delivers the same harmful constituents as cigarette smoke, and given extensive evidence that cigar smoke has similar physiological effects on the body, it is also appropriate for the protection of the public health for FDA to allow the use of the optional alternative (SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight) to the reproductive health warning.

FDA selected the new warning language for several reasons. First, FDA finds that this warning is supported by direct scientific evidence that nicotine adversely affects maternal and fetal health (Ref. ~~6, 14 SG9~~). Second, this warning uses the term "cigar use" rather than "tobacco use," because the warning would appear on cigars only. Third, FDA finds that this is powerful and comprehensible phrasing, which will be understandable to a wide audience.

Nevertheless, FDA recognizes that many cigar manufacturers currently use FTC's truthful warning on the reproductive risks of tobacco smoke. Therefore, FDA is also allowing an

optional alternative (SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight) to the reproductive health warning to comply with the warning requirements for cigars. FDA expects that allowing the optional alternative will benefit entities bound by the FTC consent decrees.

~~————(Comment) Several comments encouraged FDA to include the FTC warning, “SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth And Low Birth Weight” on cigar packages and in cigar advertisements.(Comment 271) Comments from cigar makers contended that because the NPRM and the FTC consent orders both required five warnings, but not the same five warnings, manufacturers would not be able to use one set of warnings to comply with both regimes. As one comment put it, "For example, manufacturers could not ensure a random display of FDA’s five warnings ‘in as equal a number of times as is possible,’ as required by the NPRM, while including the reproductive effects warning required by FTC in that random distribution." This comment went on to state that a reproductive warning for cigars is also required by California’s Proposition 65, and added that in response to an inquiry from FTC at the time of the FTC consent orders, the California Attorney General agreed that "compliance with the FTC Consent Order will result in compliance with Proposition 65." (Comments of Altria Client Services Inc. on behalf of John Middleton Co., FDA-2014-N-0189-79814.)~~

Other comments urged that there is scientific support to require a reproductive warning for cigars. For example, one comment asserted that this warning is based on data related to cigarette smoke, and given that cigarette smoke is very similar to cigar smoke, and in many cases, cigar smoke is more dangerous than cigarette smoke, it is a logical conclusion that this warning is appropriate for cigars. Another comment noted that the 2012²⁴ U.S. Surgeon General

Report on tobacco use devotes an entire chapter to the health effects of nicotine and documents that nicotine crosses the placenta and concentrates in the fetus (Ref. [28,14-SG9](#)). The comment also noted that nicotine constricts vessels and thus limits the amount of nutrients and oxygen delivered to the fetus.

——(Response) While FDA is unaware of data directly and explicitly linking cigar smoke to such reproductive issues, FDA recognizes the similarities between cigarette smoke and cigar smoke. On balance, FDA prefers a warning specific to cigars. However, as noted [above previously](#), FDA is allowing an optional alternative (SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight) to the reproductive health warning to comply with the warning requirements for cigars. FDA expects that allowing the optional alternative will benefit entities bound by the FTC consent decrees.

——(Comment [272](#)) One comment expressed concern that the exclusion of the reproductive effects warning in a final rule (i.e., the FTC warning that states [“Tobacco Use Increases The Risk Of Infertility, Stillbirth And Low Birth Weight”](#)), and the subsequent advertising and sale of cigar packages without the warning, could result in claims that the FTC consent orders have been violated. [The comment](#) requested that FDA ensure that the absence of such warning in any final rule will not result in a claim that the FTC consent orders have been violated.

——(Response) In the [proposed rule NPRM](#), FDA indicated that it planned to consult with FTC [“to harmonize national requirements for health warnings on cigar product packages and in advertisements”](#) (79 [Fed Reg FR 23142](#) at 23163). As noted [above previously](#), FDA has given careful consideration to the comments and the scientific evidence on this issue and has decided to require a reproductive health warning for cigars, [and the Agency has discussed this](#)

[evidence and decision with FTC](#). At this time, FDA is not aware of any concerns from FTC regarding the cigar warnings included with this final rule.

17. Rotation of Warnings on Advertisements

——(Comment [273](#)) Several comments stated that rotational warning requirements should be simple, streamlined, and easily administrated, especially for small businesses. One comment suggested that it should be sufficient to print equal numbers of labels containing all six warnings and rely on the randomness of market distribution patterns without the administrative burden of demonstrating to FDA in a written rotational plan, and in subsequent facility inspections, that FDA can determine that each different warning was equally displayed to each consumer for each brand during a 12-month period.

——(Response) While FDA recognizes that the random display and distribution of warning statements on cigar product packages and the rotation of statements on advertisements can result in administrative and financial costs for cigar manufacturers, FDA does not believe it would be sufficient to rely on the randomness of market distribution patterns. Relying on random distribution would not ensure that the different health warning messages are reaching as many individuals as possible, and the health warnings may grow stale from overuse if repeated too many times for the same individual. Thus, FDA is requiring warning statements for cigar packages to be randomly displayed in each 12-month period in as equal a number of times as possible on each brand of cigar. The required warning statements also are required to be randomly distributed in all areas of the United States in which the product is marketed. The random display and distribution of required warning statements for cigar packages must be carried out in accordance with a warning plan submitted by the cigar manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer to, and approved by FDA.

FDA is also requiring that the required warning statements be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar, regardless of whether the cigar is sold in product packaging. This rotation of warning statements in cigar advertisements also must be done in accordance with a warning plan submitted to FDA by the cigar manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer to, and approved by FDA. As stated in §§ § 1143.5(c)(3) of this final rule, each person required to randomly display and distribute or rotate warnings in accordance with an FDA-approved plan under this part must submit a proposed warning plan to FDA no later than either 12 months after [date of publication of final rule], or 12 months before advertising or commercially marketing a product that is subject to such requirement, whichever is later. This 12-month submission timeframe provides cigar entities time to develop and submit warning plans to FDA. FDA encourages firms to submit warning plans any time within this 12-months period, and FDA plans to begin reviewing warning plans as soon as they are received. FDA is establishing this effective date at 12 months before the effective date of the required warnings for cigars described under part 1143 (24 months after the publication of the final rule) because the Agency anticipates that there will be a need for communication with submitters during its review of the warning plan submissions. This submission effective date also helps FDA to ensure that its surveillance program for compliance with the warning label requirements under ~~section-§~~ § 1143 is implemented as of the effective date of 24 months after the publication of the final rule.

FDA intends to work with manufacturers, importers, distributors, or retailers to get an approved warning plan in place. Cigar entities may wish to contact FDA to discuss the submission of their warning plans in order to make the approval process more orderly and efficient. FDA's review and approval of a warning plan enables the Agency to more

effectively conduct surveillance and inspection activities to ensure compliance with the warning label requirements under ~~section §~~ 1143, once effective, by providing a guide regarding the expected rotation of the various warnings as required by the regulation. In addition, the review and approval process will help manufacturers, importers, distributors, and retailers understand the requirements under this part; ~~assist cigar entities that may have previously submitted warning plans to the FTC to better transition to FDA's regulatory processes;~~ and help cigar entities minimize potential economic loss from the commercial distribution of nonconforming products in the market.

Additionally, FDA believes that it will be able to complete its review of the submitted warning plans by the effective date of the required cigar warnings. In FDA's²¹ experience with the review of warning plans for smokeless tobacco products, no smokeless tobacco product manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer was delayed or prevented from advertising or distributing smokeless tobacco products due to FDA's²¹ review of its warning plan, and FDA does not anticipate a different outcome here. FDA intends to issue a [Guidance Document guidance document within 12 months after publication of the final rule](#) to assist the cigar industry with the requirements for the submission of warning plans. In addition, if FDA receives a higher volume of warning plans than anticipated, and determines that it will not be able to review and approve submitted warning plans by the 24-month effective date, FDA may also consider implementing a compliance policy to ensure that cigar entities are not delayed or prevented from advertising or distributing ~~smokeless tobacco products~~[cigars](#) due to FDA's²¹ review of their warning plans.

These requirements are consistent with those established by Congress in the Tobacco Control Act for currently regulated tobacco products. Section 3 of CSTHEA (as amended by section 204 of the Tobacco Control Act) requires²² the random distribution and rotation of

warnings for smokeless tobacco products. Further, rotation of cigar warning labelsstatements already occurs under the FTC consent decrees. The WHO also has recognized the need to rotate health warnings for tobacco products. The WHO's FCTC,¹⁹ ~~an evidence-based treaty that provides of a strong worldwide consensus regarding~~ a regulatory strategy for addressing the serious negative impacts of tobacco products, calls for warnings that are “rotating” and "large, clear, visible and legible" (WHO FCTC article 11.1(b)).

——(Comment 274) One comment stated that the proposed requirement that the warning statements be permanent or irremovable is ambiguous and does not specifically address whether labels applied by manufacturers (which manufacturers intend not to be removed but technically are removable) are compliant with the rule.

——(Response) Section 1143.9 requires that the health warnings be indelibly printed on or permanently affixed to packages and advertisements. If a warning statement can be removed, then it is not permanent and does not meet the requirements of § 1143.9. Removable or impermanent warnings on packages and in advertisements could become separated from the package or advertisement and thus would not meet the requirement that they be conspicuous on the package or advertisement. Removable warnings would run counter to FDA's purpose of effectively conveying risk information to consumers.

18. Warnings for E-Liquids

——(Comment 275) Several comments recommended that FDA require multiple and rotating warnings on all e-liquids that contain nicotine. They stated the potential consequences of nicotine use need to be listed explicitly, as explicit warnings are associated with greater

¹⁹~~There are 168 signatories to the WHO's FCTC as of August 2010. At this time, the United States is a signatory but has not ratified this treaty.~~

perception of potential danger than vague or general warnings (Ref. ~~245, Wogalter~~, 277).

Suggestions for e-cigarette warning label content included: (1) Toxicity and potential lethality of nicotine; (2) danger to skin and eyes; (3) danger from ingestion of nicotine liquids; (4) other potential health hazards, including burns and explosions, from ENDS use; (5) keep out of reach of children; (6) information about the heating mechanism (coil) and energy source (battery); (7) information about overheating or overuse, including risk of fire (if applicable); (8) warnings or precautions about use in or near water as well as any electrical shocks; and (9) warnings and instructions about replacing components and parts.

Another comment believed the Agency should consider requiring manufacturers of e-cigarettes to provide additional information for consumers in e-cigarette packaging, and as appropriate, for other newly deemed tobacco products. The comment suggested that this information could be presented using communication principles similar to those used in “Drug Facts” for over-the-counter drugs and should include information such as the nicotine addiction warning, age limits, warnings about danger to children and pets, and information about use during pregnancy and breast feeding.

——(Response) At this time, FDA finds it is appropriate for the protection of the public health to require the warning regarding the addictiveness of nicotine on ENDS. However, as we have stated previously, this deeming regulation is a foundational rule, affording the Agency the ability to publish additional regulations as necessary and appropriate for the protection of the public health. FDA remains concerned about all of the health risks and hazards listed in this comment and will be focusing efforts and resources on future efforts to prevent nicotine poisoning in both users and nonusers. Therefore, FDA issued an ANPRM prior to this deeming rule, seeking comments, data, research, or other information that may inform regulatory

actions FDA might take with respect to nicotine exposure warnings and the use of child-resistant packaging. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance for public comment, which when final will represent FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including recommendations for exposure warnings and child-resistant packaging that would help to support a showing that the marketing of a product is appropriate for the protection of public health.

——(Comment [276](#)) Several comments noted that FDA should establish alternative methods for providing health warnings on tobacco products with small packages, such as e-cigarettes. One comment noted that FDA has created special rules for small food packages and small over-the-counter drug packages where the size of the package prevents the manufacturer from satisfying certain mandatory labeling requirements. This comment suggested that FDA implement similar alternatives for displaying warnings on small e-cigarette packages, and that the warning on advertising materials should not exceed 10 percent of the area of the advertisement. Another comment asserted that many e-liquids are packaged in relatively small 10 milliliter vials and that FDA should consider package size and design when mandating health warnings.

——(Response) To address the issue of tobacco products with small packages, we have added § 1143.3(d) to this final rule, which states that a tobacco product that would otherwise be required to bear the warning in § 1143.3(a)(1) but is too small or otherwise unable to accommodate a label with sufficient space to bear the information is exempt from compliance with the requirement provided the information and specifications required under § 1143.3(a)(1) and (a)(2) appear on the carton or other outer container or wrapper if the carton, outer container,

or wrapper has sufficient space to bear such information, or appears on a tag otherwise permanently affixed to the tobacco product package. -In these cases, the carton, outer container, wrapper, or tag will serve as the location of the principal display panels. For example, FDA is aware that e-liquids are frequently sold in small vials that may be unable to accommodate a label with sufficient space to bear a health warning. ~~In this case~~In addition, small boxes of replacement cartridges will be required to carry a warning if they contain nicotine or tobacco, or are otherwise made or derived from tobacco, and, therefore, are covered tobacco products. Such products also may not have sufficient space to bear a health warning. In these cases, a manufacturer could include such information on the carton or other outer container or wrapper if the carton, outer container, or wrapper has sufficient space to bear the information, or appear on a tag that is permanently affixed to the tobacco product package. With respect to the part of this comment stating that health warnings on advertising materials should not exceed 10 percent of the area of the advertisement, see [the NPRM \(79 FR 23142 at 23164\)](#) for additional discussion regarding the need for prominent health warnings.

XVII. National Environmental Policy Act

The Agency has carefully considered the potential environmental effects of deeming products to be subject to the FD&C Act and the age and identification restrictions. FDA has concluded that the actions will not have a significant impact on the human environment, and that an environmental impact statement is not required. The Agency's finding of no significant impact and the evidence supporting that finding, contained in an environmental assessment, may be seen in the Division of Dockets Management (see ADDRESSES) between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m., Monday through Friday.

FDA's responses to comments regarding the proposed Environmental Assessment are included in the following paragraphs.

——(Comment [277](#)) One comment stated that FDA erroneously relied upon the environmental impact analyses required by the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), suggesting that the Agency should review and analyze the total environmental impact of the rule.

——(Response) FDA disagrees. The analysis of a regulation's environmental impact is governed by NEPA, which requires FDA to assess, as an integral part of its ~~decision~~ ~~making~~~~decisionmaking~~ process, the environmental impacts of any proposed Federal action to ascertain the environmental consequences of that action on the quality of the human environment and to ensure that the interested and affected public is appropriately informed. FDA satisfied these requirements with the preparation of a proposed environmental assessment and a final environmental assessment ~~included as Reference 246 for this final rule.~~([Ref. 278](#)).

——(Comment [278](#)) One comment requested that FDA issue a new Environmental Assessment due to ~~"~~the loss of irreplaceable cultural historical resources that directly relate to the heritage of the [Ybor City National Historic Landmark] District, the City of Tampa, the State of Florida[, and] the United States of America~~."~~

——(Response) FDA denies this request. FDA prepared its Environmental Assessment in accordance with the requirements of 21 CFR part 25. FDA properly accounted for all potential environmental consequences of that action on the quality of the human environment. Therefore, a new Environmental Assessment is unnecessary and contrary to the requirements of NEPA. ([Ref. 279](#)).

XVIII. Analysis of Impacts

~~FDA has~~We have examined the impacts of the final rule under Executive Order 12866, Executive Order 13563, the Regulatory Flexibility Act (5 U.S.C. 601-612), and the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act of 1995 (Public Law 104-4). Executive Orders 12866 and 13563 direct ~~Agencies~~us to assess all costs and benefits of available regulatory alternatives and, when regulation is necessary, to select regulatory approaches that maximize net benefits (including potential economic, environmental, public health and safety, and other advantages; distributive impacts; and equity). ~~The Agency believes~~We have developed a comprehensive Economic Analysis of Impacts that assesses the impacts of the final rule. We believe that this final rule is a significant regulatory action ~~under~~as defined by Executive Order 12866.

The Regulatory Flexibility Act requires ~~Agencies~~us to analyze regulatory options that would minimize any significant impact of a rule on small entities. ~~FDA has determined~~We find that ~~this~~the final rule will have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.

~~Section 202(a) of the~~The Unfunded Mandates Reform Act of 1995 (section 202(a)) requires ~~that Agencies~~us to prepare a written statement, which includes an assessment of anticipated costs and benefits, before ~~proposing~~issuing "any rule that includes any Federal mandate that may result in the expenditure by State, local, and tribal governments, in the aggregate, or by the private sector, of \$100,000,000 or more (adjusted annually for inflation) in any one year." The current threshold after adjustment for inflation is \$144 million, using the most current (2014) Implicit Price Deflator for the Gross Domestic Product. ~~FDA expects~~thisThis final rule ~~to~~would result in a 1-year expenditure that meets or exceeds this amount.

This final rule finalizes ~~Option 1 of the~~proposed ruleNPRM, which deems all products meeting the statutory definition of ~~"tobacco product,"~~" except accessories of a newly deemed

tobacco product, to be subject to chapter IX of the ~~Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act~~ (FD&C Act).²⁰ This final rule also finalizes additional provisions that would apply to certain newly deemed products as well as to certain other tobacco products. Once deemed, tobacco products become subject to the FD&C Act and its implementing regulations. The FD&C Act requirements that will apply to newly deemed products include establishment registration and product listing, ingredient listing, submissions prior to the introduction of new products, and labeling requirements. Free samples of newly deemed tobacco products will also be prohibited. The additional provisions of this final rule include minimum age and identification requirements, vending machine restrictions, and required warning statements for packages and advertisements.

While FDA currently has authority to regulate cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco under chapter IX of the FD&C Act, under the final rule, all additional tobacco products that meet the statutory definition, except accessories of those newly deemed tobacco products, will be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act and its implementing regulations.²⁰ These products include cigars, pipe tobacco, waterpipe tobacco, ~~electronic nicotine delivery systems~~ (ENDS) (including e-cigarettes), and other novel tobacco products such as certain dissolvable products and gels. These products further include components and parts of the newly deemed products, including pipes, e-liquids, atomizers, batteries, cartomizers (atomizer plus replaceable fluid-filled cartridge), tank systems, flavors for e-liquids, vials that contain e-liquids, programmable software, flavor enhancers for waterpipe tobacco, waterpipe

²⁰ As stated in section 201(rr) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act in relevant part, a tobacco product: (1) Means any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product); and (2) Does not mean an article that is a drug under section 201(g)(1) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 321(g)(1)), a device under section 201(h) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 321(h)), or a combination product described in section 503(g) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 353(g)).

cooling attachments, water filtration base additives, flavored waterpipe tobacco charcoals, and waterpipe bowls, valves, hoses, and heads.

The final deeming action differs from most public health regulations in that it is an enabling regulation. In addition to directly applying the substantive requirements of chapter IX of the FD&C Act and its implementing regulations to newly deemed tobacco products, it enables FDA to issue further regulations related to such products that are appropriate for the protection of the public health. We expect that asserting our authority over these tobacco products will enable us to propose further regulatory action in the future as appropriate, and those actions will have their own costs and benefits. Without deeming these products to be subject to the FD&C Act, FDA would lack the authority to ~~collect~~require manufacturers to provide, for example, vital ingredient and health information about them. We would also lack the authority to take regulatory action with respect to them, if we determined it was appropriate to do so.

The direct benefits of making each of the newly deemed tobacco products subject to the requirements of chapter IX of the FD&C Act are difficult to quantify, and we cannot predict the size of these benefits at this time. Among other effects, new products will be subject to an evaluation to ensure they meet the appropriate public health standard for the pathway before they can be marketed, labeling cannot contain misleading statements, and FDA will be made aware of the ingredients in newly deemed tobacco products. If, without the final rule, new products would ~~be developed that~~ pose substantially greater health risks than those already on the market, the premarket requirements made effective by this final rule would ~~prevent~~keep such products from appearing on the market and worsening the health effects of tobacco product use. The warning statements required by this final rule will ~~provide information to help~~ consumers ~~about~~better understand and appreciate the risks and characteristics of tobacco products.

The final rule as a whole will impose costs in the form of registration, submission, and labeling requirements. Manufacturers of newly deemed products, as well as some manufacturers of currently-regulated products, will need to comply with the warning label provisions, which will impose additional costs, including costs for signs with warnings at point-of-sale for cigars sold singly without packaging. There will be potential costs for removing ~~noncompliantnon-compliant~~ point-of-sale advertising and complying with vending machine restrictions. ~~There will also be costs associated with the initial exit of non-grandfathered flavored products until such products are authorized to reenter.~~²¹

The primary estimate for the present value of total quantified costs over 20 years is approximately ~~\$1.0 billion~~988 million at a 3 percent discount rate and ~~\$860~~817 million at a 7 percent discount rate. The quantified costs of the final rule can also be expressed as annualized values, as shown in Table 1. ~~The quantified costs of the final rule can also be expressed as annualized values, as shown in Table 1.~~ Unquantified costs which may be attributable to this final rule include: some consumer costs for users of the newly deemed products due to loss of product variety or higher prices; recordkeeping costs for exporters of deemed tobacco products; compliance costs for components and parts other than complete pipes, waterpipes, and ENDS delivery systems; the cost of testing and reporting for HPHCs; the cost of any clinical testing that may potentially be conducted to support SE reports; market adjustment (friction) costs and lost producer surplus associated with product consolidation, exit of manufacturers, and the switch to pure retailing among retailers such as vape shops who currently engage in manufacturing activities.

²¹ ~~The term “flavored” here is used to refer to characterizing flavors other than tobacco. See the preamble to the final rule for additional information.~~

Table 5.--Summary of Quantified Costs Over 20 Years (\$ million)

	<u>Lower Bound</u> (3%)	<u>Primary</u> (3%)	<u>Upper Bound</u> (3%)	<u>Lower Bound</u> (7%)	<u>Primary</u> (7%)	<u>Upper Bound</u> (7%)
--	----------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------	----------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------

Table 1—

Summary of Quantified Costs Over 20 Years (\$ million)

	<u>Lower Bound</u> (3%)	<u>Primary</u> (3%)	<u>Upper Bound</u> (3%)	<u>Lower Bound</u> (7%)	<u>Primary</u> (7%)	<u>Upper Bound</u> (7%)
<u>Present Value of Private Sector Costs</u>	533.9	811.9	1,180.0	471.6	710.1	1,026.0
<u>Present Value of Private Sector Costs</u>	517.7	783.7	1,109.8	450.4	670.9	939.8
<u>Present Value of Government Costs¹</u>	204.6	204.6	204.6	145.7	145.7	145.7
<u>Present Value of Total Costs</u>	738.5	1,016.5	1,384.6	617.3	855.7	1,171.6
<u>Annualized Value of Private Sector Costs</u>	35.9	54.6	79.3	44.5	67.0	96.8
<u>Present Value of Total Costs</u>	722.3	988.2	1,314.4	596.1	816.5	1,085.4
<u>Annualized Value of Private Sector Costs</u>	34.8	52.7	74.6	42.5	63.3	88.7
<u>Annualized Value of Government Costs¹</u>	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8
<u>Annualized Value of Total Costs</u>	48.5	66.4	88.3	56.3	77.1	102.5

¹ FDA costs represent an opportunity cost, but this rule will not result in changes to overall FDA accounting costs, the size of the federal budget, or the total amount of tobacco industry user fees.

<u>Annualized Value of Total Costs</u>	49.6	68.3	93.1	58.3	80.8	110.6
-----------------------------------------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	--------------

¹ FDA costs represent an opportunity cost, but this rule will not result in changes to overall FDA accounting costs, the size of the federal budget, or the total amount of tobacco industry user fees.

Because it is not possible to compare benefits and costs directly when the benefits are not quantified, we employ a breakeven approach. For the reasons provided elsewhere in this preamble and in the analysis of impacts, FDA has concluded that the benefits of the final rule justify the costs.

In addition to the benefits and costs of this final rule, we assess the benefits and costs of three different approaches. These approaches consist of regulatory alternatives to the rule: exempt (i.e., alternatives to the rule) as well as enforcement options (i.e., periods of time during

which FDA does not intend to enforce certain requirements). First, we assess the regulatory alternative of exempting premium cigars from regulation, ~~change the~~. Second, we assess two hybrid regulatory alternatives/enforcement options of providing either a 36-month or 12-month compliance period for labeling changes ~~to 36 months, and change the compliance period for labeling changes to 12 months.~~. Lastly, we assess the enforcement option of not extending the premarket review compliance policy to new flavored tobacco products (other than tobacco flavored products).²² For the sake of simplicity only, we have referred to these four approaches as “alternatives to the rule.”

In addition to the above alternatives, comments discussed changing the grandfather date as an alternative. FDA has decided not to include this option in the analysis of alternatives because we determined that the Agency lacks the authority to change the grandfather date.

Primary estimates of the costs of the regulatory alternatives appear as present values and annualized values in ~~Table 2,~~table 6.

Table ~~2—6.~~6. Primary Estimate of Quantified Costs for Regulatory Alternatives (Present and Annualized Values, \$ million)¹

Alternative	Present Value (3%)	Present Value (7%)	Annualized Value (3%)	Annualized Value (7%)
1 -- Exempt Premium Cigars from Regulation	<u>984959</u>	<u>830794</u>	<u>6664</u>	<u>7875</u>
2a-- 36-month compliance period for labeling changes	<u>9968</u>	<u>837797</u>	<u>6765</u>	<u>7975</u>
<i>Final Rule <u>and Compliance Period</u></i>	<u>1,016988</u>	<u>856817</u>	<u>6866</u>	<u>8177</u>
2b--12-month compliance period for labeling changes	<u>1,069043</u>	<u>908871</u>	<u>7270</u>	<u>8682</u>
<u>3 – Do not extend the premarket review compliance policy to new flavored tobacco products</u>	<u>1,141</u>	<u>961</u>	<u>77</u>	<u>91</u>

1 Nonquantified benefits are described in the text.

²² Throughout the final RIA, any reference to “flavored tobacco products” means flavored products other than tobacco flavor.

In addition to the social costs described ~~above~~ in this document, the final rule would lead to private costs in the form of distributional effects, such as: reduced revenues for firms in affected sectors. ~~Additionally, if excise taxes on tobacco products remain at current levels,~~ annual, payment of user fees, and potential changes in tax revenues ~~would fall with reduced use.~~

Domestic tobacco product manufacturers, tobacco product importers, and vape shops are the businesses primarily affected by this rule; most of these businesses are small. We focus the quantitative analysis of small entities on manufacturers and importers of cigars and ENDS products. We note that most pipe tobacco and waterpipe tobacco manufacturers and importers are also small, and we expect the impact on them to be similar to the impact on cigar manufacturers and importers. Even though user fees are a transfer payment and not a societal cost, they are a cost from the standpoint of the cigar and pipe manufacturers who must pay them under this final rule and have been included in the estimated burden for cigar manufacturers and importers. ~~Estimated costs per cigar manufacturer or importer are \$2788,000 to \$432397,000 in the first year, \$276292,000 to \$395411,000 in the second year, and \$218235,000 to \$240257,000 in the third year. (The inclusion of user fees in these estimates will cause costs to be overstated for manufactures and importers who also manufacture currently regulated products. In addition, costs will vary by firm size as user fees are based on market share).~~ Estimated costs per ENDS manufacturer or importer are ~~\$531827,000 to \$780,000~~ 1.21 million in the first year, ~~\$443832,000 to \$572,000~~ 1.21 million in the second year, and ~~\$1722,000 to \$4164,000~~ in subsequent years. ~~(These costs exclude losses in producer surplus due to uncertainty about the proportion borne by pure manufacturers and the proportion borne by vape shops.)~~ Although we do not quantitatively examine the financial effects on vape shops, we ~~note~~ expect the proportion of vape shops that mix e-liquids may fall during the initial compliance policy period for

submission and FDA receipt of PMTAs. After this initial compliance policy period, we expect ~~the majority of that most~~ vape shops ~~to exit the market within 90 days after the effective date of this rule.~~ will continue to operate but those that have not already switched pure retailing will likely do so. Regulatory alternatives that would reduce costs are analyzed as potential regulatory relief options for small businesses.

The ~~full analysis~~Economic Analysis of ~~economic impacts~~Impacts of the final rule performed in accordance with Executive Order 12866, Executive Order 13563, the Regulatory Flexibility Act, and the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act is available ~~in~~ at <http://www.regulations.gov> under the docket number(s) for this final rule (Ref. 2048) and at <http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/ReportsManualsForms/Reports/EconomicAnalyses/default.htm> ~~>.~~

XIX. Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995

-This final rule contains information collection provisions that are subject to review by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) under the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 (PRA) (44 U.S.C. 3501-3520). The title, description, and respondent description of the information collection provisions are shown in the following paragraphs with an estimate of the annual reporting and recordkeeping burden. Included in the estimate is the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing each collection of information.

Title: Deeming Tobacco Products To Be Subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as Amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act; Restrictions on the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco Products and Required Warning Statements for Tobacco Products

Description: On June 22, 2009, the President signed the Tobacco Control Act into law. In this rule, the Agency is extending FDA's "tobacco product" authorities in the FD&C Act to all other categories of products meeting the statutory definition of "tobacco product" in section 201(rr) of the FD&C Act, excluding accessories of deemed tobacco products. (Two options were presented in the ~~proposed rule~~, NPRM. Under Option 1, all products meeting the definition of a ~~"tobacco product,"~~ " except accessories of newly deemed tobacco products, would be deemed. Option 2 was the same as Option 1, except a subset of cigars known as ~~"premium cigars"~~ " would be excluded.- After thorough review of the comments and the scientific evidence, FDA has concluded that Option 1 more effectively protects the public health and therefore has made that the scope of the final rule-.) The rule also prohibits the sale of covered tobacco products to individuals under the age of 18 and prohibits the sale of covered tobacco products using the assistance of any retail-based electronic or mechanical device (such as a vending machine) except in facilities where the retailer ensures that no person younger than 18 years of age is present, or permitted to enter, at any time. The requirement that a retailer sell covered tobacco products in only a direct, face-to-face exchange without the assistance of electronic or mechanical devices is not intended to prevent the sale of tobacco products via the Internet, but the sale of covered tobacco products via any medium (including the Internet) must only be to persons 18 years of age or older.

The rule also provides that manufacturers, distributors, importers, and retailers are responsible for ensuring that the covered tobacco products (in addition to cigarettes and smokeless tobacco) they manufacture, label, advertise, package, distribute, import, sell, or otherwise hold for sale comply with all applicable requirements.

In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available a final guidance to provide information on how to establish and reference a Tobacco Product Master File (TPMF). TPMFs are expected to reduce the burden on applicants preparing premarket and other regulatory submissions because they can reference information in TPMFs rather than develop the information on their own. Currently, FDA does allow for the submission and use of information to be incorporated by reference similar to master file programs for other FDA-regulated products.

A. Responses to Comments Regarding Proposed Collection of Information

1. Whether the Proposed Collection of Information Is Necessary for the Proper Performance of FDA's Functions, Including Whether the Information Will Have Practical Utility

(Comment [279](#)) We received several comments regarding the practical utility of the information to be collected by FDA under the proposed regulations. The main concern among comments was that some of the requirements impose significant administrative burdens without generating useful information. Also, the comments believed that FDA is predicting that the paperwork burden will force almost all of the e-cigarette products to come off the market because manufacturers will go out of business.

———(Response) FDA's regulation of the newly deemed products and the information the Agency is seeking will benefit the public health. As FDA discussed in the [proposed rule NPRM](#), deeming all tobacco products to be subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act will provide FDA with critical information regarding the health risks of the products. FDA has not received any data indicating that regulation "will destroy almost [all](#) of the e-cigarette products on the market." We also note that FDA is announcing a compliance policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, offering them targeted relief to address concerns that small

manufacturers may need additional time to comply with certain requirements of the deeming rule, as discussed in section IV.D of this document. This compliance policy will provide small-scale tobacco product manufacturers (i.e., those manufacturers with 150 employees or fewer and \$5,000,000 or less in annual revenues) with additional time to submit ingredient listing information (under section 904(a)(1)) and health documents (under section 904(a)(4)). This policy also provides that, for the first 30 months following the effective date of the rule, small-scale tobacco product manufacturers may receive extensions of time for providing responses to SE deficiency letters.

——(Comment 280) One comment stated that FDA's proposed regulation is unnecessary and does not address any valid need in society. It also stated that the PRA should set limits on regulations that do not provide significant return to the ~~United States~~U.S. population. Another comment asked that FDA not stifle advertisements, nor saddle the industry with unnecessary testing and reporting standards that stifle innovation and increase costs.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with comments suggesting that FDA's rule will have such effects on industry or the nation. FDA finds that deeming tobacco products and applying the automatic provisions of the FD&C Act in accordance with this final rule will result in significant public health benefits and that the additional restrictions imposed by this rule are appropriate for the protection of the public health. For example, benefits that will arise as a result of deeming ENDS, including FDA review of premarketing submissions/applications for new tobacco products in the United States pursuant to sections 905 and 910 of the FD&C Act, which will result in increased product consistency. FDA expects to receive premarketing submissions/applications from ENDS manufacturers that will allow the Agency to determine

whether a new product is substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product, exempt from [substantial equivalence SE](#), or appropriate for the protection of the public health.

2. Accuracy of FDA's Estimate of the Burden of the Proposed Collection of Information, Including the Validity of the Methodology and Assumptions Used

(Comment [281](#)) Many comments argued that their products could be driven from the market due to the paperwork reporting requirements and FDA's²¹ authorization process. The comments claimed that many companies (particularly e-cigarette companies) lack experience or the systems in place to comply with the [proposed rule NPRM](#) and that the premarket requirements would discourage the development of new products. They also said that requirements like labeling and registration would be unfeasible for small producers lacking the experience of navigating this regulatory environment.

~~————(Response) The Agency maintains that this regulation will not stifle innovation but could bring about new innovations.~~ (Response) FDA expects that the greater regulatory certainty created by the premarket review process will help companies to invest in creating novel products that benefit the health of the population as a whole, with greater confidence that the improved products in which they have invested will enter the market without having to compete against equally novel products that do not have to meet the same basic requirements. We also note that FDA is announcing a compliance policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, offering them targeted relief in certain areas to address concerns that small manufacturers may need additional time to comply with certain requirements of the FD&C Act, as discussed in section IV.D of this document. [This compliance policy will provide small-scale tobacco product manufacturers \(i.e., those manufacturers with 150 employees or fewer and \\$5,000,000 or less in](#)

annual revenues) with additional time to submit ingredient listing information (under section 904(a)(1)) and health documents (under section 904(a)(4)). This policy also provides that, for the first 30 months following the effective date of the rule, small-scale tobacco product manufacturers may receive extensions of time for providing responses to SE deficiency letters.

——(Comment 282) Several comments stated that the PMTA process imposes a number of burdens on manufacturers, the most onerous burden being the requirement for scientific investigations.

——(Response) In the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM (79 ~~Fed. Reg.~~FR 23142 at 23176), FDA included discussion intended to supplement and clarify the requirement for scientific investigations. As we noted, FDA expects that, in some cases, it will be possible for an applicant to obtain a PMTA marketing order without conducting ~~any~~ new nonclinical or clinical studies where there is an established body of evidence regarding the public health impact of the product. Therefore, FDA believes that certain categories of PMTAs may not require significant financial and administrative resources associated with clinical investigations. Elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA is announcing the availability of a draft guidance, which, when ~~finalized~~, will provide the Agency's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including the need for "clinical studies" for the purposes of preparing PMTAs for ENDS. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available a final guidance to provide information on how to establish and reference a Tobacco Product Master File. TPMFs are expected to reduce the burden on applicants preparing premarket and other regulatory submissions.

We also note that FDA is announcing an enforcement policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, offering them targeted relief in certain areas to address concerns that smaller manufacturers may have, as discussed in section IV.D of this document. [This compliance policy will provide small-scale tobacco product manufacturers \(i.e., those manufacturers with 150 employees or fewer and \\$5,000,000 or less in annual revenues\) with additional time to submit ingredient listing information \(under section 904\(a\)\(1\)\) and health documents \(under section 904\(a\)\(4\)\). This policy also provides that, for the first 30 months following the effective date of the rule, small-scale tobacco product manufacturers may receive extensions of time for providing responses to SE deficiency letters.](#)

——(Comment [283](#)) Several comments expressed concern that FDA failed to provide any data on the number or type of e-cigarette businesses currently operating in the United States. According to the comments, there are at least 1,250 businesses. Other comments estimated that there ~~are~~ 14,000 to 16,000 e-cigarette retail outlets in the United States. They stated that these small manufacturing entities will not be able to participate in the PMTA process and most will go out of business.

——(Response) At the time of the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#), FDA did not have precise estimates for ENDS products. Now that we have more data, the Agency is estimating the numbers for ENDS liquids and delivery systems elsewhere in the PRA section of this document. As stated previously, FDA believes the TPFM process will help companies as they can reference information in TPFMs rather than develop the information on their own. Additionally, the enforcement policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers will assist small manufacturers. [This compliance policy will provide small-scale tobacco product manufacturers \(i.e., those manufacturers with 150 employees or fewer and \\$5,000,000 or less in annual](#)

revenues) with additional time to submit ingredient reporting (under sections 904 and 915) and health documents (under section 904). This policy also provides that small-scale tobacco product manufacturers may receive extensions of time for providing responses to SE deficiency letters.

——(Comment 284) Some comments noted that the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM made it appear that FDA would not allow any SE reports to be ~~filed~~submitted for e-cigarette products, as there were only about a half dozen first generation e-cigarette products that were sold in the United States in February 2007 (the grandfather date), and those products are not substantially equivalent to any of today's products. Comments stated that applicants would then need to submit PMTAs and estimated that each PMTA would cost a successful applicant between \$3 and \$20 million.

——(Response) The FD&C Act provides three pathways for obtaining FDA authorization to market a new tobacco product. Where a new product does not meet the requirements for SE exemption under section 905(j)(3) and does not have an appropriate predicate under section 905(j)(1)(A)(i) or is otherwise unable make a showing supporting a finding of SE, the manufacturer of the new product must submit a PMTA. As FDA stated in the ~~proposed rule~~NPRM, the Agency ~~does not expect~~expects that ~~all~~some applicants ~~will~~may not need to engage in resource-intensive clinical investigations and provide long-term data to prepare and submit a complete PMTA. In addition, elsewhere in this issue of the Federal Register, FDA has made available draft guidance, which, when final, will describe FDA's current thinking regarding some appropriate means of addressing the premarket authorization requirements for newly deemed ENDS products, including the need for clinical studies for the purposes of preparing PMTAs for ENDS.

——(Comment [285](#)) Several comments argued that FDA has greatly underestimated the total number of e-liquid products that are on the market. According to one comment, there are nearly 1,700 e-cigarette and e-liquid businesses on record, which does not include the many companies that manufacture hardware components used in ARPVs. One comment stated that a recent study found that greater than 34,000 different e-liquid products alone were sold on the Internet (i.e. 7,764 unique brand flavors averaging 4.4 different nicotine levels per brand) not including different vegetable glycerin-~~(VG)~~/propylene glycol-~~(PG)~~ water levels or components in 466 identified different e-cigarette brands. Several comments estimated that there are 5,000 to 15,000 e-liquid producers and e-cigarette retail establishments in the United States. -Other comments projected that there are at least 100,000 e-cigarette products currently on the market.

Similarly, some commenters felt that FDA grossly underestimated the number of responses for certain proposed information collections. For example, they noted that the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) states that FDA expects only 25 new product applications from e-cigarette manufacturers. They claimed that FDA has either miscalculated the number of distinct brands and types of e-cigarettes on the market, or the Agency expects most manufacturers to exit the market rather than submit product applications.

——(Response) We have revised our estimates to reflect the most recent information available at the time of drafting this final analysis. FDA estimates [the average number of vape shops that meet the definition of a manufacturer are 4,250. FDA also estimates](#) that there will be 186 [other](#) manufacturers and 14 importers of ENDS products.

——(Comment [286](#)) Many comments said that FDA's estimates of the burdens imposed by the rule's information collection requirements are understated. Specifically, they stated that the Agency's estimates of the number of respondents in the category of "other

tobacco, e-cigarettes, and nicotine product manufacturers,"²² as well as the number of products on the market manufactured by these companies, were off by orders of magnitude.

~~————(Response) FDA estimated low, because we did not have evidence to support a high number of respondents.~~(Response) Based on the comments and other evidence, FDA estimates there will be 186 manufacturers of ENDS products. Regarding the number of products, the number will depend on what type of submission is being sent to FDA. The burden charts in this section detail the current estimates FDA believes to be accurate.

~~————(Comment 287)~~ Some comments indicated that FDA equates the time and financial burden of preparing a PMTA with an SE application, but the PMTA requirements are significantly more burdensome than SE requirements, and it is completely unreasonable to allocate the same amount of man-hours needed to successfully complete a PMTA and an SE application.

~~————(Response)~~ The Agency has revised the estimated burden per PMTA response to an average of 1,500 hours to complete a PMTA. In reaching this average, FDA considered efficiencies achieved through manufacturer experience, application overlap, economies of scale, incorporation of evidence by reference, and other means including availability of the SE FAQ guidance. Based on this information, FDA believes an SE submission will take considerably less time and money. If the manufacturer is unable to show that its product is substantially equivalent to a predicate product or that its product is exempt from ~~substantial equivalence~~SE, then the manufacturer must submit a PMTA. The requirements of a PMTA may vary based on the type and complexity of the product.

~~————(Comment 288)~~ One comment said that FDA erred in its estimate of the in-house cost burdens imposed by the proposed information collections. The comment said internal costs

can only be excluded when estimating the burden of an information collection if such costs are related to “usual and customary” activities. In this case, the comment believed FDA did not consider the types of internal costs that will be incurred by companies to comply with the information collections.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with this comment. The Agency was thorough in its identification of usual and customary activities. The Agency used various existing data sources and considered all the costs associated with the collections of information. [In reaching this average cost, FDA considered efficiencies achieved through manufacturer experience, application overlap, economies of scale, incorporation of evidence by reference, and other means.](#)

——(Comment [289](#)) A few comments stated that most of the cost burden created by paperwork requirements will fall upon consumers, as hundreds of thousands of American consumers would lose access to what the comments state are “low-risk products” that have allowed consumers to quit smoking. They said FDA should take into consideration small business and consumer stakeholders’ suggested alternatives to minimize the [proposed rule’s NPRM’s](#) potential impact.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with these comments. This final rule will prevent new products from entering the market that are not appropriate for the protection of the public health, are not substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product, or are not exempt from [substantial equivalence.SE](#). We also note that FDA is announcing a compliance policy for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, offering them targeted relief in certain areas to address concerns that smaller manufacturers may need additional time to comply with certain requirements of the FD&C Act, as discussed in section IV.D of this document. [This compliance policy will provide](#)

small-scale tobacco product manufacturers (i.e., those manufacturers with 150 employees or fewer and \$5,000,000 or less in annual revenues) with additional time to submit ingredient listing information (under section 904(a)(1)) and health documents (under section 904(a)(4)). This policy also provides that, for the first 30 months following the effective date of the rule, small-scale tobacco product manufacturers may receive extensions of time for providing responses to SE deficiency letters.

——(Comment [290](#)) Several comments stated that FDA significantly underestimated the burden on the tobacco industry. The Agency estimated that 13,745 products will be affected by the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) and almost 90 percent of them were cigars and pipe tobacco. They noted that FDA estimated that up to 7,869 products will submit SE ~~R~~reports within the first 24 months after the rule is finalized, which they believed was very low, especially given the February 15, 2007, grandfather date.

——(Response) FDA used available public information to estimate the burden on the tobacco industry and the comments did not provide empirical evidence of a different number of affected products. However, based on experience with currently regulated products and changes in the industry we have revised the burden accordingly. The Agency also finds that these comments have not provided evidence as to why the grandfather date will cause applicants to submit more SE applications than FDA estimated.

——(Comment [291](#)) One comment argued that FDA has greatly underestimated the number of premium cigar products that will be subject to premarket review. According to the comment, premium cigar makers are distinct from other tobacco product manufacturers in the number of products they market and the volume of those lines. This comment stated that the

average number of cigars produced for any given product in a year is 32,655, with 33.6 percent of reported annual production rates at or below 10,000 units.

Several other comments argued that the typical premium cigar manufacturer may have over ~~one hundred~~100 unique stock keeping units (SKUs) and typically will turn over about 15 percent of those SKUs in any given year. Their data indicates there are at least 10,000 and maybe as many as 20,000 unique SKUs in the United States, which would add to FDA's workload for evaluating new product applications. They also estimated that the premium hand-rolled cigar category alone could generate numbers in excess of 10,000 new product applications.

Other comments stated that the premarket application process will be costly and time consuming for cigar manufacturers and will likely result in many different kinds of newly deemed tobacco products being removed from the marketplace. The constant variation in the cigar tobacco used to make premium cigars will create significant regulatory burdens and costs for cigar manufacturers to be constantly submitting premarket applications. Comments stated that cigar manufacturers that are unable to bear the cost of applications will cease bringing new products to the marketplace.

The comments expressed similar concerns regarding e-cigarettes, stating that each e-cigarette manufacturer would need to submit a PMTA for every brand of e-cigarette currently being sold and new e-cigarettes introduced into the marketplace. Small manufacturers may not have the financial resources to submit PMTAs, which will result in the removal of e-cigarettes from the marketplace. The end result of the PMTA process will be a significant negative impact on small businesses.

——(Response) The FD&C Act provides for three marketing pathways for new tobacco products—~~substantial equivalence~~—SE to a valid predicate product, exemption from

~~substantial equivalence~~SE, and PMTA. If the manufacturer is unable to show that its product is substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product or that its product is exempt from ~~substantial equivalence~~SE, then the firm must submit a PMTA. The requirements and costs of a PMTA may vary based on the type and complexity of the product. For example, where there is limited understanding of a product’s potential impact on public health, several nonclinical and clinical studies may be required for market authorization. In such case, the requirements and cost of the PMTA likely would be higher than for a product in which there is already substantial scientific data on the potential public health impact.

——(Comment 292) Many comments noted that FDA included a small number of PMTAs for e-cigarette products in its analysis. Some comments stated that if this is the case, FDA’s estimates would probably include only a fraction of the products that are believed to be used to stop smoking cigarettes. They commented that the cost burdens of the paperwork requirements will result in an unnecessary price increase for the consumer and the PMTA requirements will limit the availability of e-cigarettes to addicted smokers trying to quit. Their concern is the burden of the paperwork would fall on both merchants and consumers.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with these comments. The Agency’s intention is not to impose additional costs to consumers but, instead, to prevent new products from entering the market that are not appropriate for the protection of the public health, are not substantially equivalent to a predicate product, or are not exempt from ~~substantial equivalence~~SE. Per aAgency experience and updates in the industry, FDA has updated the number of ENDS products we estimate will submit a PMTA.

——(Comment 293) Some comments disagreed with FDA’s estimate that it expects only one “other tobacco, e-cigarette and nicotine product manufacturers” respondent to submit

an annual health and toxicological report and its estimate that there would only be one respondent to self-certify that its product does not contain nicotine. They stated that there may be hundreds of e-liquid manufacturers self-certifying for use of the alternative statement, because it is standard industry practice to offer 0 milligram nicotine flavors in vials.

——(Response) At this time, we do not have sufficient evidence to warrant revising the burden estimates.

——(Comment [294](#)) Many comments stated that FDA's estimates do not reflect the realities of the market and FDA's estimates assume that most of these small companies will be forced to exit the industry because of the high compliance and paperwork burdens envisioned by the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#). However, others believed that as the market evolves, many companies will continue to operate and comply with FDA's regulations.

Further, many other comments stated that, at best, FDA's estimate that there are only 140 to 188 potential respondents in the category of "other tobacco, e-cigarettes, and nicotine product manufacturers" is "egregiously off target" based on the available evidence. They believed that the entire industry will be eliminated as a result of the regulatory and paperwork burdens in the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#). They also noted that the reason for the difference between 140 and 188 in the Analysis of Impacts and PRA sections is unclear.

——(Response) There is a high level of uncertainty in the number of manufacturers of ENDS. FDA is required to estimate burden as part of the PRA analysis. As many comments describe, the industry is ever changing; during the time that the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#) was in review, and since the ~~proposed rule~~ [NPRM](#) was published, the ENDS industry has grown. The comments on the number of ENDS manufacturers provided industry estimates rather than concrete data sources. In the case of non-retail manufacturers, the comment did not always

specify whether the cited numbers included both domestic and foreign manufacturers, or only domestic manufactures. Therefore, considerable uncertainty remains as to the number of domestic non-retail manufacturers. Similarly, the comments did not address the number of non-retail importers. In the Regulatory Impact Analysis (RIA) for this final rule, based on logo counts from trade association ~~websites~~Web sites and FDA listening sessions, it is estimated that there are 168 to 204 formal manufacturers of ENDS products: (not including ENDS retail establishments that meet the definition of a manufacturer). For the PRA analysis, we took the average for a total of 186 manufacturers. We also estimate that there are 14 importers of ENDS products.

——(Comment 295) Many comments stated that it would not be possible to complete a PMTA within 24 months after the effective date of the final rule and that it is an insufficient amount of time for manufacturers to conduct any required clinical studies in support of a PMTA.

——(Response) As stated throughout this document, FDA is providing a 24-month compliance period for manufacturers to submit (and for FDA to receive) a PMTA. If manufacturers submit the appropriate applications during this compliance period, FDA will not enforce against those manufacturers continuing to market their products without FDA authorization for a certain time period. For products using the PMTA pathway, this compliance period closes 36 months after the effective date. Once the continued compliance period ends, FDA intends to actively monitor and enforce the premarket authorization requirements regarding products on the market without authorization even if the respective submission is still under review. As noted previously, FDA expects that, in some cases, it will be possible for an applicant to obtain a PMTA order without conducting any new nonclinical or clinical studies where there is an established body of evidence regarding the public health impact of the product.

Therefore, FDA believes that many PMTAs may not require significant administrative resources associated with clinical investigations.

——(Comment [296](#)) Several comments noted that if FDA requires health documents from manufacturers and importers of newly deemed tobacco products, the Agency should establish a similar production timeline as it did for currently regulated products (i.e., cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, smokeless tobacco, and roll-your-own tobacco) and only require production of health documents developed during the 6-month period following the effective date of the regulation.

——(Response) As stated in the compliance date tables, the compliance period for manufacturers of products currently on the market to submit health documents is 6 months after the effective date of the final rule. Manufacturers of products entering the market after the effective date of the final rule must comply within 90 days before delivery of the product for introduction into interstate commerce. With this final rule, FDA also is announcing that it will extend the compliance period for an additional 6-~~months~~ from the effective date to allow small-scale tobacco product manufacturers time to organize, compile, and digitize documents. Additionally, as stated elsewhere, FDA generally does not intend to take enforcement action regarding the submission of all such documents at this time so long as a specified set of documents are submitted by [the effective date [+plus](#) 6 months]. FDA will publish additional guidance that specifies the scope of such documents with sufficient advance time for manufacturers and importers to prepare their submissions.—

(Comment [297](#)) Some comments stated that FDA has underestimated the number of other tobacco product manufacturers that will submit the required health documents.

——(Response) FDA based this burden estimate on the existing collection that applies to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act and FDA experience. The comments did not provide a basis or an estimate of other tobacco product manufacturers for FDA to utilize in its review, and the Agency is not aware of any information that warrants changing this estimate. We note that at this time, FDA intends to limit enforcement to finished tobacco products. A finished tobacco product refers to a tobacco product, including all components and parts, sealed in final packaging intended for consumer use (e.g., filters, filter tubes, e-cigarettes, or e-liquids sold separately to consumers or as part of kits). FDA does not at this time intend to enforce this requirement for components and parts of newly deemed products that are sold or distributed solely for further manufacturing into finished tobacco products. [—However, any component or part of a newly deemed tobacco product that is sold directly to consumers as a "finished tobacco product" will be required to comply with the premarket review requirements discussed throughout this document.](#)

——(Comment [298](#)) Some comments stated that e-liquid companies should be allowed to amend their ingredient lists if they add or remove ingredients or increase the maximum concentration of any of their current ingredients in any of their products, rather than submit a new ingredient list for the new product.

——(Response) Ingredient listings contain important data that enable FDA to gain better understanding of the contents of regulated products. This information will assist FDA in assessing potential health risks and determining if future regulations to address these health risks are warranted. In addition, when an e-liquid manufacturer adds or removes ingredients from a product, it becomes a [“new tobacco product.”](#)

——(Comment [299](#)) Several comments disagreed with FDA's proposed premarket review burdens for pipe tobacco manufacturers. At least one comment indicated that FDA's proposed estimate that it will receive only one new product application for pipe tobacco products grossly underestimates the number of brands of pipe tobacco that have entered the market since 2007 or indicates that the Agency expects all but one manufacturer to voluntarily stop production of new pipe tobacco products without submitting an SE report or PTMA application. In addition, the comments stated that pipe tobacco manufacturers will incur cost and time burdens if they are required to submit PMTAs for each new blend of pipe tobacco that they manufacture, including millions of dollars per year in research to prepare the PMTAs.

——(Response) At this time, FDA finds there is insufficient evidence to increase the burden estimates. FDA believes that pipe tobacco manufacturers will utilize the [substantial equivalence \(SE\)](#) and [substantial equivalence SE](#) exemption pathways. We believe they are manufactured similarly with few, if any, modifications and many of the ingredients and suppliers are the same as those utilized in previous years.

——(Comment [300](#)) Several comments pointed out inconsistencies between the PRA and Analysis of Impacts sections in the [proposed rule NPRM](#). They noted that the Analysis of Impacts clearly states that FDA does not have an estimate of e-cigarette entities that would register with FDA. If FDA could not estimate the number of affected entities in the Analysis of Impacts, they believed this should also be reflected in the PRA section. In addition, they stated that the estimated number of PMTAs (25) in the PRA section contradicts the number of estimated PMTAs in the Analysis of Impacts.

——(Response) The RIA and PRA analyses are conducted to fulfill different purposes and must adhere to different requirements; as a result, the two analyses would rarely, if ever, be

the same. For example, the time horizons for the analyses are typically different. Information collections are approved for a up to a ~~three~~-3-year period and are reanalyzed every time they are up for extension, whereas a prospective RIA is conducted before a rule is issued using a time horizon chosen to capture the most important effects of the rule (generally 20 years). If estimates differ from year to year, the RIA will often explicitly identify how the estimates vary, whereas the PRA analysis will most often use an average or the estimate for the current year. Regulatory impact analyses also tend to make more frequent use of ranges rather than point estimates.

As referenced ~~above~~previously, there is a high level of uncertainty in the number of manufacturers for ENDS. In the RIA for this final rule, based on logo counts from trade association ~~websites~~Web sites and FDA listening sessions, it is estimated that there are 168 to 204 formal manufacturers of ENDS products. For the PRA analysis, we took the average of 168 and 204 for a total of 186 manufacturers. We also estimate that there are 14 importers of ENDS products.

———(Comment 301) A number of comments also noted that FDA should be required to estimate and report the full social costs of eliminating what they considered to be beneficial products from the market where the manufacturers are unable to afford the PMTA costs.

———(Response) FDA is not aware of any evidence indicating that such social costs will accrue. Nevertheless, such estimates are outside the scope of the PRA analysis.

3. Ways to Enhance the Quality, Utility, and Clarity of the Information To Be Collected

(Comment 302) One comment stated that FDA has not consulted with industry nor has the Agency audited industry recordkeeping to support the assumption that manufacturers have enough information to prepare SE reports.

——(Response) FDA's proposed burden estimates are based on information available at the time of preparing the [proposed rule NPRM](#). If interested parties have evidence that warrants revising these burden estimates, they were requested to submit such evidence during the comment period for FDA to take into account when preparing final burden estimates.

——(Comment [303](#)) One comment recommended that the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA) [should](#) void the proposed regulations as they relate to e-cigarettes, that OIRA and FDA [should](#) urge Congress to work with FDA to create a new regulatory framework for e-cigarettes, and, at the very least, that OIRA require that FDA prepare new estimates of the paperwork burdens.

——(Response) FDA disagrees with this comment. FDA has estimated the PRA burdens with the best evidence that is currently available. In addition, as stated in the [proposed rule NPRM](#) and throughout this final rule, the deeming provisions are beneficial to the public health and the additional provisions are appropriate for the protection of the public health.

4. Ways to Minimize the Burden of the Collection of Information on Respondents, Including Through the Use of Automated Collection Techniques, When Appropriate, and Other Forms of Information Technology.

(Comment [304](#)) One comment asserted that, under the PRA, a review of regulations should include an attempt to ensure that the paperwork is not unduly burdensome. The comment also stated that FDA appears to be ignoring the greatest cost of the paperwork burden (i.e., most manufacturers will find the paperwork burden to be so great that they will abandon products or their entire businesses without attempting to comply with the requirements). They argued that FDA should follow the requirements as stated in the PRA and limit data collection to information that is useful and dependable.

_____(Response) FDA disagrees with this comment. FDA has faithfully complied with the all aspects of the PRA and any other applications laws and regulations.

B. Existing Burdens Associated With Tobacco Products Currently Subject to the FD&C Act (i.e., Cigarettes, Cigarette Tobacco, Roll-Your-Own Tobacco, and Smokeless Tobacco) With

Approved OMB Control Numbers

____The information collection requirements referenced in ~~sub~~this section ~~(B)~~ are amending currently approved information collections. Once the rule is finalized, the associated collections of information will be submitted to OMB for approval as revisions to the currently approved information collections. After submission to OMB, the revised collections and associated documents can be viewed at ~~OMB's public website (www.reginfo.gov).~~OMB's public Web site (<http://www.reginfo.gov>).

The burden estimates found in this section include existing collections that have been approved by OMB and cover tobacco products that are currently subject to the FD&C Act (i.e., cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco). In developing the burden estimates for newly deemed tobacco products, FDA based the estimates on the existing collections that currently cover cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco.

1. Tobacco Product Establishment Registration and Submission of Certain Health Information (OMB Control Number 0910-0650)

Description of Respondents: The respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers or importers, or agents thereof, of new and currently regulated tobacco products who are required to make submissions to FDA under section 904 of the FD&C Act, including the submission of an initial list of all ingredients in their tobacco products and the submission of

information whenever additives or their quantities are changed. The respondents to this collection are also persons engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product or tobacco products who must register their establishments and submit a list of all tobacco products being manufactured, prepared, compounded, or processed by that person for commercial distribution at the time of registration under section 905 of the FD&C Act.

Section 101 of the Tobacco Control Act amended the FD&C Act by adding sections 905 and 904. Section 905(b) of the FD&C Act requires that every person who owns or operates any establishment in any State engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product or tobacco products register with FDA the name, places of business, and all establishments owned or operated by that person. Section 905(i)(1) of the FD&C Act requires that all registrants, at the time of registration, must submit to FDA a list of all tobacco products ~~which~~that are being manufactured, prepared, compounded, or processed by that person for commercial distribution, along with certain accompanying consumer information and other labeling for such products and a representative sampling of advertisements.

If an ENDS retail establishment engages in these activities, it will be required to register and list their products with FDA. These requirements apply under the statute for all distinct products manufactured, and they enable FDA to assess the landscape of products manufactured by these entities. ~~_- If ENDS retail establishments are custom mixing e-liquids and/or other ENDS products or components, then they will have to list each combination that they sell. ~~If an ENDS retail establishment engages in these activities, it will be required to register and list their products with FDA. These requirements apply under the statute for all distinct products manufactured, and they enable FDA to assess the landscape of products manufactured by these entities. As described in the Regulatory Impact Analysis because most flavored ENDS products~~~~

~~will exit the market as of the effective date of this final rule, we expect the majority of vape shops to exit the market at that time. If some flavors reenter the market, the remaining vape shops would generally not engage in mixing because, in order to do so~~ For such establishments to continue to engage in mixing after this rule becomes effective, they would need to satisfy the requirements for manufacturers and the premarket authorization of new tobacco products as a result of this final rule. We note, however, that FDA does not intend to enforce the premarket authorization requirements during staggered compliance periods following the effective date, as stated previously in this preamble to this rule.

Section 904(a)(1) of the FD&C Act requires each tobacco product manufacturer or importer, or agent thereof, to submit a listing of all ingredients, including tobacco, substances, compounds, and additives that are added by the manufacturer to the tobacco, paper, filter, or other part of each tobacco product by brand and by quantity in each brand and subbrand. Section 904(c) of the FD&C Act also requires submission of information whenever additives or their quantities are changed.

As previously referenced in section IV of this document, for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers, FDA is providing a one-time allowance of an additional 6 months after the effective date of this final rule for initial reporting of ingredients. This regulatory relief is only for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers.

FDA issued guidance documents on both (1) Registration and Product Listing for Owners and Operators of Domestic Tobacco Product Establishments (74 FR 58298, November 12, 2009) and (2) Listing of Ingredients in Tobacco Products (74 FR 62795, December 1, 2009) to assist persons making these submissions to FDA under the FD&C Act. Although electronic submission of registration, product listing, and ingredient listing information are not required, FDA strongly

encourages electronic submission to facilitate efficiency and timeliness of data management and collection. To that end, FDA designed the eSubmitter application, and then the FDA [Unified Registration and Listing System \(FURLS\)](#),² to streamline the data entry process for registration, product listing, and ingredient listing. This tool allows for importation of large quantities of structured data, attachments of files (e.g., in [portable document format \(PDFs\)](#) and certain media files), and automatic acknowledgement of FDA's receipt of submissions. FDA also developed paper forms (Form FDA 3741--Registration and Listing for Owners and Operators of Domestic Tobacco Product Establishments and Form FDA 3742--Listing of Ingredients in Tobacco Products) as alternative submission tools. Both the FURLS and the paper forms can be accessed at <http://www.fda.gov/tobacco>. FDA estimates the additional annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 3A7.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent ²	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Tobacco Product Establishment Initial First Year Registration (electronic and paper submission):					
Cigar Manufacturers Entities (Including Large and Small, and Importers)	329221	1	329221	2	658442
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers and Entities (Including Importers (4322))	11796	1	11796	2	234192
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers Entities and ENDS pP products Importers (147) ³	200193	1	200193	2	400386
Vape shops that qualify as manufacturers ⁴	4.250	1	4.250	2	8.500
Total Tobacco Product Establishment Initial First Year Registration					1,2929,520
Tobacco Product Establishment Recurring Registration (electronic and paper submission):					

Cigar Manufacturers Entities (Including Large and Small, and Importers)	329221	1	329221	0.20 (12 minutes)	6644
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers and Entities (Including Importers (4322))	11796	1	11796	0.20 (12 minutes)	2319
Other Tobacco, E- Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers Entities and ENDS p Products Importers (14 7) ³	200193	1	200193	0.20 (12 minutes)	4039
Vape shops that qualify as manufacturers ⁴	4,250	1	4,250	0.20 (12 minutes)	850
Total Tobacco Product Establishment Recurring Registration					129952
Tobacco Product Listing Initial First Year (electronic and paper submission):					
Cigar Manufacturers Entities (Including Large, and Small, and Importers)	329221	1	329221	2	658442
Pipe and Hookah Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers and Entities (Including Importers (4322))	11796	1	11796	2	234192
Other Tobacco, E- Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers Entities and ENDS p Products Importers (14 7) ³	200193	1	200193	2	400386
Vape shops that qualify as manufacturers ⁴	4,250	1	4,250	2	8,500
Total Hours Tobacco Product Listing Initial First Year					12929,520
Tobacco Product Listing Recurring (electronic and paper submission):					
Cigar Manufacturers Entities (Including Large, and Small, and Importers)	329221	2	658442	0.40 (24 minutes)	263177
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers and Entities (Including Importers (4322))	11796	2	234192	0.40 (24 minutes)	9477
Other Tobacco, E- Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers Entities and ENDS p Products Importers (14 7) ³	200193	2	400386	0.40 (24 minutes)	160154
Vape shops that qualify as manufacturers ⁴	4,250	2	8,500	0.40 (24 minutes)	3,400
Total Hours Tobacco Product Listing Recurring					5173808

Obtaining a Dun and Bradstreet (DUNS) Number:					
Cigar Manufacturers Entities (Including Large, and Small, and Importers)	329,221	1	329,221	0.5 (30 minutes)	465,111
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers and Entities (Including Importers (43,221))	117,966	1	117,966	0.5 (30 minutes)	59,488
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers Entities and ENDS pProducts Importers (14,773) ³	200,193	1	200,193	0.5 (30 minutes)	40,097
Vape shops that qualify as manufacturers ⁴	4,250	1	4,250	0.5 (30 minutes)	2,125
Total Hours Obtaining DUNS Number					324,238
Total Hours Registration, Product Listing, and DUNS Number					3,554,261.81
Tobacco Product Ingredient Listing (electronic and paper submission):					
Cigar Manufacturers Entities (Including Large, and Small, and Importers)	329	5.1338	1,687,770	3	5,061,310
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers and Entities (Including Importers (43,221))	117	4.8420.62	566,241.3	3	1,698,723.9
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers Entities and ENDS pProducts Importers (14,773) ³	200	2.2311.40	446,280	3	1,338,684.0
Vape shops that qualify as manufacturers ⁴	4,250	11.73	49,853	1	49,853
Total Hours s Submitting Product Ingredient Listing					8,097,69.242
Total Burden Tobacco Product Establishment Registration and Submission of Certain Health Information					11,651,121.60 4

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

² This number is estimated to be the total annual responses divided by the number of respondents, rounded to the nearest tenth.

³ Under 21 U.S.C. 387(20), a “tobacco product manufacturer” includes any person who “imports a finished tobacco product for sale or distribution in the United States.”

³ Importers are included throughout this Table 7 to the extent that they engage in the manufacturer, preparation, compounding, or processing of tobacco products, which includes repackaging or otherwise changing the container, wrapper, or labeling of any tobacco product package in furtherance of the distribution of the tobacco product from the original place of manufacturer to the person who makes final delivery or sale to the ultimate consumer or use.

⁴ FDA assumes that vape shops will register and list only during the first two years after the rule becomes effective.

Based on ~~summary aggregate~~ information obtained from the ~~Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB)~~, in 2013 there were 113 domestic manufacturers of cigars, 216 importers of cigars, 74 manufacturers of pipe (~~and Waterpipe including waterpipe~~) tobacco, and 43 importers of pipe (~~and Waterpipe including waterpipe~~) tobacco who will be required to register under section 905 of the FD&C Act. For the purposes of this analysis, FDA estimates that the majority of the 4,250 vape shops that qualify as manufacturers will only register and list in the first two years after the rule becomes effective. In addition, FDA estimates that 186 ENDS manufacturers will be required to register under section 905 of the FD&C Act.

Product listing information is provided at the time of registration. Currently, ~~product~~ registration and listing requirements only apply to domestic establishments engaged in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product. ~~Importers are also subject~~ This includes importers to these requirements if the extent that they repackaging engage in the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product, including repackaging or otherwise change~~ing~~ the container, wrapper, or labeling of any tobacco product package.²³ Foreign establishments are not required to register and list until FDA issues regulations establishing such requirements in accordance with section 905(h) of the FD&C Act. ~~Consequently, the PRA analysis includes importers because they may be subject to the registration and listing requirements.~~ To account for the foregoing, we include both domestic manufacturing establishments and importers in our estimates. Specifically, for the PRA analysis,

²³ Under the Internal Revenue Code, the manufacture, preparation, compounding, or processing of a tobacco product may require a permit as a manufacturer of tobacco products. As we understand TTB's permitting requirements, entities lacking a manufacturer permit, including importers, may not engage in any of the listed activities, including repackaging tobacco products after such products are released from customs custody. It is unclear whether TTB would require a manufacturer permit for all activities for which FDA would determine the entity must register and list; because there may be some entities with import permits for which FDA would conclude registration is necessary, FDA includes those numbers as part of its upper-bound estimate of affected entities.

we have used the midpoint between TTB permit counts for manufacturers and permit counts for manufacturers and importers as a likely overestimate of the number of entities that need to comply with registration and product listing (The Analysis of Impacts includes importers in the upper bound.)

The PRA burden estimates have been updated to fully incorporate the use of an electronic system known as FURLs for submitting registration and product listing information to FDA. With the FURLs system, manufacturers can enter information quickly and easily. For example, product label pictures can be uploaded directly and we anticipate that most, if not all companies, already have electronic versions of their labels for printing, sales, or marketing purposes. We anticipate that initial entity registration will take ~~two~~ 2 hours and initial product listing will take an additional ~~two~~ 2 hours per entity.

FDA estimates that the initial first year submission of registration information required by section 905 of the FD&C Act will take 2 hours per establishment, with a total of ~~6464,760~~ 6464,760 establishments that will be required to register under this rule, for a total of ~~1,2929,520~~ 12,929,520 hours (~~6464,760~~ 6464,760 × 2).

The estimate for the number of product listing submissions for cigars is derived by using product counts from two retail ~~websites: <http://www.cigarsinternational.com/>~~ Web sites: <http://www.cigarsinternational.com/> and <http://www.pipesandcigars.com/>. These two large Internet retailers had larger product offerings than other sites reviewed and sell both mass-market and specialty products. Estimates of product formulations and product-package combinations for cigars are centered over the product counts from the two ~~websites~~ Web sites. To derive the product listing count for pipe tobacco, we count the products on a ~~w~~ Web site with a broad product offering, ~~<http://www.pipesandcigars.com/>~~ <http://www.pipesandcigars.com/>. We

estimate formulations with the number of the product names and product-packages with the number of product-package combinations. FDA derives the product listing estimate for ENDS products by consulting experts at ~~FDA's Center for Tobacco Products~~[FDA's CTP](#) who cataloged the ENDS products currently available on ~~5 websites~~[five Web sites](#) and in scanner data from Nielsen-. FDA estimates that the initial first year submission of product listing information required by section 905 of the FD&C Act will take 2 hours per submission for [6464,760](#) submissions/annual responses for a total of [1,2929,520](#) hours.

Once information is entered into FURLs, the twice yearly confirmation of annual registration and product listing updates is simplified as all information previously entered is maintained in the system. Therefore, we expect the recurring burden of subsequent years for updating registration and product listing information will take 1 hour annually per establishment (12 minutes for registration and 48 minutes for product listing). The total hours are [646](#) (~~1294,760~~ [952](#) updating registration and [5173,808](#) product listing).

FDA estimates that obtaining a DUNS number will take 30 minutes. FDA assumes that all the establishment facilities that will be required to register under section 905 of the FD&C Act would obtain a DUNS number, with a total of [6464,760](#) establishments that would need to obtain this number. The total burden to obtain a DUNS number is [32426,181](#) hours.

FDA estimates that the submission of ingredient listing information as required by section 904 of the FD&C Act will take 3 hours per tobacco product based on the estimates found in the existing collection. The Agency estimates that approximately [2,69956,316](#) ingredient listings/annual responses will be submitted annually based on the methodology used for estimating the number of product listing submissions described in this section. The total

ingredient listing reporting is ~~8,097,69,242~~ hours. FDA estimates that the total burden for tobacco product establishment registration and ingredient listing reporting is ~~11,651,121,604~~ hours.

2. Tobacco Health Document Submission (OMB Control Number 0910-0654)

Description of Respondents: Respondents to this collection of information are tobacco product manufacturers or, importers, or agents thereof, who will submit all documents to FDA developed after June 22, 2009, that relate to health, toxicological, behavioral, or physiologic effects of current or future tobacco products. As stated elsewhere, however, FDA generally does not intend to take enforcement action regarding the submission of all such documents at this time so long as a specified set of documents are submitted by [the effective date ~~plus~~ 6 months].

FDA will publish additional guidance that specifies the scope of documents that manufacturers and importers will be required to submit by [the effective date ~~plus~~ 6 month], with sufficient advance time for manufacturers and importers to prepare their submissions.

Section 904(a)(4) of the FD&C Act requires each tobacco product manufacturer or importer, or agent thereof, to submit all documents to FDA developed after June 22, 2009, that relate to health, toxicological, behavioral, or physiologic effects of current or future tobacco products, their constituents (including smoke constituents), ingredients, components, and additives (tobacco health documents). To address concerns of certain small businesses relating to the tobacco health documents requirement, FDA is extending the compliance period for small-scale tobacco product manufacturers for ~~an additional 6- months~~ ~~after following~~ the ~~effective date~~ ~~end of this final rule~~ ~~the generally applicable compliance period~~ to allow submitters time to organize, compile, and digitize documents.

FDA is collecting the information submitted under section 904(a)(4) of the FD&C Act through an electronic portal and through a paper form (Form FDA 3743) for those individuals who choose not to use the electronic portal.

FDA estimates the additional annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 48.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large and Small)	2	4	8	50	400
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers	1	4	4	50	200
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers ENDS	1	4	4	50	200
Importers of Cigars and Pipe Tobacco Who Are Considered Manufacturers	1	4	4	50	200
Importers of eOther Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers ENDS	1	4	4	50	200
Total Hours Health Document Submission					1,200

¹There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

FDA estimates that a tobacco health document submission for cigars, pipe and waterpipe tobacco, other tobacco, tobacco importers, and importers of ENDS required by section 904(a)(4) of the FD&C Act, will take approximately 50 hours per submission based on the existing collection that applies to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act and FDA experience. To derive the number of respondents for this provision, FDA assumes that very few manufacturers or importers, or agents thereof, would have health documents to submit. Therefore, the Agency estimates that approximately six submissions (two for cigar manufacturers, one for pipe and waterpipe tobacco manufacturers, one for other tobacco product

manufacturers, and one for tobacco importers, and one for importers of ENDS who are considered manufacturers) will be submitted on an annual basis. FDA estimates the total number of hours is 1,200 hours (6 submissions multiplied by 4 times per year multiplied by 50 average burden hours).

3. Exemptions From Substantial Equivalence Requirements (OMB Control Number 0910-0684)

Description of Respondents: Respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers of deemed tobacco products who are requesting an exemption from the ~~substantial equivalence~~SE requirements of the FD&C Act.

In a final rule that published on July 5, 2011 (~~76 FR 38961~~),² FDA established procedures for manufacturers to request exemptions from the ~~substantial equivalence~~SE requirements of the Tobacco Control Act (SE exemptions final rule). The SE exemptions final rule was issued under section 905(j)(3) of the FD&C Act, which provides that FDA may exempt from the requirements relating to the demonstration of ~~substantial equivalence~~SE tobacco products that are modified by adding or deleting a tobacco additive, or increasing or decreasing the quantity of an existing tobacco additive, if FDA determines that: (1) ~~s~~Such modification would be a minor modification of a tobacco product that can be sold under the FD&C Act, (2) a report is not necessary to ensure that permitting the tobacco product to be marketed would be appropriate for protection of the public health, and (3) an exemption is otherwise appropriate.

The exemption request may be made only by the manufacturer of a legally marketed tobacco product for a minor modification to that manufacturer's product, and the request (and supporting information) must be submitted in an electronic format that FDA can process, review, and archive. In addition, the request and all supporting information must be legible and in (or translated into) the English language.

An exemption request must be submitted with supporting documentation and contain:

- ~~_____~~—The manufacturers address and contact information;
- ~~_____~~—identification of the tobacco product(s);
- ~~_____~~—a detailed explanation of the purpose for the modification;
- ~~_____~~—a detailed description of the modification, including a statement as to whether the modification involves adding or deleting a tobacco additive, or increasing or decreasing the quantity of an existing tobacco additive;
- a detailed explanation of why the modification is a minor modification of a tobacco product that can be sold under the FD&C Act;
- ~~_____~~—a detailed explanation of why a report under section 905(j)(1)(A)(i) intended to demonstrate ~~substantial equivalence~~SE is not necessary to ensure that permitting the tobacco product to be marketed would be appropriate for the protection of the public health;
- ~~_____~~—a certification summarizing the supporting evidence and providing the rationale for why the modification does not increase the tobacco products appeal to or use by minors, toxicity, addictiveness, or abuse liability;
- ~~_____~~—other information justifying an exemption; and
- ~~_____~~—an environmental assessment under part 25 (21 CFR part 25) prepared in accordance with § 25.40.

This information will enable FDA to determine whether the exemption request is appropriate for the protection of the public health. There is also a procedural mechanism for rescinding an exemption if FDA finds the exemption is not appropriate for the protection of the public health. In general, FDA will rescind an exemption only after providing the manufacturer

notice of the rescission and an opportunity for an informal hearing under part 16 (21 CFR part 16). However, FDA may rescind an exemption prior to notice and opportunity for a hearing under part 16 if the continuance of the exemption presents a serious risk to public health. In that case, FDA would provide the manufacturer an opportunity for a hearing as soon as possible after the rescission.

FDA reviews the information submitted in support of the request and determines whether to grant or deny the request based on whether the criteria specified in the statute are satisfied. FDA may request additional information from the manufacturer if necessary to make the determination. If the manufacturer fails to respond within the timeframe requested, FDA will consider the exemption request withdrawn.

FDA estimates the additional annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 59.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden (when manufacturers choose to seek exemption from substantial equivalence)¹

21 CFR Section and Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent ²	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
§ 1107.1(b) Optional Preparation of Tobacco Product Exemption From Substantial Equivalence Request Including § 25.40 Preparation of an Environmental Assessment					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	196	1	196	24	4,704
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	77 105	1	77 105	24	1,848 2520
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery Systems (Including Importers))	18	1	18	24	432
Total Hours (§ 1107.1(b))					6,984 7,656
§ 1107.1(c) Preparation of Additional Information for Tobacco Product Exemption From Substantial Equivalence Request:					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	98 59	1	98 59	3	294 177

Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	<u>2432</u>	1	<u>2432</u>	3	<u>6396</u>
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery Systems (Including Importers))	<u>243</u>	1	<u>243</u>	3	<u>639</u>
Total Hours (§ 1107.1(c))					<u>420282</u>
Section 905(j)(1)(A)(ii) of the FD&C Act: If exemption granted, report submitted to demonstrate tobacco product is modified under section 905(j)(3), modifications are to a product that is commercially marketed and compliant, and modifications covered by exemptions granted by Secretary under section 905(j)(3):					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	293	1	293	3	879
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (including importers)	<u>1456</u>	1	<u>1456</u>	3	<u>345468</u>
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery Systems (Including Importers))	26	1	26	3	78
Total Hours (section 905(j)(1)(A)(ii))					<u>13021425</u>
Total Hours Exemptions From Substantial Equivalence Requirements					<u>8,7069,363</u>

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

² This number is estimated to be the total annual responses divided by the number of respondents, rounded to the nearest hundredth.

The estimated average burden per response (in hours) is based on the burdens associated with the existing information collection that applies to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act (i.e., cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco).

FDA estimates that we will receive 294319 exemption requests under § 1107.1(b) for 24 hours per response including EA for a total of 6,9847,656 hours. Since an EA is required for each § 1107.1(b) (Optional Preparation of Tobacco Product Exemption From Substantial Equivalence Request), the burden per response for EAs (12 hours) has been combined with the 12 hours for an SE request for a total of 24 hours.

FDA estimates, based on the existing information collection that applies to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act, we will receive ~~14094~~ submissions requiring additional information in support of the initial exemption request, and it is expected that it will take an average of 3 hours to prepare the additional information for a total of ~~420282~~ hours.

FDA estimates that ~~434475~~ respondents will prepare ~~434475~~ responses and each response will take approximately 3 hours to prepare, as required by section 905(j)(1)(A)(ii), for a total of ~~1,302425~~ hours. This collection of information requires a manufacturer to submit a report at least 90 days prior to making an introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate commerce for commercial distribution of a tobacco product. Section 905(j)(1)(A)(ii) of the FD&C Act states that if an exemption has been requested and granted, the manufacturer must submit to FDA a report that demonstrates that the tobacco product is modified within the meaning of section 905(j)(3), the modifications are to a product that is commercially marketed and in compliance with the requirements of the FD&C Act, and all of the modifications are covered by exemptions granted by the Secretary pursuant to section 905(j)(3). [FDA estimated the total hours for exemptions from Substantial Equivalence Requirements would be 9,363 hours.](#)

FDA's estimates are based on full analysis of economic impacts (Ref. ~~2048~~) and information gathered from other FDA-regulated products.

4. Reports Intended To Demonstrate the Substantial Equivalence of a New Tobacco Product (OMB Control Number 0910-0673)

Description of Respondents: Respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers of deemed tobacco products who seek to submit a report to FDA demonstrating that a tobacco product is substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product under section 905(j)(1)(A)(i) of the FD&C Act.

Section 905(j)(1) of the FD&C Act authorizes FDA to establish the form and manner of the submission. FDA issued guidance intended to assist persons submitting reports under section 905(j) of the FD&C Act and to explain, among other things, FDA's interpretation of the statutory sections related to ~~substantial equivalence~~SE (see the Guidance for Industry and FDA ~~staff on~~Staff entitled "Section 905(j) Reports: Demonstrating Substantial Equivalence for Tobacco Products" (76 FR 789, January 6, 2011)).

Under the recently issued guidance, which published in the Federal Register of ~~March~~ September 8, 2015, entitled, "Demonstrating the Substantial Equivalence of a New Tobacco Product: Responses to Frequently Asked Questions," (Edition 2), FDA is recommending that certain modifications might be addressed in either a "Same Characteristics SE Report" or "Product Quantity Change Report." In some circumstances manufacturers may be able to submit a shorter ~~substantial equivalence~~SE report. In particular, if a tobacco product is distinct (e.g., it has a different name), but has the same characteristics as a valid predicate product, manufacturers may submit a Same Characteristics SE Report. If the only change to the tobacco product is a change to product quantity, and the per-weight composition inside the package remains identical, the manufacturer may submit a Product Quantity Change SE Report. ~~FDA's Center for Tobacco Products~~FDA's CTP estimates that it will take less time to prepare those shorter ~~substantial equivalence~~SE reports. ~~In May 2015, FDA announced that it is considering comments on this guidance and will either issue a revised guidance or announce its intention not to issue a revised guidance. See~~
<http://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/ucm448854.htm>.

When groups of full or product quantity change ~~substantial equivalence~~SE reports have identical content, they may be bundled; when a group of similar reports are bundled, the subsequent bundled reports are expected to take less time to prepare than the initial report.

FDA recognizes that many manufacturers of newly deemed products may be at the inception of their businesses. Therefore, FDA is announcing that the Agency ~~will~~may grant extension requests made by small-scale tobacco product manufacturers for SE Reports that need additional time to respond to deficiency letters for the first 30 months following the effective date of this rule.

FDA estimates the additional annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 610.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent ²	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Full SE Initial Sections 905(j)(1)(A)(i) and 910(a) and § 25.40 Environmental Assessments:					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	168	1	168	300	50,400
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	8+151	1	8+151	300	2445,300
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery Systems (Including Importers)))	16	1	16	300	4,800
Total Hours (sections 905(j)(1)(A)(i) and 910(a))					79100,500
Full SE Bundled 905(j)(1)(A)(i) and 910(a) and § 25.40 Environmental Assessments:					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	151	1	151	90	13,590
Pipe and Water Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	4283	1	4283	90	3,7807,470
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery Systems (Including Importers)))	16	1	16	90	1,440
Total Hours					18,81022,500
Same Characteristics SE Report and § 25.40 Environmental Assessments:					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	285	1	285	47	13,395
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	79132	1	79132	47	3,7136,204
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery systems) (Including Importers)))	1	1	1	47	47
Total Same Characteristics					17,15519,646
Product Quantity Change Initial and § 25.40 Environmental Assessments:					
Cigar Manufacturers	108	1	108	87	9,396

(Including Large, Small, and Importers)					
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	30	1	30	87	2,610
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery systems) (Including Importers))	1	1	1	87	87
Total Product Quantity Change Initial					12,093
Product Quantity Change Bundled and § 25.40 Environmental Assessments:					
Cigar Manufacturers (Including Large, Small, and Importers)	42	1	42	62	2,604
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	12	1	12	62	744
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS and Delivery systems) (Including Importers))	1	1	1	62	62
Total Same Characteristics Product Quantity Change					3,410
Total Hours ("Reports Intended to Demonstrate the Substantial Equivalence of a New Tobacco Product")					130,968 158,149

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

² This number is estimated to be the total annual responses divided by the number of respondents, rounded to the nearest hundredth.

FDA has based these estimates on the full analysis of economic impacts (Ref. [2048](#)) and experience with the existing information collection that applies to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act (i.e., cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco). In addition, anyone submitting an SE report is required to submit an environmental assessment under § 25.40.

The burden for environmental reports has been included in the burden per response for each type of SE report.

FDA estimates that ~~265335~~ respondents will prepare and submit ~~265335~~ section 905(j)(1)(A)(i) Full SE Initial reports each year and that it will take a manufacturer approximately 300 hours per report to prepare the reports of ~~substantial equivalence~~ SE and environmental assessment for a new tobacco product.

FDA estimates that we will receive ~~265335~~ Full SE Initial reports for a total of ~~79100,500~~ hours. We estimate ~~2509~~ Full SE Bundled Reports for a total of ~~18,840~~ 22,500 hours. FDA estimates that we will receive ~~365418~~ Same Characteristics SE Reports for a total of ~~17,155~~ 19,646 hours. FDA estimates receiving 139 Initial Product Quantity Change reports for a total of 12,093 hours. We estimate receiving 55 Product Quantity Change Bundled SE reports for a total of 3,410 hours. Based on FDA's experience with environmental assessments (EAs) for currently regulated tobacco products, we expect industry to spend 80 hours to prepare an environmental assessment for a full SE Report, but less time to prepare an environmental assessment for shorter ~~substantial equivalence~~ SE reports.

Therefore, FDA estimates the burden for submission of SE information will be ~~130,968~~ 158,149 hours.

5. Electronic Importer's Entry Notice (OMB Control Number 0910-0046)

Description of Respondents: Respondents to this collection of information are importers of tobacco products being imported or offered for import into the United States whose products meet the same requirements of the Tobacco Control Act as domestic tobacco products.

With the passage of the Tobacco Control Act, section 801 of the FD&C Act (21 U.S.C. 381) was amended to add tobacco products to the inventory of FDA-regulated products. The revised section 801 charges the Secretary of Health and Human Services, through FDA, with the responsibility of assuring that foreign-origin, FDA-regulated foods, drugs, cosmetics, medical

devices, radiological health, and tobacco products being imported or offered for import into the United States meet the same requirements of the FD&C Act as ~~do~~ domestic products and ~~the~~ responsibility for preventing products from entering the country if they are not in compliance.

The discharge of this responsibility involves close coordination and cooperation between FDA headquarters and field inspectional personnel and the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP). This collection of information is being used by FDA to review and prevent imported products from entering the United States if the products do not meet the same requirements of the FD&C Act as do domestic products.

Until October 1995, importers were required to file manual entry on OMB-approved forms, which were accompanied by related documents. Information provided by these forms included information such as country of origin, name of the importing vessel, entry number (assigned by CBP), port of entry, the port of lading and unloading, value in U.S. dollars, shipper or manufacturer, importer of record, original consignee, broker, broker's reference number and CBP house box number, bill of lading numbers, and location of goods. FDA stopped using these paper forms effective October 1, 1995, to eliminate duplication of information and to reduce the paperwork burden both on the import community and FDA. The Agency then developed and implemented an automated nationwide entry processing system, which enabled FDA to more efficiently obtain and process the information it requires to fulfill its regulatory responsibility.

Most of the information FDA requires to carry out its regulatory responsibilities under section 801 of the FD&C Act is already provided electronically by filers to CBP. Because CBP relays this data to FDA using an electronic interface, the majority of data submitted by the entry filer need be done only once.

FDA estimates the additional annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 711.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Importers of Cigars who are Considered Manufacturers	216	159	34,344	0.14 (8 ½ minutes)	4,808
Importers of Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Who Are Considered Manufacturers	43	123	5,2869	0.14 (8 ½ minutes)	740
Importers Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS)	14	-68	9,52952	0.14 (8 ½ minutes)	133
Total Hours Importation of Tobacco Products					5,681

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

FDA estimates the burden hours to be 5,681 burden hours (4,808 + 740 + 133 hours).

This reflects the addition of the newly deemed tobacco products to the list of FDA's regulated products. When testing the use of electronic and paper forms, FDA determined that the average time for completing either electronic or manual entries was the same.

Based on the original data collected by FDA when the importer entry notice information collection was most recently approved, it is expected that each respondent will take 0.14 hour (8 ½ minutes) to respond. The estimated hours per response are expected to remain the same for tobacco importers.

FDA estimates that there will be no additional costs to provide import data electronically to FDA, as filers already have equipment and software in place to enable them to provide data to CBP via the automated system. Therefore, no additional software or hardware need be developed or purchased to enable filers to file the FDA data elements at the same time they file entries electronically with CBP.

6. Exports: Notification and Recordkeeping Requirements (OMB Control Number 0910-0482)

Description of Respondents: Respondents are manufacturers, distributors, and other persons who export tobacco products not intended for sale in the United States.

In a rule published on February 2, 2012 (77 FR 5171), FDA amended certain of its general regulations to include tobacco products, where appropriate, in light of FDA's authority to regulate these products under the Tobacco Control Act (conforming amendments rule). The conforming amendments rule subjects tobacco products to the same general requirements that apply to other FDA-regulated products, where appropriate.

The conforming amendments rule amended 21 CFR 1.101(b), among other sections, to require persons who export human drugs, biologics, devices, animal drugs, foods, cosmetics, and tobacco products that may not be sold in the United States to maintain records demonstrating their compliance with the requirements in section 801(e)(1) of the FD&C Act. Section 801(e)(1) requires exporters to keep records demonstrating that the exported product: (1) Meets with the foreign purchaser's specifications; (2) does not conflict with the laws of the foreign country; (3) is labeled on the outside of the shipping package that is intended for export; and (4) is not sold or offered for sale in the United States. These criteria also could be met by maintaining other documentation, such as letters from a foreign government agency or notarized certifications from a responsible company official in the United States stating that the exported product does not conflict with the laws of the foreign country.

FDA estimates the annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 812.--Estimated Annual Recordkeeping Burden¹

Activity	No. of Recordkeepers	No. of Records per Recordkeeper	Total Annual Records	Average Burden per Recordkeeping (in hours)	Total Hours
21 CFR 1.101(b):					
Cigar Manufacturers (Large and Small)	57	3	171	2022	3,420,762
Pipe and Waterpipe Tobacco Manufacturers	37	3	111	2022	2,220,442
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS)	93	3	279	2022	5,580,6138
Exports: Notification and Recordkeeping Requirements					11,220,12,342

~~There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.~~

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

² At publication of the ~~proposed rule~~ NPRM, the burden for these activities were under OMB control number 0910-0690. The burden has since been transferred to OMB control number 0910-0482

The Agency has estimated the number of respondents and burden hours associated with the recordkeeping requirements by reviewing Agency records and using Agency expert resources, who have experience and information regarding tobacco product exporters. FDA estimates that 187 establishments (50 percent of all the tobacco manufacturers listed in the collection of information under OMB ~~control number~~ Control Number 0910-0046 ~~above~~ in this document who manufacture cigars, pipe tobacco, ~~W~~waterpipe, other tobacco products, and ENDS) could be involved in the exporting of all tobacco products annually. Based on previous recordkeeping estimates for the exporter's reporting burden in the existing OMB-approved collection of information (OMB ~~control number~~ Control Number 0910-0482, "Export Notification and Recordkeeping Requirements"), each establishment will maintain an average of three records per year, and it will take each recordkeeper an average of 2022 hours per recordkeeper to maintain each record. The Agency estimates 11,220,12,342 burden hours will be needed for tobacco product exporters to create and maintain records demonstrating compliance with section 801(e)(1) of the FD&C Act.

7. Establishing That a Tobacco Product Was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007 (OMB Control Number 0910-0775)

Description of Respondents: Respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers of tobacco products who wish to demonstrate that their tobacco product was commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of on~~ February 15, 2007, and is a grandfathered product not subject to premarket review.

On September 29, 2014, FDA published the guidance document entitled "Establishing That a Tobacco Product Was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007 (~~79 FR 58358~~)". This guidance provides information on how a manufacturer may demonstrate that a tobacco product was commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of on~~ February 15, 2007, and is, therefore, a grandfathered product not subject to premarket review. The guidance recommends that the manufacturer provide evidence that may include, among other things, dated copies of advertisements, dated catalog pages, dated promotional material, and dated bills of lading. FDA recommends that the manufacturer submit adequate information to demonstrate that the tobacco product was commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of on~~ February 15, 2007.

The estimate for the number of hours in the existing collection is FDA's estimate of how long it might take one to review, gather, and submit dated information if making a request for an Agency determination.

FDA estimates the annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 913.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
----------	--------------------	---------------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------------------	-------------

Cigars 2 Largest Manufacturers	1	1	1	5	5
Other Cigar Manufacturers (excluding 2 largest manufacturers and including large and small cigars, and importers)	1	1	1	5	5
Pipe Tobacco Manufacturers (Including Importers)	1	1	1	5	5
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (Including Importers)	1	1	1	5	5
Total Hours Establishing that a Tobacco Product was Commercially Marketed in the United States as of February 15, 2007					<u>2015</u>

¹ ~~There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.~~
~~There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.~~

² At publication of the [proposed rule NPRM](#), this collection was not yet approved by OMB. On September 8, 2014, OMB approved the information collection for 3 years.

Based on FDA's² experiences to date, and given that stand-alone grandfather submissions are purely voluntary, FDA does not anticipate that many manufacturers will make such submissions, but this option is available. As such, we assigned one respondent annually per type of product FDA estimates it will take a manufacturer approximately 5 hours to complete and submit for FDA review the evidence required by this collection of information for a total of 2015 hours.

C. Burdens Associated With Tobacco Products Currently Subject to the FD&C Act But Not Yet Approved by OMB

The information collections described in this section also involve collections that have been previously made available for public comment because they involved tobacco products currently subject to chapter IX of the FD&C Act. However, these information collections have not yet been approved by OMB.

FDA based the estimates on the existing collections that were previously made available for comment.

- Applications for Premarket Review of New Tobacco Products

Description of Respondents: The respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers who seek a marketing authorization order under section 910(c)(1)(A)(i) of the FD&C Act.

On September 28, 2011, FDA announced the availability of a draft guidance entitled "Applications for Premarket Review of New Tobacco Products~~(76 FR 60055)~~." This guidance, when finalized, will represent the Agency's current thinking on the topic. Section 910(a)(1) of the FD&C Act defines a "new tobacco product" as a tobacco product that was not commercially marketed in the United States ~~as of~~on February 15, 2007, or modification (including a change in design, any component, any part, or any constituent, including a smoke constituent, or in the content, delivery or form of nicotine, or any other additive or ingredient) of a tobacco product where the modified product was commercially marketed in the United States s after February 15, 2007. An order under section 910(c)(1)(A)(i) of the FD&C Act is required prior to marketing a new tobacco product. This requirement applies unless the product has been shown to be substantially equivalent to a valid predicate product or is exempt from ~~substantial equivalence~~SE.

Section 910(b) of the FD&C Act states that a PMTA shall contain full reports of all investigations of health risks; a full statement of all components, ingredients, additives, and properties, and of the principle or principles of operation of such tobacco product; a full description of methods of manufacturing and processing (which includes; a listing of all manufacturing, packaging, and control sites for the product); an explanation of how the product complies with applicable tobacco product standards; samples of the product and its components; and labeling.

FDA also encourages persons who would like to study their new tobacco product to meet with the ~~Office of Science~~OS in CTP to discuss their investigational plan. The request for a meeting should be sent in writing to the Director of CTP's ~~Office of Science~~OS and should include adequate information for FDA to assess the potential utility of the meeting and to identify FDA staff necessary to discuss agenda items. FDA is required to deny a PMTA and issue an order that the product may not be introduced or delivered for introduction into interstate commerce under section 910(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the FD&C Act if FDA finds that:

- ~~_____~~—The manufacturer has not shown that the product is appropriate for the protection of the public health,
- ~~_____~~—the manufacturing, processing, or packing methods, facilities, or controls do not conform to good manufacturing practices issued under section 906(e) of the FD&C Act,
- ~~_____~~—the labeling is false or misleading in any particular, or
- ~~_____~~—the manufacturer has not shown that the product complies with any tobacco product standard in effect under section 907 of the FD&C Act.

FDA estimates the annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table ~~4014~~—Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Obtaining an FDA Order Authorizing Marketing of Tobacco Product (the application)) and § 25.40 Environmental Assessments:					
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS Liquids and ENDS Delivery Systems (Including Importers))	200	2,533.75	7506	1,713	866,7781,284,750
Total Hours Obtaining an FDA order authorizing marketing Order Authorizing Marketing of tobacco					866,7781,284,

product Tobacco Product (the application)					750
Request for Meeting with CTP's Office of Science to Discuss Investigational Plan:					
Other Tobacco, E-Cigarettes, and Nicotine Product Manufacturers (ENDS Liquids and ENDS Delivery Systems (Including Importers))	200	1	200	4	800
Total Hours Request for Meeting with CTP's Office of Science to Discuss Investigational Plan					800
Total Hours "Applications for Premarket Review of New Tobacco Products"					867,578,128.550

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

FDA estimates that it will take each respondent approximately 1,500 hours to prepare a PMTA seeking an order from FDA allowing the marketing of a new tobacco product. FDA also estimates that it would on average take an additional 213 hours to prepare an environmental assessment in accordance with the requirements of § 25.40, for a total of 1,713 hours per PMTA application. This average represents a wide range of hours that will be required for these applications under different circumstances, with some requiring more hours (e.g., as many as 5,000 hours for early applications that involve complex products and for which the company has no experience conducting studies or preparing analysis of public health impacts, or for which reliance on master files is not possible) as well as many requiring fewer hours (e.g., as few as 50 hours for applications for products that are very similar to other new products).

~~FDA is not extending its compliance policy for premarket review to newly deemed flavored tobacco products. Therefore, many newly deemed flavored tobacco products will initially exit the market at the effective date of this final rule. However, this exit will be temporary for some products, as flavored products may apply for authorization to reenter the market.~~

Although FDA has decreased the burden per each PMTA, we have increased the number of expected responses for ENDS manufacturers. We attribute this increase to the rapid growing

ENDS market since the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) was published. FDA's estimate includes anticipated burden for the writing of an application, including intracompany edits and approvals.

FDA also estimates the number of PMTAs that FDA expects to receive annually will be ~~506~~ [\(428750 \(642 ENDS Liquids and 78108 ENDS Delivery Systems\)\)](#).

We are clarifying here that a PMTA may require one or more types of studies including chemical analysis, nonclinical studies, and clinical studies. FDA expects that chemical and design parameter analysis would include the testing of applicable HPHCs and nonclinical analysis would include literature synthesis and, as appropriate, some combination of in vitro or in vivo studies, and computational analyses. For the clinical study component, one or more types of studies may be included to address, as needed, perception, use pattern, or health impact. It is possible that an applicant may not need to conduct any new nonclinical or clinical studies. We note that for most applications, FDA does not expect that applicants will include randomized clinical trials, like those conducted to support drug and device approvals.

For tobacco products already on the market at the time of the final rule, much of the information required to support a PMTA may be obtained from previously published research on similar products. Therefore, FDA expects that a large portion of applications may be reviewed with no or minimal new nonclinical or clinical studies being conducted to support an application. In contrast, nonclinical and clinical studies may be required for market authorization of a new product for which there is ~~little to no~~[limited](#) understanding of its potential impact on the public health. The range of hours involved to compile these two types of applications would be quite variable.

FDA anticipates that the 200 potential respondents to this collection may need to meet with CTP's Office of Science to discuss their investigational plans. To request this meeting,

applicants should compile and submit information to FDA for meeting approval. FDA estimates that it will take approximately 4 hours to compile this information, for a total of 800 hours additional burden (200 respondents × 4 hours).

Therefore, the total annual burden for submitting PMTA applications is estimated to be ~~867,578~~1,285,550 hours. FDA's estimates are based on the corresponding information collection estimates that apply to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act and an assumption that manufacturers would submit applications for the premarket review of tobacco products.

D. New Collections of Information That Apply Only to Deemed Tobacco Products

1. Exemption From the Required Warning Statement Requirement

Description of Respondents: Respondents are manufacturers who, to obtain an exemption from the required addictiveness warning, ~~to~~ certify to FDA that their product does not contain nicotine and, that the manufacturer has data to support that assertion.

This rule contains a new information collection that pertains to an exemption process related to the requirement to include the warning statement in § 1143.3(a)(1). Section 1143.3(c) will provide an exemption to the manufacturer of a product that otherwise would be required to include the warning statement in § 1143.3(a)(1) on its packages and in its advertisements, i.e., “WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.” This warning will be required to appear on at least 30 percent of the two principal display panels of the package and on at least 20 percent of the area of the advertisement.

To obtain an exemption from this requirement, a manufacturer would be required to certify to FDA that its product does not contain nicotine and that the manufacturer has data to support that assertion. For any product that obtains this exemption, the section requires that the

product bear the statement: "This product is made from tobacco." The parties that package and label such products will share responsibility for ensuring that this alternative statement is included on product packages and in advertisements. The rule will permit companies to obtain an exemption from this warning requirement in the event that such tobacco products are developed in the future.

FDA estimates the annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 4415.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Activity	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Certification Statement	1	1	1	20	20
Total Exemptions From the Required Warning Statement Requirement					20

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

The estimated average burden per response is based on information collection estimates that apply to tobacco products currently subject to the FD&C Act. Although very few certifications are expected for tobacco products that do not contain nicotine, FDA estimates that the number of certification submissions could rise if the Agency decides in the future to address not only nicotine, but any other addictive substances.

The estimated hours listed in the burden table for certification submissions reflect the time needed to test the product for nicotine and to prepare and submit the self-certification request. FDA expects that these types of certifications will be very rare and estimates that the Agency will receive on average one submission per year.

FDA concludes that the labeling statements in §§ 1143.3(a)(1) and 1143.5(a)(1) and the alternative statement in § 1143.3(c) (i.e., "This product is made from tobacco") are not subject to review by OMB because they do not constitute a "collection of information" under the PRA (44 U.S.C. 3501-3520). Rather, these labeling statements are a "public disclosure" of information

originally supplied by the Federal Government to the recipient for the purpose of "disclosure to the public" (5 CFR 1320.3(c)(2)).

- ~~• Submitting warning plans for cigar manufacturers, importers, distributors, and retailers (responsible retailers who do not meet the exemption for health warning label statements on packaging and in advertisements)~~

2. Submitting Warning Plans for Cigar Manufacturers, Importers, Distributors, and Retailers

Description of Respondents:

The respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers, importers, distributors, and retailers, of cigar products who will be required to submit warning plans for cigars to FDA.

The requirement for submission of warning plans for cigar products, and the specific requirements relating to the random display and distribution of required warning statements on cigar packaging and quarterly rotation of required warning statements in alternating sequence on cigar product advertising, appear in § 1143.5(c).

The six warnings for cigars (five specifically for cigars and the one addictiveness warning) will be required to be randomly displayed in each 12-month period, in as equal a number of times as is possible on each brand of cigar sold in product packaging and be randomly distributed in all areas of the United States in which the product is marketed accordance with a warning plan submitted to, and approved by FDA. For advertisements, the warning statements must be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar in accordance with a warning plan submitted to, and approved by FDA.

For cigar products that are on the market as of the publication date of the final rule, the effective date for the requirement to submit warning plans by responsible manufacturers,

distributors, importers, and retailers is ~~one~~1 year after the date of publication of the final rule. FDA is establishing this effective date ~~one~~1 year before the effective date of the remainder of the part 1143 requirements because the Agency anticipates that there will be a need for considerable communication with submitters during its review of the warning plan submissions. FDA will work with the submitters to ensure that the plans submitted meet the established criteria for approval under part 1143. FDA also intends to update the warning plan draft guidance and information collection, which currently pertains to smokeless tobacco products, to assist manufacturers, importers, distributors, and retailers of cigars with the submission of warning plans. The information collection in this draft guidance is approved under OMB ~~control number 0904~~Control Number 0910-0671. The draft guidance document discusses, among other things: The statutory requirement to submit a warning plan; definitions; who submits a warning plan; the scope of a warning plan; when to submit a warning plan; what information should be submitted in a warning plan; where to submit a warning plan; and what approval of a warning plan means.

The warning statements on cigar packaging must be randomly displayed in each 12-month period, in as equal a number of times as is possible on each brand of cigar sold and are required to be randomly distributed in all areas of the United States in which the product is marketed in accordance with a warning plan submitted by the responsible cigar manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer to, and approved by FDA.

To clarify, retailers of cigars sold individually and not in product packaging are not required to submit a warning plan for warnings on packages, because the warning signs posted at a retailer's point-of-sale would include all six warnings applicable to cigars, as we have noted in § 1143.5(c)(1). Therefore, it is not necessary to submit a rotational warning plan for them. However, manufacturers, distributors, and those retailers who are responsible for or direct the

health warning of the advertisements of such products must submit a warning plan for their advertisements for FDA approval. The rule requires them to include warnings on advertisements, and the warnings that must be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar, in accordance with an FDA approved warning plan.

FDA is also requiring that the required warning statements be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar, regardless of whether the cigar is sold in product packaging. This rotation of warning statements in cigar advertisements also must be done in accordance with a warning plan submitted by the responsible cigar manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer to, and approved by, FDA.

FDA estimates the annual burden for the information collection as a result of this rule as follows:

Table 4216.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Cigar Warning Plan	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Retailers	33	1	33	120	3,960
Manufacturers, Importers, Distributors and Retailers	3296	1	3296	120	35,520
Total Cigar Warning Plan					39,480

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

The burden estimates are based on FDA's experience with smokeless warning plans and the associated information collection (OMB ~~control number~~ Control Number 0910-0671) as well as warning plans for cigarettes submitted to the ~~Federal Trade Commission~~ FTC prior to the implementation of the Tobacco Control Act on June 22, 2009.

~~We estimate the number of retailers who will submit warning plans for cigars to be 33. FDA based this estimate on experience with smokeless warning plan submission where 10 percent of cigar entities (329) submitting warning plans are retailers. FDA estimates the burden hours for retailers to prepare warning plans to be 3,960. FDA estimates the number of~~

~~manufacturers, distributors, and importers who will submit warning plans for cigars to be 296.~~

~~FDA estimates the burden hours for manufacturers, importers, distributors to be 35,520.~~

~~FDA estimates, therefore, that~~We estimate 329 entities will submit warning plans, and it will take an average of 120 hours per respondent to prepare and submit a warning plan for packaging and advertising ~~and~~for a total of 39,480 hours.

- 3. Small-scale manufacturer report Scale Manufacturer Report

Description of Respondents: The respondents to this collection of information are manufacturers known as "small-scale tobacco product manufacturers."

As discussed in section IV of this document, FDA requested comment on the ability of smaller manufacturers of newly deemed tobacco products to fully comply with the requirements of the FD&C Act and how FDA might be able to address those concerns. Considering the comments and FDA's finite enforcement resources, the Agency's current thinking is that those resources may not be best used in immediately enforcing the provisions of this rule against certain manufacturers that are small-scale tobacco product manufacturers and that fail to comply with certain requirements of the FD&C Act. FDA retains discretion in all cases to conduct an individualized inquiry and to consider any and all relevant facts in determining whether to bring an enforcement action.

Generally, FDA considers a "small-scale tobacco product manufacturer" to be a manufacturer of any regulated tobacco product that employs 20150 or fewer full-time equivalent employees and has annual total revenues of \$7505,000,000 or less. FDA considers a manufacturer to include each entity that it controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such manufacturer. To help make FDA's individual enforcement decisions more efficient, a manufacturer may voluntarily submit information regarding employment and revenues. FDA

~~does not believe a large number of manufacturers who fit the criteria of a small-scale tobacco product manufacturer would submit the voluntary information.~~

FDA estimates that there are ~~47~~approximately 75 small-scale manufacturers ~~based on aggregate data from a 2012 NAICS code survey who will voluntarily submit information.~~ FDA believes it will take respondents 2 hours to voluntarily submit information regarding employment and revenues for a total of 94150 hours.

FDA has estimated the burden for submitting the ~~“~~“small-scale tobacco product manufacturer~~”~~” annual report as follows:

Table ~~4317~~4317.--Estimated Annual Reporting Burden¹

Cigar Warning Plan <u>Activity</u>	No. of Respondents	No. of Responses per Respondent	Total Annual Responses	Average Burden per Response (in hours)	Total Hours
Small-scale manufacturer² reporting <u>Scale Manufacturer Reporting</u>	47 <u>75</u>	1	47 <u>75</u>	2	94150 <u>94150</u>
Total Small-scale manufacturer report Scale Manufacturer Report					94150 <u>94150</u>

¹ There are no capital costs or operating and maintenance costs associated with this collection of information.

The total burden for these new collections of information in this rulemaking is ~~1,065,398~~21,212 reporting hours (~~11,651~~121,604 + 1,200 + ~~8,706~~+ 130,9689,363 + ~~158,149~~+ 5,681 + ~~20~~+ 867,57815 + ~~1,285,550~~+ 20 + 39,480 + 94150) and ~~11,220~~12,342 recordkeeping hours for a total of ~~1,076,618~~633,554 burden hours.

The information collection provisions in this final rule have been submitted to OMB for review as required by section 3507(d) of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995.

Before the effective date of this final rule, FDA will publish a notice in the Federal Register announcing OMB~~'~~'s decision to approve, modify, or disapprove the information collection provisions in this final rule. An Agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is

not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number.

XX. Executive Order 13132; Federalism

FDA has analyzed this final rule in accordance with the principles set forth in Executive Order 13132. FDA has determined that the rule does not contain policies that have substantial direct effects on the States, on the relationship between the National Government and the States, or on the distribution of power and responsibilities among the various levels of government. Accordingly, the Agency has concluded that the rule does not contain policies that have federalism implications as defined in the Executive Order and, consequently, a federalism summary impact statement is not required.

XXI. Executive Order 13175; Tribal Consultation

In accordance with Executive Order 13175, FDA has consulted with Tribal Government officials. FDA sought comment from Tribal Governments on April 25, 2014, and conducted a consultation with tribes via ~~W~~Webinar regarding the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) on May 29, 2014. FDA received one comment from a tribe stating that FDA failed to ensure meaningful and timely input from tribal officials as required by Executive Order 13175 and requesting tribal consultation in relation to existing premarket review activities for cigarettes, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco. In response, FDA conducted a face-to-face ~~consultation~~[meeting](#) with the ~~T~~Tribe regarding the ~~proposed rule~~[NPRM](#) on January ~~15~~[21](#), 2015. FDA has determined that this final rule does not have tribal implications under Executive Order 13175, because it does not, to our knowledge, have a substantial direct effect on one or more Indian tribes, on the relationship between the Federal Government and Indian tribes, or on

the distribution of power and responsibilities between the Federal Government and Indian tribes, nor does it impose substantial direct compliance costs.

~~_____~~(Comment)- 305 One comment stated that FDA failed to ensure meaningful and timely input from tribal officials as required by Executive Order 13175 and the HHS Consultation Policy.- The comment acknowledged FDA's "Dear Tribal Leader" letter and Webinar and requested a face-to-face meeting between FDA and its tribe in relation to existing premarket review activities for cigarettes, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco.-

~~_____~~(Response)- FDA adheres to Executive Order 13175 and the HHS Consultation Policy.- FDA is committed to meaningful consultation with federally recognized Tribes on FDA's implementation and enforcement of the Tobacco Control Act.- As a result of the tribe's inquiry, FDA participated in a face-to-face meeting.

(Comment)- 306 One comment encouraged FDA -to respect tribal sovereignty in its enforcement of the tobacco regulation.- The comment recommended that FDA provide both training and funding opportunities to tribal governments to alleviate the economic burdens stemming from enforcement of the rule.- The comment urged FDA to make certain the regulatory burdens do not limit the economic viability of tribal operations.-

(Response)- FDA recognizes tribal sovereignty and tribal self-regulation and will work in partnership with tribal leaders to monitor compliance with this rule.- As explained in this rule, FDA is implementing this rule to protect public health.- However, FDA recognizes that compliance with many of the automatic provisions may be challenging at first for entities that are new to Federal public health regulation and as a result, provided -compliance policies relating to provisions such as -premarket authorizations and provided additional time to comply with certain

requirements of the FD&C Act for small-scale tobacco manufacturers.— FDA will provide training and other opportunities to tribal governments after the rule ~~is~~ finalized.

XXII. References

The following references ~~have been placed~~are on display in the Division of Dockets Management (see ADDRESSES) and ~~may be seen~~are available for viewing by interested persons between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m. Monday through Friday, ~~and; they~~ are also available electronically at <http://www.regulations.gov>. (FDA has verified ~~all~~ the Web site addresses ~~in this reference section, but FDA is not responsible for any subsequent changes to, as of~~ the Web sites ~~after date~~ this document publishes in the Federal Register), but Web sites are subject to change over time.

1. Hammond, D., "U.S. Department of Health ~~Warning Messages on~~ and Human Services, "The Health Consequences of Smoking: Nicotine and Addiction," A Report of the Surgeon General; 1988, available at <http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/NN/B/B/Z/D>.

2. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease," A Report of the Surgeon General; 2010, available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53017>.

3. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Preventing Tobacco Use Among Young People," A Report of the Surgeon General; 1994, available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53017/>.

4. Levin, E. D., S. Lawrence, A. Petro, et al., "Adolescent vs. Adult-Onset Nicotine Self-Administration in Male Rats: Duration of Effect and Differential Nicotinic Receptor Correlates," *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 29(4):458-465, 2007.

5. President's Cancer Panel, "Promoting Healthy Lifestyles," 2007, available at <http://deainfo.nci.nih.gov/advisory/pcp/annualReports/pcp07rpt/pcp07rpt.pdf>.

6. [DiFranza, J. A., J. A. Savageau, K. Fletcher, et al., "Symptoms of Tobacco Dependence After Brief Intermittent Use," Arch. Pediatric Adolesc. Med., 161\(7\):704-710, 2007.](#)
7. [Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, "Ending the Tobacco Problem: A Blueprint for the Nation," 2007, available at <http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2007/Ending-the-Tobacco-Problem-A-Blueprint-for-the-Nation.aspx>.](#)
8. [Counotte, D. S., A. B. Smit, T. Battij, and S. Spijker, "Development of the Motivational System During Adolescence, and Its Sensitivity to Disruption by Nicotine," Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 1\(4\):430-443, 2011.](#)
9. [U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "The Health Consequences of Smoking--50 Years of Progress," A Report of the Surgeon General; 2014, available at <http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/50-years-of-progress/full-report.pdf>.](#)
10. [Waldrum, H. L., O. G. Nilsen, et al., "Long-Term Effects of Inhaled Nicotine," Life Sciences, 58\(16\):1339-1346, 1996.](#)
11. [Russell, M., "Low-Tar Medium-Nicotine Cigarettes: A New Approach to Safer Smoking," British Medical Journal, 1\(6023\), 1430-1433, 1976.](#)
12. [Wikstrom, A. K., S. Cnattingius, O. Stephansson, "Maternal use of Swedish Snuff \(snus\) and Risk of Stillbirth," Epidemiology, 21\(6\):772-778, 2010.](#)
13. [Slotkin, T. A., "Fetal Nicotine or Cocaine Exposure: Which one is Worse?," Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 10\(1\):1-16, 1998.](#)
14. [Benowitz, N. L., Products: A "Nicotine Addiction," New England Journal of Medicine, 362\(24\):2295-2303, 2010.](#)

15. Benowitz, N. L., S. G. Gourlay, "Cardiovascular Toxicity of Nicotine: Implications for Nicotine Replacement Therapy," *Journal of American College of Cardiology*, 29(7):1422-1431, 1997.
16. Grana, R., N. Benowitz, S. A. Glantz, "E-Cigarettes: A Scientific Review," *Circulation*, 129(19):1972-1986, 2014.
17. Davis, B., M. Dang, J. Kim, et al., "Nicotine Concentrations in Electronic Cigarette Refill and Do-it-Yourself Fluids," *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 17(2):134-141, 2015.
- ~~18. Cameron, J. M., D. N. Howell, J. R. White, et al., "Variable and Potentially Fatal Amounts of Nicotine in E-Cigarette Nicotine Solutions," *Tobacco Control*, 20(5):327-337, 2011; 23: 77-78, 2014.~~
19. ~~1A.~~ Etter, J., E. Zather, S. Svensson, "Analysis of Refill Liquids for Electronic Cigarettes," *Addiction*, 108(9):1671-1679, 2013.
20. Goniewicz M. L., T. Kuma, T.M., Gawron M., Knysak J., Kosmider L., et al., "Nicotine Levels in Electronic Cigarettes," *Nicotine Tob Res. (Jan. 2013)*, & *Tobacco Research*, 15(1):158-66, available at <http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/129/19/1972.full.166>, 2013.
21. ~~1B.~~ Ayers, J. W., K. M. Ribisl, and J. S. Brownstein, "Tracking the Rise in Popularity of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (Electronic Cigarettes) Using Search Query Surveillance," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 40(4):448-453, 2011.
- ~~1C. Gateway to Addiction? A Survey of Popular Electronic Cigarette Manufacturers and Targeted Marketing to Youth, available at:
[http://democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Report E-Cigarettes_Youth_Marketing_Gateway_To_Addiction_2014_4-14.pdf](http://democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Report_E-Cigarettes_Youth_Marketing_Gateway_To_Addiction_2014_4-14.pdf).~~

~~22. ID.~~—Arrazola, R.A., ~~T. Singh, T., C. G. Corey, C.G., et al.,~~ "Tobacco Use Among Middle and High School Students – United States, 2011-2014," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 64(14):381-385, April 17, 2015, ~~64(14):381–385.~~ available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6414a3.htm>.

~~23. HE.~~—Leventhal, A.M., ~~D. R. Strong, D.R., M. G. Kirkpatrick, M.G., et al.,~~ "Association of Electronic Cigarette Use With Initiation of Combustible Tobacco Product Smoking in Early Adolescence," JAMA, 2015;," Journal of the American Medical Association, 314(7):700-707. doi:10.1001/jama., 2015.8950.

~~24.~~ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Electronic Cigarette Use Among Adults: United States, 2014," National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) Data Brief, No. 217, October 2015.

~~25.~~ Sutfin, E. L., T. P. McCoy, B. A. Reboussin, et al., "Prevalence and Correlates of Waterpipe Tobacco Smoking by College Students in North Carolina," Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 115(1-02):131-136, 2011.

~~26.~~ Eissenberg, T., K. D. Ward, S. Smith-Simone, et al., "Waterpipe Tobacco Smoking on a U.S. College Campus: Prevalence and Correlates," Journal of Adolescent Health, 42(5):526-529, 2008.

~~27.~~ Johnston, L. D., P. M. O'Malley, R. A. Miech, et al., Monitoring the Future National Results on Drug Use: 1975-2013: Overview, Key Findings on Adolescent Drug Use. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan, 2014.

~~28.~~ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, National Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2013. ICPSR35509-v1. Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor]. doi:10.3886/ICPSR35509.v1.

<http://www.icpsr.umich.edu/icpsrweb/SAMHDA/sda>, Released November 18, 2014, analyzed online using SDA April 17, 2015.

29. [Youth Risk Behavior Survey, Trends in the Prevalence of Tobacco Use National YRBS: 1991-2013; available at:](#)

http://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/tobacco/pdf/us_tobacco_trend_yrbs.pdf.

30. [Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, “Growing up Tobacco Free: Preventing Nicotine Addiction in Children and Youths,” 1994, available at](#)

<http://www.nap.edu/catalog/4757.html>.

31. [Durbin, R., et al., "Gateway to Addiction? A Survey of Popular Electronic Cigarette Manufacturers and Targeted Marketing to Youth," April 14, 2014, available at](#)

http://www.merkley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Durbin_eCigarette_percent20Survey.pdf.

32. [Rodriguez, J., R. Jiang, W. C. Johnson, et al., "The Association of Pipe and Cigar Use with Cotinine Levels, Lung Function, and Airflow Obstruction: A Cross-Sectional Study,"](#)

[Annals of Internal Medicine, 152\(4\):201-210, 2010.](#)

33. [McDonald, I. J., R. S. Bhatia, P. D. Hollett, "Deposition of Cigar Smoke Particles in the Lung: Evaluation with Ventilation Scan Using \(99m\)Tc-Labeled Sulfur Colloid Particles,"](#)

[Journal of Nuclear Medicine, 43\(12\):1591-1595, 2002.](#)

34. [Weglicki, L. S., "Tobacco Use Assessment: What Exactly is Your Patient Using and Why is it Important to Know?", *Ethnicity & Disease, 18\(3 Suppl 3\):s3-1-s3-6, 2008.*](#)

35. [Baker, F., et al., "Health Risks Associated With Cigar Smoking," *Journal of the American Medical Association, 284\(6\):735-740, 2000.*](#)

36. [Hammond, D., "Health Warning Messages on Tobacco Products: A Review," *Tobacco Control, 20\(5\):327-337, 2011.*](#)

~~2.37.~~ Hammond, D., G. T. Fong, G. T., R. Borland, R., Cummings, K. M., McNeill, A., Driezen, P., et al., "Text and Graphic Warnings on Cigarette Packages: Findings from the International Tobacco Control Four Country Study," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 32(3):202-209, 2007.

~~3.38.~~ Elliott & Shanahan Research, "Literature Review: Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the Graphic Health Warnings on Tobacco Product Packaging 2008," Prepared for Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, 2009, available at [http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/0DBCB8D4FA37F440CA257BF0001F9FAB/\\$File/lit-rev-hw-eval.pdf](http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/0DBCB8D4FA37F440CA257BF0001F9FAB/$File/lit-rev-hw-eval.pdf).

~~4.39.~~ Bansal-Travers, M., et al., "The Impact of Cigarette Pack Design, Descriptors, and Warning Labels on Risk Perception in the U.S.," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, Am. J. Pre. Med. 2011 June; 40(6):-674-82, 2011.

~~5.1.~~ Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, "Ending the Tobacco Problem: A Blueprint for the Nation," 2007, available at <http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2007/Ending-the-Tobacco-Problem-A-Blueprint-for-the-Nation.aspx>.

~~40.~~ Centre for Behavioral Research in Cancer, "Health Warnings and Content Labelling on Tobacco Products", 1992, Bates Nos. 2023248493-8742, available at <https://industrydocuments.library.ucsf.edu/tobacco/docs/fsbw0114>.

~~6.41.~~ U.S. Government Accountability Office, "No. 13-723," New Tobacco Products: FDA Needs to Set Time Frames for Its Review Process," GAO No. 13-723, Sept. 2013, available at <http://www.gao.gov/assets/660/657451.pdf>.

42. Friedman, A. S., "How does Electronic Cigarette Access Affect Adolescent Smoking?," Journal of Health Economics, 44:300-308, 2015, available at <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167629615001150>.

43. "Nicotine Branded Made-in-Switzerland Gets E-Cig Boost", Bloomberg Business (March 6, 2014) (online at <http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-03-06/nicotine-branded-made-in-switzerland-gets-e-cig-boost>).

7.44. Steve Nelson, "E-Cigarette Users Would Ignore Bans, Turn to Black Market, Survey Finds, U.S. News & World Report, available at <http://www.usnews.com/news/articles/2014/07/17/e-cigarette-users-would-ignore-bans-turn-to-black-market-survey-finds> (July 17, 2014)., available at <http://www.usnews.com/news/articles/2014/07/17/e-cigarette-users-would-ignore-bans-turn-to-black-market-survey-finds>.

8.45. Henchman, Joseph, and Scott, J., S. Drenkard, "Cigarette Taxes and Cigarette Smuggling by State," March 19, 2014, available at <http://taxfoundation.org/article/cigarette-taxes-and-cigarette-smuggling-state>.

46. National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, "Understanding the U.S. Illicit Tobacco Market: Characteristics, Policy Context, and Lessons from International Experiences," 2015, available at http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=19016.

47. Health Canada, Notice, "To All Persons Interested in Importing, Advertising or Selling Electronic Smoking Products in Canada," 2009, available from: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/prodpharma/applic-demande/pol/notice_avis_e-cig-eng.ph.

48. Czoli, C. D., J. L. Reid, V. L. Rynard, D. Hammond. "E-Cigarettes in Canada - Tobacco Use in Canada: Patterns and Trends," 2015 Edition, Special Supplement available at http://www.tobaccoreport.ca/2015/TobaccoUseinCanada_2015_EcigaretteSupplement.pdf.

49. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Preventing Tobacco Use Among Youth and Young Adults," A Report of the Surgeon General; 2012, available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK99237/>.

50. Mennella, J. A., ~~M.~~ Y. Pepino, D. R. Reed, "Genetic and Environmental Determinants of Bitter Perception and Sweet Preferences," *Pediatrics*, 115(2):e216-e222, 2005.

51. Desor, J. A., G. ~~K.~~ Beauchamp, "Longitudinal Changes in Sweet Preferences in Humans," *Physiology & Behavior*, 39(5):639-641, 1987.

9. ~~Enns, M. P., Carrie M. Carpenter, et al., "New Cigarette Brands with Flavors that Appeal to Youth: Tobacco Marketing Strategies," *Health Affairs*, 24(6):1601-1610, 2005.~~

9A. ~~Roper Starch Worldwide. Consumer Needs Assessment Interview Number 1 (Kimberly J.) Chicago, Illinois, 20000321, 11:30 AM. 21 Mar 2000. Lorillard. <http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/pes97g00>.~~

10. ~~Cummings, K. M., Morley, C. P., Horan, T. ~~J.~~ K., Steger, C., Leavell, N. R., "Marketing to America's Youth: Evidence From Corporate Documents," *Tobacco Control*, 11(Suppl 1):i5-i17, 2007.~~

10A. ~~Neff, L.J., Arrazola, R.A., Caraballo, R.S., et al., "Frequency of Tobacco Use Among Middle and High School Students—United States, 2014," *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 64(38):1061-1065, Oct. 2, 2015, available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6438.pdf>.~~

~~11. Manning, K. C., Kelly, K. J., Comello, M. L., “Flavoured Cigarettes, Sensation Seeking and Adolescents' Perceptions of Cigarette Brands,” Tobacco Control, 18(6):459-465, 2009.~~

~~11A. Brown JE, Luo W, Isabelle LM, Pankow JF. Candy flavorings in tobacco. The New England journal of medicine. Jun 5 2014;370(23):2250-2252.~~

~~52. B. Van Itallie, J. A. Grinker, "Contributions of Age, Sex and Degree of Fatness on Preferences and Magnitude Estimations for Sucrose in Humans," Physiology & Behavior, 22(5):999-1003, 1979.~~

~~53. De Graaf, C., E. H. Zandstra, "Sweetness Intensity and Pleasantness in Children, Adolescents, and Adults," Physiology & Behavior, 67(4):513-520, 1999.~~

~~12.54. Villanti, A. C., A. Richardson, D. M., Vallone, et al., “Flavored Tobacco Product Use Among U.S. Young Adults,” American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 44(4):388–391, 2013.~~

~~12A. Brian Corey, C. G., B. K. A. King et al., Flavored Cigar Smoking Among U.S. Adults: Findings from the 2009–2010 Adult Tobacco Survey, 15 Nicotine & Tobacco Res. 608, 608–614 (Feb. 2013).~~

~~12B. Shannon M. Farley, et al, Teen Use of Flavored Tobacco Products in New York City NICOTINE TOBACCO RES. 1 (published online ahead of print) doi:10.1093/ntr/ntu126 (2014).~~

~~13. Choi, K., Fabian, L., Mottey, N., Corbett, A., Forster, J., “Young Adults' Favorable Perceptions of Snus, Dissolvable Tobacco Products, and Electronic Cigarettes: Findings From a Focus Group Study,” American Journal of Public Health, 102(11):2088–2093, 2012.~~

~~14. —Primaack, B. A., Walsh, M., Bryce, C., Eissenberg, T., “Water Pipe Tobacco Smoking Among Middle and High School Students In Arizona,” Pediatrics, 123(2):e282–e288, 2009.~~

~~15. —King, B. A., Dube, S. R., Tynan, M. A., “Current Tobacco Use Among Adults in the United States: Findings From the National Adults in the United States: Findings From the National Adult Tobacco Survey,” American Journal of Public Health, 102(11):e93–e100, 2012.~~

~~15A. —Huh J, Timberlake DS. Do smokers of specialty and conventional cigarettes differ in their dependence on nicotine? Addictive behaviors. Feb 2009;34(2):204–211.~~

~~16. —Delnevo, C. D., D. P. Giovenco, B. K. Ambrose, et al., “Preference for Flavoured Cigar Brands Among Youth, Youth Adults and Adults in the USA,” Tobacco Control, doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2013-051408; 1–6, 2014.~~

~~16A. —Brian A. King et al., Awareness and Ever Use of Electronic Cigarettes Among U.S. Adults, 2010–2011, 15(9) NICOTINE & TOBACCO RES. 1623, 1625 tbl.1 (2013).~~

~~16C. —Andrew J. Oliver et al., Flavored and Nonflavored Smokeless Tobacco Products: Rate, Pattern of Use, and Effects, 15(1) NICOTINE & TOBACCO RES. 88, 90 tbl.1 (2013).~~

~~16D. —Lorillard. What you need to know about e-cigarettes—Infographic. 2014; <http://www.realparentsrealanswers.com/what-you-need-to-know-about-e-cigarettes-infographic/>. Accessed August 6, 2014.~~

~~16E. —Ambrose B.K., Day H.R., Rostron B. et al. B. J. Apelberg, et al., “Flavored Tobacco Product Use Among U.S. Youth Aged 12–17 Years, 2013–2014. JAMA 2015; 314(17):XXX–XXX, published online October 26, 2015 at www.jama.com.~~

~~55. 16F. —Corey, C.G., Ambrose, B.K., Apelberg, B.J., King, B.A. “Flavored Tobacco Product Use Among Middle and High School Students – United States, 2014,”~~

Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 64(38); 1066-1070, Oct. 2, 2015, available at

<http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6438.pdf>.

17. — Richter P, HodgeRegan, A. K, Stanfill., S, et al. “Surveillance of moist snuff: total nicotine, moisture, pH, un-ionized nicotine, and tobacco-specific nitrosamines.” Nicotine and Tobacco Research 2008;10(11):1645-1652.

18. — Rath JM, Villanti AC, Abrams DB, Vallone DM. Patterns of tobacco use and dual use in US young adults: the missing link between youth prevention and adult cessation. J Environ Public Health. 2012;2012:679134.

19. — King, B.A., Tynan, M.A., R. Dube, S.R., & Arrazola, R. (2014). "Smokeless and Flavored little cigar and flavored cigarette use among Tobacco Products in the U.S. middle and high school students. J Adoles Health 54(1):40-46.

20. — Arrazola, R.A., Kulper, N.M., Dube, S.R. Patterns of current use of tobacco products among U.S. high school students for 2000-2012—findings from the National Youth Tobacco Survey, Journal of Adolescent Health, 54(1);54-60, 2014.

20A. — House Report No. 111-58(I), March 26, 2009, pg. 4.

21.56. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, .: 2009 Styles Survey Results from the 2010 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings, available at: <http://oas.samhsa.gov/NSDUH/2k10NSDUH/2k10Results.pdf>.

American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 42(1):29-36, 2013.

57. — King, B. A., S. R. Dube, M. A. Tynan, "Flavored Cigar Smoking Among U.S. Adults: Findings from the 2009-2010 Adult Tobacco Survey," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 15(2):608-614, 2013.

58. House Rep. No. 111-58, Part 1, March 26, 2009, available at <http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CRPT-111hrpt58/pdf/CRPT-111hrpt58-pt1.pdf>.

59. ~~Delnevo, C. D., D. P. Giovenco, B. K. Ambrose, et al., "Preference for Flavoured Cigar Brands Among Youth, Young Adults and Adults in the USA," Tobacco Control, 24(4):389-394, 2015.~~

~~22.—Ambrose, B. K., H. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Results from the 2011 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings, available at: <http://media.samhsa.gov/data/NSDUH/2k11Results/NSDUHresults2011.pdf>.~~

~~60. ___ Krishnan Sarin S, Morean ME, Camenga DR, Cavallo DA, Kong G. E-cigarette use among high school and middle school adolescents in Connecticut. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2014 Nov 9 pii: ntu243R. Day, B. Rostron, et al., "Flavored Tobacco Product Use Among U.S. Youth Aged 12-17 Years, 2013-2014," Journal of the American Medical Association, 314(17):1871-1873, 2015.~~

61. Kong, G., M. E. Morean, D. A. Cavallo, et al., "Reasons for Electronic Cigarette Experimentation and Discontinuation among Adolescents and Young Adults," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntu257, 2014.

~~23.1. ___ [Epub ahead of print].~~

~~23A.—American Cancer Society. "Electronic Cigarettes (E-Cigarettes)." CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians; March 14, 2014; available at: <http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/caac.21228/pdf>.~~

~~23B.—American Academy of Pediatrics. "E-cigarettes Easy to Buy, Can Hook Kids on Nicotine." AAP News Vol. 34, No. 11, Nov. 1, 2013 (doi: 10.1542/aapnews.20133411-24d).~~

~~23C.—Bolario, J.L. “Candy Flavors Put E-Cigarettes on Kids’ Menu.” National Public Radio (Feb. 17, 2014); available at:~~

~~<http://www.npr.org/blogs/health/2014/02/17/276558592/candy-flavors-put-e-cigarettes-on-kids-menu>.~~

~~62. 23D.—Konstantinos Farsalinos, K. E., G. Romagna, D. Tsiapras, et al., "Impact of Flavour Variability on Electronic Cigarette Use Experience: An Internet Survey, INT’L J. ENVTL. RESEARCH & PUB. HEALTH," International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health, 10(12):7272–7275 (2013), available at <http://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/10/12/7272>.~~

~~63. Barbeau A. M., J. Burda, M. Siegel, "Perceived Efficacy of E-Cigarettes Versus Nicotine Replacement Therapy Among Successful E-Cigarette Users: A Qualitative Approach," Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, 8(5), 2013.~~

~~Feirman, S. P., 23E.—Preliminary Scientific Evaluation of the Possible Public Health Effects of Menthol Versus Nonmenthol Cigarettes, Food and Drug Administration, available at <http://www.fda.gov/downloads/ScienceResearch/SpecialTopics/PeerReviewofScientificInformationandAssessments/UCM361598.pdf>.~~

~~23F.—Fernander A., Rayens ML, Zhang M, et al. Are age of smoking initiation and purchasing patterns associated with menthol smoking? Addiction, 2010 Dec;105 Suppl 1:39-45.~~

~~23G.—Hersey JC, Ng SW, Nonnemaker JM, et al. Are menthol cigarettes a starter product for youth? Nicotine Tob Res (2006) 8 (3): 403-413.~~

~~23H.—Hersey JC, Nonnemaker JM, Homsí G. Menthol cigarettes contribute to the appeal and addiction potential of smoking for youth. Nicotine Tob Res. 2010 Dec;12 Suppl 2:S136-46.~~

~~23I.—Nonnemaker J, Hersey J, Homsy G, Busey A, Allen J, Vallone D. Initiation with menthol cigarettes and youth smoking update. Addiction. 2013 Jan; 108(1) 171-178.~~

~~24.—U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General; Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, 2014.~~

~~25.—Rodriguez, J., Jiang, R., Johnson, W. C., et al., “The Association of Pipe and Cigar Use with Cotinine Levels, Lung Function, and Airflow Obstruction: A Cross-Sectional Study,” Annals of Internal Medicine, 152(4):201-210, 2010.~~

~~64. Nonnemaker, J., D. Lock, J. E. Cohen, et al., "Flavored Tobacco Products in the United States: A Systematic Review Assessing Use and Attitudes," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2016;18(5):739-749.~~

~~65. Grana, R. L., N. Benowitz, S. A. Glantz, "Background Paper on E-Cigarettes (Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems)," prepared for World Health Organization Tobacco Control Initiative, 2013, available at http://arizonansconcernedaboutsmoking.com/201312e-cig_report.pdf.~~

~~66. Shihadeh, A., "Investigation of Mainstream Smoke Aerosol of the Argileh Water Pipe," Food and Chemical Toxicology, 41(1):143-152, 2003.~~

~~67. Kosmider, L., A. Sobczak, M. Fik, et al., "Carbonyl Compounds in Electronic Cigarette Vapors--Effects of Nicotine Solvent and Battery Output Voltage," Nicotine & Tobacco Research,16(10): 1319-1326, 2014.~~

~~26-68. Nonnemaker, J., B. Rostron, B., P. Hall, P., MacMonegle, A., Apelberg, B., “et al., “Mortality and Economic Costs From Regular Cigar Use in the United States, 2010,” American Journal of Public Health, 104(9):e86-91, 2014.~~

~~27-69. National Cancer Institute. “Cigars: Health Effects and Trends, Smoking and Tobacco Control,” Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph No. 9, 1998, available at http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp/tcrb/monographs/9/m9_complete.pdf.~~

~~28-1. Henley, S. J., M. J. Thun, A. Chao, et al., “Association Between Exclusive Pipe Smoking and Mortality From Cancer and Other Diseases,” Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 96(11):853-861, 2004.~~

~~29. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke,” A Report of the Surgeon General; 2006, available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK44324/pdf/TOC.pdf>.~~

~~30. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease,” A Report of the Surgeon General; 2010, available at <http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html>.~~

~~31. Grana, R. L., Benowitz N., Glantz, S. A., “Background Paper on E-Cigarettes (Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems),” prepared for World Health Organization Tobacco Control Initiative, available at http://arizonansconcernedaboutsmoking.com/201312e-cig_report.pdf, 2013.~~

~~32. Shihadeh, A., “Investigation of Mainstream Smoke Aerosol of the Argileh Water Pipe,” Food and Chemical Toxicology, 41(1):143-152, 2003.~~

~~33. Maciej, Fik, et al., “Carbonyl Compounds in Electronic Cigarette Vapors—Effects of Nicotine Solvent and Battery Output Voltage,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 1-8, May 2014.~~

~~34.— Hoffmann D. and Hoffmann I. Chemistry and toxicology. In: Burns D., Cummings KM, Hoffman D., eds. Cigars: Health Effects and Trends. Bethesda, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services; 1998.~~

~~35.— Baker, F., et al., “Health Risks Associated With Cigar Smoking,” Journal of the American Medical Association, 284(6):735-740, 2000.~~

~~36:70.~~ Iribarren, C., I. Tekawa, S. Sidney, et al., "Effect of Cigar Smoking on the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, and Cancer in Men," The New England Journal of Medicine, 340(23):1773-1780, 1999.

~~37:71.~~ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “The Health Consequences of Smoking-Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease,” A Report of the Surgeon General; 1984, available at

~~<http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html>~~http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/NN/B/C/C/S/.~~~~

~~38.— Wald, N. J., Watt, H. C., “Prospective Study of Effect of Switching From Cigarettes to Pipes or Cigars On Mortality From Three Smoking Related Diseases,” British Medical Journal, 314, 1860-1863, 1997.~~

~~39:72.~~ Katsiki, N., ~~S. K.~~ Papadopoulou, ~~S. K., A. L.~~ Fachantidou, ~~A. I.,~~ et al., “Smoking and Vascular Risk: Are all Forms of Smoking Harmful to all Types of Vascular Disease?” Public Health, 127(5):435-441, 2013.

~~40:73.~~ Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau, “Tobacco Products Statistical Releases,” 2013, available at <http://www.ttb.gov/statistics/13tobstats.shtml>.

~~41:74.~~ Funck-Brentano, C., M. Raphael, M., Lafontaine, ~~J. P., Arnould, C., Verstuyft, et al., M., Lebot, D., Costagliola and R. Roussel,~~ "Effects of Type of Smoking (Pipe, Cigars or

Cigarettes) on Biological Indices of Tobacco Exposure and Toxicity," Lung Cancer, 54(1):11-18, 2006.

~~42-75.~~ Turner, J. A. M., R. W. Sillett, ~~and~~ M. W. McNicol, "Effect of Cigar Smoking on Carboxyhaemoglobin and Plasma Nicotine Concentrations in Primary Pipe and Cigar Smokers and Ex-Cigarette Smokers," British Medical Journal, 2(6099):1387-1389, 1977.

~~43-76.~~ Nutt, D. J., L. D. Phillips, D. Balfour, et al., "Estimating the Harms of Nicotine-Containing Products Using the MCDA Approach," European Addiction Research, 20(5):218-225, 2014.

~~77.~~ Wald, N. J., H. C. Watt, "Prospective Study of Effect of Switching From Cigarettes to Pipes or Cigars On Mortality From Three Smoking Related Diseases," British Medical Journal, 314(7098):1860-1863, 1997.

~~44-78.~~ Boffetta, P., G. Pershagen, K Jockel, et al., "Cigar and Pipe Smoking and Lung Cancer Risk: A Multicenter Study From Europe," Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 91(8):697-701, 1999.

~~45-79.~~ Shapiro, J. A., E. J. Jacobs, and M. J. Thun, "Cigar Smoking in Men and Risk of Death From Tobacco-Related Cancers," Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 92(4):333-337, 2000.

~~46-80.~~ McCormack, V. A., A. Agudo, C. C. Dahm, et al., "Cigar and Pipe Smoking and Cancer Risk in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)," International Journal of Cancer, 127(10):2402-2411, 2010.

~~47-81.~~ Chen, J., A. Kettermann, A. B. L. Rostron, B. L. Day, et al., H. R., "Biomarkers of Exposure among U.S. Cigar Smokers: An Analysis of 1999-2012 National Health and

Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) Data," Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention, 23(12):2906-3015, 2014.

82. Chang, C. M., C. G. Corey, B. J. Rostron, et al., "Systematic Review of Cigar Smoking and all Cause and Smoking Related Mortality," BMC Public Health, 2015, doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1617-5.

48-83. Shanks, T., Burns, D., "Disease Consequences of Cigar Smoking" Chapter 4 in Cigars: Health Effects and Trends, Chapter 4, Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph 9, 1998, 105-158, available at http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp/tcrb/monographs/9/m9_4.pdf.

49-84. Le Houezec, J., "Role of Nicotine Pharmacokinetics in Nicotine Addiction and Nicotine Replacement Therapy: A Review," International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, 7(9):811-819, 2003.

50-85. Benowitz, N., J. Hukkanen, J., and P. Jacob, "P," "Nicotine Chemistry, Metabolism, Kinetics and Biomarkers," Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, 192, 29-60, 2009.

51-86. Henningfield, J. E., M. Hariharan, M., & L. T. Kozlowski, L. T. (1996). "Nicotine Content and Health Risks of Cigars," Journal of the American Medical Association, 276,(23), 1857-1858, 1996.

52-87. Henningfield, J. E., R. V. Fant, R. V., A. Radzius, A., & Frost, S. (1999). et al., "Nicotine concentration, smoke Concentration, Smoke pH and whole tobacco aqueous Whole Tobacco Aqueous pH of some cigar brands Some Cigar Brands and types popular Types Popular in the United States," Nicotine Tob Res., & Tobacco Research, 1, :163-168, 1999.

~~88. [Apelberg, B. J., C. G. Corey, A. C. Hoffman, et al., "Symptoms of Tobacco Dependence Among Middle and High School Tobacco Users: Results from the 2012 National Youth Tobacco Survey," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 47\(2\)Suppl 1:S4-S14, 2014.](#)~~

~~53-89. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration (SAMHSA), "Results from the 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings," NSDUH, National Survey on Drug Use and Health Series H-46, SMA-13SMA13-4795, 2013.~~

~~90. [Corey, C. G., Corey, C. G., B. A. King, B. A., N. Coleman, B. N., et al., "Little Filtered Cigar, Cigarillo, and Premium Cigar Smoking Among Adults--United States, 2012-2013," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 63\(30\):650-654, Aug. 1, 2014, available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6330.pdf>.](#)~~

~~54.1. 1, 2014, available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6330.pdf>.~~

~~55. [McDonald, I. J., Bhatia, R. S., Hollett, P. D., "Deposition of Cigar Smoke Particles in the Lung: Evaluation with Ventilation Scan Using \(99m\)Tc-Labeled Sulfur Colloid Particles," Journal of Nuclear Medicine, 43\(12\):1591-1595, 2002.](#)~~

~~56-91. Gilpin, E. A., [J. P. Pierce, J. P., "Patterns of Cigar Use in California in 1999," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 21\(4\):325-328, 2001.](#)~~

~~57-92. Kelly, C. K., "Cigar Smoking: Risky Business," [Annals of Internal Medicine, 129\(2\):169, 1998.](#)~~

~~58-93. Herling, S., [L. T. Kozlowski, L. T., "The Importance of Direct Questions about Inhalation and Daily Intake in the Valuation of Pipe and Cigar Smokers," Preventive Medicine, 17:73-78, 1988.](#)~~

~~59-94. Castleden, C. M., [P. V. Cole, P. V., "Inhalation of Tobacco Smoke by Pipe and Cigar Smokers," Lancet, 302\(7819\):21-22, 1973.](#)~~

~~60.95.~~ Enofe, N., ~~C. J. Berg, C. E. J.,~~ Nehl, ~~E. J.,~~ “Alternative Tobacco Use Among College Students: Who is at Highest Risk?” American Journal of Health Behavior, 38(2):180-189, 2014.

~~61.~~ ~~Apelberg, B. J., Corey, C. G., Hoffman, A. C., et al.,~~ “Symptoms of Tobacco Dependence Among Middle and High School Tobacco Users: Results from the 2012 National Youth Tobacco Survey,” American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 47(2) Suppl 1:S4-S14, 2014.

~~62.96.~~ Kann, L., ~~S. Kinchen, S., L. Shanklin, S. L.,~~ et al., “Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance - United States, 2013,” Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, Surveillance ~~s~~Summaries, 63-~~Suppl~~(4):1-168, June 13, 2014, available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/ss/ss6304.pdf>.

~~63.~~ CDC, “Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance—United States, 2013,” Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 63(4); June 13, 2014, available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/ss/ss6304.pdf>.

~~64.97.~~ Schuster, R. M., “Cigar, Cigarillo, and Little Cigar Use Among Current Cigarette-Smoking Adolescents,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 15(5):925-931, 2013.

~~65.98.~~ Nasim, A., ~~M. D. Blank, B. M. Berry,~~ et al., “Cigar Use Misreporting Among Youth: Data from the 2009 Youth Tobacco Survey, Virginia,” Preventing Chronic Disease, 9:110084:1-8, 2012.

~~66.99.~~ Leatherdale, S. T., ~~P. Rios, P., T. Elton-Marshall, T., Burkhalter, R.,~~ et al., “Cigar, Cigarillo, and Little Cigar Use Among Canadian Youth: Are We Underestimating the Magnitude of this Problem?” The Journal of Primary Prevention, 32:161-170, 2011.

~~67.~~ Terehek, J., et al., “Measuring Cigar Use in Adolescents: Inclusion of a Brand-Specific Item,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 11(7):842-846, 2009.

~~68.100. Corey, C. G., S. R. Dube, S.R., B. K. Ambrose, B.K., et al., "Cigar smoking among U.S. students: reported use after adding brands to survey items," Am. J. Prev. Med., 47(2 Suppl 1):S28-S35, 2014.~~

~~69. —Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 1991-2013 High School Youth Risk Behavior Survey Data. Available at <http://nccd.cdc.gov/youthonline/>. Accessed on February 6, 2015.~~

~~101. Arrazola, R.A., N. M. Kulper, S. R. Dube, "Patterns of Current Use of Tobacco Products among U.S. High School Students for 2000-2012--Findings from the National Youth Tobacco Survey," Journal of Adolescent Health, 54(1):54-60, 2014.~~

~~70.102. Soldz S., D. J. Huyser, D.J., & E. Dorsey E., "Youth pPreferences for ecigar brands: rates of use and eCharacteristics of uUsers.," Tobacco Control, 12:155-60, 2003.~~

~~70A. —Johnston, L.D., O'Malley, P.M., Miech, R.A., Bachman, J.G., & Schulenberg, J.E. (2014). Monitoring the Future national results on drug use: 1975-2013: Overview, Key Findings on Adolescent Drug Use. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan.~~

~~70B. Viola, A.S., Giovenco, D.P., Miller Lo, E.J., Delnevo, C.D. A cigar by any other name would taste as sweet, Tob Control, 2015, published on Oct. 1, 2015, 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2015-052518.~~

~~103. Richter, P. A., L. L. Pederson, M. M. O'Hegarty, "Young Adult Smoker Risk Perceptions of Traditional Cigarettes and Nontraditional Tobacco Products," American Journal of Health Behavior, 30(3):302-312, 2006.~~

~~71.1. Wyss, A., and M. M. O'Hegarty, "Young Adult Smoker Risk Perceptions of Traditional Cigarettes and Nontraditional Tobacco Products," American Journal of Health Behavior, 30(3):302-312, 2006.~~

72.104. ~~Wyss, A.,~~ M. Hashibe, ~~M.,~~ S. C. Chuang, ~~S. C., et al.,~~ "Cigarette, Cigar, and Pipe Smoking and the Risk of Head and Neck Cancers: Pooled Analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium," American Journal of Epidemiology, 178(5):679-690, 2013.

~~72A. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Women and Smoking: A Report of the Surgeon General. Rockville (MD): U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Office of the Surgeon General, 2001.~~

73.105. Chao, A., M. J. Thun, MS. J., Henley, S. J., Jacobs, E. J., McCullough, M. L., Calle, E. E., et al., "Cigarette Smoking, Use of Other Tobacco Products and Stomach Cancer Mortality in US Adults: The Cancer Prevention Study II," International Journal of Cancer, 101(4):380-389, -2002.

~~74.1. Weglicki, L. S., "Tobacco Use Assessment: What Exactly is Your Patient Using and Why is it Important to Know?" Ethnicity & Disease, 18(3 Suppl 3):s3-1-s3-6, 2008.~~

75.106. Agaku, I. T., B. A. King, B. A., C. G. Husten, C. G., et al., "Tobacco Product Use Among Adults--United States," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 63(25); 542-547, June 27, 2014, available at <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6325.pdf>.

107. Polosa, R., J. B. Morjaria, P. Caponnetto, et al., "Effectiveness and Tolerability of Electronic Cigarette in Real-Life: A 24-Month Prospective Observational Study," Internal and Emergency Medicine, 9(5):537-546, 2013.

~~108.~~ Corey, C., ~~B.~~ Wang, ~~B.,S. E.~~ Johnson, ~~S. E.,~~ et al., “Electronic Cigarette use Among Middle and High School Students - United States, 2011-2012;” Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 62(35); 729-730, Sept. ~~6, 2013, available at~~ <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6235.pdf>.

~~76.1.~~ ~~Farsalinos, K. E., 6, 2013, available at~~ <http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6235.pdf>.

~~77.109.~~ ~~Farsalinos, K. E., G.~~ Romagna, ~~G.,D.~~ Tsiapras, ~~D.,~~ et al., “Characteristics, Perceived Side Effects and Benefits of Electronic Cigarette Use: A Worldwide Survey of More than 19,000 Consumers;” International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(4):4356-4373, 2014.

~~78.110.~~ John Britton and Ilze Bogdanovica, “Electronic Cigarettes: A Report Commissioned by Public Health England;” Public Health England, May 2014.

~~111.~~ ~~Vardavas, C. I., F. Filippidis, I. T. Agaku,~~ “Determinants and Prevalence of E-Cigarette use Throughout the European Union: A Secondary Analysis of 26 566 Youth and Adults from 27 Countries,” Tobacco Control, 24(5):442-448, 2015.

~~112.~~ ~~Kalkhoran S., S. A. Glantz,~~ “E-Cigarettes and Smoking Cessation in Real-World and Clinical Settings: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis,” Lancet Respir Med., 2016 Jan 13. pii: S2213-2600(15)00521-4. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00521-4. [Epub ahead of print].

~~113.~~ ~~Bunnell, R. E., I. T. Agaku, R. A. Arrazola, et al.,~~ “Intentions to Smoke Cigarettes Among Never-Smoking US Middle and High School Electronic Cigarette Users: National Youth Tobacco Survey, 2011-2013,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 17(2):228–235, 2015.

~~114. Farsalinos, K. E., A. Spyrou, K. Tsimopoulou, et al., "Nicotine Absorption from Electronic Cigarette Use: Comparison Between First and New-Generation Devices," Scientific Reports, 4:4133, 2014.~~

~~79:115. Camenga, D. R., J. Delmerico, J.G., Kong, G., et al., "'Trends in Use of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems by Adolescents,'" Addictive Behaviors, 39:338-340, 2014.~~

~~80:116. Dutra, L. M., S. A. Glantz, S. A., "'Electronic Cigarettes and Conventional Cigarette Use Among US Adolescents: A Cross-Sectional Study,'" JAMA Pediatrics, 168(7):610-617, 2014.~~

~~81. Kosmider, Leon, Andrzej Sobczak, Maciej Fik, Jakub Knysak, Marzena Zacierka, Jolanta Kurek, and Maciej Lukasz Goniewicz. "Carbonyl Compounds in Electronic Cigarette Vapors: Effects of Nicotine Solvent and Battery Output Voltage," Nicotine & Tobacco Research 16(10):1319-1326, 2014.~~

~~82:117. Palazzolo, D. L., "'Electronic Cigarettes and Vaping: A New Challenge in Clinical Medicine and Public Health. A Literature Review,'" Frontiers in Public Health, 1(56):1-20, 2013.~~

~~83. Lim, H. H., Shin, H. S., "Measurement of Aldehydes in Replacement Liquids of Electronic Cigarettes by Headspace Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry," Bull. Korean Chem. Soc., 34(9):2691-2696, 2013.~~

~~84. Etter, J., Zather, E., Svensson, S., "Analysis of Refill Liquids for Electronic Cigarettes," Addiction, 108(9):1671-1679, 2013.~~

~~85.118.~~ Kim, H. J., ~~H. S. Shin, H. S.,~~ "Determination of Tobacco-Specific Nitrosamines in Replacement Liquids of Electronic Cigarettes by Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry," Journal of Chromatography A, 1291:48-55, 2013.

~~86.119.~~ Hutzler, C., ~~M. Paschke, M.S. Kruschinski, S.,~~ et al., "Chemical Hazards Present in Liquids and Vapors of Electronic Cigarettes," Archives of Toxicology, 88(7):1295-1308, 2014.

~~120.~~ Ohta K, S. Uchiyama, Y. Inaba, et al., "Determination of Carbonyl Compounds Generated From the Electronic Cigarette Using Coupled Silica Cartridges Impregnated with Hydroquinone and 2,4-Dinitrophenylhydrazine," Bunseki Kagaku, 60:791–797, 2011.

~~121.~~ Uchiyama S, Y. Inaba, N. Kunugita, "Determination of Acrolein and Other Carbonyls in Cigarette Smoke using Coupled Silica Cartridges Impregnated with Hydroquinone and 2,4-Dinitrophenylhydrazine," Journal of Chromatography A, 217(26):4383–4388, 2010.

~~87.122.~~ Goniewicz, M., ~~L., J. Knysak, M. Gawron,~~ et al., "Levels of Selected Carcinogens and Toxicants in Vapour from Electronic Cigarettes," Tobacco Control, 23(2):133-139, 2014.

~~88.—Farsalinos, K. Ohta K, Uchiyama S, Inaba Y, et al. Determination of carbonyl compounds generated from the electronic cigarette using coupled silica cartridges impregnated with hydroquinone and 2,4 dinitrophenylhydrazine. Bunseki Kagaku 2011;60:791–7.~~

~~89.—Uchiyama S, Inaba Y, Kunugita N. Determination of acrolein and other carbonyls in cigarette smoke using coupled silica cartridges impregnated with hydroquinone and 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine. J Chromatogr A 2010;1217:4383–8.~~

123. 89A. ~~Farsalinos, K.E., K. A. Kistler, K.A.,G. Gilman, G., et al.,~~ "Evaluation of Electronic Cigarette Liquids and Aerosol for the Presence of Selected Inhalation Toxins," Nicotine Tob Res (2015) & Tobacco Research, 17(2):-168-174, 2015.

89B. ~~Behar, R.Z., Davis, B., Wang, Y, et al.~~ Identificaton of toxicants in cinnamon-flavored electronic cigarette refill liquids. Toxicol In Vitro. 2014 Mar;28(2):198-208.

89C. ~~Tierney, P.A., Karpinski, C.D., Brown, J.E., et al.~~ Flavour chemicals in electronic cigarette liquids. Tob Control doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2014-052175.

124. 89D.—U.S. Department of Labor, ~~Occupational Safety & Health Administration,~~ "Occupational Exposure to Flavoring Substances: Health Effects and Hazard Control," SHIB 10-14-2010, available at: <https://www.osha.gov/dts/shib/shib10142010.html>.

125. Allen, J. G., S. S. Flanigan, M. Leblanc, et al., "Flavoring Chemicals in E-Cigarettes: Diacetyl 2, 3-Pentanedione, and Acetoin in a Sample of 51 Products, Including Fruit-, Candy-, and Cocktail-Flavored E-Cigarettes," Environmental Health Perspectives, DOI10.1289/ehp.1510185, Dec. 8, 2015.

126. ~~Tierney, P. A., C. D. Karpinski, J. E. Brown, et al.,~~ "Flavour Chemicals in Electronic Cigarette Fluids," Tobacco Control, doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2014-052175, Apr. 15, 2015.

127. ~~Behar, R. Z., B. Davis, Y. Wang, et al.,~~ "Identification of Toxicants in Cinnamon-Flavored Electronic Cigarette Refill Fluids," Toxicology In Vitro, 28(2):198-208, 2014.

128. Jensen, R. B., W. Luo, J. F. Panko, "Hidden Formaldehyde in E-Cigarette Aerosols," (Correspondence.) New England Journal of Medicine, 2015; 372:392-394.

129. Gillman I. G., K.. A. Kistler, E. W. Stewart, et al., "Effect of variable power levels on the yield of total aerosol mass and formation of aldehydes in e-cigarette aerosols,"

[Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, Dec. 29, 2015;75:58-65. doi:](#)

[10.1016/j.yrtph.2015.12.019. \[Epub ahead of print\].](#)

[130. Vansickel, A. R., C. O. Cobb, M. F. Weaver, et al., "A Clinical Laboratory Model for Evaluating the Acute Effects of Electronic "Cigarettes": Nicotine Delivery Profile and Cardiovascular and Subjective Effects," *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention*, 19\(8\):1945-1953, 2010.](#)

[131. McNeill, A., L. S. Brose, R. Calder, et al., "E-Cigarettes: An Evidence Update," *Public Health England*, August 2015, available at \[https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes an evidence update A report commissioned by Public Health England FINAL.pdf\]\(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes_an_evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf\).](#)

[90.132. Hajek, P., J. F. Etter, J. F. N. Benowitz, N., et al., "'Electronic Cigarettes: Review of Use, Content, Safety, Effects on Smokers and Potential for Harm and Benefit,'" *Addiction*, 109\(11\): 1801-1810, 2014.](#)

[133. E-Cigarettes: Public Health England's Evidence-Based Confusion, *Lancet*, 29;386\(9996\):829, 2015. \(Editorial; no authors listed.\)](#)

[134. McKee M., S. Capewell, "Evidence about Electronic Cigarettes: A Foundation Built on Rock or Sand?," *BMJ*, 2015 Sep 15;351:h4863.](#)

[135. Farsalinos, K., "Electronic Cigarette Aerosol Contains 6 Times LESS Formaldehyde Than Tobacco Cigarette Smoke," November 27, 2014, available at <http://www.ecigarette-research.com/web/index.php/2013-04-07-09-50-07/2014/188-frm-jp>.](#)

[136. Hecht, S. S., S. G. Carmella, D. Kotandeniya, et al., "Evaluation of Toxicant and Carcinogen Metabolites in the Urine of E-Cigarette Users Versus Cigarette Smokers," *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 17\(6\):704-709, 2015.](#)

91. ~~Polosa, R.,~~ Morjaria, J. B., Caponnetto, P., ~~Campagna, D.,~~ Russo, C., Alamo, A., et al., "Effectiveness and Tolerability of Electronic Cigarette in Real-Life: A 24-Month Prospective Observational Study," Internal and Emergency Medicine, 9, 537-546, 2013.

92.137. ~~_____~~ Caponnetto, P., ~~D. Campagna, D.,~~ F. Cibella, F., et al., "Efficiency and Safety of an ~~Electronic Cigarettes~~ Electronic cigarette (ECLAT) as Tobacco Cigarettes Substitute: A Prospective 12-Month Randomized Control Design Study," PLOS One, 8(6):e0066317, 2013.

93.138. ~~_____~~ Chen, I-L., "FDA Summary of Adverse Events on Electronic Cigarettes," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 15(2):615-616, 2013.

94.139. ~~_____~~ Dawkins, L., J. Turner, J., A. Roberts, A., and Soar, K., "Vaping' profiles and preferences: an online survey of electronic cigarette users." Available at: ~~_____~~, et al., "Vaping' Profiles and Preferences: An Online Survey of Electronic Cigarette Users," available at http://roar.uel.ac.uk/1875/1/2013_Dawkins_e-cig_survey.pdf.

95.140. ~~Farsalinos, K., & Farsalinos, K.,~~ G. Romagna, "Chronic ~~idiopathic neutrophilia~~ Idiopathic Neutrophilia in a ~~smoker, relieved~~ Smoker, Relieved after ~~smoking cessation~~ Smoking Cessation with the ~~u~~Use of ~~electronic cigarette: a case report~~ Electronic Cigarette: A Case Report," Clinical Medical Insights: Case Reports, 6:-15-21, 2013.

141. ~~Farsalinos, K.,~~ D. Tsiapras, S. Kyrzopoulos, et al., "Immediate Effects of Electronic Cigarette Use on Coronary Circulation and Blood Carboxyhemoglobin Levels: Comparison with Cigarette Smoking," European Heart Journal, 34(suppl1); 13, 2013.

96.142. ~~_____~~ Callahan-Lyon, P., "Electronic ~~cigarettes: human health effects.~~ ~~Tob~~Cigarettes: Human Health Effects," Tobacco Control 2014;, 23 Suppl. 2:ii36-ii40, 2014.

- ~~97.1.~~ AD Flouris et al., Acute effects of electronic and tobacco cigarette smoking on complete blood count, 50(10) Food Chem Toxicol. 3600–3603 (2012).
98. ~~Farsalinos, K., D. Tsiapras, et al.,~~ “Immediate effects of electronic cigarette use on coronary circulation and blood carboxyhemoglobin levels: comparison with cigarette smoking,” European Heart Journal 34:suppl1, 2013.
99. ~~Vansickel, A.R., C.O. Cobb, et al.,~~ “A clinical laboratory model for evaluating the acute effects of electronic “cigarettes”: nicotine delivery profile and cardiovascular and subjective effects,” Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prevention 19(8):1945–1953, 2010.
- 100.143. ~~Spindle, T., A. Breland, AN., Karaoghlanian N., Shihadeh A., Eissenberg, et al.,~~ “Preliminary Results of an Examination of Electronic Cigarette Use Puff Topography: The Effect of a Mouthpiece-Based Topography Measurement Device on Plasma Nicotine and Subjective Effects.”, Nicotine and Tobacco Research, 2014, 1–8.
doi:10.1093/ntr/ntu186 17(2):142-149, 2015.
- 101.144. ~~Flouris, A. D., AD, Chorti MS, K. P. Poulianiti KP, M. S. Chorti, et al.,~~ “Acute ~~impact~~Effects of activeElectronic and passive electronic cigarette smoking Tobacco Cigarette Smoking on serum ~~cotinine~~Complete Blood Count,” Food and lung function. Inhalation toxicology. Feb 2013;25(2):91–101 Chemical Toxicology, 50(10):3600-3603, 2012.
- 102.145. ~~Chorti, M., K. Poulianti K., A. Jamurtas A, et al.,~~ “Effects of aActive and passive electronicPassive Electronic and tobacco cigarette smokingTobacco Cigarette Smoking on lung function. Abstracts/Toxicol Lett 2012;Lung Function,” Toxicology Letters, 21(1S):64, 2012.
- 103.146. ~~Goniewicz ML, M. L., P. Hajek P, and, H. McRobbie H.,~~ “Nicotine eContent of electronic cigarettesElectronic Cigarettes, its rRelease in vVapour and its

~~consistency across batches: regulatory implications.~~ Consistency Across Batches: Regulatory Implications. Addiction, 109,(3):500-507(, 2013).

~~104.147. Cheng, T., "Chemical eEvaluation of electronic cigarettes. TobElectronic Cigarettes." Tobacco Control 2014;, 23 Suppl. 2:ii11-ii17, 2014.~~

~~148. Adriaens, K., G. D. Van, P. Declerck, et al., "Effectiveness of the Electronic Cigarette: An Eight-Week Flemish Study with Six-Month Follow-up on Smoking Reduction, Craving and Experienced Benefits and Complaints," International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(11), 11220-11248. doi: ijerph11111220 [pii];10.3390/ijerph11111220 [doi], 2014.~~

~~149. McRobbie, H., A. Phillips, M. L. Goniewicz-ML, Kuma T, Gawron M, et al- Nicotine Levels in., "Effects of Switching to Electronic Cigarettes- with and without Concurrent Smoking on Exposure to Nicotine, Carbon Monoxide, and Acrolein," Cancer Prevention Research, 8(9):873-878, 2015, doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.~~

~~105.150. Pacifici, R., S. Pichini, S. Graziano, et al., "Successful Nicotine Tob Res-, 2013 Jan; 15(1): 158-166.Intake in Medical Assisted Use of E-Cigarettes: A Pilot Study," International Journal of Environmental Research Public Health, 12(7), 7638-7646, 2015, doi: ijerph120707638 [pii];10.3390/ijerph120707638 [doi].~~

~~106.—Grana, R, Benowitz N, and Glantz SA. E Cigarettes: A Scientific Review. Circulation. 2014;129:1972-1986.~~

~~107.—Burstyn, I., Peering through the mist: systematic review of what the chemistry of contaminants in electronic cigarettes tells us about health risks. BMC Public Health 2014, 14:18.~~

~~108.151. Grana RA,., P. M. Ling-PM. "Smoking revolution": a content analysis of electronic cigarette retail websites.Revolution": A Content Analysis of Electronic Cigarette~~

Retail Websites," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, ~~Am. journal of prev. medicine~~. Apr 2014;46(4):395-403, 2014.

~~109.152.~~ Schober, W., K. Szendrei K, W. Matzen-W, et al., "Use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) impairs indoor air qualityElectronic Cigarettes (E-Cigarettes) Impairs Indoor Air Quality and Increases FeNO Levels of e-cigarette consumers. Int. journal E-Cigarette Consumers," International Journal of Hygiene and env. health. Jul 2014;Environmental Health, 217(6):628-637, 2014.

~~110.153.~~ McAuley, T. R., P. K. Hopke, J. Zhao, et al., "Comparison of the eEffects of e-cigarette vaporE-Cigarette Vapor and cigarette smokeCigarette Smoke on indoor air qualityIndoor Air Quality," Inhalation Toxicology, 24(12):-850-57, 2012.

~~111.154.~~ Cheah-NP., N. P., N. W. Chong-NW., J. Tan-J, et al., "Electronic nicotine delivery systems: regulatoryNicotine Delivery Systems: Regulatory and safety challengesSafety Challenges: Singapore perspective. TobPerspective," Tobacco Control. Dec 1, 23(2):119-125, 2012.

~~112.155.~~ Williams, M., A. Villareal, K. Bozhilov, et al., "Metal and Silicate Particles Including Nanoparticles are Present in Electronic Cigarette Cartomizer Fluid and Aerosol," PLOS One, 8(3):~~e57987~~, 1-11, 2013.

~~156.~~ Schripp, T., D. Markewitz-D., E. Uhde-E, Salthammer, et al., "~~T~~Does e-cigarette consumption cause passing vaping?E-Cigarette Consumption Cause Passing Vaping?," Indoor Air. 2013; 23(1):25-31, 2013.

~~113.157.~~ Flouris A. D., M. S. Chorti, K. P. Poulianiti, et al., "Acute Impact of Active and Passive Electronic Cigarette Smoking on Serum Cotinine and Lung Function," Inhalation Toxicology, 25(2):91-101, 2013.

~~114.158. _____ Pellegrino ~~R.M., R. M., B. Tinghino-B., G. Mangiaracina-G, et al.,~~
"Electronic ~~cigarettes: an evaluation~~Cigarettes: An Evaluation of ~~e~~Exposure to ~~e~~Chemicals and
~~fine particulate matter~~Fine Particulate Matter (PM).," ~~Annali di igiene : medicina preventiva e di~~
~~comunita. Jul–Aug 2012;~~~~Di Igiene: Medicina Preventiva e Di Comunita, 24(4):279-288, 2012.~~~~

~~115.159. _____ Romagna, G., L. Zabarini, L. Barbiero, et al., "Characterization of
chemicals releasedChemicals Released to the ~~environment by electronic cigarettes use,~~
(2012).~~Environment by Electronic Cigarettes Use, (ClearStream-AIR project): is Passive Vaping~~
~~a Reality?," Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, vol. 1, 2012.~~~~

~~116.160. _____ Laugesen, M., "Ruyan E-Cigarette Bench-Top Tests," Society for
Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, Poster 5-11, April 30, 2009.~~

~~117.161. _____ Werley, M. S., P. McDonald, P., Lilly, P., et al., "Non-Clinical Safety
and Pharmacokinetic Evaluations of Propylene Glycol Aerosol in Sprague-Dawley Rats and
Beagle Dogs," Toxicology, 287,(1-3):76-90, 2011.~~

~~118. _____ The WHO Tobacco Free Initiative: Questions and Answers on E-Cigs or ENDS,
July 9, 2003, http://www.who.int/tobacco/communications/statements/electronic_cigarettes/en/.~~

~~119. _____ Farsalinos, K. E., Spyrou, A., Tsimopoulou, K., et al., "Nicotine Absorption from
Electronic Cigarette Use: Comparison Between First and New-Generation Devices," Scientific
Reports, 4, 4133, 2014.~~

~~120. _____ Houzee, J. L., "Nicotine Safety in the Context of E-Cigarette Use and Tobacco
Dependence," E-Cigarette Summit, The University of Nottingham, December 2013.~~

~~162. _____ Burstyn, I., "Peering Through the Mist: Systematic Review of What the
Chemistry of Contaminants in Electronic Cigarettes Tells us About Health Risks," BMC Public
Health, 14:18, 2014.~~

~~163.~~ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems, Sept. 2014, available at http://apps.who.int/gb/fctc/PDF/cop6/FCTC_COP6_10Rev1-en.pdf?ua=1.

~~121.164.~~ Chatham-Stephens K., ~~R.~~ Law, ~~R.,E.~~ Taylor, ~~E.,~~ et al., “Notes from the Field: Calls to Poison Centers for Exposures to Electronic Cigarettes--United States, September 2010-February 2014,” Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 63(13): 292-293, Apr 4, 2014, available at

<http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6313a4.htm>.

<http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/>.

~~122.165.~~ Vakkalanka, J. P., ~~L. S.~~ Hardison, ~~L. S., Jr.,~~ ~~C. P.~~ Holstege, ~~C. P.,~~ “Epidemiological Trends in Electronic Cigarette Exposures Reported to U.S. Poison Centers,” Clinical Toxicology, 52,(5): 542-548, 2014.

~~123.166.~~ Smolinske, S. C., ~~D. G.~~ Spoerke, ~~D. G.,~~ ~~S. K.~~ Spiller, ~~S. K.,~~ ~~Wruk, K. M.,~~ ~~Kulig, K.,~~ ~~Rumaek, B. H.,~~ “et al., ”Cigarette and Nicotine Chewing Gum Toxicity in Children,” Human Toxicology, 7(1):27-31, 1988.

~~124.167.~~ Benowitz, N. ~~L.,~~ ~~L.,T.~~ Lake, ~~T.,~~ ~~K. H.~~ Keller, ~~K. H.,~~ ~~Lee, B. L.,~~ “et al., ”Prolonged Absorption with Development of Tolerance to Toxic Effects After Cutaneous Exposure to Nicotine,” Clinical Pharmacology Therapeutics, 42(1):119-120, 1987.

~~125.168.~~ Mowry, ~~J. B.,~~ ~~D. A.~~ ~~Spyker, L. R.~~ ~~Cantilena,~~ et- al., “2012 Annual Report of the American Association of Poison Control Centers' National Poison Data System (NPDS): 30th Annual Report,” Clinical Toxicology, 51(10):949-1229, 2013.

~~126.169.~~ Grando, S. A., “Connections of Nicotine to Cancer,” Nature Reviews Cancer, 14,(6), 419–429, 2014.

~~127. Walsum, H. L., O. G. Nilsen, et al., "Long Term Effects of Inhaled Nicotine,"~~
~~Life Sciences, 58(16):1339-1346, 1996.~~

~~128. Russell, M., "Low Tar Medium Nicotine Cigarettes: A New Approach to Safer~~
~~Smoking,"~~ British Medical Journal, 1, 1430-1433, 1976.

~~129. Benowitz, N. L., "Nicotine Addiction,"~~ New England Journal of Medicine,
~~362(24):2295-2303, 2010.~~

~~130. N. L. Benowitz, S. G. Gourlay, "Cardiovascular Toxicity of Nicotine:~~
~~Implications for Nicotine Replacement Therapy,"~~ Journal of American College of Cardiology,
~~29(7):1422-1431, 1997.~~

~~131.170. Trehy, M. L., W. Ye, W. M. E. Hadwiger, M. E., et al. "Analysis of~~
~~Electronic Cigarette Cartridges, Refill Solutions, and Smoke for Nicotine and Nicotine Related~~
~~Impurities,"~~ Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies, 34(14):1442-1458,
2011.

~~131A. Brauer, L.H., et al., "Individual differences in smoking reward from de-nicotinized~~
~~cigarettes,"~~ Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 3(2); 101, 2001.

~~131B. Butschky, M.F., et al., "Smoking without nicotine delivery decreases withdrawal~~
~~in 12-hour abstinent smokers,"~~ Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 50(1); 91-96, 1995.

~~131C. Pickworth, W.B., et al., "Pharmacodynamic effects of new de-nicotinized~~
~~cigarettes,"~~ Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 1(4); 357, 1999.

~~132.171. Vansickel, A. R., Eissenberg, T., "T. Eissenberg, "Electronic Cigarettes:~~
~~Effective Nicotine Delivery after Acute Administration,"~~ Nicotine & Tobacco Research,
15(1):267-270, -2013.

~~133. Davis, B., Dang, M., Kim, J., Talbot, P., "Nicotine Concentrations in Electronic Cigarette Refill and Do-it-Yourself Liquids," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, doi:10.1093/ntr/ntu080, May 26, 2014.~~

~~134. Jennifer M. Cameron, et al., "Variable and Potentially Fatal Amounts of Nicotine in E-Cigarette Nicotine Solutions," Tobacco Control, 23, 77-78, 2014.~~

~~135. Etter, E., Zäther E., & S. Svensson, "Analysis of Refill Liquids for Electronic Cigarettes," Addiction, 108, 1671-1672, 2013.~~

~~136.172. Mayer, B., "'How Much Nicotine Kills a Human? Tracing Back the Generally Accepted Lethal Dose to Dubious Self-Experiments in the Nineteenth Century,'" Archives of Toxicology, 88(1):5-7, 2014.~~

~~137.173. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health "Tobacco Regulatory Science Program, Research Priorities. Available" (last updated 3/26/14), available at: <https://prevention.nih.gov/tobacco-regulatory-science-program/research-priorities>.~~

~~138.174. Bassett, R. A., K. Osterhoudt, K.T. Brabazon, T., "'Nicotine Poisoning in an Infant,'" New England Journal of Medicine, 370(23):2249-2250, 2014.~~

~~138A. Nides, M. A., S. J. Leischow, M. Bhattar, et al., "Nicotine Blood Levels and Short Term Smoking Reduction With an Electronic Nicotine Delivery System," American Journal of Health Behavior, 38(2):265-274, 2014.~~

~~138B. Polosa, R., B. Rodu, P. Caponnetto, et al., "A Fresh Look at Tobacco Harm Reduction: The Case for the Electronic Cigarette," Harm Reduction Journal, 10:19, 2013.~~

~~138C. Cahn, Z. and M. Siegel, "Electronic Cigarettes as a Harm Reduction Strategy for Tobacco Control: A Step Forward or a Repeat of Past Mistakes?" Journal of Public Health Policy, 32(1):16-31, 2011.~~

~~138D. Popova, L. and P. M. Ling, "Alternative Tobacco Product Use and Smoking Cessation: A National Study," American Journal of Public Health, 2013 May; 103(5):923-30.~~

~~139.175. _____ G. Mahoney, "'First Child's Death From Liquid Nicotine Reported As 'Vaping' Gains Popularity,'" available at <http://www.webmdabcnews.go.com/parenting/news/20141215/toddler-diesHealth/childs-death-liquid-nicotine-reported-vaping-gains-popularity/story?id=27563788>.~~

~~176. _____ Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, "Americans' Perspectives on E-cigarettes," Stat, October 2015, available at <https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/94/2015/11/Stat-Harvard-Poll-Oct-2015-Americans-Perspectives-on-E-Cigarettes.pdf>.~~

~~140.177. _____ King, A. C., L. K. Smith, L. K., P. J. McNamara, P. J., Matthews, A. K., Fridberg, D. J., "et al., "Passive Exposure to Electronic Cigarette (E-Cigarette) Use Increases Desire for Combustible and E-Cigarettes in Young Adult Smokers,'" Tobacco Control, doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2014-051563, 2014;24(5): 501-504, 2015.~~

~~141. _____ Preventing Tobacco Use Among Youth and Young Adults: A Report of the Surgeon General; 2012, available at <http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html>.~~

~~141A. Kapuler Marketing Research I. Consumer Reaction to Proposed Smokeless Tobacco Positioning and Concepts.No Date 1985. Brown & Williamson.
<http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/ijj90f00>.~~

~~142.178.~~ Adkison, S. E., et al., "~~Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems: International Tobacco Control Four-Country Survey,~~" American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 44(3):207-215, 2013.

~~143.179.~~ Etter, J. F., C. Bullen, ~~C.~~, "~~A Longitudinal Study of Electronic Cigarette Users,~~" Addictive Behaviors, 39(2):491-494, 2014.

~~144.180.~~ Brown, J., E. Beard, ~~E.~~, D. Kotz, ~~D.~~, Michie, S., West, R., "~~et al., "Real-World Effectiveness of E-Cigarettes When Used to Aid Smoking Cessation: A Cross-Sectional Population Study,~~" Addiction, 109,~~(9)~~:1531-1540, 2014.

~~145.~~ ***

~~146.181.~~ Lechner, W. V., A. P. Tackett, et al., "~~Effects of Duration of Electronic Cigarette Use,~~" Nicotine & Tobacco Research, ~~doi:10.1093/ntr/ntu061, May 13, 2014.~~ 17(2):180-185 (2015).

~~182.~~ Polosa, R., P. Caponnetto, J. B. Morjaria, et al., "Effect of an Electronic Nicotine Delivery Device (E-Cigarette) on Smoking Reduction and Cessation: A Prospective 6-month Pilot Study," BMC Public Health, 11:786, 2011.

~~183.~~ Caponetto P., R. Auditore, C. Russo, et al., "Impact of an Electronic Cigarette on Smoking Reduction and Cessation in Schizophrenic Smokers: A Prospective 12-Month Pilot Study," International Journal of Environmental Research Public Health, 10(2):4446-461, 2013.

~~147.184.~~ Bullen, C., C. Howe, M. Laugesen, et al., "~~Electronic Cigarettes for Smoking Cessation: A Randomised Controlled Trial,~~" The Lancet, 382,~~(9905)~~:1629-1637, 2013.

~~185.~~ Siu AL; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. "Behavioral Counseling and Pharmacotherapy Interventions for Tobacco Smoking Cessation in Adults, Including Pregnant

Women: A Review of Reviews for U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement,” Annals of Internal Medicine, Oct. 20, 2015;163(8):622-34, available at <http://annals.org/data/Journals/AIM/934607/0000605-201510200-00009.pdf>.

186. McRobbie H., C. Bullen, J. Hartmann-Boyce, et al., "Electronic Cigarettes for Smoking Cessation and Reduction," Cochrane Database Syst. Rev., 12:CD010216, 2014.

187. Rahman M. A., N. Hann, A. Wilson, et al., "E-Cigarettes and Smoking Cessation: Evidence from a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis," PLoS One, 2015; 10: e0122544.

188. Gmel, G., S. Baggio, M. Mohler-Kuo, et al., "E-Cigarette Use in Young Swiss Men: Is Vaping an Effective Way of Reducing or Quitting Smoking?," Swiss Medical Weekly, Jan. 11, 2016;146:w14271. doi: 10.4414/smw.2016.14271.

148-189. Steinberg, M. D., M. H. Zimmermann, C. D. Delnevo, et al., “E-Cigarette Versus Nicotine Inhaler: Comparing the Perceptions and Experiences of Inhaled Nicotine Devices,” Journal of General Internal Medicine, 29(11):1444-1450, 2014.

149-190. ~~Farsalinos, K.,~~ Farsalinos, K., G. Romagna, D. Tisapras, et al., “Evaluating Nicotine Levels Selection and Patterns of Electronic Cigarette Use in a Group of ‘Vapers’ Who Had Achieved Complete Substitution of Smoking,” Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment, 7:139-146, 2013.

150. Vansickel, A. R., Eissenberg, T., “Electronic Cigarettes: Effective Nicotine Delivery after Acute Administration,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 15(1):267-270, 2013.

151. Caponnetto, P., R. Polosa, C. Russo, et al., “Successful Smoking Cessation with Electronic Cigarettes in Smokers with a Documented History of Recurring Relapses: A Case Series,” Journal of Medical Case Reports, 5, 585, 2011.

~~152.191. _____ Caponnetto, P., R. Polosa, et al., “Smoking Cessation with E-Cigarettes in Smokers with a Documented History of Depression and Recurring Relapses,” Journal of Medical Case Reports, 5, :585, 2011.~~

~~153.192. _____ Etter, J.-F. and, C. Bullen, C. “Electronic Cigarette: Users Profile, Utilization, Satisfaction and Perceived Efficacy,” Addiction, 106, : 2017–2028, 2011.~~

~~154. _____ National Cancer Institute, Chapter 6 “Public Understanding of Risks and Reasons for Smoking Low Yield Products,” Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph 13, available at http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/terb/monographs/13/m13_6.pdf.~~

~~155.193. _____ Lippert, A. M., “Do Adolescent Smokers Use E-Cigarettes to Help Them Quit? The Sociodemographic Correlates and Cessation Motivations of U.S. Adolescent E-Cigarette Use,” American Journal of Health Promotion, 29(6): 374-379, 2014.~~

~~156.194. _____ Richardson, A., V. Williams, V., J. Rath, J., et al., “The Next Generation of Users: Prevalence and Longitudinal Patterns of Tobacco Use Among US Young Adults,” American Journal of Public Health, 104(8):1429-1436, 2014.~~

~~157.195. _____ Kram, Y., R. C. Klesges, R. C., J. O. Ebbert, J. O., et al., “Dual Tobacco User Subtypes in the U.S. Air Force: Dependence, Attitudes, and Other Correlates of Use,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 16(9):1216-1223, 2014.~~

~~158.196. _____ Schroeder, M. J., A. C. Hoffman, A. C., “Electronic Cigarettes and Nicotine Clinical Pharmacology,” Tobacco Control, 23:Supp. 232:ii30-5ii35, 2014.~~

~~159.197. _____ Rath, J. M., A. C. Villanti, A. C., D. B. Abrams, D. B., et al., “Patterns of Tobacco use and Dual use in US Young Adults: -The Missing Link Between Youth Prevention and Adult Cessation,” Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 1-9, 2012, 1-9, 2012.~~

~~160.198.~~ [Zhu, S. H., ~~A. Gamst, A., Lee, M., Cummins, S., Yin, L., Zoref, L., "M. Lee, et al., "The Use and Perception of Electronic Cigarettes and Snus Among the U.S. Population,"~~ PLOS One, 8\(10\):e79332, 2013.](#)

~~161.199.~~ [Vickerman, K. A., ~~K. M. Carpenter, K. M., T. Altman, T., Nash, C. M., Zbikowski, S. M., "et al., "Use of Electronic Cigarettes Among State Tobacco Cessation Quitline Callers,"~~ Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 15\(10\):1787–1791, 2013.](#)

~~162.200.~~ [Williams, M., ~~P. Talbot, P., "Variability Among Electronic Cigarettes in the Pressure Drop, Airflow Rate, and Aerosol Production,"~~ Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 13\(12\): 1276-1283, 2011.](#)

~~163.201.~~ [Trtchounian, A., ~~M. Williams, M., P. Talbot, P., "Conventional and Electronic Cigarettes \(E-Cigarettes\) Have Different Smoking Characteristics,"~~ Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 12\(9\):905-912, 2010.](#)

~~164.202.~~ [Eissenberg, T., "Eissenberg, T., "Electronic Nicotine Delivery Devices: Ineffective Nicotine Delivery and Craving Suppression after Acute Administration," Tobacco Control, 19\(1\): 87-88, 2010.](#)

~~203.~~ [Primack B. A., S. Soneji, M. Stoolmiller, et al. "Progression to Traditional Cigarette Smoking After Electronic Cigarette Use Among US Adolescents and Young Adults," JAMA Pediatrics, 169\(11\):1018-1023, 2015.](#)

~~204.~~ [Deeming Tobacco Products to be Subject to the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as Amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act; Regulations Restricting the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco Products and Required Warning Statements for Tobacco Product Packages and Advertisements; Final Rule: Final Regulatory Impact Analysis; Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis; Final Unfunded Mandates Analysis.](#)

~~165.205.~~ Al-Wadei, H. A., ~~M. H. Al-Wadei, H. M. H., Schuller, H. M.,~~
“Cooperative Regulation of Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma by Nicotinic and Beta-Adrenergic
Receptors: A Novel Target for Intervention,” ~~PLOS One~~, 7(1):e29915, 2012.

~~166.206.~~ Hukkanen, J., ~~P. Jacob, P., III, N. L. Benowitz, N. L.,~~ “Metabolism and
Disposition Kinetics of Nicotine,” ~~Pharmacological Reviews~~, 57(1):79-115, March 2005.

~~167.~~ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “The Health Consequences of
Smoking: Nicotine and Addiction,” A Report of the Surgeon General; 1988, available at
~~<http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html>~~.

~~168.~~ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “How Tobacco Smoke Causes
Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease,” A Report of the
Surgeon General; 2010, available at ~~<http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html>~~.

~~169.207.~~ ~~Natalia A. Goriounova & Huibert, N. A., H. D. Mansvelder,~~ “Short- and
Long-Term Consequences of Nicotine Exposure during Adolescence for Prefrontal Cortex
Neuronal Network Function,” ~~Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine~~, 2,(12):1-15,
2012.

~~170.208.~~ ~~L. P. Spear, “L. P.,~~ “The Adolescent Brain and Age-Related Behavioral
Manifestations,” ~~Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews~~, 24,(4):417-463, 2000.

~~171.209.~~ ~~David A. Sturman & Bitan, D. A., B. Moghaddam,~~ “Striatum Processes
Reward Differently in Adolescents versus Adults,” ~~Proceedings of the National Academy of
Sciences of the United States~~, 109(5):1719-1724, 2012.

~~172.210.~~ ~~Walter Adriana, W., S. Spijker, V. Deroche-Gamonet, et al.,~~ “Evidence
for Enhanced Neurobehavioral Vulnerability to Nicotine During Periadolescence in Rats,”
~~Journal of Neuroscience~~, 23(11):4712-4716, 2003.

~~173.211. Laura E. O'Dell, L. E., A. W. Bruijnzeel, R. T. Smith, et al., "Diminished Nicotine Withdrawal in Adolescent Rats: Implications for Vulnerability to Addiction," Psychopharmacology, 186(4):612-619, 2006.~~

~~174. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Preventing Tobacco Use Among Young People," A Report of the Surgeon General; 1994, available at <http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html>.~~

~~212. DiFranza, J. R., N. A. Rigotti, A. D. McNeill, et al., "Initial Symptoms of Nicotine Dependence in Adolescents," Tobacco Control, 9(3):313-319, 2000.~~

~~175.213. Prabbhat, J. and, F. Chaloupka, "Curbing the Epidemic: Governments and the Economics of Tobacco Control," The World Bank, Tobacco Control, 8, 196-201, 1999.~~

~~176.214. Poorthuis, R. B., N. A. Goriounova, J. J. Couey, et al., "Nicotinic Actions on Neuronal Networks for Cognition: General Principles and Long-Term Consequences," Biochemical Pharmacology, 78(7):668-676, 2009.~~

~~Neuronal Networks for Cognition: General Principles and Long-Term Consequences," Biochemical Pharmacology, 78(7):668-676, 2009.~~

~~177.1. Levin, E. D., S. Lawrence, A. Petro, et al., "Adolescent vs. Adult-Onset Nicotine Self-Administration in Male Rats: Duration of Effect and Differential Nicotinic Receptor Correlates," Neurotoxicology and Teratology, 29(4):458-465, 2007.~~

~~178. President's Cancer Panel, "Promoting Healthy Lifestyles," 2007, available at <http://deainfo.nci.nih.gov/advisory/pep/annualReports/pep07rpt/pep07rpt.pdf>.~~

~~1. 178A. Counotte, D. S., A. B. Smit, T. Battij, and S. Spijker, "Development of the Motivational System During Adolescence, and Its Sensitivity to Disruption by Nicotine," Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 1(4):430-443, 2011.~~

~~179-215. Connolly, G. N., P. Richter, A. Aleguas Jr., et al., "Unintentional Child Poisonings Through Ingestion of Conventional and Novel Tobacco Products," Pediatrics, 125: 896-899, 2010.~~

~~180. De Graaf, C., Zandstra, E. H., "Sweetness Intensity and Pleasantness in Children, Adolescents, and Adults," Physiology & Behavior, 67(4):513-520, 1999.~~

~~181-216. Brinkman, M. C, S. S. Buehler, S. S., M. E. Tefft, M. E., et al., "Chemical Characterization of New Oral Tobacco Products" (Funding Source: NIH/NIDA), available at www.batelle.org.~~

~~182-217. Mishina, E. V. and, A. C. Hoffman, "Clinical Pharmacology Research Strategy for Dissolvable Tobacco Products," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 16(3):253-262, 2014.~~

~~183-218. Irina-Stepanov, Joni L. J. Jensen, Dorothy D. Hatsukami, Stephen S. Hecht, et al., "Tobacco-Specific Nitrosamines in New Tobacco Products," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 8(2):309-313, 2006.~~

~~184-219. Caroline O. Cobb, Michael C. O., M. F. Weaver, Thomas T. Eissenberg, "Evaluating the Acute Effects of Oral, Non-Combustible Potential Reduced Exposure Products Marketed to Smokers," Tobacco Control, 19: 367-373, 2010.~~

~~185-220. McBride, J. McBride, J. S., D. G. Altman, D. G., M. Klein, M., and White, W., "et al., "Green Tobacco Sickness," Tobacco Control, 7: 294-298, 1998.~~

221. Henley, S. J., M. J. Thun, A. Chao, et al., "Association Between Exclusive Pipe Smoking and Mortality From Cancer and Other Diseases," *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 96(11):853-861, 2004.

186-222. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Reducing the Health Consequences of Smoking, 25 Years of Progress," A Report of the Surgeon General; 1989,

available at

<http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/index.html><http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/NN/B/B/X/S/>.

187-223. Cobb, C. O., Y. Khader, Y. A. Nasim, A., et al., "A Multiyear Survey of Waterpipe and Cigarette Smoking on a US University Campus," *Journal of American College Health*, 60(7):521-527, 2012.

188-224. Jarrett, T., J. Blosnich, J. C. Tworek, C., et al., "Hookah use Among U.S. College Students: Results From the National College Health Assessment II," *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 14(10):1145-1153, 2012.

189. Sutfin, E. L., McCoy, T. P., Reboussin King, B. A., et al., "Prevalence and Correlates of Waterpipe Use Among College Students in North Carolina," *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 115(1-02):131-136, 2011.

190-225. Eissenberg, T., Ward, K. D., Smith-Simone, S., et al., "Waterpipe Use Among Adults in the United States: Findings From the National Adult Tobacco Smoking Survey," *American Journal of Adolescent Public Health*, 42(5):526-529, 2008. 102(11):e93-e100, 2012.

~~191-226.~~ Schubert, J., ~~V.~~ Heinke, ~~V.,J.~~ Bewersdorff, ~~J.,~~ et al., "Waterpipe Smoking: The Role of Humectants in the Release of Toxic Carbonyls," Archives of Toxicology, 86(8):1309-1316, 2012.

~~192-227.~~ Schubert, J., ~~J.~~ Hahn, ~~J.,G.~~ Dettbarn, ~~G.,~~ et al., "Mainstream Smoke of the Waterpipe: Does this Environmental Matrix Reveal ~~an~~ Significant Source of Toxic Compounds?" Toxicology Letters, 205(3):279-284, 2011.

~~193-228.~~ ~~M. P.~~ Martinasek, ~~M. P.,~~ K. D. Ward, A. V. Calvanese, "Change in Carbon Monoxide Exposure Among Waterpipe Bar Patrons," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 16(7):1014-1019, 2014.

~~194-229.~~ Shihadeh, A., ~~R.~~ Saleh, ~~R.,~~ "Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons, Carbon Monoxide, "Tar", and Nicotine in the Mainstream Smoke Aerosol of the Narghile Waterpipe," Food and Chemical Toxicology, 43(5):655-661, 2005.

~~195-230.~~ Jacob, P., ~~A. H. A.~~ Raddaha, ~~A.D.,H. A.,~~ Dempsey, ~~D.,~~ et al., "Nicotine, Carbon Monoxide, and Carcinogen Exposure After a Single Use of a Waterpipe," Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 20(11):2345-2353, 2011.

~~196.~~ ~~Jacob, P., Raddaha, A. H. A., Dempsey, D., et al., "Comparison of Nicotine and Carcinogen Exposure with Waterpipe and Cigarette Smoking," Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, 22(5):765-772, 2013.~~

~~197-231.~~ Dar, N., ~~G.~~ Bhat, ~~G.,I.~~ Shah, ~~I.,~~ et al., "Hookah Smoking, Nass Chewing, and Oesophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma in Kashmir, India," British Journal of Cancer, 107, 1618-1623, 2012.

~~198-232.~~ Koul, P. A., ~~M. R.~~ Hajni, M. ~~R.,A.~~ Sheikh, ~~M. A.,~~ et al., “Hookah Smoking and Lung Cancer in the Kashmir Valley of the Indian Subcontinent,” Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention, 12(2):519-524, 2011.

~~199-233.~~ Akl, E. A., ~~S.~~ Gaddam, ~~S., K.~~ Gunukula, ~~S. K.,~~ et al., “The Effects of Waterpipe Tobacco Smoking on Health Outcomes: -A Systematic Review,” International Journal of Epidemiology, 39(3):834-857, 2010.

~~200-234.~~ Khabour, O. F., ~~K. H.~~ Alzoubi, ~~K. H.,M.~~ Bani-Ahmad, ~~M., Dodin, A., Eissenberg, T., Shihadeh, A.,~~ et al., “Acute Exposure to Waterpipe Tobacco Smoke Induces Changes in the Oxidative and Inflammatory Markers in Mouse Lung,” Inhalation Toxicology, 24(10):667-675, 2012.

~~201-235.~~ Rammah, M., ~~F.~~ Dandachi, ~~F.,R.~~ Salman, ~~R.,~~ et al., “In Vitro Cytotoxicity and Mutagenicity of Mainstream Waterpipe Smoke and its Functional Consequences on Alveolar Type II Derived Cells,” Toxicology Letters, 211(3):220-231, 2012.

~~202-236.~~ Rammah, M., ~~F.~~ Dandachi, ~~F.,R.~~ Salman, ~~R.,~~ et al., “In Vitro Effects of Waterpipe Smoke Condensate ~~On~~ Endothelial Cell Function: A Potential Risk Factor ~~F~~for Vascular Disease,” Toxicology Letters, 219(2):133-142, 2013.

~~203-237.~~ WHO Tobacco Regulatory Advisory, “Waterpipe Tobacco Smoking: Health Effects, Research Needs, And Recommended Actions By Regulators,” World Health Organization, Tobacco Free Initiative, 2005.

~~204-238.~~ Cobb, C. O., ~~A.~~ Shihadeh, ~~A.,M. F.~~ Weaver, ~~M. F., Eissenberg, T.,~~ et al., “Waterpipe Tobacco Smoking And Cigarette Smoking: A Direct Comparison Of Toxicant Exposure And Subjective Effects,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 13(2):78-87, 2011.

~~205.239.~~ Blank, M. D., ~~C. O. Cobb, C. O., B. Kilgallen, B., et al.,~~ “Acute Effects of Waterpipe Tobacco Smoking: A Double-Blind, Placebo-Control Study,” ~~Drug and Alcohol Dependence~~, 116(1-3):102-109, 2011.

~~206.240.~~ Rastam, S., ~~T. Eissenberg, T., I. Ibrahim, I., Ward, K. D., Khalil, R., Maziak, W.,~~ “et al.,” Comparative Analysis of Waterpipe and Cigarette Suppression of Abstinence and Craving Symptoms,” ~~Addictive Behaviors~~, 36(5):555-559, 2011.

~~207.241.~~ Aljarrah, K., ~~Z. Q. Ababneh, Z. Q., W. K. Al-Delaimy, W. K.,~~ “Perceptions of Hookah Smoking Harmfulness: Predictors and Characteristics Among Current Hookah Users,” ~~Tobacco Induced Diseases~~, 5(1):16, 2009.

~~207A. Gateway to Addiction? A Survey of Popular Electronic Cigarette Manufacturers and Marketing to Youth, April 14, 2014,~~
~~<http://democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Report-E-Cigarettes-Youth-Marketing-Gateway-To-Addiction-2014-4-14.pdf>.~~

~~208.242.~~ Office of Management and Budget, “Establishment Registration and Product Listing for Tobacco Products,” 2014, available at ~~<http://www.reginfo.gov/public/do/eAgendaViewRule?pubId=%20%20201404=percent20percent20201404&RIN=0910-AG89#>.~~

~~209.~~ Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, “Growing Up Tobacco Free: Preventing Nicotine Addiction in Children and Youths,” 1994, available at ~~<http://www.nap.edu/catalog/4757.html>.~~

~~210.243.~~ Kline, R. L., “Tobacco Advertising after the Settlement: Where we are and What Remains to be Done,” ~~Kansas Journal of Law & Public Policy~~, 9(4), 2000.

~~211-244.~~ Ahmad, S., ~~J. Billimek, J.,~~ “Limiting Youth Access to Tobacco: Comparing the Long-Term Health Impacts of Increasing Cigarette Excise Taxes and Raising the Legal Smoking Age to 21 in the United States,” ~~Health Policy~~, 80, 378–391, 2007.

~~245.~~ ~~Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, "Public Health Implications of Raising the Minimum Age of Legal Access to Tobacco Products," 2015, available at <http://iom.nationalacademies.org/Reports/2015/TobaccoMinimumAgeReport.aspx>.~~

~~212-246.~~ Benowitz, N., "Pharmacologic Aspects of Cigarette Smoking and Nicotine Addiction," ~~The New England Journal of Medicine~~, 319(20):1318-1330, 1988.

~~213-247.~~ Stolerman, I. P. ~~and~~, M. Shoaib, "The Neurobiology of Tobacco Addiction," ~~Trends in Pharmacological Sciences~~, 12:467-473, 1991.

~~214-248.~~ Watkins, S. S., G. F. Koob, ~~and~~ A. Markou, "Neural Mechanisms Underlying Nicotine Addiction: Acute Positive Reinforcement and Withdrawal," ~~Nicotine & Tobacco Research~~, 2(1):19-37, 2000.

~~215-249.~~ ~~J. A. Dani, J. A., D. Ji, and F. M. Zhou,~~ "Synaptic Plasticity and Nicotine Addiction," ~~Neuron~~, 31(3):349-352, 2001.

~~216.~~ ~~M. de Andrade, G. Hastings, K. Angus,~~ “Promotion of Electronic Cigarettes: Tobacco Marketing Reinvented,” ~~BMJ~~, 347:f7473, doi: 10.1136/bmj.f7473, 2013.

~~217.~~ ~~Centre for Behavioral Research in Cancer,~~ “Health Warnings and Content Labeling on Tobacco Products,” ~~Australia: Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer, 1992.~~

~~218.~~ ~~Romer, D., Jamieson, P.,~~ “Chapter 4: The Role of Perceived Risk in Starting and Stopping Smoking. Smoking: Risk, Perception, & Policy,” ~~Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc., 64-81, 2001.~~

~~219. Nourjah, P., Wagener, D. K., Eberhardt, M., Horowitz, A. M., "Knowledge of Risk Factors and Risk Behaviors Related to Coronary Heart Disease Among Blue and White Collar Males," Journal of Public Health Policy, 15(4):443-459, 1994.~~

~~220.250. Hammond, D., G. T. Fong, G. T., A. McNeill, A., Borland, R., Cummings, K. M., "et al., "Effectiveness of Cigarette Warning Labels In Informing Smokers About The Risks of Smoking: Findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey," Tobacco Control, 15 Suppl III:iii19-iii25, 2006.~~

~~221.251. Moodie, C., A. M. MacKintosh, A. M., D. Hammond, D., "Adolescents' Response to Text-Only Tobacco Health Warnings: Results from the 2008 UK Youth Tobacco Policy Survey," European Journal of Public Health, 20(4):463-469, 2010.~~

~~222.252. Kollath-Cattano, C. L., E. N. Abad-Vivero, E. N., J. F. Thrasher, J. F., et al., "Adult Smokers' Responses to "Corrective Statements" Regarding Tobacco Industry Deception," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 47(1):26-36, 2014.~~

~~223.253. WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2011, available at http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/9789240687813_eng.pdf?ua=1.~~

~~224. Levin, E. D., S. Lawrence, A. Petro, et al., "Adolescent vs. Adult Onset Nicotine Self-Administration in Male Rats: Duration of Effect and Differential Nicotinic Receptor Correlates," Neurotoxicology and Teratology, 29(4):458-465, 2007.~~

~~225.254. Wagner, C., "Color Cues," Philip Morris, Bates nos. 2080518171 thru 2080518175, 1990, available at <http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/xkn86c00>.~~

~~226.255. Bockweg, T., N. Chapple, N., C. Cornell, C., Swaim, W. F., "et al., "Color Documentation for Doral Packaging Colors," RJ Reynolds, 2001, available at <http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/hsu14j00>, 523767658-7692.~~

~~227-256.~~ European Health Research Partnership and Centre for Tobacco Control Research, "~~Research into the Labelling of Tobacco Products in Europe,~~" A Research Report Submitted to the European Commission, December 2002, available at

~~http://www.tma.org/tmalive/Html/Advertisements/Reference_151_Research_into_the_Labelling_of_Tobacco_Products_in_Europe.pdf.~~

~~228-257.~~ Portillo, F. and F. Antonanzas, "~~Information Disclosure and Smoking Risk Perceptions: Potential Short-Term Impact on Spanish Students of the New European Union Directive on Tobacco Products,~~" ~~European Journal of Public Health~~, 12(4):295–301, 2002.

~~258.~~ ~~Truitt, L., W. L. Hamilton, P. R. Johnson, et al. "Recall of Health Warnings in Smokeless Tobacco Ads," Tobacco Control, 11:ii59-ii63, 2002.~~

~~229-259.~~ Latimer, L. A., ~~M. Batanova, M., A. Loukas, A.,~~ "~~Prevalence and Harm Perceptions of Various Tobacco Products Among College Students,~~" ~~Nicotine & Tobacco Research~~, 16(5):519-526, 2014.

~~230.~~ ~~Monn, C., P. Kindler, A. Meile, et al., "Ultrafine Particle Emissions from Waterpipes," Tobacco Control, 16(6):390–393, 2007.~~

~~231-260.~~ Smith, J. R., T. E. Novotny, ~~S. D. Edland,~~ et al., "~~Determinants of Hookah Use Amongst High School Students,~~" ~~Nicotine & Tobacco Research~~, doi: 10.1093/ntn/ntn041; 1–8 ~~13(7):565-72~~, 2011.

~~232.~~ ~~Prignot, J., A. J. Saseo, E. Poulet, et al., "Alternative Forms of Tobacco Use," The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, 12(7):718–727, 2008.~~

~~261.~~ ~~Berg C. J., E. Stratton, G. L. Schauer, et al., "Perceived Harm, Addictiveness, and Social Acceptability of Tobacco Products and Marijuana Among Young Adults: Marijuana, Hookah, and Electronic Cigarettes Win," Substance Use & Misuse, 50(1):79-89, (2015).~~

~~233-262.~~ Smith, S. Y., B. Curbow, ~~and~~ F. A. Stillman, "Harm Perception of Nicotine Products in College Freshmen," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 9(9):977-982, 2007.

~~234-263.~~ Krosnick, J. A., L. Chang, S. J. Sherman, et al., "The Effects of Beliefs About the Health Consequences of Cigarette Smoking on Smoking Onset," Journal of Communication, 56:S18-S37, 2006.

~~235-264.~~ Song, A. V., H. E. Morrell, J. L. Cornell, et al., "Perceptions of Smoking-Related Risks and Benefits as Predictors of Adolescent Smoking Initiation," American Journal of Public Health, 99, :487-492, 2009.

~~236.~~ Durbin, R., et al., "Gateway to Addiction? A Survey of Popular Electronic Cigarette Manufacturers and Targeted Marketing to Youth," April 14, 2014, available at http://www.merkley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Durbin_eCigarette%20Survey.pdf.

~~265.~~ Brauer, L. H., F. M. Behm, J. D. Lane, et al., "Individual Differences in Smoking Reward from De-Nicotinized Cigarettes," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 3(2):101, 2001.

~~266.~~ Butschky, M. F., D. Bailey, J. E. Henningfield, et al., "Smoking without Nicotine Delivery Decreases Withdrawal in 12-Hour Abstinent Smokers," Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 50(1):91-96, 1995.

~~267.~~ Pickworth, W. B., R. V. Fant, R. A. Nelson, et al., "Pharmacodynamic Effects of New De-Nicotinized Cigarettes," Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 1(4):357, 1999.

~~237-268.~~ Nyman, A. L., ~~et al.,~~ "T. M. Taylor, L. Biener, "Trends in Cigar Smoking and Perceptions of Health Risks Among Massachusetts Adults,"" Tobacco Control, 11(Suppl II):ii25-ii29, 2002.

<http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1766069/pdf/v011p0ii25.pdf>.

~~238-269.~~ Sterling, K., ~~C. J. Berg, A. N. Thomas,~~ et al., ~~"Factors Associated With Small Cigar Use Among College Students,"~~ ~~*American Journal of Health Behavior*~~, 37(3):325-333, 2013.

~~239-270.~~ Soldz, S. & E. Dorsey, E., ~~"Youth Attitudes and Beliefs Toward Alternative Tobacco Products: Cigars, Bidis, and Kreteks,"~~ ~~*Health Education & Behavior*~~, 32(4):549-566, 2005.

~~240-271.~~ Office of Inspector General, ~~"Youth Use of Cigars: Patterns of Use and Perceptions of Risk,"~~ ~~OEI-06-98-00030~~, 1999.

~~272.~~ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, ~~"The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke" A Report of the Surgeon General;~~

~~241.—2006, available at~~
~~<http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK44324/pdf/TOC.pdf>~~ ~~Les Études de Marché Créatec +,~~
~~"Health Warning Messages on Smokeless~~
~~Tobacco, Cigars, and Pipe Products: A Qualitative Study with Consumers,"~~ ~~H4097-02-5029,~~
~~2003.~~

~~242-273.~~ Johnston, L. D., P. M. O'Malley, J. G. Bachman, et al., ~~"Monitoring the Future National Results on Adolescent Drug Use: Overview of Key Findings, 2010,"~~ ~~Institute for Social Research~~, 2011, available at ~~<http://monitoringthefuture.org/pubs/monographs/mtf-overview2010.pdf>~~.

~~243-274.~~ Institute of Medicine, ~~"Secondhand Smoke Exposure and Cardiovascular Effects, Making Sense of the Evidence" 2010,~~ available at ~~http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record_id=12649~~.

~~244.275.~~ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, ~~"The Health Consequences of Smoking,"~~ A Report of the Surgeon General; 2004, available at http://www.surgeongeneral.cdc.gov/library/smokingconsequences/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/2004/complete_report/index.html.

~~276.~~ ~~Michael~~ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Women and Smoking" A Report of the Surgeon General; 2001, available at <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK44303/>.

~~245.277.~~ Wogalter, ~~et al.~~, ~~"M. S., V. C. Conzola, T. L. Smith-Jackson,~~ "Research-Based Guidelines for Warning Design and Evaluation," Applied Ergonomics, 33(3):219-230, 2002.

~~246.~~—Environmental Assessment for Regulations (21 CFR 1100, 1140, and 1143) to deem tobacco products meeting the statutory definition of ~~"tobacco product" to be subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, to revise existing regulations to include restrictions on the sale and distribution of covered tobacco products, and to require the use of health warning statements for cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products.~~

~~247.278.~~ ~~Finding of No Significant Impact for Regulations (21 CFR 1100, 1140, and 1143) to deem tobacco products meeting the statutory definition of "tobacco product"~~ "tobacco product" to be subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, to revise existing regulations to include restrictions on the sale and distribution of covered tobacco products, and to require the use of health warning statements for cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products.

~~279.~~ Finding of No Significant Impact for Regulations (21 CFR 1100, 1140, and 1143) to deem tobacco products meeting the statutory definition of "tobacco product" to be subject to

the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, to revise existing regulations to include restrictions on the sale and distribution of covered tobacco products, and to require the use of health warning statements for cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products.

~~248. Deeming Tobacco Products to be Subject to the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as Amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act; Regulations Restricting the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco Products and Required Warning Statements for Tobacco Product Packages and Advertisements; Final Rule: Final Regulatory Impact Analysis; Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis; Final Unfunded Mandates Analysis.~~

249. Perelman's Pocket Cyclopedia of Cigars, 2010; accessed April 3, 2012; available at http://www.cigareyclopedia.com/images/stories/cigareyclopedia/10_basics-111409.pdf.

List of Subjects

21 CFR Part 1100

Smoking, Tobacco.

21 CFR Part 1140

Advertising, Labeling, Smoking, Tobacco.

21 CFR Part 1143

Advertising, Labeling, Packaging and containers, Smoking, Tobacco.

Therefore, under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and under authority delegated to the Commissioner of Food and Drugs, 21 CFR chapter I is amended as follows:

1. Add part 1100 to subchapter K to read as follows:

PART 1100--TOBACCO PRODUCTS SUBJECT TO FDA AUTHORITY

Sec.

1100.1 Scope.

1100.2 Requirements.

1100.3 Definitions.

Authority: 21 U.S.C. 387a(b), 387f(d) and Pub. L. 111-31.

§ 1100.1 Scope.

In addition to FDA's authority over cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco, FDA deems all other products meeting the definition of tobacco product under section 201(rr) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 321(rr)~~), except accessories of such other tobacco products, to be subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

§ 1100.2 Requirements.

Cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, smokeless tobacco are subject to chapter IX of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and its implementing regulations. FDA has deemed all other tobacco products, except accessories of such other tobacco products, subject to chapter IX of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and its implementing regulations.

§ 1100.3 Definitions.

For the purposes of this part:

Accessory means any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following:

(1) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product; or

(2) Is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but

(i) Solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored tobacco product; or

(ii) Solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product.

Component or part means any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected:

(1) ~~to~~ alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics; or

(2) ~~to~~ be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. Component or part excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product.

Package or packaging means a pack, box, carton, or container of any kind or, if no other container, any wrapping (including cellophane), in which a tobacco product is offered for sale, sold, or otherwise distributed to consumers.

Tobacco product. As stated in section 201(rr) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act in relevant part, a tobacco product:

(1) Means any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product); and

(2) Does not mean an article that is a drug under section 201(g)(1) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 321(g)(1)~~), a device under section 201(h) of the Federal

Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 321(h)~~), or a combination product described in section 503(g) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 353(g)~~).

-2. The heading for part 1140 is revised to read as ~~shown below~~ follows:

PART 1140--CIGARETTES, SMOKELESS TOBACCO, AND COVERED TOBACCO PRODUCTS

3. The authority citation for 21 CFR part 1140 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 21 U.S.C. 301 ~~et seq.~~, Sec. 102, Pub. L. 111-31, 123 Stat. 1776.

4. Revise § 1140.1 to read as follows:

§ 1140.1 Scope.

(a) This part sets out the restrictions under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act on the sale, distribution, and use of cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, and covered tobacco products.

Section 1140.16(d) sets out restrictions on the distribution of free samples for cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, and other tobacco products (as such term is defined in section 201 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act).

(b) The failure to comply with any applicable provision in this part in the sale, distribution, and use of cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, ~~and covered~~ tobacco products, or other tobacco products renders the product misbranded under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

(c) References in this part to regulatory sections of the Code of Federal Regulations are to chapter I of title 21, unless otherwise noted.

5. Revise § 1140.2 to read as follows:

§ 1140.2 Purpose.

The purpose of this part is to establish restrictions on the sale, distribution, and use of cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, and covered tobacco products in order to reduce the number of children and adolescents who use these products, and to reduce the life-threatening consequences associated with tobacco use.

6. Revise § 1140.3 to read as follows:

§ 1140.3 Definitions.

For the purposes of this part:

Accessory means any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following:

- (1) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product; or
- (2) Is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but
 - (i) Solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored product; or
 - (ii) Solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product.

Cigarette. (1) Means a product that:

- (i) Is a tobacco product and
- (ii) Meets the definition of the term "cigarette" in section 3(1) of the Federal Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act; and

(2) Includes tobacco, in any form, that is functional in the product, which, because of its appearance, the type of tobacco used in the filler, or its packaging and labeling, is likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as a cigarette or as roll-your-own tobacco.

Cigarette tobacco means any product that consists of loose tobacco that is intended for use by consumers in a cigarette. Unless otherwise stated, the requirements applicable to cigarettes under this chapter also apply to cigarette tobacco.

Component or part means any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected:

(1) ~~to~~ alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics; or

(2) ~~to~~ be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. Component or part excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product.

Covered tobacco product means any tobacco product deemed to be subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act ~~pursuant to~~ under § 1100.2 of this chapter, but excludes any component or part that is not made or derived from tobacco.

Distributor means any person who furthers the distribution of a tobacco product, whether domestic or imported, at any point from the original place of manufacture to the person who sells or distributes the product to individuals for personal consumption. Common carriers are not considered distributors for the purposes of this part.

Importer means any person who imports any tobacco product that is intended for sale or distribution to consumers in the United States.

Manufacturer means any person, including any repacker and/or relabeler, who manufactures, fabricates, assembles, processes, or labels a finished tobacco product.

Nicotine means the chemical substance named 3-(1-Methyl-2-pyrrolidinyl)pyridine or C[10]H[14]N[2], including any salt or complex of nicotine.

Package or packaging means a pack, box, carton, or container of any kind or, if no other container, any wrapping (including cellophane) in which a tobacco product is offered for sale, sold, or otherwise distributed to consumers.

Point of sale means any location at which a consumer can purchase or otherwise obtain tobacco products for personal consumption.

Retailer means any person who sells tobacco products to individuals for personal consumption, or who operates a facility where vending machines or self-service displays are permitted under this part.

Roll-your-own tobacco means any tobacco product that, because of its appearance, type, packaging, or labeling, is suitable for use and likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as tobacco for making cigarettes.

Smokeless tobacco means any tobacco product that consists of cut, ground, powdered, or leaf tobacco and that is intended to be placed in the oral or nasal cavity.

Tobacco product. As stated in section 201(rr) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 321(rr)~~) in relevant part, a tobacco product:

(1) Means any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product) and

(2) Does not mean an article that is a drug under section 201(g)(1) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, a device under section 201(h) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic

Act, or a combination product described in section 503(g) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 353(g)~~).

7. Revise § 1140.10 to read as follows:

§ 1140.10 General responsibilities of manufacturers, distributors, and retailers.

Each manufacturer, distributor, importer, and retailer is responsible for ensuring that the cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, or covered tobacco products it manufactures, labels, advertises, packages, distributes, imports, sells, or otherwise holds for sale comply with all applicable requirements under this part.

8. Revise § 1140.14 to read as follows:

§ 1140.14 Additional responsibilities of retailers.

(a) In addition to the other requirements under this part, each cigarette and smokeless tobacco retailer is responsible for ensuring that all sales of cigarettes or smokeless tobacco to any person comply with the following requirements:

(1) No retailer may sell cigarettes or smokeless tobacco to any person younger than 18 years of age;

(2)(i) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (a)(2)(ii) of this section and in § 1140.16(c)(2)(i), each retailer must verify by means of photographic identification containing the bearer's date of birth that no person purchasing the product is younger than 18 years of age;

(ii) No such verification is required for any person over the age of 26;

(3) Except as otherwise provided in § 1140.16(c)(2)(ii), a retailer may sell cigarettes or smokeless tobacco only in a direct, face-to-face exchange without the assistance of any electronic or mechanical device (such as a vending machine);

(4) No retailer may break or otherwise open any cigarette or smokeless tobacco package to sell or distribute individual cigarettes or a number of unpackaged cigarettes that is smaller than the quantity in the minimum cigarette package size defined in § 1140.16(b), or any quantity of cigarette tobacco or smokeless tobacco that is smaller than the smallest package distributed by the manufacturer for individual consumer use; and

(5) Each retailer must ensure that all self-service displays, advertising, labeling, and other items, that are located in the retailer's establishment and that do not comply with the requirements of this part, are removed or are brought into compliance with the requirements under this part.

(b) Notwithstanding the requirements in paragraph (a) of this section and in addition to the other requirements under this part, each retailer of covered tobacco products is responsible for ensuring that all sales of such covered tobacco products to any person comply with the following requirements:

(1) No retailer may sell covered tobacco products to any person younger than 18 years of age;

(2)(i) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (a)(2)(ii) of this section and in § 1140.16(c)(2)(i), each retailer must verify by means of photographic identification containing the bearer's date of birth that no person purchasing the product is younger than 18 years of age;

(ii) No such verification is required for any person over the age of 26; and

(3) A retailer may not sell covered tobacco products with the assistance of any electronic or mechanical device (such as a vending machine), except in facilities where the retailer ensures that no person younger than 18 years of age is present, or permitted to enter, at any time.

9. Add part 1143 to subchapter K to read as follows:

PART 1143--MINIMUM REQUIRED WARNING STATEMENTS

Sec.

1143.1 Definitions.

1143.3 Required warning statement regarding addictiveness of nicotine.

1143.5 Required warning statements for cigars.

1143.7 Language requirements for required warning statements.

1143.9 Irremovable or permanent required warning statements.

1143.11 Does not apply to foreign distribution.

1143.13 Effective date.

Authority: 21 U.S.C. 387a(b), 387f(d).

§ 1143.1 Definitions.

For purposes of this part:

Accessory means any product that is intended or reasonably expected to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product; does not contain tobacco and is not made or derived from tobacco; and meets either of the following:

(1) Is not intended or reasonably expected to affect or alter the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product; or

(2) Is intended or reasonably expected to affect or maintain the performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics of a tobacco product but

(i) Solely controls moisture and/or temperature of a stored tobacco product; or

(ii) Solely provides an external heat source to initiate but not maintain combustion of a tobacco product

Cigar means a tobacco product that:

(1) Is not a cigarette and

(2) Is a roll of tobacco wrapped in leaf tobacco or any substance containing tobacco.

Cigarette tobacco means any product that consists of loose tobacco that is intended for use by consumers in a cigarette. Unless otherwise stated, the requirements applicable to cigarettes under this chapter also apply to cigarette tobacco.

Component or part means any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected: ~~Component or part means any software or assembly of materials intended or reasonably expected:~~

(1) ~~to~~ alter or affect the tobacco product's performance, composition, constituents, or characteristics; or

(2) to be used with or for the human consumption of a tobacco product. Component or part excludes anything that is an accessory of a tobacco product.

Covered tobacco product means any tobacco product deemed to be subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act pursuant to § 1100.2 of this chapter, but excludes any component or part ~~of a tobacco product~~ that is not made or derived from tobacco.

Package or packaging means a pack, box, carton, or container of any kind or, if no other container, any wrapping (including cellophane), in which a tobacco product is offered for sale, sold, or otherwise distributed to consumers.

Principal display panels means the panels of a package that are most likely to be displayed, presented, shown, or examined by the consumer.

Point of sale means any location at which a consumer can purchase or otherwise obtain tobacco products for personal consumption.

Retailer means any person who sells tobacco products to individuals for personal consumption, or who operates a facility where vending machines or self-service displays are permitted under this part.

Required warning statement means a textual warning statement required to be on packaging and in advertisements for cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, cigars, and other covered tobacco products.

Roll-your-own tobacco means any tobacco product that, because of its appearance, type, packaging, or labeling, is suitable for use and likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as tobacco for making cigarettes.

Tobacco product. As stated in section 201(rr) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 321(rr)~~) in relevant part, a tobacco product:

(1) Means any product made or derived from tobacco that is intended for human consumption, including any component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product (except for raw materials other than tobacco used in manufacturing a component, part, or accessory of a tobacco product) and

(2) Does not mean an article that is a drug under section 201(g)(1) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, a device under section 201(h) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or a combination product described in section 503(g) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (~~21 U.S.C. 353(g)~~).

§ 1143.3 Required warning statement regarding addictiveness of nicotine.

(a) Packages. (1) For cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products other than cigars, it is unlawful for any person to manufacture, package, sell, offer to sell, distribute, or import for sale or distribution within the United States such product unless the

tobacco product package bears the following required warning statement on the package label:

"WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical."

(2) The required warning statement must appear directly on the package and must be clearly visible underneath any cellophane or other clear wrapping as follows:

(i) Be located in a conspicuous and prominent place on the two principal display panels of the package and the warning area must comprise at least 30 percent of each of the principal display panels;

(ii) Be printed in at least 12-point font size and ensures that the required warning statement occupies the greatest possible proportion of the warning area set aside for the required text;

(iii) Be printed in conspicuous and legible Helvetica bold or Arial bold type (or other sans serif fonts) and in black text on a white background or white text on a black background in a manner that contrasts by typography, layout, or color, with all other printed material on the package;

(iv) Be capitalized and punctuated as indicated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section; and

(v) Be centered in the warning area in which the text is required to be printed and positioned such that the text of the required warning statement and the other information on the principal display panel have the same orientation.

(3) A retailer of any tobacco product covered by paragraphs (a)(1) and ~~(a)(2)~~ of this section will not be in violation of this section for packaging that:

(i) Contains a health warning;

(ii) Is supplied to the retailer by the tobacco product manufacturer, importer, or distributor, who has the required state, local, or Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB)-issued license or permit, if applicable, and

(iii) Is not altered by the retailer in a way that is material to the requirements of this section.

(b) Advertisements. (1) For cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and covered tobacco products other than cigars, it is unlawful for any such tobacco product manufacturer, packager, importer, distributor, or retailer of the tobacco product to advertise or cause to be advertised within the United States any tobacco product unless each advertisement bears the required warning statement specified in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.

(2) For print advertisements and other advertisements with a visual component (including, for example, advertisements on signs, shelf-talkers, Internet ~~webpages~~ Web pages, and electronic mail correspondence), the required warning statement must appear in the upper portion of the area of the advertisement within the trim area as follows:

(i) Occupy at least 20 percent of the area of the advertisement;

(ii) Appear in at least 12-point font size and ensures that the required warning statement occupies the greatest possible proportion of the warning area set aside for the required text;

(iii) Appear in conspicuous and legible Helvetica bold or Arial bold type (or other similar sans serif fonts) and in black text on a white background or white text on a black background in a manner that contrasts by typography, layout, or color, with all other material on the advertisement;

(iv) Be capitalized and punctuated as indicated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section;

(v) Be centered in the warning area in which the text is required to appear and positioned such that the text of the required warning statement and the other textual information in the advertisement have the same orientation; and

(vi) Be surrounded by a rectangular border that is the same color as the text of the required warning statement and that is not less than 3 millimeters (mm) or more than 4 mm.

(3) This paragraph (b) applies to a retailer only if that retailer is responsible for or directs the health warning required under the paragraph. However, this paragraph does not relieve a retailer of liability if the retailer displays, in a location open to the public, an advertisement that does not contain a health warning or contains a health warning that has been altered by the retailer in a way that is material to the requirements of this section.

(c) Self-certification. A tobacco product that would otherwise be required to bear the warning in paragraph (a)(1) of this section but does not contain nicotine is not required to bear the warning in paragraph (a)(1) of this section on packages or advertisements if the tobacco product manufacturer has submitted to FDA a confirmation statement certifying to be true and accurate that the product does not contain nicotine and that the tobacco product manufacturer has data to support that assertion. Any product not required to bear the warning in paragraph (a)(1) of this section must include the statement "This product is made from tobacco." on all packages and advertisements in accordance with the requirements of this part.

(d) Small packages. A tobacco product that would otherwise be required to bear the warning in paragraph (a)(1) of this section but is too small or otherwise unable to accommodate a label with sufficient space to bear such information is exempt from compliance with the requirement provided that the information and specifications required under paragraphs (a)(1) and ~~(a)(2)~~ of this section appear on the carton or other outer container or wrapper if the carton,

outer container, or wrapper has sufficient space to bear the information, or appear on a tag otherwise firmly and permanently affixed to the tobacco product package. In such cases, the carton, outer container, wrapper, or tag will serve as the location of the principal display panels.

§ 1143.5 Required warning statements for cigars.

(a) Packages. (1) It is unlawful for any person to manufacture, package, sell, offer to sell, distribute, or import for sale or distribution within the United States any cigar product unless the product package bears one of the following required warning statements on the package label:

(i) WARNING: Cigar smoking can cause cancers of the mouth and throat, even if you do not inhale.

(ii) WARNING: Cigar smoking can cause lung cancer and heart disease.

(iii) WARNING: Cigars are not a safe alternative to cigarettes.

(iv) WARNING: Tobacco smoke increases the risk of lung cancer and heart disease, even in nonsmokers.

~~(v) (A) WARNING: Cigar use while pregnant can harm you and your baby.; or~~

~~—(B) SURGEON GENERAL WARNING: Tobacco Use Increases the Risk of Infertility, Stillbirth and Low Birth Weight.~~

(vi) WARNING: This product contains nicotine. Nicotine is an addictive chemical.

(2) Each required warning statement must appear directly on the package and must be clearly visible underneath any cellophane or other clear wrapping as follows:

(i) Be located in a conspicuous and prominent place on the two principal display panels of the package and the warning area must comprise at least 30 percent of each of the principal display panels;

(ii) Appear in at least 12-point font size and ensures that the required warning statement occupies the greatest possible proportion of the warning area set aside for the required text;

(iii) Be printed in conspicuous and legible Helvetica bold or Arial bold type (or other similar sans serif fonts) and in black text on a white background or white text on a black background in a manner that contrasts by typography, layout, or color, with all other printed material on the package;

(iv) Be capitalized and punctuated as indicated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section; and

(v) Be centered in the warning area in which the text is required to be printed and positioned such that the text of the required warning statement and the other information on that principal display panel have the same orientation.

(3) No person may manufacture, package, sell, offer to sell, distribute, or import for sale or distribution within the United States any cigar without a required warning statement, except for cigars that are sold individually and not in a product package. For cigars that are sold individually and not in a product package, the required warning statements must be posted at the retailer's point-of-sale in accordance with the following:

(i) All of the warnings in paragraph (a) of this section must be placed on a sign that is a minimum of 8.5 ~~x~~ 11 inches, posted on or within 3 inches of each cash register where payment may be made so that the sign(s) are unobstructed in their entirety and can be read easily by each consumer making a purchase;

(ii) The sign must be clear, legible, and conspicuous and be printed in black Helvetica bold or Arial bold type (or other similar sans serif fonts) against a solid white background in at least 17 point type with appropriate space between the warning statements;

(iii) Be printed in a manner that contrasts by typography, layout, or color, with all other printed material; and

(iv) Be capitalized and punctuated as indicated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.

(4) A retailer of any cigar covered by paragraphs (a)(1) and ~~(a)(2)~~ of this section will not be in violation of this section for packaging that:

(i) Contains a health warning;

(ii) Is supplied to the retailer by the tobacco product manufacturer, importer, or distributor who has the required state, local, or Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB)-issued license or permit, if applicable, and

(iii) Is not altered by the retailer in a way that is material to the requirements of this section.

(b) Advertisements. (1) It is unlawful for any tobacco product manufacturer, packager, importer, distributor, or retailer of cigars to advertise or cause to be advertised within the United States any cigar unless each advertisement bears one of the required warning statements specified in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.

(2) For print advertisements and other advertisements with a visual component (including, for example, advertisements on signs, shelf-talkers, Internet Web pages, and electronic mail correspondence), each required warning statement must appear in the upper portion of the area of the advertisement within the trim area as follows:

(i) Occupy at least 20 percent of the area of the advertisement;

(ii) Appear in at least 12-point font size that ensures that the required warning statement occupies the greatest possible proportion of the warning area set aside for the text required;

(iii) Appear in conspicuous and legible Helvetica bold or Arial bold type (or other similar sans serif fonts) and in black text on a white background or white text on a black background in a manner that contrasts by typography, layout, or color, with all other material on the advertisement;

(iv) Be capitalized and punctuated as indicated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section;

(v) Be centered in the warning area in which the text is required to appear and positioned such that the text of the required warning statement and the other textual information in the advertisement have the same orientation; and

(vi) Be surrounded by a rectangular border that is the same color as the text of the required warning statement and that is not less than 3 mm or more than 4 mm.

(3) This paragraph (b) applies to a retailer only if that retailer is responsible for or directs the warning statements required under the paragraph. However, this paragraph does not relieve a retailer of liability if the retailer displays, in a location open to the public, an advertisement that does not contain a health warning or contains a health warning that has been altered by the retailer in a way that is material to the requirements of this section.

(c) Marketing requirements. (1) Except for cigars sold individually and not in a product package, the warning statements required for packages in paragraph (a)(1) of this section must be randomly displayed in each 12-month period, in as equal a number of times as is possible on each brand of cigar sold in product packaging and be randomly distributed in all areas of the United States in which the product is marketed in accordance with a plan submitted by the cigar manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer to, and approved by, the Food and Drug Administration.

(2) The warning statements required for advertisements in paragraph (a)(1) of this section must be rotated quarterly in alternating sequence in each advertisement for each brand of cigar in accordance with a plan submitted by the cigar manufacturer, importer, distributor, or retailer to, and approved by, the Food and Drug Administration.

(3) Each person required to randomly display and distribute or rotate warnings in accordance with an FDA-approved plan under this part shall submit a proposed warning plan to FDA no later than either 12 months after [~~date of publication of final rule~~INSERT DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL REGISTER], or 12 months before advertising or commercially marketing a product that is subject to such requirement, whichever is later.

§ 1143.7 Language requirements for required warning statements.

The text in each warning statement required in § 1143.3 or § 1143.5 must be in the English language, except as follows:

(a) In the case of an advertisement that appears in a non-English medium, the text in the required warning statement must appear in the predominant language of the medium whether or not the advertisement is in English, and;

(b) In the case of an advertisement that appears in an English language medium but that is not in English, the text in the required warning statement must appear in the same language as that principally used in the advertisement.

§ 1143.9 Irremovable or permanent required warning statements.

The warning statements required by this section must be indelibly printed on or permanently affixed to the package or advertisement. These warnings, for example, must not be printed or placed on a product label affixed to a clear outer wrapper that is likely to be removed to access the product within the package.

§ 1143.11 Does not apply to foreign distribution.

The provisions of this part do not apply to a manufacturer or distributor of tobacco products that does not manufacture, package, or import tobacco products for sale or distribution within the United States.

§ 1143.13 Effective date.

(a) Except as stated in paragraph (b), of this section, this part will take effect 24 months after [~~date of publication of final rule~~INSERT DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL REGISTER]. The effective date will be with respect to the date of manufacture, provided that, in any case, beginning 30 days after the effective date, a manufacturer may not introduce into the domestic commerce of the United States any product, irrespective of the date of manufacture, that is not in conformance with this part.

(b) The requirement to submit a warning plan to FDA ~~pursuant to~~under § 1143.5(c)(3) will take effect 12 months after [~~date of publication of final rule~~INSERT DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL REGISTER].

Dated: _____.

~~Leslie Kux,~~

~~Associate Commissioner for Policy.~~
